Frontiers Researchiopics

TUMOR CELL/DENDRITIC CELL INTERACTIONS AND THE INFLUENCE OF TUMORS ON DENDRITIC CELL-MEDIATED ANTI-TUMOR IMMUNE RESPONSES AND DENDRITIC CELL-BASED TUMOR IMMUNOTHERAPIES

Topic Editors Kristian Michael Hargadon and Timothy Bullock





FRONTIERS COPYRIGHT STATEMENT

© Copyright 2007-2014 Frontiers Media SA. All rights reserved.

All content included on this site, such as text, graphics, logos, button icons, images, video/audio clips, downloads, data compilations and software, is the property of or is licensed to Frontiers Media SA ("Frontiers") or its licensees and/or subcontractors. The copyright in the text of individual articles is the property of their respective authors, subject to a license granted to Frontiers.

The compilation of articles constituting this e-book, wherever published, as well as the compilation of all other content on this site, is the exclusive property of Frontiers. For the conditions for downloading and copying of e-books from Frontiers' website, please see the Terms for Website Use. If purchasing Frontiers e-books from other websites or sources, the conditions of the website concerned apply.

Images and graphics not forming part of user-contributed materials may not be downloaded or copied without permission.

Individual articles may be downloaded and reproduced in accordance with the principles of the CC-BY licence subject to any copyright or other notices. They may not be re-sold as an e-book.

As author or other contributor you grant a CC-BY licence to others to reproduce your articles, including any graphics and third-party materials supplied by you, in accordance with the Conditions for Website Use and subject to any copyright notices which you include in connection with your articles and materials.

All copyright, and all rights therein, are protected by national and international copyright laws.

The above represents a summary only. For the full conditions see the Conditions for Authors and the Conditions for Website Use.

ISSN 1664-8714 ISBN 978-2-88919-245-8 DOI 10.3389/978-2-88919-245-8

ABOUT FRONTIERS

Frontiers is more than just an open-access publisher of scholarly articles: it is a pioneering approach to the world of academia, radically improving the way scholarly research is managed. The grand vision of Frontiers is a world where all people have an equal opportunity to seek, share and generate knowledge. Frontiers provides immediate and permanent online open access to all its publications, but this alone is not enough to realize our grand goals.

FRONTIERS JOURNAL SERIES

The Frontiers Journal Series is a multi-tier and interdisciplinary set of open-access, online journals, promising a paradigm shift from the current review, selection and dissemination processes in academic publishing.

All Frontiers journals are driven by researchers for researchers; therefore, they constitute a service to the scholarly community. At the same time, the Frontiers Journal Series operates on a revolutionary invention, the tiered publishing system, initially addressing specific communities of scholars, and gradually climbing up to broader public understanding, thus serving the interests of the lay society, too.

DEDICATION TO QUALITY

Each Frontiers article is a landmark of the highest quality, thanks to genuinely collaborative interactions between authors and review editors, who include some of the world's best academicians. Research must be certified by peers before entering a stream of knowledge that may eventually reach the public - and shape society; therefore, Frontiers only applies the most rigorous and unbiased reviews.

Frontiers revolutionizes research publishing by freely delivering the most outstanding research, evaluated with no bias from both the academic and social point of view.

By applying the most advanced information technologies, Frontiers is catapulting scholarly publishing into a new generation.

WHAT ARE FRONTIERS RESEARCH TOPICS?

Frontiers Research Topics are very popular trademarks of the Frontiers Journals Series: they are collections of at least ten articles, all centered on a particular subject. With their unique mix of varied contributions from Original Research to Review Articles, Frontiers Research Topics unify the most influential researchers, the latest key findings and historical advances in a hot research area!

Find out more on how to host your own Frontiers Research Topic or contribute to one as an author by contacting the Frontiers Editorial Office: researchtopics@frontiersin.org

TUMOR CELL/DENDRITIC CELL INTERACTIONS AND THE INFLUENCE OF TUMORS ON DENDRITIC CELL-MEDIATED ANTI-TUMOR IMMUNE RESPONSES AND DENDRITIC CELL-BASED TUMOR IMMUNOTHERAPIES

Topic Editors:

Kristian Michael Hargadon, Hampden-Sydney College, USA Timothy Bullock, University of Virginia, USA

Significant efforts over the last two decades have been made to better understand the factors that control DC maturation and activation and the impact of these processes on overall host immunity. In addition to the well-characterized role of DC in the induction of immunity to pathogens, a role for these cells as critical regulators of anti-tumor immune responses has more recently become apparent. These findings have generated interest in understanding how tumor/DC interactions impact the quality of anti-tumor immune responses, and they have contributed to increased enthusiasm for a variety of DC-based cancer immunotherapies. Such strategies have included DNA- or peptide-based vaccines that involve uptake and processing of tumor antigens by endogenous DC in cancer patients or the administration of tumor antigen-loaded exogenous DC-based vaccines. Additionally, many adjuvant, cytokine, and monoclonal antibody therapies aim either to enhance the immunostimulatory capacity of endogenous DC or to supplement the activity of these cells by targeting costimulatory receptors on T cells. Despite the promise of such therapeutic approaches for cancer treatment, their success is often limited, and much remains to be understood about how tumors influence DC function and the quality of DC-mediated immune responses. Tumor/ DC interactions have therefore become an increasingly active area of investigation, and many studies have described effects of tumors on DC phenotype and function that include an accumulation of immature DC within tumors, tumor-altered differentiation of DC precursors into myeloid-derived suppressor cells, and the generation of tumor-associated DC with immunoregulatory properties. As this field moves forward, it will be important to gain mechanistic insights into the basis for both tumor-mediated DC dysfunction as well as the induction of either suboptimal or immunosuppressive adaptive anti-tumor immune responses by tumor-associated DC. Progress in these areas of tumor immunology will greatly improve our understanding of the factors that contribute to effective DC-mediated

anti-tumor immune control versus DC-associated anti-tumor immune dysfunction and subsequent tumor immune escape. Such information is vital for improving current and developing novel immunotherapeutic strategies for interfering with tumor-associated DC dysfunction and enhancing the functional quality of endogenous DC in cancer patients as well as the efficacy of exogenous DC-based anti-tumor vaccines. The articles contained within this special issue highlight these important topics and bring focus not only to our current understanding of tumor/DC interactions but also to major areas of investigation that remain ongoing in this field.

Table of Contents

06	The Role of Tumor/Dendritic Cell Interactions in the Regulation of Anti-Tumor Immunity: The Good, the Bad and the Ugly
	Kristian Michael Hargadon and Timothy N. J. Bullock
07	On the Role of Dendritic Cells Versus Other Cells in Inducing Protective CD8+ T Cell Responses
	Rolf Martin Zinkernagel
11	Mining the Resource of Cross-Presentation
	Anne Hosmalin
13	Type I Interferons as Stimulators of DC-Mediated Cross-Priming: Impact on Anti-Tumor Response
	Giovanna Schiavoni, Fabrizio Mattei and Lucia Gabriele
20	Tumor-Altered Dendritic Cell Function: Implications for Anti-Tumor Immunity
22	Kristian M. Hargadon
33	Metabolic Influences that Regulate Dendritic Cell Function in Tumors
40	Han Dong and Timothy N. J. Bullock Immature, Semi-Mature and Fully Mature Dendritic Cells: Toward a DC-Cancer
40	Cells Interface that Augments Anticancer Immunity
	Aleksandra M. Dudek, Shaun Martin, Abhishek D. Garg and Patrizia Agostinis
54	Impact of MAPK Pathway Activation in BRAF ^{v600} Melanoma on T Cell and
	Dendritic Cell Function
	Patrick A. Ott and Nina Bhardwaj
61	Therapeutic Implications of Immunogenic Cell Death in Human Cancer
	Fabio Palombo, Chiara Focaccetti and Vincenzo Barnaba
67	The Dark Side of Dendritic Cells: Development and Exploitation of Tolerogenic
	Activity that Favor Tumor Outgrowth and Immune Escape
00	Barbara Seliger and Chiara Massa
80	Pathological Mobilization and Activities of Dendritic Cells in Tumor-Bearing Hosts: Challenges and Opportunities for Immunotherapy of Cancer
	Amelia J. Tesone, Nikolaos Svoronos, Michael J. Allegrezza
	and Jose R. Conejo-Garcia
91	Clinical Implications of Co-Inhibitory Molecule Expression in the Tumor Microenvironment for DC Vaccination: A Game of Stop and Go
	Angela Vasaturo, Stefania Di Blasio, Deborah G. A. Peeters, Coco C. H. de Koning, Jolanda M. de Vries, Carl G. Figdor and Stanleyson V. Hato

105 Dendritic Cell-Targeted Approaches to Modulate Immune Dysfunction in the Tumor Microenvironment

Anne Gallois and Nina Bhardwaj

- **113** Dendritic Cell-Based Immunotherapy for Myeloid Leukemias Christian M. Schürch, Carsten Riether and Adrian F. Ochsenbein
- 129 Dendritic Cell Vaccination, Immune Regulation and Clinical Outcomes in Ovarian Cancer

Hannah E. Goyne and Martin J. Cannon

- 135 Dendritic Cell Plasticity in Tumor-Conditioned Skin: CD14⁺ Cells at the Cross-Roads of Immune Activation and Suppression
 Rieneke van de Ven, Jelle J. Lindenberg, Dinja Oosterhoff and Tanja D. de Gruijl
- **142** The Role of Dendritic Cells in Graft-Versus-Tumor Effect Tomomi Toubai, Nathan Mathewson and Pavan Reddy
- 154 Antigen-Specific T-Cell Activation Independently of the MHC: Chimeric Antigen Receptor-Redirected T Cells

Markus Chmielewski, Andreas A. Hombach and Hinrich Abken



The role of tumor/dendritic cell interactions in the regulation of anti-tumor immunity: the good, the bad, and the ugly

Kristian Michael Hargadon¹* and Timothy N. J. Bullock²

¹ Hargadon Laboratory, Department of Biology, Hampden-Sydney College, Hampden-Sydney, VA, USA

² Department of Pathology, University of Virginia, Charlottesville, VA, USA

*Correspondence: khargadon@hsc.edu

Edited by:

Wolf Hervé Fridman, University Paris Descartes, France

Reviewed by:

Marie-Caroline Dieu-Nosjean, INSERM, France

Keywords: tumor, dendritic cell, cancer immunotherapy, tumor immune evasion, cross-presentation, immune regulation

Since the discovery of dendritic cells (DCs) by Ralph Steinman and Zanvil Cohn 40 years ago (1), the role of these cells as critical regulators of immune tolerance versus activation has emerged as one of the most fundamental concepts in the field of immunology. Serving as a link between the innate and adaptive immune systems, DCs exhibit sensitive immune surveillance capabilities that enable their acquisition of antigens from a variety of sources in peripheral tissues, and they possess unique sensory properties and antigen processing machinery that enable their transformation into potent antigen-presenting cells (APCs). Importantly, the outcome (immune tolerance versus activation) of antigen presentation to T cells by DC is dependent on the maturation and activation state of the DC, and significant efforts over the last 20+ years have therefore focused on understanding factors that regulate DC maturation and activation. While their role in self-tolerance and the activation of T cell immunity to foreign pathogens has long been appreciated, more recently DCs have also been shown to play important roles in the regulation of anti-tumor immune responses. Since this time, considerable efforts have been placed on understanding many facets of tumor-associated DC, including: the induction, regulation, and maintenance of anti-tumor immunity by DC; tumor-associated interference with these processes to subvert anti-tumor immunity; and the application of this knowledge to develop therapeutic strategies for improving DC-mediated anti-tumor immune responses. In this collection of articles, we highlight our current understanding of the role played by DC in anti-tumor immunity and focus attention on important questions that remain to be answered in the field as we aim to improve the immunogenicity of tumor-associated DC and the outcome of DC-mediated anti-tumor immune responses in the future.

We begin this research topic with an Opinion article by Rolf Zinkernagel (2) and a responding Commentary from Anne Hosmalin (3), who offer opposing views on cross-presentation of tumor antigen by DC that we believe will generate interesting and thoughtful discussion. These articles are followed by a contribution from Schiavoni et al. (4) reviewing the major subsets of DC that have been implicated in cross-presentation and the role of type I IFN in enhancing DC-mediated cross-priming of antitumor CD8+ T cell responses. Research topic co-editor Kristian

Hargadon then reviews the various levels at which tumor cells, tumor-derived factors, and tumor-associated cells in the milieu of the tumor microenvironment can interfere with DC function (5). Mechanistic insights into tumor-altered differentiation of DC precursors, tumor-associated suppression of DC maturation and activation, and tumor-induced development of regulatory DC with immunosuppressive function are highlighted, as are recent immunotherapeutic strategies that have been designed to prevent or overcome tumor-associated DC dysfunction and enhance the quality of anti-tumor immune responses. Co-editor Timothy Bullock further examines the metabolic changes that occur in DC during their maturation and discusses how dysregulated metabolism, particularly at the level of glycolysis and fatty acid metabolism, in tumor-associated DC may also impede maturation and contribute to the diminished immune stimulatory function of these cells (6). The impact of tumors on DC maturation is also explored by Dudek et al. (7), who describe the complexity of DC maturation status in the context of tumors, where the typical dichotomy of immature versus mature DC that regulate immune tolerance versus activation against clearly "self" or "non-self" antigen is less obvious. The authors describe a continuum of DC maturation states reported in the context of tumors that include not only the classical immature, tolerogenic DC and mature, immunogenic DC but also semi-mature DC which express low or even moderate levels of costimulatory molecules but which produce minimal stimulatory cytokines and therefore potentiate either tolerogenic or pro-tumorigenic responses. Studies that have identified factors (cytokines/chemokines, cell death modalities, and cancer cell-derived danger signals) regulating tumor-associated DC function are highlighted, as is the ability of anti-cancer therapeutic agents to influence and modulate the maturation states of DC. Additional discussion of this topic is provided by Ott and Bhardwaj (8), who speculate how tumor cell death resulting from MAPK pathway inhibition might enhance crosspresentation by DC in BRAF^{V600} mutant melanoma patients, and by Palombo et al. (9), who describe various danger-associated molecular patterns (DAMPs) released during immunogenic cancer cell death that stimulate inflammatory DC to activate tumorspecific CD8+ T cell responses. This latter Perspective article also discusses evidence for chemotherapy-associated induction of immune responses, particularly against antigens derived from proteins involved in stress pathways that are normally sequestered in healthy cells and therefore are not typically processed or presented to T cells. The authors suggest that such tumor-specific T cells are likely to be useful tools for identifying novel immunogenic tumor-specific antigens as these T cells can be isolated and "interrogated" with purified tumor proteins to assess which antigens are associated with high responsiveness. As researchers consider how cancer cell death influences immune responses in patients, and with renewed interest in the potential of combining traditional cancer therapy and immunotherapy (once thought to be mutually exclusive approaches to cancer treatment), these articles highlight the need to better understand how DC respond (particularly at the level of cytokine secretion) following cancer therapies that induce tumor cell death. Such knowledge will elucidate whether these approaches induce immunogenic versus tolerogenic cell death and promote development of semi-mature versus mature DC, and these insights will have significant implications for optimizing strategies to promote robust anti-tumor immune activation.

A recurring theme in many of the articles presented herein is that tumor immune evasion arises not only from a simple failure of the tumor microenvironment to support DC maturation but also from an active recruitment and exploitation by tumors of immature, tolerogenic DC that suppress adaptive responses. Seliger and Massa (10) review mechanisms by which tumorderived soluble and membrane-bound factors alter myeloid and plasmacytoid DC function, including effects of these molecules on antigen processing and presentation by DC, T cell stimulatory capacity of DC, migration of DC to tumor-draining lymph nodes, and DC survival. Tesone et al. (11) discuss how tumoraltered myelopoiesis shifts differentiation of myeloid precursors from a DC-committed lineage to lineages with immunosuppressive functions such as myeloid-derived suppressor cells (MDSCs) and tumor-associated macrophages, and these authors also focus on suppressive mechanisms that prevent DC maturation or that induce a switch from immunostimulatory to regulatory DC during tumor progression. Emphasis is also placed on specific recruitment of regulatory DC to tumors by tumor- and stroma-derived chemoattractants and how these tumor-infiltrating DC contribute to the overall suppressive nature of the tumor microenvironment. Vasaturo et al. (12) highlight specifically the negative immune regulation exhibited by PD-1, CTLA-4, and other co-inhibitory molecules and their receptors expressed on cells in the tumor microenvironment, including regulatory DC. These authors bring to light how such interactions hamper not only the induction of anti-tumor immunity by tumor-associated, tolerogenic DC that migrate to draining lymph nodes but also the effector activity of T cells that may have been activated appropriately in secondary lymphoid organs but whose effector function is subject to negative regulation following infiltration of tumors expressing coinhibitory molecules. While the authors discuss the potential of manipulating costimulatory and co-inhibitory molecule expression in tumors and associated cells as a means of shifting the milieu of the tumor microenvironment from an immunosuppressive state to an immunostimulatory one, they also address the potential limitations of non-specifically administering immune checkpoint inhibitors that may result in autoimmune activation, thus underscoring the need to better understand ways of finetuning immune regulation by these molecules and of targeting them in a cell-specific fashion.

Because of the potential of DC to serve as both targets of and delivery agents for tumor immunotherapies, significant efforts have been focused on how best to utilize these cells in the treatment of cancer. Gallois and Bhardwaj (13) review mechanisms by which tumors, Tregs, and immunosuppressive myeloid cells impair DC function and discuss how interventions that aim to combat the suppressive tumor microenvironment can improve the clinical benefit of therapies involving ex vivo-generated DC or in vivo-targeted DC. In addition to highlighting the need to better understand tumor microenvironmental factors that should be targeted to improve the efficacy of DC-associated immune stimulation in cancer patients, the authors identify a variety of other factors that must further be studied to optimize these therapies, including mechanisms of antigen delivery to endogenous DC; the frequency, route, and site of DC vaccination; methods of DC activation both ex vivo and in vivo; and the particular DC subsets that should be employed or targeted during immunization. These and other factors are considered more specifically in the context of DC-based therapies in acute and chronic myeloid leukemia patients by Schürch et al. (14), in ovarian cancer patients by Goyne and Cannon (15), and in metastatic melanoma patients by van de Ven et al. (16). Additionally, Ott and Bhardwaj (8) offer insights into the impact of MAPK pathway inhibition on DC activation in melanoma patients carrying the BRAF^{V600} mutation. Finally, Toubai et al. (17) review the roles of both host and donor DC in the induction of graft-versus-host disease and graft-versus-tumor effect following allogeneic hematopoietic stem cell transplantation, and the authors discuss strategies for, and challenges to, uncoupling these two processes as a means of maximizing antitumor immunity while minimizing autoimmune reactivity. It is clear from the work summarized in these articles that while this field has moved rapidly in recent years, much remains to be learned to optimize DC-related immune therapies for cancer. Moving forward, it is likely that combinatorial approaches that aim both to block immune inhibitory pathways and to promote immune stimulation will ultimately offer the greatest promise for successful DC-based cancer therapies. For instance, while the success of checkpoint blockade therapy has generally been limited to situations where T cells are already infiltrating tumors, therapies that also target DC, either endogenously or via vaccination, will likely promote anti-tumor T cell activation and therefore increase the proportion of patients for which checkpoint blockade is a viable option.

We conclude this collection of articles with a review by Chmielewski et al. (18), who describe MHC- and APCindependent immunotherapy using chimeric antigen receptor (CAR)-redirected T cells as an alternative to DC-based therapies and traditional adoptive T cell transfer therapy. In light of the tumor-associated suppression of DC described herein and the requirement for adequate expression of MHC molecules by both DC and tumor cells to achieve successful anti-tumor immunity, CAR-redirected T cell therapy has the potential to offer unique advantages over traditional immunotherapies by allowing: (1) the targeting of not only peptides but also carbohydrates and inorganic compounds expressed on tumor cells and (2) the inclusion of intracellular costimulatory molecule signaling domains in chimeric receptors that overcomes the limitation inherent in conventional T cell recognition of tumor cells or tumor-altered DC that typically lack or express low levels of these molecules needed for T cell activation. Furthermore, although CAR-redirected T cells bypass the need for stimulation by DC, it is interesting to speculate that in addition to their direct anti-tumor activity, these T cells might also be useful for the licensing of DC in the tumor microenvironment, thereby indirectly leading to more robust endogenous anti-tumor immune responses as well.

As the intricacies of DC biology and the influence of tumors on DC phenotype and function continue to be uncovered, additional insights into the role of these cells in the induction, regulation, and maintenance of anti-tumor immune responses will continue to shed light on mechanisms of tumor immune escape and inform the design of novel therapies to enhance anti-tumor immunity. It is our hope that the advances highlighted herein and the questions raised for future consideration will generate additional discussion, drive experimental inquiry, and bring into focus the significance of tumor/DC interactions and their impact on overall anti-tumor immunity. Such emphasis is sure to bring rapid advancements in this field and will ultimately lead to the development of more effective cancer immunotherapies and improved clinical outcome in cancer patients in the future.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

We would like to thank all authors for their contributions to this research topic as well as the many dedicated reviewers of the manuscripts herein for their thorough and timely responses. We also thank the wonderful support staff at the Frontiers Editorial Office for their guidance and cooperation from the inception of this research topic to its completion. We look forward to following the progress in this field and hope that this research topic will foster future collaborations among the authors and other researchers with interests in tumor/DC interactions.

REFERENCES

- Steinman RM, Cohn ZA. Identification of a novel cell type in peripheral lymphoid organs of mice. I. Morphology, quantitation, tissue distribution. J Exp Med (1973) 137:1142–62. doi:10.1084/jem.137.5.1142
- Zinkernagel RM. On the role of dendritic cells versus other cells in inducing protective CD8+ T cell responses. *Front Immunol* (2014) 5:30. doi:10.3389/fimmu. 2014.00030
- Hosmalin A. Mining the resource of cross-presentation. Front Immunol (2014) 5:62. doi:10.3389/fimmu.2014.00062
- Schiavoni G, Mattei F, Gabriele L. Type I interferons as stimulators of DCmediated cross-priming: impact on anti-tumor response. *Front Immunol* (2013) 4:483. doi:10.3389/fimmu.2013.00483

- Hargadon KM. Tumor-altered dendritic cell function: implications for antitumor immunity. *Front Immunol* (2013) 4:192. doi:10.3389/fimmu.2013.00192
- Dong H, Bullock TNJ. Metabolic influences that regulate dendritic cell function in tumors. *Front Immunol* (2014) 5:24. doi:10.3389/fimmu.2014.00024
- Dudek AM, Martin S, Garg AD, Agostinis P. Immature, semi-mature, and fully mature dendritic cells: toward a DC-cancer cells interface that augments anticancer immunity. *Front Immunol* (2013) 4:438. doi:10.3389/fimmu.2013.00438
- Ott PA, Bhardwaj N. Impact of MAPK pathway activation in BRAF(V600) melanoma on T cell and dendritic cell function. *Front Immunol* (2013) 4:346. doi:10.3389/fimmu.2013.00346
- Palombo F, Focaccetti C, Barnaba V. Therapeutic implications of immunogenic cell death in human cancer. *Front Immunol* (2014) 4:503. doi:10.3389/fimmu. 2013.00503
- Seliger B, Massa C. The dark side of dendritic cells: development and exploitation of tolerogenic activity that favor tumor outgrowth and immune escape. *Front Immunol* (2013) 4:419. doi:10.3389/fimmu.2013.00419
- Tesone AJ, Svoronos N, Allegrezza MJ, Conejo-Garcia JR. Pathological mobilization and activities of dendritic cells in tumor-bearing hosts: challenges and opportunities for immunotherapy of cancer. *Front Immunol* (2013) 4:435. doi:10.3389/fimmu.2013.00435
- Vasaturo A, Di Blasio S, Peeters DGA, de Koning CCH, de Vries JM, Figdor CG, et al. Clinical implications of co-inhibitory molecule expression in the tumor microenvironment for DC vaccination: a game of stop and go. *Front Immunol* (2013) 4:417. doi:10.3389/fimmu.2013.00417
- Gallois A, Bhardwaj N. Dendritic cell-targeted approaches to modulate immune dysfunction in the tumor microenvironment. *Front Immunol* (2013) 4:436. doi:10.3389/fimmu.2013.00436
- Schürch CM, Riether C, Ochsenbein AF. Dendritic cell-based immunotherapy for myeloid leukemias. *Front Immunol* (2013) 4:496. doi:10.3389/fimmu. 2013.00496
- Goyne HE, Cannon MJ. Dendritic cell vaccination, immune regulation, and clinical outcomes in ovarian cancer. *Front Immunol* (2013) 4:382. doi:10.3389/ fmmu.2013.00382
- van de Ven R, Lindenberg JJ, Oosterhoff D, de Gruijl TD. Dendritic cell plasticity in tumor-conditioned skin: CD14(+) cells at the cross-roads of immune activation and suppression. *Front Immunol* (2013) 4:403. doi:10.3389/fimmu. 2013.00403
- Toubai T, Mathewson N, Reddy P. The role of dendritic cells in graft-versustumor effect. Front Immunol (2014) 5:66. doi:10.3389/fimmu.2014.00066
- Chmielewski M, Hombach AA, Abken H. Antigen-specific T-cell activation independently of the MHC: chimeric antigen receptor-redirected T cells. *Front Immunol* (2013) 4:371. doi:10.3389/fimmu.2013.00371

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Received: 28 February 2014; accepted: 04 April 2014; published online: 16 April 2014. Citation: Hargadon KM and Bullock TNJ (2014) The role of tumor/dendritic cell interactions in the regulation of anti-tumor immunity: the good, the bad, and the ugly. Front. Immunol. 5:178. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2014.00178

This article was submitted to Tumor Immunity, a section of the journal Frontiers in Immunology.

Copyright © 2014 Hargadon and Bullock. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) or licensor are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

OPINION ARTICLE published: 10 February 2014 doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2014.00030



On the role of dendritic cells versus other cells in inducing protective CD8+ T cell responses

Rolf Martin Zinkernagel *

Institute of Experimental Immunology, University Hospital of Zurich, Zurich, Switzerland *Correspondence: rolf.zinkernagel@usz.ch

Edited by:

Kristian Michael Hargadon, Hampden-Sydney College, USA

Reviewed by:

Anne Hosmalin, Cochin Institute, France

Keywords: crosspresentation, fibroblast APCs, tumor immunity, tolerance, lymphnode

Dendritic cells (and/or macrophages) are key transporters of antigen from extralymphatic tissue to secondary lymphatic organs. The phagocytized antigen is presented via MHC class II but not via class I, except for infections by intracellular viruses, bacteria, etc. (1-4).

Class II-negative cells (e.g., fibroblasts) that get drained to secondary lymphatic organs (including spleen) induce MHC class I restricted CD8 T cells' cell responses as efficiently as dendritic cells (5-7).

So called crosspresentation is at least 10⁵ times less efficient than direct presentation and therefore is practically not achievable under physiological conditions (5-8).

If antigen accumulates in the endoplasmic (ER) reticulum because of transport problems, crosspresentation on to MHC class I can be demonstrated. This requires gigantic amounts of antigen accumulation in the ER, but this process has so far been difficult to quantitate in comparison to direct presentation (9).

Positive demonstration of crosspresentation in experiments is sometimes based on use of excessive amounts of protein antigen (e.g., OVA) and/or the use of unphysiological (i.e., much too sensitive) detection method, e.g., using very high frequencies of transgenic T cells (e.g., OVA-specific tgCD8⁺ T cells). In some experiments, virus inactivation is not controlled properly, permitting abortive (but not virus productive) infections that seemingly suggest crosspresentation instead of direct presentation [e.g., Ref. (8)].

An insulin-producing allogeneic cell graft strictly transplanted under the kidney capsule is accepted for more than >200 days by the host, but is promptly

rejected if at the time of transplantation, or a few days later, the same cells are also given i.p. or i.v. (10) Once accepted, the allogeneic strictly peripheral cell graft is highly resistant to rejection by a transplanted corresponding allogeneic skin graft (or dendritic cells). This skin graft is rejected in a primary fashion, signaling absence of direct or indirect priming by the original allogeneic cell graft indicating absence of priming by the original cell graft. This prompt skin rejection does not cause rejection of the insulin-producing cell graft (10).

A strictly extralymphatic (7) tumor expressing a very strong and defined viral antigen (similar to insulin-producing selfbeta-cells or allogeneic islet cells (10-12) can grow successfully to become lethal tumors. This depends on the condition that at the time of syngeneic tumor cell transplantation no (or too few) tumor cells escape/or drain to secondary lymphatic organs (7). This potentially early direct immunization is distinct from the late process of metastasis to secondary lymphatic organs that very often represent immune escape of tumor cells (e.g., MHC mutants, mutations of the T cell epitope, barrier formation by fibrin, coagulation, etc.)

DISCUSSION

DC transport antigen best to secondary lymphatic organs but only in an MHC class II associated fashion except of course if the DC is productively or abortively infected. The localization in or strictly outside of secondary lymphatic organs determines if and whether a CD8⁺ T cell immune response is induced or not.

Crosspresentation of antigen to MHC class I by DC or macrophages is an experimental artifact due to overdosage or uncontrolled new cell internal synthesis. Pure crosspresentation is so inefficient, that it is largely impractical for application and therapeutic use against solid peripheral tumors.

REFERENCES

- 1. Banchereau J. Steinman RM. Dendritic cells and the control of antigen immunity. Nature (1998) 392:245-52. doi:10.1038/32588
- 2. Ludewig B, Odermatt B, Landmann S, Hengartner H, Zinkernagel RM. Dendritic cells induce autoimmune diabetes and maintain disease via De novo formation of local lymphoid tissue. J Exp Med (1998) 188:1493-501. doi:10.1084/jem.188.8.1493
- 3. Ludewig B, Maloy KJ, Lopez-Macias C, Odermatt B, Hengartner H, Zinkernagel RM. Induction of optimal anti-viral neutralizing B cell responses by dendritic cells requires transport and release of virus particles in secondary lymphoid organs. Eur J Immunol (2000) 30:185-96. doi:10.1002/1521-4141(200001)30:1<185::AID-IMMU185>3.0.CO;2-L
- 4. Ludewig B, Ochsenbein AF, Odermatt B, Paulin D, Hengartner H, Zinkernagel RM. Immunotherapy with dendritic cells directed against tumor antigens shared with normal host cells results in severe autoimmune disease. J Exp Med (2000) 191:795-804. doi:10.1084/jem.191.5.795
- 5. Kündig TM, Bachmann MF, DiPaolo C, Simard JJ, Battegay M, Lother H, et al. Fibroblasts as efficient antigen-presenting cells in lymphoid organs. Science (1995) 268:1343-7. doi:10.1126/science. 7761853
- 6. Zinkernagel RM. On cross-priming of MHC class I-specific CTL: rule or exception? Eur J Immunol (2002) 32:2385-92. doi:10.1002/1521-4141(200209)32:9<2385: :AID-IMMU2385>3.0 CO:2-V
- 7. Ochsenbein AF, Sierro S, Odermatt B, Pericin M, Karrer U, Hermans J, et al. Roles of tumour localization, second signals and cross priming in cytotoxic T cell induction. Nature (2001) 411:1058-64. doi:10.1038/35082583

- Freigang S, Egger D, Bienz K, Hengartner H, Zinkernagel RM. Endogenous neosynthesis vs. cross-presentation of viral antigens for cytotoxic T cell priming. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (2003) 100:13477–82. doi:10.1073/pnas.1835685100
- Freigang S, Eschli B, Harris N, Geuking M, Quirin K, Schrempf S, et al. A lymphocytic choriomeningitis virus glycoprotein variant that is retained in the endoplasmic reticulum efficiently crossprimes CD8(+) T cell responses. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (2007) **104**:13426–31. doi:10.1073/pnas. 0704423104
- Pericin M, Althage A, Freigang S, Hengartner H, Rolland E, Dupraz P, et al. Allogeneic beta-islet cells correct diabetes and resist immune rejection. *Proc*

Natl Acad Sci USA (2002) **99:**8203–6. doi:10.1073/ pnas.122241299

- Ohashi PS, Oehen S, Buerki K, Pircher HP, Ohashi CT, Odermatt B, et al. Ablation of "tolerance" and induction of diabetes by virus infection in viral antigen transgenic mice. *Cell* (1991) 65:305–17. doi:10.1016/0092-8674(91)90164-T
- Ochsenbein AF, Klenerman P, Karrer U, Ludewig B, Pericin M, Hengartner H, et al. Immune surveillance against a solid tumor fails because of immunological ignorance. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S* A (1999) 96:2233–8. doi:10.1073/pnas.96.5.2233

Received: 04 December 2013; accepted: 19 January 2014; published online: 10 February 2014.

Citation: Zinkernagel RM (2014) On the role of dendritic cells versus other cells in inducing protective CD8+ T cell responses. Front. Immunol. 5:30. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2014.00030

This article was submitted to Tumor Immunity, a section of the journal Frontiers in Immunology.

Copyright © 2014 Zinkernagel. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) or licensor are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.



Mining the resource of cross-presentation

Anne Hosmalin^{1,2,3,4}*

- ¹ INSERM U1016, Institut Cochin, Paris, France
- ² CNRS UMR8104, Paris, France
- ³ University of Paris Descartes, Paris, France
- ⁴ Assistance Publique-Hôpitaux de Paris, Hôpital Cochin, Paris, France
- *Correspondence: anne.hosmalin@inserm.fr

Edited and reviewed by:

Kristian Michael Hargadon, Hampden-Sydney College, USA

Keywords: cross-presentation, dendritic cells, immunotherapy, tumors, HIV

A commentary on

On the role of dendritic cells versus other cells in inducing protective CD8+ T cell responses

by Zinkernagel RM (2014) Front Immunol 5:30. doi:10.3389/fimmu.2014.00030

- (1) In the face of MHC-class I-restricted direct presentation from a live, replicating viral infection - after the groundbreaking discovery of the MHC restriction of T cell responses by Rolph Zinkernagel and Peter Doherty (1) cross-presentation is indeed a weaker phenomenon (2, 3). Antigen presenting cells can cross-present exogenous antigens from viruses which cannot infect them, allowing anti-viral MHCclass I-restricted, CD8+, cytotoxic T cell priming (4). Nevertheless, when direct presentation is available, crosspresentation is dispensable for eliciting a maximal anti-vaccinia virus CD8⁺ T cell response (5).
- (2) Demonstration of cross-priming often uses sensitive detection methods requiring the infusion of high numbers of T cell receptor-transgenic mouse T cells (3). However, in many studies, natural CD8 T cell responses to epitopic peptides were induced in mice by cross-priming (6–11).
- (3) Dendritic cells (DC) and/or macrophages are indeed key transporters of antigens to secondary lymphoid organs (12–16).
- (4) Via class I, DC present phagocytosed antigens from intracellular viruses, bacteria, and other microorganisms, but also from non-replicating microorganisms [HIV inactivated by antiprotease, replication level proven unable to induce direct presentation

(17)], apoptotic cells or tumor cellderived fragments (9), or even live cells [DC purified after culture with live tumor cells, then injected, and the wash-out from these cells, containing potentially contaminating antigen from these tumor cells, is not able to present directly (18)]. This can lead to protective vaccination against tumors (18–20).

- (5) Location in secondary lymphoid organs or tertiary lymphatic tissues may indeed be the key to CD8 T cell priming. Any cell type may be able to prime CD8 T lymphocytes when located in lymphatic tissues and correctly activated (21-23). This in turn requires appropriate draining of these cells into lymphatic tissues to provide antigen amounts high enough for cross-presentation, in the presence of the appropriate costimulation and cytokines to induce either immune responses or active tolerance. This conjunction of circumstances may be obtained less rarely with DC than with other cell types, thanks to their high expression of class I molecules, costimulation molecules and cytokines, and their high propensity to transport antigens to lymphatic tissues. This can yield the direct presentation of endogenous epitopes. Why would not it also yield the cross-presentation of exogenous antigens?
- (6) During HIV infection, like in LCMV infection, chronic type I IFN production and immune hyperactivation induce immune suppression. Live replicating recombinant vaccine vectors that induce efficient direct presentation are not acceptable for immune therapy in populations with potential immune deficiency, for safety

reasons. In addition, these vectors require the use of sequences, which will not mutate like the actual patient's viral sequences. Why not try and exploit this opportunity to stir the balance of HIV-specific immune responses toward immunity instead of tolerance?

- (7)Tumors also favor suppressive mechanisms (negative costimulation molecules like CTLA-4 and PD-1, suppressive cytokines like IL-10, myeloidderived suppressor cells). After tumor ablation, it may be hoped in the future to restore immune surveillance by anti-suppressive agents and therapeutic vaccination. Recombinant vaccines expressing tumor antigens for direct presentation require the use of sequences, which will not mutate like the actual patient's tumor antigen sequences. Antigens from dead tumor cells can be crosspresented, even though with a low efficiency, by DC, yielding protection against tumors in vivo (in experimental settings that are still artificial but protective) (9); this can be obtained more efficiently using live tumor cells (18). Why not try and exploit this opportunity to stir the balance of antitumoral immune responses toward immunity instead of tolerance?
- (8) When major direct antigen presentation is not as blatant as during replicative viral infections, or is not exploitable for safety reasons, the alternative cross-presentation pathway may be exploitable for therapy.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

I acknowledge the Association de Recherche contre le Cancer (ARC), the Ligue de Recherche Contre le Cancer, CNRS-AP-HP-CHU Cochin collaboration, Université Paris Descartes, ANRS, Sidaction, the French Government's Investissement d'Avenir program, Laboratoire d'Excellence "Integrative Biology of Emerging Infectious Diseases" (ANR-10-LABX-62-IBEID).

REFERENCES

- Zinkernagel RM, Doherty PC. Restriction of in vitro T-cell mediated cytotoxicity in lymphocytic choriomeningitis within a syngeneic or semiallogenic system. *Nature* (1974) 248:701–2. doi:10. 1038/248701a0
- Zinkernagel RM. On cross-priming of MHC class I-specific CTL: rule or exception? *Eur J Immunol* (2002) **32**(9):2385–92. doi:10.1002/1521-4141(200209)32:9<2385::AID-IMMU2385>3.0.CO:2-V
- 3. Zinkernagel RM. On the role of dendritic cells versus other cells in inducing protective CD8+ T cell responses. *Front Immunol* (2014) **5**:30. doi:10. 3389/fimmu.2014.00030
- Sigal LJ, Crotty S, Andino R, Rock KL. Cytotoxic T-cell immunity to virus-infected non-haematopoietic cells requires presentation of exogenous antigen. *Nature* (1999) 398(6722):77–80. doi:10.1038/18038
- Xu RH, Remakus S, Ma X, Roscoe F, Sigal LJ. Direct presentation is sufficient for an efficient antiviral CD8+ T cell response. *PLoS Pathog* (2010) 6(2):e1000768. doi:10.1371/journal.ppat.1000768
- Carbone FR, Bevan MJ. Class I-restricted processing and presentation of exogenous cell-associated antigen in vivo. *J Exp Med* (1990) 171(2):377–87. doi:10.1084/jem.171.2.377
- Hosmalin A, Kumar S, Barnd D, Houghten R, Smith GE, Hughes SH, et al. Immunization with soluble protein-pulsed spleen cells induces class Irestricted cytotoxic T lymphocytes that recognize immunodominant epitopic peptides from *Plasmodium falciparum* and HIV-1. *J Immunol* (1992) 149(4):1311–8.
- Le Bon A, Etchart N, Rossmann C, Ashton M, Hou S, Gewert D, et al. Cross-priming of CD8+ T cells stimulated by virus-induced type I interferon.

Nat Immunol (2003) 4(10):1009-15. doi:10.1038/ ni978

- Goldszmid RS, Idoyaga J, Bravo AI, Steinman R, Mordoh J, Wainstok R. Dendritic cells charged with apoptotic tumor cells induce long-lived protective CD4+ and CD8+ T cell immunity against B16 melanoma. *J Immunol* (2003) **171**(11):5940–7.
- Matheoud D, Perié L, Vimeux L, Hoeffel G, Parent I, Marañon C, et al. Crosspresentation by dendritic cells from live cells induces protective immune responses in vivo. *Blood* (2010) 115:4412–20. doi: 10.1182/blood-2009-11-255935
- Kerksiek KM, Niedergang F, Chavrier P, Busch DH, Brocker T. Selective Rac1 inhibition in dendritic cells diminishes apoptotic cell uptake and crosspresentation in vivo. *Blood* (2005) 105(2):742–9. doi:10.1182/blood-2004-05-1891
- Huang FP, Platt N, Wykes M, Major JR, Powell TJ, Jenkins CD, et al. A discrete subpopulation of dendritic cells transports apoptotic intestinal epithelial cells to T cell areas of mesenteric lymph nodes. *J Exp Med* (2000) **191**(3):435–44. doi:10.1084/jem.191.3.435
- Scheinecker C, McHugh R, Shevach EM, Germain RN. Constitutive presentation of a natural tissue autoantigen exclusively by dendritic cells in the draining lymph node. *J Exp Med* (2002) 196(8):1079–90. doi:10.1084/jem.20020991
- Norbury CC, Malide D, Gibbs JS, Bennink JR, Yewdell JW. Visualizing priming of virus-specific CD8+ T cells by infected dendritic cells in vivo. *Nat Immunol* (2002) 3(3):265–71. doi:10.1038/ ni762
- Belz GT, Shortman K, Bevan MJ, Heath WR. CD8{alpha}+ dendritic cells selectively present MHC class I-restricted noncytolytic viral and intracellular bacterial antigens in vivo. *J Immunol* (2005) 175(1):196–200.
- Kurts C, Heath WR, Carbone FR, Allison J, Miller JFAP, Kosaka H. Constitutive class-I restricted exogenous presentation of self antigens in vivo. J Exp Med (1996) 184:923–30. doi:10.1084/jem.184. 3.923
- Hoeffel G, Ripoche AC, Matheoud D, Gannagé M, Louis S, Nascimbeni M, et al. Antigen cross-presentation by plasmacytoid dendritic cells. *Immunity* (2007) 27:481–92. doi:10.1016/j. immuni.2007.07.021

- Matheoud D, Baey C, Vimeux L, Tempez A, Valente M, Louche P, et al. Dendritic cells crosspresent antigens from live B16 cells more efficiently than from apoptotic cells and protect from melanoma in a therapeutic model. *PLoS One* (2011) 6(4):e19104. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0019104
- Albert ML. Death-defying immunity: do apoptotic cells influence antigen processing and presentation? *Nat Rev Immunol* (2004) 4(3):223–31. doi:10.1038/nri11308
- Green DR, Ferguson T, Zitvogel L, Kroemer G. Immunogenic and tolerogenic cell death. *Nat Rev Immunol* (2009) 9(5):353–63. doi:10. 1038/nri2545
- Kundig TM, Bachmann MF, DiPaolo C, Simard JJ, Battegay M, Lother H, et al. Fibroblasts as efficient antigen-presenting cells in lymphoid organs. *Science* (1995) 268(5215):1343–7. doi:10.1126/ science.7761853
- Ochsenbein AF, Sierro S, Odermatt B, Pericin M, Karrer U, Hermans J, et al. Roles of tumour localization, second signals and cross priming in cytotoxic T-cell induction. *Nature* (2001) 411(6841):1058–64. doi:10.1038/35082583
- Beauvillain C, Delneste Y, Scotet M, Peres A, Gascan H, Guermonprez P, et al. Neutrophils efficiently cross-prime naive T cells in vivo. *Blood* (2007) 110(8):2965–73. doi:10.1182/blood-2006-12-063826

Received: 28 January 2014; paper pending published: 31 January 2014; accepted: 03 February 2014; published online: 27 February 2014.

Citation: Hosmalin A (2014) Mining the resource of cross-presentation. Front. Immunol. 5:62. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2014.00062

This article was submitted to Tumor Immunity, a section of the journal Frontiers in Immunology.

Copyright © 2014 Hosmalin. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) or licensor are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.



Type I interferons as stimulators of DC-mediated cross-priming: impact on anti-tumor response

Giovanna Schiavoni*, Fabrizio Mattei and Lucia Gabriele

Department of Hematology, Oncology and Molecular Medicine, Istituto Superiore di Sanità, Rome, Italy

Edited by:

Kristian Michael Hargadon, Hampden-Sydney College, USA

Reviewed by:

Pedro Berraondo, Centro de Investigación Médica Aplicada, Spain Edith Janssen, Cincinnati Children's Hospital Research Foundation, USA

*Correspondence:

Giovanna Schiavoni, Experimental Immunotherapy Unit, Department of Hematology, Oncology and Molecular Medicine, Istituto Superiore di Sanità, Viale Regina Elena, 299, Rome 00161, Italy

e-mail: giovanna.schiavoni@iss.it

Induction of potent tumor-specific cytotoxic T-cell responses is a fundamental objective in anticancer therapeutic strategies. This event requires that antigen-presenting cells present tumor-associated antigens (Ag) on their MHC class-I molecule, in a process termed cross-presentation. Dendritic cells (DC) are particularly keen on this task and can induce the cross-priming of CD8⁺ T cells, when exposed to danger or inflammatory signals that stimulate their activation. Type I interferons (IFN-I), a family of long-known immunostimulatory cytokines, have been proven to produce optimal activation signal for DC-induced cross-priming by DC against tumor-associated Ag is a key mechanism for cancer immuno-surveillance and may be usefully exploited to boost anti-tumor CD8⁺ T-cell responses. Here, we will review the cross-presentation properties of different DC subsets, with special focus on cell-associated and tumor Ag, and discuss how IFN-I can modify this function, with the aim of identifying more specific and effective strategies for improving anticancer responses.

Keywords: type I interferon, interferon alpha, cross-priming, dendritic cells, dendritic cell subsets, cancer, tumorassociated antigen, immunosurveillance

INTRODUCTION

Anti-tumor immune responses are evoked by several effector cells. These include both innate immune cells, like NK cells and macrophages, and cells of the adaptive immunity. Among these, $CD8^+$ T cells are ideal tumoricidals, due to their capacity to recognize and kill malignant cells in an antigen (Ag)-specific fashion and to establish a long-lasting protection. The activation of anti-tumor $CD8^+$ T-cell responses is fulfilled through a process known as cross-priming and requires the uptake of extracellular Ag also in the form of tumor cells by the antigen-presenting cell (APC), which subsequently delivers the engulfed material to a distinct endosomal/lysosomal pathway that allows the processed peptides to be presented on MHC class-I (MHC-I) molecules (cross-presentation) (1).

Among APC, dendritic cells (DC) have been described as the sole cell type able to cross-present cell-associated Ag and studies on both mouse and human models have revealed that distinct DC subsets display differential capacities to perform this process resulting in the induction of immunity or tolerance. In this respect, for cross-presentation to result in cross-priming, three signals must be delivered by DC: (i) loading and cross-presentation of cellderived Ag onto MHC-I, (ii) appropriate co-stimulation through membrane molecules, and (iii) secretion of pro-inflammatory cytokines. Among cytokines produced by DC and capable of triggering DC activation, type I interferons (IFN-I) have been shown to play a major role in promoting cross-priming against both soluble proteins and cell-associated Ag, such as Ag derived from tumor apoptotic cells.

Here we discuss the most recent advances in Ag crosspresentation properties by several types of DC and on the capacity of IFN-I to turn on $CD8^+$ T-cell cross-priming.

DC SUBSETS CAPABLE OF MEDIATING CROSS-PRIMING MOUSE DC

In the murine immune system several DC subtypes have been characterized (2). The spleen contains at least five subsets distinguished by expression of specific surface markers: plasmacytoid DC (pDC; CD11c^{low}PDCA-1⁺B220), CD8 α DC (CD8 α ⁺CD4⁻CD11b⁻), CD11b DC (CD8 α ⁻CD4⁻CD11b⁺), CD4 DC (CD8 α ⁻CD4⁺CD11b⁺), and merocytic DC (mcDC; CD8 α ⁻CD4⁻CD11b⁻). These DC subsets markedly differ in their abilities to capture and cross-present antigenic material and only some of them can cross-present cell-associated Ag (3).

CD8 α DC is the most efficient DC subset in Ag crosspresentation uniquely able to prime CD8⁺ T cells against cellassociated Ag *in vivo* (4–6). In the steady-state, CD8 α DC capture dead cells resulting from constitutive turnover and play a central role in self-tolerance (6, 7). The *in vivo* relevance of CD8 α DC in CD8⁺ T-cell cross-priming against cell-associated Ag has been better clarified by studies with mice devoid of this DC subset. Mice deficient for either transcription factors Batf3 or NFIL3/E4BP4, both lacking CD8 α DC selectively, display impaired cross-priming of CD8⁺ T cells against cell-associated Ag (8, 9). Similarly, IRF-8^{-/-} mice, which are devoid of CD8 α DC and pDC, display impaired capacity to cross-present both soluble and tumor cell-derived Ag (10, 11).

Initial studies showing that CD8 α DC capture cellular Ag more efficiently than other DC subsets suggested that this was the principal mechanism for increased cross-presentation ability by CD8 α DC (5, 12). Indeed, CD8 α DC selectively express some receptors, such as CLEC9A or Tim-3, involved in the recognition of necrotic and apoptotic cells, respectively, and implicated in cross-presentation of cellular Ag (13–15). Additional studies unraveled

that CD8 α DC also possess a special processing machinery that delivers the internalized Ag onto the MHC-I processing pathway (16). Such machinery involves the activity of the small GTPase Rac2, selectively operating in CD8 α DC, and the subcellular assembly of the NADPH oxidase complex (NOX2) to phagosomes that maintains a high phagosomal pH and thus facilitates cross-presentation (17).

The lymph nodes (LN) contain additional DC subtypes, termed migratory DC, arising from non-lymphoid tissues where they normally reside. Of the two types of migratory DC described, namely CD103⁻CD11b⁺ and CD103⁺CD11b⁻, only the latter has been described to cross-present cellular Ag captured either in the lung (18) or in the skin (19). The shared efficiency for Ag crosspresentation by CD8a DC and CD103⁺ DC has been attributed to a developmental relationship, since these two DC subsets have a common dependence on the transcription factors Batf3, Flt3L, Id2, and IRF8 for their differentiation (20-22). Recent findings showed that CD8a DC and CD103⁺ DC specifically co-express XCR1, a receptor for CD8⁺ T-cell-secreted XCL1 that couples DC cross-presentation to induction of CD8⁺ T-cell immunity (23, 24). XCR1 was found to be a conserved specific marker also for additional murine DC subtypes (including a small percentage of mcDC and of CD103⁻ DC) and for human DC subsets devoted to cross-presentation of cell-associated Ag (25-27).

Janssen's group reported that mcDC capture dying cells, although less efficiently than CD8 α DC, and cross-prime CD8⁺ T cells for an extended time due to prolonged Ag storage (3, 28). *In vivo*, mcDC induce tumor-specific CTL responses in B16 melanoma-bearing mice (28). Of note, injection of tumor vaccineloaded mcDC, but not of CD8 α DC, elicited protective responses from subsequent tumor challenge in mice in a vaccination EL-4 thymoma model and resulted in therapeutic eradication of established EL-4 and B16 melanoma tumors (28, 29).

Although cross-presentation of soluble proteins by mouse pDC can occur upon Toll-like receptor (TLR) engagement (30), there is no evidence that pDC may cross-present cell-associated Ag. Instead, pDC can indirectly enhance $CD8^+$ T-cell cross-priming, through production of IFN-I and other soluble mediators (31–34). The capacity of CD11b DC to cross-present cellular Ag is also weak. In a murine model of mesothelioma expressing influenza virus hemagglutinin, as a membrane-bound neo-tumor Ag, one group has reported that both CD8 α DC and CD11b DC from tumor-draining LN could cross-present membrane hemagglutinin (35). This observation suggests that the anatomical location may affect the efficacy of CD11b DC for tumor Ag cross-presentation.

HUMAN DC

Human DC also display some heterogeneity. In the blood, DC may be essentially distinguished into BDCA1⁺ myeloid DC (mDC), BDCA3⁺ mDC, and pDC. BDCA3⁺ mDCs have been reported to cross-present Ag on their MHC-I molecules more efficiently than other DC populations. Due to functional and phylogenetic similarities, this subset is thought to be the human equivalent of mouse CD8 α DC (36–38). BDCA3⁺ mDCs selectively express CLEC9A and XCR1 and efficiently cross-present Ag derived from dead cells (25, 36, 37).

The role of human pDC as professional APC in the crosspresentation of exogenous Ag is under intensive investigation. Tumor cells infected with a measles virus vaccine are able to induce tumor Ag cross-presentation by human pDC via production of large amounts of IFN-a (39). Furthermore, harnessing uptake receptors to deliver Ag to pDCs can enhance crosspresentation and IFN-I production, resulting in the generation of potent anti-tumor responses (40). The efficacy of pDC has been verified in a cohort of metastatic melanoma patients in whom activated pDC were found to induce Ag-specific T-cell responses and significantly extended overall survival (41). It has been recently shown that pDC cross-present soluble and cellassociated tumor Ag to cytotoxic T lymphocytes to the same degree as BDCA3⁺ mDC (42, 43). Indeed, two recent reports argued on the notion that cross-presentation is restricted to certain human DC subsets. Amigorena's laboratory showed that freshly isolated tonsil-resident pDC, BDCA1⁺, and BDCA3⁺ mDC cross-present soluble Ag with the same efficiency, displaying comparable phagosomal pH, production of reactive oxygen species and capacity to export internalized proteins to the cytosol (44). Delamarre's group reported that the diverse human DC subsets are equally able to cross-present exogenous Ag to CD8⁺ T cells provided that the Ag is delivered to early endocytic compartments (43). These findings have extensive implications for vaccination strategies aiming at exploiting ex vivo-differentiated autologous DC, resembling primary DC subsets and endowed with strong cross-priming ability.

ENHANCEMENT OF CROSS-PRESENTATION BY IFN-I IN MURINE DC

In the steady-state or in the context of a tumor, DC crosspresentation of cell-associated Ag rarely results in CD8⁺ T-cell cross-priming due to lack of immunostimulatory signals capable of activating DC. IFN-I is the prototype inflammatory cytokine released upon infection or under physiological distress acting as a stimulus for DC cross-priming (45). In vivo, IFN-I induces CD8⁺ T-cell cross-priming against viral or soluble protein Ag through DC stimulation (46). Recently, we showed that IFN-I can affect DC cross-presentation of cell-associated Ag. In vitro or in vivo exposure of CD8a DC that have engulfed irradiated tumor cells to IFN-I resulted in three distinct effects: (i) increased retention of engulfed apoptotic material that correlated with decreased endosomal acidification and resulted in enhanced Ag cross-presentation, (ii) prolonged survival of phagocytic CD8a DC, and (iii) phenotypic activation of the cross-presenting DC that resulted in DC "licensing" for cross-priming (10). Similar results were obtained using tumor cells killed by the chemotherapeutic agent cyclophosphamide as a source of antigenic material for CD8a DC. In this setting, addition of IFN-I resulted in CD8⁺ T-cell cross-priming in vitro and tumor rejection in vivo (47).

Two different groups have recently reported the *in vivo* relevance of endogenous IFN-I signaling on CD8 α DC for promoting CD8⁺ T-cell-dependent spontaneous tumor rejection. Diamond et al. (48) showed that mice lacking IFN- α/β receptor 1 selectively in DC cannot reject methylcholanthrene-induced fibrosarcoma, a highly immunogenic tumor normally rejected by immunocompetent mice, and that CD8 α DC from these mice display

defective Ag cross-presentation to CD8⁺ T cells. Similarly, by using IFN- α/β receptor 1^{-/-} and Batf3^{-/-} mice transplanted with B16 melanoma, Fuertes et al. (49) reported that endogenous IFN-I, produced shortly after tumor challenge, was essential for intratumoral accumulation of CD8 α DC and for induction of tumor Ag-specific T-cell priming and tumor rejection via CD8 α DC stimulation. These studies underscore CD8 α DC as fundamental targets for endogenous IFN-I-mediated spontaneous immune control of a rising tumor.

Cross-priming mediated by mcDC also requires IFN-I. However, unlike CD8a DC, which fail to produce IFN-I upon uptake of apoptotic cells, mcDC are able to do so. Adoptive transfer experiments revealed that this endogenous IFN-I acts in an autocrine manner to activate mcDC and is both necessary and sufficient for boosting CD8⁺ T-cell cross-priming against cell-associated Ag (28, 29). Of interest, endogenous IFN-I signaling in mcDC was essential for preserving internalized material from early degradation and endosomal acidification similarly to what observed with CD8a DC exposed to exogenous IFN-I (3, 10). These findings suggest that IFN-I promote cross-priming in DC by exploiting a mechanism involving regulation of endosomal pH and Ag retention that direct the antigenic cargo toward the MHC-I processing pathway, as also observed with human DC (see below) (50). Thus, regulation of phagosomal acidification may be viewed as a strategy exploited by inflammatory signals, such as IFN-I, to switch on cross-priming in those DC subsets that under steady-state are devoted to tolerance induction and may provide a mechanism (coupled to MHC-I upregulation) by which IFN-I induce autoimmune reactions, namely by enhancing presentation of self Ag.

The ability of some compounds targeting TLR to stimulate CD8⁺ T-cell cross-priming has also been shown to occur through endogenous IFN-I production and subsequent DC stimulation (51, 52). The efficacy of CpG in cancer immunotherapy is dependent on cross-talk between pDC and conventional DC (mcDC and CD8 α DC), the first serving as a source of IFN-I through TLR9 triggering and the latter responding to IFN-I to promote CD8⁺ T-cell cross-priming and anti-tumor response in melanoma-bearing mice exposed to cryoablation (53).

ENHANCEMENT OF CROSS-PRESENTATION BY IFN-I IN HUMAN DC

Type I interferons exert multiple effects on human DC, affecting the major cellular pathways associated to their APC function, namely differentiation, maturation, and migration (54, 55). Human immature conventional DC treated in vitro with IFN-I upregulate the expression of MHC-I, CD40, CD80, CD86, and CD83 molecules resulting in a superior capacity to induce CD8⁺ T-cell responses (56, 57). Moreover, IFN-I support the differentiation of human monocytes into DC with high capacity for Ag presentation (58). IFNα induces one-step differentiation of human monocytes into highly activated and partially mature DC (IFNa-DC), retaining a marked phagocytic activity and exhibiting a special aptitude for inducing CD8⁺ T-cell responses (59, 60). Studies on phenotype and functions of IFNa-DC have pointed that these cells can resemble naturally occurring DC, generated from monocytes in response to danger signals, including infections when high levels of IFN-I are released (61–65). Indeed, subtypes of DC resembling IFNα-DC have been observed in patients suffering from autoimmune or infectious diseases (54).

IFN α -DC express markers involved in antigen processing such as CD208 and the scavenger receptor oxidized low-density lipoprotein receptor 1 (LOX-1), implicated in Ag uptake and CD8⁺ T-cell cross-priming (66). *In vivo*, IFN α -DC generate cytotoxic responses and CD8⁺ T-cell cross-priming against viral and tumor-associated Ag (59, 67–69). Efficient cross-presentation of tumor-associated Ag by IFN α -DC loaded with apoptotic human melanoma cells was found to correlate with enhanced proteasome activity (68). In addition, studies employing soluble Ag point to an effect of IFN α in preserving Ag from early degradation, thus facilitating its routing onto MHC-I pathway (50). Thus, although the intracellular mechanisms underlying the superior efficiency of IFN α -DC in Ag cross-presentation need to be clarified, these evidences suggest that IFN-I may control this process at diverse levels.

Interestingly, IFN α -DC have been reported to exhibit some phenotypic features of pDC (70). We recently reported that IFN α -DC and pDC share a similar miRNA signature as well as some phenotypic and molecular markers potentially accounting for common functional activities, such as IFN-I production upon viral infection. Moreover, IFN-I was also able to affect some functions of pDC, including the expression of the pDC-associated markers IRF-8 and TLR-9 (71).

IMPORTANCE OF DC CROSS-PRIMING FOR ANTICANCER IMMUNE RESPONSES AND PERSPECTIVES FOR EXPLOITATION OF IFN-I POTENTIATING EFFECT

Several lines of evidence indicate that DC-mediated cross-priming is crucial for anti-tumor immunity (72). First, tumor-infiltrating DC purified from tumor samples have the capacity to cross-present tumor Ag *in vitro* (73). Second, priming *in vivo* of anti-tumor T-cell responses can be abrogated in models in which DC subsets specialized for cross-presentation can be specifically depleted. Indeed, $Batf3^{-/-}$ mice are unable to reject highly immunogenic tumors due to defective cross-presentation by $Batf3^{-/-}$ DC, reduced tumor-infiltration of CD8⁺ T cells and failure to develop tumor-specific CTL (8).

The therapeutic anti-tumor potential of IFN-I has been appreciated since 1960s (74, 75). However, only recently it has become clearer how IFN-I participate in naturally occurring, protective immune responses to primary tumors, thus playing a prominent role in cancer immunosurveillance. In addition, IFN-I has been shown to be a crucial component of cancer-immunoediting, namely the process whereby the immune system suppresses cancer growth and shapes tumor immunogenicity (76, 77). These findings have renewed the interest in exploiting the anti-tumor potential of IFN-I in therapeutic and vaccination strategies against cancer.

Therapeutic approaches that involve either exogenous IFN-I administration or its induction within the tumor microenvironment have shown effects on CD8⁺ T-cell responses via DC stimulation at various levels. In mice with established B16 tumors, radiotherapy induced a local increase in IFN-I expression by myeloid immune infiltrates that acted enhancing the cross-priming ability of tumor-infiltrating DC and was crucial for host therapeutic response (78). Furthermore, intratumoral delivery of IFN-I synergized with immunotherapy (79) and chemotherapy (47) to



induce therapeutic response in tumor-bearing mice that involved, in both cases, enhanced DC cross-presentation. Notably, IFN-I can enhance anti-tumor CTL responses also via direct effects on CD8 T cells, inducing their expansion and acquisition of effector functions thus improving therapeutic efficacy (80, 81).

With regard to protocols employing vaccine preparations, coadministration of CpG with a DC vaccine was found to overcome tumor-specific tolerance after stem cell transplantation, inducing protective anti-tumor response through CpG-induced IFN-I *in vivo* (82). Recently, Shimizu and colleagues showed that vaccination with B16 melanoma cells loaded with the invariant NKT cell ligand α GalCer stimulated tumor-reactive CD8⁺ memory T cells in a novel mechanism involving cross-talk between XCR1expressing DC and pDC via NKT-stimulated IFN- α production by pDC (33). Human studies also point to the use of IFN-I-inducers as promising approach to boost anti-tumor effector responses. The efficacy of topical application of the TLR7/8 agonist imiquimod, the only TLR agonist approved by FDA for skin cancer treatment, has been linked to local increase of IFN-I production, recruitment of DC and induction of tumor-reactive CTL (83). Finally, it is worth mentioning that tumor-derived IFN-I may also positively contribute to anti-tumor immune response. In virtue of their TLR expression, B16 melanoma cells were found to respond to ligands to TLR3 and TLR4 by releasing substantial levels of IFN-I that induced DC activation and resulted in tumor growth inhibition by the host (84, 85).

CONCLUDING REMARKS

Despite IFN- α has received approval for therapy of several neoplastic diseases, side effects of systemic long-term treatments and insufficiently high efficacy have challenged its use in current clinical protocols. Therefore, novel strategies to exploit IFN-I in therapeutic and vaccination protocols are needed that take into account, for example, controlled timing of administration to avoid negative feedback mechanisms in the responding immune cells (58, 86), and the involvement of active cross-talk between multiple types of immune cells that play different, non-overlapping roles within the tumor site. In this view, the combined use of chemotherapy or radiotherapy that kill cancer cells, providing source of Ag for DC, with exogenous IFN-I or compounds capable of inducing IFN-I *in situ* may be viewed as promising strategies for boosting DC cross-presentation and CTL induction within the tumor microenvironment (**Figure 1**).

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

This study was funded by the Italian Association for Cancer research (AIRC) project no. 11610 to Lucia Gabriele.

REFERENCES

- Joffre OP, Segura E, Savina A, Amigorena S. Cross-presentation by dendritic cells. Nat Rev Immunol (2012) 12:557–69. doi:10.1038/nri3254
- Kushwah R, Hu J. Complexity of dendritic cell subsets and their function in the host immune system. *Immunology* (2011) 133:409–19. doi:10.1111/j.1365-2567.2011.03457.x
- Thacker RI, Janssen EM. Cross-presentation of cell-associated antigens by mouse splenic dendritic cell populations. *Front Immunol* (2012) 3:41. doi:10.3389/ fimmu.2012.00041
- den Haan JM, Lehar SM, Bevan MJ. CD8(+) but not CD8(-) dendritic cells cross-prime cytotoxic T cells in vivo. J Exp Med (2000) 192:1685–96. doi:10.1084/jem.192.12.1685
- Iyoda T, Shimoyama S, Liu K, Omatsu Y, Akiyama Y, Maeda Y, et al. The CD8+ dendritic cell subset selectively endocytoses dying cells in culture and in vivo. *J Exp Med* (2002) 195:1289–302. doi:10.1084/jem.20020161
- 6. Shortman K, Heath WR. The CD8+ dendritic cell subset. *Immunol Rev* (2010) **234**:18–31. doi:10.1111/j.0105-2896.2009.00870.x
- Belz GT, Behrens GM, Smith CM, Miller JF, Jones C, Lejon K, et al. The CD8alpha(+) dendritic cell is responsible for inducing peripheral self-tolerance to tissue-associated antigens. *J Exp Med* (2002) **196**:1099–104. doi:10.1084/jem. 20020861
- Hildner K, Edelson BT, Purtha WE, Diamond M, Matsushita H, Kohyama M, et al. Batf3 deficiency reveals a critical role for CD8alpha+ dendritic cells in cytotoxic T cell immunity. *Science* (2008) **322**:1097–100. doi:10.1126/science. 1164206
- Kashiwada M, Pham NL, Pewe LL, Harty JT, Rothman PB. NFIL3/E4BP4 is a key transcription factor for CD8alpha(+) dendritic cell development. *Blood* (2011) 117:6193–7. doi:10.1182/blood-2010-07-295873
- Lorenzi S, Mattei F, Sistigu A, Bracci L, Spadaro F, Sanchez M, et al. Type I IFNs control antigen retention and survival of CD8{alpha}+ dendritic cells after uptake of tumor apoptotic cells leading to cross-priming. *J Immunol* (2011) 186:5142–50. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.1004163
- 11. Schiavoni G, Mattei F, Sestili P, Borghi P, Venditti M, Morse HC III, et al. ICSBP is essential for the development of mouse type I interferon-producing cells and for the generation and activation of CD8alpha(+) dendritic cells. *J Exp Med* (2002) **196**:1415–25. doi:10.1084/jem.20021263
- Schulz O, Reis e Sousa C. Cross-presentation of cell-associated antigens by CD8alpha+ dendritic cells is attributable to their ability to internalize dead cells. *Immunology* (2002) 107:183–9. doi:10.1046/j.1365-2567.2002.01513.x

- Nakayama M, Akiba H, Takeda K, Kojima Y, Hashiguchi M, Azuma M, et al. Tim-3 mediates phagocytosis of apoptotic cells and cross-presentation. *Blood* (2009) 113:3821–30. doi:10.1182/blood-2008-10-185884
- Sancho D, Joffre OP, Keller AM, Rogers NC, Martinez D, Hernanz-Falcon P, et al. Identification of a dendritic cell receptor that couples sensing of necrosis to immunity. *Nature* (2009) 458:899–903. doi:10.1038/nature07750
- Sancho D, Mourao-Sa D, Joffre OP, Schulz O, Rogers NC, Pennington DJ, et al. Tumor therapy in mice via antigen targeting to a novel, DC-restricted C-type lectin. J Clin Invest (2008) 118:2098–110. doi:10.1172/JCI34584
- Schnorrer P, Behrens GM, Wilson NS, Pooley JL, Smith CM, El-Sukkari D, et al. The dominant role of CD8+ dendritic cells in cross-presentation is not dictated by antigen capture. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (2006) 103:10729–34. doi:10.1073/pnas.0601956103
- Savina A, Peres A, Cebrian I, Carmo N, Moita C, Hacohen N, et al. The small GTPase Rac2 controls phagosomal alkalinization and antigen crosspresentation selectively in CD8(+) dendritic cells. *Immunity* (2009) **30**:544–55. doi:10.1016/j.immuni.2009.01.013
- del Rio ML, Rodriguez-Barbosa JI, Kremmer E, Forster R. CD103– and CD103+ bronchial lymph node dendritic cells are specialized in presenting and crosspresenting innocuous antigen to CD4+ and CD8+ T cells. *J Immunol* (2007) 178:6861–6.
- Bedoui S, Whitney PG, Waithman J, Eidsmo L, Wakim L, Caminschi I, et al. Cross-presentation of viral and self antigens by skin-derived CD103+ dendritic cells. *Nat Immunol* (2009) 10:488–95. doi:10.1038/ni.1724
- Edelson BT, Kc W, Juang R, Kohyama M, Benoit LA, Klekotka PA, et al. Peripheral CD103+ dendritic cells form a unified subset developmentally related to CD8alpha+ conventional dendritic cells. J Exp Med (2010) 207:823–36. doi:10.1084/jem.20091627
- Ginhoux F, Liu K, Helft J, Bogunovic M, Greter M, Hashimoto D, et al. The origin and development of nonlymphoid tissue CD103+ DCs. J Exp Med (2009) 206:3115–30. doi:10.1084/jem.20091756
- Hashimoto D, Miller J, Merad M. Dendritic cell and macrophage heterogeneity in vivo. *Immunity* (2011) 35:323–35. doi:10.1016/j.immuni.2011.09.007
- Crozat K, Tamoutounour S, Vu Manh TP, Fossum E, Luche H, Ardouin L, et al. Cutting edge: expression of XCR1 defines mouse lymphoid-tissue resident and migratory dendritic cells of the CD8alpha+ type. *J Immunol* (2011) 187:4411–5. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.1101717
- Dorner BG, Dorner MB, Zhou X, Opitz C, Mora A, Guttler S, et al. Selective expression of the chemokine receptor XCR1 on cross-presenting dendritic cells determines cooperation with CD8+ T cells. *Immunity* (2009) 31:823–33. doi:10.1016/j.immuni.2009.08.027
- 25. Bachem A, Guttler S, Hartung E, Ebstein F, Schaefer M, Tannert A, et al. Superior antigen cross-presentation and XCR1 expression define human CD11c+CD141+ cells as homologues of mouse CD8+ dendritic cells. J Exp Med (2010) 207:1273–81. doi:10.1084/jem.20100348
- Bachem A, Hartung E, Guttler S, Mora A, Zhou X, Hegemann A, et al. Expression of XCR1 characterizes the Batf3-dependent lineage of dendritic cells capable of antigen cross-presentation. *Front Immunol* (2012) 3:214. doi:10.3389/fimmu. 2012.00214
- Crozat K, Guiton R, Contreras V, Feuillet V, Dutertre CA, Ventre E, et al. The XC chemokine receptor 1 is a conserved selective marker of mammalian cells homologous to mouse CD8alpha+ dendritic cells. J Exp Med (2010) 207:1283–92. doi:10.1084/jem.20100223
- Reboulet RA, Hennies CM, Garcia Z, Nierkens S, Janssen EM. Prolonged antigen storage endows merocytic dendritic cells with enhanced capacity to prime anti-tumor responses in tumor-bearing mice. *J Immunol* (2010) 185:3337–47. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.1001619
- Hennies CM, Reboulet RA, Garcia Z, Nierkens S, Wolkers MC, Janssen EM. Selective expansion of merocytic dendritic cells and CD8DCs confers anti-tumour effect of Fms-like tyrosine kinase 3-ligand treatment in vivo. *Clin Exp Immunol* (2011) 163:381–91. doi:10.1111/j.1365-2249.2010.04305.x
- Mouries J, Moron G, Schlecht G, Escriou N, Dadaglio G, Leclerc C. Plasmacytoid dendritic cells efficiently cross-prime naive T cells in vivo after TLR activation. *Blood* (2008) 112:3713–22. doi:10.1182/blood-2008-03-146290
- Ali OA, Emerich D, Dranoff G, Mooney DJ. In situ regulation of DC subsets and T cells mediates tumor regression in mice. *Sci Transl Med* (2009) 1:8ra19. doi:10.1126/scitranslmed.3000359

- 32. Liu C, Lou Y, Lizee G, Qin H, Liu S, Rabinovich B, et al. Plasmacytoid dendritic cells induce NK cell-dependent, tumor antigen-specific T cell crosspriming and tumor regression in mice. J Clin Invest (2008) 118:1165–75. doi:10.1172/JCI33583
- 33. Shimizu K, Asakura M, Shinga J, Sato Y, Kitahara S, Hoshino K, et al. Invariant NKT cells induce plasmacytoid dendritic cell (DC) cross-talk with conventional DCs for efficient memory CD8+ T cell induction. *J Immunol* (2013) 190:5609–19. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.1300033
- 34. Wei J, Waithman J, Lata R, Mifsud NA, Cebon J, Kay T, et al. Influenza A infection enhances cross-priming of CD8+ T cells to cell-associated antigens in a TLR7- and type I IFN-dependent fashion. J Immunol (2010) 185:6013–22. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.1002129
- McDonnell AM, Prosser AC, van Bruggen I, Robinson BW, Currie AJ. CD8alpha+ DC are not the sole subset cross-presenting cell-associated tumor antigens from a solid tumor. *Eur J Immunol* (2010) 40:1617–27. doi:10.1002/eji. 200940153
- 36. Jongbloed SL, Kassianos AJ, McDonald KJ, Clark GJ, Ju X, Angel CE, et al. Human CD141+ (BDCA-3)+ dendritic cells (DCs) represent a unique myeloid DC subset that cross-presents necrotic cell antigens. J Exp Med (2010) 207:1247–60. doi:10.1084/jem.20092140
- Poulin LF, Salio M, Griessinger E, Anjos-Afonso F, Craciun L, Chen JL, et al. Characterization of human DNGR-1+ BDCA3+ leukocytes as putative equivalents of mouse CD8alpha+ dendritic cells. J Exp Med (2010) 207:1261–71. doi:10.1084/jem.20092618
- Crozat K, Guiton R, Guilliams M, Henri S, Baranek T, Schwartz-Cornil I, et al. Comparative genomics as a tool to reveal functional equivalences between human and mouse dendritic cell subsets. *Immunol Rev* (2010) 234:177–98. doi:10.1111/j.0105-2896.2009.00868.x
- Guillerme JB, Boisgerault N, Roulois D, Menager J, Combredet C, Tangy F, et al. Measles virus vaccine-infected tumor cells induce tumor antigen crosspresentation by human plasmacytoid dendritic cells. *Clin Cancer Res* (2013) 19:1147–58. doi:10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-12-2733
- Tel J, Sittig SP, Blom RA, Cruz LJ, Schreibelt G, Figdor CG, et al. Targeting uptake receptors on human plasmacytoid dendritic cells triggers antigen crosspresentation and robust type I IFN secretion. *J Immunol* (2013) 191:5005–12. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.1300787
- Tel J, Aarntzen EH, Baba T, Schreibelt G, Schulte BM, Benitez-Ribas D, et al. Natural human plasmacytoid dendritic cells induce antigen-specific T-cell responses in melanoma patients. *Cancer Res* (2013) **73**:1063–75. doi:10.1158/0008-5472. CAN-12-2583
- 42. Tel J, Schreibelt G, Sittig SP, Mathan TS, Buschow SI, Cruz LJ, et al. Human plasmacytoid dendritic cells efficiently cross-present exogenous Ags to CD8+ T cells despite lower Ag uptake than myeloid dendritic cell subsets. *Blood* (2013) 121:459–67. doi:10.1182/blood-2012-06-435644
- Cohn L, Chatterjee B, Esselborn F, Smed-Sorensen A, Nakamura N, Chalouni C, et al. Antigen delivery to early endosomes eliminates the superiority of human blood BDCA3+ dendritic cells at cross presentation. *J Exp Med* (2013) 210:1049–63. doi:10.1084/jem.20121251
- Segura E, Durand M, Amigorena S. Similar antigen cross-presentation capacity and phagocytic functions in all freshly isolated human lymphoid organ-resident dendritic cells. J Exp Med (2013) 210:1035–47. doi:10.1084/jem.20121103
- Le Bon A, Tough DF. Type I interferon as a stimulus for cross-priming. *Cytokine Growth Factor Rev* (2008) 19:33–40. doi:10.1016/j.cytogfr.2007.10.007
- 46. Le Bon A, Etchart N, Rossmann C, Ashton M, Hou S, Gewert D, et al. Crosspriming of CD8+ T cells stimulated by virus-induced type I interferon. *Nat Immunol* (2003) 4:1009–15. doi:10.1038/ni978
- Schiavoni G, Sistigu A, Valentini M, Mattei F, Sestili P, Spadaro F, et al. Cyclophosphamide synergizes with type I interferons through systemic dendritic cell reactivation and induction of immunogenic tumor apoptosis. *Cancer Res* (2011) 71:768–78. doi:10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-10-2788
- Diamond MS, Kinder M, Matsushita H, Mashayekhi M, Dunn GP, Archambault JM, et al. Type I interferon is selectively required by dendritic cells for immune rejection of tumors. J Exp Med (2011) 208:1989–2003. doi:10.1084/ jem.20101158
- Fuertes MB, Kacha AK, Kline J, Woo SR, Kranz DM, Murphy KM, et al. Host type I IFN signals are required for antitumor CD8+ T cell responses through CD8{alpha}+ dendritic cells. *J Exp Med* (2011) 208:2005–16. doi:10.1084/jem. 20101159

- Spadaro F, Lapenta C, Donati S, Abalsamo L, Barnaba V, Belardelli F, et al. IFN-alpha enhances cross-presentation in human dendritic cells by modulating antigen survival, endocytic routing, and processing. *Blood* (2012) 119:1407–17. doi:10.1182/blood-2011-06-363564
- 51. Gray RC, Kuchtey J, Harding CV. CpG-B ODNs potently induce low levels of IFN-alphabeta and induce IFN-alphabeta-dependent MHC-I cross-presentation in DCs as effectively as CpG-A and CpG-C ODNs. J Leukoc Biol (2007) 81:1075–85. doi:10.1189/jlb.1006606
- Oh JZ, Kurche JS, Burchill MA, Kedl RM. TLR7 enables cross-presentation by multiple dendritic cell subsets through a type I IFN-dependent pathway. *Blood* (2011) 118:3028–38. doi:10.1182/blood-2011-04-348839
- 53. Nierkens S, den Brok MH, Garcia Z, Togher S, Wagenaars J, Wassink M, et al. Immune adjuvant efficacy of CpG oligonucleotide in cancer treatment is founded specifically upon TLR9 function in plasmacytoid dendritic cells. *Cancer Res* (2011) **71**:6428–37. doi:10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-11-2154
- 54. Farkas A, Kemeny L. Interferon-alpha in the generation of monocyte-derived dendritic cells: recent advances and implications for dermatology. *Br J Dermatol* (2011) 165:247–54. doi:10.1111/j.1365-2133.2011.10301.x
- Hansen M, Met O, Svane IM, Andersen MH. Cellular based cancer vaccines: type 1 polarization of dendritic cells. *Curr Med Chem* (2012) 19:4239–46. doi:10.2174/092986712802884213
- Gallucci S, Lolkema M, Matzinger P. Natural adjuvants: endogenous activators of dendritic cells. *Nat Med* (1999) 5:1249–55. doi:10.1038/15200
- Ito T, Amakawa R, Inaba M, Ikehara S, Inaba K, Fukuhara S. Differential regulation of human blood dendritic cell subsets by IFNs. *J Immunol* (2001) 166:2961–9.
- Hervas-Stubbs S, Perez-Gracia JL, Rouzaut A, Sanmamed MF, Le Bon A, Melero I. Direct effects of type I interferons on cells of the immune system. *Clin Cancer Res* (2011) 17:2619–27. doi:10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-10-1114
- 59. Gabriele L, Borghi P, Rozera C, Sestili P, Andreotti M, Guarini A, et al. IFN-alpha promotes the rapid differentiation of monocytes from patients with chronic myeloid leukemia into activated dendritic cells tuned to undergo full maturation after LPS treatment. *Blood* (2004) 103:980–7. doi:10.1182/blood-2003-03-0981
- 60. Santini SM, Di Pucchio T, Lapenta C, Parlato S, Logozzi M, Belardelli F. The natural alliance between type I interferon and dendritic cells and its role in linking innate and adaptive immunity. *J Interferon Cytokine Res* (2002) 22:1071–80. doi:10.1089/10799900260442494
- Belardelli F, Ferrantini M. Cytokines as a link between innate and adaptive antitumor immunity. *Trends Immunol* (2002) 23:201–8. doi:10.1016/S1471-4906(02)02195-6
- Gigante M, Mandic M, Wesa AK, Cavalcanti E, Dambrosio M, Mancini V, et al. Interferon-alpha (IFN-alpha)-conditioned DC preferentially stimulate type-1 and limit Treg-type in vitro T-cell responses from RCC patients. *J Immunother* (2008) 31:254–62. doi:10.1097/CJI.0b013e318167b023
- 63. Santodonato L, D'Agostino G, Nisini R, Mariotti S, Monque DM, Spada M, et al. Monocyte-derived dendritic cells generated after a short-term culture with IFN-alpha and granulocyte-macrophage colony-stimulating factor stimulate a potent Epstein-Barr virus-specific CD8+ T cell response. *J Immunol* (2003) 170:5195–202.
- 64. Tosi D, Valenti R, Cova A, Sovena G, Huber V, Pilla L, et al. Role of crosstalk between IFN-alpha-induced monocyte-derived dendritic cells and NK cells in priming CD8+ T cell responses against human tumor antigens. *J Immunol* (2004) **172**:5363–70.
- 65. Tough DF. Type I interferon as a link between innate and adaptive immunity through dendritic cell stimulation. *Leuk Lymphoma* (2004) **45**:257–64. doi:10.1080/1042819031000149368
- 66. Parlato S, Romagnoli G, Spadaro F, Canini I, Sirabella P, Borghi P, et al. LOX-1 as a natural IFN-alpha-mediated signal for apoptotic cell uptake and antigen presentation in dendritic cells. *Blood* (2010) 115:1554–63. doi:10.1182/blood-2009-07-234468
- 67. Lapenta C, Santini SM, Spada M, Donati S, Urbani F, Accapezzato D, et al. IFN-alpha-conditioned dendritic cells are highly efficient in inducing crosspriming CD8(+) T cells against exogenous viral antigens. *Eur J Immunol* (2006) 36:2046–60. doi:10.1002/eji.200535579
- Lattanzi L, Rozera C, Marescotti D, D'Agostino G, Santodonato L, Cellini S, et al. IFN-alpha boosts epitope cross-presentation by dendritic cells via modulation of proteasome activity. *Immunobiology* (2010) 216:537–47. doi:10.1016/j.imbio. 2010.10.003

- Santini SM, Lapenta C, Logozzi M, Parlato S, Spada M, Di Pucchio T, et al. Type I interferon as a powerful adjuvant for monocyte-derived dendritic cell development and activity in vitro and in Hu-PBL-SCID mice. *J Exp Med* (2000) 191:1777–88. doi:10.1084/jem.191.10.1777
- Farkas A, Kemeny L. Monocyte-derived interferon-alpha primed dendritic cells in the pathogenesis of psoriasis: new pieces in the puzzle. *Int Immunopharmacol* (2012) 13:215–8. doi:10.1016/j.intimp.2012.04.003
- 71. Parlato S, Bruni R, Fragapane P, Salerno D, Marcantonio C, Borghi P, et al. IFN-alpha regulates Blimp-1 expression via miR-23a and miR-125b in both monocytes-derived DC and pDC. *PLoS One* (2013) 8:e72833. doi:10.1371/ journal.pone.0072833
- Andersen BM, Ohlfest JR. Increasing the efficacy of tumor cell vaccines by enhancing cross priming. *Cancer Lett* (2012) 325:155–64. doi:10.1016/j.canlet. 2012.07.012
- McDonnell AM, Robinson BW, Currie AJ. Tumor antigen cross-presentation and the dendritic cell: where it all begins? *Clin Dev Immunol* (2010) 2010:539519. doi:10.1155/2010/539519
- 74. Gresser I, Bourali C, Levy JP, Fontaine-Brouty-Boye D, Thomas MT. Increased survival in mice inoculated with tumor cells and treated with interferon preparations. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (1969) 63:51–7. doi:10.1073/pnas. 63.1.51
- Gresser I, Maury C, Brouty-Boye D. Mechanism of the antitumour effect of interferon in mice. *Nature* (1972) 239:167–8. doi:10.1038/239167a0
- Dunn GP, Bruce AT, Sheehan KC, Shankaran V, Uppaluri R, Bui JD, et al. A critical function for type I interferons in cancer immunoediting. *Nat Immunol* (2005) 6:722–9. doi:10.1038/ni1213
- Dunn GP, Koebel CM, Schreiber RD. Interferons, immunity and cancer immunoediting. Nat Rev Immunol (2006) 6:836–48. doi:10.1038/nri1961
- Burnette BC, Liang H, Lee Y, Chlewicki L, Khodarev NN, Weichselbaum RR, et al. The efficacy of radiotherapy relies upon induction of type i interferondependent innate and adaptive immunity. *Cancer Res* (2011) 71:2488–96. doi:10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-10-2820
- Dubrot J, Palazon A, Alfaro C, Azpilikueta A, Ochoa MC, Rouzaut A, et al. Intratumoral injection of interferon-alpha and systemic delivery of agonist anti-CD137 monoclonal antibodies synergize for immunotherapy. *Int J Cancer* (2011) 128:105–18. doi:10.1002/ijc.25333
- 80. Hervas-Stubbs S, Mancheno U, Riezu-Boj JI, Larraga A, Ochoa MC, Alignani D, et al. CD8 T cell priming in the presence of IFN-alpha renders CTLs with improved responsiveness to homeostatic cytokines and recall antigens:

important traits for adoptive T cell therapy. J Immunol (2012) 189:3299–310. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.1102495

- Hervas-Stubbs S, Riezu-Boj JI, Gonzalez I, Mancheno U, Dubrot J, Azpilicueta A, et al. Effects of IFN-alpha as a signal-3 cytokine on human naive and antigen-experienced CD8(+) T cells. *Eur J Immunol* (2010) 40:3389–402. doi:10.1002/eji.201040664
- Horkheimer I, Quigley M, Zhu J, Huang X, Chao NJ, Yang Y. Induction of type I IFN is required for overcoming tumor-specific T-cell tolerance after stem cell transplantation. *Blood* (2009) 113:5330–9. doi:10.1182/blood-2008-05-155150
- Pradere JP, Dapito DH, Schwabe RF. The Yin and Yang of Toll-like receptors in cancer. Oncogene (2013). doi:10.1038/onc.2013.302
- Gatti G, Nunez NG, Nocera DA, Dejager L, Libert C, Giraudo C, et al. Direct effect of dsRNA mimetics on cancer cells induces endogenous IFN-beta production capable of improving dendritic cell function. *Eur J Immunol* (2013) 43:1849–61. doi:10.1002/eji.201242902
- Nunez NG, Andreani V, Crespo MI, Nocera DA, Breser ML, Moron G, et al. IFNbeta produced by TLR4-activated tumor cells is involved in improving the antitumoral immune response. *Cancer Res* (2012) 72:592–603. doi:10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-11-0534
- Odorizzi PM, Wherry EJ. Immunology. An interferon paradox. Science (2013) 340:155–6. doi:10.1126/science.1237568

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Received: 12 November 2013; accepted: 09 December 2013; published online: 25 December 2013.

Citation: Schiavoni G, Mattei F and Gabriele L (2013) Type I interferons as stimulators of DC-mediated cross-priming: impact on anti-tumor response. Front. Immunol. 4:483. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2013.00483

This article was submitted to Tumor Immunity, a section of the journal Frontiers in Immunology.

Copyright © 2013 Schiavoni, Mattei and Gabriele. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) or licensor are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

Tumor-altered dendritic cell function: implications for anti-tumor immunity

Kristian M. Hargadon*

Hargadon Laboratory, Department of Biology, Hampden-Sydney College, Hampden-Sydney, VA, USA

Edited by:

Timothy Bullock, University of Virginia, USA

Reviewed by:

Janet V. Cross, University of Virginia, USA Michael R. Shurin, University of Pittsburgh Medical Center, USA

*Correspondence:

Kristian M. Hargadon, Department of Biology, Hampden-Sydney College, Box 837, Hampden-Sydney, VA 23943, USA

e-mail: khargadon@hsc.edu

Dendritic cells (DC) are key regulators of both innate and adaptive immunity, and the array of immunoregulatory functions exhibited by these cells is dictated by their differentiation, maturation, and activation status. Although a major role for these cells in the induction of immunity to pathogens has long been appreciated, data accumulated over the last several years has demonstrated that DC are also critical regulators of anti-tumor immune responses. However, despite the potential for stimulation of robust anti-tumor immunity by DC, tumor-altered DC function has been observed in many cancer patients and tumor-bearing animals and is often associated with tumor immune escape. Such dysfunction has significant implications for both the induction of natural anti-tumor immune responses as well as the efficacy of immunotherapeutic strategies that target endogenous DC in situ or that employ exogenous DC as part of anti-cancer immunization maneuvers. In this review, the major types of tumor-altered DC function will be described, with emphasis on recent insights into the mechanistic bases for the inhibition of DC differentiation from hematopoietic precursors, the altered programing of DC precursors to differentiate into myeloid-derived suppressor cells or tumor-associated macrophages, the suppression of DC maturation and activation, and the induction of immunoregulatory DC by tumors, tumor-derived factors, and tumor-associated cells within the milieu of the tumor microenvironment. The impact of these tumor-altered cells on the quality of the overall anti-tumor immune response will also be discussed. Finally, this review will also highlight questions concerning tumor-altered DC function that remain unanswered, and it will address factors that have limited advances in the study of this phenomenon in order to focus future research efforts in the field on identifying strategies for interfering with tumor-associated DC dysfunction and improving DC-mediated anti-tumor immunity.

Keywords: dendritic cell, tumor, differentiation, maturation, activation, immunosuppression, tumor microenvironment, immunotherapy

INTRODUCTION

Dendritic cells (DC) are critical regulators of host immune responses that serve as a bridge between innate and adaptive immunity. Following their differentiation from either myeloid or lymphoid bone marrow-derived progenitors, DC populate both lymphoid and peripheral tissues, where they are involved in immune surveillance and control of immune reactivity in the host. DC precursors may differentiate into a variety of specialized subsets that exhibit numerous immunoregulatory activities, and the diverse functions of these cells are tightly linked to their maturation and activation status (1). Immature DC are highly phagocytic and function to sample both soluble and cell-associated antigens (Ag) in host tissues. In the steady state, such immature DC either fail to elicit immune responsiveness to Ag they have acquired (2), or they actively induce immune tolerance to these Ag (3-6). On the other hand, stimulation of immature DC by a variety of factors [including pathogen-associated molecular patterns, danger-associated molecular patterns (DAMPs), inflammatory mediators, CD40L, etc.] induces the maturation and activation of these cells, thereby converting DC into potent stimulators of immune activation. Such DC upregulate expression of costimulatory molecules, cytokines, and chemokines necessary for the activation and recruitment of T lymphocytes and other immune effectors into a response to eliminate the source of Ag representing danger to the host (7–9).

In addition to their role in activation of immunity against foreign pathogens, DC have also been shown to be critical players in the induction of anti-tumor immune responses (10–12). The role of DC in eliciting such responses is highlighted by studies demonstrating immunologic ignorance of tumors under conditions in which cross-presentation of tumor Ag by DC is precluded (13– 17). However, despite the ability of DC to elicit tumor Ag-specific T lymphocyte responses, in many cases these responses are dysfunctional and ineffective in clearing the tumor (18–24). While such immune dysfunction might result from direct suppression of T cells by tumors or tumor-derived factors, it may also arise indirectly from suboptimal stimulation or suppression of T cells by tumor-altered DC. Tumor-altered DC function has now been documented in many cancer patients and tumor-bearing animals and ranges from influences of tumors on the differentiation of

Tumor-altered DC function

DC from hematopoietic precursors to effects on the behavior of fully differentiated DC. These effects on DC and their precursors can lead to accumulation in the tumor microenvironment of a variety of cells that include myeloid-derived suppressor cells (MDSC), tumor-associated macrophages (TAM), immature DC, and immunoregulatory myeloid DC (mDC) and plasmacytoid DC (pDC), each of which exhibit distinct phenotypic characteristics (Table 1). The identification of such cells in cancer patients not only has important prognostic value, but it also has significant implications for (1) the induction of natural anti-tumor immune responses and (2) the efficacy of immunotherapeutic strategies that target endogenous DC in situ or that employ exogenous DC as part of immunization maneuvers. Therefore, because of the importance of DC differentiation, maturation, and activation in dictating the immune stimulatory versus inhibitory activities of these cells, interference with any of these processes by factors or cells within the tumor microenvironment may greatly influence the induction and maintenance of anti-tumor immune responses in the host. This review will summarize the current knowledge regarding tumor-altered DC function and its impact on antitumor immunity, and it will highlight both recent advances in the field as well as important questions that will need to be answered as efforts are made to improve the quality of DC-mediated antitumor immune responses and DC-based cancer immunotherapies in the future.

TUMOR-ALTERED DIFFERENTIATION OF DC PRECURSORS AND ACCUMULATION OF MYELOID-DERIVED SUPPRESSOR CELLS AND TUMOR-ASSOCIATED MACROPHAGES WITHIN TUMORS

Dendritic cells are specialized cells that differentiate from both myeloid and lymphoid progenitors before acquiring their unique functions as Ag presenting cells (APC), and a number of studies have described factors derived from both tumors and associated cells within the tumor microenvironment that interfere with DC differentiation from precursors, thereby contributing to a loss of stimulatory APC activity in tumor-bearing hosts. Soluble factors secreted by human renal cell carcinomas and pancreatic cancers, including IL-6 and M-CSF, have been shown to block DC differentiation from CD34⁺ progenitors and promote lineage commitment toward CD14⁺ monocytes that express little to no MHC and costimulatory molecules and that fail to induce allogeneic T cell proliferation in mixed leukocyte reaction (MLR) assays (25, 26). Similar inhibition of CD34⁺ precursor cell differentiation into DC has been attributed to tumor-derived VEGF (27), and this blockade of DC differentiation is associated with suppression of NF-kB activity in these cells (28). VEGF has also been implicated in suppressing the differentiation of skinresident Langerhans cells in a murine fibrosarcoma model (29). In addition to secreting cytokines that inhibit DC differentiation, tumors may also secrete other factors that interfere with the development of different subsets of DC. The gangliosides GD2 and GM3 secreted by human and murine neuroblastoma cell lines have been shown to inhibit differentiation of DC from CD34⁺ progenitors (30), and human melanomas secrete GM3 and GD3 gangliosides that not only inhibit DC differentiation from monocytic precursors but also induce apoptosis of monocyte-derived

Table 1 Phenotypic characteristics of tumor-associated DC and		
populations derived from DC precursors.		

Cell population	Cell surface markers	Soluble proteins
Immature DC	CD11c ^{high} , CD80 ^{-/low} , CD86 ^{-/low} , MHC class I/II ^{low}	
Mature/activated mDC	CD11c ^{high} , CD80 ^{high} , CD83, CD86 ^{high} , MHC class I/II ^{high}	IL-12p70
MDSC	CD11b, Gr-1 (mice) CD11b, CD14 ^{-/+} , CD15, CD33, MHC class II ^{-/Iow} (humans)	Arginase I iNOS ROS IDO
TAM (M2-like)	CD11b, CD14, CD68, CD115, CD163, CD204, CD301, CD312, F4/80	VEGF HIF TGFβ IL-10 Arginase I ROS
Regulatory mDC	CD11c ^{high} , CD40 ^{low} , MHC class Il ^{low} , B7-H1 ^{high} , B7-DC ^{high}	Arginase I IL-10 TGFβ
pDC	CD11c ^{low/int} , CD19, B220/CD45R, BDCA-4, MHC classII ^{low}	IFNα
Regulatory pDC	CD11c ^{low/int} , CD19, B220/CD45R, BDCA-4, MHC classII ^{low} , ICOS-L	IDO

DC (31, 32). Likewise, cyclooxygenase-1 (COX-1)- and COX-2-derived prostanoids present in primary tumor-derived supernatants from several freshly isolated human tumor types block DC differentiation as well (33), and the source of these suppressive mediators may be not only tumor cells themselves but also stromal cells within the tumor microenvironment, as stromal cellderived prostaglandin- E_2 (PGE₂) was recently shown to inhibit the differentiation of both bone marrow- and monocyte-derived DC (34). Regardless of the mechanism of inhibition, the loss of APC function associated with suppressing DC differentiation may significantly limit the induction of anti-tumor immune responses and contribute greatly to tumor immune escape.

In addition to the inhibitory effects of tumor-derived and tumor-associated factors on DC differentiation that preclude the development of cells with APC function, there is an abundance of data documenting how these factors can also alter the differentiation program of DC precursors and promote the accumulation of immature myeloid cells with immunosuppressive function (**Table 2**). These MDSC, characterized by expression of CD11b and Gr-1 in mice and a number of cell surface markers in humans (**Table 1**), are associated with various cancer types and have been recovered at high levels from both tumors and tumor-draining lymph nodes (35-38). Their induction may be driven by a number of factors released by tumors and tumor-associated cells, including VEGF (39), TGF β (40), IL-1 β (41), IL-13 (42), GM-CSF (43), prostaglandins (44), reactive oxygen species (ROS) (45), and components of the complement system (46). Differentiation into

Suppressive mediator	Cellular target	Impact on target
Reactive oxygen species	T lymphocytes	↓ IL-2, ↓ proliferation, ↑ apoptosis
IDO	CD8 ⁺ T lymphocytes CD4 ⁺ T lymphocytes	Anergy Induction of Tregs
Arginase I	T lymphocytes	↓ CD3ζ chain ↓ Proliferation Expansion of Tregs
TGFβ	CD4 ⁺ T lymphocytes NK cells	Induction of Tregs Anergy ↓ NKG2D ↓ IFNγ ↓ Cytotoxicity
CCL3, CCL4, CCL5	CD4 ⁺ Tregs	Recruitment to tumor
IL-10	Macrophages	↓ IL-12
???	DC	↓ Phagocytosis ↓ Maturation ↓ Migration ↓ T cell stimulation

???, unidentified factor(s).

MDSC is associated with hyperactivation of STAT3 (39, 47, 48) and is accompanied by acquisition of a number of immunosuppressive properties. In a murine sarcoma model, MDSC suppression of Ag-specific CD8⁺ T cell responses required direct cell-cell contact via TCR/MHC class I and was mediated by release of ROS (49-51). Similarly, MDSC lines generated from mice bearing adenocarcinomas exhibit nitric oxide-mediated suppression of IL-2 signaling in activated T cells. In this model, nitric oxide production by MDSC required direct contact with, and IFNy secretion by, the activated T cell, and this nitric oxide inhibited T cell proliferation and induced T cell apoptosis (52, 53). More recently, the increased production of ROS by MDSC was shown to be the result of upregulated NADPH oxidase activity in these cells in several different murine models and in head and neck cancer patients (54). MDSC have also been shown to induce T cell tolerance through release of indoleamine 2,3-dioxygenase (IDO) and arginase I, enzymes involved in degradation of tryptophan and arginine, respectively (55, 56). In regard to the latter, tumor-derived COX-2 can mediate PGE₂ signaling in MDSC, thereby triggering overexpression of arginase I in these cells (57). In both murine models and cancer patients, tumors are enriched in arginase I-producing MDSC, and arginine metabolism in the tumor microenvironment leads to downregulation of CD3^c chain and suppression of proliferative capacity in both $CD4^+$ and $CD8^+$ T cells (58, 59). Interestingly, recent studies evaluating the abundance and activity of MDSC in tumors, tumor-draining lymph nodes, and peripheral blood of cancer patients have shown that both the frequency and arginase I activity of these cells correlates with the clinical stage of the tumor, thus suggesting a critical role for these immunosuppressive cells in disease progression (60, 61).

In addition to the direct tolerization of anti-tumor T lymphocyte responses by MDSC, these cells are also known to induce the development of regulatory T cells (Tregs) that can also suppress T cell activation. In this light, MDSC-derived TGFβ not only suppresses cytolytic activity of T lymphocytes (42), but it has also been demonstrated in the B16 murine melanoma model to promote expansion of CD4⁺ CD25⁺ FOXP3⁺ Tregs in both tumors and tumor-draining lymph nodes (62). Others have reported that tumor-infiltrating MDSC isolated from B16 melanomas also express high levels of the chemokines CCL3, CCL4, and CCL5, the ligands for the CCR5 chemokine receptor that is preferentially expressed on Tregs (63). These results indicate that MDSC likely also play a critical role in recruitment of expanded Tregs into the tumor microenvironment. Additionally, TGFβ-independent MDSC induction of Tregs has been reported in a B cell lymphoma model, where expansion of preexisting natural Tregs required Ag presentation and arginase I activity by MDSC (64). A link between MDSC and Tregs has also recently been reported in a study of breast cancer patients, where the presence of IDO-expressing MDSC correlated with increased infiltration of Tregs into primary tumors and lymph node metastases (56).

The immunosuppressive activities of MDSC extend beyond regulatory effects on T lymphocytes as well. In a murine model of gestation-enhanced metastasis of B16 melanoma, MDSC diminished the number and activity of NK cells (65). Likewise, in both mammary carcinoma and hepatic tumor models, MDSC suppressed NKG2D expression, IFNy secretion, and cytotoxic activity by NK cells (66, 67). In the hepatic tumor model, suppression required direct cell-cell contact and was mediated by membrane-bound TGFB on MDSC, and this interaction caused NK cells to be hyporesponsive to activating stimuli, indicating that they had acquired an anergic phenotype. Similar findings have been reported in patients with hepatocellular carcinoma, where suppression of NK cell activity was dependent on MDSC engagement of the NKp30 receptor on NK cells (68). MDSC have also been shown both to impede the maturation and T cell stimulatory capacity of DC (69) and to engage in crosstalk with macrophages, leading to diminished IL-12 secretion by macrophages and increased IL-10 production by MDSC (70). Such alteration of cytokine secretion patterns has the potential to polarize helper and cytotoxic T cells toward a type 2 response that is less robust in its anti-tumor efficacy.

In addition to shifting the differentiation of myeloid precursors away from DC lineage commitment and promoting development of MDSC, tumors can also drive the differentiation of DC precursors into other immunosuppressive cells of myeloid origin, most notably TAM. Recently, these cells have been shown to descend from both bone marrow-derived and splenic precursors, and some populations are believed to reflect the culmination of MDSC differentiation (71). Importantly, accumulation of TAM, particularly those with an anti-inflammatory M2-like phenotype, correlates with poor prognosis in patients with a variety of cancers (72–76). T_H2 cytokines, glucocorticoids, and growth factors present in the tumor milieu are all known to induce M2-like macrophages (77), and tumor-derived IL-10 has specifically been shown to inhibit DC differentiation from monocytic precursors and to promote the development of TAM from these cells (78). Much like MDSC, these TAM can suppress a variety of immune effectors and promote Treg suppressive functions through production of TGF β , IL-10, and arginase I (38, 58, 79, 80). They have also been shown to induce T cell apoptosis by upregulating expression of B7-H1 (81), the ligand for the PD-1 receptor on T cells. Taken together, the diverse effects exerted by TAM and MDSC on cells of both the innate and adaptive immune systems contribute greatly to the immunosuppressive nature of the tumor microenvironment, and these phenomena highlight the role that tumor-altered differentiation of DC progenitors into MDSC and TAM plays in promoting tumor immune escape.

TUMOR-ASSOCIATED SUPPRESSION OF THE MATURATION AND ACTIVATION OF DIFFERENTIATED DC

In addition to subverting anti-tumor immunity by altering the differentiation of DC precursors and either preventing acquisition of APC function by these cells or inducing their development into immunosuppressive MDSC or TAM, tumors may also interfere with the maturation and activation of fully differentiated DC. While in vitro studies have shown that the release of heat-shock proteins by necrotic tumors triggers DAMP-mediated DC maturation (82, 83), and the presence of mature tumor-infiltrating DC correlates with the magnitude of anti-tumor T cell responses and disease prognosis in cancer patients (84, 85), a number of studies have described the accumulation of fully differentiated, yet immature, DC in tumors as well (86-88). Although a lack of mature DC in tumor tissue might reflect tumor-induced death of these cells (31, 32, 89), this phenomenon does not explain the accumulation of immature DC often seen in tumors. In cases where immature DC are recovered from tumors, it is often unclear whether the immature phenotype of these cells reflects a simple failure of tumors to support DC maturation and activation or, alternatively, an active suppression of DC maturation by tumors. One study demonstrated that administration of anti-CD40 Ab to tumor-bearing animals leads to maturation of DC capable of stimulating T cell activation (90), suggesting that the tumor either fails to support DC maturation or that suppression of DC maturation by the tumor is a reversible process. In support of the latter possibility, it has been shown that the maturation of tumor-infiltrating DC is enhanced following dissociation of DC from the tumor and overnight culture ex vivo, demonstrating that the tumor had actively limited DC maturation in vivo (91). Other studies have revealed that tumorinfiltrating DC are refractory to some maturation stimuli but not others, indicating that tumors can actively suppress DC maturation but that in some cases this suppression can be reversed under appropriate stimulatory conditions (92-94). Interestingly, in a comparative study of melanoma patients exhibiting either progressing or regressing metastases, DC isolated from patients with progressive disease expressed significantly lower levels of costimulatory molecules than those taken from patients with regressing tumors. Furthermore, DC from patients with regressing metastases induced robust T cell proliferation, while DC from patients with progressing metastases induced T cell anergy (95). Collectively, these data suggest that the context in which the tumor is encountered by DC is likely to impact the quality of their maturation, activation, and immunostimulatory capacity, and they emphasize the need to understand the role of tumorderived factors and the tumor microenvironment in regulating the function of tumor-associated DC.

The limiting number of DC that can be isolated from tumorbearing animals and cancer patients and the complex nature of the cell types and soluble proteins present within the tumor microenvironment have made it difficult to gain mechanistic insights into tumor-associated suppression of DC maturation in vivo. Ex vivo experiments with monocyte-derived and bone marrow-derived DC (BMDC) have been used as an alternative to in vivo studies for evaluating the suppression of DC maturation by tumor cells or tumor-conditioned media (96-98). Recent studies using these and similar ex vivo models have shown that interference with the HIF-1-induced COX-2/PGE2 and VEGF pathways in colon cancer cells and knockdown of TGFB expression in hepatocellular carcinoma both restore DC maturation that is otherwise suppressed by these tumors (99, 100). In another system involving a multicellular tumor spheroid three-dimensional model of melanoma, tumor-derived lactic acid was shown to suppress the production of several proinflammatory cytokines, including IL-12, by monocytederived DC and to limit the ability of these cells to induce T cell proliferation (101). Importantly, though, because these *ex* vivo systems often require differentiation of DC from progenitors in culture, it is often unclear from these studies whether the effects observed stem from a direct influence of tumors on DC or instead from an indirect action mediated by an influence of tumors on other cells in the culture that have not differentiated into DC. Therefore, to overcome the limitations inherent with studying the influence of tumors on DC function in both in vivo and ex vivo settings, DC lines that can be maintained as highly pure populations in culture have been generated and are a useful tool for in vitro studies aimed at understanding the basic biology of these cells (102-105). Such lines have enabled direct analyses of tumor/DC interactions, and it has recently been shown that melanoma-derived factors suppress the LPS-induced maturation of both the DC2.4 and JAWSII DC lines (106). In a related study, a comparative analysis of multiple murine melanoma cell lines demonstrated that the suppression of DC2.4 costimulatory molecule and proinflammatory cytokine/chemokine expression correlates with the tumorigenicity of the melanoma under study (107), with the highly tumorigenic B16 melanoma exhibiting significantly greater suppression than its poorly tumorigenic, chemically mutated variant D5.1G4. These findings again point to a potentially vital role for tumor/DC interactions in the regulation of overall anti-tumor immunity and tumor outgrowth. It will be interesting to evaluate differences in the profile of immunosuppressive mediators released by these particular melanoma cell lines, as this analysis will identify potential candidate molecules involved in the suppression of DC maturation and activation by this cancer. While concerns have been raised that maneuvers employed to immortalize DC lines may alter the maturation state of these cells and their responsiveness to regulatory factors, many of these lines do exhibit the characteristics of immature DC and are responsive to traditional maturation stimuli (108-110). Therefore, additional studies using these DC lines and other tumor systems can offer proof-of-principle data that tumors interfere with DC maturation in a straightforward, cost-effective model, and such investigations will provide further mechanistic insight into tumor-associated suppression of DC maturation and activation. Furthermore, observations made in such *in vitro* systems are likely to inform the design of experiments evaluating the role of tumor-derived factors in the suppression of DC maturation and activation in more physiologically relevant *ex vivo* and *in vivo* settings. Collectively, use of these different models will increase our understanding of tumor-induced suppression of DC function, and these insights will suggest immunotherapeutic strategies designed to reverse or prevent this suppression and enhance the immunostimulatory capacity of tumor-associated DC.

TUMOR-ASSOCIATED INDUCTION OF IMMUNOSUPPRESSIVE REGULATORY DC

The suppression of DC maturation and activation by tumor cells or factors within the tumor microenvironment has significant implications for the induction of T cell immunity to tumors, as immature DC are poor APC and do not efficiently stimulate T cell activation. There is also now substantial evidence that tumors not only suppress DC maturation but that they can also induce the development of regulatory DC that actively display immunosuppressive activity themselves. In fact, recent studies have demonstrated that progression of ovarian cancer from an immunologically controlled state to metastatic disease is accompanied by a switch in the phenotype and function of tumor-associated DC. Whereas DC isolated from ascites or draining lymph nodes of early-stage tumor-bearing mice elicited robust T cell responses, those isolated from mice with advanced disease induced minimal T cell proliferation and suppressed T cell activation by immunocompetent DC (111, 112). Immunosuppressive DC isolated from late-stage tumor-bearing animals downregulated MHC class II and CD40 expression but significantly upregulated the co-inhibitory molecule B7-H1 and exhibited arginase I activity comparable to that seen in MDSC. These immunosuppressive activities were driven by tumor-derived PGE₂ and TGFB (112). Other studies have also demonstrated tumor-induced upregulation of DC coinhibitory molecules, including both B7-H1 and B7-DC (10, 96), as well as tumor-enhanced secretion of arginase I (113, 114) and TGF β (115) by DC that inhibit T cell effector function and promote Treg development, respectively. In both tumor-bearing mice and prostate cancer patients, the expression of these and other immunoregulatory molecules by tumor-associated DC resulted from elevated expression of FOXO3 (116), a transcription factor recently shown to mitigate DC stimulatory capacity (117). Additionally, inhibition of T cell effector activity by tumor-associated regulatory DC has also been associated with increased IL-10 secretion by these cells. A variety of soluble factors present in colorectal tumor explant cultures, including VEGF and the chemokines CCL2, CXCL1, and CXCL5, were shown to enhance IL-10 production by DC (118, 119). Non-soluble mediators expressed on colorectal carcinoma cells can contribute to this process as well, as IL-10 production by DC was increased following engagement of DC-SIGN by tumor-associated cell surface glycans (120). Likewise, recombinant MUC1 mucins glycosylated in a manner equivalent to those expressed on breast carcinoma cells and natural

MUC1 mucins in supernatants of human pancreatic carcinoma cell lines both suppress IL-12 production and promote IL-10 production by monocyte-derived DC, and these regulatory DC are poor stimulators of T cell proliferation and CTL activity but potent inducers of T cell anergy and CD4⁺ Tregs (121, 122). IL-10 production by tumor-associated DC that inhibit anti-tumor T cell responses and promote tumor outgrowth has also been reported to be induced by COX-2/PGE₂ (123, 124). Similarly, in a murine myeloma model, tumor-derived IL-6, IL-10, and TGFB were all shown to contribute to p38 MAPK signaling-mediated effects on BMDC maturation that led to decreased production of IL-12 and increased production of IL-10 by DC, and these cells elicited poor tumor-specific T_H1, CTL, and antibody responses (125). Hyperactivation of MAPK signaling similarly inhibited IL-12 production and T_H1 stimulation by melanoma-altered DC, though these effects were independent of IL-10, TGFβ, VEGF, and PGE₂ in tumor lysates (97). In addition to suppressing the development of T_H1-type immunity, other studies have shown that melanoma, as well as breast cancer, triggers DC-mediated induction of T_H 2-like responses that promote tumor development (126, 127). Identification of factors produced by these tumors and their role in MAPK hyperactivation in DC will be crucial to developing strategies for skewing anti-tumor T cells toward type 1 responses that are more efficient in mediating tumor rejection.

In addition to the regulatory DC activities described above, which are largely associated with conventional mDC, a specialized subset of DC that develop immunosuppressive activity in the context of many tumors is the pDC. IDO-expressing pDC can be induced by tumor-derived PGE₂ (128) and have been recovered from tumor-draining lymph nodes of both melanoma-bearing animals and cancer patients (129). These cells suppress CD8⁺ T cell responses to Ag presented by the pDC themselves as well as to those presented by third-party, non-suppressive APC. In addition to inducing CD8⁺ T cell anergy, IDO production by pDC also promotes the differentiation of CD4⁺ CD25⁺ FOXP3⁺ Tregs (130). Interestingly, pharmacologic blockade of IDO leads to enhanced IL-6 production by pDC that converts tolerogenic CD4⁺ Tregs into T_H17-like cells, and this conversion correlates with enhanced CD8⁺ T cell activation and anti-tumor immunity (131). CD4⁺ Treg induction by pDC can also be mediated by engagement of ICOS on T cells with ICOS-L on pDC, and ICOS-L⁺ pDC infiltration of tumors is associated with poor prognosis and disease progression in both breast and ovarian cancer patients (132–134). Tumors can also subvert immunity by regulating pDC production of IFN- α , a type I IFN that functions as a "signal 3" cytokine for CD8⁺ T cell activation (135) and that promotes the survival and Ag retention of CD8 α^+ DC that cross-prime tumor-specific CD8⁺ T cells (11). In clinical studies, tumor-associated pDC have been isolated by magnetic activated cell sorting via BDCA-4 positive selection of lineage-negative enriched mononuclear cells obtained from patient biopsies. In patients with aggressive breast cancers, these pDC exhibit suppressed IFN-α secretion and are able to sustain CD4⁺ Treg expansion (136), and the suppression of IFN- α production by pDC has been attributed to tumor-derived TGFB and TNFα mediated-signaling in these cells (137). Finally, pDC isolated from ascites of ovarian carcinoma patients have also been shown to induce CD8⁺ Tregs that secrete high levels of IL-10 and suppress

T cell proliferation (138). Altogether, these findings demonstrate the complexity of the tumor microenvironment and its ability to induce a variety of immunoregulatory activities in DC that impact the function of multiple cell types involved in anti-tumor immune responses (**Table 3**). Tumor-associated conversion of these potentially immunostimulatory APC into suppressive cells is therefore a significant hurdle to the induction of effective anti-tumor immunity that contributes greatly to tumor immune evasion.

IMMUNOTHERAPEUTIC STRATEGIES FOR INTERFERING WITH TUMOR-ASSOCIATED DC DYSFUNCTION

The induction of DC dysfunction is a major impediment to the activation and maintenance of successful anti-tumor immunity (Figure 1). Indeed, in addition to its documented impacts on anti-tumor T cell responses summarized herein, this phenomenon may also explain the unaccounted for presence of dysfunctional T cells associated with naturally generated immune responses in other experimental animal models and cancer patients (18-24). Additionally, tumor-associated DC dysfunction may limit the efficacy of immunotherapeutic strategies that rely on the activity of DC in situ to stimulate anti-tumor immunity, and it may therefore explain the lack of success observed thus far with many DNA-, peptide-, and protein-based immunization maneuvers that require endogenous DC to process and present tumor Ag to specific T cells (139-143). Even the quality of responses elicited following immunization with previously activated, exogenous DC may be compromised by an influence of tumor-associated factors on DC function. Importantly, though, insights into the mechanistic bases for tumor-associated DC dysfunction have informed the design of novel DC-based cancer immunotherapies, and many of these strategies have enhanced the T cell stimulatory capacity of DC and led to induction of more robust and efficacious anti-tumor immune responses.

Several strategies have been employed to promote DC differentiation from hematopoietic precursors and prevent the accumulation and suppressive activities of tumor-associated cells of myeloid origin. For instance, both IL-4 and IL-13 were shown to prevent renal cell carcinoma-induced blockade of DC differentiation (144). Similarly, administration of the anti-VEGF Ab bevacizumab to patients with lung, breast, and colorectal carcinoma led to a decrease in the frequency of MDSC and enhanced the T cell stimulatory capacity of DC (145). Abrogation of MDSC immunosuppression can also be achieved by exposure of these cells to all-trans retinoic acid, which induces the differentiation of MDSC isolated from a number of murine tumors and renal cell carcinoma patients into mature immunostimulatory DC (146, 147). Others have demonstrated that interference with STAT3mediated-signaling reverses immune suppression by MDSC and enables differentiation of these cells into mature DC (39, 61). One study also showed that interference with both STAT3 and p38 MAPK signaling pathways in monocyte progenitors further improved the quality of tumor-associated DC, blocking the inhibitory effects of tumor-derived factors on DC differentiation from these progenitors and skewing the IL-12/IL-10 cytokine profile of the resulting DC toward a T_H1-promoting phenotype (148). Based on these data, it is not surprising that vaccination with exogenous, STAT3-depleted DC was shown to enhance

Table 3 | Induction and suppressive activity of tumor-associated regulatory DC.

Tumor-derived factor	Regulatory DC activity	Impact on host immunity
TGFβ, PGE ₂	↓ MHC II ↓ CD40 ↑ B7-H1 ↑ Arginase I	↓ T cell proliferation ↓ T cell effector function
VEGF CCL2, CXCL1, CXCL5 Glycans COX-2/PGE ₂	↑ IL-10	↓T cell effector function
MUC1 mucins	↓ IL-12 ↑ IL-10	↓ T cell proliferation ↓ CTL activity T cell anergy ↑ CD4+ Tregs
IL-6, IL-10, TGFβ	↓ IL-12 ↑ IL-10	↓ T _H 1 polarization ↓ CTL activity ↓ Ab response
???	↑TGFβ	↑ CD4 ⁺ Tregs
PGE ₂	↑ IDO by pDC ↓ IL-6 by pDC	CD8 ⁺ T cell anergy ↑ CD4 ⁺ Tregs
TGFβ, TNFα	\downarrow IFN α by pDC	↑ CD4 ⁺ Tregs ↑ CD8 ⁺ Tregs
???	↑ ICOS-L by pDC	↑ CD4+ Tregs

???, unidentified factor(s).

anti-tumor CD8⁺ T cell responses and improve control of tumor outgrowth (149).

In addition to strategies that interfere with the development and suppressive activities of tumor-associated myeloid cells, several approaches are being explored for improving the quality of fully differentiated DC in the context of tumors as well. In vivo administration of nanoparticles carrying immunostimulatory miRNA converts endogenous immunosuppressive DC into cells capable of activating robust anti-tumor responses that inhibit progression of established ovarian cancers (150). Moreover, supplementation of stimulatory cytokines whose expression is often suppressed in tumor-associated DC, such as IL-12 and IFN α , can enhance T cell effector function elicited by endogenous DC (151, 152). Significant efforts have also been made to optimize exogenous DC-based cancer immunotherapies. Several studies have investigated various maturation protocols for exogenous DC in order to best promote the immunostimulatory capacity and vaccine efficacy of these cells (153-156). One group has reported that treatment of PBMC-derived immature DC with various combinations of cytokines and inflammatory stimuli, namely LPS + IFNy, LPS + IFN γ + IL-1 β , and LPS + IFN γ + IL-1 β + TNF α , results in no discernible difference in DC expression of costimulatory molecules or IL-12 (153). On the other hand, substantial differences in DC maturation have been observed following exposure of



reconcerning of tumor aftered DC function. Indistrated here are the mechanisms by which tumors alter DC function and the processes by which these altered cells impact host anti-tumor immunity. Tumors secrete a variety of factors that can: (1) inhibit differentiation of DC from precursors, (2) induce

differentiation of DC precursors into immunosuppressive MDSC or TAM, (3) suppress maturation, activation, and stimulatory APC function of already differentiated DC, and (4) induce development of immunosuppressive regulatory DC.

immature DC to a mixture of various other inflammatory mediator/cytokine cocktails. Stimulation with lipid A and IFNy resulted in significantly higher DC expression of costimulatory molecules and IL-12 than stimulation with a combination of TNF- α , IFN- α , IFN- γ , IL-1 β , and poly(I:C) or a combination of TNFα, IFN-γ, IL-1β, and CL097 (156). Still others have evaluated DC maturation following exposure to tumor lysates. PBMCderived DC treated with lysates from heat-shocked melanoma cells exhibited robust maturation and immunostimulatory capacity, as these cells were capable of cross-presenting melanomaassociated Ag and inducing anti-tumor CD8⁺ T cell responses (154). Importantly, heat-shocking of melanoma cells induced membrane translocation of CRT and expression of HMGB1, and the maturation of immunostimulatory DC in this study was dependent on their recognition of these tumor-derived "danger signals." It has also recently been shown that TNFa can augment tumor lysate-induced DC maturation (155). In addition to

investigating strategies for optimal induction of DC maturation, many researchers have employed strategies to block the suppressive effects of tumor-derived factors on exogenous DC. In this light, DC genetically engineered to secrete a VEGF/vascular permeability factor decoy receptor that neutralizes soluble VEGF and precludes signaling in DC resulted in increased expression of costimulatory molecules and proinflammatory cytokines/chemokines by DC and improved CTL activity and anti-tumor immune control in a murine colon cancer model (157). Similar improvements in the efficacy of an exogenous DC vaccine were observed following neutralization of tumor-derived TGF β (158). Alternatively, other approaches for enhancing exogenous DC-induced anti-tumor immune responses aim at blocking either the immunosuppressive mediators expressed by tumor-altered DC or the targets of these mediators expressed on other immune cells. In a murine model of breast cancer, siRNA-mediated silencing of IDO in vaccinating DC enhanced the ability of these cells to stimulate T cell proliferation and CTL effector function, decreased the induction of CD4⁺ CD25⁺ FOXP3⁺ Tregs, and led to enhanced control of tumor outgrowth (159). Similarly, immunization with IL-10-deficient DC conferred enhanced protective and therapeutic immunity against a murine hepatocellular carcinoma (160). Furthermore, DC genetically engineered to interfere with immunomodulatory receptors expressed on endogenous immune cells, such as CTLA-4 on effector T cells and GITR on Tregs, can enhance the overall immunogenicity of these cells as well (161, 162). Improved anti-tumor immunity has also been observed for a DC-based vaccine administered in combination with anti-CTLA-4 Ab and Treg-depleting anti-CD25 Ab (163). Likewise, administration of neutralizing Ab that interferes with the B7-H1/PD-1 pathway improved the efficacy of a DC/tumor fusion vaccine in multiple myeloma patients (164). Finally, it is also possible to improve the efficacy of both exogenous and endogenous DC-based vaccines by transducing DC either ex vivo or in vivo with viral vectors that encode immunostimulatory molecules. A number of studies have reported improved anti-tumor immunity when this approach was used to drive expression of CD80/CD86 costimulatory molecules (165, 166) or IL-12 (167) by DC. Collectively, these strategies highlight the advances made in tumor immunotherapy as our understanding of tumor immune suppression and evasion has evolved over the last several years. As additional insights into tumor-altered DC function are gained, optimization of these current immunotherapies and development of novel strategies for enhancing anti-tumor immune responses will further improve the efficacy of DC-based cancer vaccines.

CONCLUSION

Tumor immunosurveillance is now a well-documented phenomenon whereby host immune cells and effector molecules function to recognize and eradicate developing tumors in the body. At the heart of this process are DC, innate immune cells that function to acquire tumor Ag through phagocytosis, activate adaptive immunity against these specific tumor Ag, and recruit immune effectors to the site of the tumor for immunologic destruction of these

REFERENCES

- Banchereau J, Steinman RM. Dendritic cells and the control of immunity. *Nature* (1998) 392:245–52. doi:10.1038/32588
- Albert ML, Jegathesan M, Darnell RB. Dendritic cell maturation is required for the crosstolerization of CD8+ T cells. *Nat Immunol* (2001) 2:1010–7. doi:10.1038/ni722
- Hawiger D, Inaba K, Dorsett Y, Guo M, Mahnke K, Rivera M, et al. Dendritic cells induce peripheral T cell unresponsiveness under steady state conditions in vivo. J Exp Med (2001) 194:769–80. doi:10.1084/jem.194.6.769
- Dhodapkar MV, Steinman RM, Krasovsky J, Munz C, Bhardwaj N. Antigen-specific inhibition

of effector T cell function in humans after injection of immature dendritic cells. J Exp Med (2001) **193**:233–8. doi:10.1084/jem.193.2.233

- Probst HC, Lagnel J, Kollias G, Van den Broek M. Inducible transgenic mice reveal resting dendritic cells as potent inducers of CD8+ T cell tolerance. *Immunity* (2003) 18:713–20. doi:10.1016/S1074-7613(03)00120-1
- Probst HC, McCoy K, Okazaki T, Honjo T, Van den Broek M. Resting dendritic cells induce peripheral CD8+ T cell tolerance through PD-1 and CTLA-4. *Nat Immunol* (2005) 6:280–6. doi:10.1038/ni1165
- 7. Matzinger P. Tolerance, danger, and the extended family. *Annu*

transformed cells. However, one of the hallmarks of cancer growth is immune evasion, and tumor cells may evolve a number of escape mechanisms during their progression that subvert immunosurveillance. A significant contributor to tumor immune evasion is the alteration of DC function by tumors and associated factors present in the tumor microenvironment. As discussed, such alteration of DC function may include effects on the differentiation of DC from bone marrow-derived precursors, suppression of the maturation and activation of already differentiated DC, and the induction of immunosuppressive regulatory DC that inhibit antitumor immune responses. Over the last several years, significant efforts have been made to gain mechanistic insights into these processes of tumor-altered DC function. These findings have in turn led to the development of several immunotherapeutic strategies for improving the function of tumor-associated DC. Still, much remains to be learned about the processes by which tumors impact the function of DC and how such altered DC influence the quality of other immune effectors. As this field moves forward, it will be important to increase our understanding of factors that contribute to tumor recognition by DC and to identify additional tumor-associated DAMPs and inflammatory stimuli that promote optimal maturation and activation of immunostimulatory DC. Additionally, a better understanding of how tumor microenvironmental factors impact the quality of DC differentiation, maturation, and activation will suggest new possibilities for interfering with the suppression of these processes by tumors. Such knowledge will enable the optimization of current, and the development of novel, DC-based immunotherapies that aim to improve the quality and outcome of host anti-tumor immune responses.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

Research in Kristian M. Hargadon's laboratory is funded by a Virginia Academy of Science Jeffress Research Grant from the Thomas F. Jeffress and Kate Miller Jeffress Memorial Trust, a Virginia Foundation for Independent Colleges Mednick Memorial Fellowship, and a Hampden-Sydney College Research Grant from the Arthur Vining Davis endowment.

Rev Immunol (1994) **12**:991– 1045. doi:10.1146/annurev. immunol.12.1.991

- Janeway CA, Medzhitov R. Innate immune recognition. Annu Rev Immunol (2002) 20:197–216. doi:10.1146/ annurev.immunol.20.083001. 084359
- Joffre O, Nolte MA, Spörri R, Reis e Sousa C. Inflammatory signals in dendritic cell activation and the induction of adaptive immunity. *Immunol Rev* (2009) 227:234–47. doi:10.1111/j.1600-065X.2008.00718.x
- McDonnell AM, Prosser AC, Van Bruggen I, Robinson BWS, Currie AJ. CD8alpha+ DC are not the sole subset cross-presenting cell-associated tumor antigens from a solid tumor. *Eur J*

Immunol (2010) **40**:1617–27. doi:10.1002/eji.200940153

- Lorenzi S, Mattei F, Sistigu A, Bracci L, Spadaro F, Sanchez M, et al. Type I IFNs control antigen retention and survival of CD8α(+) dendritic cells after uptake of tumor apoptotic cells leading to crosspriming. J Immunol (2011) 186:5142–50. doi:10.4049/ jimmunol.1004163
- Tel J, Schreibelt G, Sittig SP, Mathan TSM, Buschow SI, Cruz LJ, et al. Human plasmacytoid dendritic cells efficiently cross-present exogenous Ags to CD8+ T cells despite lower Ag uptake than myeloid dendritic cell subsets. *Blood* (2013) 121:459–67. doi:10.1182/blood-2012-06-435644

- Speiser DE, Miranda R, Zakarian A, Bachmann MF, McKall-Faienza K, Odermatt B, et al. Self antigens expressed by solid tumors do not efficiently stimulate naive or activated T cells: implications for immunotherapy. J Exp Med (1997) 186:645– 53. doi:10.1084/jem.186.5.645
- Hermans IF, Daish A, Yang J, Ritchie DS, Ronchese F. Antigen expressed on tumor cells fails to elicit an immune response, even in the presence of increased numbers of tumor-specific cytotoxic T lymphocyte precursors. *Cancer Res* (1998) 58:3909–17.
- Ochsenbein AF, Klenerman P, Karrer U, Ludewig B, Pericin M, Hengartner H, et al. Immune surveillance against a solid tumor fails because of immunological ignorance. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (1999) 96:2233–8. doi:10.1073/pnas.96.5.2233
- Ochsenbein AF, Sierro S, Odermatt B, Pericin M, Karrer U, Hermans J, et al. Roles of tumour localization, second signals and cross priming in cytotoxic T-cell induction. *Nature* (2001) 411:1058–64. doi:10.1038/35082583
- Spiotto MT, Yu P, Rowley DA, Nishimura MI, Meredith SC, Gajewski TF, et al. Increasing tumor antigen expression overcomes "ignorance" to solid tumors via crosspresentation by bone marrow-derived stromal cells. *Immunity* (2002) 17:737–47. doi:10.1016/S1074-7613(02)00480-6
- Radoja S, Saio M, Schaer D, Koneru M, Vukmanovic S, Frey AB. CD8(+) tumor-infiltrating T cells are deficient in perforinmediated cytolytic activity due to defective microtubuleorganizing center mobilization and lytic granule exocytosis. J Immunol (2001) 167:5042–51.
- Blohm U, Roth E, Brommer K, Dumrese T, Rosenthal FM, Pircher H. Lack of effector cell function and altered tetramer binding of tumor-infiltrating lymphocytes. J Immunol (2002) 169:5522–30.
- Anichini A, Scarito A, Molla A, Parmiani G, Mortarini R. Differentiation of CD8+ T cells from tumor-invaded and tumor-free lymph nodes of melanoma patients: role of common gamma-chain cytokines. J Immunol (2003) 171:2134–41.

- Mortarini R, Piris A, Maurichi A, Molla A, Bersani I, Bono A, et al. Lack of terminally differentiated tumor-specific CD8+ T cells at tumor site in spite of antitumor immunity to self-antigens in human metastatic melanoma. *Cancer Res* (2003) 63:2535–45.
- Zippelius A, Batard P, Rubiogodoy V, Bioley G, Lie D, Lejeune F, et al. Effector function of human tumor-specific CD8 T cells in melanoma lesions: a state of local functional tolerance. *Cancer Res* (2004) 64:2865–73. doi:10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-03-3066
- Whiteside TL. Down-regulation of zeta-chain expression in T cells: a biomarker of prognosis in cancer? *Cancer Immunol Immunother* (2004) 53:865–78. doi:10.1007/s00262-004-0521-0
- Hargadon KM, Brinkman CC, Sheasley-O'Neill SL, Nichols LA, Bullock TNJ, Engelhard VH. Incomplete differentiation of antigen-specific CD8 T cells in tumor-draining lymph nodes. J Immunol (2006) 177:6081–90.
- Menetrier-Caux C, Montmain G, Dieu MC, Bain C, Favrot MC, Caux C, et al. Inhibition of the differentiation of dendritic cells from CD34(+) progenitors by tumor cells: role of interleukin-6 and macrophage colony-stimulating factor. *Blood* (1998) **92**:4778–91.
- Bharadwaj U, Li M, Zhang R, Chen C, Yao Q. Elevated interleukin-6 and G-CSF in human pancreatic cancer cell conditioned medium suppress dendritic cell differentiation and activation. *Cancer Res* (2007) 67:5479–88. doi:10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-06-3963
- Gabrilovich DI, Chen HL, Girgis KR, Cunningham HT, Meny GM, Nadaf S, et al. Production of vascular endothelial growth factor by human tumors inhibits the functional maturation of dendritic cells. *Nat Med* (1996) 2:1096–103. doi:10.1038/nm1096-1096
- Oyama T, Ran S, Ishida T, Nadaf S, Kerr L, Carbone DP, et al. Vascular endothelial growth factor affects dendritic cell maturation through the inhibition of nuclear factor-kappa B activation in hemopoietic progenitor cells. J Immunol (1998) 160:1224–32.
- 29. Ishida T, Oyama T, Carbone DP, Gabrilovich DI. Defective function of Langerhans cells in

tumor-bearing animals is the result of defective maturation from hemopoietic progenitors. *J Immunol* (1998) **161**:4842–51.

- Shurin GV, Shurin MR, Bykovskaia S, Shogan J, Lotze MT, Barksdale EM. Neuroblastoma-derived gangliosides inhibit dendritic cell generation and function. *Cancer Res* (2001) 61:363–9.
- Péguet-Navarro J, Sportouch M, Popa I, Berthier O, Schmitt D, Portoukalian J. Gangliosides from human melanoma tumors impair dendritic cell differentiation from monocytes and induce their apoptosis. J Immunol (2003) 170:3488–94.
- Bennaceur K, Popa I, Chapman 32 JA, Migdal C, Péguet-Navarro J, Touraine J-L, et al. Different mechanisms are involved apoptosis induced bv in melanoma gangliosides on human monocyte-derived dendritic cells. Glvcobi-(2009) ology 19:576-82. doi:10.1093/glycob/cwp015
- 33. Sombroek CC, Stam AGM, Masterson AJ, Lougheed SM, Schakel MJAG, Meijer CJLM, et al. Prostanoids play a major role in the primary tumor-induced inhibition of dendritic cell differentiation. *J Immunol* (2002) 168:4333–43.
- Stock A, Booth S, Cerundolo V. Prostaglandin E2 suppresses the differentiation of retinoic acid-producing dendritic cells in mice and humans. *J Exp Med* (2011) 208:761–73. doi:10.1084/jem.20101967
- 35. Almand B, Clark JI, Nikitina E, Van Beynen J, English NR, Knight SC, et al. Increased production of immature myeloid cells in cancer patients: a mechanism of immunosuppression in cancer. J Immunol (2001) 166:678–89.
- Watanabe S, Deguchi K, Zheng R, Tamai H, Wang L-X, Cohen PA, et al. Tumor-induced CD11b+Gr-1+ myeloid cells suppress T cell sensitization in tumor-draining lymph nodes. J Immunol (2008) 181:3291–300.
- Ostrand-Rosenberg S, Sinha P. Myeloid-derived suppressor cells: linking inflammation and cancer. J Immunol (2009) 182:4499–506. doi:10.4049/ jimmunol.0802740
- Gabrilovich DI, Ostrand-Rosenberg S, Bronte V. Coordinated regulation of myeloid cells by tumours. Nat

Rev Immunol (2012) **12**:253–68. doi:10.1038/nri3175

- Nefedova Y, Huang M, Kusmartsev S, Bhattacharya R, Cheng P, Salup R, et al. Hyperactivation of STAT3 is involved in abnormal differentiation of dendritic cells in cancer. *J Immunol* (2004) 172:464–74.
- Xiang X, Poliakov A, Liu C, Liu Y, Deng Z, Wang J, et al. Induction of myeloid-derived suppressor cells by tumor exosomes. *Int J Cancer* (2009) **124**:2621–33. doi:10.1002/ijc.24249
- Song X, Krelin Y, Dvorkin T, Bjorkdahl O, Segal S, Dinarello CA, et al. CD11b+/Gr-1+ immature myeloid cells mediate suppression of T cells in mice bearing tumors of IL-1betasecreting cells. J Immunol (2005) 175:8200–8.
- 42. Terabe M, Matsui S, Park J-M, Mamura M, Noben-Trauth N, Donaldson DD, et al. Transforming growth factor-beta production and myeloid cells are an effector mechanism through which CD1d-restricted T cells block cytotoxic T lymphocyte-mediated tumor immunosurveillance: abrogation prevents tumor recurrence. J Exp Med (2003) **198**:1741–52. doi:10.1084/jem.20022227
- Bronte V, Chappell DB, Apolloni E, Cabrelle A, Wang M, Hwu P, et al. Unopposed production of granulocyte-macrophage colony-stimulating factor by tumors inhibits CD8+ T cell responses by dysregulating antigen-presenting cell maturation. J Immunol (1999) 162:5728–37.
- Obermajer N, Wong JL, Edwards RP, Odunsi K, Moysich K, Kalinski P. PGE(2)-driven induction and maintenance of cancerassociated myeloid-derived suppressor cells. *Immunol Invest* (2012) 41:635–57. doi:10.3109/ 08820139.2012.695417
- 45. Jayaraman P, Parikh F, Lopez-Rivera E, Hailemichael Y, Clark A, Ma G, et al. Tumor-expressed inducible nitric oxide synthase controls induction of functional myeloid-derived suppressor cells through modulation of vascular endothelial growth factor release. *J Immunol* (2012) **188**:5365–76. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.1103553
- 46. Hsieh C-C, Chou H-S, Yang H-R, Lin F, Bhatt S, Qin J, et al. The role of complement component3 (C3) in differentiation of

myeloid-derived suppressor cells. *Blood* (2013) **121**:1760–8. doi:10.1182/blood-2012-06-440214

- 47. Cheng P, Corzo CA, Luetteke N, Yu B, Nagaraj S, Bui MM, et al. Inhibition of dendritic cell differentiation and accumulation of myeloid-derived suppressor cells in cancer is regulated by \$100A9 protein. J Exp Med (2008) 205:2235–49. doi:10.1084/jem.20080132
- Mace TA, Ameen Z, Collins A, Wojcik SE, Mair M, Young GS, et al. Pancreatic cancer associated stellate cells promote differentiation of myeloid-derived suppressor cells in a STAT3-dependent manner. *Cancer Res* (2013) 73:3007–18. doi:10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-12-4601
- Gabrilovich DI, Velders MP, Sotomayor EM, Kast WM. Mechanism of immune dysfunction in cancer mediated by immature Gr-1+ myeloid cells. J Immunol (2001) 166:5398–406.
- Kusmartsev S, Nefedova Y, Yoder D, Gabrilovich DI. Antigenspecific inhibition of CD8+ T cell response by immature myeloid cells in cancer is mediated by reactive oxygen species. J Immunol (2004) 172:989–99.
- Kusmartsev S, Nagaraj S, Gabrilovich DI. Tumorassociated CD8+ T cell tolerance induced by bone marrowderived immature myeloid cells. *J Immunol* (2005) 175:4583–92.
- Apolloni E, Bronte V, Mazzoni A, Serafini P, Cabrelle A, Segal DM, et al. Immortalized myeloid suppressor cells trigger apoptosis in antigen-activated T lymphocytes. J Immunol (2000) 165:6723–30.
- Mazzoni A, Bronte V, Visintin A, Spitzer JH, Apolloni E, Serafini P, et al. Myeloid suppressor lines inhibit T cell responses by an NO-dependent mechanism. *J Immunol* (2002) 168:689–95.
- 54. Corzo CA, Cotter MJ, Cheng P, Cheng F, Kusmartsev S, Sotomayor E, et al. Mechanism regulating reactive oxygen species in tumor-induced myeloidderived suppressor cells. J Immunol (2009) 182:5693–701. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.0900092
- 55. Rodríguez PC, Ochoa AC. Arginine regulation by myeloid derived suppressor cells and

tolerance in cancer: mechanisms and therapeutic perspectives. *Immunol Rev* (2008) **222**:180–91. doi:10.1111/j.1600-065X.2008.00608.x

- 56. Yu J, Du W, Yan F, Wang Y, Li H, Cao S, et al. Myeloidderived suppressor cells suppress antitumor immune responses through IDO expression and correlate with lymph node metastasis in patients with breast cancer. J Immunol (2013) 190:3783–97. doi:10.4049/ jimmunol.1201449
- Rodriguez PC, Hernandez CP, Quiceno D, Dubinett SM, Zabaleta J, Ochoa JB, et al. Arginase I in myeloid suppressor cells is induced by COX-2 in lung carcinoma. J Exp Med (2005) 202:931–9. doi:10.1084/jem.20050715
- Rodriguez PC, Quiceno DG, Zabaleta J, Ortiz B, Zea AH, Piazuelo MB, et al. Arginase I production in the tumor microenvironment by mature myeloid cells inhibits T-cell receptor expression and antigenspecific T-cell responses. *Cancer Res* (2004) 64:5839–49. doi:10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-04-0465
- Ochoa AC, Zea AH, Hernandez C, Rodriguez PC. Arginase, prostaglandins, and myeloidderived suppressor cells in renal cell carcinoma. *Clin Cancer Res* (2007) 13:721s–6. doi:10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-06-2197
- Diaz-Montero CM, Salem ML, 60. Nishimura MI, Garrett-Mayer E, Cole DJ, Montero AJ. Increased circulating mveloid-derived suppressor cells correlate with clinical cancer stage, metastatic tumor burden, and doxorubicin-cyclophosphamide chemotherapy. Cancer Immunol Immunother (2009) 58:49-59 doi:10.1007/s00262-008-0523-4 61 D. Pan
 - . Vasquez-Dunddel D, Pan F, Zeng Q, Gorbounov M, Albesiano E, Fu J, et al. STAT3 regulates arginase-I in myeloid-derived suppressor cells from cancer patients. J *Clin Invest* (2013) **123**:1580–9. doi:10.1172/JCI60083
- 62. Ghiringhelli F, Puig PE, Roux S, Parcellier A, Schmitt E, Solary E, et al. Tumor cells convert immature myeloid dendritic cells into TGF-beta-secreting cells inducing CD4+CD25+ regulatory T cell proliferation. J

Exp Med (2005) **202**:919–29. doi:10.1084/jem.20050463

- Schlecker E, Stojanovic A, Eisen C, Quack C, Falk CS, Umansky V, et al. Tumor-infiltrating monocytic myeloid-derived suppressor cells mediate CCR5dependent recruitment of regulatory T cells favoring tumor growth. J Immunol (2012) 189:5602–11. doi:10.4049/ jimmunol.1201018
- Serafini P, Mgebroff S, Noonan K, Borrello I. Myeloidderived suppressor cells promote cross-tolerance in B-cell lymphoma by expanding regulatory T cells. *Cancer Res* (2008) 68:5439–49. doi:10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-07-6621
- 65. Mauti LA, Le Bitoux M-A, Baumer K, Stehle J-C, Golshayan D, Provero P, et al. Myeloid-derived suppressor cells are implicated in regulating permissiveness for tumor metastasis during mouse gestation. J Clin Invest (2011) 121:2794–807. doi:10.1172/JCI41936
- 66. Li H, Han Y, Guo Q, Zhang M, Cao X. Cancer-expanded myeloid-derived suppressor cells induce anergy of NK cells through membrane-bound TGFbeta 1. *J Immunol* (2009) 182:240–9.
- 67. Elkabets M, Ribeiro VSG, Dinarello CA, Ostrand-Rosenberg S, Di Santo JP, Apte RN, et al. IL-1β regulates a novel myeloid-derived suppressor cell subset that impairs NK cell development and function. *Eur J Immunol* (2010) **40**:3347–57. doi:10.1002/eji.201041037
- Hoechst B, Voigtlaender T, Ormandy L, Gamrekelashvili J, Zhao F, Wedemeyer H, et al. Myeloid derived suppressor cells inhibit natural killer cells in patients with hepatocellular carcinoma via the NKp30 receptor. *Hepatology* (2009) 50:799–807. doi:10.1002/hep.23054
- Poschke I, Mao Y, Adamson 69 L, Salazar-Onfray F, Masucci G, Kiessling R. Myeloidderived suppressor cells impair the quality of dendritic cell Cancer vaccines Immunol Immunother (2012) 61:827-38. doi:10.1007/s00262-011-1143-y Sinha P, Clements VK, Bunt SK, 70 Albelda SM, Ostrand-Rosenberg S. Cross-talk between myeloidderived suppressor cells and macrophages subverts tumor immunity toward a type 2

response. J Immunol (2007) **179:**977–83.

- Cortez-Retamozo V, Etzrodt M, Newton A, Rauch PJ, Chudnovskiy A, Berger C, et al. Origins of tumorassociated macrophages and neutrophils. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (2012) 109:2491–6. doi:10.1073/pnas.1113744109
- Galon J, Costes A, Sanchez-Cabo F, Kirilovsky A, Mlecnik B, Lagorce-Pages C, et al. Type, density, and location of immune cells within human colorectal tumors predict clinical outcome. *Science* (2006) **313**:1960– 4. doi:10.1126/science.1129139
- 73. Steidl C, Lee T, Shah SP, Farinha P, Han G, Nayar T, et al. Tumor-associated macrophages and survival in classic Hodgkin's lymphoma. N Engl J Med (2010) 362:875–85. doi:10.1056/NEJMoa0905680
- DeNardo DG, Brennan DJ, Rexhepaj E, Ruffel B, Shiao SL, Madden SF, et al. Leukocyte complexity predicts breast cancer survival and functionally regulates response to chemotherapy. *Cancer Discov* (2011) 1:54–67. doi:10.1158/2159-8274.CD-10-0028
- 75. Kurahara H, Shinchi H, Mataki Y, Maemura K, Noma H, Kubo F, et al. Significance of M2-polarized tumor-associated macrophages in pancreatic cancer. *J Surg Res* (2011) **167**:e211–9. doi:10.1016/j.jss.2009.05.026
- Zhang BC, Gao J, Wang J, Rao ZG, Wang BC, Gao JF. Tumor-associated macrophages infiltration is associated with peritumoral lymphangiogenesis and poor prognosis in lung adenocarcinoma. *Med Oncol* (2011) 28:1447–52. doi:10.1007/s12032-010-9638-5
- Schouppe E, De Baetselier P, Van Ginderachter JA, Sarukhan A. Instruction of myeloid cells by the tumor microenvironment: open questions on the dynamics and plasticity of different tumor-associated myeloid cell populations. *Oncoimmunology* (2012) 1:1135–45. doi:10.4161/onci.21566
- Allavena P, Piemonti L, Longoni D, Bernasconi S, Stoppacciaro A, Ruco L, et al. IL-10 prevents the differentiation of monocytes to dendritic cells but promotes their maturation to macrophages. *Eur J Immunol* (1998) 28:359–69.

doi:10.1002/(SICI)1521-4141(199801)28:01<359::AID-IMMU359>3.0.CO;2-4

- Chong H, Vodovotz Y, Cox GW, Barcellos-Hoff MH. Immunocytochemical localization of latent transforming growth factor-beta1 activation by stimulated macrophages. J Cell Physiol (1999) 178:275–83. doi:10.1002/(SICI)1097-4652(199903)178:3<275::AID-JCP1>3.0.CO;2-Q
- Curiel TJ, Coukos G, Zou L, Alvarez X, Cheng P, Mottram P, et al. Specific recruitment of regulatory T cells in ovarian carcinoma fosters immune privilege and predicts reduced survival. Nat Med (2004) 10:942–9. doi:10.1038/nm1093
- Kuang DM, Zhao Q, Peng C, Xu J, Zhang JP, Wu C, et al. Activated monocytes in peritumoral stroma of hepatocellular carcinoma foster immune privilege and disease progression through PD-L1. J Exp Med (2009) 206:1327–37. doi:10.1084/jem.20082173
- 82. Sauter B, Albert ML, Francisco L, Larsson M, Somersan S, Bhardwaj N. Consequences of cell death: exposure to necrotic tumor cells, but not primary tissue cells or apoptotic cells, induces the maturation of immunos-timulatory dendritic cells. *J Exp Med* (2000) **191**:423–34. doi:10.1084/jem.191.3.423
- Somersan S, Larsson M, Fonteneau JF, Basu S, Srivastava P, Bhardwaj N. Primary tumor tissue lysates are enriched in heat shock proteins and induce the maturation of human dendritic cells. J Immunol (2001) 167:4844–52.
- Movassagh M, Spatz A, Davoust J, Lebecque S, Romero P, Pittet M, et al. Selective accumulation of mature DC-Lamp+ dendritic cells in tumor sites is associated with efficient T-cell-mediated antitumor response and control of metastatic dissemination in melanoma. *Cancer Res* (2004) 64:2192–8. doi:10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-03-2969
- Elliott B, Scolyer RA, Suciu S, Lebecque S, Rimoldi D, Gugerli O, et al. Long-term protective effect of mature DC-LAMP+ dendritic cell accumulation in sentinel lymph nodes containing micrometastatic melanoma. *Clin Cancer Res* (2007) 13:3825–30.

doi:10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-07-0358

- Bell D, Chomarat P, Broyles D, Netto G, Harb GM, Lebecque S, et al. In breast carcinoma tissue, immature dendritic cells reside within the tumor, whereas mature dendritic cells are located in peritumoral areas. *J Exp Med* (1999) **190**:1417–26. doi:10.1084/jem.190.10.1417
- Treilleux I, Blay J-Y, Bendriss-Vermare N, Ray-Coquard I, Bachelot T, Guastalla J-P, et al. Dendritic cell infiltration and prognosis of early stage breast cancer. *Clin Cancer Res* (2004) 10:7466–74. doi:10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-04-0684
- Bergeron A, El-Hage F, Kambouchner M, Lecossier D, Tazi A. Characterisation of dendritic cell subsets in lung cancer micro-environments. *Eur Respir* J (2006) 28:1170–7.
- Manabu I, Minamiya Y, Kawai H, Saito S, Saito H, Nakagawa T, et al. Tumor-derived TGFβ-1 induces dendritic cell apoptosis in the sentinel lymph node. J Immunol (2006) 176:5637–43.
- 90. Van Mierlo GJD, Boonman ZFHM, Dumortier HMH, Den Boer AT, Fransen MF, Nouta J, et al. Activation of dendritic cells that cross-present tumorderived antigen licenses CD8+ CTL to cause tumor eradication. *J Immunol* (2004) **173**:6753–9.
- Preynat-Seauve O, Schuler P, Contassot E, Beermann F, Huard B, French LE. Tumor-infiltrating dendritic cells are potent antigen-presenting cells able to activate T cells and mediate tumor rejection. J Immunol (2006) 176:61–7.
- 92. Chaux P, Favre N, Martin M, Martin F. Tumor-infiltrating dendritic cells are defective in their antigen-presenting function and inducible B7 expression in rats. Int J Cancer (1997) 72:619–24. doi:10.1002/(SICI)1097-0215(19970807)72:4<619::AID-IIC12>3.0.CO:2-6
- Vicari AP, Chiodoni C, Vaure C, Ait-Yahia S, Dercamp C, Matsos F, et al. Reversal of tumorinduced dendritic cell paralysis by CpG immunostimulatory oligonucleotide and antiinterleukin 10 receptor antibody. *J Exp Med* (2002) 196:541–9. doi:10.1084/jem.20020732
- 94. Perrot I, Blanchard D, Freymond N, Isaac S, Guibert B, Pacheco

Y, et al. Dendritic cells infiltrating human non-small cell lung cancer are blocked at immature stage. *J Immunol* (2007) **178**:2763–9.

- 95. Enk AH, Jonuleit H, Saloga J, Knop J. Dendritic cells as mediators of tumor-induced tolerance in metastatic melanoma. *Int J Cancer* (1997) **73**:309–16. doi:10.1002/(SICI)1097-0215(19971104)73:3<309::AID-IJC1>3.3.CO;2-B
- Idoyaga J, Moreno J, Bonifaz L. Tumor cells prevent mouse dendritic cell maturation induced by TLR ligands. *Cancer Immunol Immunother* (2007) 56:1237–50. doi:10.1007/s00262-006-0275-y
- Jackson AM, Mulcahy LA, Zhu XW, O'Donnell D, Patel PM. Tumour-mediated disruption of dendritic cell function: inhibiting the MEK1/2-p44/42 axis restores IL-12 production and Th1-generation. Int J Cancer (2008) 123:623–32. doi:10.1002/ijc.23530
- Alshamsan A, Hamdy S, Das S, Lavasanifar A, Samuel J, El-Kadi AOS. Validation of bone marrow derived dendritic cells as an appropriate model to study tumor-mediated suppression of DC maturation through STAT3 hyperactivation. *J Pharm Pharm Sci* (2010) 13:21–6.
- 99. Garufi A, Pistritto G, Ceci C, Di Renzo L, Santarelli R, Faggioni A, et al. Targeting COX-2/PGE(2) pathway in HIPK2 knockdown cancer cells: impact on dendritic cell maturation. *PLoS ONE* (2012) 7:e48342. doi:10.1371/ journal.pone.0048342
- 100. Wang Y, Deng B, Tang W, Liu T, Shen X. TGF- β 1 secreted by hepatocellular carcinoma induces the expression of the Foxp3 gene and suppresses antitumor immunity in the tumor microenvironment. *Dig Dis Sci* (2013) **58**:1644–52. doi:10.1007/s10620-012-2550-4. [Epub ahead of print].
- 101. Gottfried E, Kunz-Schughart LA, Ebner S, Mueller-Klieser W, Hoves S, Andreesen R, et al. Tumor-derived lactic acid modulates dendritic cell activation and antigen expression. *Blood* (2006) **107**:2013–21. doi:10.1182/blood-2005-05-1795
- Shen Z, Reznikoff G, Dranoff G, Rock KL. Cloned dendritic cells can present exogenous antigens on both MHC class I and class

II molecules. *J Immunol* (1997) **158**:2723–30.

- Winzler C, Rovere P, Rescigno M, Granucci F, Penna G, Adorini L, et al. Maturation stages of mouse dendritic cells in growth factor-dependent long-term cultures. *J Exp Med* (1997) 185:317– 28. doi:10.1084/jem.185.2.317
- 104. van Helden SFG, Van Leeuwen FN, Figdor CG. Human and murine model cell lines for dendritic cell biology evaluated. *Immunol Lett* (2008) 117:191–7. doi:10.1016/j.imlet.2008.02.003
- 105. Fuertes Marraco SA, Grosjean F, Duval A, Rosa M, Lavanchy C, Ashok D, et al. Novel murine dendritic cell lines: a powerful auxiliary tool for dendritic cell research. *Front Immunol* (2012) 3:331. doi:10.3389/fimmu.2012.00331
- Hargadon KM, Ararso YT, Forrest OA, Harte CM. Melanomaassociated suppression of the dendritic cell lines DC2.4 and JAWSII. Am J Immunol (2012) 8:179–90.
- 107. Hargadon KM, Forrest OA, Reddy PR. Suppression of the maturation and activation of the dendritic cell line DC2.4 by melanoma-derived factors. *Cell Immunol* (2012) **272**:275–82. doi:10.1016/j.cellimm.2011.10. 003
- He T, Tang C, Xu S, Moyana T, Xiang J. Interferon gamma stimulates cellular maturation of dendritic cell line DC2.4 leading to induction of efficient cytotoxic T cell responses and antitumor immunity. *Cell Mol Immunol* (2007) 4:105–11.
- 109. Rhule A, Rase B, Smith JR, Shepherd DM. Toll-like receptor ligand-induced activation of murine DC2.4 cells is attenuated by *Panax* notoginseng. J Ethnopharmacol (2008) 116:179–86. doi:10.1016/j.jep.2007.11.019
- 110. Jiang X, Shen C, Rey-Ladino J, Yu H, Brunham RC. Characterization of murine dendritic cell line JAWS II and primary bone marrow-derived dendritic cells in Chlamydia muridarum antigen presentation and induction of protective immunity. *Infect Immun* (2008) **76**:2392– 401. doi:10.1128/IAI.01584-07
- 111. Krempski J, Karyampudi L, Behrens MD, Erskine CL, Hartmann L, Dong H, et al. Tumor-infiltrating programmed death receptor-1+ dendritic

cells mediate immune suppression in ovarian cancer. *J Immunol* (2011) **186**:6905–13. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.1100274

- 112. Scarlett UK, Rutkowski MR, Rauwerdink AM, Fields J, Escovar-Fadul X, Baird J, et al. Ovarian cancer progression is controlled by phenotypic changes in dendritic cells. J Exp Med (2012) 209:495–506. doi:10.1084/jem.20111413
- 113. Liu Q, Zhang C, Sun A, Zheng Y, Wang L, Cao X. Tumoreducated CD11bhighIalow regulatory dendritic cells suppress T cell response through arginase I. *J Immunol* (2009) **182**:6207–16. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.0803926
- Norian LA, Rodriguez PC, O'Mara LA, Zabaleta J, Ochoa AC, Cella M, et al. Tumorinfiltrating regulatory dendritic cells inhibit CD8+ T cell function via L-arginine metabolism. *Cancer Res* (2009) 69:3086–94. doi:10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-08-2826
- 115. Dumitriu IE, Dunbar DR, Howie SE, Sethi T, Gregory CD. Human dendritic cells produce TGF-beta 1 under the influence of lung carcinoma cells and prime the differentiation of CD4+CD25+Foxp3+ regulatory T cells. J Immunol (2009) 182:2795–807. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.0712671
- 116. Watkins SK, Zhu Z, Riboldi E, Shafer-Weaver KA, Stagliano KER, Sklavos MM, et al. FOXO3 programs tumor-associated DCs to become tolerogenic in human and murine prostate cancer. J Clin Invest (2011) 121:1361–72. doi:10.1172/JCI44325
- 117. Dejean AS, Beisner DR, Chen IL, Kerdiles YM, Babour A, Arden KC, et al. Transcription factor Foxo3 controls the magnitude of T cell immune responses by modulating the function of dendritic cells. *Nat Immunol* (2009) 10:504–13. doi:10.1038/ni.1729
- 118. Michielsen AJ, Hogan AE, Marry J, Tosetto M, Cox F, Hyland JM, et al. Tumour tissue microenvironment can inhibit dendritic cell maturation in colorectal cancer. *PLoS ONE* (2011) 6:e27944. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0027944
- Michielsen AJ, O'Sullivan JN, Ryan EJ. Tumor conditioned media from colorectal cancer patients inhibits dendritic cell maturation. *Oncoimmunology* (2012) 1:751–3. doi:10.4161/onci.19570

- 120. Nonaka M, Ma BY, Murai R, Nakamura N, Baba M, Kawasaki N, et al. Glycosylationdependent interactions of C-type lectin DC-SIGN with colorectal tumor-associated Lewis glycans impair the function and differentiation of monocyte-derived dendritic cells. J Immunol (2008) 180:3347–56.
- 121. Monti P, Leone BE, Zerbi A, Balzano G, Cainarca S, Sordi V, et al. Tumor-derived MUC1 mucins interact with differentiating monocytes and induce IL-10highIL-12low regulatory dendritic cell. J Immunol (2004) 172:7341–9.
- 122. Rughetti A, Pellicciotta I, Biffoni M, Backstrom M, Link T, Bennet EP, et al. Recombinant tumor-associated MUC1 glycoprotein impairs the differentiation and function of dendritic cells. J Immunol (2005) 174:7764–72.
- 123. Sharma S, Stolina M, Yang S-C, Baratelli F, Lin JF, Atianzar K, et al. Tumor cyclooxygenase 2dependent suppression of dendritic cell function. *Clin Cancer Res* (2003) **9**:961–8.
- Ahmadi M, Emery DC, Morgan DJ. Prevention of both direct and cross-priming of antitumor CD8+ T-cell responses following overproduction of prostaglandin E2 by tumor cells in vivo. *Cancer Res* (2008) 68:7520– 9. doi:10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-08-1060
- 125. Wang S, Yang J, Qian J, Wezeman M, Kwak LW, Yi Q. Tumor evasion of the immune system: inhibiting p38 MAPK signaling restores the function of dendritic cells in multiple myeloma. *Blood* (2006) 107:2432–9. doi:10.1182/blood-2005-06-2486
- McCarter M, Clarke J, Richter D, Wilson C. Melanoma skews dendritic cells to facilitate a T helper 2 profile. Surgery (2005) 138:321–8. doi:10.1016/j.surg.2005.06.011
- doi:10.1016/j.surg.2005.06.011
 127. Aspord C, Pedroza-Gonzalez A, Gallegos M, Tindle S, Burton EC, Su D, et al. Breast cancer instructs dendritic cells to prime interleukin 13-secreting CD4+ T cells that facilitate tumor development. J Exp Med (2007) 204:1037–47. doi:10.1084/jem.20061120
- Von Bergwelt-Baildon MS, Popov A, Saric T, Chemnitz J, Classen S, Stoffel MS, et al.

CD25 and indoleamine 2,3dioxygenase are up-regulated by prostaglandin E2 and expressed by tumor-associated dendritic cells in vivo: additional mechanisms of T-cell inhibition. *Blood* (2006) **108**:228–37. doi:10.1182/blood-2005-08-3507

- 129. Munn DH, Sharma MD, Hou D, Baban B, Lee JR, Antonia SJ, et al. Expression of indoleamine 2,3-dioxygenase by plasmacytoid dendritic cells in tumor-draining lymph nodes. J Clin Invest (2004) 114:280–90. doi:10.1172/JCI21583E1
- 130. Chen W, Liang X, Peterson AJ, Munn DH, Blazar BR. The indoleamine 2,3-dioxygenase pathway is essential for human plasmacytoid dendritic cellinduced adaptive T regulatory cell generation. J Immunol (2008) 181:5396–404.
- 131. Sharma MD, Hou D-Y, Liu Y, Koni PA, Metz R, Chandler P, et al. Indoleamine 2,3dioxygenase controls conversion of Foxp3+ Tregs to TH17-like cells in tumor-draining lymph nodes. *Blood* (2009) **113**:6102– 11. doi:10.1182/blood-2008-12-195354
- Conrad C, Gregorio J, Wang Y-H, Ito T, Meller S, Hanabuchi S, et al. Plasmacytoid dendritic cells promote immunosuppression in ovarian cancer via ICOS costimulation of Foxp3(+) T-regulatory cells. *Cancer Res* (2012) **72**:5240– 9. doi:10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-12-2271
- 133. Faget J, Bendriss-Vermare N, Gobert M, Durand I, Olive D, Biota C, et al. ICOSligand expression on plasmacytoid dendritic cells supports breast cancer progression by promoting the accumulation of immunosuppressive CD4+ T cells. *Cancer Res* (2012) 72:6130–41. doi:10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-12-2409
- 134. Labidi-Galy SI, Treilleux I, Goddard-Leon S, Combes J-D, Blay J-Y, Ray-Coquard I, et al. Plasmacytoid dendritic cells infiltrating ovarian cancer are associated with poor prognosis. Oncoimmunology (2012) 1:380–2. doi:10.4161/onci.18801
- 135. Curtsinger JM, Valenzuela JO, Agarwal P, Lins D, Mescher MF. Type I IFNs provide a third signal to CD8 T cells to stimulate clonal expansion and differentiation. J Immunol (2005) 174:4465–9.

- 136. Sisirak V, Faget J, Gobert M, Goutagny N, Vey N, Treilleux I, et al. Impaired IFN-α production by plasmacytoid dendritic cells favors regulatory Tcell expansion that may contribute to breast cancer progression. *Cancer Res* (2012) **72**:5188–97. doi:10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-11-3468
- 137. Sisirak V, Vey N, Goutagny N, Renaudineau S, Malfroy M, Thys S, et al. Breast cancer-derived transforming growth factor-β and tumor necrosis factor-α compromise interferon-α production by tumor-associated plasmacytoid dendritic cells. Int J Cancer (2013) 133:771–8. doi:10.1002/ijc.28072
- Wei S, Kryczek I, Zou L, Daniel B, Cheng P, Mottram P, et al. Plasmacytoid dendritic cells induce CD8+ regulatory T cells in human ovarian carcinoma. *Cancer Res* (2005) 65:5020– 6. doi:10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-04-4043
- 139. Marchand M, Weynants P, Rankin E, Arienti F, Belli F, Parmiani G, et al. Tumor regression responses in melanoma patients treated with a peptide encoded by gene MAGE-3. *Int J Cancer* (1995) **63**:883–5. doi:10.1002/ijc.2910630622
- 140. Cormier JN, Salgaller ML, Prevette T, Barracchini KC, Rivoltini L, Restifo NP, et al. Enhancement of cellular immunity in melanoma patients immunized with a peptide from MART-1/Melan A. Cancer J Sci Am (1997) 3:37–44.
- 141. Tagawa ST, Lee P, Snively J, Boswell W, Ounpraseuth S, Lee S, et al. Phase I study of intranodal delivery of a plasmid DNA vaccine for patients with Stage IV melanoma. *Cancer* (2003) **98**:144–54. doi:10.1002/cncr.11462
- 142. Nicholaou T, Ebert LM, Davis ID, McArthur GA, Jackson H, Dimopoulos N, et al. Regulatory T-cell-mediated attenuation of T-cell responses to the NY-ESO-1 ISCOMATRIX vaccine in patients with advanced malignant melanoma. *Clin Cancer Res* (2009) 15:2166–73. doi:10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-08-2484
- 143. Ebert LM, MacRaild SE, Zanker D, Davis ID, Cebon J, Chen W. A cancer vaccine induces expansion of NY-ESO-1-specific regulatory T cells in patients

with advanced melanoma. *PLoS ONE* (2012) **7**:e48424. doi:10. 1371/journal.pone.0048424

- Menetrier-Caux C, Thomachot MC, Alberti L, Montmain G, Blay JY. IL-4 prevents the blockade of dendritic cell differentiation induced by tumor cells. *Cancer Res* (2001) **61**:3096–104.
- 145. Osada T, Chong G, Tansik R, Hong T, Spector N, Kumar R, et al. The effect of anti-VEGF therapy on immature myeloid cell and dendritic cells in cancer patients. *Cancer Immunol Immunother* (2008) 57:1115–24. doi:10.1007/s00262-007-0441-x
- 146. Kusmartsev S, Cheng F, Yu B, Nefedova Y, Sotomayor E, Lush R, et al. All-trans-retinoic acid eliminates immature myeloid cells from tumor-bearing mice and improves the effect of vaccination. *Cancer Res* (2003) 63:4441–9.
- 147. Kusmartsev S, Su Z, Heiser A, Dannull J, Eruslanov E, Kübler H, et al. Reversal of myeloid cell-mediated immunosuppression in patients with metastatic renal cell carcinoma. *Clin Cancer Res* (2008) 14:8270– 8. doi:10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-08-0165
- 148. Oosterhoff D, Lougheed S, Van de Ven R, Lindenberg J, Van Cruijsen H, Hiddingh L, et al. Tumor-mediated inhibition of human dendritic cell differentiation and function is consistently counteracted by combined p38 MAPK and STAT3 inhibition. Oncoimmunology (2012) 1:649–58. doi:10.4161/onci. 20365
- 149. Iwata-Kajihara T, Sumimoto H, Kawamura N, Ueda R, Takahashi T, Mizuguchi H, et al. Enhanced cancer immunotherapy using STAT3-depleted dendritic cells with high Th1-inducing ability and resistance to cancer cell-derived inhibitory factors. *J Immunol* (2011) **187**:27–36. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.1002067
- 150. Cubillos-Ruiz JR, Baird JR, Tesone AJ, Rutkowski MR, Scarlett UK, Camposeco-Jacobs AL, et al. Reprogramming tumor-associated dendritic cells in vivo using miRNA mimetics triggers protective immunity against ovarian

cancer. Cancer Res (2012) 72:1683–93. doi:10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-11-3160

- 151. Ferguson AR, Nichols LA, Zarling AL, Thompson ED, Brinkman CC, Hargadon KM, et al. Strategies and challenges in eliciting immunity to melanoma. *Immunol Rev* (2008) 222:28–42. doi:10.1111/j.1600-065X.2008.00620.x
- 152. Hong S, Qian J, Li H, Yang J, Lu Y, Zheng Y, et al. CpG or IFN-α are more potent adjuvants than GM-CSF to promote anti-tumor immunity following idiotype vaccine in multiple myeloma. *Cancer Immunol Immunother* (2012) **61**:561–71. doi:10.1007/s00262-011-1123-2
- 153. Han TH, Jin P, Ren J, Slezak S, Marincola FM, Stroncek DF. Evaluation of 3 clinical dendritic cell maturation protocols containing lipopolysaccharide and interferon-gamma. *J Immunother (1991)* (2009) **32**:399–407. doi:10.1097/ CJI.0b013e31819e1773
- 154. Aguilera R, Saffie C, Tittarelli A, González FE, Ramírez M, Reyes D, et al. Heat-shock induction of tumor-derived danger signals mediates rapid monocyte differentiation into clinically effective dendritic cells. *Clin Cancer Res* (2011) 17:2474– 83. doi:10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-10-2384
- 155. Miwa S, Nishida H, Tanzawa Y, Takata M, Takeuchi A, Yamamoto N, et al. TNF-α and tumor lysate promote the maturation of dendritic cells for immunotherapy for advanced malignant bone and soft tissue tumors. *PLoS ONE* (2012) 7:e52926. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0052926
- Massa C, Seliger B. Fast dendritic cells stimulated with alternative maturation mixtures induce polyfunctional and long-lasting activation of innate and adaptive effector cells with tumor-killing capabilities. J Immunol (2013) 190:3328–37. doi:10.4049/ jimmunol.1202024
- 157. Sugiyama M, Kakeji Y, Tsujitani S, Harada Y, Onimaru M, Yoshida K, et al. Antagonism of VEGF by genetically engineered dendritic cells is essential to

induce antitumor immunity against malignant ascites. *Mol Cancer Ther* (2011) **10**:540–9. doi:10.1158/1535-7163.MCT-10-0479

- Zhang M, Berndt BE, Chen J-J, Kao JY. Expression of a soluble TGF-beta receptor by tumor cells enhances dendritic cell/tumor fusion vaccine efficacy. J Immunol (2008) 181:3690–7.
- 159. Zheng X, Koropatnick J, Chen D, Velenosi T, Ling H, Zhang X, et al. Silencing IDO in dendritic cells: a novel approach to enhance cancer immunotherapy in a murine breast cancer model. Int J Cancer (2013) 132:967–77. doi:10.1002/ ijc.27710
- 160. Chen Y-X, Man K, Ling GS, Chen Y, Sun B-S, Cheng Q, et al. A crucial role for dendritic cell (DC) IL-10 in inhibiting successful DC-based immunotherapy: superior antitumor immunity against hepatocellular carcinoma evoked by DC devoid of IL-10. *J Immunol* (2007) 179:6009–15.
- 161. Boczkowski D, Lee J, Pruitt S, Nair S. Dendritic cells engineered to secrete anti-GITR antibodies are effective adjuvants to dendritic cellbased immunotherapy. *Cancer Gene Ther* (2009) 16:900–11. doi:10.1038/cgt.2009.39
- 162. Pruitt SK, Boczkowski D, De Rosa N, Haley NR, Morse MA, Tyler DS, et al. Enhancement of anti-tumor immunity through local modulation of CTLA-4 and GITR by dendritic cells. *Eur J Immunol* (2011) **41**:3553–63. doi:10.1002/ eji.201141383
- 163. Saha A, Chatterjee SK. Combination of CTL-associated antigen-4 blockade and depletion of CD25 regulatory T cells enhance tumour immunity of dendritic cell-based vaccine in a mouse model of colon cancer. *Scand J Immunol* (2010) 71:70–82. doi:10.1111/j.1365-3083.2009.02355.x
- 164. Rosenblatt J, Glotzbecker B, Mills H, Vasir B, Tzachanis D, Levine JD, et al. PD-1 blockade by CT-011, anti-PD-1 antibody, enhances ex vivo

T-cell responses to autologous dendritic cell/myeloma fusion vaccine. J Immunother (1991) (2011) **34**:409–18. doi:10.1097/ CJI.0b013e31821ca6ce

- 165. Oertli D, Marti WR, Zajac P, Noppen C, Kocher T, Padovan E, et al. Rapid induction of specific cytotoxic T lymphocytes against melanoma-associated antigens by a recombinant vaccinia virus vector expressing multiple immunodominant epitopes and costimulatory molecules in vivo. Hum Gene Ther (2002) 13:569–75. doi:10.1089/ 10430340252809856
- 166. Adamina M, Rosenthal R, Weber WP, Frey DM, Viehl CT, Bolli M, et al. Intranodal immunization with a vaccinia virus encoding multiple antigenic epitopes and costimulatory molecules in metastatic melanoma. *Mol Ther* (2010) 18:651–9. doi:10.1038/mt.2009.275
- 167. Tatsumi T, Takehara T, Yamaguchi S, Sasakawa A, Miyagi T, Jinushi M, et al. Injection of IL-12 gene-transduced dendritic cells into mouse liver tumor lesions activates both innate and acquired immunity. *Gene Ther* (2007) 14:863–71. doi:10.1038/sj.gt.3302941

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Received: 07 May 2013; accepted: 27 June 2013; published online: 11 July 2013.

Citation: Hargadon KM (2013) Tumor-altered dendritic cell function: implications for anti-tumor immunity. Front. Immunol. **4**:192. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2013.00192

This article was submitted to Frontiers in Tumor Immunity, a specialty of Frontiers in Immunology.

Copyright © 2013 Hargadon. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License, which permits use, distribution and reproduction in other forums, provided the original authors and source are credited and subject to any copyright notices concerning any third-party graphics etc.

Metabolic influences that regulate dendritic cell function in tumors

Han Dong¹ and Timothy N. J. Bullock²*

¹ Experimental Pathology Program, University of Virginia, Charlottesville, VA, USA

² Department of Pathology, University of Virginia, Charlottesville, VA, USA

Edited by:

Kristian Michael Hargadon, Hampden-Sydney College, USA

Reviewed by:

Pierre Sonveaux, University of Louvain (UCL) Medical School, Belgium Thomas Weichhart, Medical University of Vienna, Austria

*Correspondence:

Timothy N. J. Bullock, Department of Pathology, University of Virginia, Room G526, MR6 Building, 345 Crispell Drive, Charlottesville, VA 22908, USA e-mail: tb5v@virginia.edu

Dendritic cells (DC) are critical regulators of both activation and tolerance in the adaptive immune response. The dual nature of DC immunoregulatory function depends on their differentiation and activation status. DC found within the tumor microenvironment (TME) and tumor-draining lymph node often exist in an inactive state, which is thought to limit the adaptive immune response elicited by the growing tumor. The major determinants of DC activation and the functional alterations in DC that result from integrating exogenous stimuli have been well investigated. Extensive efforts have been made to elucidate how the TME contributes to the inactivated/dysfunctional phenotype of tumor-associated DC (TADC). Although performed predominantly on *in vitro* DC cultures, recent evidence indicates that DC undergo required, coordinated alterations in their metabolism upon activation, and dysregulated metabolism in TADC is associated with their reduced immunostimulatory capacity. In this review, we will focus on the role of glycolysis and fatty acid metabolism in DC activation and function and discuss how these metabolic pathways may be regulated in TADC. Further, we consider the need for developing novel experimental approaches to assess metabolic choices in vivo, and the necessity for integrating metabolic regulation into the optimized development of DC for tumor vaccines and immunotherapy for cancer.

Keywords: dendritic cell, tumor-associated dendritic cell, activation, metabolism, glycolysis, oxidative phosphorylation, lipid metabolism, cancer immunotherapy

INTRODUCTION

Dendritic cells (DC) serve as sentinels of the immune system. They constantly acquire antigen (Ag) from their environment and degrade it into short peptides that are presented at the cell surface in association with MHC molecules for surveillance by T cells. The inflammatory context in which DC exist influences their expression of critical co-stimulatory molecules and cytokines (Figure 1B) that provide the context for Ag presentation. Factors that promote the expression of co-stimulatory molecules and cytokines support the activation, expansion, and survival of responding T cells. In the absence of co-stimulation, DC present Ag in a manner that induces tolerance in the specific T cell repertoire, by mechanisms such as deletion (1) and anergy (2). During infection, inflammatory cytokines such as TNFa and type-1 interferons (IFN-1), or pathogen associated molecular patterns (PAMPs), induce a program of activation that initiates the CCR7dependent migration of DC from the periphery to draining lymph nodes (3, 4). Additional stimulation via CD40 can further raise the activation state of DC, in part by inducing the expression of CD70 (Figure 1B) (5–7), leading to what is referred to as a licensed T cell response. While these basic tenets of DC activation have been well investigated, and extensively reviewed elsewhere (8,9), recent studies have brought to light metabolic transitions in DC that are necessary for them to attain full function, or can regulate their functional activation. Here, we discuss the impact of these metabolic alterations on DC function; how metabolic pathways may be regulated in tumor-associated DC (TADC); and given the immature state of DC often found in tumors [and the negative prognosis associated with such immaturity (10, 11)] we consider the influence of the tumor microenvironment (TME) on these functions.

REQUIREMENT FOR GLYCOLYSIS AND DC ACTIVATION

Substantial evidence demonstrates that upon activation immune cells undergo a metabolic reprograming, switching from oxidative phosphorylation (OXPHOS) to aerobic glycolysis, a phenomenon initially observed in cancer cells in 1920s by Warburg (the Warburg effect) (12). In cancer cells, the Warburg effect is induced by growth factor signaling or by mutations in metabolism-related intrinsic pathways [such as loss-of-function mutants of succinate dehydrogenase (SDH) and Fumarate hydratase (FH), and constitutive activation of hypoxia-inducible factor-1 (HIF-1) and (c-Myc)] (13, 14), while T cells undergo the metabolic switch upon T cell receptor (TCR) activation by Ag in the context of proper co-stimulation (15). This change in cellular metabolic pathways provides essential metabolic and bio-energetic resources to support programs of new gene expression and protein synthesis during robust cellular proliferation. (16, 17)

A recent study from the Pearce group reported that PAMP stimulation of TLR induces a metabolic transition in resting immature DC, characterized by a conversion from mitochondrial β -oxidation of lipid and OXPHOS (**Figure 1A**) to aerobic glycolysis (**Figure 1B**) (18). Unlike in cancer cells and effector T cells, the Warburg effect in DC does not fuel cell division but rather appears to be crucial for DC activation and survival upon TLR stimulation.





which contributes to their activation (major determinants in green; costim. is short for co-stimulatory molecule). Block arrows mark blockade and dash lines show insignificant process. The impact of mTOR on glycolysis has yet to be fully elucidated in DC (see Section "AKT and mTOR in DC Function" in text).

During the early phase (within 5 h) after exposure to TLR agonists, absence of glucose in culture medium led to profound defects in DC activation, including surface expression of CD40 and CD86 and production of IL-12p40 (Figure 1B). Subsequently, DC activated by TLR signals are highly reliant on glucose for survival and become more sensitive to death by nutrient limitation (18). Thus, initiating glycolysis at the time of DC activation is critical for full activation independent from its role in subsequent survival (18). The glycolytic pathway, rather than OXPHOS, may be required due to the need to generate substrates that will be used during DC activation. Alternatively, components of the glycolytic pathway, such as GAPDH, can directly regulate protein translation and may be responsible for regulating the translation of proteins that are critical for DC activation. Further studies will be necessary to elucidate the mechanism by which glycolytic pathway promotes the DC maturation process.

The induction of glycolysis and DC maturation could be influenced by the tumor and the TME at several salient junctures (Figure 2). First, in the context of tumors, it is unclear whether the "find-me, eat-me" signals generated by damage associated molecular patterns (DAMPs)/alarmins, such as nucleotides, uric acid, heat shock proteins (HSP), HMBG1, and calreticulin [which stimulate DC in varied manners including via purinergic receptors (19), CD91 (20), TLR engagement (21, 22), RAGE (23), and TIM-3 (24)], are sufficient to promote glycolysis and DC maturation in the manner achieved with PAMP-mediated stimulation. Second, tumor-derived DC, or DC cultured with tumors, have been shown to be recalcitrant to TLR-mediated induction of CD40, CD86, and IL-12 (25), suggesting that the induction of glycolysis via this pathway in DC may be compromised. The mechanisms that regulate TLR function in mature DC after exposure to tumors have yet to be been elucidated, though inhibition of TLR signaling by MSR1 (see Section "MSR1 and DC Function" below) may contribute.

Third, tumors are highly competitive for glucose; thus the substrate for glycolysis may be unavailable for DC and therefore the TME may not be permissive for the aspects of DC activation that are dependent upon glycolysis.

AKT AND mTOR IN DC FUNCTION

TLRs activate PI3K in a MyD88-dependent manner (26). Similar to cancer cells (27, 28) and effector T cells (15, 29, 30), PI3K/AKT pathway has been implicated to play a pivotal role in controlling metabolic transition to glycolysis in TLR-stimulated DC (Figure 1B) (18). AKT promotes glycolysis in DC in part by increasing the expression of Glut-1 and likely activates mTOR. In T cells, AKT signaling promotes glycolysis by inducing the expression of rate-limiting enzymes such as hexokinase and phosphofructokinase (31) and activates mTOR. AKT is not the only driver of metabolic alterations in TLR-stimulated DC, as it is dispensable for the programed down-regulation of palmitate consumption after TLR stimulation. (18). Confounding data exist, however, about the contribution of mTOR (which is normally a downstream target of AKT) to DC immunostimulatory capacity as inhibition of mTOR by rapamycin in murine GM-CSF-driven DC and human myeloid DC prolongs their lifespan, promotes expression of co-stimulatory molecules and cytokines, and enhances DC immunogenicity (32, 33). Mouse DC treated with rapamycin were more effective at generating tumor immunity compared to untreated controls. (32). However, in contrast, rapamycin-treated monocyte-derived human DC expressed significantly lower levels of pro-inflammatory cytokines and had reduced capacity to elicit CD8⁺ T cell responses (33). Thus, while the TLR-induced activation of DC is dependent upon AKT-mediated induction of glycolysis, the contribution of mTORC1 [which is required to sustain glycolysis and effector functions in T cells (34)] to the glycolytic switch is unresolved, and sustained mTORC1 activation



appears detrimental to the function of DC. Further studies are also needed to dissect the contribution of mTORC2 to any of these processes.

REGULATION OF OXPHOS IN DC

The underlying mechanisms for the AKT-independent reduction in OXPHOS upon TLR stimulation of DC have been recently studied using real-time metabolic flux analysis (35). The progressive impairment in OXPHOS in TLR-stimulated DC is due to inducible nitric oxide synthase (iNOS)-derived NO (Figure 1B). LPS stimulation induces NOS2 mRNA and iNOS protein expression, and subsequent NO production in DC, presumably via IFN-1 or NF-kB-dependent mechanisms as reported in macrophages (36). The autocrine NO causes mitochondrial impairment and blocks OXPHOS, as reported previously in astrocytes (37) and macrophages (38). The mechanism of OXPHOS inhibition is likely by NO reversibly competing with oxygen to inhibit cytochrome c oxidase, the terminal enzyme of the electron transport chain (39). Thus, the increase in glycolysis in DC after TLR stimulation could be a survival response that serves to maintain cellular ATP levels and to prevent cell death when OXPHOS is blocked and pyruvate accumulates. Most interestingly, although switch to glycolysis has been demonstrated to be a direct consequence of iNOS-mediated OXPHOS blockade and is essential for the survival of iNOS-expressing DC in vivo, a long-term switch to glycolysis was shown to be dispensable for full DC activation. When NO production is inhibited, glycolysis is abrogated and βoxidation is maintained in TLR-stimulated DC. Despite this, these DC showed unimpaired if not enhanced activation, as assessed

by surface expression of MHC and co-stimulatory molecules, production of inflammatory cytokines, and capacity of DC to stimulate T cell proliferative responses at 24 h after TLR stimulation. Therefore, optimal DC function may require only a transient switch to glycolysis; this notion is consistent with the fact that either stimulation of CD40 (see below) or limiting mTOR activity promotes DC function, and raises an alternative hypothesis to explain DC dysfunction in tumors: that rather than being unresponsive to DAMPs, chronic exposure to DAMPS from tumors leads to a state of glycolysis-induced exhaustion or elimination of DC (**Figure 2**).

AMPK REGULATION OF DC FUNCTION

The switch to glycolysis by DC is antagonized by adenosine monophosphate-activated protein kinase (AMPK), a master regulator of catabolic metabolism/OXPHOS in eukaryotic cells (Figure 1) (40, 41). AMPK can be induced by the nutrient sensor LKB1 (42), and functions in an opposing fashion with PI3K/AKT pathway to regulate TLR-induced metabolism and DC activation (Figure 2): up-regulation of AMPK in DC resulted in decreased LPS-induced IL-12p40 expression and glucose consumption, while suppression of AMPK by shRNAi leads to increased IL-12p40 and CD86 (18). Given the capacity of tumors to compete for glucose, one possible explanation for limited DC activity within the TME is the dominance of AMPK signaling over AKT-driven pathways (Figure 2). Intriguingly, IL-10, an inhibitor of DC activation, has been found to antagonize the TLR-induced hypophosphorylation of AMPK in TLR-stimulated DC, subsequently inhibiting the induction of glycolysis (18). AMPK activity is also strongly
induced by cAMP (Figure 2). Along with adenosine, cAMP can skew myeloid cell differentiation to a tolerogenic DC format (43, 44) and ablate the function of already differentiated DC (45). It is therefore intriguing to consider whether the negative regulatory activity of cAMP and adenosine in tumor immunity is mediated by abrogating glycolysis. However, the increased immunostimulatory capacity of DC after mTOR blockade or iNOS inhibition is not simply due to a restoration of β -oxidation. If this were the case, then contrary to these observations, AMPK activation should promote DC immunostimulatory capacity. Further, ligation of CD40, which signals via TRAF-6, has a major influence on DC activation state and viability (46-49), and is a potent promoter of co-stimulatory molecule and IL-12 expression and immunity to cancer. TRAF-6 mediated signaling has been shown to promote fatty acid oxidation in CD8⁺ T cells (50) via activation of AMPK, raising the question as to how signals generated by CD40 engagement might be integrated into the metabolic programing initiated by TLR signaling. AMPK agonists have been proposed as anti-cancer agents due to their anti-Warburg effect in cancer cells (51), but this approach may be compromised by the detrimental effects of AMPK on DC and CD8⁺ T cell function. The role of AMPK in regulating glycolysis and β -oxidation in early and late stages of DC function requires further elucidation before it can be predicted how such an approach would impact on DC function in tumors.

LACTIC ACID REGULATION OF DC FUNCTION

Additional metabolic regulation of DC has been described. Endogenously produced lactic acid, the end product of glycolysis, accumulates in dense monocyte-derived DC cultures and tumor spheroids (52). Lactic acid concentration after glycolysis, rather than oxygen availability, skews DC differentiation into a tolerogenic orientation, as exemplified by increased production of IL-10 and loss of IL-12 (Figure 2) in response to TLR stimuli (53). This potentially identifies a negative feedback loop in DC function induced by glycolysis within activated DC, and may suggest that the beneficial effect of preventing the switch to glycolysis achieved by inhibiting NO production in vitro (35) could be a secondary consequence of avoiding lactic acid accumulation in DC culture. Interestingly, Ag uptake, MHC class I presentation and costimulatory molecule (CD40 and CD86) expression on DC can be increased by acidosis/extracellular acid (54), via acid-sensing ion channels (ASICs) (55). Thus, acidity and lactate accumulation may be independent variables on DC maturation. Although lactic acid buildup due to excessive DC density is unlikely to be a major consideration in vivo, tumor-generated lactic acid may serve this purpose (Figure 2) (27, 56, 57). Lactate export by cells is passive, mediated by monocarboxylate transporters (MCTs). A high extracellular lactate concentration in the TME could prevent its export from glycolytic DC, leading to lactate accumulation. It is also worth considering whether lactic acid buildup will differentially affect DC that are resident within tumors compared to those at the tumor edge, and whether lymph node resident DC are vulnerable to lactic acid prior to lymph node invasion by metastatic disease. Further investigations are necessary to establish a comprehensive understanding about how changes in glycolysis and OXPHOS influence activation and/or survival of different TADC subsets, whether DC maturation states are equivalently influenced by metabolic alterations, and whether diverse TLR and other PAMP stimuli have similar impact on DC metabolism.

LIPID UPTAKE AND METABOLISM IN TADC

While a switch to glycolytic metabolism is generally consistent with immune cell activation, fatty acid metabolism, and lipogenesis are thought to promote quiescence (17, 50). Several studies have now begun to illuminate a rather complex role of lipid, and lipid accumulation, in DC function, and how the presence or production of triglycerides (triacylglycerol, TAG) in the context of tumors may influence DC function.

As DC develop and mature, particularly after LPS stimulation, they take on a "lacy" appearance that is composed of an increased presence of fat and glycogen-containing lipid-body droplets (58). Notably, these high lipid DC (HL-DC) express higher levels of scavenger receptors including MARCO/MSR1, which may contribute to their accumulation of lipid (58). Aside from serving as a building block for many facets of DC biology, lipid can contribute to critical aspects of the ability of DC to perform their Ag processing and presentation functions. Cross-presentation of exogenous Ag on MHC class I molecules is highly dependent upon the presence of lipid bodies. Genetic inactivation of genes that regulate lipid-body assembly, or the use of diacylglycerol acyltransferase inhibitors that prevent TAG accumulation, abrogates the MHC class I cross-presenting capability of DC (59). Thus, lipid production and consumption play critical roles in DC biology.

LIPID-MEDIATED INHIBITION OF TADC FUNCTION

It is therefore of interest that elevated levels of lipid, particularly TAG, were observed first by Herber and colleagues in DC during tumor progression of lymphoma, colon, and breast cancer in preclinical mouse models and cancer patients (60). The observed increased lipid accumulation is primarily a consequence of increased lipid uptake via up-regulated scavenger receptor A (SRA/MSR1/CD204) (Figure 2). Remarkably, considering the data from Bourgneres et al. (59), the major functional defect in HL-DC was a reduced capacity of DC to cross-present Ag (60). Normalization of lipid levels by a pharmacological inhibitor of acetyl-CoA carboxylase-1 (ACC-1), an enzyme that plays a critical role in lipogenesis, restored functional activity of lipid-laden DC, and enabled them to become more potent when used in a cancer vaccine (60). There are several notable aspects of this study that are worthy of further consideration. First, as mentioned above, lipid in DC by itself is not necessarily a marker of dysfunction. Indeed, a recent study examined the immunogenic qualities of liver-derived DC containing high and low amounts of lipid. HL-DC were considerably more immunogenic than their low lipid counterparts across multiple measurements (61). Further, Hwang and colleagues have demonstrated that saturated fatty acids can activate TLR4, leading to the up-regulation of MHC and costimulatory molecules. In contrast, polyunsaturated fats such as DHA, counteract the ability of saturated fats to induce DC maturation (62). Thus, rather than the amount of lipid within a DC being detrimental to function, the process by which lipid is acquired, or synthesized, or the type of lipid (saturated versus unsaturated) may be influential on DC function.

MSR1 AND DC FUNCTION

MSR1 has been shown to act both as a lipid receptor and as an innate pattern recognition receptor (PRR) that regulates inflammatory responses. As the first receptor identified for modified lipoproteins, the role of MSR1 has been well explored in pathogenesis of vascular disease particularly atherosclerosis (63). Besides modified self macromolecules, a wide range of PAMPs have been identified as MSR1 ligands, including bacterial surface components (e.g., LPS) and nucleic acids (e.g., CpG DNA and double-strand RNA), apoptotic cells, and endogenous danger molecules (64). Notably, the first report about negative effects of MSR1 in DC activation and function during adaptive immunity was presented by Yi and colleagues (65), in which they demonstrated that MSR1 suppresses the ability of TLR4 stimulation to license DC to prime naive CD8 T cells, drive their expansion, and promote their cytotoxic functionality both in vitro and in vivo (65). In agreement with data from Herber et al. they showed that lack of MSR1 in hematopoietic cells promoted tumor-protective immunity in a B16-OVA mouse melanoma model. In this model, MSR1 suppressed TLR4-induced activation of the transcription factor NF-κB by directly inhibiting ubiquitination of TRAF-6 (Figure 2) (66). However, the restriction of NF-κB activity by MSR1 can be independent of its ligand-binding domain, implying a novel signaling-regulatory role of MSR1 that can be uncoupled from its conventional role in endocytosis, including lipid uptake. Accordingly, one can speculate that up-regulation of MSR1 can contribute to DC dysfunction in cancer by skewing at least two pathways: (1) accumulation of lipids (2) suppression of TLR signaling. With respect to the second point, inhibition of TLR signaling may alter the balance between lipolysis and lipogenesis in favor of lipid accumulation. The therapeutic relevance of MSR1 and lipid uptake is reinforced by studies showing that direct targeting of MSR1 promotes tumor immunity (67, 68). Further, recent studies by Lerret et al. showed that the ability of total body irradiation (TBI), in combination with adoptive transfer of tumor-specific CD8⁺ T cells, to control established breast tumors may be achieved by promoting activation and function in tumor-resident DC via down-regulating MSR1 and inhibition of lipid uptake (69, 70). However, the tumor-derived factors that up-regulate MSR1 are poorly characterized, and it is yet to be definitively shown that lipid is an immunoregulatory ligand for MSR1on DC.

MSR1-INDEPENDENT EFFECTS OF LIPID ON TADC

Although MSR1 engagement could account for poor DC function, additional influences of lipid on DC cannot be ruled out. Inhibition of ACC-1 resulted in normalization of lipid levels in TADC and was sufficient to restore functional activity in lipid-laden DC without changing expression of MHC and costimulatory molecules (60). This indicates that at least some accumulation of lipid in DC is due to *de novo* lipogenesis (**Figure 2**). Further, either the detrimental effects of lipid accumulation can be independent of MSR1 (as ACC-1 inhibition refunctionalizes TADC), or pathways released by ACC-1 inhibition can overcome MSR1-mediated inhibition. Evidence for the latter concept has been provide by Rehman et al. in a study demonstrating that ACC-1 inhibition enhances Ag capture (rather than Ag processing) by human DC (71). Confounding our understanding is that ACC-1 regulates the

production of malonyl CoA, which in turn inhibits the activity of Carnitine palmitoyltransferase Ia (Cpt1a) (Figure 1A). Cpt1a strongly suppresses glycolysis via the Randle cycle, and knockdown of Cpt1a has been shown to strongly promote glycolysis in T cells (72). Thus, it is unclear why the inhibition of ACC-1, which should reduce glycolysis, enhances DC function unless (1) the lipogenesis program activates pathways that are significantly deleterious to DC function; (2) sustained glycolysis is indeed detrimental to DC function (discussed above); or (3) the presence of lipid is the detrimental factor, by influencing the availability of pyruvate for glycolysis rather than OXPHOS (73). Pointedly, it is uncertain why the accumulation of lipid might be detrimental to DC function at the level of Ag processing and presentation, especially given the importance of lipid bodies in this process. However, it has been shown that ceramides, which due to their hydrophobicity could accumulate in fat droplets, abrogate the ability of DC to uptake and present Ag (74) and also promote tumor-induced DC apoptosis (75).

IN VITRO VERITAS?

While the emerging picture of how alterations in DC metabolism can influence the function of DC, several words of caution should be written. One noticeable aspect of the majority of the studies cited in this review is that analysis of the contribution of metabolic alterations to DC function has generally been performed on DC generated from bone marrow or PBMC. This is necessitated by the rarity of DC in tissues, and the low sensitivity of the assays that are currently available to characterize metabolic activity. Thus, it is possible to posit that some metabolism-associated alterations described in these studies could be dependent upon the culture conditions that generate or sustain DC, and extrapolation to in vivo DC, particular to intratumoral DC, is not yet merited. DC, particular those of murine origin, generated via culture exist in a semi-activated functional state (our unpublished data) that may lead to different metabolic choices, and be influenced by different stimuli, compared to truly immature DC. This point is particularly salient when we consider some of the reported discrepancies on the impact of limiting or promoting glycolysis by modulating mTOR activity. Further, much work has yet to be done in defining whether metabolic alterations actually promote discrete functions of DC, or whether metabolic switching is a response to alterations in the nutrients in the immediate environment of the DC (tissue; lymphatics; lymph nodes, for example). However, the capacity for TLR to induce metabolic changes in DC in the consistent nutrient environment provided by in vitro culture, suggests that metabolic changes are not entirely due to alterations in the available nutrients, but rather these metabolic changes directly impact/regulate the activation and survival of DC. The single-cell analytical luxuries provided by flow cytometry have yet to be translated to metabolism studies, limiting our ability to make direct assessment of in vivo DC metabolic changes. Unfortunately, until radiotracer incorporation, extracellular flux assays, and mass spectrometry can be applied to 1000s of cells, rather than 100,000s, we will be dependent upon the use of fluorochrome-labeled substrates such as the glucose-derivative 2-NBDG to guide our impression of the metabolic pathways being used by DC derived from different in vivo environments.

SUMMARY

The metabolic and biochemical regulation of DC activation, function, and survival are just the beginning to be elucidated. Further understanding of this process will likely improve the quality and efficacy of DC expanded *ex vivo* for cancer vaccines [note the varied influences of cytokines on vaccine efficacy (9, 76)], as cytokines are known to impact metabolism. Further, metabolic re-invigoration of DC may provide an avenue for enhancing DC function in the TME or in tumor-draining lymph nodes, allowing for increased Ag processing and presentation after the induction of tumor damage, or in association with inhibition of checkpoint blockade molecules. Finally, approaches that promote the availability of glucose, or limit lipid uptake, in the TME might well increase the ability of TADC to activate and contribute to the adaptive immune responses elicited against tumors.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

Research in Timothy N. J. Bullock's laboratory is funded by the Melanoma Research Alliance and 1R01CA166458-01A1. We would like to thank Dr. Kyle Hoehn and Lelisa Gemta for critiquing the manuscript and providing important comments.

REFERENCES

- Waithman J, Allan RS, Kosaka H, Azukizawa H, Shortman K, Lutz MB, et al. Skin-derived dendritic cells can mediate deletional tolerance of class I-restricted self-reactive T cells. *J Immunol* (2007) 179:4535–41.
- Appleman LJ, Boussiotis VA. T cell anergy and costimulation. Immunol Rev (2003) 192:161–80. doi:10.1034/j.1600-065X.2003.00009.x
- Randolph GJ, Angeli V, Swartz MA. Dendritic-cell trafficking to lymph nodes through lymphatic vessels. *Nat Rev Immunol* (2005) 5:617–28. doi:10.1038/ nri1670
- Alvarez D, Vollmann EH, von Andrian UH. Mechanisms and consequences of dendritic cell migration. *Immunity* (2008) 29:325–42. doi:10.1016/j.immuni. 2008.08.006
- 5. Bullock TN, Yagita H. Induction of CD70 on dendritic cells through CD40 or TLR stimulation contributes to the development of CD8+ T cell responses in the absence of CD4+ T cells. *J Immunol* (2005) **174**:710–7.
- Van Deusen KE, Rajapakse R, Bullock TN. CD70 expression by dendritic cells plays a critical role in the immunogenicity of CD40-independent, CD4+ T celldependent, licensed CD8+ T cell responses. *J Leukoc Biol* (2010) 87:477–85. doi:10.1189/jlb.0809535
- 7. Feau S, Garcia Z, Arens R, Yagita H, Borst J, Schoenberger SP. The CD4(+) T-cell help signal is transmitted from APC to CD8(+) T-cells via CD27-CD70 interactions. *Nat Commun* (2012) **3**:948. doi:10.1038/ncomms1948
- Hammer GE, Ma A. Molecular control of steady-state dendritic cell maturation and immune homeostasis. *Annu Rev Immunol* (2013) 31:743–91. doi:10.1146/annurev-immunol-020711-074929
- Palucka K, Banchereau J. Dendritic-cell-based therapeutic cancer vaccines. *Immunity* (2013) 39:38–48. doi:10.1016/j.immuni.2013.07.004
- Treilleux I, Blay JY, Bendriss-Vermare N, Ray-Coquard I, Bachelot T, Guastalla JP, et al. Dendritic cell infiltration and prognosis of early stage breast cancer. *Clin Cancer Res* (2004) 10:7466–74. doi:10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-04-0684
- Perrot I, Blanchard D, Freymond N, Isaac S, Guibert B, Pacheco Y, et al. Dendritic cells infiltrating human non-small cell lung cancer are blocked at immature stage. *J Immunol* (2007) **178**:2763–9.
- 12. Warburg O, Posener K, Negelein E. Ueber den Stoffwechsel der Tumoren. Biochem Zeitschr (1924) 152:319–44.
- Frezza C, Pollard PJ, Gottlieb E. Inborn and acquired metabolic defects in cancer. J Mol Med (Berl) (2011) 89:213–20. doi:10.1007/s00109-011-0728-4
- Porporato PE, Dhup S, Dadhich RK, Copetti T, Sonveaux P. Anticancer targets in the glycolytic metabolism of tumors: a comprehensive review. *Front Pharmacol* (2011) 2:49. doi:10.3389/fphar.2011.00049
- Frauwirth KA, Riley JL, Harris MH, Parry RV, Rathmell JC, Plas DR, et al. The CD28 signaling pathway regulates glucose metabolism. *Immunity* (2002) 16:769–77. doi:10.1016/S1074-7613(02)00323-0

- Palsson-McDermott EM, O'Neill LA. The Warburg effect then and now: from cancer to inflammatory diseases. *Bioessays* (2013) 35:965–73. doi:10.1002/bies. 201300084
- Pearce EL, Pearce EJ. Metabolic pathways in immune cell activation and quiescence. *Immunity* (2013) 38:633–43. doi:10.1016/j.immuni.2013.04.005
- Krawczyk CM, Holowka T, Sun J, Blagih J, Amiel E, DeBerardinis RJ, et al. Tolllike receptor-induced changes in glycolytic metabolism regulate dendritic cell activation. *Blood* (2010) 115:4742–9. doi:10.1182/blood-2009-10-249540
- Elliott MR, Chekeni FB, Trampont PC, Lazarowski ER, Kadl A, Walk SF, et al. Nucleotides released by apoptotic cells act as a find-me signal to promote phagocytic clearance. *Nature* (2009) 461:282–6. doi:10.1038/nature08296
- Binder RJ, Han DK, Srivastava PK. CD91: a receptor for heat shock protein gp96. Nat Immunol (2000) 1:151–5. doi:10.1038/77835
- 21. Vabulas RM, Wagner H, Schild H. Heat shock proteins as ligands of toll-like receptors. *Curr Top Microbiol Immunol* (2002) **270**:169–84.
- Park JS, Svetkauskaite D, He Q, Kim JY, Strassheim D, Ishizaka A, et al. Involvement of toll-like receptors 2 and 4 in cellular activation by high mobility group box 1 protein. *J Biol Chem* (2004) **279**:7370–7. doi:10.1074/jbc.M306793200
- Yang D, Chen Q, Yang H, Tracey KJ, Bustin M, Oppenheim JJ. High mobility group box-1 protein induces the migration and activation of human dendritic cells and acts as an alarmin. J Leukoc Biol (2007) 81:59–66. doi:10.1189/jlb. 0306180
- 24. Chiba S, Baghdadi M, Akiba H, Yoshiyama H, Kinoshita I, Dosaka-Akita H, et al. Tumor-infiltrating DCs suppress nucleic acid-mediated innate immune responses through interactions between the receptor TIM-3 and the alarmin HMGB1. *Nat Immunol* (2012) 13:832–42. doi:10.1038/ni.2376
- Idoyaga J, Moreno J, Bonifaz L. Tumor cells prevent mouse dendritic cell maturation induced by TLR ligands. *Cancer Immunol Immunother* (2007) 56:1237–50. doi:10.1007/s00262-006-0275-y
- Gelman AE, LaRosa DF, Zhang J, Walsh PT, Choi Y, Sunyer JO, et al. The adaptor molecule MyD88 activates PI-3 kinase signaling in CD4+ T cells and enables CpG oligodeoxynucleotide-mediated costimulation. *Immunity* (2006) 25:783–93. doi:10.1016/j.immuni.2006.08.023
- Levine AJ, Puzio-Kuter AM. The control of the metabolic switch in cancers by oncogenes and tumor suppressor genes. *Science* (2010) 330:1340–4. doi:10.1126/science.1193494
- Ran C, Liu H, Hitoshi Y, Israel MA. Proliferation-independent control of tumor glycolysis by PDGFR-mediated AKT activation. *Cancer Res* (2013) 73:1831–43. doi:10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-12-2460
- Engelman JA, Luo J, Cantley LC. The evolution of phosphatidylinositol 3kinases as regulators of growth and metabolism. *Nat Rev Genet* (2006) 7:606–19. doi:10.1038/nrg1879
- Jones RG, Thompson CB. Revving the engine: signal transduction fuels T cell activation. *Immunity* (2007) 27:173–8. doi:10.1016/j.immuni.2007.07.008
- Frauwirth KA, Thompson CB. Regulation of T lymphocyte metabolism. J Immunol (2004) 172:4661–5.
- 32. Amiel E, Everts B, Freitas TC, King IL, Curtis JD, Pearce EL, et al. Inhibition of mechanistic target of rapamycin promotes dendritic cell activation and enhances therapeutic autologous vaccination in mice. *J Immunol* (2012) 189:2151–8. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.1103741
- 33. Haidinger M, Poglitsch M, Geyeregger R, Kasturi S, Zeyda M, Zlabinger GJ, et al. A versatile role of mammalian target of rapamycin in human dendritic cell function and differentiation. *J Immunol* (2010) 185:3919–31. doi:10.4049/ jimmunol.1000296
- 34. Finlay DK, Rosenzweig E, Sinclair LV, Feijoo-Carnero C, Hukelmann JL, Rolf J, et al. PDK1 regulation of mTOR and hypoxia-inducible factor 1 integrate metabolism and migration of CD8+ T cells. J Exp Med (2012) 209:2441–53. doi:10.1084/jem.20112607
- Everts B, Amiel E, van der Windt GJ, Freitas TC, Chott R, Yarasheski KE, et al. Commitment to glycolysis sustains survival of NO-producing inflammatory dendritic cells. *Blood* (2012) 120:1422–31. doi:10.1182/blood-2012-03-419747
- 36. Lewis RS, Kolesnik TB, Kuang Z, D'Cruz AA, Blewitt ME, Masters SL, et al. TLR regulation of SPSB1 controls inducible nitric oxide synthase induction. *J Immunol* (2011) 187:3798–805. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.1002993
- Bolanos JP, Peuchen S, Heales SJ, Land JM, Clark JB. Nitric oxide-mediated inhibition of the mitochondrial respiratory chain in cultured astrocytes. *J Neurochem* (1994) 63:910–6. doi:10.1046/j.1471-4159.1994.63030910.x
- Garedew A, Moncada S. Retraction. Mitochondrial dysfunction and HIF1alpha stabilization in inflammation. J Cell Sci (2012) 125:3254. doi:10.1242/jcs.115949

- Cleeter MW, Cooper JM, Darley-Usmar VM, Moncada S, Schapira AH. Reversible inhibition of cytochrome c oxidase, the terminal enzyme of the mitochondrial respiratory chain, by nitric oxide. Implications for neurodegenerative diseases. *FEBS Lett* (1994) 345:50–4. doi:10.1016/0014-5793(94)00424-2
- Hardie DG. Roles of the AMP-activated/SNF1 protein kinase family in the response to cellular stress. *Biochem Soc Symp* (1999) 64:13–27.
- Hardie DG, Ross FA, Hawley SA. AMPK: a nutrient and energy sensor that maintains energy homeostasis. Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol (2012) 13:251–62. doi:10.1038/nrm3311
- 42. Tamas P, Macintyre A, Finlay D, Clarke R, Feijoo-Carnero C, Ashworth A, et al. LKB1 is essential for the proliferation of T-cell progenitors and mature peripheral T cells. *Eur J Immunol* (2010) **40**:242–53. doi:10.1002/eji.200939677
- Novitskiy SV, Ryzhov S, Zaynagetdinov R, Goldstein AE, Huang Y, Tikhomirov OY, et al. Adenosine receptors in regulation of dendritic cell differentiation and function. *Blood* (2008) 112:1822–31. doi:10.1182/blood-2008-02-136325
- 44. Challier J, Bruniquel D, Sewell AK, Laugel B. Adenosine and cAMP signalling skew human dendritic cell differentiation towards a tolerogenic phenotype with defective CD8(+) T-cell priming capacity. *Immunology* (2013) 138:402–10. doi:10.1111/imm.12053
- 45. Panther E, Durk T, Ferrari D, Di Virgilio F, Grimm M, Sorichter S, et al. AMP affects intracellular Ca2+ signaling, migration, cytokine secretion and T cell priming capacity of dendritic cells. *PLoS One* (2012) 7:e37560. doi:10.1371/ journal.pone.0037560
- 46. Miga AJ, Masters SR, Durell BG, Gonzalez M, Jenkins MK, Maliszewski C, et al. Dendritic cell longevity and T cell persistence is controlled by CD154-CD40 interactions. *Eur J Immunol* (2001) **31**:959–65. doi:10.1002/1521-4141(200103) 31:3<959::AID-IMMU959>3.0.CO;2-A
- Mackey MF, Wang Z, Eichelberg K, Germain RN. Distinct contributions of different CD40 TRAF binding sites to CD154-induced dendritic cell maturation and IL-12 secretion. *Eur J Immunol* (2003) 33:779–89. doi:10.1002/eji.200323729
- Kobayashi T, Walsh PT, Walsh MC, Speirs KM, Chiffoleau E, King CG, et al. TRAF6 is a critical factor for dendritic cell maturation and development. *Immunity* (2003) 19:353–63. doi:10.1016/S1074-7613(03)00230-9
- Elgueta R, Benson MJ, de Vries VC, Wasiuk A, Guo Y, Noelle RJ. Molecular mechanism and function of CD40/CD40L engagement in the immune system. *Immunol Rev* (2009) 229:152–72. doi:10.1111/j.1600-065X.2009.00782.x
- Pearce EL, Walsh MC, Cejas PJ, Harms GM, Shen H, Wang LS, et al. Enhancing CD8 T-cell memory by modulating fatty acid metabolism. *Nature* (2009) 460:103–7. doi:10.1038/nature08097
- Faubert B, Boily G, Izreig S, Griss T, Samborska B, Dong Z, et al. AMPK is a negative regulator of the Warburg effect and suppresses tumor growth in vivo. *Cell Metab* (2013) 17:113–24. doi:10.1016/j.cmet.2012.12.001
- Gottfried E, Kunz-Schughart LA, Ebner S, Mueller-Klieser W, Hoves S, Andreesen R, et al. Tumor-derived lactic acid modulates dendritic cell activation and antigen expression. *Blood* (2006) 107:2013–21. doi:10.1182/blood-2005-05-1795
- Nasi A, Fekete T, Krishnamurthy A, Snowden S, Rajnavolgyi E, Catrina AI, et al. Dendritic cell reprogramming by endogenously produced lactic acid. *J Immunol* (2013) 191:3090–9. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.1300772
- Vermeulen M, Giordano M, Trevani AS, Sedlik C, Gamberale R, Fernandez-Calotti P, et al. Acidosis improves uptake of antigens and MHC class I-restricted presentation by dendritic cells. *J Immunol* (2004) 172:3196–204.
- 55. Tong J, Wu WN, Kong X, Wu PF, Tian L, Du W, et al. Acid-sensing ion channels contribute to the effect of acidosis on the function of dendritic cells. *J Immunol* (2011) 186:3686–92. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.1001346
- Hirschhaeuser F, Sattler UG, Mueller-Klieser W. Lactate: a metabolic key player in cancer. *Cancer Res* (2011) 71:6921–5. doi:10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-11-1457
- Dhup S, Dadhich RK, Porporato PE, Sonveaux P. Multiple biological activities of lactic acid in cancer: influences on tumor growth, angiogenesis and metastasis. *Curr Pharm Des* (2012) 18:1319–30. doi:10.2174/138161212799504902
- Maroof A, English NR, Bedford PA, Gabrilovich DI, Knight SC. Developing dendritic cells become 'lacy' cells packed with fat and glycogen. *Immunology* (2005) 115:473–83. doi:10.1111/j.1365-2567.2005.02181.x
- Bougneres L, Helft J, Tiwari S, Vargas P, Chang BH, Chan L, et al. A role for lipid bodies in the cross-presentation of phagocytosed antigens by MHC class I in dendritic cells. *Immunity* (2009) 31:232–44. doi:10.1016/j.immuni. 2009.06.022
- Herber DL, Cao W, Nefedova Y, Novitskiy SV, Nagaraj S, Tyurin VA, et al. Lipid accumulation and dendritic cell dysfunction in cancer. *Nat Med* (2010) 16:880–6. doi:10.1038/nm.2172

- Ibrahim J, Nguyen AH, Rehman A, Ochi A, Jamal M, Graffeo CS, et al. Dendritic cell populations with different concentrations of lipid regulate tolerance and immunity in mouse and human liver. *Gastroenterology* (2012) 143:1061–72. doi:10.1053/j.gastro.2012.06.003
- 62. Weatherill AR, Lee JY, Zhao L, Lemay DG, Youn HS, Hwang DH. Saturated and polyunsaturated fatty acids reciprocally modulate dendritic cell functions mediated through TLR4. *J Immunol* (2005) **174**:5390–7.
- 63. Suzuki H, Kurihara Y, Takeya M, Kamada N, Kataoka M, Jishage K, et al. A role for macrophage scavenger receptors in atherosclerosis and susceptibility to infection. *Nature* (1997) **386**:292–6. doi:10.1038/386292a0
- Areschoug T, Gordon S. Scavenger receptors: role in innate immunity and microbial pathogenesis. *Cell Microbiol* (2009) 11:1160–9. doi:10.1111/j.1462-5822. 2009.01326.x
- 65. Yi H, Yu X, Gao P, Wang Y, Baek SH, Chen X, et al. Pattern recognition scavenger receptor SRA/CD204 down-regulates Toll-like receptor 4 signaling-dependent CD8 T-cell activation. *Blood* (2009) **113**:5819–28. doi:10.1182/blood-2008-11-190033
- 66. Yu X, Yi H, Guo C, Zuo D, Wang Y, Kim HL, et al. Pattern recognition scavenger receptor CD204 attenuates Toll-like receptor 4-induced NF-kappaB activation by directly inhibiting ubiquitination of tumor necrosis factor (TNF) receptorassociated factor 6. *J Biol Chem* (2011) 286:18795–806. doi:10.1074/jbc.M111. 224345
- 67. Yi H, Guo C, Yu X, Gao P, Qian J, Zuo D, et al. Targeting the immunoregulator SRA/CD204 potentiates specific dendritic cell vaccine-induced T-cell response and antitumor immunity. *Cancer Res* (2011) **71**:6611–20. doi:10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-11-1801
- 68. Guo C, Yi H, Yu X, Zuo D, Qian J, Yang G, et al. In situ vaccination with CD204 gene-silenced dendritic cell, not unmodified dendritic cell, enhances radiation therapy of prostate cancer. *Mol Cancer Ther* (2012) 11:2331–41. doi:10.1158/1535-7163.MCT-12-0164
- 69. Lerret NM, Rogozinska M, Jaramillo A, Marzo AL. Adoptive transfer of mammaglobin-A epitope specific CD8 T cells combined with a single low dose of total body irradiation eradicates breast tumors. *PLoS One* (2012) 7:e41240. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0041240
- Lerret NM, Marzo AL. Adoptive T-cell transfer combined with a single low dose of total body irradiation eradicates breast tumors. *Oncoimmunology* (2013) 2:e22731. doi:10.4161/onci.22731
- Rehman A, Hemmert KC, Ochi A, Jamal M, Henning JR, Barilla R, et al. Role of fatty-acid synthesis in dendritic cell generation and function. *J Immunol* (2013) 190:4640–9. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.1202312
- van der Windt GJ, Everts B, Chang CH, Curtis JD, Freitas TC, Amiel E, et al. Mitochondrial respiratory capacity is a critical regulator of CD8+ T cell memory development. *Immunity* (2012) 36:68–78. doi:10.1016/j.immuni.2011.12.007
- Sabbah HH, Stanley WC. Partial fatty acid oxidation inhibitors: a potentially new class of drugs for heart failure. *Eur J Heart Fail* (2002) 4:3–6. doi:10.1016/S1388-9842(01)00183-0
- 74. Sallusto F, Nicolo C, De Maria R, Corinti S, Testi R. Ceramide inhibits antigen uptake and presentation by dendritic cells. J Exp Med (1996) 184:2411–6. doi:10.1084/jem.184.6.2411
- 75. Kanto T, Kalinski P, Hunter OC, Lotze MT, Amoscato AA. Ceramide mediates tumor-induced dendritic cell apoptosis. *J Immunol* (2001) **167**:3773–84.
- Palucka K, Banchereau J. Cancer immunotherapy via dendritic cells. Nat Rev Cancer (2012) 12:265–77. doi:10.1038/nrc3258

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Received: 19 November 2013; accepted: 16 January 2014; published online: 30 January 2014.

Citation: Dong H and Bullock TNJ (2014) Metabolic influences that regulate dendritic cell function in tumors. Front. Immunol. 5:24. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2014.00024

This article was submitted to Tumor Immunity, a section of the journal Frontiers in Immunology.

Copyright © 2014 Dong and Bullock. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) or licensor are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.



Immature, semi-mature, and fully mature dendritic cells: toward a DC-cancer cells interface that augments anticancer immunity

Aleksandra M. Dudek[†], Shaun Martin[†], Abhishek D. Garg^{*} and Patrizia Agostinis^{*}

Laboratory of Cell Death Research and Therapy, Department of Cellular and Molecular Medicine, KU Leuven, Leuven, Belgium

Edited by:

Kristian Michael Hargadon, Hampden-Sydney College, USA

Reviewed by:

Nadege Bercovici, Centre national de la recherche scientifique, France Carlos Alfaro, Clínica Universidad de Navarra, Spain

*Correspondence:

Abhishek D. Garg and Patrizia Agostinis, Laboratory of Cell Death Research and Therapy, Department of Cellular and Molecular Medicine, KU Leuven, Campus Gasthuisberg O&N1, Herestraat 49, Box 802, Leuven B-3000, Belgium e-mail: abhishek.garg@ med.kuleuven.be; patricia.agostinis@med.kuleuven.be

[†]Aleksandra M. Dudek and Shaun Martin have contributed equally to this work.

Dendritic cells (DCs) are the sentinel antigen-presenting cells of the immune system; such that their productive interface with the dying cancer cells is crucial for proper communication of the "non-self" status of cancer cells to the adaptive immune system. Efficiency and the ultimate success of such a communication hinges upon the maturation status of the DCs, attained following their interaction with cancer cells. Immature DCs facilitate tolerance toward cancer cells (observed for many apoptotic inducers) while fully mature DCs can strongly promote anticancer immunity if they secrete the correct combinations of cytokines [observed when DCs interact with cancer cells undergoing immunogenic cell death (ICD)]. However, an intermediate population of DC maturation, called semi-mature DCs exists, which can potentiate either tolerogenicity or pro-tumorigenic responses (as happens in the case of certain chemotherapeutics and agents exerting ambivalent immune reactions). Specific combinations of DC phenotypic markers, DC-derived cytokines/chemokines, dying cancer cell-derived danger signals, and other less characterized entities (e.g., exosomes) can define the nature and evolution of the DC maturation state. In the present review, we discuss these different maturation states of DCs, how they might be attained and which anticancer agents or cell death modalities (e.g., tolerogenic cell death vs. ICD) may regulate these states.

Keywords: immunogenic cell death, phenotypic DC maturation, cytokine, antigen, cell death, cancer, immunosurveillance, chemotherapy

INTRODUCTION

It is conceptually established that the immune system can be distributed across two basic components, i.e., the innate immune system and the adaptive immune system (1, 2). The primary aim of innate immune cells is to provide a rapid non-specific response to any pathogen or foreign aggressors (possessing foreign antigens), wound, inflammatory insult, or newly initiated diseased cell (owning possible "non-self" antigens) (1, 2). On the other hand, the primary aim of adaptive immune cells is to provide a latent but highly specific response against foreign or "non-self" antigens and to generate an "immune memory" against these antigens to counter similar insults in the future more quickly (either cell interaction dependent or independent; the latter applying to antibody production) (3, 4). Together these two branches of the immune system are supposed to initiate acute inflammation ultimately culminating in its resolution and wound healing once they have taken care of the aggressor, insult, or diseased cell (5, 6). It is noteworthy that in terms of evolution, the conception of the innate immune system pre-dates that of the adaptive immune system (1). Most notable innate immune cells include macrophages, natural killer (NK) cells, dendritic cells (DCs), various myeloid lineage subsets, neutrophils, basophils, and eosinophils (1, 6); while the most notable adaptive immune cells include T and B lymphocytes (3, 5).

The initial reaction orchestrated by innate immune cells consists of capturing, as well as clearing up or destroying the source of injury, infection, or diseased cells, followed by wound healing and if required (in case of well discernable antigens) "priming" of the adaptive immune cells against antigens derived from the "nonself" diseased cells or pathogens (1, 2). This adaptive immune cell priming helps to initiate more specific responses, directed against the acquired antigens and leading to the eradication of the antigen source (3, 6). This in principle is also the basic theory behind anticancer immunity or anticancer immunosurveillance (7), where innate immune cells recognize the "non-self" tumor-associated antigens (TAAs) and prime adaptive immune cells (mainly T cells) against them. This leads to both: direct and indirect cancer killing,

Abbreviations: APC(s), antigen-presenting cell(s); CD, cluster of differentiation; DAMPs, damage-associated molecular patterns; DC(s), dendritic cell(s); DEX(s), dendritic cell-derived exosomes; ER, endoplasmic reticulum; GM-CSF, granulocyte macrophage colony stimulating factor; Hyp-PDT, hypericin-based photodynamic therapy; ICD, immunogenic cell death; iDC(s), immature dendritic cell(s); IFN, interferon; IKDCs, IFN-producing dendritic cells; IL, interleukin; imDEXs, immature dendritic cells derived exosome(s); LFA-1, leukocyte function-associated antigen-1; mDEXs, mature dendritic cells derived exosome(s); MDSC, myeloid derived suppressor cells; NK, natural killer cells; NKDCs, natural killer dendritic cells; NLRs, NOD-like receptors; TAM(s), tumor-associated molecular pattern(s); PRRs, pattern recognition receptors; TAA(s), tumor-associated antigen(s); TDE(s), tumor derived exosome(s); TGF, transforming growth factor; TIDCs, tumor-infiltrating dendritic cells; TLRs, toll-like receptors; TNF, tumor necrosis factor.

anticancer effector functions, production of anti-TAA antibodies and subsequent immunity capable of rejecting tumor cells possessing the corresponding TAAs (3, 8). In this complex interplay, one may appreciate that the step of "priming" adaptive immune cells by innate immune cells against TAAs represents a crucial milestone that is completely dependent on the antigen-presenting and antigen-sensing capabilities of innate immune cells (2). While most innate immune cells (professional presenters) and certain cells of epithelial lineage (non-professional presenters) are capable of presenting antigens to the adaptive immune cells (6) be it to varying degrees; yet the sentinel antigen-presenting cells (APCs) of the immune system are the DCs (2, 3, 9). DCs are the guardian APCs because they are both efficient at antigen-presenting and adaptive immune cell activation and also good at judging whether an entity possesses "self" or "non-self" antigens (2, 10, 11). The ability of DCs to present "non-self" TAAs properly to prime as well as to activate adaptive immune cells is an absolute pre-requisite for activation of potent anticancer immunity (2, 4).

In the present review we briefly discuss the basic biology of DC activation states that can make a difference between protumorigenic inflammation and anti-tumorigenic immunity. We will then discuss in more detail the ability of anticancer therapeutics to influence and modulate these activation states and the crucial impact of exosomal communication on DC-associated functions.

DENDRITIC CELLS AND THEIR ACTIVATION STATES: A BIRD'S EYE-VIEW

The molecular cell biology of DCs has evolved in a sophisticated manner to facilitate its APC functions (12). DCs in general possess a diverse repertoire of surface receptors (and intracellular receptors) that help them in environmental sensing and to carry out "at will" rapid innate immunity-related functions (2, 12). Such receptors include various scavenging or phagocytic receptors like CD91, integrins, CD36 (aiding in phagocytosis and clearance of target entities), surface pattern recognition receptors (PRRs) like toll-like receptors (TLRs), and intracellular PRRs like NOD-like receptors (NLRs) (10, 13, 14). DC-based PRRs help in detection (and subsequent DC stimulation) of danger signals like pathogen-associated molecular patterns (PAMPs) or damage-associated molecular patterns (DAMPs) (4, 5, 8).

Dendritic cells are also special in terms of their antigen processing machinery. Classically (for non-professional APCs and normal cells, as applicable), antigens derived from intracellular sources are presented by the major histocompatibility complex (MHC) class I presentation system while extracellular antigens (captured via phagocytosis or pinocytosis) are preferentially processed for MHC class II presentation (15). In specialized APCs like DCs however, the extracellular antigens can also gain access to the MHC class I presentation system (mediated by following events: phagophore \rightarrow endosome \rightarrow antigen escape from endosome \rightarrow antigen processing by cytosolic proteasome for MHC I presentation) while intracellular antigen fragments can also be found on the MHC class II molecules (mediated by autophagy) a phenomenon termed as "cross-presentation" (15). This unique ability to cross-present antigens to adaptive immune cells is also behind DCs' significant role as APCs. Depending on the

environment they encounter (e.g., normal "self" antigen rich environment or abnormal "non-self" antigen rich environment); DCs can exhibit various states and accordingly perform different functions (2, 12). Based on a highly stark difference between antigenic environments, i.e., host "self" antigens vs. foreign or pathogenassociated "non-self" antigens, DCs can exist in two main states, i.e., steady state immature dendritic cells (iDCs) and fully mature DCs (9, 12). The distinction between immature and mature DCs is partly based on changes occurring on two crucial levels, i.e., phenotypic level and functional level (2, 14, 16). Phenotypic maturation is attained when DCs up-regulate surface maturation ligands such as CD80, CD83, and CD86 along with the MHC class II molecule (9). DCs stimulated on the functional level exhibit the ability to secrete cytokines where the balance between inflammatory or immunostimulatory cytokines (e.g., IL-12, IL-6, IL-1β) and immunosuppressive cytokines (e.g., IL-10, TGF-B) is decided by the "environmental context" (2, 9, 17).

In normal, healthy conditions, DCs exist in an immature or steady state such that in this scenario their main aim is to maintain immune tolerance by impeding adaptive immune cells from attacking host cells that possess "self" antigens (4, 10, 12). However, if DCs encounter "non-self" entities in the periphery, they opsonize them, process their antigens for cross-presentation, migrate to the lymph nodes, and prime naïve T cells for these antigen (9). DCs provide the T cells with the information about whether an antigen is present and whether it poses a threat - a foundational mechanism for the subsequent T cell effector function (18). A single DC can contact as many as ~5000 T cells per hour (19). Steady state iDCs exhibit continuous endocytic activity (20) and hence continuously present "self" antigens to T cells. However in this case the T cells are not polarized toward an effector state but are rather polarized to facilitate tolerance or immunosuppression (12, 21). Such immunotolerance is actively induced and maintained through a mixture of immune checkpoint pathways and complete lack of stimulatory signals provided by the DCs (22). Immune checkpoint pathways are a plethora of inhibitory cascades that are crucial for maintaining self-tolerance and modulation of duration/amplitude of immune response, e.g., DC-based presentation of ligands like cytotoxic T-lymphocyteassociated antigen 4 (CTLA4) and programed cell death protein 1 (PD1) to T cells causing T cell anergy or differentiation of immunosuppressive T cells (22). Such immunosuppressive T cells (e.g., regulatory T cells, T_{regs}) further help in spreading tolerance toward "self-antigens" (6, 9). On the other hand, when DCs encounter pathogens or entities possessing PAMPs (detected in part through PRRs) they switch to a mature state exhibiting strong phenotypic and functional stimulation. At this stage, the DCs leave the function of phagocytic scavenging and assume the more sophisticated APC-function (12). Subsequently, DCs carefully co-ordinate their proteolytic processes in the cytosol (e.g., proteasomes), endosomes-lysosomes (e.g., lysosomal hydrolases), and the endoplasmic reticulum (ER) to degrade "non-self" entityderived proteins in order to yield suitable antigenic peptides that are subsequently loaded on MHC class I and II molecules for presentation to T and B cells (9, 12). The simultaneous presence of phenotypic maturation ligands, suitable cytokines, other functional immunostimulatory factors, and appropriate antigen-MHC

complexes helps activate an effector profile in interacting T cells thereby polarizing them for antigen-specific elimination of the "non-self" entity (9). Here, antigen-MHC complexes are the main stimulatory signals (signal 1, detected by the T cells through a complex of T-cell receptors/TCRs-CD3) followed by phenotypic maturation ligands. These ligands help in providing proper costimulation by binding corresponding receptors on T cells (signal 2, detected by T cell receptors like CD28, CD40L) in the presence of cytokines or factors eliciting immunostimulation and the effector T cell phenotype (signal 3, detected by respective cytokine cognate receptors) (9). The presence of these three signals is absolutely essential for effective T cell stimulation by APCs (like DCs) and their polarization toward anti-pathogenic effector function (6, 9). It is noteworthy though, that apart from these three signals, DCs might modulate T cell function via other immunomodulatory signals (e.g., exosomes, discussed later); however because they still lack a well-characterized functional status, they cannot yet be ascribed as bona fide T cell modulatory signals. Last but not least, it is important to consider that maturation of DCs is primarily crucial for the activation and differentiation of naïve T cells (10). Pre-existing cytotoxic T cells and memory T cell populations are not very strongly dependent on fully mature DCs for their effector functions (2, 3, 12).

TUMOR-INFILTRATING DCs: AN OVERVIEW

The Dichotomy of DC maturation states is mainly applicable to an environment where a very obvious distinction exists between "self" and "non-self" antigens. The continuum of DC activation states is much more complex when it comes to cancer as most cancerous tissues or tumors are very similar in terms of antigenic make-up to that of normal cells (5, 12). This is attributable to the fact that most antigens are either shared with nearby normal tissues (e.g., differentiation antigens) or with spatiotemporally distinct yet normal tissue [e.g., oncofetal antigens or cancer-testis antigens (7)]. This leads to a strong conflict regarding what represents "self" or "non-self" - which is further revived by the struggle between the tolerance-encouraging tendency of DCs and their propensity to prime T cells for tumor rejection (4, 9, 12). This situation is further exacerbated by the capacity of cancer cells to interfere with normal DC function (23) via immunosuppressive cytokines or other signals like those conveyed by exosomes (discussed later).

In a well-established tumor, cancer cells actively suppress steady state DCs (also called tumor-infiltrating DCs or tumor-infiltrating dendritic cell, TIDCs) and keep them in the favorable immature state (**Figure 1**) (23–25). Such immature TIDCs tend to exhibit dysfunction in antigen-presenting capabilities, suppressed endocytic activity, abnormal motility, and various other immature characteristics – a point that has been demonstrated in a number of studies analyzing various solid tumors and tumor-draining lymph nodes (26). Such induction of immature state in TIDCs by the tumor is not surprising considering that mature DC's density in tumors inversely correlates with tumor pathologic grade/stage and positively correlates with improved prognosis (26). Moreover, tumors may also actively induce apoptosis in TIDCs through certain gangliosides (e.g., GM3, GD3), glycoproteins (e.g., MUC2 mucins), and neuropeptides (25, 26).

The tumor-induced iDCs state is mainly characterized by: (1) the total absence or presence of negligible amounts of well-processed cancer antigens (compromised signal 1 generation), (2) absence or trivial amounts of phenotypic maturation ligands or co-stimulatory molecules (ablation of signal 2), and (3) either complete absence or minor presence of functional stimulus/immunostimulatory cytokines like IL-12 (ablated signal 3) (7, 10, 12, 23). Such iDCs can also be encouraged by the presence of non-immunogenic cancer cell death [e.g., tolerogenic apoptosis (11)] (5, 21, 27, 28). The presence of signal 1, i.e., processed cancer antigens is very crucial for potent elicitation of anti-tumor immunity since signals 2/3 have less meaning in absence of signal 1 (18). Thus not surprisingly, one of the immunoevasive strategies employed by cancer cells is the down-regulation or loss of antigens (7, 21). DCs prime the T cells for cancer antigens in the lymph nodes in three phases (18, 29); Phase I lasts for \sim 8 h and consists of transient interactions between T cells and antigen-presenting DCs (29). T cells integrate antigenic stimulus from several such Phase I encounters until the cumulative signal triggers the onset of Phase II. During Phase II (which lasts ~ 12 h), T cells form a long-lasting stable contact with a single DC (29). It is noteworthy that this Phase I-II transition depends strongly on the concentration of antigenic peptide-MHC complex per DC (18, 30); higher the concentration, the faster the tendency of T cells to exit Phase I and reach Phase II (18). Thus, lower cancer cell-associated antigen levels make it harder for the T cells to exit Phase I - a scenario that leads to unstable DC-T cell interactions and compromised T cell immunity. Phase II is also the stage where T cells are further activated via DC-based signals 2 and 3 (29). Thereafter, the T cells enter Phase III during which they proliferate vigorously and return to short interactions with the DCs (29). It should be note however, that the above "three phase theory" of DC-T cell interactions is mainly based on in vitro/ex vivo studies using either model antigens or high concentrations of TAA-based immunodominant peptides. Such studies need to be extended to settings of DC-T cell interactions within a tumor-bearing host, in near future.

Apart from antigen down-regulation, cancer cells also directly induce an immature TIDC state through secretion of immunosuppressive factors like IL-10, VEGF, TGF-β, and PGE₂ (7, 25, 27); thereby further compromising stable DC-T cell interactions. The strategies and mechanisms employed by cancer cells for inducing DC-based tolerogenicity have been discussed in details in certain recent reviews (5-7,21). Curiously it has been demonstrated recurrently that in an ex vivo set-up, certain iDCs may exhibit the ability to directly lyse transformed cells or tumor cells in vitro (31). Such iDCs have been termed as natural killer dendritic cells (NKDCs) or more recently interferon-producing killer DCs (IKDCs) (Figure 1) (31) and have been found to exert anticancer cytotoxic activity in vitro in both rodent and human set-ups (31-33). While, IKDCs may simply reflect the prevalent ex vivo DC heterogeneity yet their characterization raises the need to better study DC features in tumor-bearing hosts.

DC ACTIVATION STATES IN TUMOR IMMUNOSURVEILLANCE AND ANTI-TUMOR IMMUNITY

As per the theory of cancer immunoediting, during tumor development the equilibrium between growing tumor and immune



immunogenic live cancer cells, and certain therapy-induced non-immunogenic cell death routines can induce a "limbo" state in DCs called semi-mature DCs which are not fully mature and can be either devoid of phenotypic maturation ligands or functional maturation depending on the context. Both immature system shifts: at the beginning the immune system is capable of recognizing and exterminating cancer cells ("elimination" phase). Later, cancer "immunoediting" and release of cancer-

phase). Later, cancer "immunoediting" and release of cancerderived immunosuppressive factors, results in the establishment of an equilibrium between cancer cells that are still susceptible to immunoeradication and immunoevasive ones that are resistant to anticancer immunity ("equilibrium" phase). Finally, as the immune evasion process progresses, the tumor escapes immune cell control ("escape" phase) (34). It has been long proposed that anticancer therapies should kill the cancer cells in a manner that helps activate the DCs to prime the adaptive immune system for anticancer activity (28, 35), however the experimental as well as clinical translation of this idea have unfortunately not been straightforward. This may result from the fact that most anticancer therapies tend to induce either non-immunogenic or very low-immunogenic cancer cell death (11) and thereby disallowing sufficient DC stimulation (5, 21, 27, 35) and keeps the DCs in an immature state (**Figure 1**). For instance, certain therapeutic modalities (e.g., chemotherapeutics like cisplatin) or certain anti-tumor vaccine-preparation methodologies (i.e., freeze/thawing, discussed later in Anticancer Therapy Differently Shapes the DC-Dying Cancer Cells Interface), may actually cause a sub-optimal activation of DCs (24, 28, 36, 37) thereby giving rise to a somewhat "limbo" state which can be termed as "semi-mature"

the T cells toward a state where they have a "helper" behavior accompanied

by IL-17 production (Th17). The role of Th17 cells in cancer immunity and

progression is enigmatic and controversial.

Anticancer therapy	<i>ln vitro</i> Phagocytosis	Phenotypic maturation of DCs	Release of cytokines by DCs	Stimulation of T cells	<i>In vivo</i> mice experiments	Clinical data
Hypericin-PDT	Garg et al. (37)	Garg et al. (37)	IL-1β (37); IL-6 (50); NO (37); IL-12p70 (Dudek et al., unpublished data)	Proliferation (50) IFNγ release (50)	<i>In vitro</i> -treated cancer cells induce antitumor immunity in mice vaccination experiment (37)	
UVB	Kotera et al. (52)		IL-12 (52)		Pulsed-DC induce antitumor immunity in mice vaccination experiment (52)	
Cyclophospha mide (MAFO for <i>in vitro</i> experiments)		Kotera et al. (52), Schiavoni et al. (53)	IL-1β, IL-6, IL-12 (52, 53)			Increased infiltration of phenotypically mature DCs (53, 55–57); increased DCs trafficking to the lymph node (53)
γ Irradiation	Prasad et al. (58), Kim et al. (59)	Prasad et al. (58), Kim et al. (59)	IL-6 (59)	IFNγ release (62)	After tumor irradiation: (1) increase in tumor-infiltrating mature DCs (60, 61); (2) increase in IFNγ production by spleen cells (63)	
Doxorubicin	Obeid et al. (132)	Ghiringhelli et al. (134)	IL-1β (134)	Proliferation and IFNγ release (133)		
Oxaliplatin		Ghiringhelli et al. (134)	IL-12p70 (134)	Proliferation and IFNγ release (134)		
Bortezomib		Cirone et al. (135)		IFNγ release (135)	Pulsed-DC induce antitumor in mice vaccination experiment (136)	
CMQ and colchicines		Wen et al. (137)		Proliferation (137)		
Oncolytic viruses		Moehler et al. (73), Donnelly et al. (138)		Release of IFNγ (138), release of TNF and IL-6 (73)		

Table 1 | Inducers of cancer cell death that stimulates full maturation of DCs.

DCs (**Figure 1**) (10). It is noteworthy though that in certain instances, semi-mature DCs generated *ex vivo* and injected back into the host (in this case rhesus macaque) might become mature spontaneously during migration before reaching the lymph nodes (38). However, whether this situation applies to therapeutic DC vaccines is an enigmatic question since the above mentioned study was not done within the context of anticancer DC vaccines. In various anticancer therapy settings (see **Table 1** and Anticancer Therapy Differently Shapes the DC-Dying Cancer Cells Interface), DCs interacting with dead/dying cancer cells (treated with non-immunogenic or low-immunogenic anticancer agents) may attain a semi-mature state, i.e., while they may present low/medium

levels of cancer antigens yet they either lack co-stimulatory signals (e.g., CD86) or suitable immunostimulatory cytokines (e.g., IL-12) (6, 10, 28, 37). Thus, semi-mature DCs, unlike iDCs, exhibit the ability to sustain at least two (i.e., signal 1 and either one of the other two signals) of the three signals required for successful/optimal T cell activation (23) but unfortunately not all three at once and thereby they exhibit an unstable interface with T cells that leads to active ablation of anticancer immunity (10) and clonal T cell anergy (20, 23, 24). Semi-mature DCs might exhibit inconsistency in either up-regulation of phenotypic maturation ligands or in secretion of cytokines (**Figure 1**). Semi-mature DCs with disparity in phenotypic maturation are able to secrete one or more of the few assorted cytokines like IL-10, IL-6, IL-1 β , and tumor necrosis factor (TNF), but do so to a highly variable degree (in terms of amount and simultaneous presence of these cytokines together) (23, 28, 37). It is also noteworthy that certain well-established tumors composed of immunogenic cancer cells (e.g., melanoma) may also encourage formation of *de novo* semi-mature TIDCs rather than immature TIDCs due to the particular tumor microenvironment they can create (39). Together iDCs and semi-mature DCs tend to encourage T cell anergy or T cell exhaustion (9, 10), tolerogenicity toward the cancer cell (9, 31), and even active pro-tumorigenic activity (e.g., semi-mature DC-derived IL-6 may act as a growth factor for tumors expressing IL-6R-gp130 cognate receptors and/or IL-10 can act as a general immunosuppressor) (17, 40, 41).

Recently however, it was described that certain therapeutic modalities [e.g., mitoxantrone/doxorubicin, hypericin-based photodynamic therapy (Hyp-PDT), and radiotherapy] cause cancer cells to undergo immunogenic cell death (ICD) (28, 35, 40, 42). ICD tends to be highly immunostimulatory because it emits a spatiotemporally defined combination of potent DAMPs that act as danger signals important for DCs stimulation (35). DCs detect such danger signals through a combination of receptors including TLRs, CD91, and purinergic receptors (21, 35). ICD may also ablate the canonical strategies harnessed by cancer cells to encourage the formation of immature or semi-mature DC states (21, 27). Beyond ICD, some anticancer therapeutics (e.g., antimitotic chemotherapeutics like docetaxel) may induce a general augmentation of immunogenicity that is not as strong as ICD but is still effective in a context-dependent fashion (43). Cancer cells undergoing ICD, or exhibiting therapy-induced (minor to medium increase of) immunogenicity, encourage the formation of fully mature DCs (Figure 1) (10, 27, 28, 35, 37, 43). In general, fully mature DCs exhibit all three conventional T cell stimulatory signals, thereby enabling elicitation of potent anticancer immunity (12, 13, 31). However, based on the pattern of only a few cytokines fully mature DCs might be subdivided, i.e., immunogenic DCs and inflammatory DCs (Figure 1) (35, 44). The fully mature immunogenic DCs are supposed to exhibit the least or total absence of immunosuppressive cytokines like IL-10 (17, 21, 40). Most known ICD inducers result in the formation of general fully mature DCs, with a context-dependent absence or reduced abundance of immunosuppressive cytokines (e.g., IL-10) (28, 37, 45). On the other hand, the presence of high IL-23 cytokine expression might be a marker of inflammatory DCs (44). Indeed, IL-23 may encourage T cells to exhibit the Th17 polarization (T helper cells/Th cells producing IL-17 cytokine) (44). It is noteworthy that the role of inflammatory DC-Th17 arc in cancer progression is still enigmatic with evidence supporting both anti-tumorigenic and pro-tumorigenic roles for this interaction, depending on the context (44, 46, 47). Thus for anticancer immunity, the functional role of fully mature inflammatory DCs needs to be treated with caution until further research ascertains their exact behavior.

It is noteworthy though, that the distinctions between different DC maturation or activation states made on the basis of phenotypic maturation markers or cytokine patterns are primarily based on *ex vivo* or *in vitro* experiments. This is because simultaneous analysis of various surface-associated and soluble DC activation markers is relatively easy ex vivo or in vitro. However, in vivo or *in situ*, such a simultaneous detection is nearly impossible. In vivo or in situ, mostly only the phenotypic maturation status of tumor-infiltrating DCs is detected via immunofluorescence staining (e.g., CD11b+CD11c+CD86^{high}MHC-II^{high}DCs). While an analysis of cytokines associated with the tumor is possible via RT-PCR, proteomics-approaches, or antibody arrays, yet there is no way of characterizing which cytokines are secreted exclusively by the TIDCs. In future, lineage-tracing of the DCs in tumors or high enumeration staining/detection strategies for TIDCs might make it possible to simultaneously detect the phenotypic and functional markers of DCs in vivo or in situ however until that point, the above mentioned distinctions can be treated as operational definitions. Furthermore, it would be necessary to further characterize the additional states of semi-mature or fully mature DCs relevant for cancer treatment, not only in vitro/ex vivo but also in vivo/in situ.

ANTICANCER THERAPY DIFFERENTLY SHAPES THE DC-DYING CANCER CELLS INTERFACE

Anticancer therapies are capable of modulating DC states, either directly or *via* dying cancer cells. We believe that efficient anticancer treatment should be able to re-establish the recognition of cancer cells by the immune system, as well as "revive" the dominance of the immune system in this cross-talk. Therefore, the maturation status of DCs, as the predominant APCs, after anticancer therapy or after co-incubation with *in vitro*-treated dying cancer cells is an attractive marker of stimulation of an immune response, specifically relying on effector CD4⁺/CD8⁺ T cells (characterized by increased T cell proliferation/infiltration and secretion of IFN γ) (48).

Interestingly, cancer cells treated with most anticancer therapies either induce full DC maturation (a very small fraction of therapies) or do not stimulate the DCs at all (i.e., immature or tolerogenic DC formation, induced by a large fraction of therapies). There are however, a limited number of therapies that can also induce the formation of semi-mature DCs. In the next section, the formation of fully mature and semi-mature DCs will be discussed within the context of anticancer therapies.

FULLY MATURE DCs

Only few therapies have been reported to have the capability to induce cancer cell death that stimulates complete DC maturation. By complete maturation of DCs we understand induction of both, phenotypic markers and production of immune-stimulating cytokines. Instead, to the best of our knowledge, in most *in vitro* studies, the analysis of cytokine expression profile is either incomplete, or the most important cytokines, e.g., IL-12p70, IL-10, are not included. Only such fully mature DCs are able to stimulate T cells, hereby increasing their proliferation and secretion of IFN γ , which are often considered to be surrogate indicators of a productive immune stimulation. Thereby, in the absence of information on the full pattern of cytokines released by DCs', an increase in T cell stimulation can be considered a strong indicator of a full maturation state of the aforementioned DCs. Moreover, full maturation of DCs can be assumed with high probability if anticancer immunity in syngenic mice vaccination models (e.g., B16 cells in C57Bl/6 mice, MCA205 cells in C57Bl/6 mice, CT26 cells in BALB/c mice, 67NR cells in BALB/c mice) is achieved when dying cancer cells, following chemotherapy in vitro, are administered (either in a prophylactic or curative set-up). An anticancer treatment that can induce productive maturation of dying cancer cell-loaded DCs, at least in vitro, is Hyp-PDT (37, 49-51). Already for some time it is known that Hyp-PDT-treated cancer cells induce both phenotypic and functional maturation of DCs (37, 50) and that in mice vaccination experiments, the dying cancer cells stimulate anticancer immunity preventing growth of transplantable tumors (37). Recently this data was re-confirmed and extended further (50). DCs interacting with Hyp-PDT-treated cancer cells exhibit a fully mature immunogenic phenotype functionally characterized by significant secretion of immunostimulatory factors like IL-1β, IL-6, nitric oxide, and the absence of the immunosuppressive cytokine, IL-10 (50). Moreover, Hyp-PDTtreated cancer cells elicit secretion of IL-12p70 by loaded DCs (Dudek et al., unpublished data).

Other treatments for which the detailed immune-effects have been described include UVB irradiation, cyclophosphamide, and γ-irradiation. There is evidence that UVB-induced dying cancer cells are phagocytosed by DCs, leading to an increase in IL-12 production (52). Furthermore, DCs pulsed with UVB-treated B16F10 cells, induce anti-tumor immunity in mice and prevent growth of transplantable tumors (52). As cyclophosphamide requires hepatic activation, for *in vitro* investigations its analog, MAFO, is used. Exposure of DCs to mafosfamide (MAFO)-treated cancer cells causes phenotypic maturation of DCs and their functional stimulation, characterized by the release of various cytokines (IL-1β, IL-6, IL-12) (53, 54). Moreover, the treatment with cyclophosphamide of tumor-bearing mice results in increased tumor bed infiltration by phenotypically mature DCs (53, 55-57), as well as increased trafficking of DCs from the tumor bed to the draining lymph nodes (53). Furthermore, cyclophosphamide, when given to patients at metronomic doses, combines direct effects on immune cells, like: limitation of Treg cells population and expansion of DCs in peripheral blood (56, 57) with potent stimulation of a DC response. Also y-irradiated murine melanoma cells are efficiently phagocytosed by DCs, resulting in their phenotypic maturation (58, 59). Despite the fact that neither IL-12p70 nor TNF are secreted by loaded DCs, these cells release another pro-inflammatory cytokine, IL-6 (59). These observations prove the triggering of a functional, however not optimal (lack of IL-12p70), maturation of loaded DCs. The positive immunostimulatory effects of γ -irradiation were shown by increased tumor-infiltrating active DCs following local high-dose radiotherapy (60, 61). Furthermore, when human monocyte-derived DCs and irradiated melanoma cells were coincubated with T cells, T cell-derived IFNy secretion increased (62), an observation that was also substantiated in vivo when irradiation of established B16F10 tumors resulted in an increase of IFNy-producing spleen cells (63).

However, as mentioned, complete analysis of the effects of drug-treated cancer cells on DC maturation is limited to only few therapies. Other treatments are simply hypothesized or speculated to induce fully mature DC phenotype, but these are claims supported by only indirect data. **Table 1**, recapitulates the available information about DCs-stimulating capacities of anticancer treatments.

Besides these conventional/experimental anticancer treatments, it is also emerging that targeted therapies can induce cancer cell death, capable of affecting DC maturation status. One such therapy is Vemurafenib (PLX4032), the inhibitor of mutated BRAF^{V600E} kinase, which is predominantly used in patients with melanoma. Incubation of cancer cells (that harbor BRAF^{V600E} mutation) with iDCs followed by poly(I:C) stimulation of the latter, down-regulated the release of TNF and IL-12 (IL-12 being crucial for effective functional maturation of DCs) (64). However, when cancer cells were pre-treated with Vemurafenib, the release of TNF and IL-12 from poly(I:C) matured DCs was re-established to a level obtained in the control (matured DCs without cancer cells) (64). Moreover Vemurafenib is known to increase TAA levels, such as MART1 and gp100 (65).

In conclusion, in future it is necessary to find and test more ICD inducers in order to better understand the diversity that fully mature DCs may exhibit in terms of activation characteristics. Also, it would be necessary to (re-)analyze certain existing therapies for their potential to cause DC maturation irrespective of whether they induced ICD.

SEMI-MATURE DCs

In the literature, evidence indicates that some anticancer treatments may cause "moderate" stimulation of an immune response. Under such circumstances the immune system activating signals are not strong enough or not persistent enough to establish a stable anticancer immunity. For DCs, this means that these APCs lack either the required phenotypic maturation markers and thereby are not capable to efficiently interact with T cells, or the required signature cytokine pattern released from loaded DCs and ultimately resulting in "immunocompromising" actions. Tolerogenicity induced by semi-mature DCs is connected with release of immunosuppressive cytokines like IL-10, TGF- β (66), plasma membrane expression of programed cell death ligands, like PD-L1 or PD-L2 (67), and with stimulation of T_{regs} expansion (67).

Phenotypically mature DCs

A good example of a treatment that induces phenotypic maturation of DCs, independent of the immunostimulating profile of cytokines is bevacizumab. This epidermal growth factor receptor (EGFR)-blocking antibody, which blocks angiogenesis, only induced phenotypic maturation of DCs upon their co-incubation with treated cancer cells (68). Nevertheless it should be highlighted that, on the one hand, addition of bevacizumab to co-cultures resulted in increased IL-6, but decreased IL-12 release (68). Moreover, it was shown that bevacizumab-treatment of patients with metastatic colorectal cancer increased total lymphocyte number (69) and had the potential to increase extravasation of T cells into the tumor bed, previously observed for the therapeutic paradigm of anti-EGFR antibody combined with adoptively transferred T cells in mice models (70).

Furthermore, cetuxinib, another EGFR-blocking antibody that prevents signaling from growth factors, shows similar results. Despite the fact that colon cancer cells treated *in vitro* with cetuxinib were phagocytosed by iDC (71) and induced the up-regulation of maturation markers (72), there is no investigation, till now, of the cytokines required for characterization of maturation status of these DCs. Thus this treatment should not be incorporated into the group of therapies that induce "full mature DCs" – as of now. Nevertheless, cetuxinib treatment has other features that demonstrate its positive effect on the immune system: its capacity to stimulate NK cell mediated antibody-dependent cellular cytotoxicity and complement-dependent cytotoxicity, are well documented (72).

Finally sunitinib (an inhibitor of receptor tyrosine kinase)treated melanoma cells enhanced the maturation status of DCs (measured by the percentage of CD86⁺ cells). However no investigation of DC-secreted cytokines has been performed. In spite of this, one can be relatively positive about its immunoinhibitory effects, as cytotoxic T lymphocytes (CTLs) incubated with these loaded DCs did not increase their secretion of IL-6 (73).

Thus, while in some cases, certain therapeutic treated cancer cells induce formation of semi-mature DCs, yet for others the indications in this direction are either mixed or poorly studied. More analysis is required on the cytokine levels to ascertain whether such therapeutics are able to cause formation of semi-mature DCs or not. Last but not least, it is also necessary to analyze further the direct effects of anticancer treatments on DCs maturation (in set-ups where these therapies are not intended to directly affect the DCs) – an aspect that has received the least attention in studies addressing DC-based immunity.

DC-BASED CANCER IMMUNOTHERAPY

Most of the clinically used anticancer therapies if systemically administered strongly affect not only cancer cells but as well the cells from tumor microenvironment, systemic hematopoietic cells, and rapidly dividing bone marrow cells. Despite the fact that recently platinum-based drugs, at clinically applicable concentrations, have been shown to enhance cytokine-induced DC maturation in vitro (74), vast majority of the effects on the non-cancer cells are of negative nature (i.e., prevention of differentiation of new immune cells from progenitor bone marrow cells and lymphopenia or leukopenia). These actions reduce the number of immune cells capable of sensing the danger and immune-stimulating signals released by dying cancer cells thereby compromising anticancer immunity. To evade this effect, a DCbased immunotherapy approach can be employed in a couple of ways: (1) by directly targeting/stimulating the DCs in vivo so as to accentuate their anticancer phenotype or (2) by stimulating the DCs ex vivo and infusing them back into the host for carrying out anticancer effector function.

Starting from 1998 there were few trials testing the *in vivo* DCs' stimulation with synthetic peptides (75–77). Most of them however failed as they were unable to effectively stimulate CD4⁺ cellular responses (75, 78, 79) and stimulation of Th2 type cytokines (80, 81). Learning from the abovementioned studies, Walter *et al.* showed that patients pre-treated with single-dose cyclophosphamide as well as vaccinated with TAAs peptides and granulocyte macrophage colony stimulating factor (GM-CSF), showed clinical responses in Phase I and II trials (82). To further improve the peptide/protein anticancer vaccines the idea of combining TLR agonist administration with the vaccines emerged. The idea was taken up by GlaxoSmithKline that invented AS15 adjuvant that combines TLR4 and TLR9 agonists (83). Patients with MAGE-A3⁺ melanoma administered with MAGE-A3 peptide in combination with AS15 in Phase II trial (NCT00086866 and NCT00290355) showed clinical activity (84). The study is being followed up by a Phase III trial.

An alternative, to direct in vivo DCs' stimulation is, isolation of DCs' precursors from the patient (through leukapheresis) and maturation/stimulation of these precursors ex vivo followed by allogeneic injection of these fully mature DCs back into the patient. Nowadays there are various ways applied to generate cancer cellsspecific DCs: the stimulation can be done with specific TAAs (full length or short peptides), tumor lysates (freeze-thawed or acid eluted), electroporation/transfection of DCs with total cancer cell-mRNA, creating DC-cancer cell fusions, or with tumor derived exosomes (TDEs) (as discussed below). Alternatively DCs can also be genetically manipulated to express specific TAAs. Moreover as the stimulation is performed ex vivo there is a possibility to additionally co-stimulate with cytokine "cocktails" to assure their strong maturation. For example in 2010 a Provenge treatment strategy on similar lines got approved by FDA for therapy of patients with castration-resistant prostate cancer (85). The treatment consists of ex vivo stimulation of DCs with PA2024 that is a fusion protein of prostatic acid phosphatizes (TAA present in 95% of this type of tumor) and GM-CSF. The Phase III clinical trial revealed increased overall survival of patients treated with Provenge in comparison to placebo (86, 87).

Currently, there are many Phase I, II, and III clinical trials that test the effect of different anticancer DC vaccination strategies on various cancer types. The running/finalized clinical trials were recently thoroughly summarized by Galluzzi *et al.* thus we refer readers interested in this topic to "Trial Watch" publication (88).

EXOSOMES; AS LONG DISTANCE MESSENGERS, MODULATORS, OR SUPPRESSORS OF DC-ASSOCIATED ANTICANCER IMMUNITY?

Phenotypic maturation and functional stimulation are wellestablished markers of DC maturation as well as the ability of DCs to "prime" anticancer immune responses (9). Modulation of these two relevant DC-associated biological parameters by cancer cells (on the levels of TAAs, DAMPs, or danger signals and cytokines/chemokines) is considered to make the difference between immature, semi-mature, and mature DCs (2, 7, 35, 40), as discussed above. However, depending on the anticancer therapy under consideration, DC markers and cancer cellbased modulators sometime fail to completely account for the observed failure of or reduction in anticancer immunity (89). Thereby these may point toward other DC or cancer cell-based autocrine or paracrine modulators of immunity which are capable of transmitting signals (21).

One vehicle type capable of long distant transport of cellular material are the endosome-derived nano-vesicles, known as exosomes (90). These vesicles are derived by inward budding of the multi-vesicular body membrane and have been implicated in cell-cell communication (91). Historically, exosomes were classified as a simple mechanism for the removal of unwanted cellular material (92, 93), yet more recently they have been implicated in the transmission of signals between cells, both locally and over long distances, effecting cells of different lineages, demonstrating the capacity to influence cellular signaling, and outcomes of stress responses (94–96). Where the physiological outcome depends on both the type of cell the exosome originates from and the type of stress the cell is exposed to, known to alter protein and lipid signatures in a context-dependent manner.

Certain cancer cells are known to exaggerate their generation of exosomes, demonstrating constitutive release, delivering tumor derived signals throughout the local tumor microenvironment and beyond within various body fluids (97, 98). These signals have been implicated in the transmission of pro-tumorigenic, angiogenic, and metastatic signals, as well as factors capable of stimulating/inhibiting immune responses (97, 99, 100). Here we will focus on the dynamic relationships that exist between the signals released or received between cancer cells and DCs and highlight key components that may sway the outcome in the context on anticancer immunity.

THE EFFECT OF CANCER-DERIVED EXOSOMES ON DENDRITIC CELLS

Antigen acquisition by DCs is an essential step in the induction of antigen-mediated immune responses. These antigens can be sequestered by DCs in the form of infectious agents, dying infected cells or in the case of tumors, by the engulfment of dying cells or exosomes that are secreted by living/stressed or dying cells. As the protein signature of an exosome is dependent on the cell of origin as well as their viability, TDEs are abundant in TAAs (Her2/Neu, MART1, TRP1/2, gp100) (101), antigen-presenting molecules (MHC class I, heat-shock proteins) (102), as well as varying tetraspanins (such as CD81) (103-105). These privileged carriers of antigens and immunostimulatory molecules exposed on exosomes have been shown to activate DCs (101). Research identified that exosomes could induce phenotypic and functional maturation of DCs, demonstrating enhanced cell surface expression of MHC-II, CD80, CD86, and CD40 as well as increased IL-12p70 production (106). For example, melanoma exosomes were shown to deliver MART1 tumor antigens to monocyte-derived DCs, allowing for successful cross-presentation (101). Moreover, in vivo assessment of TDEs capacity for immunomodulation demonstrated their potential to prevent autologous tumor development, in a CD4/CD8-dependent manner (107). TDE mediated DC maturation and antigen presentation (MHC-II and ICAM) propagates T cell stimulation, demonstrated by increased CD4⁺ and CD8⁺ T-cell proliferation, the induction of enhanced CTL based tumor cell lysis (108, 109) and the generation of Th1type memory (110). Moreover, exosomes derived from DC cells exposed to TAAs demonstrate 50-fold higher efficiency and 3fold higher T cell activation potential than non-TAA exposed controls (109).

Conversely, other studies have demonstrated the immunosuppressive nature of TDEs. Work into the role of TDEs highlighted their tumor suppressor potential (111), however the majority of data, till now, indicates a more potent immunosuppressive nature. For example, TDEs can prevent DC differentiation *in vitro*, in such a manner that a pool of CD14⁺ HLA-DR^{neg/low} cells was generated, culminating in the marked reduction of autologous T cell stimulation (112). Also, *in vivo* experiments demonstrated an accumulation of undifferentiated myeloid cells in the spleen of mice after TDEs administration, consequently resulting in the formation of a DC population that was incapable of maturation (99). Furthermore, this inhibition of DC maturation/differentiation was also observed in human monocytes, following exposure to TDEs (99). Moreover, TDEs have the potential to activate myeloid derived suppressor cells (MDSCs), hampering immune responses, in this case *via* T_{rees} (113).

The potential for TDE to influence an immune response has generated contrasting bodies of research. However these observations may both be true and simply a consequence of experimental design. For instance, time is an important issue for response outcome when the TDE interact with immune cells. Yu et al. investigating the effect of TDE on bone marrow derived myeloid precursors, described a significant reduction in DC differentiation, induced by treatment with GM-CSF, when the exposure occurred within 3 days (99). In contrast, Andre et al. showed that pulsing iDCs with TDE, after 5 days of GM-CSF treatment, resulted in an observed DC-mediated T cell response (101). Moreover, research into the effect of TDE, on induction of cytokine release from monocytes, demonstrated that a cacophony of pro-inflammatory cytokines (such as TNF, IL-6), as well as immunosuppressive factors (such as IL-8, IL-10, TGF- β) (114) were released. Importantly immunosuppression was predominantly mediated via TGF-β. The ability of TDE to induce IL-6 expression and/or release has been implicated in their inhibition of myeloid precursor differentiation, as well as accentuating the immunosuppressive capacity of MDSC, which were themselves activated by TDEs (99). Furthermore, research demonstrated enhanced exosomal HSP72, induced by IFNy stimulation of tumor cells, resulted in the upregulation of CD83 and potentiation of IL-12 production in DCs (115).

Alterations in cancer dendritic cell-derived exosome (DEX) expression of key immune-modulators have been shown to be evoked by both tumor microenvironmental stress as well as cellular stress induced by anticancer therapies, both traditional and targeted approaches (101-105). However, due to the vast number of cell types that excrete exosomes, little is known about the effect of therapy specifically on exosome-based host immune activation in clinical settings. However, research in vitro has demonstrated significant enrichment of TAAs as a consequence of therapy. Moreover, combination therapy with exosomes and DNA alkylating agents (such as cyclophosphamide) significantly potentiated cancer killing compared to single agent (117, 118). Fortunately, due to the biomarker potential of exosomes, progress into exosomal population isolation is allowing further investigations of the immunomodulatory and overall clinical potential of TDEs (116).

Importantly, the mode of antigen secretion can also alter the immunogenicity toward TAAs (119). Antigens loaded into nanovesicles were shown to incite a significantly stronger immune response, than when the same antigens were secreted freely. Therefore the manipulation of how antigens are presented to immune cells may be used to enhance the success of anti-tumor vaccinations (107). So, due to the contradictory effects of TDE on DC-induced immune responses, the concept of TDE as a targeted-cancer therapy was quickly surpassed by the use of safer and more focused DC-DEXs, loaded with TAAs (120, 121).

THE EFFECT OF DENDRITIC CELL-DERIVED EXOSOMES ON CANCER CELLS

The potential for endogenous DEXs to induce anticancer responses remains unclear. However, existing research has identified that DEXs express, on their surface, multiple TNF superfamily ligands (122). Through these ligands they can incite anticancer immunity directly *via* the induction of cancer cell apoptosis, as well as indirectly through the activation of NK cells (122, 123). Recent work shows that similar to DCs, DEXs contain TNF, FasL, and TRAIL. These ligands have the potential to trigger caspase activation and apoptosis in a tumor cell models (122). Moreover, DEXs can also activate NK cells and stimulate their IFN γ secretion, inciting immune responses (122, 123).

However, research over the past decade has highlighted more the use of engineered DEX as a feasible and successful route to activate anti-tumor modalities in vivo (123, 124), that has gone on to demonstrate success clinically (120). Interestingly, treatment with engineered DEXs has shown a stronger anticancer effect than the use of the DCs they are derived from to re-activate downstream immune responses. These observations may in part be explained by the immunosuppressive effect of the tumor microenvironment on DC phenotypic functionality (125). Zitvogel and colleagues demonstrated a perturbation in growth of mastocytoma and spontaneous mammary carcinoma tumors by day 10, following inoculation with DEXs, derived from bone marrow DC that were pulsed with acid eluted tumor antigens (107). Furthermore, by day 60 \sim 50% of mice treated with DEXs were diagnosed tumor free (107). Interestingly, when re-challenged, the mice demonstrated tumor rejection unless inoculated with a differing cancer type, implying long-lasting anti-tumor immunity stimulated by DEXs (107). Furthermore, Taieb et al. investigating the combination of DEXs with cyclophosphamide showed that DEXs were capable of boosting the immune response toward immunogenic cancers, showing synergistic tumoricidial potency toward pre-established tumors (118).

Elegant research into the potential of DEXs as anticancer modulators demonstrated that DEXs harvested from bone marrow derived DCs that had been stimulated by LPS treatment mature dendritic cells derived exosomes (mDEXs), compared to untreated immature dendritic cells derived exosomes (imDEXs), were significantly enriched in molecules (such as ICAM-1) capable of mediating T cell priming, enhanced T cell proliferation and the stimulation of naïve T cells to differentiate and produce cytokines (108). The research of Naslund and colleagues showed that DEX treatment induced T cell responses, yet in a B cell-dependent manner (126). This suggests that immunization with DEXs carrying only peptides for T cells would induce a sub-optimal response (126). Furthermore, protein-loaded rather than peptide-loaded DEXs showed greater T cell responses in vivo and a superior antitumor capacity (126). Interestingly, the induced T cell response requires the presence of B cells and mice deficient in complement activation and antigen shuttling by B cells had reduced DEXsinduced responses (126). Solidifying the dynamics of exosomal signaling in immune cell activation and anti-tumor immunity, DEXs secreted into the extracellular milieu during cognate T cell-DC interactions, are targeted and engulfed specifically by

T cells, via the leukocyte function-associated antigen-1 (LFA-1) receptor (127).

Moreover, findings from preliminary Phase I clinical trials for the use of DEXs as a treatment for stage IV melanoma and nonsmall cell lung cancer, demonstrated a restoration of NK cell activity in over 50% of patients (107, 120). This increase in NK cell activity was shown to stimulate their cell killing capacity in vitro (120). Therefore, their lipid composition, that itself possesses adjuvant qualities and exosome stability within the circulation (128-130), coupled with simultaneous expression of MHC class I and II molecules, as well as a plethora of co-stimulatory molecules (102, 131), may indicate the cocktail of requirements that deem DEXs capable to incite anti-tumor or pro-immunogenic effects. Furthermore, the reported lack of toxicity highlights DEX-based therapies as an interesting modality for cancer therapy (107, 120). Further to this, investigation on combination of DEX-targeted therapies with traditional therapeutics or other modern targeted approaches should be done to explore their potential to restore immune activity in the fight against cancer.

CONCLUDING REMARKS

The induction of an efficient anticancer immune response is thought to contribute to the success of anticancer treatments, by the establishment of a robust T cell mediated response capable of sustaining long-term control of cancer. Upon activation, DCs are crucial inducers of T cell immunity and are therefore at the frontline of immune-regulated responses. Hence, triggering proper maturation of DCs is an outstanding therapeutic objective as it may boost anti-tumor immunity and thwart cancer-induced immunosuppression. The discovery of different DCs sub-populations that exhibit wide functional plasticity has made the initial dichotomy between immature/tolerogenic and mature/immunogenic DCs, obsolete. However, in spite of a functional definition of these DCs phenotypes, which ranges from tolerogenic, partial/semi-mature to fully mature DCs, it still remains challenging to understand how, when, and to what extent this dynamic spectrum of DC activation drives tumorspecific tolerance or anti-tumor immunity, also in the context of anticancer therapy. In this respect, the existing (mostly immunosuppressive) or therapy-generated tumor microenvironments and the cross-talk between (dying) cancer cells and DCs, established through soluble (cytokines/chemokines) and vesicular (exosomes) mediators, are emerging as crucial determinants of DC maturation status and anticancer immune responses. Future preclinical research combined with clinical investigations, will disclose whether therapeutics inducing immunogenic cancer cell death, will meet the therapeutic objective of re-establishing the proper interface between dying cancer cells and DCs, promoting their fully mature/immunogenic status that is required to sustain anti-tumor immunity.

REFERENCES

- Janeway CA Jr, Medzhitov R. Innate immune recognition. Annu Rev Immunol (2002) 20:197–216. doi:10.1146/annurev.immunol.20.083001.084359
- Steinman RM, Idoyaga J. Features of the dendritic cell lineage. *Immunol Rev* (2010) 234:5–17. doi:10.1111/j.0105-2896.2009.00888.x

- Vesely MD, Kershaw MH, Schreiber RD, Smyth MJ. Natural innate and adaptive immunity to cancer. Annu Rev Immunol (2011) 29:235–71. doi:10.1146/ annurev-immunol-031210-101324
- 4. Matzinger P. The danger model: a renewed sense of self. *Science* (2002) **296**:301–5. doi:10.1126/science.1071059
- Martin SJ, Henry CM, Cullen SP. A perspective on mammalian caspases as positive and negative regulators of inflammation. *Mol Cell* (2012) 46:387–97. doi:10.1016/j.molcel.2012.04.026
- Green DR, Ferguson T, Zitvogel L, Kroemer G. Immunogenic and tolerogenic cell death. Nat Rev Immunol (2009) 9:353–63. doi:10.1038/nri2545
- Garg AD, Dudek AM, Agostinis P. Cancer immunogenicity, danger signals, and DAMPs: what, when, and how? *Biofactors* (2013) 39:355–67. doi:10.1002/biof. 1125
- Garg AD, Nowis D, Golab J, Vandenabeele P, Krysko DV, Agostinis P. Immunogenic cell death, DAMPs and anticancer therapeutics: an emerging amalgamation. *Biochim Biophys Acta* (2010) 1805:53–71. doi:10.1016/j.bbcan.2009.08. 003
- 9. Reis e Sousa C. Dendritic cells in a mature age. Nat Rev Immunol (2006) 6:476–83. doi:10.1038/nri1845
- Lutz MB, Schuler G. Immature, semi-mature and fully mature dendritic cells: which signals induce tolerance or immunity? *Trends Immunol* (2002) 23:445–9. doi:10.1016/S1471-4906(02)02281-0
- Garg AD, Martin S, Golab J, Agostinis P. Danger signalling during cancer cell death: origins, plasticity and regulation. *Cell Death Differ* (2013). doi:10.1038/cdd.2013.48
- Mellman I. Dendritic cells: master regulators of the immune response. Cancer Immunol Res (2013) 1:145. doi:10.1158/2326-6066.CIR-13-0102
- Simmons DP, Wearsch PA, Canaday DH, Meyerson HJ, Liu YC, Wang Y, et al. Type I IFN drives a distinctive dendritic cell maturation phenotype that allows continued class II MHC synthesis and antigen processing. *J Immunol* (2012) 188:3116–26. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.1101313
- 14. Reis e Sousa C. Toll-like receptors and dendritic cells: for whom the bug tolls. *Semin Immunol* (2004) **16**:27–34. doi:10.1016/j.smim.2003.10.004
- Romao S, Gannage M, Munz C. Checking the garbage bin for problems in the house, or how autophagy assists in antigen presentation to the immune system. *Semin Cancer Biol* (2013) 23:391–6. doi:10.1016/j.semcancer.2013.03.001
- Garg AD, Dudek AM, Agostinis P. Autophagy-dependent suppression of cancer immunogenicity and effector mechanisms of innate and adaptive immunity. *Oncoimmunology* (2013) 2:e26260. doi:10.4161/onci.26260
- Garg AD, Kaczmarek A, Krysko O, Vandenabeele P, Krysko DV, Agostinis P. ER stress-induced inflammation: does it aid or impede disease progression? *Trends Mol Med* (2012) 18:589–98. doi:10.1016/j.molmed.2012.06.010
- Henrickson SE, Perro M, Loughhead SM, Senman B, Stutte S, Quigley M, et al. Antigen availability determines CD8(+) T cell-dendritic cell interaction kinetics and memory fate decisions. *Immunity* (2013) 39:496–507. doi:10.1016/j.immuni.2013.08.034
- Miller MJ, Hejazi AS, Wei SH, Cahalan MD, Parker I. T cell repertoire scanning is promoted by dynamic dendritic cell behavior and random T cell motility in the lymph node. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (2004) 101:998–1003. doi:10.1073/pnas.0306407101
- Sallusto F, Cella M, Danieli C, Lanzavecchia A. Dendritic cells use macropinocytosis and the mannose receptor to concentrate macromolecules in the major histocompatibility complex class II compartment: downregulation by cytokines and bacterial products. *J Exp Med* (1995) 182:389–400. doi:10.1084/ jem.182.2.389
- Maes H, Rubio N, Garg AD, Agostinis P. Autophagy: shaping the tumor microenvironment and therapeutic response. *Trends Mol Med* (2013) 19:428–46. doi:10.1016/j.molmed.2013.04.005
- 22. Pardoll DM. The blockade of immune checkpoints in cancer immunotherapy. Nat Rev Cancer (2012) 12:252–64. doi:10.1038/nrc3239
- Engelhardt JJ, Boldajipour B, Beemiller P, Pandurangi P, Sorensen C, Werb Z, et al. Marginating dendritic cells of the tumor microenvironment cross-present tumor antigens and stably engage tumor-specific T cells. *Cancer Cell* (2012) 21:402–17. doi:10.1016/j.ccr.2012.01.008
- 24. Chiba S, Baghdadi M, Akiba H, Yoshiyama H, Kinoshita I, Dosaka-Akita H, et al. Tumor-infiltrating DCs suppress nucleic acid-mediated innate immune responses through interactions between the receptor TIM-3 and the alarmin HMGB1. *Nat Immunol* (2012) **13**:832–42. doi:10.1038/ni.2376

- Vicari AP, Caux C, Trinchieri G. Tumour escape from immune surveillance through dendritic cell inactivation. *Semin Cancer Biol* (2002) 12:33–42. doi:10.1006/scbi.2001.0400
- Ma Y, Shurin GV, Peiyuan Z, Shurin MR. Dendritic cells in the cancer microenvironment. J Cancer (2013) 4:36–44. doi:10.7150/jca.5046
- Krysko DV, Garg AD, Kaczmarek A, Krysko O, Agostinis P, Vandenabeele P. Immunogenic cell death and DAMPs in cancer therapy. *Nat Rev Cancer* (2012) 12:860–75. doi:10.1038/nrc3380
- Casares N, Pequignot MO, Tesniere A, Ghiringhelli F, Roux S, Chaput N, et al. Caspase-dependent immunogenicity of doxorubicin-induced tumor cell death. *J Exp Med* (2005) 202:1691–701. doi:10.1084/jem.20050915
- Mempel TR, Henrickson SE, Von Andrian UH. T-cell priming by dendritic cells in lymph nodes occurs in three distinct phases. *Nature* (2004) 427:154–9. doi:10.1038/nature02238
- 30. Henrickson SE, Mempel TR, Mazo IB, Liu B, Artyomov MN, Zheng H, et al. T cell sensing of antigen dose governs interactive behavior with dendritic cells and sets a threshold for T cell activation. *Nat Immunol* (2008) 9:282–91. doi:10.1038/ni1559
- Bonmort M, Dalod M, Mignot G, Ullrich E, Chaput N, Zitvogel L. Killer dendritic cells: IKDC and the others. *Curr Opin Immunol* (2008) 20:558–65. doi:10.1016/j.coi.2008.04.006
- 32. Lu G, Janjic BM, Janjic J, Whiteside TL, Storkus WJ, Vujanovic NL. Innate direct anticancer effector function of human immature dendritic cells. II. Role of TNF, lymphotoxin-alpha(1)beta(2), Fas ligand, and TNF-related apoptosisinducing ligand. J Immunol (2002) 168:1831–9.
- 33. Janjic BM, Lu G, Pimenov A, Whiteside TL, Storkus WJ, Vujanovic NL. Innate direct anticancer effector function of human immature dendritic cells. I. Involvement of an apoptosis-inducing pathway. J Immunol (2002) 168:1823–30.
- 34. Kim R, Emi M, Tanabe K. Cancer immunoediting from immune surveillance to immune escape. *Immunology* (2007) 121:1–14. doi:10.1111/j.1365-2567.2007. 02587.x
- Kroemer G, Galluzzi L, Kepp O, Zitvogel L. Immunogenic cell death in cancer therapy. Annu Rev Immunol (2013) 31:51–72. doi:10.1146/annurev-immunol-032712-100008
- Martins I, Kepp O, Schlemmer F, Adjemian S, Tailler M, Shen S, et al. Restoration of the immunogenicity of cisplatin-induced cancer cell death by endoplasmic reticulum stress. *Oncogene* (2011) 30:1147–58. doi:10.1038/onc. 2010.500
- Garg AD, Krysko DV, Verfaillie T, Kaczmarek A, Ferreira GB, Marysael T, et al. A novel pathway combining calreticulin exposure and ATP secretion in immunogenic cancer cell death. *EMBO J* (2012) **31**:1062–79. doi:10.1038/emboj.2011. 497
- Barratt-Boyes SM, Zimmer MI, Harshyne LA, Meyer EM, Watkins SC, Capuano S III, et al. Maturation and trafficking of monocyte-derived dendritic cells in monkeys: implications for dendritic cell-based vaccines. *J Immunol* (2000) 164:2487–95.
- Sapoznik S, Hammer O, Ortenberg R, Besser MJ, Ben-Moshe T, Schachter J, et al. Novel anti-melanoma immunotherapies: disarming tumor escape mechanisms. *Clin Dev Immunol* (2012) 2012:818214. doi:10.1155/2012/818214
- Dudek AM, Garg AD, Krysko DV, De Ruysscher D, Agostinis P. Inducers of immunogenic cancer cell death. *Cytokine Growth Factor Rev* (2013) 24:319–33. doi:10.1016/j.cytogfr.2013.01.005
- Grivennikov SI, Greten FR, Karin M. Immunity, inflammation, and cancer. Cell (2010) 140:883–99. doi:10.1016/j.cell.2010.01.025
- Garg AD, Krysko DV, Vandenabeele P, Agostinis P. The emergence of phox-ER stress induced immunogenic apoptosis. *Oncoimmunology* (2012) 1:786–8. doi:10.4161/onci.19750
- 43. Hodge JW, Garnett CT, Farsaci B, Palena C, Tsang KY, Ferrone S, et al. Chemotherapy-induced immunogenic modulation of tumor cells enhances killing by cytotoxic T lymphocytes and is distinct from immunogenic cell death. *Int J Cancer* (2013) 133:624–36. doi:10.1002/ijc.28070
- Segura E, Touzot M, Bohineust A, Cappuccio A, Chiocchia G, Hosmalin A, et al. Human inflammatory dendritic cells induce Th17 cell differentiation. *Immunity* (2013) 38:336–48. doi:10.1016/j.immuni.2012.10.018
- 45. Ma Y, Aymeric L, Locher C, Mattarollo SR, Delahaye NF, Pereira P, et al. Contribution of IL-17-producing gamma delta T cells to the efficacy of anticancer chemotherapy. J Exp Med (2011) 208:491–503. doi:10.1084/jem.20100269

- Martin F, Apetoh L, Ghiringhelli F. Controversies on the role of Th17 in cancer: a TGF-beta-dependent immunosuppressive activity? *Trends Mol Med* (2012) 18:742–9. doi:10.1016/j.molmed.2012.09.007
- Zou W, Restifo NP. T(H)17 cells in tumour immunity and immunotherapy. Nat Rev Immunol (2010) 10:248–56. doi:10.1038/nri2742
- Steinman RM, Mellman I. Immunotherapy: bewitched, bothered, and bewildered no more. *Science* (2004) 305:197–200. doi:10.1126/science.1099688
- Garg AD, Dudek AM, Agostinis P. Calreticulin surface exposure is abrogated in cells lacking, chaperone-mediated autophagy-essential gene, LAMP2A. *Cell Death Dis* (2013) 4:e826. doi:10.1038/cddis.2013.372
- Garg AD, Dudek AM, Ferreira GB, Verfaillie T, Vandenabeele P, Krysko DV, et al. ROS-induced autophagy in cancer cells assists in evasion from determinants of immunogenic cell death. *Autophagy* (2013) 9:1292–307. doi:10.4161/auto.25399
- Garg AD, Krysko DV, Vandenabeele P, Agostinis P. Hypericin-based photodynamic therapy induces surface exposure of damage-associated molecular patterns like HSP70 and calreticulin. *Cancer Immunol Immunother* (2012) 61:215–21. doi:10.1007/s00262-011-1184-2
- Kotera Y, Shimizu K, Mule JJ. Comparative analysis of necrotic and apoptotic tumor cells as a source of antigen(s) in dendritic cell-based immunization. *Cancer Res* (2001) 61:8105–9.
- 53. Schiavoni G, Sistigu A, Valentini M, Mattei F, Sestili P, Spadaro F, et al. Cyclophosphamide synergizes with type I interferons through systemic dendritic cell reactivation and induction of immunogenic tumor apoptosis. *Cancer Res* (2011) **71**:768–78. doi:10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-10-2788
- Nakahara T, Uchi H, Lesokhin AM, Avogadri F, Rizzuto GA, Hirschhorn-Cymerman D, et al. Cyclophosphamide enhances immunity by modulating the balance of dendritic cell subsets in lymphoid organs. *Blood* (2010) 115:4384–92. doi:10.1182/blood-2009-11-251231
- 55. Audia S, Nicolas A, Cathelin D, Larmonier N, Ferrand C, Foucher P, et al. Increase of CD4+ CD25+ regulatory T cells in the peripheral blood of patients with metastatic carcinoma: a phase I clinical trial using cyclophosphamide and immunotherapy to eliminate CD4+ CD25+ T lymphocytes. *Clin Exp Immunol* (2007) 150:523–30. doi:10.1111/j.1365-2249.2007.03521.x
- 56. Salem ML, Diaz-Montero CM, Al-Khami AA, El-Naggar SA, Naga O, Montero AJ, et al. Recovery from cyclophosphamide-induced lymphopenia results in expansion of immature dendritic cells which can mediate enhanced primeboost vaccination antitumor responses in vivo when stimulated with the TLR3 agonist poly(I:C). J Immunol (2009) 182:2030–40. doi:10.4049/jimmunol. 0801829
- 57. Salem ML, Kadima AN, El-Naggar SA, Rubinstein MP, Chen Y, Gillanders WE, et al. Defining the ability of cyclophosphamide preconditioning to enhance the antigen-specific CD8+ T-cell response to peptide vaccination: creation of a beneficial host microenvironment involving type I IFNs and myeloid cells. *J Immunother* (2007) **30**:40–53. doi:10.1097/01.cji.0000211311.28739.e3
- Prasad SJ, Farrand KJ, Matthews SA, Chang JH, McHugh RS, Ronchese F. Dendritic cells loaded with stressed tumor cells elicit long-lasting protective tumor immunity in mice depleted of CD4+CD25+ regulatory T cells. *J Immunol* (2005) 174:90–8.
- Kim SK, Yun CH, Han SH. Enhanced anti-cancer activity of human dendritic cells sensitized with gamma-irradiation-induced apoptotic colon cancer cells. *Cancer Lett* (2013) 335:278–88. doi:10.1016/j.canlet.2013.02.038
- Huang J, Wang Y, Guo J, Lu H, Lin X, Ma L, et al. Radiation-induced apoptosis along with local and systemic cytokine elaboration is associated with DC plus radiotherapy-mediated renal cell tumor regression. *Clin Immunol* (2007) 123:298–310. doi:10.1016/j.clim.2007.02.005
- Gupta A, Probst HC, Vuong V, Landshammer A, Muth S, Yagita H, et al. Radiotherapy promotes tumor-specific effector CD8+ T cells via dendritic cell activation. J Immunol (2012) 189:558–66. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.1200563
- 62. Strome SE, Voss S, Wilcox R, Wakefield TL, Tamada K, Flies D, et al. Strategies for antigen loading of dendritic cells to enhance the antitumor immune response. *Cancer Res* (2002) **62**:1884–9.
- Schaue D, Ratikan JA, Iwamoto KS, McBride WH. Maximizing tumor immunity with fractionated radiation. *Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys* (2012) 83:1306–10. doi:10.1016/j.ijrobp.2011.09.049
- 64. Ott PA, Henry T, Baranda SJ, Frleta D, Manches O, Bogunovic D, et al. Inhibition of both BRAF and MEK in BRAF(V600E) mutant melanoma restores compromised dendritic cell (DC) function while having differential direct

effects on DC properties. *Cancer Immunol Immunother* (2013) **62**:811–22. doi:10.1007/s00262-012-1389-z

- Boni A, Cogdill AP, Dang P, Udayakumar D, Njauw CN, Sloss CM, et al. Selective BRAFV600E inhibition enhances T-cell recognition of melanoma without affecting lymphocyte function. *Cancer Res* (2010) **70**:5213–9. doi:10.1158/ 0008-5472.CAN-10-0118
- Harden JL, Egilmez NK. Indoleamine 2,3-dioxygenase and dendritic cell tolerogenicity. *Immunol Invest* (2012) 41:738–64. doi:10.3109/08820139.2012. 676122
- 67. Rutella S, Danese S, Leone G. Tolerogenic dendritic cells: cytokine modulation comes of age. *Blood* (2006) **108**:1435–40. doi:10.1182/blood-2006-03-006403
- Yang DH, Park JS, Jin CJ, Kang HK, Nam JH, Rhee JH, et al. The dysfunction and abnormal signaling pathway of dendritic cells loaded by tumor antigen can be overcome by neutralizing VEGF in multiple myeloma. *Leuk Res* (2009) 33:665–70. doi:10.1016/j.leukres.2008.09.006
- Manzoni M, Rovati B, Ronzoni M, Loupakis F, Mariucci S, Ricci V, et al. Immunological effects of bevacizumab-based treatment in metastatic colorectal cancer. *Oncology* (2010) **79**:187–96. doi:10.1159/000320609
- Shrimali RK, Yu Z, Theoret MR, Chinnasamy D, Restifo NP, Rosenberg SA. Antiangiogenic agents can increase lymphocyte infiltration into tumor and enhance the effectiveness of adoptive immunotherapy of cancer. *Cancer Res* (2010) **70**:6171–80. doi:10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-10-0153
- 71. Correale P, Botta C, Cusi MG, Del Vecchio MT, De Santi MM, Gori Savellini G, et al. Cetuximab ± chemotherapy enhances dendritic cell-mediated phagocytosis of colon cancer cells and ignites a highly efficient colon cancer antigenspecific cytotoxic T-cell response in vitro. *Int J Cancer* (2012) **130**:1577–89. doi:10.1002/ijc.26181
- Vanneman M, Dranoff G. Combining immunotherapy and targeted therapies in cancer treatment. Nat Rev Cancer (2012) 12:237–51. doi:10.1038/nrc3237
- Moehler M, Sieben M, Roth S, Springsguth F, Leuchs B, Zeidler M, et al. Activation of the human immune system by chemotherapeutic or targeted agents combined with the oncolytic parvovirus H-1. *BMC Cancer* (2011) 11:464. doi:10.1186/1471-2407-11-464
- 74. Lesterhuis WJ, Punt CJ, Hato SV, Eleveld-Trancikova D, Jansen BJ, Nierkens S, et al. Platinum-based drugs disrupt STAT6-mediated suppression of immune responses against cancer in humans and mice. *J Clin Invest* (2011) 121:3100–8. doi:10.1172/JCI43656
- Rosenberg SA, Yang JC, Schwartzentruber DJ, Hwu P, Marincola FM, Topalian SL, et al. Immunologic and therapeutic evaluation of a synthetic peptide vaccine for the treatment of patients with metastatic melanoma. *Nat Med* (1998) 4:321–7. doi:10.1038/nm0398-321
- 76. Speiser DE, Baumgaertner P, Voelter V, Devevre E, Barbey C, Rufer N, et al. Unmodified self antigen triggers human CD8 T cells with stronger tumor reactivity than altered antigen. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (2008) 105:3849–54. doi:10.1073/pnas.0800080105
- 77. Quakkelaar ED, Melief CJ. Experience with synthetic vaccines for cancer and persistent virus infections in nonhuman primates and patients. *Adv Immunol* (2012) **114**:77–106. doi:10.1016/B978-0-12-396548-6.00004-4
- 78. Janssen EM, Droin NM, Lemmens EE, Pinkoski MJ, Bensinger SJ, Ehst BD, et al. CD4+ T-cell help controls CD8+ T-cell memory via TRAILmediated activation-induced cell death. *Nature* (2005) 434:88–93. doi:10.1038/ nature03337
- 79. Filipazzi P, Pilla L, Mariani L, Patuzzo R, Castelli C, Camisaschi C, et al. Limited induction of tumor cross-reactive T cells without a measurable clinical benefit in early melanoma patients vaccinated with human leukocyte antigen class I-modified peptides. *Clin Cancer Res* (2012) 18:6485–96. doi:10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-12-1516
- Leffers N, Lambeck AJ, Gooden MJ, Hoogeboom BN, Wolf R, Hamming IE, et al. Immunization with a P53 synthetic long peptide vaccine induces P53specific immune responses in ovarian cancer patients, a phase II trial. *Int J Cancer* (2009) 125:2104–13. doi:10.1002/ijc.24597
- 81. Speetjens FM, Kuppen PJ, Welters MJ, Essahsah F, Voet van den Brink AM, Lantrua MG, et al. Induction of p53-specific immunity by a p53 synthetic long peptide vaccine in patients treated for metastatic colorectal cancer. *Clin Cancer Res* (2009) 15:1086–95. doi:10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-08-2227
- Walter S, Weinschenk T, Stenzl A, Zdrojowy R, Pluzanska A, Szczylik C, et al. Multipeptide immune response to cancer vaccine IMA901 after single-dose

cyclophosphamide associates with longer patient survival. *Nat Med* (2012) 18:1254–61. doi:10.1038/nm.2883

- Palucka K, Banchereau J. Dendritic-cell-based therapeutic cancer vaccines. *Immunity* (2013) 39:38–48. doi:10.1016/j.immuni.2013.07.004
- 84. Kruit WH, Suciu S, Dreno B, Mortier L, Robert C, Chiarion-Sileni V, et al. Selection of immunostimulant AS15 for active immunization with MAGE-A3 protein: results of a randomized phase II study of the European Organisation for Research and Treatment of Cancer Melanoma Group in Metastatic Melanoma. *J Clin Oncol* (2013) **31**:2413–20. doi:10.1200/JCO.2012.43.7111
- Dubensky TW Jr, Reed SG. Adjuvants for cancer vaccines. Semin Immunol (2010) 22:155–61. doi:10.1016/j.smim.2010.04.007
- Ng L, Heck W, Lavsa S, Crowther D, Atkinson B, Xiao L, et al. The lack of predictors for rapid progression in prostate cancer patients receiving sipuleucel-T. *Cancers (Basel)* (2013) 5:511–8. doi:10.3390/cancers5020511
- Kantoff PW, Higano CS, Shore ND, Berger ER, Small EJ, Penson DF, et al. Sipuleucel-T immunotherapy for castration-resistant prostate cancer. *N Engl J Med* (2010) 363:411–22. doi:10.1056/NEJMoa1001294
- Galluzzi L, Senovilla L, Vacchelli E, Eggermont A, Fridman WH, Galon J, et al. Trial watch: dendritic cell-based interventions for cancer therapy. *Oncoimmunology* (2012) 1:1111–34. doi:10.4161/onci.21494
- Bugaut H, Bruchard M, Berger H, Derangere V, Odoul L, Euvrard R, et al. Bleomycin exerts ambivalent antitumor immune effect by triggering both immunogenic cell death and proliferation of regulatory T cells. *PLoS One* (2013) 8:e65181. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0065181
- Nieuwland R, Sturk A. Why do cells release vesicles? *Thromb Res* (2010) 125(Suppl 1):S49–51. doi:10.1016/j.thromres.2010.01.037
- Ludwig A-K, Giebel B. Exosomes: small vesicles participating in intercellular communication. *Int J Biochem Cell Biol* (2012) 44:11–5. doi:10.1016/j.biocel. 2011.10.005
- Harding C, Heuser J, Stahl P. Receptor-mediated endocytosis of transferrin and recycling of the transferrin receptor in rat reticulocytes. J Cell Biol (1983) 97:329–39. doi:10.1083/jcb.97.2.329
- Pan BT, Teng K, Wu C, Adam M, Johnstone RM. Electron microscopic evidence for externalization of the transferrin receptor in vesicular form in sheep reticulocytes. J Cell Biol (1985) 101:942–8. doi:10.1083/jcb.101.3.942
- 94. Ramakrishnaiah V, Thumann C, Fofana I, Habersetzer F, Pan Q, de Ruiter PE, et al. Exosome-mediated transmission of hepatitis C virus between human hepatoma Huh7.5 cells. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (2013) 110:13109–13. doi:10.1073/pnas.1221899110
- Admyre C, Johansson SM, Qazi KR, Filen JJ, Lahesmaa R, Norman M, et al. Exosomes with immune modulatory features are present in human breast milk. *J Immunol* (2007) 179:1969–78.
- Ma XJ, Dahiya S, Richardson E, Erlander M, Sgroi DC. Gene expression profiling of the tumor microenvironment during breast cancer progression. *Breast Cancer Res* (2009) 11:R7. doi:10.1186/bcr2222
- 97. van Doormaal FF, Kleinjan A, Di Nisio M, Buller HR, Nieuwland R. Cell-derived microvesicles and cancer. *Neth J Med* (2009) **67**:266–73.
- Lasser C, Alikhani VS, Ekstrom K, Eldh M, Paredes PT, Bossios A, et al. Human saliva, plasma and breast milk exosomes contain RNA: uptake by macrophages. *J Transl Med* (2011) 9:9. doi:10.1186/1479-5876-9-9
- 99. Yu S, Liu C, Su K, Wang J, Liu Y, Zhang L, et al. Tumor exosomes inhibit differentiation of bone marrow dendritic cells. *J Immunol* (2007) **178**:6867–75.
- 100. Ma B, Jiang H, Jia J, Di L, Song G, Yu J, et al. Murine bone marrow stromal cells pulsed with homologous tumor-derived exosomes inhibit proliferation of liver cancer cells. *Clin Transl Oncol* (2012) 14:764–73. doi:10.1007/s12094-012-0860-9
- 101. Andre F, Schartz NE, Movassagh M, Flament C, Pautier P, Morice P, et al. Malignant effusions and immunogenic tumour-derived exosomes. *Lancet* (2002) 360:295–305. doi:10.1016/S0140-6736(02)09552-1
- 102. Lynch S, Santos SG, Campbell EC, Nimmo AM, Botting C, Prescott A, et al. Novel MHC class I structures on exosomes. J Immunol (2009) 183:1884–91. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.0900798
- 103. Chiang CL, Kandalaft LE, Coukos G. Adjuvants for enhancing the immunogenicity of whole tumor cell vaccines. *Int Rev Immunol* (2011) **30**:150–82. doi:10.3109/08830185.2011.572210
- 104. Petersen SH, Odintsova E, Haigh TA, Rickinson AB, Taylor GS, Berditchevski F. The role of tetraspanin CD63 in antigen presentation via MHC class II. *Eur J Immunol* (2011) 41:2556–61. doi:10.1002/eji.201141438

- 105. Zumaquero E, Munoz P, Cobo M, Lucena G, Pavon EJ, Martin A, et al. Exosomes from human lymphoblastoid B cells express enzymatically active CD38 that is associated with signaling complexes containing CD81, Hsc-70 and Lyn. *Exp Cell Res* (2010) **316**:2692–706. doi:10.1016/j.yexcr.2010.05.032
- 106. Fan W, Tian XD, Huang E, Zhang JJ. Exosomes from CIITA-transfected CT26 cells enhance anti-tumor effects. *Asian Pac J Cancer Prev* (2013) 14:987–91. doi:10.7314/APJCP.2013.14.2.987
- 107. Zitvogel L, Regnault A, Lozier A, Wolfers J, Flament C, Tenza D, et al. Eradication of established murine tumors using a novel cell-free vaccine: dendritic cell-derived exosomes. *Nat Med* (1998) 4:594–600. doi:10.1038/nm0598-594
- 108. Segura E, Nicco C, Lombard B, Veron P, Raposo G, Batteux F, et al. ICAM-1 on exosomes from mature dendritic cells is critical for efficient naive T-cell priming. *Blood* (2005) **106**:216–23. doi:10.1182/blood-2005-01-0220
- 109. Segura E, Amigorena S, Thery C. Mature dendritic cells secrete exosomes with strong ability to induce antigen-specific effector immune responses. *Blood Cells Mol Dis* (2005) 35:89–93. doi:10.1016/j.bcmd.2005.05.003
- 110. Qazi KR, Gehrmann U, Domange Jordo E, Karlsson MC, Gabrielsson S. Antigen-loaded exosomes alone induce Th1-type memory through a B-celldependent mechanism. *Blood* (2009) 113:2673–83. doi:10.1182/blood-2008-04-153536
- 111. Gabriel K, Ingram A, Austin R, Kapoor A, Tang D, Majeed F, et al. Regulation of the tumor suppressor PTEN through exosomes: a diagnostic potential for prostate cancer. *PLoS One* (2013) 8:e70047. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0070047
- 112. Iero M, Valenti R, Huber V, Filipazzi P, Parmiani G, Fais S, et al. Tumour-released exosomes and their implications in cancer immunity. *Cell Death Differ* (2008) 15:80–8. doi:10.1038/sj.cdd.4402237
- 113. Chalmin F, Ladoire S, Mignot G, Vincent J, Bruchard M, Remy-Martin JP, et al. Membrane-associated Hsp72 from tumor-derived exosomes mediates STAT3dependent immunosuppressive function of mouse and human myeloidderived suppressor cells. J Clin Invest (2010) 120:457–71. doi:10.1172/JCI40483
- 114. Yang C, Robbins PD. Immunosuppressive exosomes: a new approach for treating arthritis. *Int J Rheumatol* (2012) 2012:573528. doi:10.1155/2012/573528
- 115. Gastpar R, Gehrmann M, Bausero MA, Asea A, Gross C, Schroeder JA, et al. Heat shock protein 70 surface-positive tumor exosomes stimulate migratory and cytolytic activity of natural killer cells. *Cancer Res* (2005) 65:5238–47. doi:10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-04-3804
- 116. Hosseini-Beheshti E, Pham S, Adomat H, Li N, Tomlinson Guns ES. Exosomes as biomarker enriched microvesicles: characterization of exosomal proteins derived from a panel of prostate cell lines with distinct AR phenotypes. *Mol Cell Proteomics* (2012) 11:863–85. doi:10.1074/mcp.M111.014845
- 117. Guo F, Chang CK, Fan HH, Nie XX, Ren YN, Liu YY, et al. Antitumour effects of exosomes in combination with cyclophosphamide and polyinosinic-polycytidylic acid. J Int Med Res (2008) 36:1342–53. doi:10.1177/ 147323000803600623
- 118. Taieb J, Chaput N, Schartz N, Roux S, Novault S, Menard C, et al. Chemoimmunotherapy of tumors: cyclophosphamide synergizes with exosome based vaccines. J Immunol (2006) 176:2722–9.
- 119. Gehrmann U, Hiltbrunner S, Georgoudaki AM, Karlsson MC, Naslund TI, Gabrielsson S. Synergistic induction of adaptive antitumor immunity by codelivery of antigen with alpha-galactosylceramide on exosomes. *Cancer Res* (2013) **73**:3865–76. doi:10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-12-3918
- Chaput N, Flament C, Viaud S, Taieb J, Roux S, Spatz A, et al. Dendritic cell derived-exosomes: biology and clinical implementations. *J Leukoc Biol* (2006) 80:471–8. doi:10.1189/jlb.0206094
- 121. Hao S, Bai O, Yuan J, Qureshi M, Xiang J. Dendritic cell-derived exosomes stimulate stronger CD8+ CTL responses and antitumor immunity than tumor cell-derived exosomes. *Cell Mol Immunol* (2006) 3:205–11.
- 122. Munich S, Sobo-Vujanovic A, Buchser WJ, Beer-Stolz D, Vujanovic NL. Dendritic cell exosomes directly kill tumor cells and activate natural killer cells via TNF superfamily ligands. *Oncoimmunology* (2012) 1:1074–83. doi:10.4161/ onci.20897
- 123. Viaud S, Terme M, Flament C, Taieb J, Andre F, Novault S, et al. Dendritic cell-derived exosomes promote natural killer cell activation and proliferation: a role for NKG2D ligands and IL-15Ralpha. *PLoS One* (2009) 4:e4942. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0004942
- 124. Zeelenberg IS, Ostrowski M, Krumeich S, Bobrie A, Jancic C, Boissonnas A, et al. Targeting tumor antigens to secreted membrane vesicles in vivo

induces efficient antitumor immune responses. *Cancer Res* (2008) **68**:1228–35. doi:10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-07-3163

- 125. Schneider T, Hoffmann H, Dienemann H, Schnabel PA, Enk AH, Ring S, et al. Non-small cell lung cancer induces an immunosuppressive phenotype of dendritic cells in tumor microenvironment by upregulating B7-H3. *J Thorac Oncol* (2011) **6**:1162–8. doi:10.1097/JTO.0b013e31821c421d
- 126. Naslund TI, Gehrmann U, Qazi KR, Karlsson MC, Gabrielsson S. Dendritic cell-derived exosomes need to activate both T and B cells to induce antitumor immunity. *J Immunol* (2013) **190**:2712–9. doi:10.4049/jimmunol. 1203082
- 127. Nolte-'t Hoen EN, Buschow SI, Anderton SM, Stoorvogel W, Wauben MH. Activated T cells recruit exosomes secreted by dendritic cells via LFA-1. *Blood* (2009) 113:1977–81. doi:10.1182/blood-2008-08-174094
- Subra C, Laulagnier K, Perret B, Record M. Exosome lipidomics unravels lipid sorting at the level of multivesicular bodies. *Biochimie* (2007) 89:205–12. doi:10.1016/j.biochi.2006.10.014
- 129. Perrin-Cocon L, Agaugue S, Coutant F, Saint-Mezard P, Guironnet-Paquet A, Nicolas JF, et al. Lysophosphatidylcholine is a natural adjuvant that initiates cellular immune responses. *Vaccine* (2006) 24:1254–63. doi:10.1016/j.vaccine. 2005.09.036
- 130. Sokolova V, Ludwig AK, Hornung S, Rotan O, Horn PA, Epple M, et al. Characterisation of exosomes derived from human cells by nanoparticle tracking analysis and scanning electron microscopy. *Colloids Surf B Biointerfaces* (2011) 87:146–50. doi:10.1016/j.colsurfb.2011.05.013
- 131. Admyre C, Grunewald J, Thyberg J, Gripenback S, Tornling G, Eklund A, et al. Exosomes with major histocompatibility complex class II and co-stimulatory molecules are present in human BAL fluid. *Eur Respir J* (2003) 22:578–83. doi:10.1183/09031936.03.00041703
- 132. Obeid M, Tesniere A, Ghiringhelli F, Fimia GM, Apetoh L, Perfettini JL, et al. Calreticulin exposure dictates the immunogenicity of cancer cell death. *Nat Med* (2007) 13:54–61. doi:10.1038/nm1523
- 133. Zheng J, Liu Q, Yang J, Ren Q, Cao W, Yu Z, et al. Co-culture of apoptotic breast cancer cells with immature dendritic cells: a novel approach for DCbased vaccination in breast cancer. *Braz J Med Biol Res* (2012) 45:510–5. doi:10.1590/S0100-879X2012007500061

- 134. Ghiringhelli F, Apetoh L, Tesniere A, Aymeric L, Ma Y, Ortiz C, et al. Activation of the NLRP3 inflammasome in dendritic cells induces IL-1beta-dependent adaptive immunity against tumors. *Nat Med* (2009) 15:1170–8. doi:10.1038/nm.2028
- 135. Cirone M, Di Renzo L, Lotti LV, Conte V, Trivedi P, Santarelli R, et al. Primary effusion lymphoma cell death induced by bortezomib and AG 490 activates dendritic cells through CD91. *PLoS One* (2012) 7:e31732. doi:10.1371/journal. pone.0031732
- Demaria S, Santori FR, Ng B, Liebes L, Formenti SC, Vukmanovic S. Select forms of tumor cell apoptosis induce dendritic cell maturation. *J Leukoc Biol* (2005) 77:361–8. doi:10.1189/jlb.0804478
- 137. Wen CC, Chen HM, Chen SS, Huang LT, Chang WT, Wei WC, et al. Specific microtubule-depolymerizing agents augment efficacy of dendritic cell-based cancer vaccines. J Biomed Sci (2011) 18:44. doi:10.1186/1423-0127-18-44
- Donnelly OG, Errington-Mais F, Steele L, Hadac E, Jennings V, Scott K, et al. Measles virus causes immunogenic cell death in human melanoma. *Gene Ther* (2013) 20(1):7–15. doi:10.1038/gt.2011.205

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Received: 30 October 2013; accepted: 23 November 2013; published online: 11 December 2013.

Citation: Dudek AM, Martin S, Garg AD and Agostinis P (2013) Immature, semimature, and fully mature dendritic cells: toward a DC-cancer cells interface that augments anticancer immunity. Front. Immunol. **4**:438. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2013.00438 This article was submitted to Tumor Immunity, a section of the journal Frontiers in Immunology.

Copyright © 2013 Dudek, Martin, Garg and Agostinis. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) or licensor are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.



Impact of MAPK pathway activation in BRAF^{V600} melanoma on T cell and dendritic cell function

Patrick A. Ott¹ and Nina Bhardwaj²*

¹ Dana Farber Cancer Institute, Harvard Medical School, Boston, MA, USA

² Tisch Cancer Institute, Mount Sinai School of Medicine, New York, NY, USA

Edited by:

Timothy Bullock, University of Virginia, USA

Reviewed by:

Franca Ronchese, Malaghan Institute of Medical Research, New Zealand Pedro Berraondo, Centro Para la Investigación Médica Aplicada, Spain

*Correspondence:

Nina Bhardwaj, Division of Hematology and Oncology, Hess Center for Science and Medicine, Tisch Cancer Institute, Mount Sinai School of Medicine, 1470 Madison Avenue Room 116, New York, NY 10029, USA

e-mail: nina.bhardwaj@mssm.edu

Constitutive upregulation of the MAPK pathway by a BRAF^{V600} mutation occurs in about half of melanomas. This leads to increased oncogenic properties such as tumor cell invasion, metastatic potential, and resistance to apoptosis. Blockade of the MAPK pathway with highly specific kinase inhibitors induces unprecedented tumor response rates in patients with advanced BRAF^{V600} mutant melanoma. Immune checkpoint blockade with monoclonal antibodies targeting cytotoxic T-lymphocyte antigen 4 and programed death-1/PD-L1 has also demonstrated striking anti-tumor activity in patients with advanced melanoma. Tumor responses are likely limited by multiple additional layers of immune suppression in the tumor microenvironment. There is emerging preclinical and clinical evidence suggesting that MAPK inhibition has a beneficial effect on the immunosuppressive tumor microenvironment, providing a strong rationale for combined immunotherapy and MAPK pathway inhibition in melanoma. The T cell response has been the main focus in the studies reported to date. Since dendritic cells (DCs) are important in the induction of tumor-specific T cell responses, the impact of MAPK pathway activation in melanoma on DC function is critical for the melanoma directed immune response. BRAF^{V600E} melanoma cells modulate DCs through the MAPK pathway because its blockade in melanoma cells can reverse suppression of DC function. As both MEK/BRAF inhibition and immune checkpoint blockade have recently taken center stage in the treatment of melanoma, a deeper understanding of how MAPK pathway inhibition affects the tumor immune response is needed.

Keywords: melanoma, dendritic cell, T cell, BRAF, MEK, immunotherapy, kinase inhibitor

INTRODUCTION

Melanoma incidence rates have been increasing for at least 30 years. It is estimated that 76,690 individuals will be diagnosed in 2013 (1). The disease is usually curable when detected in its early stages (thin primary tumor, no lymph node involvement). For patients with unresectable or metastatic melanoma, recently emerged novel systemic treatment modalities such as Cytotoxic T-Lymphocyte Antigen 4 (CTLA-4) and Programed Death-1 (PD-1)/PD-L1 blockade as well as BRAF and MEK inhibition have expanded the spectrum of therapeutic options (2–13). The successes with immune checkpoint blocking antibodies in the treatment of patients with metastatic melanoma, with reported response rates of up to 50% are remarkable. Both CTLA-4 and PD-1/PD-L1 blockade can induce long lasting tumor responses in the absence of vaccination, suggesting that endogenous tumor-specific T cells exist in a substantial proportion of patients and that these T cells, once uncoupled from the inhibitory effect mediated by CTLA-4 and/or PD-1/PD-L1 can mediate effective tumor cell lysis (2, 3, 12–15). Multiple other immune suppressive mechanisms are at work in the tumor environment, including additional inhibitory molecules such as Tim-3 (16) and LAG-3 (17), regulatory T cells, myeloid derived suppressor cells (18), and soluble immunosuppressive mediators such as IDO (indoleamine 2,3-dioxygenase), arginase, prostaglandin E2 (PGE2), IL-6, IL-10, VEGF, TGF-β

along with other suppressive cytokines and chemokines. Given the multitude of suppressive mechanisms, it is remarkable that a relatively high proportion of patients can achieve objective tumor responses by blockade of a single pathway, such as PD-1/PD-L1 or CTLA-4.

Approximately half of melanomas harbor a somatic point mutation of the BRAF oncogene at codon 600 (V600E and V600K). This mutation results in constitutive activation of the MAPK pathway and increased oncogenic behavior mediated through a variety of mechanisms such as increased apoptosis, invasiveness, and metastatic potential. The MAPK pathway is an important therapeutic target in melanoma: BRAF, MEK, and combined BRAF/MEK inhibition with small molecule kinase inhibitors are successful treatment strategies in patients with BRAF mutant metastatic melanoma (6-10). However, resistance to these treatments develops almost universally, limiting the median duration of treatment responses to 6-9 months. Investigation of resistance mechanisms and potential strategies to overcome resistance is a very active area of research; a number of different mechanisms have been identified, including the reactivation of MAPK signaling by other pathways (19-24).

Given the treatment successes with both kinase inhibition and immune checkpoint blockade in melanoma, there is considerable

interest in combinatorial approaches. The promise is to combine the response durability that is characteristic for patients responding to immunotherapy with the high response rate seen with BRAF inhibition. The scientific rationale for such strategies is based on the interplay of the MAPK pathway and the tumor immune response in the microenvironment. Activation of signaling pathways in tumor cells have long been implicated in promoting suppressive immune networks in the tumor environment (25, 26). There is emerging evidence of a link between the MAPK pathway in melanoma and the tumor immune response. Preclinical and clinical observations indicate that inhibition of the MAPK pathway may have a favorable effect on the melanoma-specific immune response on the level of T cells, tumor cells, stromal cells, and dendritic cells (DCs) (**Table 1**; **Figure 1**).

BRAF AND MEK INHIBITION IN MELANOMA CELL LINES LEADS TO UPREGULATION OF TUMOR ANTIGENS AND INCREASED RECOGNITION BY MELANOMA-SPECIFIC T CELLS *IN VITRO*

In melanoma cell lines, MEK and BRAF inhibition leads to increased expression of melanoma differentiation antigens (MDAs) such as gp100, MART-1, and tyrosinase on the mRNA and protein levels (27-29). The underlying mechanism of oncogenic BRAF-regulated MDA expression is unclear. It has been suggested that oncogenic BRAF suppresses MDA expression through microphthalmia-associated transcription factor. However additional pathways are likely involved and may account for the heterogeneity of MDA induction observed across different cell lines including mutant and wild-type cell lines (30). Increased expression of gp100 and MART-1 leads to improved antigen recognition by T cells as measured by IFN-y production (27). Upregulation of gp100 and MART-1 was seen in both BRAF mutant and WT melanoma cell lines. BRAF inhibition did not negatively impact lymphocyte function, whereas MEK inhibition negatively affected T cell proliferative potential, viability, and IFN-y production. These data were recently confirmed in vivo in patients with metastatic melanoma (31). Increased MART, TYRP-1, TYRP-2, and gp100 expression was found in metastatic melanoma specimens obtained from patients after treatment with BRAF and/or MEK inhibition. Interestingly, melanoma antigen expression in metastatic tumors was decreased at the time of tumor progression in patients treated with a BRAF inhibitor and partially restored upon initiation of dual MEK and BRAF blockade.

INCREASED FREQUENCY OF TUMOR INFILTRATING LYMPHOCYTES AFTER BRAF INHIBITION

In an adoptive T cell transfer (ACT) model, frequencies of gp100 specific luciferase expressing pmel-1 T cells were markedly increased in gp100 expressing melanoma lesions after treatment with vemurafenib (32) and this was associated with improved tumor response compared to either vemurafenib or ACT alone. This observation was specific to BRAF mutant tumors and independent of BRAF inhibition-mediated upregulation of MDA. In this model, the increased intra-tumoral T cell frequencies were attributed to decreased VEGF in the

tumor. It was previously shown that VEGF/VEGFR-2 inhibition can upregulate endothelial adhesion molecules in tumor vessels, which can in turn increase the infiltration of leukocytes in tumors (33). Wilmott et al. confirmed the observations of increased intra-tumoral T cell frequencies in melanoma patients who were treated with a BRAF inhibitor (34). Increased frequencies of CD4 and CD8 cells were seen in both intratumoral and peritumoral regions of metastatic tumor specimens obtained between 3 and 15 days after treatment initiation. The increase in lymphocyte numbers inversely correlated with tumor size, but not with clinical objective responses. Notably, intra-tumoral lymphocyte frequencies returned to pre-treatment levels at the time of tumor progression. Similar increases in tumor infiltration by CD8 cells (but not CD4 cells) and decrease upon tumor progression in melanoma patients treated with BRAF or dual BRAF/MEK inhibition was reported by Frederick et al. (31).

MAPK INHIBITION AFFECTS T CELL FUNCTIONALITY AND SECRETION OF IMMUNOSUPPRESSIVE CYTOKINES IN THE TUMOR MICROENVIRONMENT

In an ACT model using the murine BRAF^{V600E} mutant melanoma SM1 and transgenic T cells recognizing gp100 and ovalbumin (OVA), combined ACT and vemurafenib induced superior anti-SM1 tumor immune responses compared to either of the therapies alone. In this study, no difference in frequencies of adoptively transferred T cells was observed in tumors, lymph nodes, or spleen as assessed *ex vivo* by flow cytometry and immunofluorescence imaging and *in vivo* by tracking of the firefly luciferase transgene-labeled T cells using bioluminescence imaging when mice were treated with vemurafenib in addition to ACT. However, adoptively transferred T cells exhibited increased functionality as measured by IFN- γ production and their ability to lyse tumor cells (35) in mice treated with ACT and vemurafenib.

CROSS-TALK BETWEEN THE MAPK PATHWAY IN BRAF MUTANT MELANOMA AND DCs

Sumimoto et al. demonstrated that BRAF^{V600E} mutant cell lines can produce immunosuppressive cytokines such as VEGF, IL-6, and IL-10 and that MEK inhibition with U0126 and BRAF inhibition using BRAF^{V600E} specific RNAi suppressed secretion of these cytokines. IL-12 and TNF-α production by DCs exposed to supernatant from the BRAF mutant A375 melanoma cell line prior to maturation by LPS was suppressed (36). This inhibitory effect was mediated by IL-6, IL-10, and VEGF and could be partially reversed by pre-treatment of the melanoma cells with BRAF^{V600E} specific RNAi, indicating that constitutive activation of the MAPK pathway in melanoma cells may lead to compromised DC function and that this immune evasion may be overcome by MAPK inhibition. In a separate study, IL-10 expression in the melanoma line A375 was found to be induced by TGF-β, an effect that was mediated by cross-talk between the Smad, PI3K/AKT, and MAPK pathways (37).

We recently explored a potential link between constitutive MAPK pathway upregulation driven by a BRAF^{V600} mutation and DC function using a human melanoma-DC co-culture system

Table 1 | Effects of MAPK inhibition on immune function and melanoma.

Study type	Model	Immune cell type studied	Effect of MAPK inhibition		
			Immune cells	Melanoma cells	
<i>In vitro</i> (human) (38)	Monocyte-derived moDC co-cultured with BRAF ^{V600E} mutant and WT melanoma cell lines DC maturation with Poly-ICLC	DCs	Restored IL-12 and TNF-α production by DCs exposed to BRAF mutant melanoma cells treated with MEK and BRAF inhibition	No consistent suppression of cytokine production observed	
<i>In vitro</i> (human) (36)	Monocyte-derived moDC cultured with supernatants of BRAF ^{V600E} mutant melanoma cell lines DC maturation with LPS	DCs	Restored IL-12 and TNF-α production by DCs exposed to supernatants of melanoma cells treated with BRAF ^{V600E} – specific RNAi	Suppression of IL-6, IL-10, and VEGF secretion	
<i>In vitro</i> (human) (27)	BRAF ^{V600E} mutant and WT melanoma cell lines treated with MEK and BRAF inhibition. Melanoma cells cultured with TCR-transgenic CTL specific for gp100, MART-1	CTL	Increased IFN-γ production by melanoma-specific CTL cultured with BRAF ^{V600E} melanoma upon MEK and BRAF inhibition	Increased expression of MDA	
<i>In vitro</i> (human) (42)	Mixed lymphocyte reaction with DCs, PBMCs, and T cells	DCs, T cells	Suppressed T cell activation by DCs exposed to melanoma overexpressing CD200; effect abrogated by CD200 knockdown with shRNA	Not assessed	
Mouse adoptive T cell transfer (35)	BRAF ^{V600E} -driven murine model of SM1 melanoma Adoptive transfer of C57BL/6 mice with TCR-transgenic lymphocytes	OVA and pmel-1 TCR-transgenic lymphocytes	No effect on expansion, distribution, or tumor accumulation of adoptively transferred T cells Increased T cell functionality (IFN-y production, intrinsic tumor cell lysis)	No effect on gp100 expression on SM1 cells Increased tumor response with BRAF inhibition + adoptive T cell transfer	
Mouse adoptive T cell transfer (32)	Xenograft with gp100 expressing melanoma cell lines. Adoptive transfer of C57BL/6 mice with TCR-transgenic gp100-specific pmel-1 T cells	Pmel-1 TCR-transgenic T cells	Enhanced infiltration of BRAF mutant, but not BRAF WT tumors with adoptively transferred T cells Increased VEGF production in tumors	Increased tumor response with BRAF inhibition + adoptive T cell transfer	
Melanoma patients (34)		Intra-tumoral CD4 cells, CD8 cells, CD20 cells, Granzyme B, CD1a ⁺ DC	Increased CD4 and CD8 cell frequencies in post-treatment tumor specimens Correlation between increased tumor CD8 infiltration and decreased tumor size and increase in tumor necrosis Occasional CD1 DCs present in post-treatment biopsies in 2 patients	Objective tumor responses on CT imaging	
Melanoma patients (31)		Intra-tumoral CD4 ⁺ cells, CD8 ⁺ cells, IL-6, IL-8, IL-10, TGFβ, granzyme B, perforin, Tim-3, PD-1, PD-L1	Increased CD8 ⁺ cell frequencies No effect on CD4 cells Decreased IL-6 and IL-8 production Increased expression of Tim-3, PD-1, PD-L1 No effect on IL-10, TGF-β	Objective tumor responses on CT imaging Increased expression of MDA (MART-1, gp100, TYRP-1, TYRP-2)	



(38). BRAF^{V600E} mutant and wild-type melanoma cell lines were treated for 24 h with the MEK inhibitor U0126, the BRAF inhibitor vemurafenib, or respective controls (U0124 or DMSO). After removal of supernatant, monocyte-derived immature DC from healthy donors were added, cultured for 24 h and then stimulated with poly-ICLC. Poly-ICLC was chosen as the DC maturation stimulus because it induces the secretion of proinflammatory cytokines in the absence of IL-10 and is a potent TLR3 and MDA5 agonist (39). It has been widely used as a cancer vaccine adjuvant in clinical trials. We found that IL-12 and TNF- α production by DCs was inhibited when DCs were exposed to melanoma cells treated with vehicle control. Notably, the secretion of both cytokines could be partially or completely restored with both MEK and BRAF inhibition in BRAF^{V600E} mutant, but not wild-type cell lines. Furthermore, CD80, CD83, and CD86 expression on DC was decreased upon co-culture with melanoma cells and could be partially restored with BRAF inhibition in BRAF^{V600E} mutant melanoma cell lines. The inhibition of IL-12 and TNF- α secretion by DCs was not cell-contact dependent. In contrast to the study by Sumimoto, a soluble factor responsible for mediating the suppressive effect could not be identified in our investigations. It is possible that continuous local production of small amounts of soluble mediators by melanoma cells in close proximity to DCs accounts for the inhibitory effect observed in the melanoma cell/DC co-culture experiments in our study.

CD200, a type I membrane-associated glycoprotein and member of the immunoglobulin superfamily is highly expressed on melanoma cells and was found to be regulated by ERK activation (40). CD200 mRNA expression levels were found to be positively correlated with tumor progression. Moreover, MEK inhibition with U0126 and knockdown of mutant BRAF resulted in reduced expression of CD200 mRNA in melanoma cell lines. Of note, through interaction with the CD200 receptor, which is expressed on macrophages and DC, CD200 mediates an inhibitory signal (41). In mixed lymphocyte reactions with T cells, DCs, and melanoma cells, T cells produced larger amounts of IL-2 when CD200 in melanoma cells was knocked down with shRNA specifically targeting the CD200 ligand (42). These data suggest a link between MAPK/ERK activation in melanoma and the ability of DCs to activate T cells.

DIRECT IMPACT OF MAPK INHIBITION ON DCs

Since there is a strong clinical interest in combined immunotherapy and BRAF/MEK inhibition in melanoma, the direct impact of MAPK pathway inhibition on immune cells is of great interest. BRAF inhibition, even at high concentrations, does not appear to directly compromise T cell function, and there is emerging data showing that low doses of RAF inhibition may even enhance T cell activation (43, 44). Furthermore, frequencies of DCs, monocytes, T cells, B cells, NK cells, and regulatory T cells in peripheral blood from metastatic melanoma patients were not affected by BRAF inhibition (45).

There is some controversy about the direct impact of signaling through the MAPK pathway on DC maturation. In LPS and TNF- α -matured DCs, MEK inhibition leads to upregulation of co-stimulation molecules, increased IL-12 secretion and enhanced ability to activate T cells (46), whereas activation of ERK in DCs leads to immune suppression, mediated by TGF- β and Treg cells (47). Only minimal or no effect of MEK inhibition on DC function was shown in other studies (48–51). Differences in the maturation stimuli may account for some of the inconsistencies observed in these investigations.

In monocyte-derived DC from healthy donors, MEK inhibition lead to reduced IL-12 and TNF- α secretion, whereas BRAF inhibition had no effect on cytokine production over a wide range of doses (38). The expression of CD40, CD80, CD83, and MHCI was also reduced by direct MEK inhibition, whereas it was unaffected by BRAF inhibition. In addition, DC viability was reduced with MEK, but not BRAF inhibition and the ability of DCs to induce T cell proliferation in an MLR was reduced with MEK, but not BRAF inhibition. The impact of MEK inhibitors currently used in the clinic on APC function *in vivo* remains to be determined.

MAPK INHIBITION MAY ENHANCE DC FUNCTION IN THE TUMOR MICROENVIRONMENT BY SEVERAL MECHANISMS

RESTORATION OF DC FUNCTION COMPROMISED BY MELANOMA CELLS Our studies and earlier investigations by Sumimoto suggest that suppression of IL-12 and TNF- α production by DCs in the tumor microenvironment of a BRAF^{V600} mutant melanoma is mediated at least partially by constitutive activation of the MAPK pathway. These data also indicate that BRAF and MEK inhibition, by blocking the MAPK pathway in melanoma cells and thereby restoring IL-12 and TNF- α production in DCs, leads to improved DC function, presumably leading to better activation of melanomaspecific T cells. Notably in our studies there was none or only minimal apoptosis in BRAF^{V600E} mutant and WT melanoma cell lines after 48 h of MEK or BRAF inhibition. This is consistent with prior studies showing an anti-proliferative effect, rather than apoptosis, during the first few days of treatment with these kinase inhibitors (52, 53). It is therefore unlikely that the reversal of compromised DC function mediated by melanoma cells in the in vitro experiments is mediated by melanoma cell death. Similarly, in the experiments by Sumimoto, no significant cell death was observed after treatment of the melanoma line A375 with the MEK inhibitor U0126, indicating that decreased IL-10, IL-6, and VEGF production was a direct effect of MAPK pathway inhibition rather than mere death of the melanoma cells. Taken together, these data suggest that MAPK pathway activation in BRAF^{V600} mutant melanoma cells has a direct suppressive effect on the capacity of DC to activate T cells.

INCREASED CROSS PRESENTATION OF OVEREXPRESSED MELANOMA DIFFERENTIATION ANTIGENS BY DCs IN THE TUMOR OR LYMPH NODE?

Inhibition of the MAPK pathway in BRAF mutant melanoma leads to increased expression of MDAs (gp100, Mart-1, Tyrp-1, and Tyrp-2), resulting in improved antigen-specific recognition by gp100 and MART-1 specific TCR-transgenic CTL as measured by increased IFN- γ production *in vitro* (27). In patients with BRAF^{V600} mutant metastatic melanoma, MART-1

expression was upregulated in metastatic tumors after treatment with BRAF inhibition. Increased infiltration of metastatic tumors with both CD4 and CD8 cells in one study, and of CD8 cells, but not CD4 cells in another study was observed after treatment with BRAF inhibition. A correlation between intratumoral infiltration with CD8 cells and tumor necrosis was found in post-treatment biopsies in one study (34). In addition to the direct effect on CTL function shown *in vitro*, it is possible that MDA overexpression on melanoma cells in the tumor *in vivo* may lead to increased cross presentation of these antigens to DCs and thus further enhance the tumor-specific T cell response.

INCREASED CROSS PRESENTATION OF TUMOR ANTIGENS DERIVED FROM APOPTOTIC TUMOR CELLS AFTER MAPK INHIBITION

As outlined above, in short-term (48–72 h) *in vitro* experiments using BRAF mutant melanoma cell lines, apoptosis or necrosis does not have a significant role in mediating the effects of melanoma MAPK pathway inhibition on DCs. BRAF inhibition does however eventually induce apoptosis and necrosis as evident by the fact that tumors shrink markedly in the majority of patients. Tumor necrosis/apoptosis likely leads to the release of antigens, which may be available for DCs either residing in the tumor or in draining lymph nodes to be taken up, processed, and cross-presented to T cells. Cross presentation may be one of the mechanisms mediating the synergy observed with ACT and BRAF inhibition in melanoma mouse models, although no direct evidence was provided in the reported studies (32, 35).

CONCLUSION

Constitutive upregulation of the MAPK pathway in BRAF^{V600} mutant melanoma appears to directly impact DC function as evident by partial restoration of IL-12 and TNF-a secretion upon treatment of melanoma cells with MEK or BRAF inhibition. These effects have so far been shown only in vitro. The beneficial effects of MAPK blockade on the tumor immune microenvironment shown in vivo in mouse models and melanoma patients argue for a broader impact of these treatments on the tumorspecific immune response, including increased T cell frequencies and improved function and changes in cytokine secretion patterns. Several mechanisms that may account for the improved immune response have been described such as increased MDA expression on melanoma cells and decreased intra-tumoral VEGF production, others remain speculative, such as increased cross presentation to DCs resulting from BRAF/MEK inhibition-mediated necrosis/apoptosis of melanoma cells. These observations reinforce the rationale for clinical trials assessing MEK/BRAF inhibition and immunotherapy in combination in patients with melanoma. Further studies are needed to delineate the phenotype and function of DCs in patients treated with BRAF/MEK inhibition. Because of superior efficacy and potentially improved tolerability, combined BRAF-MEK inhibition will likely replace BRAF inhibitor monotherapy. Defining the impact of both BRAF and MEK inhibition on the immune response will therefore be critical.

REFERENCES

- Siegel R, Naishadham D, Jemal A. Cancer statistics, 2013. CA Cancer J Clin (2013) 63(1):11–30. doi:10. 3322/caac.21166
- Wolchok JD, Kluger H, Callahan MK, Postow MA, Rizvi NA, Lesokhin AM, et al. Nivolumab plus ipilimumab in advanced melanoma. *N Engl J Med* (2013) 369(2):122–33. doi:10.1056/NEJMoa1302369
- Hamid O, Robert C, Daud A, Hodi FS, Hwu WJ, Kefford R, et al. Safety and tumor responses with lambrolizumab (Anti-PD-1) in melanoma. N Engl J Med (2013) 369(2):134–44. doi:10.1056/ NEJMoa1305133
- Flaherty KT, Hodi FS, Fisher DE. From genes to drugs: targeted strategies for melanoma. *Nat Rev Cancer* (2012) 12(5):349–61. doi: 10.1038/nrc3218
- Infante JR, Fecher LA, Falchook GS, Nallapareddy S, Gordon MS, Becerra C, et al. Safety, pharmacokinetic, pharmacodynamic, and efficacy data for the oral MEK inhibitor trametinib: a phase 1 dose-escalation trial. *Lancet Oncol* (2012) 13(8):773–81. doi:10.1016/ S1470-2045(12)70270-X
- Chapman PB, Hauschild A, Robert C, Haanen JB, Ascierto P, Larkin J, et al. Improved survival with vemurafenib in melanoma with BRAF V600E mutation. *N Engl J Med* (2011) **364**(26): 2507–16. doi:10.1056/ NEJMoa1103782
- Falchook GS, Lewis KD, Infante JR, Gordon MS, Vogelzang NJ, DeMarini DJ, et al. Activity of the oral MEK inhibitor trametinib in patients with advanced melanoma: a phase 1 dose-escalation trial. *Lancet Oncol* (2012) 13(8):782–9. doi:10.1016/S1470-2045(12) 70269-3
- Flaherty KT, Infante JR, Daud A, Gonzalez R, Kefford RF, Sosman J, et al. Combined BRAF and MEK inhibition in melanoma with BRAF V600 mutations. N Engl J Med (2012) 367(18):1694–703. doi:10. 1056/NEJMoa1210093
- Flaherty KT, Puzanov I, Kim KB, Ribas A, McArthur GA, Sosman JA, et al. Inhibition of mutated, activated BRAF in metastatic melanoma. N Engl J Med (2010) 363(9):809–19. doi:10.1056/NEJMoa1002011
- Flaherty KT, Robert C, Hersey P, Nathan P, Garbe C, Milhem M, et al. Improved survival with MEK inhibition in BRAFmutated melanoma. N Engl J Med

(2012) **367**(2):107-14. doi:10.1056/ NEIMoa1203421

- 11. Sosman JA, Kim KB, Schuchter L, Gonzalez R, Pavlick AC, Weber JS, et al. Survival in BRAF V600mutant advanced melanoma treated with vemurafenib. N Engl J Med (2012) 366(8):707–14. doi:10.1056/ NEJMoa1112302
- Brahmer JR, Tykodi SS, Chow LQ, Hwu WJ, Topalian SL, Hwu P, et al. Safety and activity of anti-PD-L1 antibody in patients with advanced cancer. N Engl J Med (2012) 366(26):2455–65. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa1200694
- Topalian SL, Hodi FS, Brahmer JR, Gettinger SN, Smith DC, McDermott DF, et al. Safety, activity, and immune correlates of anti-PD-1 antibody in cancer. N Engl J Med (2012) 366(26):2443–54. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa1200690
- Robert C, Thomas L, Bondarenko I, O'Day S, M D JW, Garbe C, et al. Ipilimumab plus dacarbazine for previously untreated metastatic melanoma. N Engl J Med (2011) 364(26):2517–26. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa1104621
- Hodi FS, O'Day SJ, McDermott DF, Weber RW, Sosman JA, Haanen JB, et al. Improved survival with ipilimumab in patients with metastatic melanoma. N Engl J Med (2010) 363(8):711–23. doi:10.1056/ NEJMoa1003466
- Anderson AC. Tim-3, a negative regulator of antitumor immunity. *Curr Opin Immunol* (2012) 24(2):213–6. doi:10.1016/j.coi.2011.12.005
- 17. Goldberg MV, Drake CG. LAG-3 in cancer immunotherapy. *Curr Top Microbiol Immunol* (2011) 344:269–78. doi:10.1007/82_2010_ 114
- Gabrilovich DI, Nagaraj S. Myeloidderived suppressor cells as regulators of the immune system. *Nat Rev Immunol* (2009) 9(3):162–74. doi:10.1038/nri2506
- Johannessen CM, Boehm JS, Kim SY, Thomas SR, Wardwell L, Johnson LA, et al. COT drives resistance to RAF inhibition through MAP kinase pathway reactivation. *Nature* (2010) 468(7326):968–72. doi:10.1038/nature09627
- 20. Villanueva J, Vultur A, Lee JT, Somasundaram R, Fukunaga-Kalabis M, Cipolla AK, et al. Acquired resistance to BRAF inhibitors mediated by a RAF kinase switch in melanoma can be overcome by cotargeting MEK and IGF-1R/PI3K. *Cancer Cell* (2010) **18**(6):683–95. doi:10.1016/j. ccr.2010.11.023

- Nazarian R, Shi H, Wang Q, Kong X, Koya RC, Lee H, et al. Melanomas acquire resistance to B-RAF(V600E) inhibition by RTK or N-RAS upregulation. *Nature* (2010) 468(7326):973–7. doi:10. 1038/nature09626
- 22. Straussman R, Morikawa T, Shee K, Barzily-Rokni M, Qian ZR, Du J, et al. Tumour micro-environment elicits innate resistance to RAF inhibitors through HGF secretion. *Nature* (2012) **487**(7408):500–4. doi:10.1038/nature11183
- 23. Jiang CC, Lai F, Thorne RF, Yang F, Liu H, Hersey P, et al. MEK-independent survival of B-RAFV600E melanoma cells selected for resistance to apoptosis induced by the RAF inhibitor PLX4720. *Clin Cancer Res* (2011) **17**(4):721–30. doi:10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-10-2225
- 24. Wagle N, Emery C, Berger MF, Davis MJ, Sawyer A, Pochanard P, et al. Dissecting therapeutic resistance to RAF inhibition in melanoma by tumor genomic profiling. *J Clin Oncol* (2011) **29**(22):3085–96. doi: 10.1200/JCO.2010.33.2312
- 25. Wang T, Niu G, Kortylewski M, Burdelya L, Shain K, Zhang S, et al. Regulation of the innate and adaptive immune responses by Stat-3 signaling in tumor cells. *Nat Med* (2004) **10**(1):48–54. doi:10.1038/nm976
- 26. Yu H, Kortylewski M, Pardoll D. Crosstalk between cancer and immune cells: role of STAT3 in the tumour microenvironment. *Nat Rev Immunol* (2007) 7(1):41–51. doi:10.1038/nri1995
- Boni A, Cogdill AP, Dang P, Udayakumar D, Njauw CN, Sloss CM, et al. Selective BRAFV600E inhibition enhances T-cell recognition of melanoma without affecting lymphocyte function. *Cancer Res* (2010) **70**(13):5213–9. doi:10.1158/ 0008-5472.CAN-10-0118
- 28. Kono M, Dunn IS, Durda PJ, Butera D, Rose LB, Haggerty TJ, et al. Role of the mitogen-activated protein kinase signaling pathway in the regulation of human melanocytic antigen expression. *Mol Cancer Res* (2006) 4(10):779–92. doi:10.1158/ 1541-7786.MCR-06-0077
- 29. Sapkota B, Hill CE, Pollack BP. Vemurafenib enhances MHC induction in BRAF homozygous melanoma cells. Oncoimmunology (2013) 2(1):e22890. doi:10.4161/onci.22890
- Wellbrock C, Rana S, Paterson H, Pickersgill H, Brummelkamp T, Marais R. Oncogenic BRAF regulates melanoma proliferation

through the lineage specific factor MITF. *PLoS One* (2008) **3**(7):e2734. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0002734

- Frederick DT, Piris A, Cogdill AP, Cooper ZA, Lezcano C, Ferrone CR, et al. BRAF inhibition is associated with enhanced melanoma antigen expression and a more favorable tumor microenvironment in patients with metastatic melanoma. *Clin Cancer Res* (2013) 19(5):1225–31. doi:10.1158/ 1078-0432.CCR-12-1630
- 32. Liu C, Peng W, Xu C, Lou Y, Zhang M, Wargo JA, et al. BRAF inhibition increases tumor infiltration by T cells and enhances the antitumor activity of adoptive immunotherapy in mice. *Clin Cancer Res* (2013) 19(2):393–403. doi: 10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-12-1626
- 33. Dirkx AE, oude Egbrink MG, Castermans K, van der Schaft DW, Thijssen VL, Dings RP, et al. Antiangiogenesis therapy can overcome endothelial cell anergy and promote leukocyte-endothelium interactions and infiltration in tumors. *FASEB J* (2006) **20**(6):621–30. doi: 10.1096/fj.05-4493com
- 34. Wilmott JS, Long GV, Howle JR, Haydu LE, Sharma RN, Thompson JF, et al. Selective BRAF inhibitors induce marked T-cell infiltration into human metastatic melanoma. *Clin Cancer Res* (2012) 18(5):1386–94. doi:10.1158/ 1078-0432.CCR-11-2479
- 35. Koya RC, Mok S, Otte N, Blacketor KJ, Comin-Anduix B, Tumeh PC, et al. BRAF inhibitor vemurafenib improves the antitumor activity of adoptive cell immunotherapy. *Cancer Res* (2012) **72**(16):3928–37. doi: 10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-11-2837
- 36. Sumimoto H, Imabayashi F, Iwata T, Kawakami Y. The BRAF-MAPK signaling pathway is essential for cancer-immune evasion in human melanoma cells. J Exp Med (2006) 203(7):1651–6. doi:10.1084/jem.20051848
- 37. Díaz-Valdés N, Basagoiti M, Dotor J, Aranda F, Monreal I, Riezu-Boj JI, et al. Induction of monocyte chemoattractant protein-1 and interleukin-10 by TGFbeta1 in melanoma enhances tumor infiltration and immunosuppression. *Cancer Res* (2011) 71(3):812–21. doi:10.1158/ 0008-5472.CAN-10-2698
- 38. Ott PA, Henry T, Baranda SJ, Frleta D, Manches O, Bogunovic D, et al. Inhibition of both BRAF and MEK in BRAF(V600E) mutant melanoma restores compromised dendritic cell (DC) function while having differential direct effects on

DC properties. *Cancer Immunol Immunother* (2013) **62**(4):811–22. doi:10.1007/s00262-012-1389-z

- 39. Bogunovic D, Manches O, Godefroy E, Yewdall A, Gallois A, Salazar AM, et al. TLR4 engagement during TLR3-induced proinflammatory signaling in dendritic cells promotes IL-10-mediated suppression of antitumor immunity. *Cancer Res* (2011) **71**(16):5467–76. doi:10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-10-3988
- 40. Shields JM, Thomas NE, Cregger M, Berger AJ, Leslie M, Torrice C, et al. Lack of extracellular signalregulated kinase mitogen-activated protein kinase signaling shows a new type of melanoma. *Cancer Res* (2007) 67(4):1502–12. doi:10.1158/ 0008-5472.CAN-06-3311
- Hoek RM, Ruuls SR, Murphy CA, Wright GJ, Goddard R, Zurawski SM, et al. Down-regulation of the macrophage lineage through interaction with OX2 (CD200). *Science* (2000) **290**(5497):1768–71. doi:10. 1126/science.290.5497.1768
- 42. Petermann KB, Rozenberg GI, Zedek D, Groben P, McKinnon K, Buehler C, et al. CD200 is induced by ERK and is a potential therapeutic target in melanoma. *J Clin Invest* (2007) **117**(12):3922–9. doi: 10.1172/JCI32163
- Callahan M. Defining the Effects of MAPK Pathway Inhibition in Human Immune Cells. Perspectives in Melanoma XV. New York, NY: Imedex (2011).

- 44. Comin-Anduix B, Chodon T, Sazegar H, Matsunaga D, Mock S, Jalil J, et al. The oncogenic BRAF kinase inhibitor PLX4032/RG7204 does not affect the viability or function of human lymphocytes across a wide range of concentrations. *Clin Cancer Res* (2010) 16(24):6040–8. doi:10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-10-1911
- 45. Hong DS, Vence L, Falchook G, Radvanyi LG, Liu C, Goodman V, et al. Braf(V600) inhibitor Gsk2118436 targeted inhibition of mutant Braf in cancer patients does not impair overall immune competency. *Clin Cancer Res* (2012) 18(8):2326–35. doi:10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-11-2515
- 46. Puig-Kröger A, Relloso M, Fernández-Capetillo O, Zubiaga A, Silva A, Bernabéu C, et al. Extracellular signal-regulated protein kinase signaling pathway negatively regulates the phenotypic and functional maturation of monocyte-derived human dendritic cells. *Blood* (2001) **98**(7):2175–82. doi:10.1182/blood.V98.7.2175
- 47. Escors D, Lopes L, Lin R, Hiscott J, Akira S, Davis RJ, et al. Targeting dendritic cell signaling to regulate the response to immunization. *Blood* (2008) 111(6):3050–61. doi: 10.1182/blood-2007-11-122408
- 48. Ardeshna KM, Pizzey AR, Devereux S, Khwaja A. The PI3 kinase, p38 SAP kinase, and NF-kappaB signal transduction pathways are involved in the survival and maturation

of lipopolysaccharide-stimulated human monocyte-derived dendritic cells. *Blood* (2000) **96**(3): 1039–46.

- 49. Arrighi JF, Rebsamen M, Rousset F, Kindler V, Hauser C. A critical role for p38 mitogen-activated protein kinase in the maturation of human blood-derived dendritic cells induced by lipopolysaccharide, TNF-alpha, and contact sensitizers. J Immunol (2001) **166**(6): 3837–45.
- 50. Martínez D, Vermeulen M, von Euw E, Sabatté J, Maggíni J, Ceballos A, et al. Extracellular acidosis triggers the maturation of human dendritic cells and the production of IL-12. *J Immunol* (2007) **179**(3):1950–9.
- 51. Yu Q, Kovacs C, Yue FY, Ostrowski MA. The role of the p38 mitogenactivated protein kinase, extracellular signal-regulated kinase, and phosphoinositide-3-OH kinase signal transduction pathways in CD40 ligand-induced dendritic cell activation and expansion of virus-specific CD8+ T cell memory responses. *J Immunol* (2004) **172**(10): 6047–56.
- 52. Gopal YN, Deng W, Woodman SE, Komurov K, Ram P, Smith PD, et al. Basal and treatment-induced activation of AKT mediates resistance to cell death by AZD6244 (ARRY-142886) in Braf-mutant human cutaneous melanoma cells. *Cancer Res* (2010) **70**(21):8736–47. doi:10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-10-0902

53. VanBrocklin MW, Verhaegen M, Soengas MS, Holmen SL. Mitogenactivated protein kinase inhibition induces translocation of Bmf to promote apoptosis in melanoma. *Cancer Res* (2009) **69**(5):1985–94. doi:10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-08-3934

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Received: 23 September 2013; paper pending published: 07 October 2013; accepted: 08 October 2013; published online: 28 October 2013.

Citation: Ott PA and Bhardwaj N (2013) Impact of MAPK pathway activation in BRAF^{V600} melanoma on T cell and dendritic cell function. Front. Immunol. **4**:346. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2013.00346

This article was submitted to Tumor Immunity, a section of the journal Frontiers in Immunology.

Copyright © 2013 Ott and Bhardwaj. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) or licensor are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.



Therapeutic implications of immunogenic cell death in human cancer

Fabio Palombo¹*, Chiara Focaccetti¹ and Vincenzo Barnaba^{1,2}*

¹ Dipartimento di Medicina Interna e Specialità Mediche, Sapienza Università di Roma, Rome, Italy

² Istituto Pasteur – Fondazione Cenci Bolognetti, Rome, Italy

Edited by:

Kristian Michael Hargadon, Hampden-Sydney College, USA

Reviewed by:

Junko Matsuzaki, Roswell Park Cancer Institute, USA Walter J. Storkus, University of Pittsburgh, USA

*Correspondence:

Fabio Palombo and Vincenzo Barnaba, Dipartimento di Medicina Interna e Specialità Mediche, Sapienza Università di Roma, viale del Policlinico 155, Rome 00161, Italy e-mail: fabio.palombo@uniroma1.it; vincenzo.barnaba@uniroma1.it

INTRODUCTION

Cancer is characterized not only by abnormal cell growth but also by increased and diverse modality of cell death, which is sensed by innate immune cells including macrophages and dendritic cells (DCs). Dying cells can trigger either tissue homeostatic clearance by macrophages or processing by DCs, which can integrate signals from dying cells for presentation to T cells in an immunogenic or tolerogenic manner. It is well known that antigen-specific CD4⁺ and CD8⁺ T cells are detected in advanced tumor stages and that adoptive T-cell transfer can be very effective in cancer therapy (1).

Dendritic cells are essential in priming T-cell responses upon the processing and presentation of both exogenous antigens, which are preferentially presented on major histocompatibility complex (MHC) class II molecules to CD4⁺ T cells, and endogenous antigens, which are preferentially presented on MHC class I molecules to CD8⁺ T cells. The capacity of DCs to present exogenous antigens derived from other cells (usually necrotic or apoptotic cells) or soluble antigens on class I molecules is defined as cross-presentation (2, 3). Different types of DCs have been described according to different parameters, including where they are located, the type of antigen they present, and their ability to present antigens to T cells (4). From a simplified view, DCs travel in periphery tissues in search of potential antigens that are derived from pathogen-infected cells (foreign antigens); cancer cells re-expressing developmental antigens, for which the immune tolerance is low; or cancer cells expressing mutated proteins as a consequence of the oncologic process. They are attracted in inflamed tissue by metabolic products of cell death such as ATP, or they can be guided by chemokines secreted by innate immune cells such as macrophages. During the journey, they are characterized as having a high phagocytic capacity and a low antigen-presenting

Dendritic cells (DCs) are central to the adoptive immune response, and their function is regulated by diverse signals in a context-specific manner. Different DCs have been described in physiologic conditions, inflammation, and cancer, prompting a series of questions on how adoptive immune responses, or tolerance, develop against tumors. Increasing evidence suggests that tumor treatments induce a dramatic change on tumor-infiltrating lymphocytes and, in particular, on some DC subtypes. In this review, we summarize the latest evidence on the role of DCs in cancer and preliminary evidence on chemotherapy-associated antigens identified in human cancers.

Keywords: dendritic cells, T cells, chemotherapy, immunogenic cell death, tumor antigens

capacity: this status is referred to as an immature state. Different stimuli associated with bacterial or viral infections or damage signals can then activate DCs. In lymphoid tissues, DCs present antigens to B and T cells to initiate an adaptive immune response, depending on the presence of mature signals that direct adoptive responses.

Pathogen-associated molecular patterns (PAMPs) were first postulated by Janeway (5) and then identified in different species including insects. At the core of Janeway's hypothesis was the idea that similar structures are shared by different pathogens and that immune receptors [pattern recognition receptors (PRRs)] expressed by several types of innate immune cells have evolved to recognize them. On the same line of reasoning, it became clear that immune cells can be activated by damage (danger) signals, which share the properties of being undetectable to immune sensors during physiologic processes and being detectable in cases of injury. With a few exceptions (e.g., the association of cervix tumors with the papillomavirus, or of hepatocellular carcinoma with hepatitis B or C viruses), most tumors deregulate cell life usually in the absence of a non-self signal however, they can activate immune responses through danger signals that are referred to as, in analogy with PAMPs, damage-associated molecular patterns (DAMPs).

Dendritic cells carry out several complex tasks including antigen sampling in the periphery, cell maturation in the spleen and lymph nodes, and the critical decision-making process between immunity and tolerance (lack of immune response). These tasks are executed by DCs through a remarkable plasticity and an ability to integrate signals from a variety of receptors sensing extracellular and intracellular environments. This sophisticated system likely evolved in vertebrates as a way in which to avoid autoimmune diseases mediated by adaptive immunity; however, it can limit an effective immune response against tumors, which derive from the self.

HUMAN AND MOUSE DCs IN PHYSIOLOGY AND CANCER

Human and mouse DCs are classified as classical DCs (cDCs) and plasmacytoid DCs (pDCs) (6) and present different morphologies: pDCs are round shaped, whereas cDCs have dendrites, distinct membrane markers, and different functions, and derive from different precursors within the myeloid lineage. This intricately connected system has made it difficult to distinguish DCs from other myeloid cells. To resolve this issue in mice, DC subtypes have been characterized through genetic ablation of key genes, transfer of purified cells, and functional studies. Traditionally, cDCs have been identified in mice by CD11c expression (7). However, depletion of cells expressing this marker resulted in ablation of not only cDCs but also pDCs (8). To obtain a more precise picture of DC populations, lineage-specific transcription factors have been identified [reviewed in Ref. (4)]. Two transcription factors, Flt3 and Xcr1, are associated with murine DCs, but not with macrophages, which is in line with their function during DC development. However, expression of transcription factors can be tissue specific. For instance, Zbtb46 distinguishes cDCs from other myeloid and lymphoid cells, but it is downregulated after DC stimulation; it is also found on endothelial cells, early erythroid progenitors, and monocytes stimulated with granulocyte macrophage-colony stimulating factor (GM-CSF) and interleukin 4 (IL-4). Mouse cDCs in lymphoid tissues are divided into CD8⁺ and CD4⁺ T cells and functionally classified according to antigen presentation on MHC class I to CD8 T cells and class II to CD4 T cells, respectively (4). Importantly, CD8⁺ cDCs carry out the unique function of cross-presentation of exogenous antigens on class I molecules (2, 3). More recently, mouse cDC lineage has been further refined using expression history of DNGR-1 gene (9). Transfer of precursor DCs expressing DNGR-1 in mice depleted of myeloid cells leads to the development of cDCs but not to pDCs, as observed in the transfer of unfractionated precursor DCs.

In humans, myeloid cDCs can be categorized as CD1c⁺ (BDCA1⁺) and CD11a⁺ CD141⁺ (BDCA3⁺) DCs. The latter cells have been considered equivalent to mouse CD8⁺ DCs, particularly because they express the C-type lectin receptor CLEC9A, which mediates the uptake of necrotic or dead cells and the cross-presentation of the related antigens (10). However, recent evidence from a systematic study of DC populations showed that the functional specialization of human DCs is completely different from that of murine DCs (11). In contrast to the murine models, all human DC populations tested (BDCA1⁺ or BDCA3⁺ cDCs, and even BDCA2⁺ pDCs) express similar functions including cross-presentation and capacity of antigen transfer from phagoendosomes into the cytosol. In addition, Toll-like receptors (TLRs) are expressed differently by human and mouse cDC populations: both human and mouse cDCs express TLR1, 2, 3, 4, 5, 6, and 8, whereas TLR11, TLR12, and TLR13 are expressed only by mouse cDCs, and TLR 10 is unique to humans (12).

Plasmacytoid DCs represent a small fraction of DCs and have a round shape that is similar to antibody-secreting plasma cells. Regarding surface markers, pDCs are distinguished from cDCs by the expression of B220, Siglec-H, and Bst2 in mice and of BDCA2 (CD303) in humans (4). In both humans and mice, pDCs express TLR7 and 9 (13, 14). TLR7, 8, and 9 belong to a functional subfamily and detect PAMPs in endosomal/lysosomal compartments following acidification [reviewed in Ref. (15)]. After exposure to synthetic TLR7 or TLR9 agonists [e.g., imidazoquinoline compounds or guanosine analogs for TLR7/8, cytosinephosphorothioate-guanine-oligodeoxynucleotides (CpG-ODNs) for TLR9], pDCs secrete interferon alpha and proinflammatory cytokines (IL-8 and tumor necrosis factor alpha) and undergo maturation, a differentiation program characterized by upregulation of the costimulatory molecules CD80, CD86, and CD40; expression of functional CC-chemokine receptor 7 (CCR7) and the maturation marker CD83; and heightened T-cell stimulatory capacity [reviewed in Ref. (15)]. The transcription factor E2-2 is essential for pDC development in both mice and humans (16). It controls the expression of pDC markers directly (e.g., TLR7, TLR9, BDCA2) and its deletion in mature pDCs, redirecting them toward the cDC phenotype. In contrast to cDCs, mouse pDCs are not phagocytic, and they maintain a high turnover of MHC class II, thus limiting their capacity as professional antigen-presenting cells (15).

More recently, a new DC subset defined as inflammatory DCs (infDCs) has been described in inflamed human tissues, including ascites of ovarian cancer (OC) and breast cancer (17). InfDCs (CD14⁺ CD16⁻ BDCA1⁺) in cancer ascites were separated from macrophages (CD14⁺ CD16c⁺ BDCA1⁻) and then further characterized for the expression of additional markers (CD11c⁺ CD11b⁺ HLA-DR⁺ BDCA1⁺ CD206⁺). InfDCs were identified in inflamed tissue but not in tumor-draining lymph nodes with the exception of gastric cancer, which is known to be associated with persistent chronic inflammation. Molecular profiling of the purified infDCs revealed a close similarity with monocyte-derived DCs. These cells induce a Th17 differentiation in vitro and express two lineage-specific transcription factors, ZBTB46 and CSFR1, which were previously identified in mouse infDCs. Functional assays showed that infDCs could stimulate memory CD4⁺ T cells from the same ascites to produce IL-17, likely by the secretion of IL-1β, IL-6, and IL-23, which are Th17 cell-polarizing cytokines (17).

Tumors can dramatically influence DC functions [reviewed in Ref. (6)]. It is well known that tumor-derived DCs are ineffective in stimulating an immune response and that this ineffectiveness may contribute to tumor evasion of immune recognition. Tumorreleased factors can induce an altered myelopoiesis that leads to the release of immature myeloid cells, which, within the tumor bed, give rise to myeloid-derived suppressor cells (MDSCs). These findings, which have been confirmed in clinical studies, indicate a decreased presence and a defective functionality of mature DCs in patients with breast cancer (18), non-small cell lung cancer (19), pancreatic cancer (20), cervical cancer (21), hepatocellular carcinoma (22), and glioma (23). The fate of MDSCs has been investigated in various tumor types in relation to tumor drugs of different chemical nature including classical chemostatic agents, kinase inhibitors, and therapeutic antibodies. Pharmacological interventions, however, showed a marginal impact on DCs with respect to macrophages, which were skewed from an M2 (protumorigenic)

toward an M1 (anti-tumor) phenotype. Differentiation toward proinflammatory DCs was induced by vascular endothelial growth factor inhibitors (24) or blockers of chemokines (25).

How the immune system senses tumors is not as well defined as for non-self-antigen recognition. The danger theory proposes that detection of stressed or damaged cells by DCs is a driving force of adaptive immune responses, irrespective of the level of mutation frequency of a given tumor (26).

CANCER THERAPY, DC ACTIVATION, IMMUNE RESPONSES, AND DISCOVERY OF TUMOR ANTIGENS

Cancer is inevitably treated with different drugs that vary either in the mechanism of action (ranging from the original chemostatic alkylating agents to pathway-specific inhibitors) or in their chemical nature (small-molecule drugs, neutralizing antibodies, cancer vaccines, etc.). The ever-growing arsenal of context-specific anti-tumor drugs is likely to be applied in unpredicted tumor cases thanks to technical progress in global genome sequencing, for which low prices have made it almost an affordable diagnostic approach. The most utilized therapeutic approaches, however, remain those based on cytotoxic chemotherapy. Although it is well known that these drugs induce lymphopenia, it is becoming more and more appreciated that a subset of them also induces a series of DAMPs, which are recognized by PRRs on innate immune cells (**Figure 1**).

Damage-associated molecular patterns such as ATP and high mobility group box 1 protein (HMGB1) are secreted or released, whereas others such as calreticulin (CRT) and heat shock protein 90 are exposed *de novo* or become enriched on the outer leaflet of the plasma membrane (27) (**Figure 1**). In addition, DAMPs are produced as end-stage degradation products such as uric acid during the course of cell death. Most of these molecules have predominantly non-immunological functions inside the cell before their exposure on the cell surface or their secretion (28).

The group of Kroemer and Zitvogel (29) found that treatment with anthracycline in mice induces immunogenic cell death (ICD), which is mediated by CRT exposure on apoptotic cells (**Figure 1**). Researchers have also reported that timing of CRT exposure with respect to apoptotic markers and morphological changes is critical during ICD and that it usually anticipates apoptotic signs (29, 30). This is a structured process that occurs through different pathways including RNA-dependent protein kinase-like endoplasmic reticulum kinase (PERK)-mediated eIF2 α phosphorylation, the secretory pathway, and caspase 8-mediated B-cell receptorassociated protein 31 (BCAP31)-dependent activation of BAX and BAK proteins (31).

An additional DAMP signal released during ICD is the HMGB1 (**Figure 1**). Preclinical studies have highlighted the importance of TLR4 activation mediated by HMGB1 binding. Research has shown that depletion of HMGB1 in mouse xenograft tumors prevents anthracycline-induced anti-tumor activity, which is restored by exogenous recombinant HMGB1 protein. Clinical studies in breast cancer have showed that a correlation exists between the presence of a single nucleotide polymorphism in the TLR4 gene, which prevents the binding of HMGB1 to TLR4, and early relapse after anthracycline treatment (32, 33). However, the role of HMGB1 can be context-specific, depending on the oxidation state:

reduced HMGB1 performs as a chemoattractant DAMP, whereas the fully oxidized form is inactive (34, 35).

A recent paper by Ma and colleagues (36) has identified the cellular mediator of ICD to be specific inflammatory DC-like cells in mice. In particular, monocytes recruited into the tumor bed skewed toward a DC phenotype, which includes expression of inflammatory DC markers (CD11c⁺CD11b⁺Ly6C^{hi}). Tumors treated with mitoxantrone are infiltrated by CD11c+CD11b+ Lv6C^{hi} cells within 12 h of treatment and later by macrophages. This early infiltrate is responsible for the tumor-specific CD8⁺ Tcell response and anti-tumor activity, as these effects are abrogated by local expression of ATP-degrading enzyme CD39, pharmacological blockage of purinergic receptors, and neutralizing antibody against CD11. The extracellular release of ATP is used not only in different pathways, such as survival, death, adhesion, proliferation, differentiation, and mobility, but also as a "find-me signal" from apoptotic cells, which attract monocytes expressing purinergic receptors (Figure 1). Release of ATP during the apoptotic process is mediated by autophagy, which is induced by some chemotherapy treatments. Research has shown that knockdown of essential autophagy genes (ATG5, ATG7, and BECN1) reduces ATP secretion in apoptotic cells treated with anthracycline and results in reduced anti-tumor activity in vivo (37, 38). Apparently, ATP affects DCs by acting on two pathways. ATP, at a concentration of about 1 µM binds and activates P2Y2 receptor that induces monocyte attraction. At concentrations higher than 30 µM, ATP binds to P_{2×7} receptor and activates NALP3-ASC-inflammasome, inducing secretion of IL-1 β , which skews antigen presentation to CD8⁺ T cells toward a Th-1 phenotype. The different activation threshold of $P_{2\times7}$ and P_2Y_2 receptors fits with a migratory/activation model, where low ATP concentrations in the periphery stimulate monocyte migration and higher ATP concentrations in the tumor bed induce DC differentiation.

The ICD concept presents new questions and challenges. Most of the mouse tumor models used to investigate ICD *in vivo* were based on tumor cell lines that did not evolve under an immunological pressure but rather were expanded *in vitro*. By contrast, the efficacy of immunogenic chemotherapy, such as the combination of oxaliplatin and doxorubicin, in spontaneous mouse tumor models has been shown to be independent of immune responses (39). Thus, it is important to determine the immunogenicity of anticancer therapies in humans and to identify which myeloid cells are recruited by chemotherapy.

Some evidence suggests that chemotherapy in humans is associated with antigen-specific immune responses (40, 41). Research on apoptotic antigens conducted previously in our laboratory has shown that caspase cleavage of self antigens derived from apoptotic cells facilitates their cross-presentation by DCs (42). Upon phagocytosis of apoptotic cells, the caspase-fragmented antigens can be efficiently exported by phagosomes into the cytosol, where they are processed through the class I-processing pathway and cross-presented in the form of peptides on class I molecules. In particular, self antigens, such as lamin B1, actin cytoplasmic 1, and vimentin, are normally sequestered in cell scaffolds; thus, they are unavailable for cross-presentation unless they are cleaved by caspases (43). The CD8⁺ T-cell responses to these epitopes are present in chronic viral infections including those caused by



human immunodeficiency virus I and hepatitis C virus (42, 44), as well as in multiple sclerosis patients (45), and correlate with the disease progression.

To verify whether chemotherapy-induced apoptosis is immunogenic in humans, we analyzed OC patients who were treated with chemotherapy in the adjuvant setting (46) (Figure 1). To identify the immunogenic chemotherapy-associated antigens (CAAs), memory T cells from OC patients were interrogated with proteins isolated from primary OC cells by evaluating their response to two-dimensional electrophoresis gel-eluted OC proteins. Immunogenic CAAs were then molecularly characterized by mass spectrometry (MS)-based analysis. Memory T-cell responses against CAAs derived from apoptotic (but not live) OC cells correlated with prolonged survival in response to chemotherapy, thereby supporting the model of chemotherapy-induced apoptosis as an adjuvant of anti-tumor immunity (46). In addition, memory CD8⁺ T cells specific for individual OC proteins were elicited upon cross-presentation of CAAs or whole apoptotic (but not live) OC cells, suggesting that cross-presentation of tumor antigens and T-cell responses could contribute to the efficacy of anticancer chemotherapy. The antigen-specific CD4⁺ and CD8⁺ T-cell responses that were originally observed in the screening with

proteins extracted from primary cancer cells were further confirmed using corresponding recombinant proteins. It is interesting to note that antigen-specific CD4⁺ and CD8⁺ T cells produced either IFN- γ or IL-17, which is in line with the recently described Th17 cell-polarizing infDCs described in human OC cases (17). MS-based analysis of CAAs showed enrichment for proteins of stress pathways such as Ras-related protein, heat shock protein β 1, and heat shock protein α -B-crystallin. Taken together, these data suggest that CAAs correspond not necessarily to tumor cellspecific antigens but rather to ubiquitous proteins, which, under normal conditions, are sequestered in cell structures that limit their processing and presentation to T cells. However, as a result of the chemotherapy effects, apoptosis of tumor cells can induce upregulation of a wide range of ubiquitous proteins sufficient for subsequent processing and presentation by DCs, which in turn could prime the corresponding specific T cells (Figure 1).

There are many open questions surrounding how DCs can drive immune responses during chemotherapy in humans and whether the memory immune response against CAAs plays any role in preventing tumor relapses. We believe that the identification of new immune correlates can help in refining a more targeted and effective anticancer therapy.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

Fabio Palombo conducted the literature review and cowrote the manuscript, Chiara Focaccetti helped in finalizing the manuscript, and Vincenzo Barnaba provided overall supervision and cowrote the manuscript.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

This work was supported by the following grants obtained by Vincenzo Barnaba: Associazione Italiana per la Ricerca sul Cancro (AIRC) [progetto "Investigator Grant" (IG)-2010/13 n. 10756]; European Union grants (IMECS n. 201169, FP7-Health-2007-A, and SPHYNX n. 261365, FP7-Health-2010); Ministero della Sanità [Ricerca finalizzata (RFPS-2006-3-337923 and RFPS-2007-1-636647); Istituto Superiore di Sanità (Progetto AIDS-2008)]; Ministero dell'Istruzione, dell'Università e della Ricerca (MIUR) [Programmi di ricerca di interesse nazionale (PRIN)-2008/10 n. 7245/1; (PRIN)-2011/13 n. 2010LC747T-004; Ateneo Sapienza (2009-C26A09PELN, 2010-C26A1029ZS, 2011-C26A11BYWP, 2012-C26A12JL55); Fondo per gli investimenti di ricerca di base (FIRB)-2011/13 n. RBAP10TPXK]; Fondazione Cariplo (progetti n. 13535 and 3603 2010/12); FISM (Fondazione Italiana Sclerosi Multipla onlus) grant m. 2011/R/4; Fondazione Italiana per la Ricerca sull'Artrite (FIRA 2010); Istituto Italiano di Tecnologia (IIT) (A2 project 2013). This work was also supported by grants obtained by S.P. from Associazione Italiana Ricerca sul Cancro (MFAG 8726) and from Ministero dell'Istruzione, dell'Università e della Ricerca (FIRB-Futuro in ricerca RBFR12I3UB_002). We thank Dr. Daniele Accapezzato and Dr. Marino Paroli for their critical reading of the manuscript.

REFERENCES

- Robbins PF, Lu YC, El-Gamil M, Li YF, Gross C, Gartner J, et al. Mining exomic sequencing data to identify mutated antigens recognized by adoptively transferred tumor-reactive T cells. *Nat Med* (2013) 19:747–52. doi:10.1038/nm.3161
- Heath WR, Carbone FR. Cross-presentation, dendritic cells, tolerance and immunity. *Annu Rev Immunol* (2001) 19:47–64. doi:10.1146/annurev.immunol. 19.1.47
- Mellman I, Steinman RM. Dendritic cells: specialized and regulated antigen processing machines. *Cell* (2001) 106:255–8. doi:10.1016/S0092-8674(01)00449-4
- Satpathy AT, Wu X, Albring JC, Murphy KM. Re(de)fining the dendritic cell lineage. Nat Immunol (2012) 13:1145–54. doi:10.1038/ni.2467
- 5. Matzinger P. The danger model: a renewed sense of self. *Science* (2002) **296**:301–5. doi:10.1126/science.1071059
- Gabrilovich DI, Ostrand-Rosenberg S, Bronte V. Coordinated regulation of myeloid cells by tumours. *Nat Rev Immunol* (2012) 12:253–68. doi:10.1038/ nri3175
- 7. Banchereau J, Steinman RM. Dendritic cells and the control of immunity. *Nature* (1998) **392**:245–52. doi:10.1038/32588
- Bennett CL, Clausen BE. DC ablation in mice: promises, pitfalls, and challenges. Trends Immunol (2007) 28:525–31. doi:10.1016/j.it.2007.08.011
- Schraml BU, van Blijswijk J, Zelenay S, Whitney PG, Filby A, Acton SE, et al. Genetic tracing via DNGR-1 expression history defines dendritic cells as a hematopoietic lineage. *Cell* (2013) 154:843–58. doi:10.1016/j.cell.2013.07.014
- Zelenay S, Reis e Sousa C. Adaptive immunity after cell death. Trends Immunol (2013) 34:329–35. doi:10.1016/j.it.2013.03.005
- Segura E, Durand M, Amigorena S. Similar antigen cross-presentation capacity and phagocytic functions in all freshly isolated human lymphoid organ-resident dendritic cells. J Exp Med (2013) 210:1035–47. doi:10.1084/jem.20121103
- Hammer GE, Ma A. Molecular control of steady-state dendritic cell maturation and immune homeostasis. *Annu Rev Immunol* (2013) 31:743–91. doi:10.1146/annurev-immunol-020711-074929

- Hemmi H, Kaisho T, Takeuchi O, Sato S, Sanjo H, Hoshino K, et al. Small antiviral compounds activate immune cells via the TLR7 MyD88-dependent signaling pathway. *Nat Immunol* (2002) 3:196–200. doi:10.1038/ni758
- 14. Honda K, Sakaguchi S, Nakajima C, Watanabe A, Yanai H, Matsumoto M, et al. Selective contribution of IFN-alpha/beta signaling to the maturation of dendritic cells induced by double-stranded RNA or viral infection. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (2003) **100**:10872–7. doi:10.1073/pnas.1934678100
- Reizis B, Colonna M, Trinchieri G, Barrat F, Gilliet M. Plasmacytoid dendritic cells: one-trick ponies or workhorses of the immune system? *Nat Rev Immunol* (2011) 11:558–65. doi:10.1038/nri3027
- Cisse B, Caton ML, Lehner M, Maeda T, Scheu S, Locksley R, et al. Transcription factor E2-2 is an essential and specific regulator of plasmacytoid dendritic cell development. *Cell* (2008) 135:37–48. doi:10.1016/j.cell.2008.09.016
- Segura E, Touzot M, Bohineust A, Cappuccio A, Chiocchia G, Hosmalin A, et al. Human inflammatory dendritic cells induce Th17 cell differentiation. *Immunity* (2013) 38:336–48. doi:10.1016/j.immuni.2012.10.018
- Pinzon-Charry A, Ho CS, Maxwell T, McGuckin MA, Schmidt C, Furnival C, et al. Numerical and functional defects of blood dendritic cells in early- and latestage breast cancer. Br J Cancer (2007) 97:1251–9. doi:10.1038/sj.bjc.6604018
- Perrot I, Blanchard D, Freymond N, Isaac S, Guibert B, Pacheco Y, et al. Dendritic cells infiltrating human non-small cell lung cancer are blocked at immature stage. *J Immunol* (2007) 178:2763–9.
- Bellone G, Carbone A, Smirne C, Scirelli T, Buffolino A, Novarino A, et al. Cooperative induction of a tolerogenic dendritic cell phenotype by cytokines secreted by pancreatic carcinoma cells. J Immunol (2006) 177:3448–60.
- Lee BN, Follen M, Rodriquez G, Shen DY, Malpica A, Shearer WT, et al. Deficiencies in myeloid antigen-presenting cells in women with cervical squamous intraepithelial lesions. *Cancer* (2006) 107:999–1007. doi:10.1002/cncr.22092
- 22. Ormandy LA, Farber A, Cantz T, Petrykowska S, Wedemeyer SH, Horning M, et al. Direct ex vivo analysis of dendritic cells in patients with hepatocellular carcinoma. *World J Gastroenterol* (2006) **12**:3275–82.
- Pinzon-Charry A, Ho CS, Laherty R, Maxwell T, Walker D, Gardiner RA, et al. A population of HLA-DR+ immature cells accumulates in the blood dendritic cell compartment of patients with different types of cancer. *Neoplasia* (2005) 7:1112–22. doi:10.1593/neo.05442
- Kusmartsev S, Eruslanov E, Kübler H, Tseng T, Sakai Y, Su Z, et al. Oxidative stress regulates expression of VEGFR1 in myeloid cells: link to tumor-induced immune suppression in renal cell carcinoma. *J Immunol* (2008) 181:346–53.
- 25. Yang L, Huang J, Ren X, Gorska AE, Chytil A, Aakre M, et al. Abrogation of TGF beta signaling in mammary carcinomas recruits Gr-1+CD11b+ myeloid cells that promote metastasis. *Cancer Cell* (2008) 13:23–35. doi:10.1016/j.ccr.2007. 12.004
- Lawrence MS, Stojanov P, Polak P, Kryukov GV, Cibulskis K, Sivachenko A, et al. Mutational heterogeneity in cancer and the search for new cancer-associated genes. *Nature* (2013) 499:214–8. doi:10.1038/nature12213
- 27. Spisek R, Charalambous A, Mazumder A, Vesole DH, Jagannath S, Dhodapkar MV. Bortezomib enhances dendritic cell (DC)-mediated induction of immunity to human myeloma via exposure of cell surface heat shock protein 90 on dying tumor cells: therapeutic implications. *Blood* (2007) 109:4839–45. doi:10.1182/blood-2006-10-054221
- Krysko DV, Garg AD, Kaczmarek A, Krysko O, Agostinis P, Vandenabeele P. Immunogenic cell death and DAMPs in cancer therapy. *Nat Rev Cancer* (2012) 12:860–75. doi:10.1038/nrc3380
- Obeid M, Tesniere A, Ghiringhelli F, Fimia GM, Apetoh L, Perfettini JL, et al. Calreticulin exposure dictates the immunogenicity of cancer cell death. *Nat Med* (2007) 13:54–61. doi:10.1038/nm1523
- 30. Martin SJ, Reutelingsperger CP, McGahon AJ, Rader JA, van Schie RC, LaFace DM, et al. Early redistribution of plasma membrane phosphatidylserine is a general feature of apoptosis regardless of the initiating stimulus: inhibition by overexpression of Bcl-2 and Abl. J Exp Med (1995) 182:1545–56. doi:10.1084/jem.182.5.1545
- Panaretakis T, Kepp O, Brockmeier U, Tesniere A, Bjorklund AC, Chapman DC, et al. Mechanisms of pre-apoptotic calreticulin exposure in immunogenic cell death. *EMBO J* (2009) 28:578–90. doi:10.1038/emboj.2009.1
- 32. Apetoh L, Ghiringhelli F, Tesniere A, Obeid M, Ortiz C, Criollo A, et al. Toll-like receptor 4-dependent contribution of the immune system to anticancer chemotherapy and radiotherapy. *Nat Med* (2007) 13:1050–9. doi:10. 1038/nm1622

- 33. Jube S, Rivera ZS, Bianchi ME, Powers A, Wang E, Pagano I, et al. Cancer cell secretion of the DAMP protein HMGB1 supports progression in malignant mesothelioma. *Cancer Res* (2012) **72**:3290–301. doi:10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-11-3481
- 34. Venereau E, Casalgrandi M, Schiraldi M, Antoine DJ, Cattaneo A, De Marchis F, et al. Mutually exclusive redox forms of HMGB1 promote cell recruitment or proinflammatory cytokine release. J Exp Med (2012) 209:1519–28. doi:10.1084/jem.20120189
- 35. Yang H, Lundbäck P, Ottosson L, Erlandsson-Harris H, Venereau E, Bianchi ME, et al. Redox modification of cysteine residues regulates the cytokine activity of high mobility group box-1 (HMGB1). *Mol Med* (2012) 18:250–9. doi:10.2119/molmed.2011.00389
- Ma Y, Adjemian S, Mattarollo SR, Yamazaki T, Aymeric L, Yang H, et al. Anticancer chemotherapy-induced intratumoral recruitment and differentiation of antigen-presenting cells. *Immunity* (2013) 38:729–41. doi:10.1016/j.immuni. 2013.03.003
- Michaud M, Martins I, Sukkurwala AQ, Adjemian S, Ma Y, Pellegatti P, et al. Autophagy-dependent anticancer immune responses induced by chemotherapeutic agents in mice. *Science* (2011) 334:1573–7. doi:10.1126/science.1208347
- Martins I, Michaud M, Sukkurwala AQ, Adjemian S, Ma Y, Shen S, et al. Premortem autophagy determines the immunogenicity of chemotherapy-induced cancer cell death. *Autophagy* (2012) 8:413–5. doi:10.4161/auto.19009
- Ciampricotti M, Hau CS, Doornebal CW, Jonkers J, de Visser KE. Chemotherapy response of spontaneous mammary tumors is independent of the adaptive immune system. *Nat Med* (2012) 18:344–6; author reply 346. doi:10.1038/nm. 2652
- 40. Zappasodi R, Pupa SM, Ghedini GC, Bongarzone I, Magni M, Cabras AD, et al. Improved clinical outcome in indolent B-cell lymphoma patients vaccinated with autologous tumor cells experiencing immunogenic death. *Cancer Res* (2010) **70**:9062–72. doi:10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-10-1825
- Paroli M, Bellati F, Videtta M, Focaccetti C, Mancone C, Donato T, et al. Discovery of chemotherapy-associated ovarian cancer antigens by interrogating memory T cells. *Int J Cancer* (2013). doi:10.1002/ijc.28515. [Epub ahead of print].

- Rawson PM, Molette C, Videtta M, Altieri L, Franceschini D, Donato T, et al. Cross-presentation of caspase-cleaved apoptotic self antigens in HIV infection. *Nat Med* (2007) 13:1431–9. doi:10.1038/nm1679
- Barnaba V. Tuning cross-presentation of apoptotic T cells in immunopathology. Adv Exp Med Biol (2013) 785:27–35. doi:10.1007/978-1-4614-6217-0_3
- 44. Franceschini D, Del Porto P, Piconese S, Trella E, Accapezzato D, Paroli M, et al. Polyfunctional type-1, -2, and -17 CD8(+) T cell responses to apoptotic selfantigens correlate with the chronic evolution of hepatitis C virus infection. *PLoS Pathog* (2012) 8:e1002759. doi:10.1371/journal.ppat.1002759
- 45. Lolli F, Martini H, Citro A, Franceschini D, Portaccio E, Amato MP, et al. Increased CD8+ T cell responses to apoptotic T cell-associated antigens in multiple sclerosis. J Neuroinflammation (2013) 10:94. doi:10.1186/1742-2094-10-94
- Zitvogel L, Kepp O, Kroemer G. Immune parameters affecting the efficacy of chemotherapeutic regimens. *Nat Rev Clin Oncol* (2011) 8:151–60. doi:10.1038/ nrclinonc.2010.223

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Received: 24 October 2013; accepted: 20 December 2013; published online: 06 January 2014.

Citation: Palombo F, Focaccetti C and Barnaba V (2014) Therapeutic implications of immunogenic cell death in human cancer. Front. Immunol. 4:503. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2013.00503

This article was submitted to Tumor Immunity, a section of the journal Frontiers in Immunology.

Copyright © 2014 Palombo, Focaccetti and Barnaba. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) or licensor are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.



The dark side of dendritic cells: development and exploitation of tolerogenic activity that favor tumor outgrowth and immune escape

Barbara Seliger * and Chiara Massa

Institute for Medical Immunology, Martin Luther University Halle-Wittenberg, Halle (Saale), Germany

Edited by:

Kristian Michael Hargadon, Hampden-Sydney College, USA

Reviewed by:

Mansour Mohamadzadeh, University of Florida, USA Luis De La Cruz-Merino, Hospital Universitario Virgen Macarena, Spain

*Correspondence:

Barbara Seliger, Institute of Medical Immunology, Martin Luther University Halle-Wittenberg, Magdeburger Street 2, Halle (Saale) 06112, Germany e-mail: barbara.seliger@uk-halle.de

INTRODUCTION

The immune system evolved with the difficult task of preserving the integrity of the "self," while protecting it from "non-self" and/or dangerous invaders, thus finding the right balance between aggression and tolerance. A central role in orchestrating the different immune cell subpopulations is played by dendritic cells (DC), the major professional antigen presenting cells (APC). Over the last two decades, many different DC subsets have been identified and classified into myeloid DC, which comprise all monocytederived cells and blood-resident CD1c⁺ DC and into plasmacytoid DC (PDC).

A particularly difficult task for the immune system is to fight tumors, since they derive from the "self," but based on their high proliferative potential they are dangerous for the survival of the host. Moreover, due to the high mutation rates of tumor cells the selection pressure posed by an immune response can result in tumor immunoediting with the outgrowth of immune escape variants or the induction of a suppressive microenvironment. In line with the central role of DC in balancing response versus tolerance, many of the immune escape mechanisms displayed by cancer cells affect DC. These include alterations in the frequency and/or function of circulating and tumor-infiltrating DC in patients with tumors of different histologies. In particular, DC in cancer patients can be affected in their differentiation capacity, with either enhanced apoptosis or skewed phenotype toward immature cells with suppressive properties collectively named myeloid derived suppressor cells [MDSC; (1, 2)], in their ability to process and/or present tumor-associated antigens (TAA) and in their ability to interact with effector cells, e.g., to activate and/or correctly polarize them.

Studies performed with DC differentiated *in vitro* in the presence of tumor cells or of their conditioned medium as well

Dendritic cells (DC) play a central role in the regulation of the immune responses by providing the information needed to decide between tolerance, ignorance, or active responses. For this reason different therapies aim at manipulating DC to obtain the desired response, such as enhanced cell-mediated toxicity against tumor and infected cells or the induction of tolerance in autoimmunity and transplantation. In the last decade studies performed in these settings have started to identify (some) molecules/factors involved in the acquisition of a tolerogenic DC phenotype as well as the underlying mechanisms of their regulatory function on different immune cell populations.

Keywords: dendritic cell, tumor, immune escape, tolerance, immunotherapy

as with purified tumor-infiltrating DC identified the underlying mechanisms responsible for such alterations leading to a pro-tumorigenic phenotype. This review summarizes the known processes employed by tumor cells to subvert professional APC (summarized in **Table 1**) and how the increasing knowledge can not only help in fighting cancer, but also in inducing tolerance to transplanted organs and suppression of autoimmune diseases.

MYELOID DC AND CANCER

Tumor cells can influence the phenotype and function of myeloid cells at different time points of their life and with distinct mechanisms. These include the metabolic shift of tumor cells toward the anaerobic glycolytic pathway for glucose degradation resulting in increased concentrations of extracellular lactate and an acidification of the microenvironment, the so-called Warburg effect (3). Monocytes cultured *in vitro* in the presence of lactate and low pH have shown an impaired differentiation toward DC favoring either an expansion of MDSC (4) or of macrophages that promote a Th17 polarization (5). Despite prolonged incubation in the presence of lactate impairs DC responsiveness to lipopolysaccharide [LPS; (6)], a transient exposition promotes DC maturation and enhances their ability to induce a type 1 immune response (7). In addition to pH alterations, the tumor microenvironment is characterized by hypoxia that skews DC toward a type 2 polarization (8), reduces their ability to uptake antigens (Ag), and alters their migratory properties (9).

In addition, expression of hyaluronan (HA), a component of the extracellular matrix of the tumor stroma, correlates with tumor invasiveness and poor survival of patients with ovarian, breast, and colorectal cancer (10–13), while high HA levels correlate with more differentiated tumor phenotype and an enhanced survival in patients with oral squamous carcinoma (14). The effects of HA

Table 1 | Effects of tumor-derived molecules on APC functions.

APC properties	Factor	Effects ^a	Reference
Differentiation	Ganglioside	Reduced CD1a. Reduced DC from CD34 progenitor	(77, 78)
	HA	Suppressive Mf promoted over DC	(18)
	HLA-G	Promoted expansion of MDSC in vivo	(27)
	Lactate/pH	Impaired differentiation (no CD1a), promoted MDSC expansion	(4, 6)
	Mucins	More immature phenotype	(59, 60)
	PGE ₂	Promoted MDSC differentiation	(69)
	VEGF	Promoted MDSC differentiation	(40-42)
	Wnt5a	Impaired differentiation of monocytes toward mDC	(53, 55)
Vigration	Ganglioside	Lower CCR7 and impaired migration toward CCL19 (LC) and CCL3	(74, 78)
	Hypoxia	Enhanced migration toward SDF-1 α and CCL4; reduced CCR7 levels	(8, 9)
	PGE ₂	Enhanced expression and functionality of CCR7 (mDC). Reduced CCR7/CXCR4 ratio for tissue retention (PDC)	(62, 100)
	TGF-β	Reduced migration <i>in vivo</i> to LN and <i>in vitro</i> to CCL19; enhanced expression of inflammatory CCR	(44, 45)
Ag uptake and processing	Ganglioside	Reduced expression of various APM components; reduced endocytosis	(78, 79)
3 - p	HLA-G	Reduced MHC class II antigen processing	(22)
	Hypoxia	Reduced endocytosis	(8, 9)
	TGF-β	Reduced endocytosis and phagocytosis	(44)
	Wnt5a	Lower fluid phase and CD206-mediated Ag internalization	(55)
Surface molecules	Ganglioside	Lower CD40, CD54, CD80, CD86, CD83 (LC, mDC)	(74, 77, 82)
	Glycodelin	Reduced CD83 and CD86	(33)
	HLA-G	Reduced HLA-DR, CD80 and CD86	(22, 24–26)
	Hypoxia	Reduced CD40 and HLA-DR	(8)
	IL-10	Reduced CD86	(177)
	Mucin	Reduced CD40, CD83 and CD86	(58–60)
	PGE ₂	Enhanced OX40L and CD70 induction (mDC). Reduced CD40 (PDC)	(63, 64, 100)
	TGF-β	Reduced CD80 and CD40	(44)
	Wnt5a	Reduced CD80 and CD86 (PDC)	(56)
Secreted molecules	Ganglioside	Reduced IL-6, IL-12 and TNF- α , increased PGE ₂ secretion	(59, 82)
	Glycodelin	Enhanced IL-6 by monocytes and Mf. Reduced IL-12 and higher IL-10 in mDC	(33, 34)
	HA	Enhanced IL-10 by suppressive Mf. Reduced IL-12/IL-10 ratio in mDC	(18, 19)
	HLA-G	Reduced IL-12, enhanced IL-6	(24, 26)
	Hypoxia	Reduced IL-12 and TNF- α and enhanced IL-10	(8)
	IL-10	Reduced IL-12 and/or IFN- α production (PDC)	(101, 102)
	Lactate/pH	Reduced IL-12, IL-6 and TNF-α; enhanced IL23	(5, 6)
	Mucin	Reduced IL-12, increased IL-10	(58–60)
	PGE ₂	Reduced IL-12/IL23 ratio, reduced CXCL10, CCL5 and CCL19; enhanced IDO (mDC). Reduced IFN-a and TNF-a (PDC)	(66, 70, 71, 100, 102
	sCD83	Enhanced TGF β and consequently IDO (PDC, mDC)	(51)
	TGF-β	Reduced IFN- α and TNF- α (PDC)	(100, 103)
	Wnt5a	Inhibited IFN- α secretion (PDC); enhanced TGF- β and IL-10; reduced IL6 and IL-12	(54–56)
Survival	Ganglioside	Enhanced apoptosis (LC, mDC)	(74, 75)
	Glycodelin	Contradictory results	(34)
	НА	Enhanced apoptosis via NO induction	(20)
	IL-10	Enhanced apoptosis (PDC)	(101)
	Mucins	Enhanced apoptosis early during differentiation	(57)
nteraction with NK cells	HLA-G	Reduced activation (CD69, IFN- γ secretion, cytotoxicity)	(26)
	PGE ₂	Reduced recruitment and induction of IFN-y	(71)

(Continued)

Table 1 | Continued

APC properties	Factor	Effects ^a	Reference
Interaction with nk-T cells	TGF-β	Reduced CD1d and lipid presentation	(46)
Interaction with T cells	Ganglioside	Reduced allo-MLR (LC). Reduced proliferation to TT and allo-MLR (mDC)	(74, 78, 81, 82)
	Glycodelin	Reduced induction of proliferation. Reduced IFN-y secretion	(28, 34)
	HA	Enhanced T cell apoptosis via ROS production	(19)
	HLA-G	Reduced allo-MLR, more IL-10 secreting CD8 ⁺ T, anergic CD4 ⁺ T	(22, 25)
	Hypoxia	Enhanced IL-4 over IFN-γ secretion, type 2 skew	(8)
	IL-10	Enhanced proliferation of CD4 ⁺ T and skew toward Th2 (PDC). Reduced	(102, 177)
		allo-MLR and anergy induction	
	Lactate/pH	Reduced Ag specific CD8 ⁺ T proliferation; enhanced IL-17 over IFN- γ secretion	(5, 6)
	Mucin	Reduced allo-MLR, reduced IFN- γ secretion by CD8+ T	(60)
	PGE ₂	Enhanced IL-17 and reduced IFN- γ , inhibition via IDO and soluble CD25 (mDC).	(65, 66, 70, 102)
		Enhanced proliferation of CD4 ⁺ T and skew toward Th2 (PDC)	
	sCD83	Induction/expansion of CD4 ⁺ CD25 ⁺ Foxp3 ⁺ Treg	(51)
	TGF-β	Reduced proliferation in allo-MLR and to peptide, reduced IFN- $\!\gamma$ secretion	(44)
	Wnt5a	Reduced IFN-γ secretion, higher IL-10 secretion. Reduced proliferation	(54, 55)

^aWhen nothing given between brackets, mDC are considered.

PDC, plasmacytoid DC; LC, Langerhans cells; Mf, macrophages; mDC, myeloid DC; LN, lymph node; MLR, mixed leukocyte reaction.

on DC are controversial and possibly related to its size: whereas low molecular weight HA can induce DC maturation *in vitro* (15, 16) and improve their functionality *in vivo* as cancer vaccine (17), intermediate sized HA impairs monocyte differentiation resulting in immunosuppressive APC characterized by a macrophage-like phenotype $(CD14^+, CD1a^{low})$, a reduced upregulation of costimulatory molecules and inflammatory cytokines after stimulation with toll-like receptor (TLR) ligands and an enhanced secretion of interleukin (IL)-10 (18, 19). Moreover, HA-conditioned DC can secrete nitric oxide (NO) and reactive oxygen species (ROS) that can induce apoptosis in DC and in co-cultured T cells, respectively (19, 20).

An other escape strategy exploited by tumor cells is the hijacking of endogenous mechanisms of tolerance induction used by immuno-privileged organs. This is mediated by the non-classical HLA-G antigen, which exhibit a tightly controlled physiologic expression restricted to cornea, thymic epithelial cells, reproductive organs, embryonal tissues, and the extravillous cytotrophoblasts at the maternal-fetal interface. Furthermore, HLA-G is often expressed in solid and hematologic tumors either as a transmembrane and/or a secreted/shed protein, thereby protecting tumor cells from the cytolytic activity of natural killer (NK) and T cells (21). In addition, HLA-G can also impair myeloid DC by binding to the inhibitory receptors ILT2 and ILT4 in humans and PIR-B in mice (22–24). Receptor triggering by HLA-G inhibits the nuclear translocation of the transcription factor NF- κ B (25), which is consequently accompanied by reduced expression of costimulatory molecules and proinflammatory cytokines as well as impaired presentation of MHC class II-restricted epitopes (22). As a consequence, HLA-G treated DC lack the ability to induce NK cells activation (26) and promote anergy of effector cells and differentiation of regulatory T cell [Treg; (22)]. Furthermore, tumor-expressed HLA-G induced suppressive MDSC and tumor growth in vivo (27).

Glycodelin (previously called placental protein 14 or PP14, α2globulin, progesterone-associated endometrial protein or zonabinding inhibitory factor) has been originally identified as the molecule responsible for the immunosuppressive activity in the decidua during early gestation (28), but is also expressed in tumors of the reproductive tract, e.g., ovarian carcinoma, where its glycosylated form glycodelin A (GdA) correlated with unfavorable prognosis (29). Furthermore, glycodelin correlate with a worse patients' prognosis in familiar, non-BRCA1/2 breast carcinoma (30) and in lung cancer (31). In vitro characterization of glycodelin function demonstrated suppressive effects on all immune cell populations (32), including DC. Treatment of DC with GdA results in lower expression levels of costimulatory molecules, a low IL-12/IL-10 ratio (33), and a reduced ability to induce a type 1 polarization of effector cells (34). Depending on the culture conditions, GdA has also been reported to induce or suppress apoptosis in monocytes [see discussion in Ref. (34)].

Other "physiologic" tolerogenic factors borrowed by tumor cells include indoleamine 2,3-dioxygenase [IDO; (35)], adenosine production via CD73 expression (36), and secretion of IL-10 (37, 38), transforming growth factor- β [TGF- β ; (39)] or soluble CD83 (sCD83).

Transforming growth factor- β plays not only a role in MDSC development, like vascular endothelial growth factor [VEGF; (40–42)], IL-6 and/or macrophage colony stimulating factor [M-CSF; (43)], but also impairs the DC migratory capacity by altering the expression pattern of chemokine receptors (44, 45) and inducing downregulation of CD1d thus impairing DC interactions with NK-T cells (46).

sCD83 was found in total blood cell cultures after stimulation and might represent a feed back mechanism to shut down an immune response (47). Indeed, enhanced serum levels of sCD83 detected in hematologic malignancies and solid tumors, like lung carcinoma correlate with shorter tumor-free survival (48–50). In vitro treatment of DC with recombinant sCD83 results in enhanced IDO production and induction of TGF- β producing Foxp3⁺ Treg (51).

An additional strategy of immune escape mechanisms exploited by tumor cells consists in the upregulation of molecules with negative effects on DC. These include alterations in the Wnt/ β -catenin pathway inducing activation of MerTK receptor (c-mer proto-oncogene tyrosine kinase) in infiltrating cells like macrophages and DC that help tumor growth *in vivo* (52). *In vitro* studies have found that tumor-derived Wnt5a can impair the differentiation of monocytes toward DC (53) and inhibit the maturation response to TLR ligand by myeloid DC (54, 55) as well as by PDC (56).

Mucins are expressed by many epithelial tumors and their presence during differentiation of monocytes toward DC results in less differentiated cells with increased apoptosis (57), impaired response to TLR ligand stimulation, cytokine production skewed toward the immunosuppressive IL-10, impaired ability to induce proliferation of T cells, and enhanced induction of suppressive T cells (58–60). Those effects seem to be mediated by binding to the mannose receptor, siglec-3 and -9 (57–59).

A hallmark of many tumors is the secretion of high levels of prostaglandin E₂ (PGE₂) due to upregulation of cyclooxygenase (COX)1/2. The consequences of PGE₂ on DC functionality are complex. While it represent a component of the "gold standard" cocktail for vaccine DC maturation (61) due to its role in promoting CCR7-mediated migration (62), and it also induces the expression of costimulatory molecules like OX40-L and CD70 promoting T cell functions (63, 64), it can inhibit the synthesis of IL-12p70 (65), while favoring the secretion of IL-23 that promote Th17 immune responses (66) and tumor development (67, 68). Moreover, PGE2 enhances MDSC differentiation (69), induces expression of IDO and soluble CD25 that inhibit T cell stimulation (70) and impairs the cross talk with NK cells (71). A possible explanation for the contrasting effects can be due to the specific receptor triggered by PGE₂ (72) and/or the relative ratio between PGE₂-treated DC and effector cells (73).

Altered and/or secreted gangliosides have also been demonstrated to affect DC differentiation and survival (74–78). Moreover, gangliosides impair the ability of monocytes to induce T cell proliferation due to a downregulated expression of components of the antigen processing machinery [APM; (79, 80)], a suppressed costimulation and a reduced cytokine production (81, 82). *In vivo*, a correlation between elevated levels of the ganglioside GM3 and a higher frequency of immature DC was found in non-small-cell lung cancer (83).

Furthermore, "tumor-deviated" DC/MDSC exhibit an altered phosphorylation pattern of STAT3 (84, 85) that has also been linked to the inhibition of IL-12p40 transcription (86) and/or of p38 (87) that is involved in the induction of Th17 responses (88).

In addition to boost the immune suppression, tumorconditioned DC can also provide direct help to tumor cells by secreting mitogens for the tumor cells (89), by favoring the epithelial mesenchymal transition (90), by promoting their invasiveness and ability to metastasize (8, 90) and by inducing angiogenesis (91, 92).

PDC AND CANCER

Plasmacytoid DC have been found in the infiltrate of various human solid tumors like melanoma, breast, ovarian, and head and neck carcinoma, where they frequently correlated with a worse patients' prognosis (93–96). Functionally, PDC can be recruited by the tumor through its secretion of CXCL12 (also called SDF-1 α) and CCL20 (97–99). Then, factors locally released by tumor cells, like TGF- β , tumor necrosis factor (TNF)- α , IL-10, and PEG₂ (95, 100–104) as well as triggering of the PDC-specific receptor ILT7 (105, 106) induce the immunosuppressive properties of PDC. Indeed, tumor-conditioned PDC display a semi-mature phenotype with expression of costimulatory molecules but impaired secretion of IFN- α (93, 101, 103). In addition, tumor-associated, tolerogenic PDC showed an upregulation of the transcription factor Foxo3 (107) and an impaired migration to lymphoid organs due to reduced CCR7 expression (100).

Characterization of the immunosuppressive activity of PDC in vitro have highlighted their ability to induce unresponsiveness of effector cells, to promote the development of suppressive CD8⁺ T cells, to differentiate naïve CD4⁺ T cells toward Foxp3⁺ or IL-10 producing Treg as well as to expand pre-existing Treg (108–113). From the molecular point of view, important roles have been identified for ICOS ligand (ICOS-L), IDO, notch ligand delta-like 4 (Dll4), and granzyme B. ICOS-L is upregulated shortly after maturation induced by CD40-L or TLR9 triggering (108), is involved in inducing IL-10 production in CD45RO⁺ T cells (114) and in sustaining the survival and proliferation of Foxp3⁺ Treg (115). A role in vivo for this pathway is supported by the co-localization between ICOS⁺ Treg and ICOS-L⁺ PDC within breast and ovarian carcinoma (115, 116). Murine and human PDC can produce IDO in vitro upon triggering of TLR9, CTLA-4, GITR, or CD200 (117-119). PDC expressing IDO have been identified in melanoma draining lymph nodes in murine models and human patients and have been correlated with the activation of naïve and mature Treg (120-122). In murine models, the constitutively expressed Dll4 allow PDC to induce Th1 cells to produce IL-10 even under type 1 polarizing conditions, thus favoring the shut down of an immune response (123). Granzyme B, whose secretion by PDC is boosted by tumor-derived IL-3 and IL-10, is involved in the downregulation of the CD3^{\zeta} chain of T effector cells, thereby resulting in their anergy or deletion by apoptosis induction (124, 125).

In addition to their immunosuppressive role, PDC play a protumorigenic role by promoting angiogenesis via secretion of TNF- α and IL-8 (126) and favoring metastasis dissemination into the bone (127).

IMPROVED PROTOCOLS FOR DC-BASED VACCINATION AGAINST CANCER

Two major strategies of DC-based tumor immunotherapy have been implemented. The first is based on the *ex vivo* production and manipulation of DC that are then injected into the patients while the second targets the DC directly *in vivo* (**Figure 1**).

The classical strategy for the first approach consists in the differentiation of CD14⁺ circulating monocytes or CD34⁺-mobilized precursor cells into immature DC by culturing them in the presence of granulocyte-monocyte colony stimulating factor (GM-CSF) and IL-4 for 7 days, after which they are loaded with TAA



FIGURE 1 | Current DC-based strategies of tumor immunotherapy. In the *ex vivo* strategy, monocytes-derived immature DC or terminally differentiated blood DC are loaded with tumor antigens and/or induced to mature before *in vivo* injections. Whereas systemically injected DC will migrate to the draining lymph node to prime effector T cells, intratumorally injected DC have to interact with effector cells within the suppressed microenvironment. Direct *in situ* targeting strategies aim at recovering the functionality of infiltrating DC, either promoting their correct differentiation or providing stimuli to foster their functionality. Ag, antigen; ATRA, all-trans retinoic acid.

and induced to mature before *in vivo* injection. Studies performed using cells from patients with different solid as well as hematologic cancer histotypes have demonstrated that precursor cells are either not irreversibly impaired and can be matured with this protocol or that is possible to rescue their differentiation into functional DC upon inhibition of STAT3, p38, and/or IL-6 (128, 129). Despite the good results obtained *in vitro* with patient-derived DC, and the induction of immune response in treated patients demonstrated by expanded Ag-specific T cells and delayed type hypersensitivity (DTH) reactions, the first clinical trials with vaccine DC resulted in poor clinical outcome. Based on the increased knowledge of the DC biology and of tumor escape mechanisms the protocol for the *ex vivo* production of vaccine DC has to be optimized (**Box 1**).

The initial poor results of DC-based immunotherapy could be due to the immature or only partially mature phenotype of the DC, and in particular to their reduced levels of IL-12 secretion. Thus, many alternative maturation protocols have been developed, which induce DC with an enhanced IL-12 secretion and functionality *in vitro*, with some of them that have also reached clinical application. The "alpha type-1 polarized DC" obtained upon maturation in the presence of IL-1 β , IFN- α , IFN- γ , poly IC, and TNF- α (130) have been tested in patients with recurrent glioma
Box 1 | Optimization of DC-based tumor immunotherapy.

Different anatomical and tumor derived factors pose problems to the success of DC-based therapy. Following is a list of key points that have to be optimized.

(A) *Ex vivo* DC preparation

- DC subset: terminally differentiated blood DC (PDC, CD1c⁺ DC, mixed) or monocyte derived DC (GM-CSF + IL-4, GM-CSF + IFN-α, GM-CSF + IL-15; standard 7 days or shortened 2–3 days protocol).
- Antigen loading: protein, DNA, or mRNA; one or multiple Ag, defined or total tumor repertoire.

• Maturation: TLR-ligand(s) (poly IC, MPLA, R848) and/or immune-derived (CD40-L, IFN-y). Is PGE2 to be added for the migratory ability?

Targeted effector cells: CD8⁺ T cell only; also CD4⁺ T helper and/or innate effector cells (NK, iNKT, γδT cells)

(B) Vaccination protocol:

- Injection route: intratumor versus systemic (intradermal, intramuscular, subcutaneous, intranodal)
- Number of injection and distance in between

• Optimal DC dose

• Combination with other treatment modalities (remove suppressive populations, reduce local immunosuppression, enhance tumor permeability...)

(131, 132), melanoma, and colorectal cancer (NCT00390338 and NCT00558051 at http://www.clinicaltrials.gov, respectively), whereas DC stimulated with LPS and IFN- γ have been used for the treatment of patients with breast cancer (133, 134). DC stimulated with the streptococcus-derived immunotherapeutic agent OK432 have been used against hepatocellular carcinoma (135) and colorectal cancer (136).

In parallel to the manipulation of the maturation protocol, the type of DC was also optimized. Alternative differentiation protocols for monocytes have been tested to obtain more physiologic DC types. GM-CSF has been combined with IFN-α to induce inflammatory DC, which have already been tested in patients with medullary thyroid carcinoma (137), or with IL-15 to induce Langerhans-like DC that despite the enhanced functionality in vitro did not provide higher responses in melanoma patients when compared to standard DC (138). Furthermore, terminally differentiated DC have been used both as single or mixed populations. Regarding the myeloid subset, in a preclinical trial sufficient amount of CD1c⁺ blood DC have been purified from healthy as well as melanoma and Bowel cancer disease patients under GMP (good manufacturing practice) conditions and could be induced to secrete proinflammatory cytokines, thus opening the way for a possible clinical application (139). Two different approaches using PDC have been developed. A leukemic cell line with PDC characteristic has been isolated and, after having demonstrated functional activity in humanized murine models (140) and with melanoma PBL in vitro (141) will be evaluated in a clinical trial in HLA-matched melanoma patients (NCT01863108). In contrast, de Vries and co-workers have employed autologous, patientderived PDC in a phase I clinical trial against melanoma (142). A GMP platform has been established to purify all subtypes of circulating APC resulting in a population able to induce Agspecific CTL both from healthy donors and myeloma patients (143). The injection of a highly purified DC population does not seem to be required since the sipuleucel-T (also called APC8015 or Provenge®) vaccination approved by the Food and Drug Administration (FDA) for treatment of prostate cancer patients is based on a highly mixed population, in which the DC targeted with TAA only represent a small component (144, 145).

Other optimizations have been also evaluated in order to modulate the suppressive environment that impair the *in vivo* ability of the vaccine DC to prime immune responses. This is mediated by rendering DC insensitive to the tumor-induced suppressive microenvironment by blocking inhibitory signaling pathways, like TGF-β (146, 147), IL-6 (148), and STAT3 (129, 149, 150). On the other side, the costimulatory function of DC have been further improved by providing the T lymphocytes with all required positive signals and/or the absence of negative feedback regulators in order to acquire full functionality and resistance to suppressor cells. DC unable to produce IL-10 (151, 152), insensitive to CTLA-4 triggering (153), providing enhanced levels of CD70 (154-157), CD80 (154), or GITR-L costimulation (153, 158) have proved to induce T cells with enhanced resistance to Treg suppression, delayed induction of tolerance as well as reversion of the tolerized status. Some of those "costimulatory enhanced" DC have also started the path of clinical trials like the TriMix DC (expressing CD40L, CD70, and a constitutively active TLR4 receptor) in melanoma patients (159, 160).

To provide a more general pro-stimulatory phenotype, multiple signaling pathways have also been enhanced by either inducing expression of the transcription factor T-bet (161, 162) or by silencing A20, an inhibitor of signaling pathway downstream of TLR and TNF receptors (163) resulting in DC with improved functionality. Similarly, with the increased knowledge of the important role of micro RNA (miR) in the fine tuning of gene transcription and their role in the immune response and in DC functions (164), DC-specific miR have been targeted. For example, inhibition of miR-22 and miR-503, two miRNA upregulated in DC upon coculture with tumor cells, resulted in improved therapeutic activity due to enhanced DC survival (165).

The major aim of the second line of therapy is to revert the tolerized phenotype of tumor-infiltrating and/or recirculating DC in order to allow proper activation of effector cells. The most clinically advanced strategies are those focusing on PDC and using ligands of the TLR-7 and -9 to recover their IFN- α secreting capabilities. After the successful use of imiquimod and CpG-containing oligonucleotides in murine models, many clinical trials have also been performed (166), leading to the approval of imiquimod for cancer immunotherapy by the European Medicines Agency and the FDA. A problem with such a strategy is the fact that in some, but not all tumors a downregulation of the two TLR in tumorinfiltrating PDC have been reported (93). At the basis of the positive outcome upon PDC *in situ* triggering there can be not only the activation of other immune cells and the inhibition of Treg (167), but also a direct tumoricidal activity upon upregulation of TRAIL and granzyme B (168, 169). Is to be underlined that the upregulation of granzyme B by PDC can also have detrimental effect by killing T cells (124, 125, 169). An other reported effect of CpG injection is the differentiation of MDSC toward functional monocytes with consequent reduction in the amount of suppressive cells (170, 171).

On the side of targeting myeloid DC in vivo, similar approaches to the ex vivo manipulation have been tested. Chemical inhibitors of negative signaling pathways like STAT3 (150), or positive modulators like miR-155 (172), have been injected in vivo with the aim to be uptaken by DC and to revert their tolerogenic phenotype and promote immune-mediated tumor rejection. Provision of missing IL-12 through different technical approaches have demonstrated that in addition to the stimulation of NK and T cells, also myeloid cells are positively affected with the activation of cytotoxic macrophages and reversion of MDSC with loss of their suppressive properties (173, 174). Many different strategies are also aiming at the removal of MDSC acting on their differentiation and/or suppressive functions (175). For example all-trans retinoic acid (ATRA), a compound reducing MDSC number and function has been combined to DC vaccination in a phase I trial in small cell lung cancer patients (176).

EXPLOITATION OF TOLEROGENIC DC IN TRANSPLANTATION AND AUTOIMMUNITY

In the setting of autoimmunity and transplantation the aim of immunotherapy is to reduce inflammation and to induce a local and/or antigen-specific immunosuppression/tolerance in order to avoid organ rejection and reduce the disease score without increasing the risk of opportunistic infections. Like for tumor immunotherapy, DC have been manipulated *ex vivo* or directly targeted *in situ*.

Tolerogenic DC have been differentiated in vitro from human monocytes and murine bone marrow cells upon culture in the presence of different combination of IL-10 (177), TGF-β (178), vitamin D3 (179), dexamethasone (180), protein kinase C inhibitor (181), and rapamycin (182). These cells are characterized by a semi-mature phenotype, the ability to expand Treg and to preserve such properties even in an inflamed microenvironment, as mimicked by stimulation with TLR ligands (183, 184). Murine models of organ transplantation as well as different autoimmune diseases have demonstrated the therapeutic applicability of such tolerogenic DC (185-188) and opened the way to preclinical evaluation in multiple sclerosis (189) as well as in a phase I trial in rheumatoid arthritis [RA; (190)]. Similarly, the good results obtained with non-obese diabetic (NOD) mice injected with DC silenced in the major costimulatory molecules [i.e., CD40, CD80 and CD86; (191)] have opened the way for a phase I safety study in patients with type 1 diabetes (192). In the setting of organ transplantation, "classical" murine bone marrow-derived DC from the organ

donor have been either triggered with tetramer of sHLA-G1 (25) or silenced in NF- κ B (193) in order to induce a transplant-specific tolerance that allow (longer) acceptance of the graft.

Direct in situ targeting of DC has also been implemented in order to promote local and/or antigen specific tolerance. Clinical trials have been performed with apilimod (or STA5326), a specific inhibitor of IL-12 and IL-23, which are the central mediators of the Th1 and Th17 responses involved in autoimmunity. Whereas in psoriasis a reduction in inflammatory cytokine and DC infiltration of the skin lesions was observed upon apilimod (194), no robust clinical improvement was found in RA (195) and contrasting results were reported in Crohn's disease (196, 197). Although still in the preclinical phase systemic or topic injection of sCD83 was able to prolong survival of grafted organs (51, 198) as well as to reduce experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis (EAE) in both prophylactic and therapeutic setting (199). Additional strategies inducing antigen specific tolerance consist in coupling the desired antigen to antibodies or ligands for specific receptors expressed by DC. Examples are DEC-205 (200, 201), the human DC immunoreceptor (DCIR) (202, 203), and the murine acid binding Ig-like lectin H [siglec-H; (204)] that induce specific tolerance to the antigen they have been targeted with.

CONCLUSION

Despite the ever growing knowledge on the immunologic function of DC and how tumor cells try to subvert them, a long way has still to be performed before defining the best protocol of vaccination regarding not only the maturation/resistance of the DC but also the road of injection, the number of injections, the type of antigen(s) and the loading strategy (see **Box 1**). Of particular interest is the recent report that in therapeutic setting a single immunization performs better alone that with a following boost, a setting that is on the contrary highly favorable in prophylactic immunization (205).

REFERENCES

- Gabrilovich DI, Nagaraj S. Myeloid-derived suppressor cells as regulators of the immune system. Nat Rev Immunol (2009) 9:162–74. doi:10.1038/nri2506
- Nagaraj S, Gabrilovich DI. Myeloid-derived suppressor cells in human cancer. Cancer J (2010) 16:348–53. doi:10.1097/PPO.0b013e3181eb3358
- Vander Heiden MG, Cantley LC, Thompson CB. Understanding the Warburg effect: the metabolic requirements of cell proliferation. *Science* (2009) 324:1029–33. doi:10.1126/science.1160809
- Husain Z, Huang Y, Seth P, Sukhatme VP. Tumour-derived lactate modifies antitumour immune response: effect on myeloid-derived suppressor cells and NK cells. *J Immunol* (2013) 191:1486–95. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.1202702
- Shime H, Yabu M, Akazawa T, Kodama K, Matsumoto M, Seya T, et al. Tumoursecreted lactic acid promotes IL-23/IL-17 proinflammatory pathway. *J Immunol* (2008) 180:7175–83.
- Gottfried E, Kunz-Schughart LA, Ebner S, Mueller-Klieser W, Hoves S, Andreesen R, et al. Tumour-derived lactic acid modulates dendritic cell activation and antigen expression. *Blood* (2006) 107:2013–21. doi:10.1182/blood-2005-05-1795
- Martínez D, Vermeulen M, von Euw E, Sabatté J, Maggíni J, Ceballos A, et al. Extracellular acidosis triggers the maturation of human dendritic cells and the production of IL-12. *J Immunol* (2007) 179:1950–9.
- Yang M, Ma C, Liu S, Sun J, Shao Q, Gao W, et al. Hypoxia skews dendritic cells to a T helper type 2-stimulating phenotype and promotes tumour cell migration by dendritic cell-derived osteopontin. *Immunology* (2009) 128:e237–49. doi:10.1111/j.1365-2567.2008.02954.x
- 9. Elia AR, Cappello P, Puppo M, Fraone T, Vanni C, Eva A, et al. Human dendritic cells differentiated in hypoxia down-modulate antigen uptake and

change their chemokine expression profile. J Leukoc Biol (2008) 84:1472–82. doi:10.1189/jlb.0208082

- Anttila MA, Tammi RH, Tammi MI, Syrjänen KJ, Saarikoski SV, Kosma VM. High levels of stromal hyaluronan predict poor disease outcome in epithelial ovarian cancer. *Cancer Res* (2000) 60:150–5.
- Auvinen P, Tammi R, Parkkinen J, Tammi M, Agren U, Johansson R, et al. Hyaluronan in peritumoural stroma and malignant cells associates with breast cancer spreading and predicts survival. *Am J Pathol* (2000) 156:529–36. doi:10.1016/S0002-9440(10)64757-8
- Ropponen K, Tammi M, Parkkinen J, Eskelinen M, Tammi R, Lipponen P, et al. Tumour cell-associated hyaluronan as an unfavorable prognostic factor in colorectal cancer. *Cancer Res* (1998) 58:342–7.
- Zhang L, Underhill CB, Chen L. Hyaluronan on the surface of tumour cells is correlated with metastatic behavior. *Cancer Res* (1995) 55:428–33.
- Kosunen A, Ropponen K, Kellokoski J, Pukkila M, Virtaniemi J, Valtonen H, et al. Reduced expression of hyaluronan is a strong indicator of poor survival in oral squamous cell carcinoma. Oral Oncol (2004) 40:257–63. doi:10.1016/j.oraloncology.2003.08.004
- Termeer CC, Hennies J, Voith U, Ahrens T, Weiss JM, Prehm P, et al. Oligosaccharides of hyaluronan are potent activators of dendritic cells. *J Immunol* (2000) 165:1863–70.
- 16. Yang R, Yan Z, Chen F, Hansson GK, Kiessling R. Hyaluronic acid and chondroitin sulphate a rapidly promote differentiation of immature dc with upregulation of costimulatory and antigen-presenting molecules, and enhancement of NF-kappaB and protein kinase activity. *Scand J Immunol* (2002) 55:2–13. doi:10.1046/j.0300-9475.2001.01033.x
- Alaniz L, Rizzo M, Garcia MG, Piccioni F, Aquino JB, Malvicini M, et al. Low molecular weight hyaluronan preconditioning of tumour-pulsed dendritic cells increases their migratory ability and induces immunity against murine colorectal carcinoma. *Cancer Immunol Immunother* (2011) 60:1383–95. doi:10.1007/ s00262-011-1036-0
- Kuang D, Wu Y, Chen N, Cheng J, Zhuang S, Zheng L. Tumour-derived hyaluronan induces formation of immunosuppressive macrophages through transient early activation of monocytes. *Blood* (2007) 110:587–95. doi:10.1182/blood-2007-01-068031
- Kuang D, Zhao Q, Xu J, Yun J, Wu C, Zheng L. Tumour-educated tolerogenic dendritic cells induce CD3 epsilon down-regulation and apoptosis of T cells through oxygen-dependent pathways. *J Immunol* (2008) 181:3089–98.
- 20. Yang T, Witham TF, Villa L, Erff M, Attanucci J, Watkins S, et al. Gliomaassociated hyaluronan induces apoptosis in dendritic cells via inducible nitric oxide synthase: implications for the use of dendritic cells for therapy of gliomas. *Cancer Res* (2002) 62:2583–91.
- LeMaoult J, Rouas-Freiss N, Carosella ED. Immuno-tolerogenic functions of HLA-G: relevance in transplantation and oncology. *Autoimmun Rev* (2005) 4:503–9. doi:10.1016/j.autrev.2005.04.006
- Ristich V, Liang S, Zhang W, Wu J, Horuzsko A. Tolerization of dendritic cells by HLA-G. *Eur J Immunol* (2005) 35:1133–42. doi:10.1002/eji.200425741
- Liang S, Baibakov B, Horuzsko A. HLA-G inhibits the functions of murine dendritic cells via the PIR-B immune inhibitory receptor. *Eur J Immunol* (2002) 32:2418–26. doi:10.1002/1521-4141(200209)32:9<2418::AID-IMMU2418>3. 0.CO;2-L
- Liang S, Ristich V, Arase H, Dausset J, Carosella ED, Horuzsko A. Modulation of dendritic cell differentiation by HLA-G and ILT4 requires the IL-6 – STAT3 signaling pathway. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (2008) 105:8357–62. doi:10.1073/pnas.0803341105
- Liang S, Horuzsko A. Mobilizing dendritic cells for tolerance by engagement of immune inhibitory receptors for HLA-G. *Hum Immunol* (2003) 64:1025–32. doi:10.1016/j.humimm.2003.08.348
- Gros F, Cabillic F, Toutirais O, Maux AL, Sebti Y, Amiot L. Soluble HLA-G molecules impair natural killer/dendritic cell crosstalk via inhibition of dendritic cells. *Eur J Immunol* (2008) 38:742–9. doi:10.1002/eji.200736918
- Agaugué S, Carosella ED, Rouas-Freiss N. Role of HLA-G in tumour escape through expansion of myeloid-derived suppressor cells and cytokinic balance in favor of TH2 versus TH1/TH17. *Blood* (2011) 117:7021–31. doi:10.1182/ blood-2010-07-294389
- Bolton AE, Pockley AG, Clough KJ, Mowles EA, Stoker RJ, Westwood OM, et al. Identification of placental protein 14 as an immunosuppressive factor in human reproduction. *Lancet* (1987) 1:593–5. doi:10.1016/S0140-6736(87)90235-2

- Scholz C, Heublein S, Lenhard M, Friese K, Mayr D, Jeschke U. Glycodelin a is a prognostic marker to predict poor outcome in advanced stage ovarian cancer patients. *BMC Res Notes* (2012) 5:551. doi:10.1186/1756-0500-5-551
- 30. Hautala LC, Greco D, Koistinen R, Heikkinen T, Heikkilä P, Aittomäki K, et al. Glycodelin expression associates with differential tumour phenotype and outcome in sporadic and familial non-brca1/2 breast cancer patients. *Breast Cancer Res Treat* (2011) 128:85–95. doi:10.1007/s10549-010-1065-y
- 31. Kunert-Keil C, Steinmüller F, Jeschke U, Gredes T, Gedrange T. Immunolocalization of glycodelin in human adenocarcinoma of the lung, squamous cell carcinoma of the lung and lung metastases of colonic adenocarcinoma. Acta Histochem (2011) 113:798–802. doi:10.1016/j.acthis.2010.11.009
- Alok A, Karande AA. The role of glycodelin as an immune-modulating agent at the feto-maternal interface. J Reprod Immunol (2009) 83:124–7. doi:10.1016/j.jri.2009.06.261
- 33. Scholz C, Toth B, Brunnhuber R, Rampf E, Weissenbacher T, Santoso L, et al. Glycodelin a induces a tolerogenic phenotype in monocyte-derived dendritic cells in vitro. Am J Reprod Immunol (2008) 60:501–12. doi:10.1111/j.1600-0897.2008.00647.x
- 34. Lee C, Lam EYF, Lam KKW, Koistinen H, Seppälä M, Ng EHY, et al. Glycodelina stimulates interleukin-6 secretion by human monocytes and macrophages through L-selectin and the extracellular signal-regulated kinase pathway. J Biol Chem (2012) 287:36999–7009. doi:10.1074/jbc.M112.385336
- Godin-Ethier J, Hanafi L, Piccirillo CA, Lapointe R. Indoleamine 2,3dioxygenase expression in human cancers: clinical and immunologic perspectives. *Clin Cancer Res* (2011) 17:6985–91. doi:10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-11-1331
- Beavis PA, Stagg J, Darcy PK, Smyth MJ. Cd73: a potent suppressor of antitumour immune responses. *Trends Immunol* (2012) 33:231–7. doi:10.1016/j.it. 2012.02.009
- Krüger-Krasagakes S, Krasagakis K, Garbe C, Schmitt E, Hüls C, Blankenstein T, et al. Expression of interleukin 10 in human melanoma. *Br J Cancer* (1994) 70:1182–5. doi:10.1038/bjc.1994.469
- Kim J, Modlin RL, Moy RL, Dubinett SM, McHugh T, Nickoloff BJ, et al. IL-10 production in cutaneous basal and squamous cell carcinomas. A mechanism for evading the local T cell immune response. J Immunol (1995) 155: 2240–7.
- Flavell RA, Sanjabi S, Wrzesinski SH, Licona-Limón P. The polarization of immune cells in the tumour environment by TGF-beta. *Nat Rev Immunol* (2010) 10:554–67. doi:10.1038/nri2808
- Gabrilovich DI, Chen HL, Girgis KR, Cunningham HT, Meny GM, Nadaf S, et al. Production of vascular endothelial growth factor by human tumours inhibits the functional maturation of dendritic cells. *Nat Med* (1996) 2:1096–103. doi:10.1038/nm1096-1096
- Kusmartsev S, Eruslanov E, Kübler H, Tseng T, Sakai Y, Su Z, et al. Oxidative stress regulates expression of VEGFR1 in myeloid cells: link to tumourinduced immune suppression in renal cell carcinoma. *J Immunol* (2008) 181: 346–53.
- Oyama T, Ran S, Ishida T, Nadaf S, Kerr L, Carbone DP, et al. Vascular endothelial growth factor affects dendritic cell maturation through the inhibition of nuclear factor-kappa b activation in hemopoietic progenitor cells. *J Immunol* (1998) 160:1224–32.
- 43. Menetrier-Caux C, Montmain G, Dieu MC, Bain C, Favrot MC, Caux C, et al. Inhibition of the differentiation of dendritic cells from CD34(+) progenitors by tumour cells: role of interleukin-6 and macrophage colony-stimulating factor. *Blood* (1998) 92:4778–91.
- 44. Kobie JJ, Wu RS, Kurt RA, Lou S, Adelman MK, Whitesell LJ, et al. Transforming growth factor beta inhibits the antigen-presenting functions and antitumour activity of dendritic cell vaccines. *Cancer Res* (2003) 63:1860–4.
- Sato K, Kawasaki H, Nagayama H, Enomoto M, Morimoto C, Tadokoro K, et al. TGF-beta 1 reciprocally controls chemotaxis of human peripheral blood monocyte-derived dendritic cells via chemokine receptors. *J Immunol* (2000) 164:2285–95.
- Ronger-Savle S, Valladeau J, Claudy A, Schmitt D, Peguet-Navarro J, Dezutter-Dambuyant C, et al. TGFbeta inhibits CD1D expression on dendritic cells. *J Invest Dermatol* (2005) 124:116–8. doi:10.1111/j.0022-202X.2004.23315.x
- Dudziak D, Nimmerjahn F, Bornkamm GW, Laux G. Alternative splicing generates putative soluble CD83 proteins that inhibit T cell proliferation. *J Immunol* (2005) 174:6672–6.

- Baleeiro RB, Barbuto JAM. Local secretion/shedding of tumour-derived CD83 molecules as a novel tumour escape mechanism. *Mol Immunol* (2008) 45:3502–4. doi:10.1016/j.molimm.2008.04.005
- Hock BD, Haring LF, Steinkasserer A, Taylor KG, Patton WN, McKenzie JL. The soluble form of CD83 is present at elevated levels in a number of hematological malignancies. *Leuk Res* (2004) 28:237–41. doi:10.1016/S0145-2126(03) 00255-8
- Hock BD, Fernyhough LJ, Gough SM, Steinkasserer A, Cox AG, McKenzie JL. Release and clinical significance of soluble CD83 in chronic lymphocytic leukemia. *Leuk Res* (2009) 33:1089–95. doi:10.1016/j.leukres.2009.01.001
- Bock F, Rössner S, Onderka J, Lechmann M, Pallotta MT, Fallarino F, et al. Topical application of soluble CD83 induces IDO-mediated immune modulation, increases foxp3+ T cells, and prolongs allogeneic corneal graft survival. *J Immunol* (2013) 191:1965–75. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.1201531
- Cook RS, Jacobsen KM, Wofford AM, Deryckere D, Stanford J, Prieto AL, et al. MerTK inhibition in tumour leukocytes decreases tumour growth and metastasis. J Clin Invest (2013) 123:3231–42. doi:10.1172/JCI67655
- Bergenfelz C, Janols H, Wullt M, Jirström K, Bredberg A, Leandersson K. Wnt5a inhibits human monocyte-derived myeloid dendritic cell generation. *Scand J Immunol* (2013) 78:194–204. doi:10.1111/sji.12075
- Oderup C, LaJevic M, Butcher EC. Canonical and noncanonical Wnt proteins program dendritic cell responses for tolerance. *J Immunol* (2013) 190:6126–34. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.1203002
- 55. Valencia J, Hernández-López C, Martínez VG, Hidalgo L, Zapata AG, Vicente Á, et al. Wnt5a skews dendritic cell differentiation to an unconventional phenotype with tolerogenic features. *J Immunol* (2011) 187:4129–39. doi:10.4049/ jimmunol.1101243
- Hack K, Reilly L, Proby C, Fleming C, Leigh I, Foerster J. Wnt5a inhibits the CPG oligodeoxynucleotide-triggered activation of human plasmacytoid dendritic cells. *Clin Exp Dermatol* (2012) **37**:557–61. doi:10.1111/j.1365-2230. 2012.04362.x
- Ishida A, Ohta M, Toda M, Murata T, Usui T, Akita K, et al. Mucin-induced apoptosis of monocyte-derived dendritic cells during maturation. *Proteomics* (2008) 8:3342–9. doi:10.1002/pmic.200800039
- Monti P, Leone BE, Zerbi A, Balzano G, Cainarca S, Sordi V, et al. Tumourderived muc1 mucins interact with differentiating monocytes and induce IL-10highil-12low regulatory dendritic cell. *J Immunol* (2004) 172:7341–9.
- Ohta M, Ishida A, Toda M, Akita K, Inoue M, Yamashita K, et al. Immunomodulation of monocyte-derived dendritic cells through ligation of tumourproduced mucins to Siglec-9. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun* (2010) 402:663–9. doi:10.1016/j.bbrc.2010.10.079
- Rughetti A, Pellicciotta I, Biffoni M, Bäckström M, Link T, Bennet EP, et al. Recombinant tumour-associated MUC1 glycoprotein impairs the differentiation and function of dendritic cells. *J Immunol* (2005) 174:7764–72.
- 61. Jonuleit H, Kühn U, Müller G, Steinbrink K, Paragnik L, Schmitt E, et al. Pro-inflammatory cytokines and prostaglandins induce maturation of potent immunostimulatory dendritic cells under fetal calf serum-free conditions. *Eur J Immunol* (1997) 27:3135–42. doi:10.1002/eji.1830271209
- 62. Scandella E, Men Y, Gillessen S, Förster R, Groettrup M. Prostaglandin E2 is a key factor for ccr7 surface expression and migration of monocytederived dendritic cells. *Blood* (2002) **100**:1354–61. doi:10.1182/blood-2001-11-0017
- Krause P, Bruckner M, Uermösi C, Singer E, Groettrup M, Legler DF. Prostaglandin E(2) enhances T-cell proliferation by inducing the costimulatory molecules ox40l, cd70, and 4-1BBL on dendritic cells. *Blood* (2009) 113:2451–60. doi:10.1182/blood-2008-05-157123
- 64. Arimoto-Miyamoto K, Kadowaki N, Kitawaki T, Iwata S, Morimoto C, Uchiyama T. Optimal stimulation for CD70 induction on human monocytederived dendritic cells and the importance of CD70 in naive CD4(+) T-cell differentiation. *Immunology* (2010) 130:137–49. doi:10.1111/j.1365-2567.2010. 03220.x
- 65. Vieira PL, de Jong EC, Wierenga EA, Kapsenberg ML, Kalinski P. Development of TH1-inducing capacity in myeloid dendritic cells requires environmental instruction. *J Immunol* (2000) **164**:4507–12.
- 66. Khayrullina T, Yen J, Jing H, Ganea D. In vitro differentiation of dendritic cells in the presence of prostaglandin e2 alters the IL-12/IL-23 balance and promotes differentiation of Th17 cells. *J Immunol* (2008) 181:721–35.

- Langowski JL, Zhang X, Wu L, Mattson JD, Chen T, Smith K, et al. IL-23 promotes tumour incidence and growth. *Nature* (2006) 442:461–5. doi:10.1038/ nature04808
- Teng MWL, Vesely MD, Duret H, McLaughlin N, Towne JE, Schreiber RD, et al. Opposing roles for IL-23 and IL-12 in maintaining occult cancer in an equilibrium state. *Cancer Res* (2012) 72:3987–96. doi:10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-12-1337
- Mao Y, Poschke I, Wennerberg E, Pico de Coaña Y, Egyhazi Brage S, Schultz I, et al. Melanoma-educated CD14+ cells acquire a myeloid-derived suppressor cell phenotype through COX-2-dependent mechanisms. *Cancer Res* (2013) 73:3877–87. doi:10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-12-4115
- 70. von Bergwelt-Baildon MS, Popov A, Saric T, Chemnitz J, Classen S, Stoffel MS, et al. CD25 and indoleamine 2,3-dioxygenase are up-regulated by prostaglandin E2 and expressed by tumour-associated dendritic cells in vivo: additional mechanisms of T-cell inhibition. *Blood* (2006) 108:228–37. doi:10. 1182/blood-2005-08-3507
- 71. Van Elssen CHMJ, Vanderlocht J, Oth T, Senden-Gijsbers BLMG, Germeraad WTV, Bos GMJ. Inflammation-restraining effects of prostaglandin E2 on natural killer-dendritic cell (NK-DC) interaction are imprinted during dc maturation. *Blood* (2011) 118:2473–82. doi:10.1182/blood-2010-09-307835
- Poloso NJ, Urquhart P, Nicolaou A, Wang J, Woodward DE PGE2 differentially regulates monocyte-derived dendritic cell cytokine responses depending on receptor usage (EP2/EP4). *Mol Immunol* (2013) 54:284–95. doi:10.1016/j. molimm.2012.12.010
- 73. Shimabukuro-Vornhagen A, Liebig TM, Koslowsky T, Theurich S, von Bergwelt-Baildon MS. The ratio between dendritic cells and T cells determines whether prostaglandin E2 has a stimulatory or inhibitory effect. *Cell Immunol* (2013) 281:62–7. doi:10.1016/j.cellimm.2013.01.001
- 74. Bennaceur K, Popa I, Portoukalian J, Berthier-Vergnes O, Péguet-Navarro J. Melanoma-derived gangliosides impair migratory and antigen-presenting function of human epidermal Langerhans cells and induce their apoptosis. *Int Immunol* (2006) 18:879–86. doi:10.1093/intimm/dxl024
- Bennaceur K, Popa I, Chapman JA, Migdal C, Péguet-Navarro J, Touraine J, et al. Different mechanisms are involved in apoptosis induced by melanoma gangliosides on human monocyte-derived dendritic cells. *Glycobiology* (2009) 19:576–82. doi:10.1093/glycob/cwp015
- Péguet-Navarro J, Sportouch M, Popa I, Berthier O, Schmitt D, Portoukalian J. Gangliosides from human melanoma tumours impair dendritic cell differentiation from monocytes and induce their apoptosis. *J Immunol* (2003) 170:3488–94.
- Shurin GV, Shurin MR, Bykovskaia S, Shogan J, Lotze MT, Barksdale EMJ. Neuroblastoma-derived gangliosides inhibit dendritic cell generation and function. *Cancer Res* (2001) **61**:363–9.
- Wölfl M, Batten WY, Posovszky C, Bernhard H, Berthold F. Gangliosides inhibit the development from monocytes to dendritic cells. *Clin Exp Immunol* (2002) 130:441–8. doi:10.1046/j.1365-2249.2002.02006.x
- Tourkova IL, Shurin GV, Chatta GS, Perez L, Finke J, Whiteside TL, et al. Restoration by IL-15 of MHC class I antigen-processing machinery in human dendritic cells inhibited by tumour-derived gangliosides. *J Immunol* (2005) 175:3045–52.
- Tourkova IL, Shurin GV, Ferrone S, Shurin MR. Interferon regulatory factor 8 mediates tumour-induced inhibition of antigen processing and presentation by dendritic cells. *Cancer Immunol Immunother* (2009) 58:567–74. doi:10.1007/s00262-008-0579-1
- Heitger A, Ladisch S. Gangliosides block antigen presentation by human monocytes. *Biochim Biophys Acta* (1996) 1303:161–8. doi:10.1016/0005-2760(96) 00091-4
- Caldwell S, Heitger A, Shen W, Liu Y, Taylor B, Ladisch S. Mechanisms of ganglioside inhibition of APC function. *J Immunol* (2003) 171:1676–83.
- 83. van Cruijsen H, Ruiz MG, van der Valk P, de Gruijl TD, Giaccone G. Tissue micro array analysis of ganglioside N-glycolyl GM3 expression and signal transducer and activator of transcription (STAT)-3 activation in relation to dendritic cell infiltration and microvessel density in non-small cell lung cancer. *BMC Cancer* (2009) **9**:180. doi:10.1186/1471-2407-9-180
- Nefedova Y, Huang M, Kusmartsev S, Bhattacharya R, Cheng P, Salup R, et al. Hyperactivation of STAT3 is involved in abnormal differentiation of dendritic cells in cancer. *J Immunol* (2004) 172:464–74.

- Yu H, Kortylewski M, Pardoll D. Crosstalk between cancer and immune cells: role of STAT3 in the tumour microenvironment. *Nat Rev Immunol* (2007) 7:41–51. doi:10.1038/nri1995
- Hoentjen F, Sartor RB, Ozaki M, Jobin C. STAT3 regulates NF-kappaB recruitment to the IL-12p40 promoter in dendritic cells. *Blood* (2005) 105:689–96. doi:10.1182/blood-2004-04-1309
- Zhao F, Falk C, Osen W, Kato M, Schadendorf D, Umansky V. Activation of p38 mitogen-activated protein kinase drives dendritic cells to become tolerogenic in ret transgenic mice spontaneously developing melanoma. *Clin Cancer Res* (2009) 15:4382–90. doi:10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-09-0399
- 88. Huang G, Wang Y, Vogel P, Kanneganti T, Otsu K, Chi H. Signaling via the kinase p38α programs dendritic cells to drive TH17 differentiation and autoimmune inflammation. *Nat Immunol* (2012) 13:152–61. doi:10.1038/ni.2207
- Loges S, Schmidt T, Tjwa M, van Geyte K, Lievens D, Lutgens E, et al. Malignant cells fuel tumour growth by educating infiltrating leukocytes to produce the mitogen GAS6. *Blood* (2010) 115:2264–73. doi:10.1182/blood-2009-06-228684
- Caiado F, Carvalho T, Rosa I, Remédio L, Costa A, Matos J, et al. Bone marrowderived CD11B+JAGGED2+ cells promote epithelial-to-mesenchymal transition and metastasization in colorectal cancer. *Cancer Res* (2013) 73:4233–46. doi:10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-13-0085
- Murdoch C, Muthana M, Coffelt SB, Lewis CE. The role of myeloid cells in the promotion of tumour angiogenesis. *Nat Rev Cancer* (2008) 8:618–31. doi:10.1038/nrc2444
- Riboldi E, Musso T, Moroni E, Urbinati C, Bernasconi S, Rusnati M, et al. Cutting edge: proangiogenic properties of alternatively activated dendritic cells. *J Immunol* (2005) 175:2788–92.
- 93. Hartmann E, Wollenberg B, Rothenfusser S, Wagner M, Wellisch D, Mack B, et al. Identification and functional analysis of tumour-infiltrating plasmacytoid dendritic cells in head and neck cancer. *Cancer Res* (2003) **63**:6478–87.
- 94. Jensen TO, Schmidt H, Møller HJ, Donskov F, Høyer M, Sjoegren P, et al. Intratumoural neutrophils and plasmacytoid dendritic cells indicate poor prognosis and are associated with PSTAT3 expression in AJCC stage I/II melanoma. *Cancer* (2012) 118:2476–85. doi:10.1002/cncr.26511
- 95. Labidi-Galy SI, Sisirak V, Meeus P, Gobert M, Treilleux I, Bajard A, et al. Quantitative and functional alterations of plasmacytoid dendritic cells contribute to immune tolerance in ovarian cancer. *Cancer Res* (2011) 71:5423–34. doi:10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-11-0367
- 96. Treilleux I, Blay J, Bendriss-Vermare N, Ray-Coquard I, Bachelot T, Guastalla J, et al. Dendritic cell infiltration and prognosis of early stage breast cancer. *Clin Cancer Res* (2004) 10:7466–74. doi:10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-04-0684
- 97. Charles J, Di Domizio J, Salameire D, Bendriss-Vermare N, Aspord C, Muhammad R, et al. Characterization of circulating dendritic cells in melanoma: role of CCR6 in plasmacytoid dendritic cell recruitment to the tumour. J Invest Dermatol (2010) 130:1646–56. doi:10.1038/jid.2010.24
- 98. Vermi W, Bonecchi R, Facchetti F, Bianchi D, Sozzani S, Festa S, et al. Recruitment of immature plasmacytoid dendritic cells (plasmacytoid monocytes) and myeloid dendritic cells in primary cutaneous melanomas. *J Pathol* (2003) 200:255–68. doi:10.1002/path.1344
- Zou W, Machelon V, Coulomb-L'Hermin A, Borvak J, Nome F, Isaeva T, et al. Stromal-derived factor-1 in human tumours recruits and alters the function of plasmacytoid precursor dendritic cells. *Nat Med* (2001) 7:1339–46. doi:10.1038/nm1201-1339
- 100. Bekeredjian-Ding I, Schäfer M, Hartmann E, Pries R, Parcina M, Schneider P, et al. Tumour-derived prostaglandin e and transforming growth factorbeta synergize to inhibit plasmacytoid dendritic cell-derived interferon-alpha. *Immunology* (2009) **128**:439–50. doi:10.1111/j.1365-2567.2009.03134.x
- 101. Duramad O, Fearon KL, Chan JH, Kanzler H, Marshall JD, Coffman RL, et al. IL-10 regulates plasmacytoid dendritic cell response to CPG-containing immunostimulatory sequences. *Blood* (2003) 102:4487–92. doi:10. 1182/blood-2003-07-2465
- 102. Fabricius D, Neubauer M, Mandel B, Schütz C, Viardot A, Vollmer A, et al. Prostaglandin E2 inhibits IFN-alpha secretion and TH1 costimulation by human plasmacytoid dendritic cells via E-prostanoid 2 and E-prostanoid 4 receptor engagement. *J Immunol* (2010) 184:677–84. doi:10.4049/jimmunol. 0902028
- 103. Sisirak V, Vey N, Goutagny N, Renaudineau S, Malfroy M, Thys S, et al. Breast cancer-derived transforming growth factor-β and tumour necrosis factor-α

compromise interferon-α production by tumour-associated plasmacytoid dendritic cells. Int J Cancer (2013) **133**:771–8. doi:10.1002/ijc.28072

- 104. Son Y, Ito T, Ozaki Y, Tanijiri T, Yokoi T, Nakamura K, et al. Prostaglandin E2 is a negative regulator on human plasmacytoid dendritic cells. *Immunology* (2006) 119:36–42. doi:10.1111/j.1365-2567.2006.02402.x
- 105. Tsukamoto N, Okada S, Onami Y, Sasaki Y, Umezawa K, Kawakami Y. Impairment of plasmacytoid dendritic cells for IFN production by the ligand for immunoglobulin-like transcript 7 expressed on human cancer cells. *Clin Cancer Res* (2009) 15:5733–43. doi:10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-09-0171
- 106. Cao W, Rosen DB, Ito T, Bover L, Bao M, Watanabe G, et al. Plasmacytoid dendritic cell-specific receptor ILT7-FC epsilonRI gamma inhibits tolllike receptor-induced interferon production. J Exp Med (2006) 203:1399–405. doi:10.1084/jem.20052454
- 107. Watkins SK, Zhu Z, Riboldi E, Shafer-Weaver KA, Stagliano KER, Sklavos MM, et al. Foxo3 programs tumour-associated DCS to become tolerogenic in human and murine prostate cancer. J Clin Invest (2011) 121:1361–72. doi:10.1172/JCI44325
- 108. Ito T, Yang M, Wang Y, Lande R, Gregorio J, Perng OA, et al. Plasmacytoid dendritic cells prime IL-10-producing T regulatory cells by inducible costimulator ligand. J Exp Med (2007) 204:105–15. doi:10.1084/jem.20061660
- 109. Moseman EA, Liang X, Dawson AJ, Panoskaltsis-Mortari A, Krieg AM, Liu Y, et al. Human plasmacytoid dendritic cells activated by CPG oligodeoxynucleotides induce the generation of CD4+CD25+ regulatory T cells. *J Immunol* (2004) **173**:4433–42.
- 110. Ogata M, Ito T, Shimamoto K, Nakanishi T, Satsutani N, Miyamoto R, et al. Plasmacytoid dendritic cells have a cytokine-producing capacity to enhance ICOS ligand-mediated IL-10 production during T-cell priming. *Int Immunol* (2013) 25:171–82. doi:10.1093/intimm/dxs103
- 111. Gilliet M, Liu Y. Generation of human CD8 T regulatory cells by CD40 ligand-activated plasmacytoid dendritic cells. J Exp Med (2002) 195:695–704. doi:10.1084/jem.20011603
- 112. Wei S, Kryczek I, Zou L, Daniel B, Cheng P, Mottram P, et al. Plasmacytoid dendritic cells induce CD8+ regulatory T cells in human ovarian carcinoma. *Cancer Res* (2005) 65:5020–6. doi:10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-04-4043
- 113. Sisirak V, Faget J, Gobert M, Goutagny N, Vey N, Treilleux I, et al. Impaired IFN-α production by plasmacytoid dendritic cells favors regulatory T-cell expansion that may contribute to breast cancer progression. *Cancer Res* (2012) 72:5188–97. doi:10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-11-3468
- 114. Janke M, Witsch EJ, Mages HW, Hutloff A, Kroczek RA. Eminent role of ICOS costimulation for T cells interacting with plasmacytoid dendritic cells. *Immunology* (2006) 118:353–60. doi:10.1111/j.1365-2567.2006.02379.x
- 115. Conrad C, Gregorio J, Wang Y, Ito T, Meller S, Hanabuchi S, et al. Plasmacytoid dendritic cells promote immunosuppression in ovarian cancer via ICOS costimulation of FOXP3(+) T-regulatory cells. *Cancer Res* (2012) **72**:5240–9. doi:10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-12-2271
- 116. Faget J, Bendriss-Vermare N, Gobert M, Durand I, Olive D, Biota C, et al. Icos-ligand expression on plasmacytoid dendritic cells supports breast cancer progression by promoting the accumulation of immunosuppressive CD4+ T cells. *Cancer Res* (2012) **72**:6130–41. doi:10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-12-2409
- 117. Fallarino F, Asselin-Paturel C, Vacca C, Bianchi R, Gizzi S, Fioretti MC, et al. Murine plasmacytoid dendritic cells initiate the immunosuppressive pathway of tryptophan catabolism in response to CD200 receptor engagement. *J Immunol* (2004) **173**:3748–54.
- Puccetti P, Fallarino F. Generation of T cell regulatory activity by plasmacytoid dendritic cells and tryptophan catabolism. *Blood Cells Mol Dis* (2008) 40:101–5. doi:10.1016/j.bcmd.2007.06.026
- 119. Chen W, Liang X, Peterson AJ, Munn DH, Blazar BR. The indoleamine 2,3-dioxygenase pathway is essential for human plasmacytoid dendritic cellinduced adaptive T regulatory cell generation. J Immunol (2008) 181:5396–404.
- 120. Gerlini G, Di Gennaro P, Mariotti G, Urso C, Chiarugi A, Pimpinelli N, et al. Indoleamine 2,3-dioxygenase+ cells correspond to the BDCA2+ plasmacytoid dendritic cells in human melanoma sentinel nodes. *J Invest Dermatol* (2010) 130:898–901. doi:10.1038/jid.2009.307
- 121. Munn DH, Sharma MD, Hou D, Baban B, Lee JR, Antonia SJ, et al. Expression of indoleamine 2,3-dioxygenase by plasmacytoid dendritic cells in tumour-draining lymph nodes. J Clin Invest (2004) 114:280–90. doi:10.1172/JCI21583E1

- 122. Sharma MD, Baban B, Chandler P, Hou D, Singh N, Yagita H, et al. Plasmacytoid dendritic cells from mouse tumour-draining lymph nodes directly activate mature tregs via indoleamine 2,3-dioxygenase. J Clin Invest (2007) 117:2570–82. doi:10.1172/JCI31911
- 123. Kassner N, Krueger M, Yagita H, Dzionek A, Hutloff A, Kroczek R, et al. Cutting edge: plasmacytoid dendritic cells induce IL-10 production in T cells via the delta-like-4/notch axis. *J Immunol* (2010) 184:550–4. doi:10.4049/jimmunol. 0903152
- 124. Fabricius D, Nußbaum B, Busch D, Panitz V, Mandel B, Vollmer A, et al. Antiviral vaccines license T cell responses by suppressing granzyme B levels in human plasmacytoid dendritic cells. *J Immunol* (2013) **191**:1144–53. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.1203479
- 125. Jahrsdörfer B, Vollmer A, Blackwell SE, Maier J, Sontheimer K, Beyer T, et al. Granzyme B produced by human plasmacytoid dendritic cells suppresses T-cell expansion. *Blood* (2010) 115:1156–65. doi:10.1182/blood-2009-07-235382
- 126. Curiel TJ, Cheng P, Mottram P, Alvarez X, Moons L, Evdemon-Hogan M, et al. Dendritic cell subsets differentially regulate angiogenesis in human ovarian cancer. *Cancer Res* (2004) 64:5535–8. doi:10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-04-1272
- 127. Sawant A, Hensel JA, Chanda D, Harris BA, Siegal GP, Maheshwari A, et al. Depletion of plasmacytoid dendritic cells inhibits tumour growth and prevents bone metastasis of breast cancer cells. J Immunol (2012) 189:4258–65. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.1101855
- 128. Wang S, Hong S, Yang J, Qian J, Zhang X, Shpall E, et al. Optimizing immunotherapy in multiple myeloma: restoring the function of patients' monocyte-derived dendritic cells by inhibiting p38 or activating MEK/ERK MAPK and neutralizing interleukin-6 in progenitor cells. *Blood* (2006) 108:4071–7. doi:10.1182/blood-2006-04-016980
- 129. Brady MT, Miller A, Sait SN, Ford LA, Minderman H, Wang ES, et al. Down-regulation of signal transducer and activator of transcription 3 improves human acute myeloid leukemia-derived dendritic cell function. *Leuk Res* (2013) 37:822–8. doi:10.1016/j.leukres.2013.04.002
- 130. Mailliard RB, Wankowicz-Kalinska A, Cai Q, Wesa A, Hilkens CM, Kapsenberg ML, et al. Alpha-type-1 polarized dendritic cells: a novel immunization tool with optimized CTL-inducing activity. *Cancer Res* (2004) 64:5934–7. doi:10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-04-1261
- 131. Akiyama Y, Oshita C, Kume A, Iizuka A, Miyata H, Komiyama M, et al. α-type-1 polarized dendritic cell-based vaccination in recurrent high-grade glioma: a phase I clinical trial. *BMC Cancer* (2012) **12**:623. doi:10.1186/1471-2407-12-623
- 132. Okada H, Kalinski P, Ueda R, Hoji A, Kohanbash G, Donegan TE, et al. Induction of cd8+ T-cell responses against novel glioma-associated antigen peptides and clinical activity by vaccinations with {alpha}-type 1 polarized dendritic cells and polyinosinic-polycytidylic acid stabilized by lysine and carboxymethylcellulose in patients with recurrent malignant glioma. *J Clin Oncol* (2011) **29**:330–6. doi:10.1200/JCO.2010.30.7744
- 133. Czerniecki BJ, Koski GK, Koldovsky U, Xu S, Cohen PA, Mick R, et al. Targeting her-2/neu in early breast cancer development using dendritic cells with staged interleukin-12 burst secretion. *Cancer Res* (2007) **67**:1842–52. doi:10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-06-4038
- 134. Koski GK, Koldovsky U, Xu S, Mick R, Sharma A, Fitzpatrick E, et al. A novel dendritic cell-based immunization approach for the induction of durable TH1-polarized anti-her-2/neu responses in women with early breast cancer. *J Immunother* (2012) 35:54–65. doi:10.1097/CJI.0b013e318235f512
- 135. Nakamoto Y, Mizukoshi E, Kitahara M, Arihara F, Sakai Y, Kakinoki K, et al. Prolonged recurrence-free survival following OK432-stimulated dendritic cell transfer into hepatocellular carcinoma during transarterial embolization. *Clin Exp Immunol* (2011) **163**:165–77. doi:10.1111/j.1365-2249.2010.04246.x
- 136. Sakakibara M, Kanto T, Hayakawa M, Kuroda S, Miyatake H, Itose I, et al. Comprehensive immunological analyses of colorectal cancer patients in the phase I/II study of quickly matured dendritic cell vaccine pulsed with carcinoembryonic antigen peptide. *Cancer Immunol Immunother* (2011) **60**:1565–75. doi:10.1007/s00262-011-1051-1
- 137. Papewalis C, Jacobs B, Wuttke M, Ullrich E, Baehring T, Fenk R, et al. IFN-alpha skews monocytes into CD56+-expressing dendritic cells with potent functional activities in vitro and in vivo. J Immunol (2008) 180:1462–70.
- 138. Romano E, Rossi M, Ratzinger G, de Cos M, Chung DJ, Panageas KS, et al. Peptide-loaded Langerhans cells, despite increased IL15 secretion and T-cell

activation in vitro, elicit antitumour T-cell responses comparable to peptideloaded monocyte-derived dendritic cells in vivo. *Clin Cancer Res* (2011) **17**:1984–97. doi:10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-10-3421

- 139. Franks HA, Wang Q, Lax SJ, Collins MK, Escors D, Patel PM, et al. Novel function for the p38-MK2 signaling pathway in circulating CD1c+ (BDCA-1+) myeloid dendritic cells from healthy donors and advanced cancer patients; inhibition of p38 enhances IL-12 whilst suppressing IL-10. *Int J Cancer* (2013). 134:575–86. doi:10.1002/ijc.28398
- 140. Aspord C, Charles J, Leccia M, Laurin D, Richard M, Chaperot L, et al. A novel cancer vaccine strategy based on hla-a*0201 matched allogeneic plasmacytoid dendritic cells. *PLoS One* (2010) 5:e10458. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0010458
- 141. Aspord C, Leccia M, Salameire D, Laurin D, Chaperot L, Charles J, et al. HLAa(*)0201(+) plasmacytoid dendritic cells provide a cell-based immunotherapy for melanoma patients. *J Invest Dermatol* (2012) **132**:2395–406. doi:10.1038/ jid.2012.152
- 142. Tel J, Aarntzen EHJG, Baba T, Schreibelt G, Schulte BM, Benitez-Ribas D, et al. Natural human plasmacytoid dendritic cells induce antigen-specific Tcell responses in melanoma patients. *Cancer Res* (2013) 73:1063–75. doi:10. 1158/0008-5472.CAN-12-2583
- 143. Vari F, Munster DJ, Hsu JL, Rossetti TR, Mahler SM, Gray PP, et al. Practical blood dendritic cell vaccination for immunotherapy of multiple myeloma. *Br J Haematol* (2008) 143:374–7. doi:10.1111/j.1365-2141.2008.07346.x
- 144. Small EJ, Fratesi P, Reese DM, Strang G, Laus R, Peshwa MV, et al. Immunotherapy of hormone-refractory prostate cancer with antigen-loaded dendritic cells. *J Clin Oncol* (2000) 18:3894–903.
- 145. Small EJ, Schellhammer PF, Higano CS, Redfern CH, Nemunaitis JJ, Valone FH, et al. Placebo-controlled phase iii trial of immunologic therapy with sipuleucel-T (apc8015) in patients with metastatic, asymptomatic hormone refractory prostate cancer. J Clin Oncol (2006) 24:3089–94. doi:10.1200/JCO.2005.04. 5252
- 146. Tian F, Wang L, Qin W, Wang F, Song B, Li Y, et al. Vaccination with transforming growth factor-beta insensitive dendritic cells suppresses pulmonary metastases of renal carcinoma in mice. *Cancer Lett* (2008) 271:333–41. doi:10.1016/j.canlet.2008.06.025
- 147. Wang F, Qin W, Wen W, Tian F, Song B, Zhang Q, et al. TGF-beta insensitive dendritic cells: an efficient vaccine for murine prostate cancer. *Cancer Immunol Immunother* (2007) 56:1785–93. doi:10.1007/s00262-007-0322-3
- 148. Hwang W, Jung K, Jeon Y, Yun S, Kim TW, Choi I. Knockdown of the interleukin-6 receptor alpha chain of dendritic cell vaccines enhances the therapeutic potential against IL-6 producing tumours. *Vaccine* (2010) 29:34–44. doi:10.1016/j.vaccine.2010.10.027
- 149. Iwata-Kajihara T, Sumimoto H, Kawamura N, Ueda R, Takahashi T, Mizuguchi H, et al. Enhanced cancer immunotherapy using STAT3-depleted dendritic cells with high TH1-inducing ability and resistance to cancer cell-derived inhibitory factors. *J Immunol* (2011) 187:27–36. doi:10.4049/jimmunol. 1002067
- Nefedova Y, Gabrilovich DI. Targeting of JAK/STAT pathway in antigen presenting cells in cancer. *Curr Cancer Drug Targets* (2007) 7:71–7. doi:10.2174/ 156800907780006887
- 151. Chen Y, Man K, Ling GS, Chen Y, Sun B, Cheng Q, et al. A crucial role for dendritic cell (DC) IL-10 in inhibiting successful DC-based immunotherapy: superior antitumour immunity against hepatocellular carcinoma evoked by dc devoid of IL-10. *J Immunol* (2007) **179**:6009–15.
- 152. Liu G, Ng H, Akasaki Y, Yuan X, Ehtesham M, Yin D, et al. Small interference RNA modulation of IL-10 in human monocyte-derived dendritic cells enhances the TH1 response. *Eur J Immunol* (2004) **34**:1680–7. doi:10.1002/eji. 200425081
- 153. Pruitt SK, Boczkowski D, de Rosa N, Haley NR, Morse MA, Tyler DS, et al. Enhancement of anti-tumour immunity through local modulation of CTLA-4 and GITR by dendritic cells. *Eur J Immunol* (2011) 41:3553–63. doi:10.1002/eji.201141383
- 154. Bak SP, Barnkob MS, Bai A, Higham EM, Wittrup KD, Chen J. Differential requirement for CD70 and CD80/CD86 in dendritic cell-mediated activation of tumour-tolerized CD8 T cells. J Immunol (2012) 189:1708–16. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.1201271
- 155. Pen JJ, De Keersmaecker B, Maenhout SK, Van Nuffel AMT, Heirman C, Corthals J, et al. Modulation of regulatory T cell function by monocyte-derived dendritic cells matured through electroporation with MRNA encoding CD40

ligand, constitutively active TLR4, and CD70. J Immunol (2013) 191:1976–83. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.1201008

- 156. Keller AM, Schildknecht A, Xiao Y, van den Broek M, Borst J. Expression of costimulatory ligand CD70 on steady-state dendritic cells breaks CD8+ T cell tolerance and permits effective immunity. *Immunity* (2008) 29:934–46. doi:10.1016/j.immuni.2008.10.009
- 157. Bonehill A, Tuyaerts S, Van Nuffel AMT, Heirman C, Bos TJ, Fostier K, et al. Enhancing the T-cell stimulatory capacity of human dendritic cells by coelectroporation with CD40l, CD70 and constitutively active TLR4 encoding MRNA. *Mol Ther* (2008) 16:1170–80. doi:10.1038/mt.2008.77
- 158. Stephens GL, McHugh RS, Whitters MJ, Young DA, Luxenberg D, Carreno BM, et al. Engagement of glucocorticoid-induced TNFR family-related receptor on effector T cells by its ligand mediates resistance to suppression by CD4+CD25+ T cells. J Immunol (2004) 173:5008–20.
- 159. Wilgenhof S, Van Nuffel AMT, Corthals J, Heirman C, Tuyaerts S, Benteyn D, et al. Therapeutic vaccination with an autologous mRNA electroporated dendritic cell vaccine in patients with advanced melanoma. *J Immunother* (2011) 34:448–56. doi:10.1097/CJI.0b013e31821dcb31
- 160. Van Nuffel AMT, Benteyn D, Wilgenhof S, Corthals J, Heirman C, Neyns B, et al. Intravenous and intradermal trimix-dendritic cell therapy results in a broad T-cell response and durable tumour response in a chemorefractory stage IV-M1C melanoma patient. *Cancer Immunol Immunother* (2012) 61:1033–43. doi:10.1007/s00262-011-1176-2
- 161. Lipscomb MW, Chen L, Taylor JL, Goldbach C, Watkins SC, Kalinski P, et al. Ectopic T-bet expression licenses dendritic cells for IL-12-independent priming of type 1 T cells in vitro. *J Immunol* (2009) 183:7250–8. doi:10.4049/jimmunol. 0901477
- 162. Qu Y, Chen L, Pardee AD, Taylor JL, Wesa AK, Storkus WJ. Intralesional delivery of dendritic cells engineered to express T-bet promotes protective type 1 immunity and the normalization of the tumour microenvironment. *J Immunol* (2010) 185:2895–902. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.1001294
- 163. Song X, Evel-Kabler K, Shen L, Rollins L, Huang XF, Chen S. A20 is an antigen presentation attenuator, and its inhibition overcomes regulatory T cellmediated suppression. *Nat Med* (2008) 14:258–65. doi:10.1038/nm1721
- 164. Turner ML, Schnorfeil FM, Brocker T. MicroRNAs regulate dendritic cell differentiation and function. *J Immunol* (2011) 187:3911–7. doi:10.4049/jimmunol. 1101137
- 165. Min S, Liang X, Zhang M, Zhang Y, Mei S, Liu J, et al. Multiple tumourassociated microRNAs modulate the survival and longevity of dendritic cells by targeting YWHAZ and BCL2 signaling pathways. *J Immunol* (2013) 190:2437–46. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.1202282
- 166. Galluzzi L, Vacchelli E, Eggermont A, Fridman WH, Galon J, Sautès-Fridman C, et al. Trial watch: experimental toll-like receptor agonists for cancer therapy. Onco Immunol (2012) 1:699–716. doi:10.4161/onci.20696
- 167. Bacher N, Raker V, Hofmann C, Graulich E, Schwenk M, Baumgrass R, et al. Interferon-α suppresses camp to disarm human regulatory T cells. *Cancer Res* (2013) 73:5647–56. doi:10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-12-3788
- 168. Chaperot L, Blum A, Manches O, Lui G, Angel J, Molens J, et al. Virus or TLR agonists induce trail-mediated cytotoxic activity of plasmacytoid dendritic cells. *J Immunol* (2006) **176**:248–55.
- 169. Drobits B, Holcmann M, Amberg N, Swiecki M, Grundtner R, Hammer M, et al. Imiquimod clears tumours in mice independent of adaptive immunity by converting PDCS into tumour-killing effector cells. *J Clin Invest* (2012) 122:575–85. doi:10.1172/JCI61034
- 170. Shirota H, Klinman DM. Effect of CPG ODN on monocytic myeloid derived suppressor cells. Onco Immunol (2012) 1:780–2. doi:10.4161/onci.19731
- 171. Zoglmeier C, Bauer H, Nörenberg D, Wedekind G, Bittner P, Sandholzer N, et al. CPG blocks immunosuppression by myeloid-derived suppressor cells in tumour-bearing mice. *Clin Cancer Res* (2011) 17:1765–75. doi:10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-10-2672
- 172. Cubillos-Ruiz JR, Baird JR, Tesone AJ, Rutkowski MR, Scarlett UK, Camposeco-Jacobs AL, et al. Reprogramming tumour-associated dendritic cells in vivo using miRNA mimetics triggers protective immunity against ovarian cancer. *Cancer Res* (2012) **72**:1683–93. doi:10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-11-3160
- 173. Chmielewski M, Kopecky C, Hombach AA, Abken H. IL-12 release by engineered T cells expressing chimeric antigen receptors can effectively muster an antigen-independent macrophage response on tumour cells that have

shut down tumour antigen expression. Cancer Res (2011) 71:5697–706. doi:10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-11-0103

- 174. Kerkar SP, Goldszmid RS, Muranski P, Chinnasamy D, Yu Z, Reger RN, et al. IL-12 triggers a programmatic change in dysfunctional myeloid-derived cells within mouse tumours. J Clin Invest (2011) 121:4746–57. doi:10.1172/ JCI58814
- 175. Ugel S, Delpozzo F, Desantis G, Papalini F, Simonato F, Sonda N, et al. Therapeutic targeting of myeloid-derived suppressor cells. *Curr Opin Pharmacol* (2009) 9:470–81. doi:10.1016/j.coph.2009.06.014
- 176. Iclozan C, Antonia S, Chiappori A, Chen D, Gabrilovich D. Therapeutic regulation of myeloid-derived suppressor cells and immune response to cancer vaccine in patients with extensive stage small cell lung cancer. *Cancer Immunol Immunother* (2013) 62:909–18. doi:10.1007/s00262-013-1396-8
- 177. Steinbrink K, Wölfl M, Jonuleit H, Knop J, Enk AH. Induction of tolerance by IL-10-treated dendritic cells. J Immunol (1997) 159:4772–80.
- 178. Torres-Aguilar H, Aguilar-Ruiz SR, González-Pérez G, Munguía R, Bajaña S, Meraz-Ríos MA, et al. Tolerogenic dendritic cells generated with different immunosuppressive cytokines induce antigen-specific anergy and regulatory properties in memory cd4+ T cells. *J Immunol* (2010) 184:1765–75. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.0902133
- Penna G, Adorini L. 1 Alpha,25-dihydroxyvitamin D3 inhibits differentiation, maturation, activation, and survival of dendritic cells leading to impaired alloreactive T cell activation. *J Immunol* (2000) 164:2405–11.
- 180. Xia C, Peng R, Beato F, Clare-Salzler MJ. Dexamethasone induces IL-10producing monocyte-derived dendritic cells with durable immaturity. *Scand J Immunol* (2005) 62:45–54. doi:10.1111/j.1365-3083.2005.01640.x
- 181. Matsumoto T, Hasegawa H, Onishi S, Ishizaki J, Suemori K, Yasukawa M. Protein kinase C inhibitor generates stable human tolerogenic dendritic cells. *J Immunol* (2013) 191:2247–57. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.1203053
- 182. Taner T, Hackstein H, Wang Z, Morelli AE, Thomson AW. Rapamycin-treated, alloantigen-pulsed host dendritic cells induce AG-specific T cell regulation and prolong graft survival. Am J Transplant (2005) 5:228–36. doi:10.1046/j.1600-6143.2004.00673.x
- Manicassamy S, Pulendran B. Dendritic cell control of tolerogenic responses. *Immunol Rev* (2011) 241:206–27. doi:10.1111/j.1600-065X.2011.01015.x
- Nikolic T, Roep BO. Regulatory multitasking of tolerogenic dendritic cells lessons taken from vitamin d3-treated tolerogenic dendritic cells. Front Immunol (2013) 4:113. doi:10.3389/fimmu.2013.00113
- 185. Stoop JN, Harry RA, von Delwig A, Isaacs JD, Robinson JH, Hilkens CMU. Therapeutic effect of tolerogenic dendritic cells in established collagen-induced arthritis is associated with a reduction in TH17 responses. *Arthritis Rheum* (2010) 62:3656–65. doi:10.1002/art.27756
- 186. Zhang A, Fu J, Ning B, Li D, Sun N, Wei W, et al. Tolerogenic dendritic cells generated with IL-10/TGFβ1 relieve immune thrombocytopenia in mice. *Thromb Res* (2013) 132:63–8. doi:10.1016/j.thromres.2013.04.001
- 187. Farias AS, Spagnol GS, Bordeaux-Rego P, Oliveira COF, Fontana AGM, de Paula RFO, et al. Vitamin D3 induces IDO(+) tolerogenic DCS and enhances Treg, reducing the severity of EAE. CNS Neurosci Ther (2013) 19:269–77. doi:10.1111/cns.12071
- 188. Turnquist HR, Raimondi G, Zahorchak AF, Fischer RT, Wang Z, Thomson AW. Rapamycin-conditioned dendritic cells are poor stimulators of allogeneic CD4+ T cells, but enrich for antigen-specific FOXP3+ T regulatory cells and promote organ transplant tolerance. J Immunol (2007) 178:7018–31.
- 189. Raïch-Regué D, Grau-López L, Naranjo-Gómez M, Ramo-Tello C, Pujol-Borrell R, Martínez-Cáceres E, et al. Stable antigen-specific T-cell hyporesponsiveness induced by tolerogenic dendritic cells from multiple sclerosis patients. *Eur J Immunol* (2012) 42:771–82. doi:10.1002/eji.201141835
- 190. Hilkens CMU, Isaacs JD. Tolerogenic dendritic cell therapy for rheumatoid arthritis: where are we now? *Clin Exp Immunol* (2013) 172:148–57. doi:10.1111/cei.12038
- 191. Machen J, Harnaha J, Lakomy R, Styche A, Trucco M, Giannoukakis N. Antisense oligonucleotides down-regulating costimulation confer diabetespreventive properties to nonobese diabetic mouse dendritic cells. *J Immunol* (2004) 173:4331–41.
- 192. Giannoukakis N, Phillips B, Finegold D, Harnaha J, Trucco M. Phase I (safety) study of autologous tolerogenic dendritic cells in type 1 diabetic patients. *Diabetes Care* (2011) 34:2026–32. doi:10.2337/dc11-0472

- 193. Giannoukakis N, Bonham CA, Qian S, Chen Z, Peng L, Harnaha J, et al. Prolongation of cardiac allograft survival using dendritic cells treated with NF-KB decoy oligodeoxyribonucleotides. *Mol Ther* (2000) 1:430–7. doi:10.1006/mthe. 2000.0060
- 194. Wada Y, Cardinale I, Khatcherian A, Chu J, Kantor AB, Gottlieb AB, et al. Apilimod inhibits the production of IL-12 and IL-23 and reduces dendritic cell infiltration in psoriasis. *PLoS One* (2012) 7:e35069. doi:10.1371/journal.pone. 0035069
- 195. Krausz S, Boumans MJH, Gerlag DM, Lufkin J, van Kuijk AWR, Bakker A, et al. Brief report: a phase IIA, randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled trial of apilimod mesylate, an interleukin-12/interleukin-23 inhibitor, in patients with rheumatoid arthritis. *Arthritis Rheum* (2012) 64:1750–5. doi:10.1002/art.34339
- 196. Burakoff R, Barish CF, Riff D, Pruitt R, Chey WY, Farraye FA, et al. A phase 1/2a trial of STA 5326, an oral interleukin-12/23 inhibitor, in patients with active moderate to severe Crohn's disease. *Inflamm Bowel Dis* (2006) 12:558–65. doi:10.1097/01.ibd.0000225337.14356.31
- 197. Sands BE, Jacobson EW, Sylwestrowicz T, Younes Z, Dryden G, Fedorak R, et al. Randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled trial of the oral interleukin-12/23 inhibitor apilimod mesylate for treatment of active Crohn's disease. *Inflamm Bowel Dis* (2010) 16:1209–18. doi:10.1002/ibd.21159
- 198. Lan Z, Ge W, Arp J, Jiang J, Liu W, Gordon D, et al. Induction of kidney allograft tolerance by soluble CD83 associated with prevalence of tolerogenic dendritic cells and indoleamine 2,3-dioxygenase. *Transplantation* (2010) **90**:1286–93. doi:10.1097/TP.0b013e3182007bbf
- 199. Zinser E, Lechmann M, Golka A, Lutz MB, Steinkasserer A. Prevention and treatment of experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis by soluble CD83. *J Exp Med* (2004) 200:345–51. doi:10.1084/jem.20030973
- 200. Mukhopadhaya A, Hanafusa T, Jarchum I, Chen Y, Iwai Y, Serreze DV, et al. Selective delivery of beta cell antigen to dendritic cells in vivo leads to deletion and tolerance of autoreactive CD8+ T cells in nod mice. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U* S A (2008) 105:6374–9. doi:10.1073/pnas.0802644105
- 201. Ring S, Maas M, Nettelbeck DM, Enk AH, Mahnke K. Targeting of autoantigens to DEC205+ dendritic cells in vivo suppresses experimental allergic encephalomyelitis in mice. *J Immunol* (2013) **191**:2938–47. doi:10.4049/ jimmunol.1202592

- 202. Meyer-Wentrup F, Benitez-Ribas D, Tacken PJ, Punt CJA, Figdor CG, de Vries IJM, et al. Targeting DCIR on human plasmacytoid dendritic cells results in antigen presentation and inhibits IFN-alpha production. *Blood* (2008) 111:4245–53. doi:10.1182/blood-2007-03-081398
- 203. Meyer-Wentrup F, Cambi A, Joosten B, Looman MW, de Vries IJM, Figdor CG, et al. DCIR is endocytosed into human dendritic cells and inhibits TLR8mediated cytokine production. *J Leukoc Biol* (2009) 85:518–25. doi:10.1189/ jlb.0608352
- 204. Loschko J, Heink S, Hackl D, Dudziak D, Reindl W, Korn T, et al. Antigen targeting to plasmacytoid dendritic cells via SIGLEC-H inhibits TH cell-dependent autoimmunity. J Immunol (2011) 187:6346–56. doi:10.4049/ jimmunol.1102307
- 205. Ricupito A, Grioni M, Calcinotto A, Hess Michelini R, Longhi R, Mondino A, et al. Booster vaccinations against cancer are critical in prophylactic but detrimental in therapeutic settings. *Cancer Res* (2013) **73**:3545–54. doi:10.1158/ 0008-5472.CAN-12-2449

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Received: 23 September 2013; paper pending published: 08 October 2013; accepted: 17 November 2013; published online: 02 December 2013.

Citation: Seliger B and Massa C (2013) The dark side of dendritic cells: development and exploitation of tolerogenic activity that favor tumor outgrowth and immune escape. Front. Immunol. 4:419. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2013.00419

This article was submitted to Tumor Immunity, a section of the journal Frontiers in Immunology.

Copyright © 2013 Seliger and Massa. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) or licensor are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.



Pathological mobilization and activities of dendritic cells in tumor-bearing hosts: challenges and opportunities for immunotherapy of cancer

Amelia J. Tesone¹, Nikolaos Svoronos^{1,2}, Michael J. Allegrezza^{1,2} and Jose R. Conejo-Garcia¹*

¹ Tumor Microenvironment and Metastasis Program, Wistar Institute, Philadelphia, PA, USA

² Cell and Molecular Biology, Perelman School of Medicine, University of Pennsylvania, Philadelphia, PA, USA

Edited by:

Timothy Bullock, University of Virginia, USA

Reviewed by:

Alex Yee-Chen Huang, Case Western Reserve University School of Medicine, USA Luis De La Cruz-Merino, Hospital Universitario Virgen Macarena, Spain

*Correspondence:

Jose R. Conejo-Garcia, Tumor Microenvironment and Metastasis Program, Wistar Institute, 3601 Spruce Street, Philadelphia, PA 19104, USA e-mail: jrconejo@wistar.org A common characteristic of solid tumors is the pathological recruitment of immunosuppressive myeloid cells, which in certain tumors includes dendritic cells (DCs). DCs are of particular interest in the field of cancer immunotherapy because they induce potent and highly specific anti-tumor immune responses, particularly in the early phase of tumorigenesis. However, as tumors progress, these cells can be transformed into regulatory cells that contribute to an immunosuppressive microenvironment favoring tumor growth. Therefore, controlling DC phenotype has the potential to elicit effective anti-tumor responses while simultaneously weakening the tumor's ability to protect itself from immune attack. This review focuses on the dual nature of DCs in the tumor microenvironment, the regulation of DC phenotype, and the prospect of modifying DCs *in situ* as a novel immunotherapeutic approach.

Keywords: myelopoiesis, dendritic cell, tumor microenvironment, immune suppression, *in situ* vaccination, cancer immunotherapy

INTRODUCTION

Accumulated experimental and clinical evidence indicate that the immune system recognizes neoplasms and attempts to mount a response against these altered cells. However, immune pressure against established tumors is clearly not sufficient to defend tumor-bearing hosts from disease progression, and eventually death. A universal occurrence in established tumor-bearing individuals is a profound alteration of myelopoiesis (1). Pathological myeloid differentiation leads to the expansion of a heterogeneous population of immunosuppressive myeloid cells that accumulates in the spleen and gives rise to regulatory macrophages and dendritic cells (DCs) in tumors (2). This diverse mix of pathological myeloid cells at different stages of differentiation (generically termed Myeloid-Derived Suppressor Cells, or MDSCs) is highly immunosuppressive (1, 3). MDSCs also contribute to enhanced angiogenesis (4), as well as the formation of metastatic niches for malignant dissemination (5, 6). Additionally, defective development alters the critical function of myeloid cells that, under normal physiological conditions, would terminally differentiate into DCs, macrophages, or neutrophils. Defective myleopoiesis results in a significant defect in antigen presentation, which is aggravated during malignant progression, and drives T cellintrinsic transcriptional programs that promote T cell anergy and exhaustion. In contrast, certain tumors mobilize excessive amounts of lineage-committed, classical CD11c⁺ DCs that, rather than driving tumor antigen-specific responses, impair T cell effector function at the tumor bed. Here, we will review how pathological myelopoiesis and tumor microenvironmental networks progressively abrogate the immunostimulatory function of DCs, resulting in unresponsive T cells and prevention of the lingering

immune pressure exerted by remaining tumor-reactive lymphocytes. We will conclude by discussing potential approaches to overcome these effects *in vivo* and *in situ*.

TUMORS PROMOTE DEFECTIVE DC DIFFERENTIATION AND MATURATION

Dendritic cells originate in the bone marrow from the differentiation of hematopoietic precursors to Common Myeloid Progenitors and subsequently to DCs. Recent evidence indicates that, at least in mice, precursors of conventional DCs specifically express Clec9a and represent an independent lineage much less dependent on inflammation-induced monocyte differentiation than previously thought (7).

A hallmark of virtually all solid tumors is aberrant expansion of pathologically differentiated myeloid leukocytes (see Table 1). These cells arise from myeloid progenitors under the influence of inflammatory signals (8) and accumulate at splenic, lymphatic, and tumor locations. While they retain an immature phenotype, these MDSCs are highly immunosuppressive (9). Elegant experiments based on transfer of tumor-derived MDSCs of the myelomonocytic lineage have shown that under the influence of hypoxia in the tumor microenvironment (TME), these altered precursors of macrophages and DCs still reach their terminally differentiated cell fates (2). However, as expected from the succession of non-physiological signals that these myeloid cells receive, their phenotype is quite different from canonical macrophages and DCs generated under steady state conditions (see Figure 1). Tumor-differentiated macrophages, for instance, retain an immunosuppressive phenotype that contributes to accelerate malignant progression.

Cell type	Other names	Surface markers	Chemokine receptors	Phenotype	Human tumors observed within	Reference
MDSC		CD11b ⁺ GR-1 ⁺ (m), Lin-CD33 ⁺ MHC-II ⁻ or CD11b ⁺ CD33 ⁺ CD14 ⁻ (h)		Immunosuppressive	Breast, renal-cell, pancreatic, melanoma, head and neck	Gabrilovich and Nagaraj (9)
Mature DC	Classical DC	CD11c ⁺ MHC-II ^{high}	CCR7, CXCR4	Immunostimulatory		
Immature DC		CD11c ⁺ MHC-II ^{low}	CCR6, CCR2, CXCR4	Antigen uptake, Immunosuppres- sion	Ovarian, breast, lung, colorectal, melanoma, renal-cell, prostate	Chaux et al. (10), Pinzon-Charry et al. (11), Perrot et al. (12)
Pre-DC		CD11c ⁺ MHC-II ⁻	CCR1, CCR5, CCR2	Committed to DC lineage		
Regulatory DC	Tolerogenic DC	CD11c ⁺ CD11b [±] , MHC-II ⁺ CD86 ^{high} PD-L1 ⁺	CXCR4, CCR6	Immunosuppressive	Cervical, hepatocellular, breast, ovarian	Lee et al. (13), Ormandy et al. (14), Pinzon-Charry et al. (15), Scarlett et al. (16)

Table 1 | Phenotypic features of different tumor-infiltrating myeloid cell populations.

Mouse and human markers are indicated by (m) and (h), respectively.

In dissecting the role of DCs in cancer, most studies have focused on impaired DC differentiation as the cause of diminished production of mature, functionally competent DCs (1, 19). In support of this concept, a decrease in the accumulation of mature DCs has been found in patients with cervical (13), hepatocellular carcinoma (14), lung (12), colorectal (10), and breast cancer (15). Blockade of DC differentiation in tumor-bearing hosts was primarily attributed to VEGF, a common tumor microenvironmental factor widely known for its role in promoting tumor angiogenesis (20, 21). Accordingly, VEGF levels negatively correlate with the number of DCs in the blood or tumor in a variety of human cancers (22–24). These studies implied that the paucity of functionally mature DCs in tumors was a major contributing mechanism to overall immune evasion.

The consequence of defective antigen presentation in cancer individuals is T cell unresponsiveness, which may be the result of anergy or exhaustion. Unlike replicative senescence, anergy and exhaustion are reversible processes that result from different transcriptional programs but are frequently confused (25, 26). Anergy takes place at the time of priming, while exhaustion occurs in previously activated T cells undergoing repeated exposure to suboptimal amounts of antigen in the presence of negative costimulation. As emerging clinical evidence using PD-1 inhibitors suggests, T cell exhaustion is a major driver of tumorinduced immunosuppression in more than a third of cancer patients (27, 28).

TUMORS ALSO INDUCE THE ACCUMULATION OF FULLY COMMITTED DCs WITH IMMUNOSUPPRESSIVE ACTIVITY

While impaired DC differentiation and maturation may explain the myeloid phenotypes found in some tumors, they do not explain the accumulation of DCs with regulatory phenotypes that we and others have found in certain tumors (16, 29). Thus, we showed that classical DCs with immunosuppressive activity, termed regulatory DCs, accumulate in the TME. In tumors, these DCs suppress T cell effector functions through multiple mechanisms that include the expression of PD-L1, the production of L-Arginase and the up-regulation of tolerogenic butyrophilins (16, 30–38). The contribution of classical DCs to tumor-induced immunosuppression is therefore different from the mere lack of fully differentiated, immunostimulatory DCs, at least in certain carcinomas (see **Table 1**).

Because the myeloid leukocytes that are found in the TME represent a heterogeneous mix of abnormal cells at different stages of differentiation, phenotypic overlap and variability between patients hinder a conclusive categorization of macrophages vs. differentiated DCs vs. more immature precursors across tumor specimens. Nevertheless, we have demonstrated that the predominant population infiltrating solid human ovarian cancer specimens (but not human ascites) exhibits predominant determinants of DCs, including CD11c, HLA-DR, and DEC205, but do not express the monocyte/macrophage markers CD11b or CD14 in at least 1/3 of patients (16). Irrespective of nomenclature in human tumors, we have also demonstrated that the counterpart of this population in ovarian cancer mouse models can be induced to process full-length OVA in vitro (30) and in vivo (32, 34), and effectively present processed SIINFEKL to T cells in response to certain activating signals. These CD11c⁺ cells also produce Zbtb46 transcripts (39, 40) and express Clec9a (7) further implying their DC nature. DCs are therefore important players of the immunosuppressive networks orchestrated by at least some frequent epithelial tumors, and defective antigenpresenting activity contributes to the abrogation of the protective function of anti-tumor T cells.

We initially assumed that these DCs were "immature," and therefore simply unable to prime T cell responses. However, ovarian cancer DCs express significant levels of CD86. Even more surprisingly, human tumor DCs in multiple specimens also express CD83, an activation marker. Furthermore, these DCs produce high levels of inflammatory cytokines such as IL-6 and the chemokine CCL3 (32–34). Additionally, although TLR activation can further up-regulate MHC-II, these DCs express relatively high MHC-II levels in the TME, in both humans and mice (16, 37). Most importantly, progressive weakening of anti-tumor



tumor-induced immune evasion. Cancer-associated inflammation up-regulates the production of myeloid cells from hematopoietic progenitors in the bone marrow. Common myeloid progenitor cells give rise to pre-dendritic cells (pre-DCs) and, under the influence of tumorderived factors (e.g., VEGF, IL-6, and S100A9), myeloid-derived suppressor cells (MDSCs). These myeloid cells migrate into the tumor microenvironment in response to chemokines such as CCL3, CCL12, CXCL12, and β-Defensins. VEGF and IL-6 activate STAT3 and C/EBPβ signaling in MDSCs, keeping them in an immature phenotype characterized as CD11b⁺Gr-1⁺in mice and LIN⁻CD33⁺MHC-II⁻ or CD11b⁺CD33⁺CD14⁻ in humans. Additionally, IL-6, IL-10, and the accumulation of lipids can activate p38 MAPK signaling to prevent the acquisition of classic DC function. Also, some MDSCs can differentiate into DCs in the hypoxic environment of the tumor. Immature DCs (iDCs) exhibit Iow NF+kB activation, express CD11c in mice and humans, and have Iow MHC-II levels. These iDCs are defective antigen presenters, which induces T cell anergy and exhaustion. In other conditions, like those found in epithelial ovarian cancer, pre-DCs mature into cells that express markers of conventional DCs (CD11c⁺ MHC-II⁺CD86^{high}), but exert immunosuppressive functions, termed regulatory DCs (Reg DCs). Factors such as TGF β , PGE₂, IL-4, and retinoic acid have been shown to promote this altered maturation. These Reg DCs differ from conventional DCs in their ability to suppress effector T cell function through multiple mechanisms, which include: (1) secretion of the enzymes L-Arginase and IDO that result in the depletion of essential amino acids and production of the tolerogenic metabolites adenosine and kynurenine; (2) release of immunosuppressive factors such as IL-10 and TGF- β ; (3) expression of costimulatory surface molecules, including PD-L1 and butyrophilins, that negatively regulate anti-tumor T cells; (4) induction of regulatory T cells (Tregs). More information regarding the source of the various secreted factors that govern the accumulation and function of tumor-associated myeloid cells can be found in recent reviews by Hanahan and Weinberg as well as Lindau et al. (17, 18).

immunity cannot be solely attributed to "scarcity" of mature DCs in these tumors because depleting DCs at advanced stages of malignant progression in preclinical models paradoxically delays tumor growth, rather than being simply "neutral" (16). Excessive accumulation of immunosuppressive DCs, rather than mere absence of immunostimulatory antigen-presenting cells (APCs), is therefore the predominant mechanism of DC dysregulation in at least ovarian carcinoma.

These regulatory DCs are also different than their immature precursors due to their main location of action. Immature DCs that fail to efficiently activate T cells in the lymph node will primarily prevent T cell priming, leading to anergy or tolerization. And while we have identified immunosuppressive, regulatory DCs in the draining lymph node (16), the remarkable suppression by tumor-infiltrating DCs contributes to a protective barrier for tumor cell growth. By suppressing effector T cells through many mechanisms we discuss here, tumor-infiltrating DCs can effectively shut down activated anti-tumor immune responses. This important difference has imperative consequences for the fate of therapies that rely solely on eliciting tumor-directed T cells. For this reason, we mostly focus on the action of these altered DCs inside the tumor in this review.

Based on our converging evidence, we propose that regulatory DCs in tumors are not immature, but acquire an alternative phenotype in response to a different transcriptional program. Some peculiarities of this aberrant program have been identified in our recent studies. Thus, we demonstrated that delivery of synthetic (and functional) microRNA-155 (miR-155) specifically to CD11c⁺DEC205⁺MHC-II⁺ DCs in the microenvironment of ovarian cancer-bearing mice induced genome-wide transcriptional changes that were sufficient to transform these immunosuppressive leukocytes into an immunostimulatory cell type (37). Compared to the delivery of non-targeting double-stranded RNA of similar length and structure, ectopic miR-155 induced silencing of multiple immunosuppressive mediators, including Tgfb1 and Cd200. As expected, miR-155 also targeted crucial transcription factors involved in aberrant myeloid differentiation in tumorbearing hosts, including *Cepb/\beta* and *Socs1*. Most importantly, miR-155 activity down-regulated Stat3 and, interestingly, Satb1, a master genomic organizer (37, 41). Unexpectedly, however, expression of miR-155 also silenced the expression of Pu.1/Sfpi1 and Irf8 (>150-fold in both cases) (37). This is significant because PU.1 promotes DC differentiation by inducing the remodeling of the higher-order chromatin structure at the Irf8 gene. Therefore, myeloid IRF8 expression depends on high PU.1 levels (42). Most importantly, DC commitment requires active IRF8 to avoid alternative myeloid-lineage differentiation (42). The fact that synthetic miR-155-expressing DCs acquire the capacity to effectively present antigens in vivo and in vitro suggests that they were fully committed to a DC phenotype, albeit transcriptionally different from their classical immunostimulatory counterparts.

TUMOR- AND STROMA-DERIVED CHEMOATTRACTANTS DRIVE DC RECRUITMENT TO TUMOR LOCATIONS

The presence of regulatory DCs, as opposed to simply immature precursors, in the microenvironment of different tumors can be partially driven by the abundance and repertoire of tumor- and stroma-derived chemokines and cytokines, which is dependent on differential DC expression of chemokine receptors (43-45). For instance, the chemokine CCL3, aberrantly up-regulated in many tumors, enhances pre-DC recruitment in both in vitro and in vivo models of melanoma, colon, and lung carcinoma. Moreover, CCL3 preferentially recruits pre-DCs to tumor locations, as antibody mediated neutralization of CCL3 does not result in a decrease in any other CD45⁺ leukocyte subset, nor does it alter the frequency of splenic pre-DCs (46). Furthermore, pre-DC expression of CCR1 and CCR5 provide a mechanism for CCL3-mediated recruitment (47). In addition, tumor hypoxia, which characterizes a wide variety of TMEs, also triggers DC and immature myeloid cell recruitment via tumor-derived CCL12.

Additionally, tumor microenvironmental prostaglandin E_2 (PGE₂) up-regulates the chemokine CXCL12, thereby accumulating CXCR4-expressing regulatory DCs (48, 49). Another relatively uninvestigated factor that promotes the recruitment of CCR6⁺ regulatory DCs to tumor locations is the expression of β -Defensins by epithelial cells and inflammatory leukocytes. In preclinical models, ectopic tumor expression of *Defb29* has been shown to accelerate the accumulation of DCs in the TME, leading to more aggressive malignant progression (30). Defensins are clearly powerful chemoattractants (50) that are expressed at significantly higher levels in certain cancer patients (51).

Perhaps the most compelling evidence that tumor-derived chemokines influence the type of DCs found in the tumor has been demonstrated in a renal-cell carcinoma model (52), where the intra-tumoral or peri-tumoral distribution of DCs is determined

by CCL20 and CCL19 levels. High intra-tumoral levels of CCL20 result in the accumulation of immature CCR6⁺ DCs within the tumor bed, whereas high peri-tumoral levels of CCL19 promote the accumulation of mature CCR7⁺ DCs preferentially to the tumor margin.

PATHWAYS PREVENTING DENDRITIC CELL DIFFERENTIATION

The accumulation of immature DCs and earlier progenitors are also the result of corrupted pathways of inflammation-driven myeloid differentiation. The extent of the corrupted nature of myelopoiesis in cancer has been underscored by recent studies by Gabrilovich and colleagues showing that the epigenetic silencing of the retinoblastoma gene in immature (non-tumor) myeloid cells is sufficient to drive transdifferentiation of myelomonocytic MDSCs to granulocytic MDSCs (53). A block in the differentiation of immature myeloid precursors into mature myeloid cells results in fewer DCs and an accumulation of MDSCs. The molecular pathways driving this process are known to be STAT3dependent. For instance, high STAT3 activity has been shown to inhibit both the differentiation of mature DCs from myeloid precursors (54) and the activation and MHC-II up-regulation of DCs (55). Still, the molecular mechanism of this STAT3 signaling remains incompletely understood. Studies by Lee and colleagues have shown that tumors mediate both STAT3 activation and PKC βII down-regulation in DC progenitor cells (56). Importantly, PKC βII repression can be mimicked by the expression of a constitutively active STAT3 mutant. Because PKC βII is required for DC differentiation (57), these reports have identified a roadblock for subsequent maturation of myeloid precursors, but more studies are needed to fully dissect this mechanism.

Many factors overexpressed in the tumor macro- and microenvironments promote STAT3 activation. It has been demonstrated that the negative effect of tumor conditioned media on DC activation could be reversed by using either STAT3 null DCs or DCs treated with a peptide inhibitor of STAT3 (58). Some mediators of this process include IL-6, IL-10, and VEGF, which are generally increased systemically in cancer patients and negatively correlate with prognosis (59). The STAT3 activator IL-6 is particularly important for the development of functionally defective DCs (60). Tumor-derived IL-6 drives STAT3 nuclear translocation in immature myeloid cells, thus promoting proliferation and inhibiting apoptosis of MDSCs. Furthermore, IL-6 and M-CSF secreted by human renal carcinoma cell lines inhibit DC differentiation from CD34⁺ bone marrow progenitors (61). In addition, STAT3 up-regulates S100A9 in hematopoietic progenitor cells, which inhibits further differentiation to DCs and retains these cells as MDSCs, leading to tumor tolerance (62).

Besides STAT3, some of these cytokines inducing MDSCs also act on a common molecular pathway that is entirely dependent on the C/EBP β transcription factor. C/EBP β is therefore required for the immunoregulatory activity of both tumor-induced and bone marrow-derived MDSCs (63).

Additionally, VEGF has been shown to impair DC differentiation from progenitors through the inhibition of another pathway that is also important for DC maturation; namely, by preventing NF- κ B activation (21, 64).

PATHWAYS PREVENTING DENDRITIC CELL MATURATION

Besides impairment of DC development, DCs can be found in an active immature phenotype associated with induction of peripheral tolerance. Numerous studies have demonstrated that these immature DCs (iDCs) are unable to support normal levels of antigen-specific T cell expansion. For example, human monocyte-derived DCs (mo-DCs) are unable to induce expansion of antigen-specific, tetramer-positive T cells when kept in an immature phenotype by differentiation in the presence of the adenosine receptor agonist NECA or cAMP elevating agents FSK/IBMX (65).

Under steady state conditions, DCs exist in an immature state characterized by high phagocytic activity and low antigen-presenting capabilities. Upon being activated by innate pathogen or damage associated signals, DCs acquire a mature state characterized by MHC presentation of antigens and costimulatory signaling via B7 family molecules (e.g., CD80 and CD86). For an immature DC to become an efficient APC, it must receive specific activating signals through receptors such as CD40, TNF-R, IL-1R, and TLRs (66). Although the intricacies of how DC maturation is blocked remain to be fully dissected, an important mechanism preventing DC maturation appears to be mediated by the p38 MAPK pathway. IL-6, IL-10, and TGF-B contained in myelomaconditioned media have been shown to activate this pathway and prevent the immunostimulatory activity of immature DCs. Abrogating p38 MAPK with a small molecule inhibitor during DC development enhanced their subsequent activation, making them more mature and stimulatory even when differentiated in the conditioned media (67). In addition, paclitaxel-induced inhibition of p38 MAPK activity decreases the production of S100A9 and TNF- α by MDSCs, resulting in reduced tumor burden and increased animal survival (68). In tumor-bearing mice, paclitaxel induces the maturation-dependent antigen-presenting activity of DCs (69).

High levels of IL-10 in tumor-bearing hosts also impair the complete maturation of DCs. DCs from mice that overexpress IL-10 have low expression of MHC-I and costimulatory molecules and are deficient at stimulating T cell responses (70). Accordingly, IL-10 treated human DCs induce anergy in T cells, although fully matured DCs were resistant to the effect of IL-10 (71). Pancreatic tumor cells were also found to secrete IL-6 and IL-10 thus suppressing the stimulatory abilities of DCs in allogeneic reactions (72).

Another pathway relevant for effective DC maturation is dependent on NF- κ B activation. Signaling via NF- κ B is required for the professional APC function of DCs, including high expression of MHC-II and costimulatory molecules, secretion of IL-12 and TNF α , and stimulation of allogeneic T cells (73). Recently, PD-1 expression on DCs from murine ovarian tumors was found to decrease NF- κ B activation, resulting in less production of inflammatory cytokines (74).

Additional mechanisms that remain poorly understood but could be very important for preventing the immunostimulatory potential of tumor-associated DCs are dependent on how myeloid leukocytes metabolize lipids in the TME. Tumor DCs up-regulate scavenger receptor A (SR-A), a target used for therapeutic depletion of regulatory DCs in preclinical models (75). Overexpression of SR-A increases the uptake of extracellular lipids, which are pathologically accumulated in DCs (76). Tumor DCs from mice and humans were demonstrated to have relatively high levels of triglycerides that impaired their ability to process antigen, and could be functionally restored upon normalization of their triglyceride levels.

Finally, immunomodulatory signals can also come from metabolites, as tumor-derived lactate can skew the differentiation of human monocytes into less mature DCs (defined by less CD1a expression) that are deficient in their ability to stimulate T cells and secrete IL-12 (77).

PATHWAYS DRIVING THE TRANSFORMATION OF DENDRITIC CELLS INTO AN IMMUNOSUPPRESSIVE CELL TYPE

In addition to blocking DC differentiation and full activation, the TME also contains multiple factors that transform classical DCs with antigen-presenting capabilities into immunosuppressive players. Our recent studies in a preclinical model of sarcomatoid carcinoma in immunocompetent mice have illustrated that this switch takes place during malignant progression (16, 37). In this system, the inflammatory microenvironment of advanced tumors recapitulates the molecular and cellular components of immune cells found in human solid tumors. We found that at initial stages of tumor development, DCs elicit T cell responses that are able to put tumor growth in check for relatively long periods. As expected, depleting DCs at early stages of tumor progression resulted in accelerated tumor progression, which mimicked T cell depletion. However, as these tumors advanced, DC differentiation was not blocked. Rather, CD11c⁺MHC-II⁺DEC205⁺ DCs with regulatory activity started accumulating at tumor locations, which coincided with the beginning of the exponential growth phase of these latent tumors. Strikingly, DC depletion at this advanced stage of malignant growth was sufficient to significantly delay (rather than advance) malignant progression. DCs in these late-stage tumors are therefore not simply immature or unable to effectively present antigens. In fact, although DCs in advanced tumors exhibited lower expression of MHC-II and costimulatory CD40, they still expressed both at significant levels. Instead they became active accomplices to tumor growth through the inhibition of protective immunity.

Dendritic cell accumulation in solid tumors is not only found in the microenvironment of solid ovarian carcinomas. For instance, Norian et al. found that MHC-II⁺CD11b⁺CD11c^{high} DCs infiltrating established mammary carcinomas could also act as regulatory players by inhibiting CD8 T cell function through L-Arginase production, thus dampening T cell-mediated anti-tumor immune protection (29). Naïve T cells primed with these DCs undergo minimal expansion and defective IFN- γ production, and eventually become anergic. The phenotype of these regulatory DCs therefore does not correspond to the plasmacytoid DC type that has been traditionally associated with the development and maintenance of immunosuppression, although these cells are also found in the microenvironment of many tumors (78–81).

Among the potential tumor microenvironmental factors driving the transformation of immunostimulatory DCs into immunosuppressive players, we identified that at least PGE₂ and TGF- β (but not IL-6) in supernatants from primary cultures, are both necessary to elicit a regulatory phenotypic switch in DCs

from early tumors. These DCs were then capable of suppressing the strong proliferation of tumor-reactive T cells in response to tumor antigen presented by other DCs (16, 37).

In addition, IL-4 and retinoic acid synergize to induce the expression of *Aldh1a2* in GM-CSF-differentiated inflammatory DCs, turning on their regulatory activity (82). Retinoic acid is also known to enhance TGF- β -induced Smad3 activation (83), potentially synergizing with the induction of suppressive features elicited by TGF- β on DCs (16, 37).

Another important factor dampening the immunostimulatory potential of tumor DCs is kynurenine, the first product of the tryptophan degradation pathway generated by Indoleaminepyrrole 2,3-dioxygenase (IDO) (84, 85). Kynurenine, by interacting with the aryl hydrocarbon receptor (AHR), elicits an autocrine loop in DCs, resulting in enhanced IDO activity and the acquisition of an immunosuppressive phenotype by originally immunocompetent DCs (86). In another study, IDO expression was found to be required for DC-induced tolerance, and, via TGF- β -induced expression of IDO, it was possible to convert CD8-negative DCs from being immunogenic to regulatory (87).

MECHANISMS OF IMMUNOSUPPRESSION DRIVEN BY DC SECRETION OF IMMUNOSUPPRESSIVE FACTORS

Regulatory DCs suppress immune responses by secreting antiinflammatory soluble factors that inhibit effector T cell functions or skew T cell responses. DCs, for instance, are a major source of IDO within the TME. DCs infiltrating multiple tumors show enhanced IDO activity. For example, IDO-expressing FOXO3⁺ DCs were shown to promote malignant progression in preclinical models of prostate cancer (88). Kynurenine produced by IDO activates AHR, which is central to T cell differentiation into FoxP3⁺ regulatory T cells (Tregs) (89, 90). Generation of induced Tregs is not only a property of murine tumor DCs, as IDO expression in human DCs also results in induction of Foxp3⁺, immunosuppressive T cells when these DCs are co-cultured with healthy donor CD3⁺ lymphocytes. This induction was confirmed to be IDOdependent by reversal of T cell phenotype following tryptophan treatment (91).

Regulatory DCs, and not only macrophages or MDSCs, are also important contributors to immunosuppression in the TME through the production of L-Arginase (16, 29, 37). L-Arginase activity results in catabolic depletion of Arginine, an amino acid essential for effector T cells. Upon undergoing a phenotypic switch from being immunostimulatory to immunosuppressive, DCs found in advanced tumors significantly increase L-Arginase activity. Importantly, freshly dissociated human ovarian carcinoma specimens also contain DCs with significant L-Arginase activity (16, 37).

Among the factors that enhance L-Arginase activity in the TME, IL-6 is perhaps the best characterized. IL-6 treatment of bone marrow-derived DCs (BMDCs) results in increased L-Arginase RNA, protein, and activity both *in vitro* and *in vivo*. The consequent drop in extracellular arginine resulted in down-regulation of MHC-II in the same DCs and impaired ability to activate OT-II T cells. These results were similarly reproduced by differentiating BMDCs in arginine-free conditions (92).

Other immunosuppressive factors produced by DCs in advanced tumors include cytokines such as TGF- β and IL-10. Tumors induce DCs to secrete TGF- β , further promoting Treg expansion and indirectly suppressing T cell effector functions (93, 94). However, the relative contribution of DC-derived TGF- β compared to the production of this cytokine by other microenvironmental cell types (e.g., certain T cell subsets, including Tregs), needs to be comprehensively addressed.

MECHANISMS OF IMMUNOSUPPRESSION DRIVEN BY DCs THROUGH MEMBRANE-BOUND DETERMINANTS

In addition to not providing sufficient antigen or costimulation, tumor-associated DCs frequently express negative costimulatory molecules that suppress T cell activity. As evidenced by the emerging success of novel clinical inhibitors, perhaps the most important negative signaling is mediated through PD-L1:PD-1 interactions (95). PD-1 is a negative costimulatory receptor primarily expressed on activated lymphocytes. The most abundant ligand for PD-1, B7-H1/PD-L1, is up-regulated in DCs and tumor cells in multiple cancers. PD-1 itself can also be expressed by tumor DCs themselves, at least in murine models. Expression of the PD-L1:PD-1 pair was found to increase throughout malignant progression, correlating with loss of positive costimulatory markers (CD80, CD86, and CD40), a lack of cytokine release (IL-12, IL-10, IL-6, TNFa, and G-CSF), and contact-dependent inhibition of T cell expansion (74). Importantly, inhibitors for both the ligand (PD-L1) and the receptor (PD-1) have been developed and have shown impressive clinical results (27, 28). However, PD-1 blockers appear to be better candidates for future FDA approval, while PD-L1 inhibitors appear to produce better results in murine models (96), possibly related to the affinity and pharmacokinetics of different humanized and mouse-specific antibodies.

Aside from PD-L1, regulatory DCs can express other negative costimulatory molecules. One of these inhibitors, universally expressed in ovarian cancer-infiltrating DCs, is CD277 (35). CD277 identifies various highly similar members of the butyrophilin subfamily 3 (BTN3). The function of these molecules is poorly investigated, but they share sequence and structural homology to the negative costimulatory molecule B7-H4. CD277 is expressed by CD45⁺ MHC-II⁺ APCs isolated from human epithelial ovarian cancer samples, and is up-regulated in human mo-DCs in response to molecules found in the TME, such as IL-6, IL-10, VEGF, PIGF-1, and CCL3. We showed that CD277 expressed in artificial APCs consistently decreased the expansion of TCRstimulated T cells. However, one of the butyrophilins expressing the CD277 epitope (BTN3A1), has been recently reported as an activating receptor (thus not a ligand) in $\gamma\delta$ T cells, where it binds phosphorylated antigens with low affinity (97). In addition, other similar molecules such as BTNL8 have been associated with immunostimulatory activity when a soluble fusion protein was used (98). It is unclear, however, whether the activity of butyrophilins depends on engagement of the unknown receptor in T cells in a cross-linked or soluble form.

Also important for the generation of tolerogenic mediators are the two ecto-enzymes CD39 and CD73 that act sequentially to generate anti-inflammatory extracellular adenosine (72, 99, 100). Among the many suppression-promoting effects that TGF- β induces in DCs, it up-regulates the expression of CD73 (101). CD73 produces adenosine from AMP, which engages with the adenosine A2A receptor (A2AR). A2AR ligation both inhibits the expansion of effector T cells and promotes the generation of induced Tregs (102). Chemical enzymatic inhibitors or neutralizing antibodies targeting these ecto-enzymes therefore offer novel promising avenues of therapeutic interventions.

IMPLICATIONS OF DC DYSREGULATION IN CANCER PATIENTS FOR THERAPEUTIC DENDRITIC CELL-BASED VACCINES

Because DCs are the most potent APCs, they have been used to boost T cell-mediated immune protection against cancer for nearly two decades. Multiple approaches have been shown to work effectively in mice, primarily as prophylactic interventions. However, any reproducible clinical benefit for patients with established cancer has been marginal so far (103). It is true that there is still room for improvement, especially regarding immunostimulatory cell type and route of administration. However, converging clinical evidence suggests that quantifiable improvements in immunological readouts are not associated with reproducible clinical responses (104).

Although DC-based vaccines are designed to overcome defective maturation, challenges with migration to places of T cell priming and, especially, the abrasive effect of the immunosuppressive networks in the TME, have so far rendered vaccine-induced T cell responses ineffective against tumor-induced tolerance. A successful trial using autologous lysate-pulsed DC vaccination in recurrent ovarian cancer has become an auspicious exception (105). However, DC vaccination in this trial was followed by adoptive transfer of vaccine-primed, *ex vivo* stimulated T cells, and it is therefore unclear whether the obvious clinical responses can be at all attributed to the initial vaccine. Nevertheless, this approach opens new avenues for the use of DCs for effective priming of autologous tumor-reactive T cells *ex vivo*.

All the aforementioned mechanisms of DC dysfunction in advanced malignancy contribute to our understanding of the failure of DC vaccines to deliver on their original promise. Even if ex vivo matured DCs could reach lymph nodes and can effectively prime tumor antigen-specific T cells without being affected by TFG-β, retinoic acid, or IDO metabolites, it is becoming increasingly clear that anti-tumor T cells will succumb in the TME, unless immunosuppression is concurrently targeted. Consequently, new opportunities emerge from the use of DC-based vaccines to treat early-stage disease, where they can be more efficacious in the absence of systemic immune dysfunction (106). DC-based vaccines, for instance, are now being tested against ductal carcinoma in situ (DCIS), to prevent development of subsequent breast cancer. Recent trials observed reduced recurrences in patients with estrogen receptor negative DCIS. Because the immunosuppressive networks are not as strong at this disease stage, this approach may be more promising (107).

REVERSING THE PHENOTYPE OF DENDRITIC CELLS FROM AN IMMUNOSUPPRESSIVE TO AN IMMUNOSTIMULATORY CELL TYPE

While the establishment of regulatory DCs is a significant pathological event in solid tumors, the central role that DCs play in orchestrating adaptive immunity still offers opportunities for therapeutic intervention that could have lasting benefit. *In situ* vaccine-based interventions aimed at transforming tumor DCs into activated APCs capable of priming host anti-tumor T cells represent a promising approach to both actively boost T cells and inhibit immunosuppression. Vicari and colleagues first reported that tumor-infiltrating DCs are able to be rescued and become effective tumor antigen presenters in the context of MHC-I, provided that they receive the right stimulatory signals. They found that DCs were refractory to stimulation with the combination of LPS, IFN- γ , and anti-CD40 antibody, but tumor-induced DC paralysis could be reverted by a combination of CpGs and an anti-IL-10R antibody (108).

The combination of signals promoting the immunostimulatory capacity of otherwise immunosuppressive DCs may depend on different tumor settings. The use of agonistic anti-CD40 antibodies as a single intervention has been successful at activating tumor DCs to stimulate T cell rejection of a murine tumor model (109). In addition, a fully human CD40 agonist antibody, CP-870,893, has been tested in humans with advanced cancers, resulting in objective responses in 14% of patients (110). However, mechanistic studies in preclinical models identified macrophages as direct mediators of cytolytic anti-tumor activity, with negligible contribution of anti-tumor T cells (111). Another trial using weekly dosing of CP-870,893 in advanced cancer patients showed only stable disease as the best clinical response. Some patients showed decreased T cell numbers, indicating that the dosing interval may have been too frequent (112). In our preclinical systems or in human tumor-derived DCs, CD40 agonists alone had no measurable effect on DC activation in vivo (34). However, based on the optimization of multiple combinations of vaccine adjuvants carried out by Ahonen et al. (113), we confirmed that CD40 and TLR3 agonists synergize to transform ovarian cancer-associated DCs from an immunosuppressive to an immunostimulatory cell type, both in vivo and in situ (34). These findings indicate the importance of acknowledging differences in the TME among various cancers, including that treatments like CD40 agonists may act on cells other than DCs. While in some tumors, CD40 agonists may singlehandedly activate DCs, in other tumors, like ovarian carcinoma, combining CD40 agonists with TLR activation will be necessary to revert DCs from immune-suppressors into functional APCs.

The other component of our synergistic combination, TLR agonists, can also activate DCs and has been tested in cancer with some success as a monotherapy. TLR9 agonists, for instance, have been developed and are in clinical trials (114). Stronger stimulation of DCs can be achieved through the activation of TLR3 with poly(I:C). To address its undesirable toxicity in humans, a less stable version of poly(I:C) called poly(I:C₁₂U) was developed by incorporating a mismatched uracil, which still functionally activates DCs and enhances their IL-12 production (115).

Recent studies from our group have also underscored the potential of immunostimulatory nanoparticles carrying functional RNA against tumors that are compartmentalized, such as ovarian cancer. We showed that nanocomplexes comprised of polyethylenimine (PEI), a biocompatible polymer and TLR5 agonist, and siRNA oligonucleotides targeting PD-L1 are selectively engulfed by DCs in the ovarian cancer microenvironment (32). Activation of multiple TLRs and PD-L1 silencing synergize to promote the capacity of DCs at tumor locations to present the tumor antigens that they spontaneously phagocytose in the TME. Taking advantage of this optimized system, we were also able to deliver immunostimulatory miR-155 specifically to immunosuppressive DCs in mouse ovarian tumors, through the use of synthetic, functional double-stranded RNA Dicer substrates (37). Augmenting miR-155 activity resulted in genome-wide transcriptional changes that transformed DCs from a regulatory to an immunostimulatory phenotype. Although human tumor ascites primarily accumulates canonical macrophages, it is plausible that miR-155 supplementation also exposes their capacity to effectively present antigens. In addition, DCs are recruited to solid ovarian cancer masses, where they accumulate at the growing edge, in contact with ascites. Intra-peritoneal delivery of immunostimulatory nanocomplexes, therefore, offers significant promise to reverse the immunosuppressive activity of ovarian cancerassociated phagocytes. These approaches, however, need to be clinically tested.

Finally, one method that harnesses the power of DCs is actually a beneficial side effect of a classic treatment: chemotherapy. Certain chemotherapies are now understood to cause an immunogenic death of tumor cells that primes DCs to activate an antitumor immune response. This mechanism was first described for doxorubicin, showing that it induced immunogenic, caspasedriven tumor cell death that stimulated a protective immune response dependent on DCs and CD8 T cells (116). The features of immunogenic cell death include the release of ATP (117), surface exposure of calreticulin (118), and secretion of HMGB (119), which respectively act to recruit (120), induce engulfment by (121), and activate DCs for T cell stimulation. The list of agents inducing immunogenic cell death has been extended to include anthracyclines, oxaliplatin (but not cisplatin), and irradiation, among others. For a recent comprehensive review, the reader is referred to Kroemer et al. (122).

FINAL REMARKS

Pathological myelopoiesis in cancer individuals results in the accumulation of a heterogeneous mix of MDSCs, macrophages, immature DCs, and regulatory DCs. This results in defective antigen presentation, which causes T cell anergy and, especially, exhaustion. In addition, certain tumors mobilize classical DCs with immunosuppressive activity known as regulatory DCs. All these mechanisms have hindered the success of DC-based vaccines. However, novel approaches aiming to prevent tumor recurrences at early stages or using DCs for *ex vivo* priming of tumor-reactive lymphocytes offer significant promise. Finally, the antigen-presenting capacity of tumor-infiltrating DCs can be promoted *in vivo* and *in situ*, thus achieving the double goal of reversing immunosuppression and directly boosting protective immunity.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

This study was supported by R01CA157664, R01CA124515, R01CA178687, P30 CA10815, and U54CA151662. Michael J. Allegrezza was supported by T32CA009171.

REFERENCES

- Gabrilovich DI, Ostrand-Rosenberg S, Bronte V. Coordinated regulation of myeloid cells by tumours. *Nat Rev Immunol* (2012) 12:253–68. doi:10.1038/ nri3175
- Corzo CA, Condamine T, Lu L, Cotter MJ, Youn JI, Cheng P, et al. HIFlalpha regulates function and differentiation of myeloid-derived suppressor cells in the tumor microenvironment. *J Exp Med* (2010) 207:2439–53. doi:10.1084/jem.20100587
- Lu T, Gabrilovich DI. Molecular pathways: tumor-infiltrating myeloid cells and reactive oxygen species in regulation of tumor microenvironment. *Clin Cancer Res* (2012) 18:4877–82. doi:10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-11-2939
- 4. Yang L, Debusk LM, Fukuda K, Fingleton B, Green-Jarvis B, Shyr Y, et al. Expansion of myeloid immune suppressor Gr+CD11b+ cells in tumor-bearing host directly promotes tumor angiogenesis. *Cancer Cell* (2004) 6:409–21. doi:10.1016/j.ccr.2004.08.031
- Yang L, Huang J, Ren X, Gorska AE, Chytil A, Aakre M, et al. Abrogation of TGF beta signaling in mammary carcinomas recruits Gr-1+CD11b+ myeloid cells that promote metastasis. *Cancer Cell* (2008) 13:23–35. doi:10.1016/j.ccr. 2007.12.004
- DeNardo DG, Barreto JB, Andreu P, Vasquez L, Tawfik D, Kolhatkar N, et al. CD4(+) T cells regulate pulmonary metastasis of mammary carcinomas by enhancing protumor properties of macrophages. *Cancer Cell* (2009) 16:91–102. doi:10.1016/j.ccr.2009.06.018
- Schraml BU, Van Blijswijk J, Zelenay S, Whitney PG, Filby A, Acton SE, et al. Genetic tracing via DNGR-1 expression history defines dendritic cells as a hematopoietic lineage. *Cell* (2013) 154:843–58. doi:10.1016/j.cell.2013.07.014
- Sinha P, Okoro C, Foell D, Freeze HH, Ostrand-Rosenberg S, Srikrishna G. Proinflammatory S100 proteins regulate the accumulation of myeloid-derived suppressor cells. *J Immunol* (2008) 181:4666–75.
- Gabrilovich DI, Nagaraj S. Myeloid-derived suppressor cells as regulators of the immune system. Nat Rev Immunol (2009) 9:162–74. doi:10.1038/nri2506
- Chaux P, Moutet M, Faivre J, Martin F, Martin M. Inflammatory cells infiltrating human colorectal carcinomas express HLA class II but not B7-1 and B7-2 costimulatory molecules of the T-cell activation. *Lab Invest* (1996) 74:975–83.
- 11. Pinzon-Charry A, Maxwell T, Lopez JA. Dendritic cell dysfunction in cancer: a mechanism for immunosuppression. *Immunol Cell Biol* (2005) 83:451–61. doi:10.1111/j.1440-1711.2005.01371.x
- 12. Perrot I, Blanchard D, Freymond N, Isaac S, Guibert B, Pachéco Y, et al. Dendritic cells infiltrating human non-small cell lung cancer are blocked at immature stage. *J Immunol* (2007) **178**:2763–9.
- Lee B-N, Follen M, Rodriquez G, Shen D-Y, Malpica A, Shearer WT, et al. Deficiencies in myeloid antigen-presenting cells in women with cervical squamous intraepithelial lesions. *Cancer* (2006) 107:999–1007. doi:10.1002/cncr.22092
- Ormandy L-A, Farber A, Cantz T, Petrykowska S, Wedemeyer H, Horning M, et al. Direct ex vivo analysis of dendritic cells in patients with hepatocellular carcinoma. *World J Gastroenterol* (2006) 12:3275–82.
- Pinzon-Charry A, Ho CSK, Maxwell T, McGuckin MA, Schmidt C, Furnival C, et al. Numerical and functional defects of blood dendritic cells in earlyand late-stage breast cancer. *Br J Cancer* (2007) **97**:1251–9. doi:10.1038/sj.bjc. 6604018
- Scarlett UK, Rutkowski MR, Rauwerdink AM, Fields J, Escovar-Fadul X, Baird J, et al. Ovarian cancer progression is controlled by phenotypic changes in dendritic cells. J Exp Med (2012) 209:495–506. doi:10.1084/jem.20111413
- Hanahan D, Weinberg RA. Hallmarks of cancer: the next generation. Cell (2011) 144:646–74. doi:10.1016/j.cell.2011.02.013
- Lindau D, Gielen P, Kroesen M, Wesseling P, Adema GJ. The immunosuppressive tumour network: myeloid-derived suppressor cells, regulatory T cells and natural killer T cells. *Immunology* (2013) 138:105–15. doi:10.1111/imm.12036
- Gabrilovich D. Mechanisms and functional significance of tumour-induced dendritic-cell defects. *Nat Rev Immunol* (2004) 4:941–52. doi:10.1038/nri1498
- Gabrilovich DI, Chen HL, Girgis KR, Cunningham HT, Meny GM, Nadaf S, et al. Production of vascular endothelial growth factor by human tumors inhibits the functional maturation of dendritic cells. *Nat Med* (1996) 2:1096–103. doi:10.1038/nm1096-1096
- 21. Gabrilovich D, Ishida T, Oyama T, Ran S, Kravtsov V, Nadaf S, et al. Vascular endothelial growth factor inhibits the development of dendritic cells and dramatically affects the differentiation of multiple hematopoietic lineages in vivo. *Blood* (1998) **92**:4150–66.

- 22. Lissoni P, Malugani F, Bonfanti A, Bucovec R, Secondino S, Brivio F, et al. Abnormally enhanced blood concentrations of vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF) in metastatic cancer patients and their relation to circulating dendritic cells, IL-12 and endothelin-1. *J Biol Regul Homeost Agents* (2001) **15**:140–4.
- 23. Fan X-H, Han B-H, Dong Q-G, Sha H-F, Bao G-L, Liao M-L. Vascular endothelial growth factor inhibits dendritic cells from patients with non-small cell lung carcinoma. *Zhonghua Jie He He Hu Xi Za Zhi* (2003) 26:539–43.
- 24. Takahashi A, Kono K, Ichihara F, Sugai H, Fujii H, Matsumoto Y. Vascular endothelial growth factor inhibits maturation of dendritic cells induced by lipopolysaccharide, but not by proinflammatory cytokines. *Cancer Immunol Immunother* (2004) 53:543–50. doi:10.1007/s00262-003-0466-8
- 25. Wherry EJ. T cell exhaustion. *Nat Immunol* (2011) **12**:492–9. doi:10.1038/ni. 2035
- Crespo J, Sun H, Welling TH, Tian Z, Zou W. T cell anergy, exhaustion, senescence, and stemness in the tumor microenvironment. *Curr Opin Immunol* (2013) 25:214–21. doi:10.1016/j.coi.2012.12.003
- Brahmer JR, Tykodi SS, Chow LQ, Hwu WJ, Topalian SL, Hwu P, et al. Safety and activity of anti-PD-L1 antibody in patients with advanced cancer. N Engl J Med (2012) 366:2455–65. doi:10.1056/NEJMoa1200694
- Topalian SL, Hodi FS, Brahmer JR, Gettinger SN, Smith DC, McDermott DF, et al. Safety, activity, and immune correlates of anti-PD-1 antibody in cancer. *N Engl J Med* (2012) 366:2443–54. doi:10.1056/NEJMoa1200690
- Norian LA, Rodriguez PC, O'Mara LA, Zabaleta J, Ochoa AC, Cella M, et al. Tumor-infiltrating regulatory dendritic cells inhibit CD8+ T cell function via Larginine metabolism. *Cancer Res* (2009) 69:3086–94. doi:10.1158/0008-5472. CAN-08-2826
- Conejo-Garcia JR, Benencia F, Courreges M-C, Kang E, Mohamed-Hadley A, Buckanovich RJ, et al. Tumor-infiltrating dendritic cell precursors recruited by a beta-defensin contribute to vasculogenesis under the influence of Vegf-A. *Nat Med* (2004) 10:950–8. doi:10.1038/nm1097
- Huarte E, Cubillos-Ruiz JR, Nesbeth YC, Scarlett UK, Martinez DG, Buckanovich RJ, et al. Depletion of dendritic cells delays ovarian cancer progression by boosting antitumor immunity. *Cancer Res* (2008) 68:7684–91. doi:10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-08-1167
- Cubillos-Ruiz JR, Engle X, Scarlett UK, Martinez D, Barber A, Elgueta R, et al. Polyethylenimine-based siRNA nanocomplexes reprogram tumor-associated dendritic cells via TLR5 to elicit therapeutic antitumor immunity. J Clin Invest (2009) 119:2231–44. doi:10.1172/JCI37716
- Nesbeth Y, Scarlett U, Cubillos-Ruiz J, Martinez D, Engle X, Turk M-J, et al. CCL5-mediated endogenous antitumor immunity elicited by adoptively transferred lymphocytes and dendritic cell depletion. *Cancer Res* (2009) 69:6331–8. doi:10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-08-4329
- 34. Scarlett UK, Cubillos-Ruiz JR, Nesbeth YC, Martinez DG, Engle X, Gewirtz AT, et al. In situ stimulation of CD40 and Toll-like receptor 3 transforms ovarian cancer-infiltrating dendritic cells from immunosuppressive to immunostimulatory cells. *Cancer Res* (2009) 69:7329–37. doi:10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-09-0835
- Cubillos-Ruiz JR, Martinez D, Scarlett UK, Rutkowski MR, Nesbeth YC, Camposeco-Jacobs AL, et al. CD277 is a negative co-stimulatory molecule universally expressed by ovarian cancer microenvironmental cells. *Oncotarget* (2010) 1:329–38.
- 36. Nesbeth YC, Martinez DG, Toraya S, Scarlett UK, Cubillos-Ruiz JR, Rutkowski MR, et al. CD4+ T cells elicit host immune responses to MHC class II-negative ovarian cancer through CCL5 secretion and CD40-mediated licensing of dendritic cells. J Immunol (2010) 184:5654–62. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.0903247
- Cubillos-Ruiz JR, Baird JR, Tesone AJ, Rutkowski MR, Scarlett UK, Camposeco-Jacobs AL, et al. Reprogramming tumor-associated dendritic cells in vivo using miRNA mimetics triggers protective immunity against ovarian cancer. *Cancer Res* (2012) 72:1683–93. doi:10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-11-3160
- 38. Baird JR, Fox BA, Sanders KL, Lizotte PH, Cubillos-Ruiz JR, Scarlett UK, et al. Avirulent *Toxoplasma gondii* generates therapeutic antitumor immunity by reversing immunosuppression in the ovarian cancer microenvironment. *Cancer Res* (2013) **73**:3842–51. doi:10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-12-1974
- Meredith MM, Liu K, Darrasse-Jeze G, Kamphorst AO, Schreiber HA, Guermonprez P, et al. Expression of the zinc finger transcription factor zDC (Zbtb46, Btbd4) defines the classical dendritic cell lineage. *J Exp Med* (2012) 209:1153–65. doi:10.1084/jem.20112675

- Satpathy AT, Kc W, Albring JC, Edelson BT, Kretzer NM, Bhattacharya D, et al. Zbtb46 expression distinguishes classical dendritic cells and their committed progenitors from other immune lineages. J Exp Med (2012) 209:1135–52. doi:10.1084/jem.20120030
- Han HJ, Russo J, Kohwi Y, Kohwi-Shigematsu T. SATB1 reprogrammes gene expression to promote breast tumour growth and metastasis. *Nature* (2008) 452:187–93. doi:10.1038/nature06781
- Schonheit J, Kuhl C, Gebhardt ML, Klett FF, Riemke P, Scheller M, et al. PU.1 level-directed chromatin structure remodeling at the Irf8 gene drives dendritic cell commitment. *Cell Rep* (2013) 3:1617–28. doi:10.1016/j.celrep.2013. 04.007
- Gunn MD. Chemokine mediated control of dendritic cell migration and function. Semin Immunol (2003) 15:271–6. doi:10.1016/j.smim.2003.08.004
- Sozzani S. Dendritic cell trafficking: more than just chemokines. *Cytokine Growth Factor Rev* (2005) 16:581–92. doi:10.1016/j.cytogfr.2005.04.008
- Ricart BG, John B, Lee D, Hunter CA, Hammer DA. Dendritic cells distinguish individual chemokine signals through CCR7 and CXCR4. *J Immunol* (2011) 186:53–61. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.1002358
- Diao J, Zhao J, Winter E, Cattral MS. Recruitment and differentiation of conventional dendritic cell precursors in tumors. *J Immunol* (2010) 184:1261–7. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.0903050
- 47. Diao J, Winter E, Cantin C, Chen W, Xu L, Kelvin D, et al. In situ replication of immediate dendritic cell (DC) precursors contributes to conventional DC homeostasis in lymphoid tissue. *J Immunol* (2006) **176**:7196–206.
- Zou W, Machelon V, Coulomb-L'hermin A, Borvak J, Nome F, Isaeva T, et al. Stromal-derived factor-1 in human tumors recruits and alters the function of plasmacytoid precursor dendritic cells. *Nat Med* (2001) 7:1339–46. doi:10.1038/nm1201-1339
- Jiang Y-P, Wu X-H, Shi B, Wu W-X, Yin G-R. Expression of chemokine CXCL12 and its receptor CXCR4 in human epithelial ovarian cancer: an independent prognostic factor for tumor progression. *Gynecol Oncol* (2006) 103:226–33. doi:10.1016/j.ygyno.2006.02.036
- Yang D, Chertov O, Bykovskaia SN, Chen Q, Buffo MJ, Shogan J, et al. Betadefensins: linking innate and adaptive immunity through dendritic and T cell CCR6. *Science* (1999) 286:525–8. doi:10.1126/science.286.5439.525
- Arimura Y, Ashitani J-I, Yanagi S, Tokojima M, Abe K, Mukae H, et al. Elevated serum beta-defensins concentrations in patients with lung cancer. *Anticancer Res* (2004) 24:4051–7.
- Middel P, Brauneck S, Meyer W, Radzun H-J. Chemokine-mediated distribution of dendritic cell subsets in renal cell carcinoma. *BMC Cancer* (2010) 10:578. doi:10.1186/1471-2407-10-578
- Youn JI, Kumar V, Collazo M, Nefedova Y, Condamine T, Cheng P, et al. Epigenetic silencing of retinoblastoma gene regulates pathologic differentiation of myeloid cells in cancer. *Nat Immunol* (2013) 14:211–20. doi:10.1038/ni.2526
- Nefedova Y, Huang M, Kusmartsev S, Bhattacharya R, Cheng P, Salup R, et al. Hyperactivation of STAT3 is involved in abnormal differentiation of dendritic cells in cancer. *J Immunol* (2004) 172:464–74.
- 55. Park S-J, Nakagawa T, Kitamura H, Atsumi T, Kamon H, Sawa S-I, et al. IL-6 regulates in vivo dendritic cell differentiation through STAT3 activation. *J Immunol* (2004) **173**:3844–54.
- 56. Farren MR, Carlson LM, Lee KP. Tumor-mediated inhibition of dendritic cell differentiation is mediated by down regulation of protein kinase C beta II expression. *Immunol Res* (2010) 46:165–76. doi:10.1007/s12026-009-8118-5
- Davis TA, Saini AA, Blair PJ, Levine BL, Craighead N, Harlan DM, et al. Phorbol esters induce differentiation of human CD34+ hemopoietic progenitors to dendritic cells: evidence for protein kinase C-mediated signaling. *J Immunol* (1998) 160:3689–97.
- Wang T, Niu G, Kortylewski M, Burdelya L, Shain K, Zhang S, et al. Regulation of the innate and adaptive immune responses by Stat-3 signaling in tumor cells. *Nat Med* (2004) 10:48–54. doi:10.1038/nm976
- Lippitz BE. Cytokine patterns in patients with cancer: a systematic review. Lancet Oncol (2013) 14:e218–28. doi:10.1016/S1470-2045(12)70582-X
- Diao J, Zhao J, Winter E, Cattral MS. Tumors suppress in situ proliferation of cytotoxic T cells by promoting differentiation of Gr-1(+) conventional dendritic cells through IL-6. *J Immunol* (2011) 186:5058–67. doi:10.4049/ jimmunol.1004125
- 61. Menetrier-Caux C, Montmain G, Dieu MC, Bain C, Favrot MC, Caux C, et al. Inhibition of the differentiation of dendritic cells from CD34(+) progenitors by

tumor cells: role of interleukin-6 and macrophage colony-stimulating factor. *Blood* (1998) **92**:4778–91.

- Cheng P, Corzo CA, Luetteke N, Yu B, Nagaraj S, Bui MM, et al. Inhibition of dendritic cell differentiation and accumulation of myeloid-derived suppressor cells in cancer is regulated by S100A9 protein. *J Exp Med* (2008) 205:2235–49. doi:10.1084/jem.20080132
- Marigo I, Bosio E, Solito S, Mesa C, Fernandez A, Dolcetti L, et al. Tumorinduced tolerance and immune suppression depend on the C/EBPbeta transcription factor. *Immunity* (2010) 32:790–802. doi:10.1016/j.immuni.2010.05. 010
- 64. Oyama T, Ran S, Ishida T, Nadaf S, Kerr L, Carbone DP, et al. Vascular endothelial growth factor affects dendritic cell maturation through the inhibition of nuclear factor-kappa B activation in hemopoietic progenitor cells. *J Immunol* (1998) 160:1224–32.
- Challier J, Bruniquel D, Sewell AK, Laugel B. Adenosine and cAMP signalling skew human dendritic cell differentiation towards a tolerogenic phenotype with defective CD8(+) T-cell priming capacity. *Immunology* (2013) 138:402–10. doi:10.1111/imm.12053
- Banchereau J, Briere F, Caux C, Davoust J, Lebecque S, Liu YJ, et al. Immunobiology of dendritic cells. *Annu Rev Immunol* (2000) 18:767–811. doi:10.1146/ annurev.immunol.18.1.767
- Wang S, Yang J, Qian J, Wezeman M, Kwak LW, Yi Q. Tumor evasion of the immune system: inhibiting p38 MAPK signaling restores the function of dendritic cells in multiple myeloma. *Blood* (2006) 107:2432–9. doi:10.1182/blood-2005-06-2486
- Sevko A, Michels T, Vrohlings M, Umansky L, Beckhove P, Kato M, et al. Antitumor effect of paclitaxel is mediated by inhibition of myeloid-derived suppressor cells and chronic inflammation in the spontaneous melanoma model. *J Immunol* (2013) 190:2464–71. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.1202781
- Shurin MR, Naiditch H, Gutkin DW, Umansky V, Shurin GV. ChemoImmunoModulation: immune regulation by the antineoplastic chemotherapeutic agents. *Curr Med Chem* (2012) 19:1792–803. doi:10.2174/ 092986712800099785
- 70. Sharma S, Stolina M, Lin Y, Gardner B, Miller PW, Kronenberg M, et al. T cell-derived IL-10 promotes lung cancer growth by suppressing both T cell and APC function. *J Immunol* (1999) **163**:5020–8.
- Steinbrink K, Wölfl M, Jonuleit H, Knop J, Enk AH. Induction of tolerance by IL-10-treated dendritic cells. *J Immunol* (1997) 159:4772–80.
- 72. Bellone G, Carbone A, Smirne C, Scirelli T, Buffolino A, Novarino A, et al. Cooperative induction of a tolerogenic dendritic cell phenotype by cytokines secreted by pancreatic carcinoma cells. *J Immunol* (2006) **177**: 3448–60.
- Yoshimura S, Bondeson J, Foxwell BM, Brennan FM, Feldmann M. Effective antigen presentation by dendritic cells is NF-kappaB dependent: coordinate regulation of MHC, co-stimulatory molecules and cytokines. *Int Immunol* (2001) 13:675–83. doi:10.1093/intimm/13.5.675
- 74. Krempski J, Karyampudi L, Behrens MD, Erskine CL, Hartmann L, Dong H, et al. Tumor-infiltrating programmed death receptor-1+ dendritic cells mediate immune suppression in ovarian cancer. J Immunol (2011) 186:6905–13. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.1100274
- Bak SP, Walters JJ, Takeya M, Conejo-Garcia JR, Berwin BL. Scavenger receptor-A-targeted leukocyte depletion inhibits peritoneal ovarian tumor progression. *Cancer Res* (2007) 67:4783–9. doi:10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-06-4410
- Herber DL, Cao W, Nefedova Y, Novitskiy SV, Nagaraj S, Tyurin VA, et al. Lipid accumulation and dendritic cell dysfunction in cancer. *Nat Med* (2010) 16:880–6. doi:10.1038/nm.2172
- 77. Gottfried E, Kunz-Schughart LA, Ebner S, Mueller-Klieser W, Hoves S, Andreesen R, et al. Tumor-derived lactic acid modulates dendritic cell activation and antigen expression. *Blood* (2006) 107:2013–21. doi:10.1182/blood-2005-05-1795
- Hwu P, Du MX, Lapointe R, Do M, Taylor MW, Young HA. Indoleamine 2,3dioxygenase production by human dendritic cells results in the inhibition of T cell proliferation. *J Immunol* (2000) 164:3596–9.
- 79. Benencia F, Sprague L, McGinty J, Pate M, Muccioli M. Dendritic cells the tumor microenvironment and the challenges for an effective antitumor vaccination. *J Biomed Biotechnol* (2012) 2012:425476. doi:10.1155/2012/425476
- Conrad C, Gregorio J, Wang YH, Ito T, Meller S, Hanabuchi S, et al. Plasmacytoid dendritic cells promote immunosuppression in ovarian cancer via ICOS

costimulation of Foxp3(+) T-regulatory cells. *Cancer Res* (2012) **72**:5240–9. doi:10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-12-2271

- Demoulin S, Herfs M, Delvenne P, Hubert P. Tumor microenvironment converts plasmacytoid dendritic cells into immunosuppressive/tolerogenic cells: insight into the molecular mechanisms. *J Leukoc Biol* (2013) **93**:343–52. doi:10.1189/jlb.0812397
- Zhu B, Buttrick T, Bassil R, Zhu C, Olah M, Wu C, et al. IL-4 and retinoic acid synergistically induce regulatory dendritic cells expressing Aldh1a2. *J Immunol* (2013) 191:3139–51. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.1300329
- 83. Xiao S, Jin H, Korn T, Liu SM, Oukka M, Lim B, et al. Retinoic acid increases Foxp3+ regulatory T cells and inhibits development of Th17 cells by enhancing TGF-beta-driven Smad3 signaling and inhibiting IL-6 and IL-23 receptor expression. *J Immunol* (2008) 181:2277–84.
- Munn DH, Mellor AL. Indoleamine 2,3-dioxygenase and tumor-induced tolerance. J Clin Invest (2007) 117:1147–54. doi:10.1172/JCI31178
- Prendergast GC, Metz R, Muller AJ. Towards a genetic definition of cancerassociated inflammation: role of the IDO pathway. *Am J Pathol* (2010) 176:2082–7. doi:10.2353/ajpath.2010.091173
- Nguyen NT, Kimura A, Nakahama T, Chinen I, Masuda K, Nohara K, et al. Aryl hydrocarbon receptor negatively regulates dendritic cell immunogenicity via a kynurenine-dependent mechanism. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (2010) 107:19961–6. doi:10.1073/pnas.1014465107
- Belladonna ML, Volpi C, Bianchi R, Vacca C, Orabona C, Pallotta MT, et al. Cutting edge: autocrine TGF-beta sustains default tolerogenesis by IDO-competent dendritic cells. *J Immunol* (2008) 181:5194–8.
- Watkins S, Zhu Z. FOXO3 programs tumor-associated DCs to become tolerogenic in human and murine prostate cancer. J Clin Invest (2011) 121:1361–72. doi:10.1172/JCI44325
- Mezrich JD, Fechner JH, Zhang X, Johnson BP, Burlingham WJ, Bradfield CA. An interaction between kynurenine and the aryl hydrocarbon receptor can generate regulatory T cells. *J Immunol* (2010) 185:3190–8. doi:10.4049/jimmunol. 0903670
- Zou W, Restifo NP. T(H)17 cells in tumour immunity and immunotherapy. Nat Rev Immunol (2010) 10:248–56. doi:10.1038/nri2742
- Curti A, Trabanelli S, Onofri C, Aluigi M, Salvestrini V, Ocadlikova D, et al. Indoleamine 2,3-dioxygenase-expressing leukemic dendritic cells impair a leukemia-specific immune response by inducing potent T regulatory cells. *Haematologica* (2010) 95:2022–30. doi:10.3324/haematol.2010.025924
- 92. Narita Y, Kitamura H, Wakita D, Sumida K, Masuko K, Terada S, et al. The key role of IL-6-arginase cascade for inducing dendritic cell-dependent CD4(+) T cell dysfunction in tumor-bearing mice. *J Immunol* (2013) **190**:812–20. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.1103797
- 93. Ghiringhelli F, Puig PE, Roux S, Parcellier A, Schmitt E, Solary E, et al. Tumor cells convert immature myeloid dendritic cells into TGF-beta-secreting cells inducing CD4+CD25+ regulatory T cell proliferation. *J Exp Med* (2005) 202:919–29. doi:10.1084/jem.20050463
- 94. Hanks BA, Holtzhausen A, Evans KS, Jamieson R, Gimpel P, Campbell OM, et al. Type III TGF-beta receptor downregulation generates an immunotolerant tumor microenvironment. J Clin Invest (2013) 123:3925–40. doi:10.1172/ JCI65745
- 95. Pardoll D, Drake C. Immunotherapy earns its spot in the ranks of cancer therapy. J Exp Med (2012) 209:201–9. doi:10.1084/jem.20112275
- Barber DL, Wherry EJ, Masopust D, Zhu B, Allison JP, Sharpe AH, et al. Restoring function in exhausted CD8 T cells during chronic viral infection. *Nature* (2006) 439:682–7. doi:10.1038/nature04444
- 97. Vavassori S, Kumar A, Wan GS, Ramanjaneyulu GS, Cavallari M, El Daker S, et al. Butyrophilin 3A1 binds phosphorylated antigens and stimulates human gammadelta T cells. *Nat Immunol* (2013) 14:908–16. doi:10.1038/ni.2665
- Chapoval AI, Smithson G, Brunick L, Mesri M, Boldog FL, Andrew D, et al. BTNL8, a butyrophilin-like molecule that costimulates the primary immune response. *Mol Immunol* (2013) 56:819–28. doi:10.1016/j.molimm.2013.08.003
- Resta R, Hooker SW, Laurent AB, Jamshedur Rahman SM, Franklin M, Knudsen TB, et al. Insights into thymic purine metabolism and adenosine deaminase deficiency revealed by transgenic mice overexpressing ecto-5'-nucleotidase (CD73). J Clin Invest (1997) 99:676–83. doi:10.1172/JCI119211
- 100. Takedachi M, Qu D, Ebisuno Y, Oohara H, Joachims ML, McGee ST, et al. CD73-generated adenosine restricts lymphocyte migration into draining lymph nodes. *J Immunol* (2008) 180:6288–96.

- 101. Regateiro FS, Howie D, Nolan KF, Agorogiannis EI, Greaves DR, Cobbold SP, et al. Generation of anti-inflammatory adenosine by leukocytes is regulated by TGF-beta. *Eur J Immunol* (2011) **41**:2955–65. doi:10.1002/eji. 201141512
- 102. Zarek PE, Huang CT, Lutz ER, Kowalski J, Horton MR, Linden J, et al. A2A receptor signaling promotes peripheral tolerance by inducing T-cell anergy and the generation of adaptive regulatory T cells. *Blood* (2008) 111:251–9. doi:10.1182/blood-2007-03-081646
- 103. Yi DH, Appel S. Current status and future perspectives of dendritic cell-based cancer immunotherapy. Scand J Immunol (2013) 78:167–71. doi:10.1111/sji. 12060
- 104. Tanyi JL, Chu CS. Dendritic cell-based tumor vaccinations in epithelial ovarian cancer: a systematic review. *Immunotherapy* (2012) 4:995–1009. doi:10.2217/ imt.12.100
- 105. Kandalaft LE, Powell DJ Jr, Chiang CL, Tanyi J, Kim S, Bosch M, et al. Autologous lysate-pulsed dendritic cell vaccination followed by adoptive transfer of vaccine-primed ex vivo co-stimulated T cells in recurrent ovarian cancer. *Oncoimmunology* (2013) 2:e22664. doi:10.4161/onci.22664
- 106. Cintolo JA, Datta J, Mathew SJ, Czerniecki BJ. Dendritic cell-based vaccines: barriers and opportunities. *Future Oncol* (2012) 8:1273–99. doi:10.2217/fon. 12.125
- 107. Fracol M, Xu S, Mick R, Fitzpatrick E, Nisenbaum H, Roses R, et al. Response to HER-2 pulsed DC1 vaccines is predicted by both HER-2 and estrogen receptor expression in DCIS. *Ann Surg Oncol* (2013) **20**:3233–9. doi:10.1245/s10434-013-3119-y
- 108. Vicari AP, Chiodoni C, Vaure C, Ait-Yahia S, Dercamp C, Matsos F, et al. Reversal of tumor-induced dendritic cell paralysis by CpG immunostimulatory oligonucleotide and anti-interleukin 10 receptor antibody. *J Exp Med* (2002) 196:541–9. doi:10.1084/jem.20020732
- 109. van Mierlo GJD, Boonman ZFHM, Dumortier HMH, Den Boer AT, Fransen MF, Nouta J, et al. Activation of dendritic cells that cross-present tumor-derived antigen licenses CD8+ CTL to cause tumor eradication. *J Immunol* (2004) 173:6753–9.
- 110. Vonderheide RH, Flaherty KT, Khalil M, Stumacher MS, Bajor DL, Hutnick NA, et al. Clinical activity and immune modulation in cancer patients treated with CP-870,893, a novel CD40 agonist monoclonal antibody. *J Clin Oncol* (2007) 25:876–83. doi:10.1200/JCO.2006.08.3311
- 111. Beatty GL, Chiorean EG, Fishman MP, Saboury B, Teitelbaum UR, Sun W, et al. CD40 agonists alter tumor stroma and show efficacy against pancreatic carcinoma in mice and humans. *Science* (2011) **331**:1612–6. doi:10.1126/science. 1198443
- 112. Rüter J, Antonia SJ, Burris HA, Huhn RD, Vonderheide RH. Immune modulation with weekly dosing of an agonist CD40 antibody in a phase I study of patients with advanced solid tumors. *Cancer Biol Ther* (2010) 10:983–93. doi:10.4161/cbt.10.10.13251
- 113. Ahonen CL, Wasiuk A, Fuse S, Turk MJ, Ernstoff MS, Suriawinata AA, et al. Enhanced efficacy and reduced toxicity of multifactorial adjuvants compared with unitary adjuvants as cancer vaccines. *Blood* (2008) 111:3116–25. doi:10.1182/blood-2007-09-114371

- 114. Goutagny N, Estornes Y, Hasan U, Lebecque S, Caux C. Targeting pattern recognition receptors in cancer immunotherapy. *Target Oncol* (2012) 7:29–54. doi:10.1007/s11523-012-0213-1
- 115. Jasani B, Navabi H, Adams M. Ampligen: a potential toll-like 3 receptor adjuvant for immunotherapy of cancer. *Vaccine* (2009) 27:3401–4. doi:10.1016/j. vaccine.2009.01.071
- 116. Casares N, Pequignot MO, Tesniere A, Ghiringhelli F, Roux S, Chaput N, et al. Caspase-dependent immunogenicity of doxorubicin-induced tumor cell death. *J Exp Med* (2005) 202:1691–701. doi:10.1084/jem.20050915
- 117. Ghiringhelli F, Apetoh L, Tesniere A, Aymeric L, Ma Y, Ortiz C, et al. Activation of the NLRP3 inflammasome in dendritic cells induces IL-1beta-dependent adaptive immunity against tumors. *Nat Med* (2009) 15:1170–8. doi:10.1038/nm.2028
- 118. Obeid M, Tesniere A, Ghiringhelli F, Fimia GM, Apetoh L, Perfettini J-L, et al. Calreticulin exposure dictates the immunogenicity of cancer cell death. *Nat Med* (2007) 13:54–61. doi:10.1038/nm1523
- 119. Apetoh L, Ghiringhelli F, Tesniere A, Obeid M, Ortiz C, Criollo A, et al. Tolllike receptor 4-dependent contribution of the immune system to anticancer chemotherapy and radiotherapy. *Nat Med* (2007) 13:1050–9. doi:10.1038/ nm1622
- 120. Elliott MR, Chekeni FB, Trampont PC, Lazarowski ER, Kadl A, Walk SF, et al. Nucleotides released by apoptotic cells act as a find-me signal to promote phagocytic clearance. *Nature* (2009) 461:282–6. doi:10.1038/nature08296
- 121. Gardai SJ, McPhillips KA, Frasch SC, Janssen WJ, Starefeldt A, Murphy-Ullrich JE, et al. Cell-surface calreticulin initiates clearance of viable or apoptotic cells through trans-activation of LRP on the phagocyte. *Cell* (2005) 123:321–34. doi:10.1016/j.cell.2005.08.032
- 122. Kroemer G, Galluzzi L, Kepp O, Zitvogel L. Immunogenic cell death in cancer therapy. Annu Rev Immunol (2013) 31:51–72. doi:10.1146/annurev-immunol-032712-100008

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Received: 02 October 2013; accepted: 22 November 2013; published online: 10 December 2013.

Citation: Tesone AJ, Svoronos N, Allegrezza MJ and Conejo-Garcia JR (2013) Pathological mobilization and activities of dendritic cells in tumor-bearing hosts: challenges and opportunities for immunotherapy of cancer. Front. Immunol. **4**:435. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2013.00435

This article was submitted to Tumor Immunity, a section of the journal Frontiers in Immunology.

Copyright © 2013 Tesone, Svoronos, Allegrezza and Conejo-Garcia. This is an openaccess article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) or licensor are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.



Clinical implications of co-inhibitory molecule expression in the tumor microenvironment for DC vaccination: a game of stop and go

Angela Vasaturo^{1†}, Stefania Di Blasio^{1†}, Deborah G. A. Peeters¹, Coco C. H. de Koning¹, Jolanda M. de Vries^{1,2}, Carl G. Figdor^{1*} and Stanleyson V. Hato¹

¹ Department of Tumor Immunology, Nijmegen Centre for Molecular Life Sciences, Radboud University Nijmegen Medical Centre, Nijmegen, Netherlands ² Department of Medical Oncology, Nijmegen Centre for Molecular Life Sciences, Radboud University Nijmegen Medical Centre, Nijmegen, Netherlands

Edited by:

Kristian Michael Hargadon, Hampden-Sydney College, USA

Reviewed by:

Pedro Berraondo, Centro de Investigación Médica Aplicada, Spain Haidong Dong, Mayo Clinic, USA

*Correspondence:

Carl G. Figdor, Department of Tumor Immunology, Nijmegen Centre for Molecular Life Sciences, Radboud University Nijmegen Medical Centre, Geert Grooteplein 26/28, Nijmegen 6525 GA, Netherlands e-mail: c.figdor@ncmls.ru.nl

[†]Angela Vasaturo and Stefania Di Blasio have contributed equally to this work. The aim of therapeutic dendritic cell (DC) vaccines in cancer immunotherapy is to activate cytotoxic T cells to recognize and attack the tumor. T cell activation requires the interaction of the T cell receptor with a cognate major-histocompatibility complex-peptide complex. Although initiated by antigen engagement, it is the complex balance between co-stimulatory and co-inhibitory signals on DCs that results in T cell activation or tolerance. Even when already activated, tumor-specific T cells can be neutralized by the expression of co-inhibitory molecules on tumor cells. These and other immunosuppressive cues in the tumor microenvironment are major factors currently hampering the application of DC vaccination. In this review, we discuss recent data regarding the essential and complex role of co-inhibitory molecules in regulating the immune response within the tumor microenvironment. In particular, possible therapeutic intervention strategies aimed at reversing or neutralizing suppressive networks within the tumor microenvironment will be emphasized. Importantly, blocking co-inhibitory molecule signaling, often referred to as immune checkpoint blockade, does not necessarily lead to an effective activation of tumor-specific T cells. Therefore, combination of checkpoint blockade with other immune potentiating therapeutic strategies, such as DC vaccination, might serve as a synergistic combination, capable of reversing effector T cells immunosuppression while at the same time increasing the efficacy of T cell-mediated immunotherapies. This will ultimately result in long-term anti-tumor immunity.

Keywords: DC vaccination, tumor microenvironment, checkpoint blockade, tumor-specific T cells, cancer treatment

INTRODUCTION

The goal of cancer immunotherapy is to activate, or reactivate, the immune system in cancer patients for therapeutic benefit. This is a challenging endeavor, as escape from immunosurveillance is an essential requirement for tumor progression. Early tumors can be eliminated or contained by the immune system but, by a process involving immunoediting, tumor cells can eventually escape this detection (1). They do so by hiding from immune detection, blocking the function of immune cells, and/or by influencing immune cells to induce tolerance to the tumor and even to produce tumor growth enhancing factors. Despite this escape from immunosurveillance, there is ample evidence indicating that it is possible to induce specific anti-tumor immune responses either naturally (spontaneous) or therapeutically. This requires a number of discrete steps. Firstly, dendritic cells (DCs) must take up and present antigens derived from the tumor, which can be encountered in situ or delivered to the DCs ex vivo as part of a therapeutic vaccine. This has to be coupled to an activation or maturation signal to the DC. Next, these mature tumor antigen presenting DCs migrate toward the lymphoid organs, where they have to induce antigen-specific T cell responses that target the tumor (2, 3). Efficient anti-tumor responses are believed to require CD8⁺ cytotoxic (killer) T cells,

but recent data indicate that induction of $CD4^+$ T helper cells also contribute to clinical efficacy (4). Conversely, DCs may also trigger antibody and natural killer (NK) cell responses, which can contribute to anti-tumor immunity (5, 6).

Priming of naïve T cells into antigen-specific effector T cells by DCs requires four signals (**Figure 1**): (I) engagement of a T cell receptor (TCR) with a peptide-major-histocompatibility complex (MHC) on the DC and (II) the right balance between expression of co-stimulatory molecules that activate T cell proliferation and co-inhibitory molecules that attenuate T cell activation on both cell types. (III) A third signal is provided by cytokines secreted by the DCs, which promote T cell differentiation and polarization toward specific effector T cell phenotypes. Finally (IV), DCs regulate the induction of specific chemokine receptors and integrins on T cells to direct migration toward specific tissues (2, 7–10).

The above-described induction of T cell-mediated anti-tumor immunity can be exploited therapeutically in several ways, the two most popular being DC vaccination strategies and adoptive T cell transfer. These intervention strategies are referred to as cellbased immunotherapy and both rely on the isolation of autologous immune cells from a patient followed by *ex vivo* manipulation and then re-infusion into the patient. In recent years, much progress



FIGURE 1 | Dendritic cell vaccination is counteracted by host immunosuppressive mechanisms. Monocytes or natural occurring dendritic cells are isolated from the peripheral blood of the patient, loaded with tumor antigens, and subsequently matured. These activated DCs are re-infused into the patient and migrate to the lymph node to encounter and interact with naïve T cells in order to induce the activation of effector T cells. DC-mediated T cell activation is regulated by four signals: (I) interaction between TCR on T

cells and MHC:peptide complex, (II) co-stimulation via CD28 and CD80/86 expressed on T cells and DCs respectively, (III) secretion of pro-inflammatory cytokines such as IFNs and IL-12, and (IV) release of DC-processed metabolites. These activated CD8⁺ cytotoxic T cells and CD4⁺ T helper cells migrate to the tumor site where they are eventually neutralized by the immunosuppressive nature of the tumor microenvironment due, for instance, to the expression of co-inhibitory molecules.

has been made in this field: tumor antigens, DCs, and T cells, as well as adjuvants have been optimized, leading to an increase in the number of patients with an anti-vaccine immune response. However, despite these improvements, the clinical responses are still limited. This is most likely caused by the establishment of an immunosuppressive tumor microenvironment. As such, to further improve immunotherapeutic approaches, strategies to neutralize immunosuppression are required. A promising strategy, and the main subject of this review, involves the manipulation of costimulatory and co-inhibitory molecules to change the balance within the tumor microenvironment from an immunosuppressive state into an immunostimulatory state.

We will first discuss the current state of DC vaccination, followed by how these therapies could be affected by the immunosuppressive tumor microenvironment. Subsequently, we will review current strategies for reversing the immunosuppressive state of the tumor microenvironment, which are in clinical or pre-clinical stage. We will conclude by discussing the merits of combining DC vaccination with blockade of immune checkpoints in cancer treatment.

DENDRITIC CELL VACCINES

Dendritic cells are the most potent antigen presenting cells (APCs) and provide a key functional link between innate and adoptive immune responses. In their immature state, they take up and process antigens in the peripheral blood and tissue, then undergo maturation and migrate to lymphoid organs where they present the antigens to naïve T cells (11). These mature DCs, now expressing high levels of cell surface MHC class I and II molecules, can activate both naïve CD8⁺ cytotoxic T cells and naïve CD4⁺ T helper cells (12-14) in a process dependent on the upregulation of co-stimulatory molecules such as CD40, CD80, CD86, and OX40L on the APC surface (7, 15). These molecules interact with corresponding ligands expressed on T cells (Figure 1), with the interaction between CD86 on DCs and CD28 on T cells being the most significant to trigger T cell activation and expansion (16, 17). Conversely, T cells and DCs also express co-inhibitory molecules, such as the receptors programed cell death-1 (PD-1) and the cytotoxic T lymphocyte-associated antigen-4 (CTLA-4) expressed on T cells and the ligands PD-ligand 1 (PD-L1) and PD-ligand 2 (PD-L2) present on DCs. The interaction between these co-inhibitory molecules can inhibit T cell priming and activation and the delicate balance between co-stimulation and co-inhibition determines the fate of a T cell response. The expression and regulation of these proteins on DCs and T cells have been recently reviewed (2). During the process of co-stimulation, DCs secrete cytokines that regulate the differentiation of naïve T cells into different subsets of effector T cells, in particular CD4⁺ T helper cells. This process results in the differentiation toward a Th1, Th2, Th9, Th17, or regulatory T cell (Treg) phenotype (18). Lastly, environmental cues from the DCs, such as DC-processed metabolites, provide T cells with a signal to home, and migrate to certain tissues (19).

Therapeutic DC vaccination strategies against cancer aim to exploit the ability of DCs to prime antigen-specific T cells, in order to induce a T cell-mediated, specific, immune response that targets and destroys the tumor. DCs, for example naturally occurring blood DCs or ex vivo generated monocyte-derived DCs, are provided with tumor-specific antigens, either by loading them ex vivo with the tumor peptides and then injecting the cells back into the patient or by targeting them in vivo (3, 20-22). At first, DC vaccination protocols mainly focused on targeting cytotoxic CD8⁺ T cells, but it has become clear that CD4⁺ T cells not only augment the induction and proliferation of these CD8⁺ T cells, but also participate in the elimination of tumor cells and maintenance of long-term immunity. Thus an efficient vaccine should be able to induce both CD8⁺ and CD4⁺ T cells. Vaccination with MHC class I/II-loaded DCs has been shown to both increase the frequency of tumor-specific CD8⁺ T cells and co-activate CD4⁺ T cells, thereby further improving clinical responses (4, 23).

Recently, the first commercial DC vaccine, Sipuleucel-T, was approved by the FDA for the treatment of prostate cancer. In a phase III clinical trial, Sipuleucel-T showed an increase of 4.3 months in median survival and 33% reduction in the risk of death (24). Nevertheless, despite the significant benefit in median survival, satisfying clinical effects in terms of solid antitumor immune responses were only observed in a minority of patients, strongly suggesting that further optimization is warranted (25). Other trials also underscore the potential of DC vaccination in metastatic cancers, especially in melanoma. In this setting, it was shown that autologous DCs loaded with tumor antigens are safe and capable of inducing tumor antigen-specific immune responses in a substantial part of the vaccinated patients (26). Despite these growing successes, DC vaccination has not yet proven to be a method superior to other protective immunity stimulating vaccine strategies (27, 28). Anti-tumor responses are hampered by the tumor microenvironment which seems to be very immunosuppressive, especially in patients with a high tumor load (20, 29).

IMMUNOSUPPRESSIVE TUMOR MICROENVIRONMENT

Although DC vaccination succeeds in activating the immune system, resulting in the presence of tumor-specific T cells, the clinical success of these treatments is still limited. The lack of clinical efficacy can be mostly attributed to an immunosuppressive tumor microenvironment, which is very successful in attenuating T cell-mediated responses. The tumor microenvironment consists of tumor cells, fibroblasts, endothelial cells, and infiltrating immune cells together with extracellular matrix components. Infiltrating immune cells can be either beneficial or detrimental depending on the nature of the infiltrating cells. The presence of tumor-infiltrating lymphocytes (TILs) has been associated with improved survival of patients with prostate, breast, colorectal, ovarian cancer, or melanoma (30-33). On the other hand, the presence of Tregs or myeloid-derived suppressor cells (MDSCs), which can inhibit anti-tumor immune responses, is associated with decreased survival (34-36). Furthermore, tumor cells express a number of proteins on their cell surface capable of inactivating tumor-specific T cells, as detailed below. Therefore, immunotherapy strategies aimed at inducing T cell-mediated anti-tumor immunity need to include an approach to break tolerance to the tumor.

INHIBITORY CHECKPOINT RECEPTORS AND LIGANDS

T cell functions, both priming and effector, can be attenuated by inhibitory checkpoint receptors and ligands expressed by T cells themselves, DCs and other immune cells, or tumor cells. The most important co-inhibitory checkpoint receptors are CTLA-4 and PD-1, in combination with the PD-1 ligands, PD-L1 (B7–H1), and PD-L2 (B7-DC), all belonging to the B7 receptor superfamily. Other B7 family members, such as B7–H3 and B7–H4, and the unrelated receptors herpes virus entry mediator (HVEM), inhibitory receptor Ig-like transcript-3 and -4 (ILT3 and 4), T cell immunoglobulin mucin protein-3 (TIM-3), and lymphocyte activation gene-3 (LAG-3) are also involved in inhibiting T cell function (2) (**Figure 2**).

Cytotoxic T lymphocyte-associated antigen-4

Cytotoxic T lymphocyte-associated antigen-4 is a homolog of the co-stimulatory molecule CD28 and it is exclusively expressed on CD4⁺ and CD8⁺ T cells after activation. Tregs represent an exception, as they constitutively express CTLA-4. In contrast, CD28 is constitutively expressed on all T cell subsets regardless of activation (37–39). CD28 and CTLA-4 are closely related in structure and both bind to the ligands CD80 and 86 present on APCs, such as DCs, macrophages, and B cells (10). Although the expression



on T cells and on various tumor cells. Specific monoclonal antibodies are in development that either function as agonists, enhancing T cell activation, or antagonist, blocking T cell inhibitory molecules. *(ClinicalTrials.gov identifier: NCT00658892).

of CTLA-4 on the cell surface is low compared to CD28, it has a higher affinity for the ligands (37, 40). CTLA-4 receptor ligation leads to inhibition of T cell proliferation, cell cycle progression, and IL-2 synthesis (41, 42). Its cell surface expression is induced by CD28 ligation, implying that it serves as an internal checkpoint, downregulating CD28 stimulation and thereby attenuating immune responses (43). Despite its apparent role in attenuating T cell activation, CTLA-4 seems to be required for effective antitumor immunity, as this molecule also affects T cell polarization. *In vivo* studies have shown that CTLA-4-deficiency in mice causes severe lymphoproliferative disorders, promoting a Th2 phenotype (44) while a Th1 phenotype is required for efficient anti-tumor immunity (45, 46).

PD-1/PD-L1 and PD-L2

Another inhibitory member of the B7 receptor family is PD-1. This receptor is more widely expressed than CTLA-4, being found on CD4⁺ and CD8⁺ T cells (including Treg cells), B cells, monocytes, and at lower levels on NK cells (47, 48). Its major function is limiting autoimmunity and T cell activity in peripheral tissues in response to infection (49, 50). Tumor cells can exploit these characteristics by inducing expression of PD-1 on tumor-specific T cells, thus suppressing their effector function and eventually leading to T cell exhaustion and immune resistance in the tumor microenvironment (51, 52). Two ligands are known to interact with PD-1: PD-L1 (53) and PD-L2 (54). PD-L1 is expressed on resting and activated T cells, B cells, DCs, mast cells, macrophages, endothelial cells, tumor cells, and other cells within the tumor microenvironment (55-57). This tumor-associated PD-L1 expression was reported to increase apoptosis of infiltrating T cell (52, 58). Interestingly, PD-L1 does not only interact with the PD-1 receptor, but also with CD80 expressed on T cells, inhibiting T cell activation, and cytokine production (59). PD-L2 has a higher affinity for PD-1 than PD-L1, and although its expression was thought to be restricted to APCs, it has been shown to be expressed by normal and cancer-associated fibroblasts, a specific subset of B cells, activated T cells and tumor cells (60). PD-L1 expression on tumor cells is associated with aggressive tumor behavior, poor prognosis, and elevated risk of death, while for PD-L2 such correlations were not significant (60, 61).

B7–H3 and B7–H4

Two additional B7 family co-inhibitory ligands are B7–H3 and B7–H4. The receptors for these molecules have not been identified yet, but they are expected to be expressed by activated T cells (62). B7–H3 is constitutively expressed on a wide variety of tissues, and its expression on leukocytes is dependent on inflammatory cytokine stimulation (63). In contrast, expression of B7–H4 is more restricted, being found on T cells, B cells, monocytes, and DCs after activation (64). Many human cancers express B7–H3 and B7–H4, which is generally associated with poor prognosis (65, 66). Furthermore, B7–H3 seems to be upregulated on endothelial cells of the tumor vasculature and on tumor-associated macrophages (TAMs) (67).

Other co-inhibitory molecules

Other co-inhibitory receptors, which can be exploited by tumors to dampen anti-tumor immune responses, are HVEM, ILT3 and 4, TIM-3, and LAG-3. HVEM is expressed by immature DCs and interacts with its ligands "B and T lymphocyte attenuator" (BTLA), LIGHT, and CD160, all expressed on T cells (68). HVEM interaction with BTLA inhibits T cell responses, promotes T cell survival, and mediates Treg suppression (2). BTLA and CD160 compete for the same cysteine rich domain of HVEM with a similar affinity, but a different dissociation rate, suggesting a dominant inhibitory role for CD160 (69). It seems that HVEM ligation of BTLA inhibits immune responses against tumor cells, while LIGHT exerts pleiotropic effects to increase this response (70).

Ig-like transcript-3 and -4 are inhibitory receptors both expressed by monocytes, macrophages, and DCs (71, 72). The corresponding ILT3 ligand is not yet known, but since ILT3 can

directly suppress T lymphocyte function, it is likely to be expressed on T cells (73, 74). In several cancers, ILT3 has been found to mediate the immune escape mechanism by impairing T cell responses (75). Furthermore, ILT4-expressing DCs block efficient CTL differentiation, a mechanism that is used by tumors, which upregulate ILT4 to evade the immune system (76).

T cell immunoglobulin mucin protein-3 is a checkpoint receptor expressed by IFN- γ -secreting CD4⁺ T helper and CD8⁺ cytotoxic T cells. When interacting with its ligand, galectin-9, it triggers cell death and terminates immune responses driven by these T cells. The most important role of TIM-3 in anti-tumor immunity involves T cell exhaustion and stimulation of MDSC-mediated suppression of T cell responses (77).

Lymphocyte activation gene-3, a CD4 homolog, is an activation-induced cell surface molecule that binds with high affinity to MHC class II on APCs. LAG-3 is expressed by T cells, NK cells, B cells, and plasmacytoid DCs. By binding to its ligand, it inhibits T cell expansion and controls the size of the memory T cell pool (78). When upregulated on Tregs, LAG-3 can modulate suppressive Treg function (79). Furthermore, LAG-3 plays important role in both the homeostatic maintenance and activation-induced expansion of DCs (80). Co-expression of LAG-3 and PD-1 on tumor-infiltrating CD8⁺ T cells, induced by either tumor-derived APCs or cytokines secreted in the tumor microenvironment, contribute to the establishment, and maintenance of an immunosuppressive tumor microenvironment (81).

Taken together, these data show that tumors have evolved intriguing mechanisms to exploit the balance between costimulation and co-inhibition by skewing this toward coinhibition and thus dampening anti-tumor immune responses. In fact, this has become a crucial aspect of immunosuppression in the tumor microenvironment, effective against both natural and induced anti-tumor immunity.

CLINICAL INTERVENTION

Strategies to break or neutralize the aforementioned inhibitory mechanisms present in the tumor microenvironment are currently being developed. This can be accomplished by either decreasing activity of suppressive molecules or by increasing activity of stimulatory molecules. Monoclonal antibodies are being produced that bind to co-stimulatory/co-inhibitory receptors and their ligands, and thereby either antagonizing those that suppress immune responses or activating others that amplify immune responses. A number of these are now being tested in the clinic (**Figure 2**).

TARGETING CO-STIMULATOR MOLECULES WITH AGONISTIC ANTIBODIES

As the effector T cells in the tumor microenvironment seem to be immunosuppressed, a logical step would be to develop antibodies that can (re)activate T cell responses in the microenvironment. In this setting, the most attractive target seems to be the costimulatory molecule CD28. Agonistic antibodies targeting CD28 were developed and entered clinical testing. However, a trial in which an agonist anti-CD28 monoclonal antibody (TGN1412) was tested has since become a cautionary tale to the power of the immune system. This antibody led to an unexpected release of cytokines (cytokine storm) in the volunteers, causing severe toxicities (82). This incident highlighted the potential dangers of agonistic antibodies and severely decreased the interest in further developing these strategies for many years. Recently, this interest has been re-kindled and a number of agonistic antibodies are being explored. In particular, members of the tumor necrosis factor receptor (TNF-R) family have emerged as targets for enhancing tumor-specific responses. This includes CD27, GITR, 4-1BB, CD30, and OX-40, which are expressed on tumor-specific T cells, and antibodies targeting these molecules are under investigation in several (pre)clinical studies (83). Among these, only anti-4-1BB, and anti-CD30 antibodies had success in clinical trials as monotherapies. A phase II study with anti-4-1BB treatment showed promising results, but was eventually terminated due to, unexpectedly high, grade 4 hepatitis (84). A recent phase III study of anti-CD30, brentuximab vedotin, as treatment of relapsed patients with Hodgkin lymphoma resulted in a 71% objective response rate (85). CD40, another TNF-R family member, which is expressed on APCs, muscle cells, fibroblasts, and basophils is also being explored as a potential target for immunotherapy (86). Several phase II trials for the treatment of myeloma and diffuse large cell lymphoma are currently testing the efficacy of the humanized anti-CD40 antibody dacetuzumab (10). Also, a new, fully human, anti-CD40 monoclonal antibody was evaluated in a phase I trial and considered safe for further clinical development (87). So, the development of agonistic antibodies is in progress, but the question remains if such indiscriminate activation of T cells will lead to efficient anti-tumor immune responses, or whether the risk of severe adverse effects or autoimmune activation will prove to be too high.

TARGETING CO-INHIBITORY MOLECULES WITH ANTAGONISTIC ANTIBODIES (BLOCKADE OF IMMUNE CHECKPOINTS) CTLA-4 blockade

Just like agonistic antibodies might lead to non-specific activation of the immune system and cause more harm than good, so too was blockade of CTLA-4 questioned initially (**Figure 3**). Most CTLA-4 expressing T cells are not tumor-specific and *ctla-4* KO mice exhibited a lethal autoimmune and hyperimmune phenotype, predicting immune toxicity in human CTLA-4 blockade (88, 89). However, when CTLA was only partially blocked with antibodies, severe toxicity was prevented and significant anti-tumor responses were observed in mice (90). These pre-clinical results led to the development of two, fully human, anti-CTLA-4 monoclonal antibodies for the treatment of several cancers, including melanoma and renal cell carcinoma (10): ipilimumab, an IgG1 antibody with plasma half-life of 12–14 days (Bristol–Myers Squibb) and tremelimumab, an IgG2 antibody with a plasma half-life of 22 days (Pfizer).

Ipilimumab was tested in a phase II trial but failed to reach its endpoint of tumor regression. Regardless, it was still tested in a large phase III trial and became the first drug to demonstrate survival benefit in patients with advanced melanoma in a randomized trial. Metastatic melanoma patients were treated with ipilimumab, with or without a glycoprotein 100 (gp100) peptide vaccine, or with gp100 alone (91). Patients treated with ipilimumab, with or without gp100, had a 3.5-month survival benefit compared to the group treated with gp100 alone (91). In a second randomized



trial, the combination of ipilimumab with standard dacarbazine treatment showed an increase in overall survival of 2.1 months compared to dacarbazine alone (11.2 vs. 9.1 months). Additionally, there was an increase in patients with at least 3 years survival (20.8 vs. 12.2%) (92). In contrast, tremelimumab did not show any significant improvement in survival of patients with metastatic melanoma when tested in a phase III trial in comparison with standard chemotherapy. As a result the development program was abruptly terminated (93).

Although showing promising results, the use of CTLA-4 blockade still presents many challenges for the clinic. There is a significant rate of adverse reaction caused by the treatment, with up to one third of the patients experiencing immune-related serious adverse effects (irSAEs) up to grade 3 or 4, ranging from dermatitis to severe chronic colitis or acute hepatitis (94–96). Furthermore, the efficacy of CTLA-4 blockade as a single treatment seems to be limited to intrinsically immunogenic tumors such as melanoma (97, 98).

PD-1 pathway blockade

In contrast to CTLA-4 blockade, PD-1 blockade was expected to be less toxic, based on the different phenotype associated to PD-1 knockout mice. Whereas *ctla-4* KO mice died from a lethal lymphoproliferative disorder at a very young age, some colonies of *pd-1* KO mice lived over a year before expressing lupus-like symptoms (49, 88).

The first fully human anti-PD-1 IgG4 antibody, nivolumab (MDX1106) was tested in a phase I clinical trial. The trial was conducted on patients with different solid tumors and showed

promising results, as it was relatively well tolerated (14% grade 3-4 irSAE) and showed anti-tumor activity (99). Long-term follow-up on three patients that participated in the phase I trial (melanoma, renal cell carcinoma, and colorectal cancer) showed the presence of memory T cells that mediated a persistent anti-tumor immune response in the absence of continued therapy, indicating longterm clinical benefit of PD-1 blockade (100). A subsequent, doseescalating, phase I trial, conducted in melanoma patients, also showed that nivolumab was well tolerated. Immune-related toxicities were mild, less frequent (21% grade 3-4 irSAE), and less severe than those observed with ipilimumab (101-103). This antibody is now being tested as first-line treatment in a phase III trial compared to dacarbazine for treatment of metastatic melanoma (ClinicalTrials.gov identifier: NCT01721772). Two other anti-PD-1 antibodies were tested in clinical trials: lambrolizumab (MK3475) and pidilizumab (CT-011). Lambrolizumab was shown to have a response rate of 38% in patients with melanoma, and induced a durable progression-free survival rate of longer than 7 months and low grade toxic effects (104). Pidilizumab was tested in hematopoietic malignancies, where anti-tumor activity was observed in one patient with follicular lymphoma and one with acute myelogenous leukemia (105). These results seem to indicate that PD-1 blockade, like CTLA-4 blockade, can overcome immunosuppressive mechanisms present in the tumor microenvironment and reactivate pre-existing tumor-specific T cells.

The ligands of PD-1, PD-L1, and PD-L2, which are expressed on both tumor and normal cells within the tumor microenvironment (55–57, 60), are also interesting targets for immunotherapy (**Figure 4**). A recent clinical trial of the anti-PD-L1 antibody,



blockade by monoclonal antibodies directed against PD-1, or its ligands, promotes T cell activation by shifting the balance of signals delivered by the antigen in the periphery and, in the absence of PD-1 engagement, they assume full effector function and eliminate tumor cells.

BMS-936559, showed durable tumor regression and prolonged stabilization of the disease, with only 9% of patients experiencing grade 3 or 4 irSAE (106). PD-L2 blockade is currently being evaluated in a clinical trial but results are not yet available (ClinicalTrials.gov identifier: NCT00658892). Nonetheless, it appears that targeting PD-L1 and PD-L2 may be a strategy to limit off-target toxicity, while still combating the immunosuppressive tumor microenvironment.

B7–H3/H4 blockade

Both B7-H3 and B7-H4 receptors are expressed in tumors of prostate, non-small-cell lung, pancreatic, gastric, and skin cancer (107). In a non-small-cell lung cancer study, high B7-H3 or B7-H4 expression correlated with lymph node metastasis (108). In spite of being expressed on tumor cells, the role of B7-H3 as an inhibitory molecule is still not clear. Some studies have shown that expression of B7-H3 on tumor cells or tumor vasculature is associated with

an increased risk of death (109), while others have shown that B7– H3 expression is associated with prolonged patient survival and TIL infiltration (110). In mouse models, B7–H3 overexpression on tumor cells was shown to favor tumor regression (107). However, it has also been reported that antagonistic antibodies could enhance *in vitro* T cell proliferation (111). Altogether, the uncertainty on the exact function of B7–H3 makes its implication in cancer therapy rather difficult. Notwithstanding, a B7–H3 targeting antibody has been developed, which mediates potent cellular toxicity against a broad range of tumor cell types, and is currently being tested in a clinical trial (112). B7–H4 seems to have a clearer role in inhibiting T cell functions (113), and *in vitro* models have shown that antibody-mediated blockade of B7–H4 could restore anti-tumor T cell responses, making it an interesting target for clinical application (114).

Blockade of other immune checkpoints

Up till now, clinical intervention strategies have focused primarily on the B7 family, as highlighted above; other immune checkpoint pathways are not as well established and therefore research has been limited to pre-clinical, *in vitro* studies or mouse models. Nonetheless, these may prove to be important therapeutic targets in the future. The interaction of HVEM with several ligands, such as BTLA, CD160, and LIGHT, makes the balance between co-stimulatory and co-inhibitory signals rather complex. It also seems that signaling is bidirectional, depending on the specific combination of interactions. Therefore, immune checkpoint blockade in this pathway is not as straightforward as with other molecules (68, 96). Further delineation of the complex HVEM/BTLA/CD160/LIGHT pathway is required to elucidate the possibilities in immune blockade therapies.

The inhibitory receptors ILT3 and 4 also play an important role in the regulation of the immune response. In patients with melanoma, and carcinomas of the colon, rectum, and pancreas, ILT3 was reported to mediate immune escape mechanism, resulting in largely unsuccessful immune therapies (75). Soluble ILT3 protein induces differentiation of $CD8^+$ T cell and impairs T cell responses (75, 115). This could be restored by anti-ILT3 antibody or depletion of the soluble ILT3 from the serum. Thus, blocking ILT3 may prove to be an important adjuvant in immunotherapy. ITL4 upregulation on DCs was reported to cause blockade of cytotoxic T cell differentiation (76). Blockade of this receptor would therefore also be useful to augment DC function and enhance immune responses to cancer.

On the other hand, blockade of TIM-3 seems more feasible, as anti-TIM-3 displayed modest prophylactic and therapeutic activity against a small fraction of sarcomas in a mouse model. Furthermore, IFN- γ production from CD8⁺ cells, but not from CD4⁺ cells, was shown to be critical for the anti-tumor effect of the anti-TIM-3 treatment (116). TIM-3 blockade seems to mainly stimulate anti-tumor responses via NK cell-dependent mechanisms, while blockade of another family member, TIM-4, induces CD8⁺ cytotoxic T cells (117).

COMBINATORIAL IMMUNOTHERAPIES

Up till now, immune checkpoint blockade has mostly been developed as monotherapy with marginal efficacy, but the use of these immune checkpoint blockades in combinatorial regimens might improve clinical efficacy. Although these therapies could be combined with the usual suspects, radio- and chemo-therapy, the most benefit might reside in the combination with other immunotherapeutic approaches. However, extra care is warranted, as manipulation of the tightly controlled balance of immune activation vs. inhibition could be dangerous.

COMBING IMMUNE CHECKPOINT BLOCKADES

As CTLA-4 blockade and PD-1 pathway blockade target different mechanisms of T cell inactivation, there is a rational for expecting synergy when combining both these immune checkpoint blockades. Taking the high prevalence of irSAEs associated with these treatments when used as monotherapy into account, combining them is a risky proposition at best. Nevertheless, this combination treatment (anti-CTLA-4 mAb, ipilimumab and anti-PD-1 mAb, nivolumab) was tested in a recent, dose-escalating, phase I trial, and the results were very promising. The highest dose showed a 53% objective response and all patients had at least 80% tumor shrinkage. As might be expected, immune toxicity was higher than with monotherapy but this was a small increase compared to the increase in clinical response (118). Although the patient numbers in this trial were small, there was clear synergistic effect when combining these two immune checkpoint blockades. This is currently being confirmed in a phase III trial.

Programed cell death-1 pathway blockade in combination with other co-inhibitory molecules has also proven to be potentially useful. Blockade of the HVEM ligand, BTLA, in combination with PD-1 and TIM-3 blockades enhanced IL-2-producing CD8⁺ T cell expansion in an *in vitro* melanoma model (119). Also, when anti-PD-1 and anti-TIM-3 antibodies are combined, a significant decrease of tumor size was found, compared to PD-1 blockade alone (99). Since LAG-3 and PD-1 are co-expressed on CD4⁺ and CD8⁺ T cells, several combinatorial therapies have been explored. Frequency and effector function of CD8⁺ T cells were increased after LAG-3 and PD-1 blockade in a mouse model of epithelial ovarian cancer (81). Additionally, another *in vivo* study, applying a dual anti-LAG-3/anti-PD-1 antibody therapy showed a markedly improvement of the overall condition of mice challenged with tumor, that were resistant to single antibody treatment (120).

COMBINING CTLA-4 BLOCKADE WITH DC VACCINATION

The main problems encountered with anti-CTLA-4 treatment are the resistance of advanced tumors, due to a strong tumor-induced T cell tolerance, which may be partially PD-1 pathway mediated, and a lack of tumor specificity (121). Thus, a novel and potentially successful strategy would be the combination of DC vaccination with CTLA-4 blockade. This is supported by several pre-clinical tumor models, showing that CTLA-4 blockade on its own is not very potent in triggering a specific anti-tumor response, but when combined with agents that prime immune responses, such as DC vaccination, it might become very effective. In a study using a EL4 lymphoma mouse model, the administration of a single dose DC vaccination in combination with anti-CTLA-4 monoclonal antibody resulted in the rejection or retarded tumor growth in 60% of the challenged tumor mice, while either the vaccine or CTLA-4 blockade were ineffective when administered alone (122). The combination of CTLA-4 blockade and vaccination with B16 or SM1 cells, genetically modified to express GM-CSF, showed enhanced efficacy and tumor regression when administered in a B16 melanoma model and SM1 mammary carcinoma model, respectively. In the same experimental set up, monotherapy was again ineffective (123, 124). Taken together, these data suggest that CTLA-4 blockade in combination with DC vaccination could break tolerance to tumor-specific antigens, resulting in tumor clearance, and long-term host immunity after tumor re-challenge.

COMBINING PD-1 PATHWAY BLOCKADE WITH DC VACCINATION

In parallel with therapies which combine CTLA-4 blockade with DC vaccination, strategies for interfering with PD-1 pathway to enhance DC vaccination are being explored in pre-clinical studies. Administration of poly(I:C), a TLR3 agonist, as a tumor vaccine adjuvant was shown to selectively upregulate PD-L1 expression on mouse CD8 α^+ DCs. Although the CD8 α^+ DCs were able to promote cross-priming of CD8⁺ T cells, there was a lack of expansion of the primed tumor antigen-specific CD8⁺ T cells. This resulted in a failure to establish an anti-tumor immune response, suggesting that TLR3-induced PD-L1 expression on DCs may act as a negative regulator of CD8⁺ T cells expansion. Thus, blockade of PD-L1 on poly(I:C)-activated DCs might improve the anti-tumor efficacy of DC-based vaccines (125). In fact, in a B16 murine melanoma model treated with tumor peptide-pulsed DCs, concurrent systemic administration of anti-PD-L1 antibody resulted in a higher number of melanoma peptide-specific CD8⁺ T cells. Surprisingly, in spite of the increased number of tumor-specific T cells, there was no significant reduction in tumor growth (126). Additionally, blockade of PD-1/PD-L1 immune checkpoint in a murine breast cancer model was shown to effectively augment DC function in the stimulation of tumor-specific T cell mediated cytotoxicity, leading to efficient induce anti-tumor immunity (127). Together, these studies support blocking of the PD-1 pathway as a means to enhance the efficacy of DC vaccination.

COMBINING CTLA-4 BLOCKADE WITH OTHER CANCER TREATMENTS

Combining CTLA-4 blockade with other immunotherapeutic approaches or targeted therapies is also proven to be beneficial in several mouse models and has also entered clinical trials. The combination of the GM-CSF-engineered allogeneic vaccine GVAX with ipilimumab showed an improved overall survival of 29.2 months in patients with metastatic castration-resistant prostate cancer, but also displayed increased toxic effects when compared to therapy with either agent alone (128). In a recent phase I trial, ipilimumab was combined with the BRAF inhibitor vemurafenib in melanoma patients with the V600E BRAF mutation. However, the study was closed due to unforeseen hepatotoxicity, again highlighting the need for extreme care when combining these treatment modalities (129). In a long-term study, patients with metastatic melanoma treated with ipilimumab and IL-2 showed a 17% complete response rate, which is promising but still needs to be verified in a randomized trial (130).

DISCUSSION AND FUTURE PERSPECTIVE

Although cancer immunotherapy development is now flourishing and recognized as a novel important treatment modality by

oncologists, it had a rough start, as most immunotherapeutic agents were not effective in early trials (131). Over the years, the field of immunotherapy has evolved and matured. Growing knowledge about the immunosuppressive tumor microenvironment has provided some new promising checkpoint targets, as described above. This has all resulted in FDA-approved treatment modalities such as ipilimumab and Sipuleucel-T. Notably, the introduction of ipilimumab to the clinic has provided a boost to cancer immunotherapy, particularly keeping in mind that ipilimumab is the first anti-cancer treatment approved that does not target the tumor but rather targets the immune system. However, despite having clear therapeutic benefits and showing the possibility of long-term survival, there are still some challenges ahead. The first problem is the observed spectrum of toxicity or irSAEs, causing inflammatory and autoimmune reactions. This was to be expected on the basis of the pre-clinical mouse models, but is nonetheless a serious problem. In clinical trials, up to 25-30% of patients treated with ipilimumab suffer from grade 3 to 4 SAEs, including dermatitis, colitis, and hypophysitis (94). Unfortunately, there is no correlation between anti-tumor effect and the severity of these side effects, meaning that the patients experiencing these irSAE do not necessarily benefit from an anti-tumor effect. In this regard, blockade of PD-1 or PD-L1 has proven to be a much milder treatment alternative. In theory, blockade of CTLA-4 seems to be more effective than PD-1 pathway blockade, as it might lead to the activation or induction of new tumor-specific T cells, in addition to (re)activation of pre-existing tumor-specific T cells. However, both CTLA-4 and PD-1 pathway blockade seem to have similar clinical efficacy, but PD-1 pathway blockade is reported to have significantly fewer instances of irSAE.

A second drawback of immune checkpoint blockade is the lack of specificity. These treatment modalities are designed to "release the brakes" on the immune system, leading to indiscriminate immune activation, which is the cause of the irSAEs. This also means that only patients that already have pre-existing, naturally induced, tumor-specific T cells, which are being suppressed by these immune checkpoints, will benefit. Although CTLA-4 blockade is thought to be able to activate new tumor-specific T cells, this has never been proven in humans, and up till now this therapy seems to be the most effective in immunogenic tumors. Furthermore, a recent study has shown that patients whose tumors had higher expression of genes involved in immune function before the start of the treatment responded better to ipilimumab. Furthermore, expression of genes associated with T cell responses were increased after ipilimumab therapy. These findings support the concept that ipilimumab may be more efficacious in subjects who have pre-existing natural, albeit ineffective, anti-tumor immune responses (97).

Combining non-toxic DC vaccination with immune checkpoint blockade might be a good combination, exploiting the advantage of DC vaccination: the induction of tumor-specific T cells to compensate for the lack of specificity in checkpoint blockade. Conversely, this combination might also compensate for the lack of potency of the DC-induced tumor-specific T cells, by blocking the expression of inhibitory molecules in the tumor microenvironment (**Figure 5**). A recent phase II trial, assessing safety and dosage, showed that the combination of DC vaccination



with dose escalation of the CTLA-4 blocking antibody, tremelimumab, resulted in objective and durable tumor regressions, while irSAE were limited to grade 3 (132, 133). This indicates that this combination regiment in practice does not lead to extra toxicity compared to CTLA-4 blockade and might be even less toxic. Although not directly compared, or in combination with DC vaccination, recent results in clinical trials indicate that PD-1 pathway blockade are more active and less toxic than CTLA-4 blockade. This might be due to the more tumor-specific mode of immune activation. Additionally, PD-1 blockade might also provide the possibility of using biomarkers to select patients that will respond. In the nivolumab trial, 9 out of 25 patients with PD-L1 expression in the tumor responded to treatment while none of the 17 patients whose tumor did not express PD-L1 responded. Additionally, a recent study identified increased PD-1 expression on tumor-specific CD8⁺ T cells in melanoma patients, indicating that the PD-1 pathway is actively contributing to suppressing immune response in melanoma patients. Together, these results warrant for a phase I/II trial combining DC vaccination with PD-1 pathway blockade where patients are selected for increased PD-1 expression on CD8⁺ T cells or expression of PD-L1 by their tumor (103, 134).

Finally, it should be mentioned that also other options exist to combat inhibitory molecule expression within the tumor microenvironment. Recent studies have indicated that chemotherapeutic drugs can potentiate the immune system via the sodesignated "off-target effects" (135). For example, platinum-based chemotherapeutics were shown to downregulate PD-L1 on DCs while also downregulating PD-L2 on both DCs and tumor cells. This resulted in enhanced T cell activation and increased tumor cell recognition (136, 137). Chemotherapy may therefore also potentiate the effect of immunotherapy by improving DC maturation and function and eliminating suppressive cells (138).

In summary, cell-based immunotherapeutic approaches, such as DC vaccination, are promising strategies for cancer treatment. After years of optimization, these therapies are succeeding in inducing tumor-specific T cells in cancer patients. Unfortunately, so far this was insufficient to produce clear clinical benefits, albeit long-lasting responses were seen in a small proportion of the patients. A major factor hampering these novel therapies is the immunosuppressive tumor microenvironment. When migrating to the tumor site, tumor-specific T cells end up in an environment specialized in suppressing anti-tumor immune responses. Tumor cells accomplish this in large part by exploiting immune checkpoints, designed to dampen immune responses after infection and prevent autoimmunity. Recent antibody-based immunotherapeutic approaches, specifically designed to block these T cell inhibitory pathways, facilitate effector T cells to attack the tumor. The main drawback of checkpoint blockade antibodies is their lack of specificity, especially since it is not possible to determine in advance if tumor-specific T cells are present.

In this review, we highlighted the crucial role of the intricate regulatory molecular networks governing T cell activation and effector function, immune checkpoints, in the context of anti-tumor immunity and how these mechanisms are hijacked by tumors in order to suppress immune responses. More importantly, we discussed the use of immune checkpoint blockades as cancer treatment and provided a rationale for combining these with DC vaccination as a potentially superior alternative to blocking multiple immune checkpoints. Altogether, our growing knowledge about the immunosuppressive tumor microenvironment, and especially how it can be manipulated in a therapeutic setting, has opened up a fantastic opportunity to synergistically combine checkpoint blockade, especially PD-1 pathway blockade, with DC vaccination or adoptive T cell transfer. This will result in a powerful combination regiment leading to tumor clearance and immunological memory, which can mediate long-lasting tumor regression.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

This work was supported by grant 95103002 of The Netherlands Organisation for Scientific Research (NWO; ZonMW-PTO), KWO grant KUN2009-4402 and grants KUN2010-4722 from the Dutch Cancer Society, ERC grant R0001273, and a Bas Mulder award from the Dutch Cancer Society. Carl G. Figdor received the NWO Spinoza award.

REFERENCES

- Schreiber RD, Old LJ, Smyth MJ. Cancer immunoediting: integrating immunity's roles in cancer suppression and promotion. *Science* (2011) 331(6024):1565–70. doi:10.1126/science.1203486
- Bakdash G, Sittig SP, van Dijk T, Figdor CG, de Vries IJ. The nature of activatory and tolerogenic dendritic cell-derived signal II. *Front Immunol* (2013) 4:53. doi:10.3389/fimmu.2013.00053
- Palucka K, Banchereau J. Cancer immunotherapy via dendritic cells. Nat Rev Cancer (2012) 12(4):265–77. doi:10.1038/nrc3258
- 4. Schreibelt G, Bol KF, Aarntzen EH, Gerritsen WR, Punt CJ, Figdor CG, et al. Importance of helper T-cell activation in dendritic cell-based anticancer

immunotherapy. Oncoimmunology (2013) 2(6):e24440. doi:10.4161/onci. 24440

- Lee SC, Srivastava RM, López-Albaitero A, Ferrone S, Ferris RL. Natural killer (NK): dendritic cell (DC) cross talk induced by therapeutic monoclonal antibody triggers tumor antigen-specific T cell immunity. *Immunol Res* (2011) 50(2–3):248–54. doi:10.1007/s12026-011-8231-0
- Douagi I, Gujer C, Sundling C, Adams WC, Smed-Sörensen A, Seder RA, et al. Human B cell responses to TLR ligands are differentially modulated by myeloid and plasmacytoid dendritic cells. *J Immunol* (2009) 182(4):1991–2001. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.0802257
- Benencia F, Sprague L, McGinty J, Pate M, Muccioli M. Dendritic cells the tumor microenvironment and the challenges for an effective antitumor vaccination. *Biomed Res Int* (2012) 2012:425476. doi:10.1155/2012/425476
- Kalinski P. Dendritic cells in immunotherapy of established cancer: roles of signals 1, 2, 3 and 4. Curr Opin Investig Drugs (2009) 10(6):526.
- Sallusto F, Lanzavecchia A, Mackay CR. Chemokines and chemokine receptors in T-cell priming and Th1/Th2-mediated responses. *Immunol Today* (1998) 19(12):568–74. doi:10.1016/S0167-5699(98)01346-2
- Capece D, Verzella D, Fischietti M, Zazzeroni F, Alesse E. Targeting costimulatory molecules to improve antitumor immunity. J Biomed Biotechnol (2012) 2012:926321. doi:10.1155/2012/926321
- 11. Figdor CG, de Vries JJ, Lesterhuis WJ, Melief CJ. Dendritic cell immunotherapy: mapping the way. *Nat Med* (2004) **10**(5):475–80. doi:10.1038/nm1039
- Shen Z, Reznikoff G, Dranoff G, Rock KL. Cloned dendritic cells can present exogenous antigens on both MHC class I and class II molecules. *J Immunol* (1997) 158(6):2723–30.
- Cahalan MD, Parker I, editors. Close encounters of the first and second kind: T-DC and T-B interactions in the lymph node. *Semin Immunol* (2005) 17(6):442–51. doi:10.1016/j.smim.2005.09.001
- 14. Schuurhuis DH, Laban S, Toes RE, Ricciardi-Castagnoli P, Kleijmeer MJ, van der Voort EI, et al. Immature dendritic cells acquire Cd8+ cytotoxic T lymphocyte priming capacity upon activation by T helper cell-independent or -dependent stimuli. *J Exp Med* (2000) **192**(1):145–50. doi:10.1084/jem.192. 1.145
- Bhardwaj N, Friedman SM, Cole BC, Nisanian A. Dendritic cells are potent antigen-presenting cells for microbial superantigens. J Exp Med (1992) 175(1):267–73. doi:10.1084/jem.175.1.267
- Caux C, Vanbervliet B, Massacrier C, Azuma M, Okumura K, Lanier LL, et al. B70/B7-2 is identical to CD86 and is the major functional ligand for CD28 expressed on human dendritic cells. J Exp Med (1994) 180(5):1841–7. doi:10.1084/jem.180.5.1841
- Green JM, Noel PJ, Sperling AI, Walunas TL, Gray GS, Bluestone JA, et al. Absence of B7-dependent responses in CD28-deficient mice. *Immunity* (1994) 1(6):501–8. doi:10.1016/1074-7613(94)90092-2
- Zhu J, Paul WE. Peripheral CD4+ T-cell differentiation regulated by networks of cytokines and transcription factors. *Immunol Rev* (2010) 238(1):247–62. doi:10.1111/j.1600-065X.2010.00951.x
- Sigmundsdottir H, Butcher EC. Environmental cues, dendritic cells and the programming of tissue-selective lymphocyte trafficking. *Nat Immunol* (2008) 9(9):981–7. doi:10.1038/ni.f.208
- Aarntzen EH, Schreibelt G, Bol K, Lesterhuis WJ, Croockewit AJ, de Wilt JH, et al. Vaccination with mRNA-electroporated dendritic cells induces robust tumor antigen-specific CD4+ and CD8+ T cells responses in stage III and IV melanoma patients. *Clin Cancer Res* (2012) 18(19):5460–70. doi:10.1158/ 1078-0432.CCR-11-3368
- 21. Tel J, Aarntzen EH, Baba T, Schreibelt G, Schulte BM, Benitez-Ribas D, et al. Natural human plasmacytoid dendritic cells induce antigen-specific T-cell responses in melanoma patients. *Cancer Res* (2013) **73**(3):1063–75. doi:10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-12-2583
- 22. Kreutz M, Tacken PJ, Figdor CG. Targeting dendritic cells why bother? *Blood* (2013) **121**(15):2836–44. doi:10.1182/blood-2012-09-452078
- Aarntzen EH, de Vries IJ, Lesterhuis WJ, Schuurhuis D, Jacobs JF, Bol K, et al. Targeting CD4+ T-helper cells improves the induction of antitumor responses in dendritic cell-based vaccination. *Cancer Res* (2013) 73(1):19–29. doi:10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-12-1127
- 24. Higano CS, Schellhammer PF, Small EJ, Burch PA, Nemunaitis J, Yuh L, et al. Integrated data from 2 randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled, phase 3 trials of active cellular immunotherapy with sipuleucel-T in advanced prostate cancer. *Cancer* (2009) 115(16):3670–9. doi:10.1002/cncr.24429

- Palucka K, Ueno H, Zurawski G, Fay J, Banchereau J. Building on dendritic cell subsets to improve cancer vaccines. *Curr Opin Immunol* (2010) 22(2):258–63. doi:10.1016/j.coi.2010.02.010
- 26. Lesterhuis WJ, de Vries IJ, Schreibelt G, Lambeck AJ, Aarntzen EH, Jacobs JF, et al. Route of administration modulates the induction of dendritic cell vaccine-induced antigen-specific T cells in advanced melanoma patients. *Clin Cancer Res* (2011) **17**(17):5725–35. doi:10.1158/1078-0432. CCR-11-1261
- 27. Gilboa E. DC-based cancer vaccines. J Clin Invest (2007) 117(5):1195–203. doi:10.1172/JCI31205
- Kandalaft LE, Chiang CL, Tanyi J, Motz G, Balint K, Mick R, et al. A Phase I vaccine trial using dendritic cells pulsed with autologous oxidized lysate for recurrent ovarian cancer. J Transl Med (2013) 11(1):149. doi:10.1186/1479-5876-11-149
- Galluzzi L, Senovilla L, Vacchelli E, Eggermont A, Fridman WH, Galon J, et al. Trial watch: dendritic cell-based interventions for cancer therapy. *Oncoimmunology* (2012) 1(7):1111–34. doi:10.4161/onci.21494
- Conejo-Garcia JR, Benencia F, Courreges MC, Khang E, Zhang L, Mohamed-Hadley A, et al. Letal, a tumor-associated NKG2D immunoreceptor ligand, induces activation and expansion of effector immune cells. *Cancer Biol Ther* (2003) 2(4):446–51.
- DeNardo DG, Coussens LM. Inflammation and breast cancer. Balancing immune response: crosstalk between adaptive and innate immune cells during breast cancer progression. *Breast Cancer Res* (2007) 9(4):212. doi:10.1186/ bcr1746
- Talmadge JE, Donkor M, Scholar E. Inflammatory cell infiltration of tumors: Jekyll or Hyde. *Cancer Metastasis Rev* (2007) 26(3–4):373–400. doi:10.1007/ s10555-007-9072-0
- Waldner M, Schimanski CC, Neurath MF. Colon cancer and the immune system: the role of tumor invading T cells. World J Gastroenterol (2006) 12(45):7233–8.
- Gabrilovich DI, Nagaraj S. Myeloid-derived suppressor cells as regulators of the immune system. Nat Rev Immunol (2009) 9(3):162–74. doi:10.1038/nri2506
- Gabrilovich DI, Ostrand-Rosenberg S, Bronte V. Coordinated regulation of myeloid cells by tumours. *Nat Rev Immunol* (2012) 12(4):253–68. doi:10.1038/ nri3175
- Teng MW, Ritchie DS, Neeson P, Smyth MJ. Biology and clinical observations of regulatory T cells in cancer immunology. *Curr Top Microbiol Immunol* (2011) 344:61–95. doi:10.1007/82_2010_50
- Linsley PS, Greene J, Tan P, Bradshaw J, Ledbetter JA, Anasetti C, et al. Coexpression and functional cooperation of CTLA-4 and CD28 on activated T lymphocytes. J Exp Med (1992) 176(6):1595–604. doi:10.1084/jem.176.6.1595
- Read S, Malmström V, Powrie F. Cytotoxic T lymphocyte-associated antigen 4 plays an essential role in the function of CD25+ CD4+ regulatory cells that control intestinal inflammation. J Exp Med (2000) 192(2):295–302. doi:10.1084/jem.192.2.295
- Driessens G, Kline J, Gajewski TF. Costimulatory and coinhibitory receptors in anti-tumor immunity. *Immunol Rev* (2009) 229(1):126–44. doi:10.1111/j. 1600-065X.2009.00771.x
- Linsley PS, Brady W, Urnes M, Grosmaire LS, Damle NK, Ledbetter JA. CTLA-4 is a second receptor for the B cell activation antigen B7. *J Exp Med* (1991) 174(3):561–9. doi:10.1084/jem.174.3.561
- Krummel MF, Allison JP. CTLA-4 engagement inhibits IL-2 accumulation and cell cycle progression upon activation of resting T cells. J Exp Med (1996) 183(6):2533–40. doi:10.1084/jem.183.6.2533
- Walunas TL, Bakker C, Bluestone JA. CTLA-4 ligation blocks CD28-dependent T cell activation. J Exp Med (1996) 183(6):2541–50. doi:10.1084/jem.183.6. 2541
- Alegre M-L, Noel PJ, Eisfelder BJ, Chuang E, Clark MR, Reiner SL, et al. Regulation of surface and intracellular expression of CTLA4 on mouse T cells. *J Immunol* (1996) 157(11):4762–70.
- 44. Ubaldi V, Gatta L, Pace L, Doria G, Pioli C. CTLA-4 engagement inhibits Th2 but not Th1 cell polarisation. *Clin Dev Immunol* (2003) 10(1):13–7. doi:10.1080/10446670310001598519
- Nishimura T, Nakui M, Sato M, Iwakabe K, Kitamura H, Sekimoto M, et al. The critical role of Th1-dominant immunity in tumor immunology. *Cancer Chemother Pharmacol* (2000) 46(Suppl):S52–61. doi:10.1007/PL00014051
- Bour-Jordan H, Grogan JL, Tang Q, Auger JA, Locksley RM, Bluestone JA. CTLA-4 regulates the requirement for cytokine-induced signals in TH2 lineage commitment. *Nat Immunol* (2003) 4(2):182–8. doi:10.1038/ni884

- Agata Y, Kawasaki A, Nishimura H, Ishida Y, Tsubat T, Yagita H, et al. Expression of the PD-1 antigen on the surface of stimulated mouse T and B lymphocytes. *Int Immunol* (1996) 8(5):765–72. doi:10.1093/intimm/8.5.765
- Francisco LM, Salinas VH, Brown KE, Vanguri VK, Freeman GJ, Kuchroo VK, et al. PD-L1 regulates the development, maintenance, and function of induced regulatory T cells. J Exp Med (2009) 206(13):3015–29. doi:10.1084/ jem.20090847
- Nishimura H, Nose M, Hiai H, Minato N, Honjo T. Development of lupuslike autoimmune diseases by disruption of the PD-1 gene encoding an ITIM motif-carrying immunoreceptor. *Immunity* (1999) 11(2):141–51. doi:10.1016/ S1074-7613(00)80089-8
- Freeman GJ, Long AJ, Iwai Y, Bourque K, Chernova T, Nishimura H, et al. Engagement of the PD-1 immunoinhibitory receptor by a novel B7 family member leads to negative regulation of lymphocyte activation. *J Exp Med* (2000) 192(7):1027–34. doi:10.1084/jem.192.7.1027
- Keir ME, Butte MJ, Freeman GJ, Sharpe AH. PD-1 and its ligands in tolerance and immunity. *Annu Rev Immunol* (2008) 26:677–704. doi:10.1146/annurev. immunol.26.021607.090331
- Dong H, Strome SE, Salomao DR, Tamura H, Hirano F, Flies DB, et al. Tumorassociated B7-H1 promotes T-cell apoptosis: a potential mechanism of immune evasion. Nat Med (2002) 8(8):793–800. doi:10.1038/nm0902-1039c
- Dong H, Zhu G, Tamada K, Chen L. B7-H1, a third member of the B7 family, co-stimulates T-cell proliferation and interleukin-10 secretion. *Nat Med* (1999) 5(12):1365–9. doi:10.1038/70932
- Latchman Y, Wood CR, Chernova T, Chaudhary D, Borde M, Chernova I, et al. PD-L2 is a second ligand for PD-1 and inhibits T cell activation. *Nat Immunol* (2001) 2(3):261–8. doi:10.1038/85330
- Greenwald RJ, Freeman GJ, Sharpe AH. The B7 family revisited. Annu Rev Immunol (2005) 23:515–48. doi:10.1146/annurev.immunol.23.021704.115611
- Curiel TJ, Wei S, Dong H, Alvarez X, Cheng P, Mottram P, et al. Blockade of B7-H1 improves myeloid dendritic cell-mediated antitumor immunity. *Nat Med* (2003) 9(5):562–7. doi:10.1038/nm863
- 57. Iwai Y, Ishida M, Tanaka Y, Okazaki T, Honjo T, Minato N. Involvement of PD-L1 on tumor cells in the escape from host immune system and tumor immunotherapy by PD-L1 blockade. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (2002) 99(19):12293–7. doi:10.1073/pnas.192461099
- Gibbons RM, Liu X, Pulko V, Harrington SM, Krco CJ, Kwon ED, et al. B7-H1 limits the entry of effector CD8(+) T cells to the memory pool by upregulating Bim. Oncoimmunology (2012) 1(7):1061–73. doi:10.4161/onci.20850
- Butte MJ, Keir ME, Phamduy TB, Sharpe AH, Freeman GJ. Programmed death-1 ligand 1 interacts specifically with the B7-1 costimulatory molecule to inhibit T cell responses. *Immunity* (2007) 27(1):111–22. doi:10.1016/j.immuni.2007. 05.016
- Rozali EN, Hato SV, Robinson BW, Lake RA, Lesterhuis WJ. Programmed death ligand 2 in cancer-induced immune suppression. *Clin Dev Immunol* (2012) 2012:656340. doi:10.1155/2012/656340
- Zang X, Allison JP. The B7 family and cancer therapy: costimulation and coinhibition. *Clin Cancer Res* (2007) 13(18):5271–9. doi:10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-07-1030
- Fauci JM, Straughn JM, Ferrone S, Buchsbaum DJ. A review of B7-H3 and B7-H4 immune molecules and their role in ovarian cancer. *Gynecol Oncol* (2012) 127(2):420–5. doi:10.1016/j.ygyno.2012.08.017
- Chapoval AI, Ni J, Lau JS, Wilcox RA, Flies DB, Liu D, et al. B7-H3: a costimulatory molecule for T cell activation and IFN-γ production. *Nat Immunol* (2001) 2(3):269–74. doi:10.1038/85339
- 64. Sica GL, Choi I-H, Zhu G, Tamada K, Wang S-D, Tamura H, et al. B7-H4, a molecule of the B7 family, negatively regulates T cell immunity. *Immunity* (2003) 18(6):849–61. doi:10.1016/S1074-7613(03)00152-3
- 65. Jiang J, Zhu Y, Wu C, Shen Y, Wei W, Chen L, et al. Tumor expression of B7-H4 predicts poor survival of patients suffering from gastric cancer. *Cancer Immunol Immunother* (2010) 59(11):1707–14. doi:10.1007/s00262-010-0900-7
- 66. Krambeck AE, Thompson RH, Dong H, Lohse CM, Park ES, Kuntz SM, et al. B7-H4 expression in renal cell carcinoma and tumor vasculature: associations with cancer progression and survival. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (2006) 103(27):10391–6. doi:10.1073/pnas.0600937103
- Yi KH, Chen L. Fine tuning the immune response through B7-H3 and B7-H4. *Immunol Rev* (2009) 229(1):145–51. doi:10.1111/j.1600-065X.2009.00768.x
- Ware CF, Šedý JR. TNF Superfamily Networks: bidirectional and interference pathways of the herpesvirus entry mediator (TNFSF14). *Curr Opin Immunol* (2011) 23(5):627–31. doi:10.1016/j.coi.2011.08.008

- 69. Kojima R, Kajikawa M, Shiroishi M, Kuroki K, Maenaka K. Molecular basis for herpesvirus entry mediator recognition by the human immune inhibitory receptor CD160 and its relationship to the cosignaling molecules BTLA and LIGHT. J Mol Biol (2011) 413(4):762–72. doi:10.1016/j.jmb.2011.09.018
- Croft M. The evolving crosstalk between co-stimulatory and co-inhibitory receptors: HVEM-BTLA. *Trends Immunol* (2005) 26(6):292–4. doi:10.1016/j. it.2005.03.010
- 71. Cella M, Döhring C, Samaridis J, Dessing M, Brockhaus M, Lanzavecchia A, et al. A novel inhibitory receptor (ILT3) expressed on monocytes, macrophages, and dendritic cells involved in antigen processing. *J Exp Med* (1997) 185(10):1743–51. doi:10.1084/jem.185.10.1743
- Colonna M, Samaridis J, Cella M, Angman L, Allen RL, O'Callaghan CA, et al. Cutting edge: human myelomonocytic cells express an inhibitory receptor for classical and nonclassical MHC class I molecules. *J Immunol* (1998) 160(7):3096–100.
- Vlad G, D'Agati VD, Zhang Q-Y, Liu Z, Ho EK, Mohanakumar T, et al. Immunoglobulin-like transcript 3-Fc suppresses T-cell responses to allogeneic human islet transplants in hu-NOD/SCID mice. *Diabetes* (2008) 57(7):1878–86. doi:10.2337/db08-0054
- 74. Dobrowolska H, Gill KZ, Serban G, Ivan E, Li Q, Qiao P, et al. Expression of immune inhibitory receptor ILT3 in acute myeloid leukemia with monocytic differentiation. *Cytometry B Clin Cytom* (2013) 84(1):21–9. doi:10.1002/cyto. b.21050
- 75. Suciu-Foca N, Feirt N, Zhang Q-Y, Vlad G, Liu Z, Lin H, et al. Soluble Ig-like transcript 3 inhibits tumor allograft rejection in humanized SCID mice and T cell responses in cancer patients. *J Immunol* (2007) **178**(11):7432–41.
- Klechevsky E, Banchereau J. Human dendritic cells subsets as targets and vectors for therapy. Ann N Y Acad Sci (2013) 1284(1):24–30. doi:10.1111/nyas. 12113
- Anderson AC. Tim-3, a negative regulator of anti-tumor immunity. Curr Opin Immunol (2012) 24(2):213–6. doi:10.1016/j.coi.2011.12.005
- Workman CJ, Cauley LS, Kim I-J, Blackman MA, Woodland DL, Vignali DA. Lymphocyte activation gene-3 (CD223) regulates the size of the expanding T cell population following antigen activation in vivo. *J Immunol* (2004) 172(9):5450–5.
- Huang C-T, Workman CJ, Flies D, Pan X, Marson AL, Zhou G, et al. Role of LAG-3 in regulatory T cells. *Immunity* (2004) 21(4):503–13. doi:10.1016/j. immuni.2004.08.010
- Workman CJ, Wang Y, El Kasmi KC, Pardoll DM, Murray PJ, Drake CG, et al. LAG-3 regulates plasmacytoid dendritic cell homeostasis. J Immunol (2009) 182(4):1885–91. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.0800185
- Matsuzaki J, Gnjatic S, Mhawech-Fauceglia P, Beck A, Miller A, Tsuji T, et al. Tumor-infiltrating NY-ESO-1-specific CD8+ T cells are negatively regulated by LAG-3 and PD-1 in human ovarian cancer. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (2010) 107(17):7875–80. doi:10.1073/pnas.1003345107
- Suntharalingam G, Perry MR, Ward S, Brett SJ, Castello-Cortes A, Brunner MD, et al. Cytokine storm in a phase 1 trial of the anti-CD28 monoclonal antibody TGN1412. N Engl J Med (2006) 355(10):1018–28. doi:10.1056/NEJMoa063842
- Pardoll Drew DC. Immunotherapy earns its spot in the ranks of cancer therapy. J Exp Med (2012) 209(2):201–9. doi:10.1084/jem.20112275
- Ascierto PA, Simeone E, Sznol M, Fu Y-X, Melero I, editors. Clinical experiences with anti-CD137 and anti-PD1 therapeutic antibodies. *Semin Oncol* (2010) 37(5):508–16. doi:10.1053/j.seminoncol.2010.09.008
- Sasse S, Rothe A, Goergen H, Eichenauer DA, Lohri A, Kreher S, et al. Brentuximab vedotin (SGN-35) in patients with transplant-naive relapsed/refractory Hodgkin lymphoma. *Leuk Lymphoma* (2013) 54(10):2144–8. doi:10.3109/ 10428194.2013.775434
- Moran AE, Kovacsovics-Bankowski M, Weinberg AD. The TNFRs OX40, 4-1BB, and CD40 as targets for cancer immunotherapy. *Curr Opin Immunol* (2013) 25(2):230–7. doi:10.1016/j.coi.2013.01.004
- 87. Goldwater R, Keirns J, Blahunka P, First R, Sawamoto T, Zhang W, et al. A phase 1, randomized ascending single-dose study of antagonist anti-human CD40 ASKP1240 in healthy subjects. *Am J Transplant* (2013) **13**(4):1040–6. doi:10.1111/ajt.12082
- Tivol EA, Borriello F, Schweitzer AN, Lynch WP, Bluestone JA, Sharpe AH. Loss of CTLA-4 leads to massive lymphoproliferation and fatal multiorgan tissue destruction, revealing a critical negative regulatory role of CTLA-4. *Immunity* (1995) 3(5):541–7. doi:10.1016/1074-7613(95)90125-6

- Waterhouse P, Penninger JM, Timms E, Wakeham A, Shahinian A, Lee KP, et al. Lymphoproliferative disorders with early lethality in mice deficient in Ctla-4. *Science* (1995) 270(5238):985–8. doi:10.1126/science.270.5238.985
- Leach DR, Krummel MF, Allison JP. Enhancement of antitumor immunity by CTLA-4 blockade. *Science* (1996) 271(5256):1734–6. doi:10.1126/science.271. 5256.1734
- Hodi FS, O'Day SJ, McDermott DF, Weber RW, Sosman JA, Haanen JB, et al. Improved survival with ipilimumab in patients with metastatic melanoma. N Engl J Med (2010) 363(8):711–23. doi:10.1056/NEJMoa1003466
- Robert C, Thomas L, Bondarenko I, O'Day S, Weber J, Garbe C, et al. Ipilimumab plus dacarbazine for previously untreated metastatic melanoma. *N Engl J Med* (2011) 364(26):2517–26. doi:10.1056/NEJMoa1104621
- 93. Ribas A, Kefford R, Marshall MA, Punt CJ, Haanen JB, Marmol M, et al. Phase III randomized clinical trial comparing tremelimumab with standard-ofcare chemotherapy in patients with advanced melanoma. *J Clin Oncol* (2013) 31(5):616–22. doi:10.1200/JCO.2012.44.6112
- 94. Phan GQ, Yang JC, Sherry RM, Hwu P, Topalian SL, Schwartzentruber DJ, et al. Cancer regression and autoimmunity induced by cytotoxic T lymphocyteassociated antigen 4 blockade in patients with metastatic melanoma. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (2003) 100(14):8372–7. doi:10.1073/pnas.1533209100
- 95. Ribas A, Camacho LH, Lopez-Berestein G, Pavlov D, Bulanhagui CA, Millham R, et al. Antitumor activity in melanoma and anti-self responses in a phase I trial with the anti-cytotoxic T lymphocyte-associated antigen 4 monoclonal antibody CP-675,206. J Clin Oncol (2005) 23(35):8968–77. doi:10.1200/JCO.2005.01.109
- Pardoll DM. The blockade of immune checkpoints in cancer immunotherapy. Nat Rev Cancer (2012) 12(4):252–64. doi:10.1038/nrc3239
- 97. Ji RR, Chasalow SD, Wang L, Hamid O, Schmidt H, Cogswell J, et al. An immune-active tumor microenvironment favors clinical response to ipilimumab. *Cancer Immunol Immunother* (2012) **61**(7):1019–31. doi:10.1007/ s00262-011-1172-6
- Grosso JF, Jure-Kunkel MN. CTLA-4 blockade in tumor models: an overview of preclinical and translational research. *Cancer Immun* (2013) 13:5.
- Brahmer JR, Drake CG, Wollner I, Powderly JD, Picus J, Sharfman WH, et al. Phase I study of single-agent anti-programmed death-1 (MDX-1106) in refractory solid tumors: safety, clinical activity, pharmacodynamics, and immunologic correlates. J Clin Oncol (2010) 28(19):3167–75. doi:10.1200/JCO.2009. 26.7609
- 100. Lipson EJ, Sharfman WH, Drake CG, Wollner I, Taube JM, Anders RA, et al. Durable cancer regression off-treatment and effective reinduction therapy with an anti-PD-1 antibody. *Clin Cancer Res* (2013) 19(2):462–8. doi:10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-12-2625
- 101. Sosman J, Sznol M, McDermott DF, Carvajal R, Lawrence DP, Topalian SL, et al. Melanoma and other skin tumors. Ann Oncol (2012) 23(Suppl 9):ix361–75. doi:10.1093/annonc/mds404
- 102. Sosman J, Sznol M, McDermott DF, Carvajal R, Lawrence DP, Topalian SL, et al. Clinical activity and safety of anti-programmed death-1 (Pd-1) (Bms-936558/Mdx-1106/Ono-4538) in patients with advanced melanoma. In: *Meeting Abstract:* 11090 37th Congress of the European-Society-for-Medical-Oncology (ESMO) Vienna: Oxford University Press (2012). 361 p.
- 103. Topalian SL, Hodi FS, Brahmer JR, Gettinger SN, Smith DC, McDermott DF, et al. Safety, activity, and immune correlates of anti-PD-1 antibody in cancer. *N Engl J Med* (2012) 366(26):2443–54. doi:10.1056/NEJMoa1200690
- 104. Hamid O, Robert C, Daud A, Hodi FS, Hwu WJ, Kefford R, et al. Safety and tumor responses with lambrolizumab (anti-PD-1) in melanoma. N Engl J Med (2013) 369:134–44. doi:10.1056/NEJMoa1305133
- 105. Berger R, Rotem-Yehudar R, Slama G, Landes S, Kneller A, Leiba M, et al. Phase I safety and pharmacokinetic study of CT-011, a humanized antibody interacting with PD-1, in patients with advanced hematologic malignancies. *Clin Cancer Res* (2008) 14(10):3044–51. doi:10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-07-4079
- 106. Brahmer JR, Tykodi SS, Chow LQ, Hwu WJ, Topalian SL, Hwu P, et al. Safety and activity of anti-PD-L1 antibody in patients with advanced cancer. N Engl J Med (2012) 366(26):2455–65. doi:10.1056/NEJMoa1200694
- 107. Loos M, Hedderich DM, Friess H, Kleeff J. B7-h3 and its role in antitumor immunity. Clin Dev Immunol (2010) 2010:683875. doi:10.1155/2010/683875
- 108. Sun Y, Wang Y, Zhao J, Gu M, Giscombe R, Lefvert AK, et al. B7-H3 and B7-H4 expression in non-small-cell lung cancer. *Lung Cancer* (2006) 53(2):143–51. doi:10.1016/j.lungcan.2006.05.012

- 109. Crispen PL, Sheinin Y, Roth TJ, Lohse CM, Kuntz SM, Frigola X, et al. Tumor cell and tumor vasculature expression of B7-H3 predict survival in clear cell renal cell carcinoma. *Clin Cancer Res* (2008) 14(16):5150–7. doi:10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-08-0536
- 110. Loos M, Hedderich DM, Ottenhausen M, Giese NA, Laschinger M, Esposito I, et al. Expression of the costimulatory molecule B7-H3 is associated with prolonged survival in human pancreatic cancer. *BMC Cancer* (2009) **9**(1):463. doi:10.1186/1471-2407-9-463
- 111. Prasad DV, Nguyen T, Li Z, Yang Y, Duong J, Wang Y, et al. Murine B7-H3 is a negative regulator of T cells. *J Immunol* (2004) **173**(4):2500–6.
- 112. Loo D, Alderson RF, Chen FZ, Huang L, Zhang W, Gorlatov S, et al. Development of an Fc-enhanced anti-B7-H3 monoclonal antibody with potent antitumor activity. *Clin Cancer Res* (2012) 18(14):3834–45. doi:10.1158/1078-0432. CCR-12-0715
- 113. Leung J, Suh WK. Host B7-H4 regulates antitumor T cell responses through inhibition of myeloid-derived suppressor cells in a 4T1 tumor transplantation model. *J Immunol* (2013) **190**(12):6651–61. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.1201242
- 114. Dangaj D, Lanitis E, Zhao A, Joshi S, Cheng Y, Sandaltzopoulos R, et al. Novel recombinant human B7-H4 antibodies overcome tumoral immune escape to potentiate T cell anti-tumor responses. *Cancer Res* (2013) **73**(15):4820–9. doi:10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-12-3457
- 115. Cortesini R. Pancreas cancer and the role of soluble immunoglobulin-like transcript 3 (ILT3). *JOP* (2007) **8**:697–703.
- 116. Ngiow SF, von Scheidt B, Akiba H, Yagita H, Teng MW, Smyth MJ. Anti-TIM3 antibody promotes T cell IFN-γ-mediated antitumor immunity and suppresses established tumors. *Cancer Res* (2011) **71**(10):3540–51. doi:10.1158/ 0008-5472.CAN-11-0096
- 117. Baghdadi M, Nagao H, Yoshiyama H, Akiba H, Yagita H, Dosaka-Akita H, et al. Combined blockade of TIM-3 and TIM-4 augments cancer vaccine efficacy against established melanomas. *Cancer Immunol Immunother* (2013) 62(4):629–37. doi:10.1007/s00262-012-1371-9
- Wolchok JD, Kluger H, Callahan MK, Postow MA, Rizvi NA, Lesokhin AM, et al. Nivolumab plus ipilimumab in advanced melanoma. *N Engl J Med* (2013) 369(2):122–33. doi:10.1056/NEJMoa1302369
- 119. Fourcade J, Sun Z, Pagliano O, Guillaume P, Luescher IF, Sander C, et al. CD8+ T cells specific for tumor antigens can be rendered dysfunctional by the tumor microenvironment through upregulation of the inhibitory receptors BTLA and PD-1. *Cancer Res* (2012) **72**(4):887–96. doi:10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-11-2637
- 120. Woo S-R, Turnis ME, Goldberg MV, Bankoti J, Selby M, Nirschl CJ, et al. Immune inhibitory molecules LAG-3 and PD-1 synergistically regulate T-cell function to promote tumoral immune escape. *Cancer Res* (2012) 72(4):917–27. doi:10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-11-1620
- 121. Sotomayor EM, Borrello I, Tubb E, Allison JP, Levitsky HI. In vivo blockade of CTLA-4 enhances the priming of responsive T cells but fails to prevent the induction of tumor antigen-specific tolerance. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (1999) 96(20):11476–81. doi:10.1073/pnas.96.20.11476
- 122. Met O, Wang M, Pedersen AE, Nissen MH, Buus S, Claesson MH. The effect of a therapeutic dendritic cell-based cancer vaccination depends on the blockage of CTLA-4 signaling. *Cancer Lett* (2006) 231(2):247–56. doi:10.1016/j.canlet. 2005.02.005
- 123. Hurwitz AA, Yu TF, Leach DR, Allison JP. CTLA-4 blockade synergizes with tumor-derived granulocyte-macrophage colony-stimulating factor for treatment of an experimental mammary carcinoma. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA* (1998) 95(17):10067–71. doi:10.1073/pnas.95.17.10067
- 124. van Elsas A, Hurwitz AA, Allison JP. Combination immunotherapy of B16 melanoma using anti-cytotoxic T lymphocyte-associated antigen 4 (Ctla-4) and granulocyte/macrophage colony-stimulating factor (Gm-Csf)-producing vaccines induces rejection of subcutaneous and metastatic tumors accompanied by autoimmune depigmentation. J Exp Med (1999) 190(3):355–66.
- 125. Pulko V, Liu X, Krco CJ, Harris KJ, Frigola X, Kwon ED, et al. TLR3-stimulated dendritic cells up-regulate B7-H1 expression and influence the magnitude of CD8 T cell responses to tumor vaccination. *J Immunol* (2009) **183**(6):3634–41. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.0900974
- 126. Pilon-Thomas S, Mackay A, Vohra N, Mulé JJ. Blockade of programmed death ligand 1 enhances the therapeutic efficacy of combination immunotherapy against melanoma. *J Immunol* (2010) 184(7):3442–9. doi:10.4049/jimmunol. 0904114

- 127. Ge Y, Xi H, Ju S, Zhang X. Blockade of PD-1/PD-L1 immune checkpoint during DC vaccination induces potent protective immunity against breast cancer in hu-SCID mice. *Cancer Lett* (2013) **336**(2):253–9. doi:10.1016/j.canlet.2013.03. 010
- 128. van den Eertwegh AJ, Versluis J, van den Berg HP, Santegoets SJ, van Moorselaar RJ, van der Sluis TM, et al. Combined immunotherapy with granulocytemacrophage colony-stimulating factor-transduced allogeneic prostate cancer cells and ipilimumab in patients with metastatic castration-resistant prostate cancer: a phase 1 dose-escalation trial. *Lancet Oncol* (2012) **13**(5):509–17. doi:10.1016/S1470-2045(12)70007-4
- 129. Ribas A, Hodi FS, Callahan M, Konto C, Wolchok J. Hepatotoxicity with combination of vemurafenib and ipilimumab. N Engl J Med (2013) 368(14):1365–6. doi:10.1056/NEJMc1302338
- 130. Prieto PA, Yang JC, Sherry RM, Hughes MS, Kammula US, White DE, et al. CTLA-4 blockade with ipilimumab: long-term follow-up of 177 patients with metastatic melanoma. *Clin Cancer Res* (2012) 18(7):2039–47. doi:10.1158/ 1078-0432.CCR-11-1823
- 131. Finke LH, Wentworth K, Blumenstein B, Rudolph NS, Levitsky H, Hoos A. Lessons from randomized phase III studies with active cancer immunotherapies-outcomes from the 2006 meeting of the Cancer Vaccine Consortium (CVC). Vaccine (2007) 25:B97–109. doi:10.1016/j.vaccine.2007. 06.067
- 132. Ribas A, Comin-Anduix B, Chmielowski B, Jalil J, de la Rocha P, McCannel TA, et al. Dendritic cell vaccination combined with CTLA4 blockade in patients with metastatic melanoma. *Clin Cancer Res* (2009) 15(19):6267–76. doi:10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-09-1254
- 133. Ribas A, Glaspy JA, Lee Y, Dissette VB, Seja E, Vu HT, et al. Role of dendritic cell phenotype, determinant spreading, and negative costimulatory blockade in dendritic cell-based melanoma immunotherapy. *J Immunother* (2004) 27(5):354–67. doi:10.1097/00002371-200409000-00004
- 134. Liu X, Gibbons RM, Harrington SM, Krco CJ, Markovic SN, Kwon ED, et al. Endogenous tumor-reactive CD8(+) T cells are differentiated effector cells expressing high levels of CD11a and PD-1 but are unable to control tumor growth. Oncoimmunology (2013) 2(6):e23972. doi:10.4161/onci.23972
- Zitvogel L, Kroemer G. Anticancer immunochemotherapy using adjuvants with direct cytotoxic effects. *J Clin Invest* (2009) 119(8):2127–30. doi:10.1172/ JCI39991
- 136. Lesterhuis WJ, Punt CJ, Hato SV, Eleveld-Trancikova D, Jansen BJ, Nierkens S, et al. Platinum-based drugs disrupt STAT6-mediated suppression of immune responses against cancer in humans and mice. *J Clin Invest* (2011) **121**(8):3100. doi:10.1172/JCI43656
- Hato SV, de Vries IJ, Lesterhuis WJ. STATing the importance of immune modulation by platinum chemotherapeutics. *Oncoimmunology* (2012) 1(2):234–6. doi:10.4161/onci.1.2.18126
- Ramakrishnan R, Gabrilovich DI. Novel mechanism of synergistic effects of conventional chemotherapy and immune therapy of cancer. *Cancer Immunol Immunother* (2013) 62(3):405–10. doi:10.1007/s00262-012-1390-6

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Received: 29 September 2013; paper pending published: 12 October 2013; accepted: 15 November 2013; published online: 03 December 2013.

Citation: Vasaturo A, Di Blasio S, Peeters DGA, de Koning CCH, de Vries JM, Figdor CG and Hato SV (2013) Clinical implications of co-inhibitory molecule expression in the tumor microenvironment for DC vaccination: a game of stop and go. Front. Immunol. 4:417. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2013.00417

This article was submitted to Tumor Immunity, a section of the journal Frontiers in Immunology.

Copyright © 2013 Vasaturo, Di Blasio, Peeters, de Koning, de Vries, Figdor and Hato. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) or licensor are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.



Dendritic cell-targeted approaches to modulate immune dysfunction in the tumor microenvironment

Anne Gallois and Nina Bhardwaj*

Division of Hematology and Oncology, Tisch Cancer Institute, Icahn School of Medicine at Mount Sinai, New York, NY, USA

Edited by:

Timothy Bullock, University of Virginia, USA

Reviewed by:

Theresa L. Whiteside, University of Pittsburgh Cancer Institute, USA Walter J. Storkus, University of Pittsburgh, USA

*Correspondence:

Nina Bhardwaj, Division of Hematology and Oncology, Tisch Cancer Institute, Icahn School of Medicine at Mount Sinai, 1470 Madison Avenue, New York, NY 10029, USA e-mail: nina.bhardwaj@mssm.edu There has been enormous progress this past decade in the understanding of the biology of dendritic cells (DCs) along with increasing attention for the development of novel dendritic cell (DC)-based cancer therapies. However, the clinical impact of DC-based vaccines remains to be established. This limited success could be explained by suboptimal conditions for generating potent immunostimulatory DCs as well as immune suppression mediated by the tumor microenvironment (TME). Therefore, strategies that optimize the potency of DC vaccines along with newly described therapies that target the TME in order to overcome immune dysfunction may provide durable tumor-specific immunity. These novel interventions hold the most promise for successful cancer immunotherapies.

Keywords: cancer, immunotherapy, dendritic cells, tumor microenvironment, immune checkpoints

INTRODUCTION

Naturally occurring anti-tumor immune responses in cancer patients and in murine tumor models are commonly impaired. Tumor escape as a result of immuno-editing or through local effects of the tumor microenvironment (TME) disables many components of the immune response and ultimately limits the success of immunotherapy. Suppression or modulation of tumorassociated dendritic cell (DC) function by the TME is thought to play a major role in impairing the development of potent anti-tumor immune responses and promoting tumor progression. This review provides an overview of the mechanisms by which the tumor cells and tumor-associated cells co-opt many endogenous host factors and physiological pathways in order to impair immunogenic DC function. An updated overview of DC-based tumor immunotherapies and strategies to target the TME in order to overcome DC dysfunction and treat cancer patients will be discussed. Understanding the underlying mechanisms involved in the modulation of DC-based anti-tumor immunity by the TME will provide opportunities for improving the efficacy of cancer immune therapies.

DENDRITIC CELL BIOLOGY

The 2011 Nobel Prize in Medicine or Physiology was awarded to Ralph Steinman for his discovery of dendritic cells (DCs) and their role in adaptive immunity. DCs are the most potent professional antigen-presenting cells (APCs), able to activate adaptive immunity through their capacity to sample the environment and capture, process, and present antigens to T cells (1). Immature DCs in peripheral tissues can capture antigens but due to absence of co-stimulatory molecules, antigen presentation results in induction of tolerance through T-cell deletion, anergy and induction of regulatory, or suppressor T cells. Exposure to pathogens, however, engages the process of maturation which guarantees a well-controlled and targeted immune response.

While maturing, DCs lose their ability to capture antigen, and acquire new features such as enhanced antigen processing and presentation (through upregulation of surface MHC-II molecules); enhanced ability to migrate (through upregulation of the chemokine receptor CCR7); and increased capacity to stimulate T and B cells through cytokine secretion and co-stimulatory molecules. DCs uptake antigens through different mechanisms (phagocytosis, macropinocytosis, and endocytosis) and process them into peptides that are loaded on MHC molecules. The peptide/MHC complexes are then presented to naïve T cells in the lymphoid tissues. Binding of T cells to the MHC-antigen complex and costimulatory molecules on DC surface (CD80, CD86, CD40) results in the activation and subsequent differentiation of T cells into effector cells endowed with unique functions and cytokine profiles, capable of launching an antigen specific response. Extracellular antigens (bacteria, parasites, toxins) are presented onto MHC-II molecules and presented to CD4⁺ T cells whereas intracellular antigens (viral proteins) are presented on MHC-I molecules to CD8⁺ T cells. Importantly, DCs are the only APCs able to present extracellular antigens onto MHC-I molecules to CD8⁺ T cells, a process called cross-presentation that is crucial for anti-tumor immunity, however, not all DC subsets may be capable of efficient cross-presentation, and the degree to which they do may be dependent upon the nature of the antigen and route of delivery. Myeloid DCs (mDCs, also know as classical or conventional DCs) and plasmacytoid DCs (pDCs) are the two main subsets of DCs. mDCs are key players in immune responses against pathogenic organisms and tumors. They differentiate from myeloid progenitors, express CD11c and include the dermal DCs, Langerhans cells, interstitial DCs, and interdigitating DCs. mDCs are found in peripheral tissues, lymphoid organs, and in the blood and secrete large amounts of IL-12 upon activation. IL-12 mediates enhancement of the cytotoxic activity of NK cells and CD8⁺ cytotoxic T lymphocytes, is involved in the differentiation of naive

T cells into $T_{\rm H}1$ cells, and stimulates the production of interferongamma (IFN- γ) and tumor necrosis factor-alpha (TNF- α) by T and NK cells cells. Blood mDCs includes BDCA1⁺ (CD1c⁺) and BDCA3⁺ (CD141⁺) DCs. Recent studies have identified BDCA3⁺ (CD141⁺⁾ DCs as the human counterpart of CD8 α^+ murine DCs that share several phenotypic and functional properties such as their expression of TLR3 and their ability to secrete IL-12 and IFN- β . Although BDCA3⁺ DCs are widely thought to crosspresent antigens more efficiently than other DC populations, new findings show that DC populations may be comparably effective at presenting exogenous antigens to CD8⁺ T cells as long as the antigen is delivered to early endocytic compartments (2, 3).

Plasmacytoid DCs are the principal producers of type-I interferons (IFNs) in response to microbial and viral infection. They express CD123, BDCA2, and BDCA4 and are primarily found in blood and lymphoid organs such as the thymus, bone marrow, spleen, tonsils, and lymph nodes under steady state conditions. pDCs infiltrate various type of tumor but their role in anti-tumor immune responses remains to be defined as some reports suggest they can promote tumor growth (4).

Dendritic cell maturation involves the production of cytokines that play a role in CD4⁺ T-cell polarization into T_H1, T_H2, and T_H17. Differentiation of T_H1 cells, key players in immune responses against intracellular pathogens, tumors, and viruses, is driven by IL-12-mediated secretion. Development of T_H2 cells, involved in responses against parasites (but detrimental in the setting of anti-tumor responses), is though to be induced by the lack of IL-12 as well as by IL-4, thymic stromal lymphopoietin (TSLP), and Matrix metalloproteinase 2 (MMP-2). TGF-B, IL-1B, IL-6, and IL-23 have been implicated in T_H17 polarization. DCs can also induce naïve CD4⁺ T cells to differentiate into T follicular helper cells whose function is to help B cells to differentiate into antibody-secreting cells, as well as into regulatory T cells which function is to suppress immune responses. DCs also play a role in CD8⁺ T-cell differentiation into effector cytotoxic T lymphocytes. In addition to their ability to mediate adaptive immunity, DCs activate innate immune responses, such as NK cells' cytotoxicity and cytokine production trough their secretion of IL-12, IL-18, and type I-IFN. DCs also activate y8 T cells, another essential component of the anti-tumor immune response. Finally, DCs are also thought to play a role in the induction of effector memory T cells (TEM) that differentiate into central memory T-cell (TCM), but the mechanisms involved are still unclear. Altogether, these findings make DCs the ideal candidate for cancer immunotherapy as they activate overall immune responses.

Interestingly, it has been shown recently that in early stages of tumor progression, DCs are immunocompetent and able to induce the expansion of specific T-cell responses, whereas DCs in advanced tumors become immunosuppressive (5). Understanding the underlying mechanisms involved in the modulation of DC-based anti-tumor immunity by the TME will provide opportunities for improving the efficacy of immune therapies.

TUMOR MICROENVIRONMENT: A HOT BED OF IMMUNO-SUPPRESSIVE ACTIVITY

Despite the induction of tumor-specific T-cell responses in many patients, DC vaccines have not translated into durable therapeutic

responses. Indeed, the TME employs several mechanisms that inhibit DCs to induce efficient anti-tumor responses (**Figure 1**).

Immuno-suppressive molecules

Several tumor-derived factors such as IDO/TDO, CCL-2, VEGF, TGF-B, M-CSF, GM-CSF, IL-6, and IL-10 have been reported to negatively impact DC functions. TGF-B results in impairment of DC function and accumulation/differentiation of Tregs, myeloid-derived suppressor cells (MDSC), and detrimental M2 macrophages (6). IL-6 and M-CSF switch differentiation from monocytes to macrophages rather than DCs (7). IL-10 is able to convert immunostimulatory DCs into tolerogenic APCs and induce anergic cytotoxic CD8⁺ T cells (8). We and others found that inhibition of MAPK pathway in human BRAF^{V600E} mutant melanoma lines reduced production of immuno-suppressive cytokines (IL-6, IL-10, VEGF) and restored IL-12 and TNF-α production by DCs (9, 10). Stat3 is another signaling pathway that has emerged as a critical regulator of immuno-suppressive cytokines. An excellent review discusses various signaling pathways activated in cancers such as Stats, MAPK, and β -catenin (11). The chemokine CCL2 recruits inflammatory monocytes which express its receptor CCR2, as well as metastasis-associated macrophages, therefore promoting malignancy (12). VEGF is involved in several mechanisms of tumor pathophysiology such as inhibition of DC differentiation (13). Several monoclonal antibodies have been developed against VEGF or its receptor in order to prevent angiogenesis and have shown clinical benefits in various cancers. Activation of antigen-specific-Tregs for potent suppressor activity has been shown to be achieved by pDCs and cDC through secretion of the enzyme indoleamine 2,3-dioxygenase (IDO) (14, 15).

Regulatory T cells

CD4⁺ CD25⁺ Foxp3⁺ Tregs play a crucial role in maintaining a suppressive environment and inhibiting anti-tumor responses. Tregs express the inhibitory receptors CTLA-4, PD-1, and Tim-3 which contribute to their suppressive function through different mechanisms (16). Some studies indicate that Tregs through CTLA-4 can induce the down regulation of the co-stimulatory molecules CD80 and CD86 on DCs (17). Moreover, Tregs compete for the cytokine IL-2 with other immune cells through their expression of its receptor CD25 with a 100-fold higher affinity (18). Similar mechanisms might apply for other cytokines such as IL-7, IL-15, and IL-12. Finally, Tregs can secrete two of the main immunosuppressive cytokines: IL-10 and TGF-β that blunt anti-tumor effector cells such as CD4⁺, CD8⁺, and NK.

Immuno-suppressive myeloid cells

It is well established that subpopulations of myeloid cells are critical mediators of tumor initiation, angiogenesis and metastasis and are able to inhibit anti-tumor immune responses through a variety of mechanisms. MDSCs for instance play a crucial role in immune evasion within tumors through several immunosuppressive mechanisms that blunt effector T-cell responses (19). They suppress CD8⁺ T-cell anti-tumor immunity (20, 21) and induce the differentiation of Tregs (22). Not only do they secrete immuno-suppressive cytokines such as IL-10 but also express high levels of NOS (nitric oxide synthase) involved in T-cell apoptosis (19, 23), and Arginase-1 which impair the local proliferative



capacity of T cells (24). Macrophages have also been shown to facilitate tumor growth. In the context of TME, macrophages are skewed toward an M2-altered functional phenotype able to produce lower levels of pro-inflammatory cytokines (IL-1 β , TNF- α , IL-12) and higher levels of immuno-suppressive cytokines such as IL-10, TGF- β , and VEGF (25–27). Immunotherapeutic approaches aimed at skewing detrimental M2 macrophages into an immuno-competent M1 phenotype may promote effective anti-tumor immunity.

Induction of T_H2 cells through the expression of alarmins

Alarmins are naturally occurring endogenous mediators, rapidly released in response to infection and/or tissue injury by several cell types. These "danger signals" function to alert the host immune system of cell and tissue trauma through activation and recruitment of effector cells of innate and adaptive immunity (28). DCs are able to sense alarmins present in the TME through surface and intracellular receptors.

Matrix metalloproteinase 2 is expressed by cancer and/or stromal cells and is associated with later tumor stages, increased dissemination, and poorer prognosis/survival (29, 30). We have shown that MMP-2 can directly modulate innate and adaptive immune responses toward melanoma by not only being recognized by specific CD4⁺ and CD8⁺ tumor-infiltrating T cells, but also by modulating DC function to polarize T_H2 responses. We recently identified two pathways whereby MMP-2 functions as a human endogenous "conditioner" that skews CD4⁺ T cells toward a detrimental T_H2 phenotype. MMP-2 degrades the type I IFN receptor (IFNAR1), thereby preventing STAT1 phosphorylation necessary for IL-12 production (31). Furthermore, we identified that MMP-2 is a direct ligand for TLR2 on DCs, and found that their interaction leads to OX40L up-regulation and T_H2 skewing (Godefroy et al., in revision).

Thymic Stromal Lymphopoietin has also been described to modulate DC function and drive T_H2 responses (32). TSLP produced by tumor cells has been shown to induce detrimental T_H2 cells responsible for increasing tumor growth in breast cancer and pancreatic cancer through the secretion of IL-13 and IL-4 (33, 34).

These findings support the idea that blocking antibodies for MMP-2/TLR2 or TSLP/TSLPR interactions represent a promising strategy for cancer therapy through their ability to polarize type-1 immune responses.
Another alarmin, Eosinophil-derived neurotoxin (EDN) has been shown to activate the TLR2–MyD88 signal pathway in DCs and enhances T_H2 immune responses (35).

Inhibition of antigen presentation by alteration of MHC molecules and loss of tumor antigen expression

The TME alters the ability of DCs to effectively present antigen due to a down regulation or loss of MHC molecules and genes associated with antigen presentation such as transporter associated with antigen processing (TAP), low-molecular-weight protein (LMP), and β 2-microtubulin (36). Another mechanism of tumor escape is the loss of tumor-associated antigens (TAA): the natural selection of tumor subclones poorly recognized by the immune system which can thereby survive immune pressure (37).

Expression of inhibitory ligands

Immune checkpoints such as CTLA-4, PD-1, Tim-3, LAG3, ICOSL, GITRI, and B7H3 are inhibitory receptors that regulate immune responses to insure tolerance and prevent auto-immune diseases. They will be discussed in section "Therapies Targeting TME." CD47, a ligand for SIRP α , is a "don't eat me" signal for phagocytic cells, whose function is to block phagocytosis. CD47 overexpression by human solid tumor cells represents another mechanism of tumor escape by preventing tumor cells to be phagocytosed and eliminated (38). Recent data has shown that its blockade by neutralizing antibodies inhibits migration and metastasis in a variety of tumor models.

Study of the TME is critical to better understand how tumors harness surrounding cells to escape immunity and support their growth. This combined with a better understanding of DC biology should lead to the development of new strategies that effectively restore DC activity and induce tumor detection and the generation of potent anti-tumor responses.

DENDRITIC CELL-BASED TUMOR IMMUNOTHERAPIES

The immune system can eradicate tumors as shown by spontaneous regression of primary and metastatic melanoma (39) and regression of tumors after adoptive transfer of T cells (40). The potential for DCs to launch adaptive immunity makes them ideal candidates for cancer immunotherapy (**Figure 2**). However this approach alone does not overcome TME-induced DC dysregulation. Therefore, targeting TME may improve the clinical benefit of DC-based vaccines.

DC-BASED VACCINES

Ex vivo-generated DCs pulsed with antigens

The clinical impact of DC immunotherapy has been limited despite the induction of tumor-specific T-cell responses in many patients and occasional tumor regressions. At this point, the first and only cell-based cancer vaccine approved by the FDA is Provenge® from Dendreon. Provenge is an autologous antigen-pulsed DC-based cancer vaccine for patients with metastatic prostate cancer based on the results of a phase III randomized trial that demonstrated a more than 4-month median improvement in overall survival compared with a placebo vaccine. Overall, clinical trials have demonstrated the feasibility and safety of DC vaccines in phase I and II but have failed to demonstrate strong efficacy in large phase III trials (41, 42).

Many reasons may explain this lack of success with DC vaccines. There is currently no consensus on the optimal strategy to generate



DCs for immunotherapeutic use. DC-based immunotherapies require optimization at several levels: the maturation stimuli used, the type and form of antigen to be administered, the subset and the number of DCs to inject, and the frequency, route, and site of the injection. Studies in humans and mice have emphasized that different DC subsets are endowed with specialized functions, and a good vaccine should utilize these subsets in a coordinated way. Questions remain as to whether the classical ex vivo-generated moDCs widely used in immunotherapy are the most effective means of inducing clinically significant anti-tumor immunity. Some studies use DCs derived from CD34⁺ precursors (43) or in vivo-expanded circulating DCs using Flt3L. Recent findings provide the basis for a new approach relying on BDCA3⁺ DCs as anti-tumor vaccines, as they seem to be a key subset for cross-presentation of cellassociated antigens (44). Further characterization of these DCs will enable rational approaches to target them to improve vaccine efficacy. Looking forward, the main challenge for using BDCA3⁺ DCs will be to develop an efficient way to generate them in large numbers. Alternative vaccination strategies such as the delivery of tumor antigens in vivo to BDCA3⁺ DC subsets using antibodies specific to cell surface receptors such as CLEC9A has been proposed. However, more recent findings previously discussed (2, 3) suggest that this approach may not offer an inherent advantage and that the optimal strategy would be to target antigens to early endosomes. This approach would not only increase crosspresentation by BDCA3⁺ DCs but also extend cross-presentation to more abundant DC subsets therefore maximizing CD8⁺ T-cell responses in vivo. It is worth pointing out that Dendreon uses circulating blood DCs as the adjuvant, not the commonly used moDCs. A large study directly comparing all DC subsets side by side for their capacity to induce CTL and T_H1 responses after activation with various stimuli is warranted.

Another critical parameter to induce DC-mediated potent antitumor responses is the choice of DC maturation stimuli. Indeed, proper DC maturation prior to vaccination is necessary to prevent induction of tolerance through Tregs. To mature DCs, some clinical trials have used a standardized cocktail of pro-inflammatory cytokines composed of TNF- α , IL-1 β , IL-6, and PGE2 that was shown to induce up-regulation of MHC molecules, co-stimulatory molecules as well as CCR7 (45). However, other findings have suggested that DC matured with this cytokine cocktail were not optimal as they fail to induce IL-12p70 production and may induce Treg and T_{H2} cells (46–48). A novel cytokine cocktail consisting of TNF- α , IL-1 β , Poly I:C, IFN- α , and IFN γ has shown good results including DC-mediated IL-12 secretion (49, 50). Alternative maturation strategies via direct administration of immune activators such as TLR agonists, Flt3L, or CD40L has been shown to improve DC function in vivo (51). Several TLR ligands are currently being tested in clinical trials including LPS (TLR4), CpG (TLR9), Poly I:C (TLR3), Imiqiuimod (TLR7), and Resiquimod (TLR7 and TLR8).

Another factor that may explain the limited success of DCbased vaccines is the less-than optimal migration of DC vaccines to secondary lymphoid organs. Studies showed that most of the injected DCs remain at the site of injection, <5% reaching the draining lymph nodes (52). Administration of DCs via multiple routes or directly into the lymph nodes may improve DC migration and clinical responses. Finally, it's worth mentioning that most of the clinical trials treat patients with late stage cancers, whereas the most suitable stage for cancer vaccine is likely to be early disease when tumor volume is low.

In vivo delivery of antigens (non-targeted vaccines)

Contrary to previous assumptions, we showed that DC vaccines have an insignificant role in directly priming $CD8^+$ T cells, but instead function primarily as vehicles for transferring antigens to endogenous APCs, which are responsible for the subsequent activation of T cells (53). This finding highlights the need to develop strategies directly targeting endogenous DCs. Moreover, *in vivo* targeting of DCs represents a more economical option for DC immunotherapy as it bypasses the expensive and labor-extensive *ex vivo* DC generation process described previously.

Tumors express several well-characterized antigens that are recognized by the immune system. TAA can be antigens derived from oncogenic viruses (human papilloma virus E6 and E7 proteins), the products of mutations, differentiation antigens (tyrosinase, TRP-1, TRP-2, gp100, Melan A/MART1), overexpressed variants (Her2/neu), or self-antigens specifically upregulated on tumors. Strategies that target antigen presentation on both MHC-I and II molecules are ideal as both CD4⁺ and CD8⁺ T cells are required to launch potent protective anti-tumor immune response. Immunotherapies using short peptides from tumor antigens present limitations because they can only be used in patients with known HLA alleles that present these epitopes in the absence of natural processing. Alternatively, full-length protein vaccines often suffer from lack of consistent CD8⁺ T-cell induction, likely due to inefficient cross-presentation of the exogenous antigen by DCs. In contrast, synthetic long peptides are efficiently presented to both CD4⁺ and CD8⁺ T cells by DCs as well as non-professional APCs (54). The use of bacterial and viral vectors represents another alternative for loading tumor antigens on DCs. Genes encoding TAAs are inserted into the vector while gene encoding virulence of replication factors are deleted out. In some case, the vector may encode for cytokines and co-stimulatory molecules and therefore induce maturation of DCs, thereby bypassing the need for a separate maturation stimuli (55). The disadvantage of the method is that pre-existing immunity against the bacteria or virus vector may reduce their ability to induce immune responses.

Antigens coupled with DC surface antigens (in vivo targeting of DCs)

Endogenous DCs can be targeted to either deliver tumorassociated-antigens and/or to provide co-stimulatory signals. Candidates for the targeting of DC-specific molecules include Fc receptors, CD40, and C-type lectin receptors such as DEC-205, DC-SIGN, CLEC9A, mannose receptor, and Dectin-1. TAAs can be directly delivered *in vivo* using chimeric proteins composed of an antibody that is specific for the DC receptor fused to a selected antigen or to long peptides. Specific targeting of antigens to DCs *in vivo* has been shown to elicit potent CD4⁺ T-cell responses as well as an enhancement of antibody responses (56–58). CD8⁺ T-cell responses are less efficiently induced, unless boosted in a "prime" fashion such as with pox vectors (59). To avoid the induction of antigen-specific tolerance, this strategy requires DC activation signals. Most of the studies are performed in mice and further investigations are needed to determine the efficacy in humans and to identify the best candidate to target.

Optimizing DC vaccines is necessary but to be successful, immunotherapeutic approaches also need to overcome TMEinduced immune suppression to be able to potentiate the efficacy of DC vaccines *in vivo* and translate to overall improved clinical outcomes.

THERAPIES TARGETING TME

Among the most promising approaches to activating therapeutic anti-tumor immunity is the blockade of immune checkpoints. Among checkpoint molecules, CTLA-4 blockade was the first shown to enhance anti-tumor responses (58). CTLA-4 is an homolog of CD28 whose binding to its ligands CD80 and CD86 induces an inhibitory signals to CTLA-4-expressing T cells. CTLA-4 blockade using neutralizing antibodies (Ipilimumab and Tremelimumab) targets both effector and regulatory Tregs and has been shown to enhance immune responses and show promising clinical responses in melanoma patients (60). Ipilimumab (Yervoy) has recently been approved by the FDA for the treatment of unresectable or metastatic melanoma, based on improved overall survival in treated patients (61). Anti-CTLA-4 treatment is currently being tested for other cancers.

PD-L1, a ligand for the exhaustion marker PD-1, is expressed by different TME-infiltrating cell types including DCs. Blockade of PD-L1 induced durable tumor regression and prolonged stabilization of disease in patients with advanced cancers, including non-small-cell lung cancer, melanoma, and renal-cell cancer (62). Moreover, clinical trials using an anti-PD-1 antibody (nivolumab) reported promising results in patients with advanced cancer (63). Nivolumab is now in phase III testing. Interestingly, early results presented at the ASCO 2013 meeting suggested higher response rates to PD-1 pathway blockade in patients whose tumors express PD-L1, while combinatorial blockade of CTLA-4 and PD-1 increased anti-tumor immunity when compared to blocking either single checkpoint alone, although toxicity was higher (Grosso, abstract #3016; Callahan, abstract #9012).

Similarly to CTLA-4 and PD-1, Tim-3 belongs to the group of immune checkpoints and is a potential therapeutic target. Although there is no clinical data yet, Tim-3 has been reported to be co-expressed with PD-1 on human tumor-specific CD8⁺ T cells, and dual blockade of both molecules significantly enhances the in vitro proliferation and cytokine production of human T cells (64-66). In vivo studies have shown that Tim-3 blockade alone, or in combination with PD-1 blockade, is able to control tumor growth in four different tumor models, including melanoma (66, 67). Moreover, recent findings have shown that tumor-infiltrating DCs suppress nucleic acid-mediated innate immune responses through interactions between the receptor TIM-3 and the alarmin HMGB1 (68) therefore defining a new mechanism whereby the TME suppresses anti-tumor immunity. We found that NK cells from melanoma patients were dysfunctional/exhausted and that Tim-3 blockade was able to reverse this exhausted phenotype and improve NK cell function. Altogether, those findings suggest that Tim-3 blockade would improve anti-tumor immunity by not only targeting T cells, but also DCs and NK cells.

CONCLUSION

Dendritic cells have the potential to initiate specific anti-tumor immune responses, but several components of TME can modify their phenotype and function to transform immuno-competent DCs into immuno-suppressive DCs. The TME not only abrogates specific T-cell response but also induces DCs to exert immunosuppressive and pro-angiogenic functions. Thus, combinatorial approaches that (1) reprogram the immuno-suppressive TME; (2) improve DC function; and (3) enhance T-cell immunity, should provide durable tumor-specific immunity and hold the most promise for successful immune-base cancer therapies.

REFERENCES

- 1. Banchereau J, Steinman RM. Dendritic cells and the control of immunity. *Nature* (1998) **392**:245–52. doi:10.1038/32588
- Chatterjee B, Smed-Sörensen A, Cohn L, Chalouni C, Vandlen R, Lee BC, et al. Internalization and endosomal degradation of receptor-bound antigens regulate the efficiency of cross presentation by human dendritic cells. *Blood* (2012) 120:2011–20. doi:10.1182/blood-2012-01-402370
- Cohn L, Chatterjee B, Esselborn F, Smed-Sörensen A, Nakamura N, Chalouni C, et al. Antigen delivery to early endosomes eliminates the superiority of human blood BDCA3+ dendritic cells at cross presentation. *J Exp Med* (2013) 210:1049–63. doi:10.1084/jem.20121251
- Le Mercier I, Poujol D, Sanlaville A, Sisirak V, Gobert M, Durand I, et al. Tumor promotion by intratumoral plasmacytoid dendritic cells is reversed by TLR7 ligand treatment. *Cancer Res* (2013) 73:4629–40. doi:10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-12-3058
- Scarlett UK, Rutkowski MR, Rauwerdink AM, Fields J, Escovar-Fadul X, Baird J, et al. Ovarian cancer progression is controlled by phenotypic changes in dendritic cells. J Exp Med (2012) 209:495–506. doi:10.1084/jem.20111413
- Massague J. TGFbeta in cancer. Cell (2008) 134:215–30. doi:10.1016/j.cell.2008. 07.001
- Chomarat P, Banchereau J, Davoust J, Palucka AK. IL-6 switches the differentiation of monocytes from dendritic cells to macrophages. *Nat Immunol* (2000) 1:510–4. doi:10.1038/82763
- Steinbrink K, Jonuleit H, Müller G, Schuler G, Knop J, Enk AH. Interleukin-10-treated human dendritic cells induce a melanoma-antigen-specific anergy in CD8(+) T cells resulting in a failure to lyse tumor cells. *Blood* (1999) **93**:1634–42.
- Ott PA, Henry T, Baranda SJ, Frleta D, Manches O, Bogunovic D, et al. Inhibition of both BRAF and MEK in BRAF(V600E) mutant melanoma restores compromised dendritic cell (DC) function while having differential direct effects on DC properties. *Cancer Immunol Immunother* (2013) 62:811–22. doi:10.1007/s00262-012-1389-z
- Sumimoto H, Imabayashi F, Iwata T, Kawakami Y. The BRAF-MAPK signaling pathway is essential for cancer-immune evasion in human melanoma cells. *J Exp Med* (2006) 203:1651–6. doi:10.1084/jem.20051848
- Kawakami Y, Yaguchi T, Sumimoto H, Kudo-Saito C, Iwata-Kajihara T, Nakamura S, et al. Improvement of cancer immunotherapy by combining molecular targeted therapy. *Front Oncol* (2013) 3:136. doi:10.3389/fonc.2013.00136
- Qian BZ, Li J, Zhang H, Kitamura T, Zhang J, Campion LR, et al. CCL2 recruits inflammatory monocytes to facilitate breast-tumour metastasis. *Nature* (2011) 475:222–5. doi:10.1038/nature10138
- Gabrilovich D, Ishida T, Oyama T, Ran S, Kravtsov V, Nadaf S, et al. Vascular endothelial growth factor inhibits the development of dendritic cells and dramatically affects the differentiation of multiple hematopoietic lineages in vivo. *Blood* (1998) 92:4150–66.
- Manches O, Munn D, Fallahi A, Lifson J, Chaperot L, Plumas J, et al. HIVactivated human plasmacytoid DCs induce Tregs through an indoleamine 2,3dioxygenase-dependent mechanism. *J Clin Invest* (2008) 118:3431–9. doi:10. 1172/JCI34823
- Munn DH, Sharma MD, Lee JR, Jhaver KG, Johnson TS, Keskin DB, et al. Potential regulatory function of human dendritic cells expressing indoleamine 2,3dioxygenase. *Science* (2002) 297:1867–70. doi:10.1126/science.1073514
- Tai X, Van Laethem F, Pobezinsky L, Guinter T, Sharrow SO, Adams A, et al. Basis of CTLA-4 function in regulatory and conventional CD4(+) T cells. *Blood* (2012) 119:5155–63. doi:10.1182/blood-2011-11-388918

- Oderup C, Cederbom L, Makowska A, Cilio CM, Ivars F. Cytotoxic T lymphocyte antigen-4-dependent down-modulation of costimulatory molecules on dendritic cells in CD4+ CD25+ regulatory T-cell-mediated suppression. *Immunol*ogy (2006) 118:240–9. doi:10.1111/j.1365-2567.2006.02362.x
- Antony PA, Restifo NP. CD4+CD25+ T regulatory cells, immunotherapy of cancer, and interleukin-2. J Immunother (2005) 28:120–8. doi:10.1097/01.cji. 0000155049.26787.45
- Gabrilovich DI, Nagaraj S. Myeloid-derived suppressor cells as regulators of the immune system. Nat Rev Immunol (2009) 9:162–74. doi:10.1038/nri2506
- Bronte V, Wang M, Overwijk WW, Surman DR, Pericle F, Rosenberg SA, et al. Apoptotic death of CD8+ T lymphocytes after immunization: induction of a suppressive population of Mac-1+/Gr-1+ cells. *J Immunol* (1998) 161:5313–20.
- Seung LP, Rowley DA, Dubey P, Schreiber H. Synergy between T-cell immunity and inhibition of paracrine stimulation causes tumor rejection. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (1995) 92:6254–8. doi:10.1073/pnas.92.14.6254
- 22. Huang B, Pan PY, Li Q, Sato AI, Levy DE, Bromberg J, et al. Gr-1+CD115+ immature myeloid suppressor cells mediate the development of tumor-induced T regulatory cells and T-cell anergy in tumor-bearing host. *Cancer Res* (2006) 66:1123–31. doi:10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-05-1299
- Bronte V. Myeloid-derived suppressor cells in inflammation: uncovering cell subsets with enhanced immunosuppressive functions. *Eur J Immunol* (2009) 39:2670–2. doi:10.1002/eji.200939892
- 24. Highfill SL, Rodriguez PC, Zhou Q, Goetz CA, Koehn BH, Veenstra R, et al. Bone marrow myeloid-derived suppressor cells (MDSCs) inhibit graft-versushost disease (GVHD) via an arginase-1-dependent mechanism that is upregulated by interleukin-13. *Blood* (2010) **116**:5738–47. doi:10.1182/blood-2010-06-287839
- Mantovani A, Sica A. Macrophages, innate immunity and cancer: balance, tolerance, and diversity. *Curr Opin Immunol* (2010) 22:231–7. doi:10.1016/j.coi. 2010.01.009
- Qian BZ, Pollard JW. Macrophage diversity enhances tumor progression and metastasis. *Cell* (2010) 141:39–51. doi:10.1016/j.cell.2010.03.014
- Sica A, Bronte V. Altered macrophage differentiation and immune dysfunction in tumor development. J Clin Invest (2007) 117:1155–66. doi:10.1172/JCI31422
- Oppenheim JJ, Tewary P, de la Rosa G, Yang D. Alarmins initiate host defense. *Adv Exp Med Biol* (2007) 601:185–94.
- Egeblad M, Werb Z. New functions for the matrix metalloproteinases in cancer progression. Nat Rev Cancer (2002) 2:161–74. doi:10.1038/nrc745
- Kessenbrock K, Plaks V, Werb Z. Matrix metalloproteinases: regulators of the tumor microenvironment. *Cell* (2010) 141:52–67. doi:10.1016/j.cell.2010.03. 015
- Godefroy E, Manches O, Dréno B, Hochman T, Rolnitzky L, Labarrière N, et al. Matrix metalloproteinase-2 conditions human dendritic cells to prime inflammatory T(H)2 cells via an IL-12- and OX40L-dependent pathway. *Cancer Cell* (2011) 19:333–46. doi:10.1016/j.ccr.2011.01.037
- 32. Ito T, Wang YH, Duramad O, Hori T, Delespesse GJ, Watanabe N, et al. TSLP-activated dendritic cells induce an inflammatory T helper type 2 cell response through OX40 ligand. J Exp Med (2005) 202:1213–23. doi:10.1084/ jem.20051135
- 33. Aspord C, Pedroza-Gonzalez A, Gallegos M, Tindle S, Burton EC, Su D, et al. Breast cancer instructs dendritic cells to prime interleukin 13-secreting CD4+ T cells that facilitate tumor development. J Exp Med (2007) 204:1037–47. doi:10.1084/jem.20061120
- 34. De Monte L, Reni M, Tassi E, Clavenna D, Papa I, Recalde H, et al. Intratumor T helper type 2 cell infiltrate correlates with cancer-associated fibroblast thymic stromal lymphopoietin production and reduced survival in pancreatic cancer. *J Exp Med* (2011) 208:469–78. doi:10.1084/jem.20101876
- 35. Yang D, Chen Q, Su SB, Zhang P, Kurosaka K, Caspi RR, et al. Eosinophilderived neurotoxin acts as an alarmin to activate the TLR2-MyD88 signal pathway in dendritic cells and enhances Th2 immune responses. *J Exp Med* (2008) 205:79–90. doi:10.1084/jem.20062027
- Gabrilovich D. Mechanisms and functional significance of tumour-induced dendritic-cell defects. *Nat Rev Immunol* (2004) 4:941–52. doi:10.1038/nri1498
- Dunn GP, Bruce AT, Ikeda H, Old LJ, Schreiber RD. Cancer immunoediting: from immunosurveillance to tumor escape. *Nat Immunol* (2002) 3:991–8. doi:10.1038/ni1102-991
- Willingham SB, Volkmer JP, Gentles AJ, Sahoo D, Dalerba P, Mitra SS, et al. The CD47-signal regulatory protein alpha (SIRPa) interaction is a therapeutic

target for human solid tumors. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A (2012) 109:6662–7. doi:10.1073/pnas.1121623109

- Satzger I, Schenck F, Kapp A, Gutzmer R. Spontaneous regression of melanoma with distant metastases – report of a patient with brain metastases. *Eur J Dermatol* (2006) 16:454–5.
- Wang RF, Rosenberg SA. Human tumor antigens for cancer vaccine development. *Immunol Rev* (1999) 170:85–100. doi:10.1111/j.1600-065X.1999. tb01331.x
- 41. Higano CS, Schellhammer PF, Small EJ, Burch PA, Nemunaitis J, Yuh L, et al. Integrated data from 2 randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled, phase 3 trials of active cellular immunotherapy with sipuleucel-T in advanced prostate cancer. *Cancer* (2009) 115:3670–9. doi:10.1002/cncr.24429
- 42. Schadendorf D, Ugurel S, Schuler-Thurner B, Nestle FO, Enk A, Bröcker EB, et al. Dacarbazine (DTIC) versus vaccination with autologous peptide-pulsed dendritic cells (DC) in first-line treatment of patients with metastatic melanoma: a randomized phase III trial of the DC study group of the DeCOG. *Ann Oncol* (2006) 17:563–70. doi:10.1093/annonc/mdj138
- 43. Chung DJ, Romano E, Pronschinske KB, Shyer JA, Mennecozzi M, St Angelo ET, et al. Langerhans-type and monocyte-derived human dendritic cells have different susceptibilities to mRNA electroporation with distinct effects on maturation and activation: implications for immunogenicity in dendritic cell-based immunotherapy. *J Transl Med* (2013) 11:166. doi:10.1186/1479-5876-11-166
- Gallois A, Bhardwaj N. A needle in the 'cancer vaccine' haystack. Nat Med (2010) 16:854–6. doi:10.1038/nm0810-854
- 45. Lee AW, Truong T, Bickham K, Fonteneau JF, Larsson M, Da Silva I, et al. A clinical grade cocktail of cytokines and PGE2 results in uniform maturation of human monocyte-derived dendritic cells: implications for immunotherapy. *Vaccine* (2002) **20**(Suppl 4):A8–22. doi:10.1016/S0264-410X(02)00382-1
- Jongmans W, Tiemessen DM, van Vlodrop IJ, Mulders PF, Oosterwijk E. Th1polarizing capacity of clinical-grade dendritic cells is triggered by Ribomunyl but is compromised by PGE2: the importance of maturation cocktails. *J Immunother* (2005) 28:480–7. doi:10.1097/01.cji.0000171290.78495.66
- Krause P, Singer E, Darley PI, Klebensberger J, Groettrup M, Legler DF. Prostaglandin E2 is a key factor for monocyte-derived dendritic cell maturation: enhanced T cell stimulatory capacity despite IDO. *J Leukoc Biol* (2007) 82:1106–14. doi:10.1189/jlb.0905519
- Morelli AE, Thomson AW. Dendritic cells under the spell of prostaglandins. *Trends Immunol* (2003) 24:108–11. doi:10.1016/S1471-4906(03)00023-1
- Lee JJ, Foon KA, Mailliard RB, Muthuswamy R, Kalinski P. Type 1-polarized dendritic cells loaded with autologous tumor are a potent immunogen against chronic lymphocytic leukemia. *J Leukoc Biol* (2008) 84:319–25. doi:10.1189/jlb. 1107737
- Mailliard RB, Wankowicz-Kalinska A, Cai Q, Wesa A, Hilkens CM, Kapsenberg ML, et al. Alpha-type-1 polarized dendritic cells: a novel immunization tool with optimized CTL-inducing activity. *Cancer Res* (2004) 64:5934–7. doi:10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-04-1261
- 51. Sabbatini P, Tsuji T, Ferran L, Ritter E, Sedrak C, Tuballes K, et al. Phase I trial of overlapping long peptides from a tumor self-antigen and poly-ICLC shows rapid induction of integrated immune response in ovarian cancer patients. *Clin Cancer Res* (2012) 18:6497–508. doi:10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-12-2189
- 52. Verdijk P, Aarntzen EH, Lesterhuis WJ, Boullart AC, Kok E, van Rossum MM, et al. Limited amounts of dendritic cells migrate into the T-cell area of lymph nodes but have high immune activating potential in melanoma patients. *Clin Cancer Res* (2009) 15:2531–40. doi:10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-08-2729
- 53. Yewdall AW, Drutman SB, Jinwala F, Bahjat KS, Bhardwaj N. CD8+ T cell priming by dendritic cell vaccines requires antigen transfer to endogenous antigen presenting cells. *PLoS One* (2010) 5:e11144. doi:10.1371/journal.pone. 0011144
- 54. Welters MJ, Kenter GG, Piersma SJ, Vloon AP, Löwik MJ, Berends-van der Meer DM, et al. Induction of tumor-specific CD4+ and CD8+ T-cell immunity in cervical cancer patients by a human papillomavirus type 16 E6 and E7 long peptides vaccine. *Clin Cancer Res* (2008) 14:178–87. doi:10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-07-1880
- 55. DiPaola RS, Plante M, Kaufman H, Petrylak DP, Israeli R, Lattime E, et al. A phase I trial of pox PSA vaccines (PROSTVAC-VF) with B7-1, ICAM-1, and LFA-3 costimulatory molecules (TRICOM) in patients with prostate cancer. J Transl Med (2006) 4:1. doi:10.1186/1479-5876-4-1

- 56. Bonifaz L, Bonnyay D, Mahnke K, Rivera M, Nussenzweig MC, Steinman RM. Efficient targeting of protein antigen to the dendritic cell receptor DEC-205 in the steady state leads to antigen presentation on major histocompatibility complex class I products and peripheral CD8+ T cell tolerance. *J Exp Med* (2002) 196:1627–38. doi:10.1084/jem.20021598
- 57. Bonifaz LC, Bonnyay DP, Charalambous A, Darguste DI, Fujii S, Soares H, et al. In vivo targeting of antigens to maturing dendritic cells via the DEC-205 receptor improves T cell vaccination. *J Exp Med* (2004) **199**:815–24. doi:10.1084/jem.20032220
- Hawiger D, Inaba K, Dorsett Y, Guo M, Mahnke K, Rivera M, et al. Dendritic cells induce peripheral T cell unresponsiveness under steady state conditions in vivo. J Exp Med (2001) 194:769–79. doi:10.1084/jem.194.6.769
- 59. Flynn BJ, Kastenmüller K, Wille-Reece U, Tomaras GD, Alam M, Lindsay RW, et al. Immunization with HIV Gag targeted to dendritic cells followed by recombinant New York vaccinia virus induces robust T-cell immunity in nonhuman primates. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (2011) **108**:7131–6. doi:10.1073/pnas. 1103869108
- 60. Yuan J, Gnjatic S, Li H, Powel S, Gallardo HF, Ritter E, et al. CTLA-4 blockade enhances polyfunctional NY-ESO-1 specific T cell responses in metastatic melanoma patients with clinical benefit. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (2008) 105:20410–5. doi:10.1073/pnas.0810114105
- Hodi FS, O'Day SJ, McDermott DF, Weber RW, Sosman JA, Haanen JB, et al. Improved survival with ipilimumab in patients with metastatic melanoma. *N Engl J Med* (2010) 363:711–23. doi:10.1056/NEJMoa1003466
- Brahmer JR, Tykodi SS, Chow LQ, Hwu WJ, Topalian SL, Hwu P, et al. Safety and activity of anti-PD-L1 antibody in patients with advanced cancer. N Engl J Med (2012) 366:2455–65. doi:10.1056/NEJMoa1200694
- 63. Topalian SL, Hodi FS, Brahmer JR, Gettinger SN, Smith DC, McDermott DF, et al. Safety, activity, and immune correlates of anti-PD-1 antibody in cancer. *N Engl J Med* (2012) 366:2443–54. doi:10.1056/NEJMoa1200690
- 64. Baitsch L, Legat A, Barba L, Fuertes Marraco SA, Rivals JP, Baumgaertner P, et al. Extended co-expression of inhibitory receptors by human CD8 T-cells depending on differentiation, antigen-specificity and anatomical localization. *PLoS One* (2012) 7:e30852. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0030852

- 65. Fourcade J, Sun Z, Benallaoua M, Guillaume P, Luescher IF, Sander C, et al. Upregulation of Tim-3 and PD-1 expression is associated with tumor antigenspecific CD8+ T cell dysfunction in melanoma patients. *J Exp Med* (2010) 207:2175–86. doi:10.1084/jem.20100637
- Sakuishi K, Apetoh L, Sullivan JM, Blazar BR, Kuchroo VK, Anderson AC. Targeting Tim-3 and PD-1 pathways to reverse T cell exhaustion and restore antitumor immunity. J Exp Med (2010) 207:2187–94. doi:10.1084/jem.20100643
- Ngiow SF, von Scheidt B, Akiba H, Yagita H, Teng MW, Smyth MJ. Anti-TIM3 antibody promotes T cell IFN-gamma-mediated antitumor immunity and suppresses established tumors. *Cancer Res* (2011) **71**:3540–51. doi:10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-11-0096
- 68. Chiba S, Baghdadi M, Akiba H, Yoshiyama H, Kinoshita I, Dosaka-Akita H, et al. Tumor-infiltrating DCs suppress nucleic acid-mediated innate immune responses through interactions between the receptor TIM-3 and the alarmin HMGB1. *Nat Immunol* (2012) 13:832–42. doi:10.1038/ni.2376

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Received: 02 October 2013; accepted: 22 November 2013; published online: 10 December 2013.

Citation: Gallois A and Bhardwaj N (2013) Dendritic cell-targeted approaches to modulate immune dysfunction in the tumor microenvironment. Front. Immunol. 4:436. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2013.00436

This article was submitted to Tumor Immunity, a section of the journal Frontiers in Immunology.

Copyright © 2013 Gallois and Bhardwaj. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) or licensor are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.



Dendritic cell-based immunotherapy for myeloid leukemias

Christian M. Schürch^{1,2†}, Carsten Riether^{1†} and Adrian F. Ochsenbein^{1,3*}

¹ Tumor Immunology, Department of Clinical Research, University of Bern, Bern, Switzerland

² Institute of Pathology, University of Bern, Bern, Switzerland

³ Department of Medical Oncology, Inselspital, University Hospital Bern, Bern, Switzerland

Edited by:

Kristian Michael Hargadon, Hampden-Sydney College, USA

Reviewed by:

Holbrook Edwin Kohrt, Stanford University, USA Manel Juan, Hospital Clínic de Barcelona, Spain

*Correspondence:

Adrian F. Ochsenbein, Department of Medical Oncology, Inselspital, University Hospital and University of Bern, CH-3010 Bern, Switzerland e-mail: adrian.ochsenbein@insel.ch

[†]Christian M. Schürch and Carsten Riether have contributed equally to this work. Acute and chronic myeloid leukemia (AML, CML) are hematologic malignancies arising from oncogene-transformed hematopoietic stem/progenitor cells known as leukemia stem cells (LSCs). LSCs are selectively resistant to various forms of therapy including irradiation or cytotoxic drugs. The introduction of tyrosine kinase inhibitors has dramatically improved disease outcome in patients with CML. For AML, however, prognosis is still quite dismal. Standard treatments have been established more than 20 years ago with only limited advances ever since. Durable remission is achieved in less than 30% of patients. Minimal residual disease (MRD), reflected by the persistence of LSCs below the detection limit by conventional methods, causes a high rate of disease relapses. Therefore, the ultimate goal in the treatment of myeloid leukemia must be the eradication of LSCs. Active immunotherapy, aiming at the generation of leukemia-specific cytotoxicT cells (CTLs), may represent a powerful approach to target LSCs in the MRD situation. To fully activate CTLs, leukemia antigens have to be successfully captured, processed, and presented by mature dendritic cells (DCs). Myeloid progenitors are a prominent source of DCs under homeostatic conditions, and it is now well established that LSCs and leukemic blasts can give rise to "malignant" DCs. These leukemia-derived DCs can express leukemia antigens and may either induce anti-leukemic T cell responses or favor tolerance to the leukemia, depending on co-stimulatory or -inhibitory molecules and cytokines. This review will concentrate on the role of DCs in myeloid leukemia immunotherapy with a special focus on their generation, application, and function and how they could be improved in order to generate highly effective and specific anti-leukemic CTL responses. In addition, we discuss how DCbased immunotherapy may be successfully integrated into current treatment strategies to promote remission and potentially cure myeloid leukemias.

Keywords: dendritic cells, immunotherapy, active, myeloid leukemia, minimal residual disease, leukemia stem cells

INTRODUCTION

During the last century our molecular and mechanistic understanding of the immune system and the immunosurveillance of solid and hematological tumors has advanced extensively. For hematological tumors especially, the demonstration of the graftvs.-leukemia (GvL) effect of allogeneic hematopoietic stem cell transplantation (aHSCT) and donor lymphocyte infusions (DLIs), as well as the discovery of leukemia-associated antigens (LAAs) was of fundamental importance in order to translate, implement, and optimize immunotherapies against myeloid leukemias. Consequently, active and passive immunotherapy approaches, such as peptide- and dendritic cell (DC)-based vaccines using LAAs, monoclonal antibodies (mAbs), and the in vitro-generation of leukemia-specific cytotoxic T cells (CTLs) for adoptive transfer have recently yielded promising results in pre-clinical models and clinical trials (1–4). To maximize their efficacy, these immunotherapies have to be implemented into the treatment strategy in conjunction with standard treatments of care for each patient individually. Here, we summarize recent advances in DC-based active vaccination using LAAs and discuss this method as an attractive

supplementary immunotherapeutic strategy in the context of current standard treatments for myeloid leukemias.

CLASSIFICATION, EPIDEMIOLOGY, AND CLINICAL MANIFESTATIONS OF CML AND AML

Hematologic malignancies are neoplasms of the blood-forming system. Conceptually, these neoplasms can be divided into four different subsets (myeloid, lymphoid, mixed myelo-lymphoid, and histiocytic/dendritic neoplasms, see **Figure 1**) (5, 6). Myeloid neoplasms can be further grouped into acute myeloid leukemia (AML) and chronic myeloid disorders depending on the percentage of bone marrow (BM) infiltration by immature blasts. 20% and more infiltrating immature blasts define the cut-off criterion for AML. Chronic myeloid disorders such as chronic myeloid leukemia (CML) bear the risk of evolving into AML. Experimental studies revealed that myeloid leukemias in general are of clonal origin, suggesting genesis from a single leukemia stem cell [LSC, reviewed in Ref. (7)].

Chronic myeloid leukemia is caused by translocation of chromosomes 9 and 22 in a hematopoietic stem cell (HSC) resulting



in the formation of the constitutively active tyrosine kinase BCR/ABL1 and the subsequent generation of an LSC (8). CML is characterized by the overproduction and accumulation of mature, functionally impaired myeloid cells, predominantly granulocytes. CML represents about 15-20% of all leukemias in adulthood, affecting slightly more men than women (ratio ~1.8-1) (9). Its annual incidence is 1–2 cases per 100,000 for all age groups (10). This incidence is rising with age to 10-12 cases per 100,000 for people older than 80 years of age (Figure 2) (11). Without treatment, chronic phase CML inevitably evolves via an accelerated phase (12) into blast crisis, which is characterized by the presence of $\geq 20\%$ blasts in the blood or BM or the presence of extramedullary infiltrating blasts. In two thirds of cases, the blasts are of myeloid origin and the disease phenotype is similar to AML. The other third is of lymphoid origin. Blast crisis CML is highly resistant to treatment, and median survival of patients is approximately 4-8 months. The most common causes of death in blast crisis CML are bleedings and infections due to lack of a functional hematopoietic system (13). Because BCR/ABL1 is necessary and sufficient for the malignant phenotype, attempts to inhibit this kinase using small molecules have led to the discovery of the specific tyrosine kinase inhibitor (TKI) Imatinib (14). Since its introduction into clinics in 2001, Imatinib became the gold standard in CML therapy and has replaced cytarabin/interferon (IFN)- α combination therapy (15). Imatinib is the first-line therapy of choice for nearly all newly diagnosed CML patients (16). Second- and third-generation TKIs



with superior efficacy, also against mutated forms of BCR/ABL1, are currently tested in clinical trials (17–20). Even though TKI treatment stabilizes the disease during the chronic phase, a small percentage of patients will progress to accelerated phase and blast crisis (21). Besides TKIs, which have demonstrated long-term disease control and very good tolerability, the only other treatment option that may be considered for CML is aHSCT. Today, aHSCT is the only treatment with proven ability to cure CML (22).

In contrast to CML, AML is an aggressive and fatal disease caused by an increased proliferation and a block in differentiation capacity of myeloid blasts. With an annual incidence of three to five cases per 100,000 (m:f ratio, 3:2), AML is the most frequent myeloid leukemia in adults (10). Compared to CML, the agedependent rise in AML incidence is even more drastic to peak at 20–23 cases per 100,000 in the geriatric population (Figure 2) (11). Besides age and sex, known risk factors for myeloid leukemias include exposure to ionizing radiation, benzene (e.g., cigarette smoking) and previous cytotoxic chemotherapy (23, 24). Despite the tremendous efforts that have been made to classify AML based on cytogenetic and molecular markers (25), AML treatment basically remained unimproved in the last 20 years and consists of induction cytotoxic chemotherapy ("3 + 7") scheme with cytarabin and an anthracycline), with minor modifications for elderly patients, therapy-related AML, and relapsed or therapy-resistant disease. The only exception is t(15;17)-associated acute promyelocytic leukemia (APL), which is treated with a differentiating agent, all-trans retinoic acid (ATRA) in combination with standard chemotherapy (23, 26). In face of these highly toxic chemotherapies, on average less than 30% of AML patients survive long-term. The prognosis for "elderly" patients (defined by the age of 65 or more in most studies) is even more dismal. Treatment failure may occur due to therapy-related complications, such as infections, toxicity, and tumor lysis syndrome. More importantly, the high disease relapse rate after a first remission is the major problem clinicians are confronted with in AML therapy (23). Relapse is thought to be caused by a therapy-resistant neoplastic cell reservoir slumbering in the BM, a situation referred to as minimal residual disease (MRD). It is likely that MRD represents the persistence of quiescent, therapy-resistant LSCs in the BM. Therefore, after a first remission is achieved, post-remission chemotherapy and/or aHSCT is needed to control LSCs (27).

LEUKEMIA STEM CELLS AND THE PROBLEM OF MINIMAL RESIDUAL DISEASE

The goal of therapy in myeloid leukemia is to induce a durable complete remission (CR). For chronic phase CML, this is most often relatively easily achieved by TKI treatment; however, this therapy only eliminates the bulk of leukemia cells, whereas LSCs are spared. It is thought that CML LSCs are not completely addicted to BCR/ABL1, and several studies have shown survival of CML LSCs in the presence of Imatinib *in vitro* and *in vivo* [(28) and reviewed in Ref. (20)].

For AML, induction poly-chemotherapy may result in a labile CR that has to be consolidated by aHSCT or post-remission chemotherapy. If this treatment is omitted, relapse will often occur rapidly due to persistence of MRD below the cytological detection limit of ~ 10^9 cells (23).

Whereas CML LSCs are relatively well characterized as lineage-negative (lin⁻) $CD34^+CD38^-$ cells, the definition of the immunophenotype of AML LSCs is currently controversially discussed. Generally, LSCs are defined as a rare cell population with the capability of self-renewal, extensive proliferation, induction of leukemia, and serial transplantation capacity in xenografts as well as resistance to various treatments. Seminal studies by John Dick et al. using severe combined immunodeficiency (SCID) or

non-obese diabetic (NOD)/SCID mice in the 1990s revealed that AML stem cells reside within the lin⁻ CD34⁺ CD38⁻ fraction, as the initiation of AML of all subtypes (except APL) was only possible with purified lin⁻ CD34⁺ CD38⁻ cells, but not with purified lin⁻ CD34⁺ CD38⁺ cells. The leukemias produced in these mouse models closely resembled the original human diseases, providing evidence that AML stem cells have long-term selfrenewal capability and determine the leukemia's phenotype (29, 30). Based on these experiments, the authors hypothesized that leukemias are hierarchically organized in a similar way as the normal blood-forming system and that the normal HSC would most likely be the cell-of-origin that is malignantly transformed during leukemogenesis. Subsequently, many groups tried to refine the immunophenotype of AML LSCs, and several additional markers were characterized (31-36). However, findings from a recent study by Sarry et al. have questioned this strict definition of LSCs by immunophenotype. These authors showed that CD34 expression in AML is highly variable, classifying their patients into 3 groups based on the extent of CD34 expression. Importantly, LSCs were found in all samples, even in CD34 negative ones, and in some patients also in a cell population expressing low amounts of lineage markers. Therefore, these authors suggest that the absolute distribution of LSCs does not necessarily correlate with their phenotypic distribution so that even though LSCs are enriched in certain fractions of cells, such as lin^{neg}CD38^{neg} cells, the relative rarity of these populations implies that the absolute number of LSCs may be higher in other cell fractions (37). In addition, the incubation of leukemia cells with antibodies targeting surface markers, such as anti-CD38, may reduce the engraftment capacity of leukemia-initiating cells expressing these markers, even further complicating the analysis of human LSCs (37, 38).

In addition to the challenging task of characterizing an LSC phenotype in AML, there is no standard definition for MRD. MRD may well serve as an indicator for the quality of the response to the treatment and may be a prognostic parameter for disease relapse and the choice and effectiveness of post-remission treatment strategy (39). Whereas CR is conventionally defined by pathologists as the absence (<5%) of blasts in the BM, the establishment of a definition for MRD is much more difficult. First, a significant proportion of AML patients lack molecular markers, such as FLT3-ITD, NPMmut, or chromosomal translocations that would allow monitoring MRD by molecular methods after induction chemotherapy. Second, the time point at which patients should first be tested for MRD and the time interval of serial monitoring is controversially discussed (40). Feller et al. suggested an interval of 3 months for MRD testing by flow cytometry (41). Third, the best method to quantify MRD is still a matter of debate. At the moment, real-time RT-PCR for molecular markers and immunophenotype using multi-parameter flow cytometry are comparable in terms of sensitivity and specificity; however, therapy-related changes in these parameters may limit the clinical applicability (42). Fourth, the level of transcript as measured by RT-PCR or number of cells as measured by flow cytometry defining the threshold for MRD⁺ vs. MRD⁻ has to be validated in prospective studies. And last, the question remains whether peripheral blood can replace BM as the source of cells, which is a relative prerequisite for the feasibility of such studies (39, 40). In summary, all these questions should be addressed during the design of future studies on MRD therapy.

MYELOID LEUKEMIAS AND THE IMMUNE SYSTEM

Clinical and experimental observations suggested that myeloid leukemias are partly controlled by the immune system (43). Leukemia cells express major histocompatibility class (MHC)-I and -II molecules and co-stimulatory ligands, such as CD80 and CD86, and therefore may be recognized by T cells and induce potent T cell responses (44–48). In addition, myeloid leukemias respond to unspecific immune-mediated therapies such as IFN- α and interleukin (IL)-2 (49, 50). Furthermore, aHSCT, a treatment with proven ability to cure myeloid leukemias, is in fact an immunotherapy exploiting the allogeneic T and NK cell-mediated GvL effect, which is absent in syngeneic HSCT (22, 51, 52). In addition, it was shown that patients receiving T cell depleted aHSCT grafts had a greater risk of disease relapse, and DLIs from original donors led to CR in most of the patients suffering from disease relapse (53–56).

An interesting example of endogenous immunosurveillance was observed in non-transplanted pediatric AML patients. Montagna et al. demonstrated that stable remission after cytotoxic chemotherapy was associated with the emergence of leukemiaspecific CTL precursors in the BM. All patients that had high numbers of CTL precursors remained in remission, whereas the majority of patients with no CTL precursors relapsed (57).

Leukemic cells can be controlled either via specific major histocompatibility complex (MHC-restricted) mechanisms or via less specific incompatibilities in minor histocompatibility genes (58). Indeed, CTLs directed against leukemia antigens have been detected in the peripheral blood of chronic phase CML patients (59, 60) and have been shown to kill CML target cells in vitro via Fas-receptor triggering (61). Similar anti-leukemic CTL responses have also been documented in AML (62). In contrast, blast crisis CML cells are refractory to Fas-ligand induced apoptosis, regardless of the expression levels of Fas-receptor, suggesting that an immune-mediated selection by CTLs could result in the acquisition of Fas resistance (63). A further line of evidence that CML is controlled by CTLs comes from our own studies in a murine CML model using the glycoprotein of lymphocytic choriomeningitis virus (LCMV) as a model tumor-antigen. CML-specific CTLs were present in CML-bearing mice and displayed an exhausted phenotype as analyzed by low cytotoxicity, absence of IFN- γ and TNF- α production and expression of programed death-1 (PD-1). Nevertheless, these CTLs contributed to disease control, as depletion of $CD8^+$ T cells led to rapid disease progression and death (64). We documented that leukemia-specific CTLs are able to interact with and kill CML LSCs in vitro and in vivo in a setting with minimal leukemia load. In contrast, in a clinically relevant setting of high leukemia load, CTLs did not kill LSCs but promoted their proliferation by secreting high amounts of IFN- γ (65). In addition, we demonstrated that CD70-expressing T cells stimulate CD27-expressing LSCs in a cell-contact-dependent manner: ligation of CD27 on LSCs by CD70 on T cells reinforced the Wnt-pathway in LSCs, leading to LSC proliferation and disease progression (66). Thus, as it has been shown for other tumors, the immune system interacts with leukemia (stem) cells and may as well play a paradoxical role in promoting disease progression (67).

The role of CD4⁺ T cells in the control of CML has been studied less intensively (68). CD4⁺ T cells isolated from the BM of CML patients were able to suppress autologous hematopoietic progenitor cells in a contact-dependent manner (69). DLIs, depleted of CD8⁺ T cells to reduce the side effects of GvHD, were able to induce remissions in aHSCT-treated CML patients after disease relapse. This led to the hypothesis that CD4⁺ T cells are the main effectors of the GVL effect, whereas CD8⁺ T cells are mainly responsible for GVHD (70). Endogenous CD4⁺ T cells, however, might be dysfunctional in vivo, as they have a normal intrinsic cytokine-producing ability only in vitro, but not in the leukemia environment (71). However, CD4⁺ T cells may be important in the setting of aHSCT. CD8⁺ T cell-depleted DLI, administered to patients after aHSCT, induced a low rate of remissions and of GvHD (70). Therefore, CD4⁺ T cells are also potentially involved in the GvL effect in CML patients. On the other hand, CD8⁺ T cells may serve as important effectors of GvHD without being essential for GvL.

The roles of B cells and NK cells in the control of CML remain controversial. BCR/ABL1 junctional peptides could induce production of specific antibodies to BCR/ABL1 (72). In addition, it was noted that CD4⁺ DLIs increased the numbers of circulating B cells in patients at the time of clinical response (73). Although antibodies recognizing many distinct leukemia antigens were discovered (74), the impact of antibodies on malignant CML cells remains elusive. NK cells were shown to selectively lyse CML progenitor cells *in vitro* (75). In accelerated CML and blast crisis, NK cell frequency, proliferation, and lytic function seems to decline, but it is currently unclear whether this decline is a cause rather than an effect of disease progression (76, 77). Moreover, donorvs.-recipient NK cell alloreactivity could eliminate leukemia in human transplants (78).

Chronic myeloid leukemia patients have significantly reduced numbers of circulating myeloid and plasmacytoid DCs (pDCs) compared to healthy volunteers (79, 80). However, BCR/ABL1expressing DCs have been detected in the peripheral blood of CML patients suggesting that CML derived DCs may possibly contribute to anti-leukemic immunity (81,82). BCR/ABL1-expressing DCs could be generated from peripheral blood mononuclear cells (PBMCs) or CD34⁺ progenitor cells of CML patients and were shown to have an impaired capacity to capture and process antigens and an impaired migratory capacity compared to DCs derived from healthy controls (83–85). In addition, leukemic DCs were shown to produce TNF- α and IL-8 (86). However, contradictory results about the maturation status of BCR/ABL1 DCs have been published (81, 82).

In summary, it seems plausible that innate as well as adaptive immunity play an important role in the control of myeloid leukemias.

IMMUNE EVASION MECHANISMS

Myeloid leukemias employ several strategies to compromise antileukemic immune responses. DCs originating from myeloid leukemia progenitor cells have been found *in vivo* in leukemia patients and were shown to be abnormal in numbers and function (80-82, 87). Leukemia-derived DCs (L-DCs) displayed reduced antigen-capture and processing capacity, a low maturation status and an aberrant homing pattern when compared to normal DCs (86, 88). Furthermore, L-DCs promoted T cell anergy and the generation of regulatory T (Treg) cells instead of inducing CTLs (89-91). Tregs are increased in myeloid leukemias (92, 93), are associated with an unfavorable outcome (94), correlate with disease relapse after aHSCT (95) and impede the function of adoptively transferred CTLs (96). Leukemic blasts express high levels of co-inhibitory molecules and interact poorly with T cells due to an impaired formation of immune synapse (97, 98). AML and CML cells for example express the ligands for programed death-1 (PD-L1, PD-L2), which interact with PD-1 expressed on T cells (64, 65, 99, 100). Accordingly, we recently demonstrated that CML LSCs express PD-L1 and PD-L2 as well (65). A further mechanism leukemic cells use to interfere with the immune system is the presentation of MHC class II-associated invariant chain-derived peptide (CLIP). CLIP expression on AML blasts predicts poor clinical outcome (101) and disturbs the activation of leukemiaspecific CD4⁺ T cells (102), most probably by interfering with the loading and presentation of LAAs (103). Interestingly, CLIP could also promiscuously bind to various MHC class I types in leukemia cells deficient of MHC class II, a feature that could hamper CTL-mediated leukemia immunosurveillance (104).

The role of tumor necrosis factor (TNF) and TNF-receptor superfamily members in the pathophysiology of leukemia has recently been documented. Glucocorticoid-induced TNFR-related protein ligand (GITRL) was shown to be expressed in a majority of AML cell lines and blasts from patient samples. Reverse signaling of GITRL in AML cells induced the release of TNF and IL-10, and triggering of GITR expressed on NK cells impaired NK cell cytotoxic function and IFN- γ production (105). AML cells exploit further signaling axes of the TNF/TNFR superfamily, such as the 4-1BB-ligand/4-1BB (CD137L-CD137) pathway and the receptor activator of nuclear factor kappa B (RANK)-ligand RANK pathway (106, 107) to inhibit the immune system in a similar way as described for GITR. Furthermore, we could recently document a role for the TNFR CD27 on proliferation of CML LSCs and CML progression (66). Blocking inhibitory pathways holds promise for clinical development. Among them are FAS-ligand that induces apoptosis of FAS-expressing T cells, CD200 that directly inhibits T and NK cells, reactive oxygen species (ROS) that induce lymphocyte apoptosis, killer-cell immunoglobulin-like receptors (KIR) that suppress NK cells and indoleamine 2,3-dioxygenase (IDO) that depletes tryptophan required for T cell expansion or IL-10 that potently suppresses T cell activation [reviewed in Ref. (27)]. Besides inhibiting the adaptive immune system, it was recently demonstrated that leukemic cells are able to block programed cell removal by innate immune cells, thereby overcoming a further regulatory mechanism that normally limits cancer growth. The up-regulation of so-called "don't eat me" signals on blasts and leukemia stem cells (LSC), such as CD47 and CD200, precludes apoptosis-independent phagocytosis by macrophages. In addition to enable the propagation of the malignant cells, this mechanism likely allows metastatic circulating cancer cells to survive in niches rich in phagocytes, such as the spleen and lymph nodes (108, 109).

These and further immunosuppressive mechanisms remain major hurdles to be overcome in order to successfully implement DC-based immunotherapy in the treatment of leukemia. Interfering with negative immune regulators may effectively improve DC-based immunotherapy, as has been shown by silencing the suppressor of cytokine signaling 1 (SOCS1) or the immunosuppressive cytokine IL-10, which enhanced antigen-presentation and secretion of IL-12 by DCs and triggered an effective anti-tumoral immune response (110–112).

CROSS-PRIMING OF CTLs BY DCs

Cross-presentation is fundamental for the maintenance of peripheral tolerance and the induction of cross-priming. The concept of cross-presentation defines the processes of antigen uptake and processing and presentation on MHC class I by professional APCs to CTLs (113, 114), whereas cross-priming describes the stimulation and activation of naïve CTLs by this process (115). According to our current understanding that is primarily derived from viral infection models, CTL cross-priming takes place in secondary lymphoid organs (116). Antigen-experienced, matured DCs migrate and transport the viral antigen from the infection site for cross-presentation to secondary lymphoid structures (117).

The crucial factor for DCs to tune CTL activation is their maturation status (118). Several studies demonstrated that the presence of appropriate inflammatory and co-stimulatory maturation signals, such as pathogen-associated molecular patterns (PAMPs), TLR ligands, type I IFNs, CD80/CD86, and CD70 (119, 120) as well as CD40 ligand (CD154) provided by CD4⁺ T cells ("DC licensing") is essential for DCs to properly activate CTLs in viral infections (118). It is well documented that solid and hematological tumor microenvironments contain DCs in mice and men [reviewed in Ref. (121)]. These microenvironments, however, lack DC-activating and DC migration-inducing factors (122) and harbors a multitude of immunosuppressive molecules such as TGF^β and IL-10 that impair DC maturation, migration and antigen (cross-) presentation [reviewed in Ref. (123)]. AML blasts can generate an immunosuppressive microenvironment that hinders effective adaptive as well as innate immune responses (124-127), such as by the secretion of arginase II resulting in T cell inhibition (124). Cross-presentation of the LAAs proteinase-3 and PR1 has also been shown in AML patients, but these antigens were presented by immature DCs resulting in tolerization of CTLs (128).

Therefore, even though there is compelling evidence that LAAs are cross-presented *in vitro* and *in vivo*, the question as to what extent the process of cross-priming contributes to anti-leukemic immunity is still highly controversial (114).

Nevertheless, fully functional CTLs are fundamental for the surveillance, control, and elimination of tumors (129, 130). Therefore, a better understanding of specific DC subsets in the anti-leukemic immune response and how cross-presentation of LAAs *in vivo* can be improved and consequently CTL dysfunction circumvented, may lead to improved vaccine-based immunotherapy against leukemia.

LEUKEMIA ANTIGENS

In order to achieve an optimal and effective immune response with a low rate of toxicity, leukemia antigens that are specifically expressed and presented by leukemia cells and not by healthy tissue have to be identified. In addition, these should be immunogenic and should critically account for the leukemic phenotype. Most importantly, however, these antigens should be expressed in LSCs, even though currently the phenotypic characterization of LSCs is controversial and elusive. The restricted numbers of clearly identified LAAs in leukemia remain a major obstacle for the use of these peptides in DC-based immunotherapy. In addition, the low affinity of these LAAs to bind MHC I, the short time of antigenpresentation on DCs as well as the lack of help by $CD4^+$ T cells may limit the capacity of these LAAs to induce an anti-tumoral immune response (131, 132).

The most specific leukemia antigens are peptides from aberrant proteins created by mutations or translocations only present in leukemia cells, such as the BCR/ABL1 tyrosine kinase in CML. These peptides are known as leukemia-specific antigens (LSAs). However, most of the leukemia-specific mutations and translocations do not give rise to proteins (133). Among the numerous chromosomal translocation that were characterized in AML, only a minor fraction such as AML1-ETO (133), DEK-CAN (134), and PML-RARa (135) gives rise to proteins that generate LSAs. In addition, only two mutations involving the fms-related tyrosine kinase (FLT) and nucleophosmin 1 (NPM1) have been shown to give rise to LSAs (136, 137). Therefore, most immunotherapy approaches in myeloid leukemia target LAAs, that is, peptides from proteins that are expressed in leukemic cells and also healthy tissues, but are often overexpressed in leukemia and important for the malignant phenotype. Consequently, the induction of autoimmunity is a potential risk if such LAAs are chosen as targets for an immunotherapy. As an additional limitation, T cell receptors recognizing antigens that are broadly expressed on healthy tissues in the body are usually of low affinity. Therefore, it is crucial to characterize the degree of LAA expression on normal tissues in order to envisage the multitude and characteristics of potential autoimmune reactions.

For AML, a multitude of LAAs has been described during the last two decades and has been validated as target for immunotherapy [**Table 1** and reviewed in Ref. (133)]. These LAAs comprise proteinase-3, Wilms tumor protein (WT1) (62, 138–141), the receptor for hyaluronic acid-mediated motility [RHAMM/CD168 (142)] human telomerase reverse transcriptase [hTert (143)], preferentially expressed antigen in melanoma [PRAME (144, 145)], and Aurora-A kinase (146) (**Table 1**).

The most attractive and promising LAA is the tumorsuppressor gene and zinc finger transcription factor WT1. WT1 is a regulator of cell proliferation, differentiation, and apoptosis. In leukemia, WT1 has been shown to have a fundamental oncogenic role for leukemogenesis resulting in differentiation arrest and aberrant cell growth (147). WT1 was demonstrated to be immunogenic as it elicits a naturally occurring anti-tumoral immune response in cancer patients (148, 149). In addition, in a WT1 directed immunotherapeutic study, off-target toxicity effects have not been observed, indicating that WT1-expressing normal tissues are omitted from the response (150). However, in some AML patients no WT1-specific CTL response has been triggered even though objective responses and remissions have been elicited (141). Importantly, WT1 is expressed to a much lesser extent on normal HSCs than on leukemic blasts and LSCs in a majority of AML patients which characterizes WT1 as attractive target

Table 1 | Leukemia-associated antigens (LAAs) in myeloid leukemias.

Myeloid leukemia	LAA	Reference
AML	Aurora-A kinase	(146, 153, 154)
	BRAP	(160)
	Cyclin A1	(161)
	hTert	(143)
	HSJ2	(160)
	MPP11	(160)
	Neutrophil elastase (NE)	(166)
	PRAME	(144, 145, 162)
	PR1	(128, 139, 163, 164)
	Proteinase-3	(62, 164, 165)
	RBPJκ	(160)
	RHAMM/CD168	(142)
	WT1	(62, 139, 141, 148, 149, 151, 152)
CML	BRAP	(160)
	CML-28	(167–169)
	CML-66	(167–169)
	HAGE	(168)
	HSJ2	(160)
	MPP11	(160)
	PRAME	(144)
	PR1	(59, 139, 164, 169)
	Proteinase-3	(164, 165, 169)
	RBPJκ	(160)
	Survivin	(167–169)
	WT1	(139, 148, 149, 169–171)

AML, acute myeloid leukemia; BRAP, BRCA1-associated protein; CML, chronic myeloid leukemia; HAGE, helicase antigen; HSJ2, heat-shock 40 kDa protein 4; hTert, human telomerase reverse transcriptase; MPP11, M-phase phosphoprotein 11; PRAME, preferentially expressed antigen in melanoma; RBPJκ, recombination signal binding protein for immunoglobulin kappa J region; RHAMM, receptor for hyaluronic acid-mediated motility; WT1, Wilms tumor protein.

for immunotherapy in AML (151, 152). Consequently, WT1 is currently targeted in clinical T cell therapy and vaccination studies.

Importantly, in a curative approach LAAs have to be expressed on LSCs (146, 153, 154). One LAA in AML that is expressed on CD34⁺CD38⁻ AML "stem" cells compared to CD34⁺CD38⁺ AML progenitor cells and normal CD34⁺ stem/progenitor cells from healthy individuals is the serine/threonine kinase Aurora-A. Importantly, CD34⁺ leukemia progenitor cells but not normal CD34⁺ stem/progenitor cells were lysed by Aurora-A kinase-specific CTLs. Furthermore, blockade of Aurora-A kinase by a small-molecule inhibitors or shRNA impaired engraftment and improved survival of mice in an AML xenograft model (146, 153, 154).

In CML patients numerous LAAs such as WT1, proteinase-3, cancer-testis antigens like HAGE, minor histocompatibility antigens, hTert, CML-66, CML-28, and survivin were shown to be aberrantly expressed in the transformed CML cell (**Table 1**). Some LAAs such as hTert and survivin have a quite restricted

expression pattern and are not or only marginally expressed on normal non-dividing or terminally differentiated cells (143, 155). This makes hTert and survivin promising targets for DC-based immunotherapy.

The most prominent LSA in CML is the chimeric BCR/ABL1 fusion protein, an ideal target for immunotherapy (8). An elegant paper by Yotnda et al. identified a BCR/ABL1 junctional nonapeptide (SSKALQRPV) that binds to human leukocyte antigen (HLA)-A2.1 and elicits specific CTL responses *in vitro* in blood from healthy donors and CML patients. In 5 out of 21 CML patients, the investigators found high frequencies of junctional peptide-specific CTLs in the peripheral blood, suggesting an *in vivo*-immunogenicity of this peptide (156). Additional studies confirmed and extended the finding of immunogenic BCR/ABL1 junction peptides (157, 158). However, BCR/ABL1 is gives rise to a limited number of immunogenic epitopes due to only two chromosomal breakpoints (159). Furthermore the expression of the epitopes is restricted to HLA A2, A3, and B7 (158).

Since all the LAAs listed in **Table 1** are expressed to a greater extent on malignant cells than on their healthy counterparts, they represent suitable antigens for immunotherapeutic approaches.

IMMUNOTHERAPY FOR MYELOID LEUKEMIAS

Nowadays, immunotherapy covers a huge spectrum of distinct experimental procedures in order to specifically eliminate cancer cells while minimizing harm to normal tissue to limit side effects (172). However, up to now only few approaches have entered clinical routine such as unspecific immune stimulation by Bacillus Calmette–Guérin (BCG) instillations to treat non-muscle invasive bladder cancer after surgical ablation (173) or the immunomodulating anti-CTLA4 mAb Ipilimumab for metastatic melanoma or prostate cancer (174), as well as aHSCT for the treatment of myeloid leukemias (175) and the prostate antigen-specific DCbased vaccine Sipuleucel-T (Provenge®) for hormone-refractory prostate cancer (176).

The intention of active cancer immunotherapy is to mount an endogenous adaptive immune response against a tumor by directly injecting tumor-antigens together with adjuvants ("peptide vaccines") or by *ex vivo*-generation of cancer-specific DCs ("DC vaccines") and to form CTL memory in order to sustain remission (177). For AML and CML, numerous studies extensively investigated the clinical potential of this approach. Administration of autologous DCs loaded via electroporation with mRNA of the LAA WT1 resulted in CR in 50% of AML patients in a phase I/II study (141). Importantly, CR was achieved in two patients that only had partial remission after chemotherapy, indicating the feasibility and clinical potential of this approach. In contrast, in a clinical phase I study, autologous monocyte-derived DCs (mDCs) previously cultured in the presence of AML failed to induce a clinical response in relapsed AML patients (178).

Recently, a better understanding of immunosurveillance paved the way for the development of new immunotherapeutic approaches and their implementation in the clinics. Among these, immune checkpoint inhibition is most advanced in melanoma patients and anti-CTLA4 blockade was actually the first therapy that improved survival of patients suffering from metastatic melanoma (174). A recent hallmark immunotherapeutic study using a dual mAb treatment approach to block the immune checkpoint regulators CTLA-4 and programed death-1 (PD-1) using Ipilimumab and Nivolumab, respectively, resulted in persistent tumor regression in advanced melanoma patients (179). AML and CML cells also express the ligands for PD-1 (PD-L1, PD-L2), which interact with PD-1 expressed on T cells (64, 65, 99, 100). Accordingly, we recently demonstrated that CML LSCs express PD-L1 and PD-L2 as well (65). In addition, we recently demonstrated that blocking PD-1 signaling results in improved CML control in pre-clinical mouse models (64).

Furthermore, chimeric antigen receptor (CAR) T cells for adoptive T cell therapy (ACT) proved their clinical potential in leukemia patients. In addition, ACT with CAR T cells overcame the obstacle to generate sufficient numbers of high avidity LAA-specific T cells in vitro and long-term persistence, memory formation, and migration in vivo. Chronic lymphocytic leukemia (CLL) patients treated with a low number of CAR T cells targeting CD19 and containing the co-stimulatory signaling domain of CD137 exhibited a CR. Importantly, CAR T cells extensively expanded and showed a CD19-specific immune response as well as long-term persistence with an effector memory phenotype in peripheral blood and BM without the need to trigger an anti-leukemic immune response by professional APCs. This phenotype consequently allows potential expansion upon secondary encounter with CLL cells and prevention of relapse (180). Furthermore, two children with relapsed and refractory pre-B cell ALL treated with CD19-specific CAR T cells were reported to have achieved CR (181). For myeloid leukemias a clinical application of CAR T cells has not yet been documented. However, CAR T cells targeting isoform 6 of CD44 (CD44v6) that is expressed by AML cells (182) but not by HSCs and at low levels on normal cells (183) mediated potent anti-tumor effects against primary AML in a pre-clinical AML model (184). In addition, clinical phase I/II studies (NCT01640301, NCT01621724) using ACT of T cells carrying a TCR specific for the LAA WT1 in AML patients are ongoing. These trials are essential to further determine if safety and efficacy of this promising immunotherapeutic approach also holds true for the treatment of AML patients.

DC-BASED IMMUNOTHERAPY IN LEUKEMIA

Because of their excellent ability to activate T cells, DCs are considered as one of the most promising tools for tumor-antigen delivery in active cancer immunotherapy and they are ideal candidates to supply foreign tumor-antigen in the form of a DC-based vaccine or for the generation of tumor-antigen-specific CTLs *in vitro* (185). Clinical studies have used various precursor cells in order to manufacture sufficient *ex vivo* tumor-antigen loaded DCs for immunotherapeutic purposes (186). However, the different methods in manufacturing those DCs and the notion that the generated DCs differed in function and phenotype resulted in need for the standardization of DC vaccines.

To vaccinate AML patients with DCs in order to induce an optimal, long-lasting anti-leukemic CTL response, several issues have to be considered:

First, the type and origin of DCs used to treat the patient has to be defined. DCs can either be generated from patient-derived CD34⁺ cells or CD14⁺ monocytes *in vitro*. They can be directly positively selected from the patient's PBMCs (*ex vivo*) and are differentiated in the presence of various cytokines which improves

DC-based immunotherapy for myeloid leukemias

the LAA loading onto these DCs (177). Additionally, naturally circulating DCs can be loaded and activated in vivo using mAbs targeting SIGLEC H conjugated to an LAA in combination with CpG nucleotides (187, 188). In leukemia patients, especially in AML patients, the presence of blast-derived leukemic DCs was extensively documented (80-82, 87). Consequently, a promising method of generating L-DCs is to differentiate blasts from AML patients into DCs ex vivo. This method allows circumventing the loading of the DCs with LAAs. The application of these AML-derived DCs in a clinical setting is still poorly developed. Especially, the generation of sufficient numbers of AML-derived DCs is challenging. Only 25% of the initial AML cells cultured can be converted into AML-derived DCs. In addition, AML-derived DCs can only be generated in around 40% of AML patients due to AML-specific mutations (e.g., Flt-ITD) or the lack of CD14 expression that prevent the conversion of blasts into AML-derived DCs (189, 190). Nonetheless, the tolerability of this therapeutic approach and the induction of an anti-leukemic immune response in patients have been already reported. Despite these positive reports, the clinical benefit of the DC vaccine is only marginal (191). Therefore, the current DC-based cancer immunotherapy protocols using AML-derived DCs are optimized and standardized in order to allow generating sufficient AML-derived DCs (192, 193) with an improved potential to prime and activate CTLs and increase their cytolytic capacity (194, 195).

The other critical factors determining the success of DCs in AML immunotherapy besides the generation of sufficient numbers of DCs are (1) the selection of the proper LAA (discussed later), (2) the method applied for loading the respective leukemia antigen onto the DCs, and (3) the strong activation of DCs necessary to provide sufficient co-stimulatory signal for efficient T cell activation and to prevent T cell tolerization.

Originally, mDCs have been cultured together with AML cell lysates or immunogenic apoptotic/necrotic AML cells to ensure LAA loading [Figure 3 (185)]. As an additional approach, AML blast-mDC cell-fusion hybrids have been generated in vitro [Figure 3 (196)]. Importantly, all these multi-epitope approaches might deliver a variety of known and unknown LAAs to the DCs. In addition, these approaches circumvent the need for previous identification of the LAAs. On the other hand, co-culturing or fusion approaches might negatively impact the antigen uptake and processing and/or the maturation of DCs because of immunosuppressive factors stored in or produced by AML cells, such as TGF- β (185). Nevertheless, Herr et al. have shown that tumor cell lysate-loaded DCs were superior to DCs loaded with eluted peptides in inducing an anti-tumoral immune response against an EBV⁺ B lymphoblastic cell line (197). Nowadays, pre-clinical and clinical approaches favor the loading of DCs with peptides from LAAs or LSAs such as WT1, Survivin, PML-RARa, etc. via peptide pulsing or electroporation and mRNA loading [Figure 3 (191)]. Most of the studies using one of these loading methods reported activation and expansion of HLA-compatible CTLs in vitro resulting in killing and eliminating of the leukemia cells, indicating a reasonable rationale to apply mDC immunotherapy in a clinical setting irrespective of the antigen loading method. However, the use of single antigens poses the risk of immunoediting and the escape of antigen-loss variants (198). Especially, the technique of



FIGURE 3 | Different strategies for the generation and administration of DC-based vaccines in AML. (1) (A) Leukemia-derived DCs can be directly generated by isolation and differentiation from AML blasts in vitro. (B) CD14⁺ monocytes from patients or healthy donors are differentiated into monocyte-derived DCs (mDCs). These mDCs are cultured together with (C) AML cell lysates or immunogenic apoptotic/necrotic AML cells (185) or (D) are electroporated with mRNA from AML cells (191) to ensure leukemia antigen loading. (E) As an additional in vitro approach, AML blast-mDC cell-fusion hybrids are artificially generated (196). (F) The DCs are then injected s.c. or i.v. into AML patients. (2) DCs can also be loaded and activated in vivo (188). DCs express the endocytosis receptor SIGLEC. Intravenous administration of an aSIGLEC H mAb conjugated to a leukemia antigen in the presence of CpG results in DC activation, antigen uptake and presentation. (3) Plasmacytoid DCs isolated from AML patients are activated and loaded with leukemia antigens ex vivo and are re-injected intralymphatically into lymph nodes (201). Ab, antibody; Ag, antigen; i.v. intravenously; pDCs, plasmacytoid DCs. s.c., subcutaneously.

mRNA electroporation offers several advantages to overcome this issue: (1) simultaneous loading and presentation of multiple LAA epitopes without any risk for insertional mutagenesis due to the only transient mRNA expression (199); (2) expression of multiple patient-specific LAAs at once, when electroporation is performed with whole AML cell lysate mRNA (200); and (3) the possibility of combination with other loading methods (200).

For optimal DC activation and antigen processing of *in vitro* generated DCs, different cocktails of cytokines and TLR ligands

have been tested. Usually, patient-derived monocytes are cultured in the presence of IL-4 and granulocyte-monocyte colony stimulating factor (GM-CSF) for several days, followed by a short course of DC maturation using TLRs, pro-inflammatory cytokines such as TNF-α, IL-1β, IL-6, prostaglandin E2, and/or CD40 ligand (202). Similar procedures have been applied for AML blast-derived DCs (185, 203-210). However, the effects of these in vitro culture and maturation conditions on the ability of DCs to capture, process and present antigen, on their T cell activating potential and on their in vivo migratory function are not fully understood (177). For example, the replacement of IL-4 by IL-15 during the differentiation phase was shown to enhance the immunostimulatory properties of DCs with a phenotype and characteristics of Langerhans cells (LCs), which are per se far more efficient in antigen-presentation and T cell priming in vitro. (211, 212). In addition, it was demonstrated that DCs matured conventionally in the presence of pro-inflammatory cytokines are unable to produce IL-12 *in vivo*, a cytokine that is essential for $CD4^+$ T_H1 cells differentiation. Maturation in the presence of the TLR7/8 agonist R848 restored IL-12 secretion, improved cell migration and led to more robust induction of anti-leukemic immune responses in vitro (202, 213, 214).

Tracking of labeled and intradermally administered DCs in patients revealed that less than 1% of the DCs are migrating into the adjacent lymph nodes (215). In order to circumvent the drawbacks of in vitro DC generation and their poor migration into lymph nodes, in a clinical study of DC-based immunotherapy in melanoma, Tel and colleagues directly isolated human pDCs and injected them intralymphatically into the inguinal lymph nodes after ex vivo activation and loading (201). pDCs, specialized DCs that are characterized by rapid and massive secretion of type I IFNs in response to foreign nucleic acids, have been shown to successfully mediate an interplay of innate and adaptive immune responses by activating other DCs and inducing cross-priming (216-218). Compared to subcutaneous injections, intralymphatic immunotherapy substantially reduces the amount of vaccine necessary and the duration of immunization. This approach has already proven effective for the treatment of allergies [Figure 3 (219)]. Therefore, pDCs and/or intralymphatic injection protocols may become crucial players in eliciting anti-leukemic immunity.

By now, it is unfortunately not fully elaborated which DC subset is most suitable for DC-based immunotherapy. The identification of this subset, the optimal route of administration, the optimal dose, the optimal antigen, and conditioning in order to maximize the efficacy of the treatment is pivotal for the success of treatment. Therefore, future studies have to fully aim at the functional characterization of different DC subsets in terms of T cell (cross-) priming, migration capacity, cytokine production, halflife etc. in order to maximize the clinical benefit of the therapy. The fundamental challenge in the treatment of AML remains the prevention of clinical relapse of the patients. The generation of clinical grade AML-derived DCs from AML patients in remission has been reported (220) and may consequently serve as a potential strategy in order to avoid a potential relapse (Figure 4). In addition, results from recent clinical phase I/II studies treating AML patients in remission with clinical grade DCs generated

with different protocols highlight the importance of the selection of the antigen, the loading approach as well as the time of administration as fundamental success criteria for DC-based immunotherapy in AML.

CLINICAL TRIALS

Currently, several peptides derived from LAAs are under clinical investigation for myeloid leukemia patients in current vaccination trials. Ongoing or recruiting DC vaccination trials in phase I and II use either different WT1 derived peptides (NCT01686334, NCT00834002, NCT00672152, NCT01266083), the proteinase-3derived peptide PR1 (NCT00454168), the peptides MAGE-A1, MAGE-A3, and NY-ESO-1 (NCT01483274) or a combination of WT1 and PR1 (NCT00433745, NCT00488592). These trials primarily include patients that just underwent aHSCT, elderly patients or patients in first remission. Interestingly, one study that has been completed recently applied a vaccination protocol with lethally irradiated autologous AML cells that were genetically modified to secrete human GM-CSF in order to enhance LAA presentation (NCT00136422). Another trial that aimed at up-regulating LAA presentation additionally administered the hypomethylating drug decitabine (NCT01483274). More and more studies use DC vaccination in combination with other drugs or cytokines. For example, in a clinical phase II study, CML patients in remission are treated with PR1 peptide vaccine in combination with pegylated IFN-α2b (PegIntron[®], NCT00415857). Another approach combines a DC cell/AML fusion vaccine with the blockade of PD-1 (NCT01096602).

All these clinical trials have proven that DC-based immunotherapies in leukemia are safe and have hardly any side effects. Unfortunately, this good tolerability is accompanied by a rather minor clinical benefit in terms of response rate or other important clinical outcome parameters (191). From immunotherapy trials in solid tumors we have learned that the established response criteria for chemotherapy, such as the "RECIST criteria," may not be appropriate for immunotherapy approaches. This may also hold true for leukemia. Reduction of leukemia load or remission in the BM shortly after the treatment may not be the appropriate readout to judge the efficacy of an active immunotherapy that needs time to be established and may contribute to a long-term control of the disease. In addition, suitable biomarkers that are predictive for a response to an immunotherapy are still lacking (177). Therefore, future studies also have to focus on the generation of adequate readouts and the identification of defined biomarkers for the monitoring of DC-based immunotherapy in leukemia. Furthermore, most clinical studies carried out so far enrolled leukemia patients with a high leukemia burden. In these studies, at least some of the patients showed a minor clinical benefit. Importantly, applying DC-based immunotherapy to patients with a lower leukemia burden or MRD might result in better responses.

CONCLUDING REMARKS

During the last decade, the combined efforts of researchers to treat myeloid leukemia unraveled a multitude of LAAs suitable for DCbased immunotherapy. Consequently, DC-based immunotherapy slowly progresses into the clinical treatment of leukemia.



treatment of AML. Induction cytotoxic chemotherapy ("3 + 7" scheme with cytarabin and an anthracycline) results in a labile complete remission (CR) that has to be consolidated by post-remission chemotherapy. Nonetheless, many patients harbor persistent LSCs after a CR (referred to as MRD), which may cause disease relapse. Therefore, strategies such as aHSCT (only for a minor fraction of patients) or immunotherapy have to be implemented to

The rapid development in the field allowed the design of phase I and II studies with different DC vaccination protocols. DC-based vaccination often resulted in the induction of potent anti-leukemic CTL responses. The benefit for the patient in these studies in terms of response to treatment was rather limited. Nevertheless, DC vaccination protocols remain a promising supplementary strategy in the treatment of leukemia, and future improvements will reveal their full potential. In order to improve DC-based vaccination for clinical routine, several issues still have to be solved. Most importantly, an optimal timing for the vaccination during the course of disease has to be defined. Current literature and our own experiments indicate that immunotherapy may be most effective in the state of MRD after successful induction sustain CR. Importantly, DC-based immunotherapy targeting AML-specific LAAs alone or in combination with immune checkpoint inhibitors such as anti-CTLA-4 or anti-PD-1 mAbs might be a promising approach to treat patients and to target and eliminate LSCs. aHSCT, allogeneic hematopoietic stem cell transplantation; AML, acute myeloid leukemia; CTL, cytotoxic lymphocyte; CR, complete response; DC, dendritic cell; LAA, leukemia-associated antigen; MRD, minimal residual disease.

and post-remission chemotherapy. In parallel, MRD has to be better defined, characterized, and especially quantified by the introduction of more sophisticated molecular and flow cytometry techniques. Simultaneously, it is of extreme importance to quantitatively and functionally assess the degree of the anti-leukemic CTL response. Furthermore, the vaccination procedure, including the choice of LAA (or multiple LAAs); the source of DCs (mDCs, LCs, pDCs, or AML-derived DCs); the DC maturation protocol and the way of application (i.v. vs. s.c. vs. intralymphatical) have to be defined and standardized. Finally, the timing and application of potential co-treatments, including chemotherapy, aHSCT and immunomodulating agents has to be considered. Especially, combining DC-based immunotherapy with the blockade of immune checkpoint regulators such as PD-1 and/or CTLA-4 may represent a powerful tool for the treatment of leukemia.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

Adrian F. Ochsenbein is supported by grants from the Swiss National Science Foundation, the Swiss Cancer League, the Cancer League of the Canton of Bern, and the Werner und Hedy Berger-Janser-Stiftung. Christian M. Schürch is supported by the Gertrud Hagmann-Stiftung für Malignomforschung, the Fondazione Dr. Carlo Gianella and the Hans Altschüler-Stiftung. Carsten Riether is supported by the Sassella Foundation and the Fondation BIOS pour la Recherche.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

Christian M. Schürch and Carsten Riether wrote the manuscript and Adrian F. Ochsenbein revised the manuscript.

REFERENCES

- Galluzzi L, Senovilla L, Vacchelli E, Eggermont A, Fridman WH, Galon J, et al. Trial watch: dendritic cell-based interventions for cancer therapy. Oncoimmunology (2012) 1(7):1111–34. doi:10.4161/onci.21494
- Vacchelli E, Martins I, Eggermont A, Fridman WH, Galon J, Sautes-Fridman C, et al. Trial watch: peptide vaccines in cancer therapy. *Oncoimmunology* (2012) 1(9):1557–76. doi:10.4161/onci.22428
- Vacchelli E, Eggermont A, Fridman WH, Galon J, Tartour E, Zitvogel L, et al. Trial watch: adoptive cell transfer for anticancer immunotherapy. *Oncoimmunology* (2013) 2(5):e24238. doi:10.4161/onci.25595
- Vacchelli E, Eggermont A, Galon J, Sautes-Fridman C, Zitvogel L, Kroemer G, et al. Trial watch: monoclonal antibodies in cancer therapy. *Oncoimmunology* (2013) 2(1):e22789. doi:10.4161/onci.24612
- Swerdlow SH, Campo E, Harris NL, Jaffe ES, Pileri SA, Stein H, et al. editors. WHO Classification of Tumours of Haemopoietic and Lymphoid Tissues. Lyon: IARC Press (2008).
- Tefferi A. Overview of the Myeloproliferative Neoplasms. UpToDate: Waltham, MA (2013).
- Huntly BJ, Gilliland DG. Leukaemia stem cells and the evolution of cancer-stem-cell research. Nat Rev Cancer (2005) 5(4):311–21. doi:10.1038/ nrc1592
- Kavalerchik E, Goff D, Jamieson CH. Chronic myeloid leukemia stem cells. J Clin Oncol (2008) 26(17):2911–5. doi:10.1200/JCO.2008.17.5745
- Garcia-Manero G, Faderl S, O'Brien S, Cortes J, Talpaz M, Kantarjian HM. Chronic myelogenous leukemia: a review and update of therapeutic strategies. *Cancer* (2003) 98(3):437–57. doi:10.1002/cncr.11520
- Siegel R, Naishadham D, Jemal A. Cancer statistics, 2013. CA Cancer J Clin (2013) 63(1):11–30. doi:10.3322/caac.21166
- 11. SEER. *Surveillance Epidemiology and End Results*. Bethesda, MD: US National Cancer Institute & National Institutes of Health (2010).
- Sokal JE, Baccarani M, Russo D, Tura S. Staging and prognosis in chronic myelogenous leukemia. *Semin Hematol* (1988) 25(1):49–61.
- Calabretta B, Perrotti D. The biology of CML blast crisis. *Blood* (2004) 103(11):4010–22. doi:10.1182/blood-2003-12-4111
- Wong S, Witte ON. The BCR-ABL story: bench to bedside and back. *Annu Rev Immunol* (2004) 22:247–306. doi:10.1146/annurev.immunol.22.012703. 104753
- O'Brien SG, Guilhot F, Larson RA, Gathmann I, Baccarani M, Cervantes F, et al. Imatinib compared with interferon and low-dose cytarabine for newly diagnosed chronic-phase chronic myeloid leukemia. *N Engl J Med* (2003) 348(11):994–1004. doi:10.1056/NEJMoa022457
- Druker BJ, Guilhot F, O'Brien SG, Gathmann I, Kantarjian H, Gattermann N, et al. Five-year follow-up of patients receiving imatinib for chronic myeloid leukemia. N Engl J Med (2006) 355(23):2408–17. doi:10.1056/NEJMoa062867
- Kantarjian H, Shah NP, Hochhaus A, Cortes J, Shah S, Ayala M, et al. Dasatinib versus imatinib in newly diagnosed chronic-phase chronic myeloid leukemia. *N Engl J Med* (2010) 362(24):2260–70. doi:10.1056/NEJMoa1002315

- Saglio G, Kim DW, Issaragrisil S, le Coutre P, Etienne G, Lobo C, et al. Nilotinib versus imatinib for newly diagnosed chronic myeloid leukemia. N Engl J Med (2010) 362(24):2251–9. doi:10.1056/NEJMoa0912614
- Kantarjian HM, Shah NP, Cortes JE, Baccarani M, Agarwal MB, Undurraga MS, et al. Dasatinib or imatinib in newly diagnosed chronic-phase chronic myeloid leukemia: 2-year follow-up from a randomized phase 3 trial (DASISION). *Blood* (2012) 119(5):1123–9. doi:10.1182/blood-2011-08-376087
- O'Hare T, Zabriskie MS, Eiring AM, Deininger MW. Pushing the limits of targeted therapy in chronic myeloid leukaemia. *Nat Rev Cancer* (2012) 12(8):513–26. doi:10.1038/nrc3317
- 21. Negrin RS, Schiffer CA. *Treatment of Chronic Myeloid Leukemia in Accelerated Phase*. UpToDate: Waltham, MA (2013).
- Druker BJ, O'Brien SG, Cortes J, Radich J. Chronic myelogenous leukemia. *Hematol Am Soc Hematol Educ Program* (2002) 2002(1):111–35. doi:10.1182/ asheducation-2002.1.111
- 23. Estey E, Dohner H. Acute myeloid leukaemia. *Lancet* (2006) **368**(9550): 1894–907. doi:10.1016/S0140-6736(06)69780-8
- 24. Van Etten RA. Clinical Manifestations and Diagnosis of Chronic Myeloid Leukemia. UpToDate: Waltham, MA (2013).
- Zeisig BB, Kulasekararaj AG, Mufti GJ, So CW. SnapShot: acute myeloid leukemia. Cancer Cell (2012) 22(5):698–e1. doi:10.1016/j.ccr.2012.10.017
- 26. Larson RA. Induction Therapy for Acute Myeloid Leukemia in Younger Adults. UpToDate: Waltham, MA (2013).
- Martner A, Thoren FB, Aurelius J, Hellstrand K. Immunotherapeutic strategies for relapse control in acute myeloid leukemia. *Blood Rev* (2013) 27(5):209–16. doi:10.1016/j.blre.2013.06.006
- Corbin AS, Agarwal A, Loriaux M, Cortes J, Deininger MW, Druker BJ. Human chronic myeloid leukemia stem cells are insensitive to imatinib despite inhibition of BCR-ABL activity. J Clin Invest (2011) 121(1):396–409. doi:10.1172/JCI35721
- Lapidot T, Sirard C, Vormoor J, Murdoch B, Hoang T, Caceres-Cortes J, et al. A cell initiating human acute myeloid leukaemia after transplantation into SCID mice. *Nature* (1994) 367(6464):645–8. doi:10.1038/367645a0
- Bonnet D, Dick JE. Human acute myeloid leukemia is organized as a hierarchy that originates from a primitive hematopoietic cell. *Nat Med* (1997) 3(7):730–7. doi:10.1038/nm0797-730
- Blair A, Hogge DE, Ailles LE, Lansdorp PM, Sutherland HJ. Lack of expression of Thy-1 (CD90) on acute myeloid leukemia cells with long-term proliferative ability in vitro and in vivo. *Blood* (1997) 89(9):3104–12.
- 32. Blair A, Hogge DE, Sutherland HJ. Most acute myeloid leukemia progenitor cells with long-term proliferative ability in vitro and in vivo have the phenotype CD34(+)/CD71(-)/HLA-DR. *Blood* (1998) **92**(11):4325–35.
- Blair A, Sutherland HJ. Primitive acute myeloid leukemia cells with long-term proliferative ability in vitro and in vivo lack surface expression of c-kit (CD117). *Exp Hematol* (2000) 28(6):660–71. doi:10.1016/S0301-472X(00)00155-7
- 34. Jordan CT, Upchurch D, Szilvassy SJ, Guzman ML, Howard DS, Pettigrew AL, et al. The interleukin-3 receptor alpha chain is a unique marker for human acute myelogenous leukemia stem cells. *Leukemia* (2000) 14(10):1777–84. doi:10.1038/sj.leu.2401903
- 35. Jaiswal S, Jamieson CH, Pang WW, Park CY, Chao MP, Majeti R, et al. CD47 is upregulated on circulating hematopoietic stem cells and leukemia cells to avoid phagocytosis. *Cell* (2009) 138(2):271–85. doi:10.1016/j.cell.2009.05.046
- 36. Majeti R, Chao MP, Alizadeh AA, Pang WW, Jaiswal S, Gibbs KD Jr, et al. CD47 is an adverse prognostic factor and therapeutic antibody target on human acute myeloid leukemia stem cells. *Cell* (2009) 138(2):286–99. doi:10.1016/j. cell.2009.05.045
- Sarry JE, Murphy K, Perry R, Sanchez PV, Secreto A, Keefer C, et al. Human acute myelogenous leukemia stem cells are rare and heterogeneous when assayed in NOD/SCID/IL2Rgammac-deficient mice. J Clin Invest (2011) 121(1):384–95. doi:10.1172/JCI41495
- 38. Taussig DC, Miraki-Moud F, Anjos-Afonso F, Pearce DJ, Allen K, Ridler C, et al. Anti-CD38 antibody-mediated clearance of human repopulating cells masks the heterogeneity of leukemia-initiating cells. *Blood* (2008) 112(3):568–75. doi:10.1182/blood-2007-10-118331
- Buccisano F, Maurillo L, Del Principe MI, Del Poeta G, Sconocchia G, Lo-Coco F, et al. Prognostic and therapeutic implications of minimal residual disease detection in acute myeloid leukemia. *Blood* (2012) 119(2):332–41. doi:10.1182/blood-2011-08-363291

- Paietta E. Minimal residual disease in acute myeloid leukemia: coming of age. *Hematol Am Soc Hematol Educ Program* (2012) 2012:35–42. doi:10.1182/ asheducation-2012.1.35
- 41. Feller N, van der Pol MA, van Stijn A, Weijers GW, Westra AH, Evertse BW, et al. MRD parameters using immunophenotypic detection methods are highly reliable in predicting survival in acute myeloid leukaemia. *Leukemia* (2004) 18(8):1380–90. doi:10.1038/sj.leu.2403405
- 42. Bachas C, Schuurhuis GJ, Hollink IH, Kwidama ZJ, Goemans BF, Zwaan CM, et al. High-frequency type I/II mutational shifts between diagnosis and relapse are associated with outcome in pediatric AML: implications for personalized medicine. *Blood* (2010) **116**(15):2752–8. doi:10.1182/blood-2010-03-276519
- Barrett AJ, Savani BN. Does chemotherapy modify the immune surveillance of hematological malignancies? *Leukemia* (2009) 23(1):53–8. doi:10.1038/leu. 2008.273
- 44. Hirano N, Takahashi T, Ohtake S, Hirashima K, Emi N, Saito K, et al. Expression of costimulatory molecules in human leukemias. *Leukemia* (1996) 10(7):1168–76.
- 45. Maeda A, Yamamoto K, Yamashita K, Asagoe K, Nohgawa M, Kita K, et al. The expression of co-stimulatory molecules and their relationship to the prognosis of human acute myeloid leukaemia: poor prognosis of B7-2-positive leukaemia. Br J Haematol (1998) 102(5):1257–62. doi:10.1046/j.1365-2141. 1998.00901.x
- Hicks C, Keoshkerian E, Gaudry L, Lindeman R. CD80 (B7-1) expression on human acute myeloid leukaemic cells cultured with GM-CSF, IL-3 and IL-6. *Cancer Immunol Immunother* (2001) 50(4):173–80. doi:10.1007/PL00006686
- 47. Whiteway A, Corbett T, Anderson R, Macdonald I, Prentice HG. Expression of co-stimulatory molecules on acute myeloid leukaemia blasts may effect duration of first remission. *Br J Haematol* (2003) **120**(3):442–51. doi:10.1046/j.1365-2141.2003.04085.x
- Tamura H, Dan K, Tamada K, Nakamura K, Shioi Y, Hyodo H, et al. Expression of functional B7-H2 and B7.2 costimulatory molecules and their prognostic implications in de novo acute myeloid leukemia. *Clin Cancer Res* (2005) 11(16):5708–17. doi:10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-04-2672
- Morecki S, Revel-Vilk S, Nabet C, Pick M, Ackerstein A, Nagler A, et al. Immunological evaluation of patients with hematological malignancies receiving ambulatory cytokine-mediated immunotherapy with recombinant human interferon-alpha 2a and interleukin-2. *Cancer Immunol Immunother* (1992) 35(6):401–11. doi:10.1007/BF01789019
- Salesse S, Verfaillie CM. BCR/ABL: from molecular mechanisms of leukemia induction to treatment of chronic myelogenous leukemia. *Oncogene* (2002) 21(56):8547–59. doi:10.1038/sj.onc.1206082
- 51. Weiden PL, Flournoy N, Thomas ED, Prentice R, Fefer A, Buckner CD, et al. Antileukemic effect of graft-versus-host disease in human recipients of allogeneic-marrow grafts. N Engl J Med (1979) 300(19):1068–73. doi:10.1056/ NEJM197905103001902
- Gale RP, Horowitz MM, Ash RC, Champlin RE, Goldman JM, Rimm AA, et al. Identical-twin bone marrow transplants for leukemia. *Ann Intern Med* (1994) 120(8):646–52. doi:10.7326/0003-4819-120-8-199404150-00004
- Horowitz MM, Gale RP, Sondel PM, Goldman JM, Kersey J, Kolb HJ, et al. Graft-versus-leukemia reactions after bone marrow transplantation. *Blood* (1990) 75(3):555–62.
- 54. Kolb HJ, Mittermuller J, Clemm C, Holler E, Ledderose G, Brehm G, et al. Donor leukocyte transfusions for treatment of recurrent chronic myelogenous leukemia in marrow transplant patients. *Blood* (1990) 76(12):2462–5.
- 55. Kolb HJ, Schattenberg A, Goldman JM, Hertenstein B, Jacobsen N, Arcese W, et al. Graft-versus-leukemia effect of donor lymphocyte transfusions in marrow grafted patients. *Blood* (1995) 86(5):2041–50.
- 56. Sehn LH, Alyea EP, Weller E, Canning C, Lee S, Ritz J, et al. Comparative outcomes of T-cell-depleted and non-T-cell-depleted allogeneic bone marrow transplantation for chronic myelogenous leukemia: impact of donor lymphocyte infusion. J Clin Oncol (1999) 17(2):561–8.
- 57. Montagna D, Maccario R, Locatelli F, Montini E, Pagani S, Bonetti F, et al. Emergence of antitumor cytolytic T cells is associated with maintenance of hematologic remission in children with acute myeloid leukemia. *Blood* (2006) 108(12):3843–50. doi:10.1182/blood-2006-05-021535
- Lim SH, Coleman S. Chronic myeloid leukemia as an immunological target. *Am J Hematol* (1997) 54(1):61–7. doi:10.1002/(SICI)1096-8652(199701)54: 1<61::AID-AJH9>3.0.CO;2-2

- Molldrem JJ, Lee PP, Wang C, Felio K, Kantarjian HM, Champlin RE, et al. Evidence that specific T lymphocytes may participate in the elimination of chronic myelogenous leukemia. *Nat Med* (2000) 6(9):1018–23. doi:10.1038/ 79526
- 60. Butt NM, Rojas JM, Wang L, Christmas SE, Abu-Eisha HM, Clark RE. Circulating bcr-abl-specific CD8+ T cells in chronic myeloid leukemia patients and healthy subjects. *Haematologica* (2005) **90**(10):1315–23.
- Selleri C, Maciejewski JP. The role of FAS-mediated apoptosis in chronic myelogenous leukemia. *Leuk Lymphoma* (2000) 37(3-4):283–97. doi:10.3109/ 10428190009089429
- 62. Scheibenbogen C, Letsch A, Thiel E, Schmittel A, Mailaender V, Baerwolf S, et al. CD8 T-cell responses to Wilms tumor gene product WT1 and proteinase 3 in patients with acute myeloid leukemia. *Blood* (2002) **100**(6):2132–7. doi:10.1182/blood-2002-01-0163
- 63. Lickliter JD, Kratzke RA, Nguyen PL, Niehans GA, Miller JS. Fas ligand is highly expressed in acute leukemia and during the transformation of chronic myeloid leukemia to blast crisis. *Exp Hematol* (1999) 27(10):1519–27. doi:10.1016/S0301-472X(99)00091-0
- Mumprecht S, Schurch C, Schwaller J, Solenthaler M, Ochsenbein AF. Programmed death 1 signaling on chronic myeloid leukemia-specific T cells results in T-cell exhaustion and disease progression. *Blood* (2009) 114(8):1528–36. doi:10.1182/blood-2008-09-179697
- Schürch C, Riether C, Amrein MA, Ochsenbein AF. Cytotoxic T cells induce proliferation of chronic myeloid leukemia stem cells by secreting interferongamma. J Exp Med (2013) 210(3):605–21. doi:10.1084/jem.20121229
- 66. Schürch C, Riether C, Matter MS, Tzankov A, Ochsenbein AF. CD27 signaling on chronic myelogenous leukemia stem cells activates Wnt target genes and promotes disease progression. J Clin Invest (2012) 122(2):624–38. doi:10.1172/JCI45977
- de Visser KE, Eichten A, Coussens LM. Paradoxical roles of the immune system during cancer development. *Nat Rev Cancer* (2006) 6(1):24–37. doi:10.1038/ nrc1782
- 68. Mumprecht S. Immunosurveillance of Chronic Myelogenous Leukemia. PhD Thesis, Bern: University of Bern (2007).
- Bhatia R, McGlave PB. T lymphocytes cultured from chronic myelogenous leukemia bone marrow suppress autologous hematopoietic progenitors. *Leukemia* (1995) 9(6):1006–12.
- Giralt S, Hester J, Huh Y, Hirsch-Ginsberg C, Rondon G, Seong D, et al. CD8depleted donor lymphocyte infusion as treatment for relapsed chronic myelogenous leukemia after allogeneic bone marrow transplantation. *Blood* (1995) 86(11):4337–43.
- Kiani A, Habermann I, Schake K, Neubauer A, Rogge L, Ehninger G. Normal intrinsic Th1/Th2 balance in patients with chronic phase chronic myeloid leukemia not treated with interferon-alpha or imatinib. *Haematologica* (2003) 88(7):754–61.
- van Denderen J, Hermans A, Meeuwsen T, Troelstra C, Zegers N, Boersma W, et al. Antibody recognition of the tumor-specific bcr-abl joining region in chronic myeloid leukemia. *J Exp Med* (1989) 169(1):87–98. doi:10.1084/jem. 169.1.87
- Alyea EP, Soiffer RJ, Canning C, Neuberg D, Schlossman R, Pickett C, et al. Toxicity and efficacy of defined doses of CD4(+) donor lymphocytes for treatment of relapse after allogeneic bone marrow transplant. *Blood* (1998) 91(10):3671–80.
- Wu CJ, Yang XF, McLaughlin S, Neuberg D, Canning C, Stein B, et al. Detection of a potent humoral response associated with immune-induced remission of chronic myelogenous leukemia. *J Clin Invest* (2000) 106(5):705–14. doi:10.1172/JCI10196
- Cervantes F, Pierson BA, McGlave PB, Verfaillie CM, Miller JS. Autologous activated natural killer cells suppress primitive chronic myelogenous leukemia progenitors in long-term culture. *Blood* (1996) 87(6):2476–85.
- 76. Pierson BA, Miller JS. CD56+bright and CD56+dim natural killer cells in patients with chronic myelogenous leukemia progressively decrease in number, respond less to stimuli that recruit clonogenic natural killer cells, and exhibit decreased proliferation on a per cell basis. *Blood* (1996) 88(6):2279–87.
- Pierson BA, Miller JS. The role of autologous natural killer cells in chronic myelogenous leukemia. *Leuk Lymphoma* (1997) 27(5–6):387–99.
- 78. Ruggeri L, Capanni M, Urbani E, Perruccio K, Shlomchik WD, Tosti A, et al. Effectiveness of donor natural killer cell alloreactivity in mismatched

hematopoietic transplants. *Science* (2002) **295**(5562):2097–100. doi:10.1126/ science.1068440

- Mohty M, Isnardon D, Vey N, Briere F, Blaise D, Olive D, et al. Low blood dendritic cells in chronic myeloid leukaemia patients correlates with loss of CD34+/CD38- primitive haematopoietic progenitors. *Br J Haematol* (2002) 119(1):115–8. doi:10.1046/j.1365-2141.2002.03831.x
- 80. Boissel N, Rousselot P, Raffoux E, Cayuela JM, Maarek O, Charron D, et al. Defective blood dendritic cells in chronic myeloid leukemia correlate with high plasmatic VEGF and are not normalized by imatinib mesylate. *Leukemia* (2004) 18(10):1656–61. doi:10.1038/sj.leu.2403474
- Orsini E, Calabrese E, Maggio R, Pasquale A, Nanni M, Trasarti S, et al. Circulating myeloid dendritic cell directly isolated from patients with chronic myelogenous leukemia are functional and carry the bcr-abl translocation. *Leuk Res* (2006) **30**(7):785–94. doi:10.1016/j.leukres.2005.11.028
- Dong R, Cwynarski K, Entwistle A, Marelli-Berg F, Dazzi F, Simpson E, et al. Dendritic cells from CML patients have altered actin organization, reduced antigen processing, and impaired migration. *Blood* (2003) 101(9):3560–7. doi:10.1182/blood-2002-06-1841
- Heinzinger M, Waller CF, von den Berg A, Rosenstiel A, Lange W. Generation of dendritic cells from patients with chronic myelogenous leukemia. *Ann Hematol* (1999) 78(4):181–6. doi:10.1007/s002770050497
- 84. Smit WM, Rijnbeek M, van Bergen CA, de Paus RA, Vervenne HA, van de Keur M, et al. Generation of dendritic cells expressing bcr-abl from CD34-positive chronic myeloid leukemia precursor cells. *Hum Immunol* (1997) 53(2):216–23. doi:10.1016/S0198-8859(96)00285-6
- 85. Eibl B, Ebner S, Duba C, Bock G, Romani N, Erdel M, et al. Dendritic cells generated from blood precursors of chronic myelogenous leukemia patients carry the Philadelphia translocation and can induce a CML-specific primary cytotoxic T-cell response. *Genes Chromosomes Cancer* (1997) 20(3):215–23. doi:10.1002/(SICI)1098-2264(199711)20:3<215::AID-GCC1>3.0.CO;2-5
- Eisendle K, Lang A, Eibl B, Nachbaur D, Glassl H, Fiegl M, et al. Phenotypic and functional deficiencies of leukaemic dendritic cells from patients with chronic myeloid leukaemia. *Br J Haematol* (2003) **120**(1):63–73. doi:10.1046/j.1365-2141.2003.03979.x
- Mohty M, Jarrossay D, Lafage-Pochitaloff M, Zandotti C, Briere F, de Lamballeri XN, et al. Circulating blood dendritic cells from myeloid leukemia patients display quantitative and cytogenetic abnormalities as well as functional impairment. *Blood* (2001) 98(13):3750–6. doi:10.1182/blood.V98.13.3750
- Mumprecht S, Claus C, Schurch C, Pavelic V, Matter MS, Ochsenbein AF. Defective homing and impaired induction of cytotoxic T cells by BCR/ABLexpressing dendritic cells. *Blood* (2009) 113(19):4681–9. doi:10.1182/blood-2008-05-156471
- Narita M, Takahashi M, Liu A, Nikkuni K, Furukawa T, Toba K, et al. Leukemia blast-induced T-cell anergy demonstrated by leukemia-derived dendritic cells in acute myelogenous leukemia. *Exp Hematol* (2001) 29(6):709–19. doi:10.1016/S0301-472X(01)00636-1
- Ge W, Ma X, Li X, Wang Y, Li C, Meng H, et al. B7-H1 up-regulation on dendritic-like leukemia cells suppresses T cell immune function through modulation of IL-10/IL-12 production and generation of Treg cells. *Leuk Res* (2009) 33(7):948–57. doi:10.1016/j.leukres.2009.01.007
- Curti A, Trabanelli S, Onofri C, Aluigi M, Salvestrini V, Ocadlikova D, et al. Indoleamine 2,3-dioxygenase-expressing leukemic dendritic cells impair a leukemia-specific immune response by inducing potent T regulatory cells. *Haematologica* (2010) **95**(12):2022–30. doi:10.3324/haematol.2010.025924
- 92. Wang X, Zheng J, Liu J, Yao J, He Y, Li X, et al. Increased population of CD4(+)CD25(high), regulatory T cells with their higher apoptotic and proliferating status in peripheral blood of acute myeloid leukemia patients. *Eur J Haematol* (2005) **75**(6):468–76. doi:10.1111/j.1600-0609.2005.00537.x
- 93. Szczepanski MJ, Szajnik M, Czystowska M, Mandapathil M, Strauss L, Welsh A, et al. Increased frequency and suppression by regulatory T cells in patients with acute myelogenous leukemia. *Clin Cancer Res* (2009) 15(10):3325–32. doi:10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-08-3010
- 94. Shenghui Z, Yixiang H, Jianbo W, Kang Y, Laixi B, Yan Z, et al. Elevated frequencies of CD4(+) CD25(+) CD127lo regulatory T cells is associated to poor prognosis in patients with acute myeloid leukemia. *Int J Cancer* (2011) 129(6):1373–81. doi:10.1002/ijc.25791
- 95. Nadal E, Garin M, Kaeda J, Apperley J, Lechler R, Dazzi F. Increased frequencies of CD4(+)CD25(high) T(regs) correlate with disease relapse after

allogeneic stem cell transplantation for chronic myeloid leukemia. *Leukemia* (2007) **21**(3):472–9. doi:10.1038/sj.leu.2404522

- 96. Zhou Q, Munger ME, Highfill SL, Tolar J, Weigel BJ, Riddle M, et al. Program death-1 signaling and regulatory T cells collaborate to resist the function of adoptively transferred cytotoxic T lymphocytes in advanced acute myeloid leukemia. *Blood* (2010) 116(14):2484–93. doi:10.1182/blood-2010-03-275446
- 97. Le Dieu R, Taussig DC, Ramsay AG, Mitter R, Miraki-Moud F, Fatah R, et al. Peripheral blood T cells in acute myeloid leukemia (AML) patients at diagnosis have abnormal phenotype and genotype and form defective immune synapses with AML blasts. *Blood* (2009) **114**(18):3909–16. doi:10.1182/blood-2009-02-206946
- 98. van Luijn MM, van den Ancker W, Chamuleau ME, Ossenkoppele GJ, van Ham SM, van de Loosdrecht AA. Impaired antigen presentation in neoplasia: basic mechanisms and implications for acute myeloid leukemia. *Immunotherapy* (2010) 2(1):85–97. doi:10.2217/imt.09.84
- Saudemont A, Quesnel B. In a model of tumor dormancy, long-term persistent leukemic cells have increased B7-H1 and B7.1 expression and resist CTL-mediated lysis. *Blood* (2004) **104**(7):2124–33. doi:10.1182/blood-2004-01-0064
- 100. Dolen Y, Esendagli G. Myeloid leukemia cells with a B7-2(+) subpopulation provoke Th-cell responses and become immuno-suppressive through the modulation of B7 ligands. *Eur J Immunol* (2013) **43**(3):747–57. doi:10.1002/eji. 201242814
- 101. Chamuleau ME, Souwer Y, Van Ham SM, Zevenbergen A, Westers TM, Berkhof J, et al. Class II-associated invariant chain peptide expression on myeloid leukemic blasts predicts poor clinical outcome. *Cancer Res* (2004) 64(16):5546–50. doi:10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-04-1350
- 102. van Luijn MM, van den Ancker W, Chamuleau ME, Zevenbergen A, Westers TM, Ossenkoppele GJ, et al. Absence of class II-associated invariant chain peptide on leukemic blasts of patients promotes activation of autologous leukemia-reactive CD4+ T cells. *Cancer Res* (2011) **71**(7):2507–17. doi:10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-10-3689
- 103. van Luijn MM, Chamuleau ME, Ossenkoppele GJ, van de Loosdrecht AA, Marieke van Ham S. Tumor immune escape in acute myeloid leukemia: class II-associated invariant chain peptide expression as result of deficient antigen presentation. Oncoimmunology (2012) 1(2):211–3. doi:10.4161/onci.1.2.18100
- 104. van Luijn MM, van de Loosdrecht AA, Lampen MH, van Veelen PA, Zevenbergen A, Kester MG, et al. Promiscuous binding of invariant chain-derived CLIP peptide to distinct HLA-I molecules revealed in leukemic cells. *PLoS One* (2012) 7(4):e34649. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0034649
- 105. Baessler T, Krusch M, Schmiedel BJ, Kloss M, Baltz KM, Wacker A, et al. Glucocorticoid-induced tumor necrosis factor receptor-related protein ligand subverts immunosurveillance of acute myeloid leukemia in humans. *Cancer Res* (2009) 69(3):1037–45. doi:10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-08-2650
- 106. Baessler T, Charton JE, Schmiedel BJ, Grunebach F, Krusch M, Wacker A, et al. CD137 ligand mediates opposite effects in human and mouse NK cells and impairs NK-cell reactivity against human acute myeloid leukemia cells. *Blood* (2010) 115(15):3058–69. doi:10.1182/blood-2009-06-227934
- 107. Schmiedel BJ, Nuebling T, Steinbacher J, Malinovska A, Wende CM, Azuma M, et al. Receptor activator for NF-kappaB ligand in acute myeloid leukemia: expression, function, and modulation of NK cell immunosurveillance. *J Immunol* (2013) **190**(2):821–31. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.1201792
- 108. Theocharides AP, Jin L, Cheng PY, Prasolava TK, Malko AV, Ho JM, et al. Disruption of SIRPalpha signaling in macrophages eliminates human acute myeloid leukemia stem cells in xenografts. *J Exp Med* (2012) **209**(10):1883–99. doi:10.1084/jem.20120502
- 109. Chao MP, Majeti R, Weissman IL. Programmed cell removal: a new obstacle in the road to developing cancer. Nat Rev Cancer (2012) 12(1):58–67. doi:10.1038/nrc3171
- 110. Shen L, Evel-Kabler K, Strube R, Chen SY. Silencing of SOCS1 enhances antigen presentation by dendritic cells and antigen-specific anti-tumor immunity. *Nat Biotechnol* (2004) 22(12):1546–53. doi:10.1038/nbt1035
- 111. Evel-Kabler K, Song XT, Aldrich M, Huang XF, Chen SY. SOCS1 restricts dendritic cells' ability to break self tolerance and induce antitumor immunity by regulating IL-12 production and signaling. *J Clin Invest* (2006) **116**(1):90–100. doi:10.1172/JCI26169
- 112. Liu G, Ng H, Akasaki Y, Yuan X, Ehtesham M, Yin D, et al. Small interference RNA modulation of IL-10 in human monocyte-derived dendritic cells

enhances the Th1 response. *Eur J Immunol* (2004) **34**(6):1680–7. doi:10.1002/eji.200425081

- 113. Ochsenbein AF, Sierro S, Odermatt B, Pericin M, Karrer U, Hermans J, et al. Roles of tumour localization, second signals and cross priming in cytotoxic T-cell induction. *Nature* (2001) **411**(6841):1058–64. doi:10.1038/ 35082583
- 114. Zinkernagel RM. On cross-priming of MHC class I-specific CTL: rule or exception? *Eur J Immunol* (2002) **32**(9):2385–92. doi:10.1002/1521-4141(200209) 32:9<2385::AID-IMMU2385>3.0.CO;2-V
- 115. Bevan MJ. Cross-priming. Nat Immunol (2006) 7(4):363–5. doi:10.1038/ ni0406-363
- Alvarez D, Vollmann EH, von Andrian UH. Mechanisms and consequences of dendritic cell migration. *Immunity* (2008) 29(3):325–42. doi:10.1016/j. immuni.2008.08.006
- 117. Allan RS, Waithman J, Bedoui S, Jones CM, Villadangos JA, Zhan Y, et al. Migratory dendritic cells transfer antigen to a lymph node-resident dendritic cell population for efficient CTL priming. *Immunity* (2006) 25(1):153–62. doi:10.1016/j.immuni.2006.04.017
- 118. Steinman RM, Hawiger D, Liu K, Bonifaz L, Bonnyay D, Mahnke K, et al. Dendritic cell function in vivo during the steady state: a role in peripheral tolerance. *Ann N Y Acad Sci* (2003) **987**:15–25. doi:10.1111/j.1749-6632.2003.tb06029.x
- 119. Hernandez J, Aung S, Marquardt K, Sherman LA. Uncoupling of proliferative potential and gain of effector function by CD8(+) T cells responding to self-antigens. J Exp Med (2002) 196(3):323–33. doi:10.1084/jem.20011612
- Redmond WL, Sherman LA. Peripheral tolerance of CD8 T lymphocytes. *Immunity* (2005) 22(3):275–84. doi:10.1016/j.immuni.2005.01.010
- 121. Melief CJ. Cancer immunotherapy by dendritic cells. *Immunity* (2008) 29(3):372–83. doi:10.1016/j.immuni.2008.08.004
- Dhodapkar MV, Dhodapkar KM, Palucka AK. Interactions of tumor cells with dendritic cells: balancing immunity and tolerance. *Cell Death Differ* (2008) 15(1):39–50. doi:10.1038/sj.cdd.4402247
- 123. Gabrilovich D. Mechanisms and functional significance of tumour-induced dendritic-cell defects. *Nat Rev Immunol* (2004) 4(12):941–52. doi:10.1038/ nri1498
- 124. Mussai F, De Santo C, Abu-Dayyeh I, Booth S, Quek L, McEwen-Smith RM, et al. Acute myeloid leukemia creates an arginase-dependent immunosuppressive microenvironment. *Blood* (2013) **122**(5):749–58. doi:10.1182/blood-2013-01-480129
- 125. Lion E, Willemen Y, Berneman ZN, Van Tendeloo VF, Smits EL. Natural killer cell immune escape in acute myeloid leukemia. *Leukemia* (2012) 26(9):2019–26. doi:10.1038/leu.2012.87
- 126. Zhou Q, Munger ME, Veenstra RG, Weigel BJ, Hirashima M, Munn DH, et al. Coexpression of Tim-3 and PD-1 identifies a CD8+ T-cell exhaustion phenotype in mice with disseminated acute myelogenous leukemia. *Blood* (2011) 117(17):4501–10. doi:10.1182/blood-2010-10-310425
- 127. Buggins AG, Milojkovic D, Arno MJ, Lea NC, Mufti GJ, Thomas NS, et al. Microenvironment produced by acute myeloid leukemia cells prevents T cell activation and proliferation by inhibition of NF-kappaB, c-Myc, and pRb pathways. J Immunol (2001) 167(10):6021–30.
- 128. Alatrash G, Ono Y, Sergeeva A, Sukhumalchandra P, Zhang M, St John LS, et al. The role of antigen cross-presentation from leukemia blasts on immunity to the leukemia-associated antigen PR1. *J Immunother* (2012) 35(4):309–20. doi:10.1097/CJI.0b013e31824b3b14
- 129. Zitvogel L, Galluzzi L, Smyth MJ, Kroemer G. Mechanism of action of conventional and targeted anticancer therapies: reinstating immunosurveillance. *Immunity* (2013) **39**(1):74–88. doi:10.1016/j.immuni.2013.06.014
- 130. Swann JB, Smyth MJ. Immune surveillance of tumors. J Clin Invest (2007) 117(5):1137–46. doi:10.1172/JCI31405
- 131. Rosenberg SA, Yang JC, Schwartzentruber DJ, Hwu P, Marincola FM, Topalian SL, et al. Immunologic and therapeutic evaluation of a synthetic peptide vaccine for the treatment of patients with metastatic melanoma. *Nat Med* (1998) 4(3):321–7. doi:10.1038/nm0398-321
- Amoscato AA, Prenovitz DA, Lotze MT. Rapid extracellular degradation of synthetic class I peptides by human dendritic cells. *J Immunol* (1998) 161(8):4023–32.
- 133. Anguille S, Van Tendeloo VF, Berneman ZN. Leukemia-associated antigens and their relevance to the immunotherapy of acute myeloid leukemia. *Leukemia* (2012) 26(10):2186–96. doi:10.1038/leu.2012.145
- 134. Makita M, Azuma T, Hamaguchi H, Niiya H, Kojima K, Fujita S, et al. Leukemiaassociated fusion proteins, dek-can and bcr-abl, represent immunogenic

HLA-DR-restricted epitopes recognized by fusion peptide-specific CD4+ T lymphocytes. *Leukemia* (2002) **16**(12):2400–7. doi:10.1038/sj.leu.2402742

- 135. Osman Y, Takahashi M, Zheng Z, Toba K, Liu A, Furukawa T, et al. Dendritic cells stimulate the expansion of PML-RAR alpha specific cytotoxic Tlymphocytes: its applicability for antileukemia immunotherapy. J Exp Clin Cancer Res (1999) 18(4):485–92.
- 136. Scholl S, Salzmann S, Kaufmann AM, Hoffken K. Flt3-ITD mutations can generate leukaemia specific neoepitopes: potential role for immunotherapeutic approaches. *Leuk Lymphoma* (2006) 47(2):307–12. doi:10.1080/ 10428190500301306
- 137. Greiner J, Ono Y, Hofmann S, Schmitt A, Mehring E, Gotz M, et al. Mutated regions of nucleophosmin 1 elicit both CD4(+) and CD8(+) T-cell responses in patients with acute myeloid leukemia. *Blood* (2012) **120**(6):1282–9. doi:10. 1182/blood-2011-11-394395
- 138. Oka Y, Tsuboi A, Taguchi T, Osaki T, Kyo T, Nakajima H, et al. Induction of WT1 (Wilms' tumor gene)-specific cytotoxic T lymphocytes by WT1 peptide vaccine and the resultant cancer regression. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (2004) 101(38):13885–90. doi:10.1073/pnas.0405884101
- 139. Rezvani K, Yong AS, Mielke S, Savani BN, Musse L, Superata J, et al. Leukemiaassociated antigen-specific T-cell responses following combined PR1 and WT1 peptide vaccination in patients with myeloid malignancies. *Blood* (2008) 111(1):236–42. doi:10.1182/blood-2007-08-108241
- 140. Rezvani K, Yong AS, Tawab A, Jafarpour B, Eniafe R, Mielke S, et al. Ex vivo characterization of polyclonal memory CD8+ T-cell responses to PRAMEspecific peptides in patients with acute lymphoblastic leukemia and acute and chronic myeloid leukemia. *Blood* (2009) 113(10):2245–55. doi:10.1182/blood-2008-03-144071
- 141. Van Tendeloo VF, Van de Velde A, Van Driessche A, Cools N, Anguille S, Ladell K, et al. Induction of complete and molecular remissions in acute myeloid leukemia by Wilms' tumor 1 antigen-targeted dendritic cell vaccination. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (2010) **107**(31):13824–9. doi:10.1073/pnas.1008051107
- 142. Snauwaert S, Vanhee S, Goetgeluk G, Verstichel G, Van Caeneghem Y, Velghe I, et al. RHAMM/HMMR (CD168) is not an ideal target antigen for immunotherapy of acute myeloid leukemia. *Haematologica* (2012) **97**(10):1539–47. doi:10. 3324/haematol.2012.065581
- 143. Arai J, Yasukawa M, Ohminami H, Kakimoto M, Hasegawa A, Fujita S. Identification of human telomerase reverse transcriptase-derived peptides that induce HLA-A24-restricted antileukemia cytotoxic T lymphocytes. *Blood* (2001) **97**(9):2903–7. doi:10.1182/blood.V97.9.2903
- 144. Oehler VG, Guthrie KA, Cummings CL, Sabo K, Wood BL, Gooley T, et al. The preferentially expressed antigen in melanoma (PRAME) inhibits myeloid differentiation in normal hematopoietic and leukemic progenitor cells. *Blood* (2009) 114(15):3299–308. doi:10.1182/blood-2008-07-170282
- 145. van den Ancker W, Ruben JM, Westers TM, Wulandari D, Bontkes HJ, Hooijberg E, et al. Priming of PRAME- and WT1-specific CD8 T cells in healthy donors but not in AML patients in complete remission: implications for immunotherapy. *Oncoimmunology* (2013) 2(4):e23971. doi:10.4161/onci.23971
- 146. Yang J, Ikezoe T, Nishioka C, Nobumoto A, Udaka K, Yokoyama A. CD34(+)/CD38(-) acute myelogenous leukemia cells aberrantly express Aurora kinase A. *Int J Cancer* (2013) 133(11):2706–19. doi:10.1002/ijc.28277
- 147. Inoue K, Tamaki H, Ogawa H, Oka Y, Soma T, Tatekawa T, et al. Wilms' tumor gene (WT1) competes with differentiation-inducing signal in hematopoietic progenitor cells. *Blood* (1998) **91**(8):2969–76.
- 148. Gaiger A, Carter L, Greinix H, Carter D, McNeill PD, Houghton RL, et al. WT1specific serum antibodies in patients with leukemia. *Clin Cancer Res* (2001) 7(3 Suppl):761s–5s.
- 149. Elisseeva OA, Oka Y, Tsuboi A, Ogata K, Wu F, Kim EH, et al. Humoral immune responses against Wilms tumor gene WT1 product in patients with hematopoietic malignancies. *Blood* (2002) **99**(9):3272–9. doi:10.1182/blood.V99.9.3272
- 150. Van Driessche A, Berneman ZN, Van Tendeloo VF. Active specific immunotherapy targeting the Wilms' tumor protein 1 (WT1) for patients with hematological malignancies and solid tumors: lessons from early clinical trials. *Oncologist* (2012) 17(2):250–9. doi:10.1634/theoncologist.2011-0240
- 151. Xue SA, Gao L, Hart D, Gillmore R, Qasim W, Thrasher A, et al. Elimination of human leukemia cells in NOD/SCID mice by WT1-TCR gene-transduced human T cells. *Blood* (2005) 106(9):3062–7. doi:10.1182/blood-2005-01-0146
- 152. Keilholz U, Letsch A, Busse A, Asemissen AM, Bauer S, Blau IW, et al. A clinical and immunologic phase 2 trial of Wilms tumor gene product 1 (WT1) peptide vaccination in patients with AML and MDS. *Blood* (2009) **113**(26):6541–8. doi:10.1182/blood-2009-02-202598

- 153. Ochi T, Fujiwara H, Suemori K, Azuma T, Yakushijin Y, Hato T, et al. Aurora-A kinase: a novel target of cellular immunotherapy for leukemia. *Blood* (2009) 113(1):66–74. doi:10.1182/blood-2008-06-164889
- 154. Yang J, Ikezoe T, Nishioka C, Udaka K, Yokoyama A. Bcr-Abl activates AURKA and AURKB in chronic myeloid leukemia cells via AKT signaling. *Int J Cancer* (2014)**134**(5):1183–94. doi:10.1002/ijc.28434
- 155. Schmidt SM, Schag K, Muller MR, Weck MM, Appel S, Kanz L, et al. Survivin is a shared tumor-associated antigen expressed in a broad variety of malignancies and recognized by specific cytotoxic T cells. *Blood* (2003) **102**(2):571–6. doi:10.1182/blood-2002-08-2554
- 156. Yotnda P, Firat H, Garcia-Pons F, Garcia Z, Gourru G, Vernant JP, et al. Cytotoxic T cell response against the chimeric p210 BCR-ABL protein in patients with chronic myelogenous leukemia. *J Clin Invest* (1998) **101**(10):2290–6. doi:10.1172/JCI488
- Bocchia M, Korontsvit T, Xu Q, Mackinnon S, Yang SY, Sette A, et al. Specific human cellular immunity to bcr-abl oncogene-derived peptides. *Blood* (1996) 87(9):3587–92.
- 158. Clark RE, Dodi IA, Hill SC, Lill JR, Aubert G, Macintyre AR, et al. Direct evidence that leukemic cells present HLA-associated immunogenic peptides derived from the BCR-ABL b3a2 fusion protein. *Blood* (2001) **98**(10):2887–93. doi:10.1182/blood.V98.10.2887
- 159. Kantarjian HM, Talpaz M, Dhingra K, Estey E, Keating MJ, Ku S, et al. Significance of the P210 versus P190 molecular abnormalities in adults with Philadel-phia chromosome-positive acute leukemia. *Blood* (1991) **78**(9):2411–8.
- 160. Greiner J, Ringhoffer M, Taniguchi M, Hauser T, Schmitt A, Dohner H, et al. Characterization of several leukemia-associated antigens inducing humoral immune responses in acute and chronic myeloid leukemia. *Int J Cancer* (2003) 106(2):224–31. doi:10.1002/ijc.11200
- 161. Ochsenreither S, Majeti R, Schmitt T, Stirewalt D, Keilholz U, Loeb KR, et al. Cyclin-A1 represents a new immunogenic targetable antigen expressed in acute myeloid leukemia stem cells with characteristics of a cancer-testis antigen. *Blood* (2012) **119**(23):5492–501. doi:10.1182/blood-2011-07-365890
- 162. Greiner J, Ringhoffer M, Simikopinko O, Szmaragowska A, Huebsch S, Maurer U, et al. Simultaneous expression of different immunogenic antigens in acute myeloid leukemia. *Exp Hematol* (2000) 28(12):1413–22. doi:10.1016/S0301-472X(00)00550-6
- 163. Sergeeva A, Alatrash G, He H, Ruisaard K, Lu S, Wygant J, et al. An anti-PR1/HLA-A2 T-cell receptor-like antibody mediates complement-dependent cytotoxicity against acute myeloid leukemia progenitor cells. *Blood* (2011) 117(16):4262–72. doi:10.1182/blood-2010-07-299248
- 164. Molldrem J, Dermime S, Parker K, Jiang YZ, Mavroudis D, Hensel N, et al. Targeted T-cell therapy for human leukemia: cytotoxic T lymphocytes specific for a peptide derived from proteinase 3 preferentially lyse human myeloid leukemia cells. *Blood* (1996) 88(7):2450–7.
- 165. Rao NV, Wehner NG, Marshall BC, Gray WR, Gray BH, Hoidal JR. Characterization of proteinase-3 (PR-3), a neutrophil serine proteinase. Structural and functional properties. J Biol Chem (1991) 266(15):9540–8.
- 166. Weber G, Gerdemann U, Caruana I, Savoldo B, Hensel NF, Rabin KR, et al. Generation of multi-leukemia antigen-specific T cells to enhance the graftversus-leukemia effect after allogeneic stem cell transplant. *Leukemia* (2013) 27(7):1538–47. doi:10.1038/leu.2013.66
- 167. Riley CL, Mathieu MG, Clark RE, McArdle SE, Rees RC. Tumour antigentargeted immunotherapy for chronic myeloid leukaemia: is it still viable? *Cancer Immunol Immunother* (2009) 58(9):1489–99. doi:10.1007/s00262-009-0675-x
- 168. Adams SP, Sahota SS, Mijovic A, Czepułkowski B, Padua RA, Mufti GJ, et al. Frequent expression of HAGE in presentation chronic myeloid leukaemias. *Leukemia* (2002) 16(11):2238–42. doi:10.1038/sj.leu.2402732
- 169. Inoue K, Ogawa H, Sonoda Y, Kimura T, Sakabe H, Oka Y, et al. Aberrant overexpression of the Wilms tumor gene (WT1) in human leukemia. *Blood* (1997) 89(4):1405–12.
- 170. Inoue K, Sugiyama H, Ogawa H, Nakagawa M, Yamagami T, Miwa H, et al. WT1 as a new prognostic factor and a new marker for the detection of minimal residual disease in acute leukemia. *Blood* (1994) 84(9):3071–9.
- 171. Molldrem JJ, Clave E, Jiang YZ, Mavroudis D, Raptis A, Hensel N, et al. Cytotoxic T lymphocytes specific for a nonpolymorphic proteinase 3 peptide preferentially inhibit chronic myeloid leukemia colony-forming units. *Blood* (1997) **90**(7):2529–34.

- Riether C, Schurch C, Ochsenbein AF. From "magic bullets" to specific cancer immunotherapy. *Swiss Med Wkly* (2013) 143:w13734. doi:10.4414/smw.2013. 13734
- 173. Brandau S, Suttmann H. Thirty years of BCG immunotherapy for non-muscle invasive bladder cancer: a success story with room for improvement. *Biomed Pharmacother* (2007) 61(6):299–305. doi:10.1016/j.biopha.2007.05.004
- 174. Hodi FS, O'Day SJ, McDermott DF, Weber RW, Sosman JA, Haanen JB, et al. Improved survival with ipilimumab in patients with metastatic melanoma. *N Engl J Med* (2010) 363(8):711–23. doi:10.1056/NEJMoa1003466
- 175. Baron F, Storb R. Allogeneic hematopoietic cell transplantation following nonmyeloablative conditioning as treatment for hematologic malignancies and inherited blood disorders. *Mol Ther* (2006) 13(1):26–41. doi:10.1016/j.ymthe. 2005.09.011
- 176. Kantoff PW, Higano CS, Shore ND, Berger ER, Small EJ, Penson DF, et al. Sipuleucel-T immunotherapy for castration-resistant prostate cancer. N Engl J Med (2010) 363(5):411–22. doi:10.1056/NEJMoa1001294
- 177. Palucka K, Banchereau J. Cancer immunotherapy via dendritic cells. Nat Rev Cancer (2012) 12(4):265–77. doi:10.1038/nrc3258
- 178. Lee JJ, Kook H, Park MS, Nam JH, Choi BH, Song WH, et al. Immunotherapy using autologous monocyte-derived dendritic cells pulsed with leukemic cell lysates for acute myeloid leukemia relapse after autologous peripheral blood stem cell transplantation. J Clin Apher (2004) 19(2):66–70. doi:10.1002/jca. 10080
- Wolchok JD, Kluger H, Callahan MK, Postow MA, Rizvi NA, Lesokhin AM, et al. Nivolumab plus ipilimumab in advanced melanoma. *N Engl J Med* (2013) 369(2):122–33. doi:10.1056/NEJMoa1302369
- Porter DL, Levine BL, Kalos M, Bagg A, June CH. Chimeric antigen receptormodified T cells in chronic lymphoid leukemia. N Engl J Med (2011) 365(8):725–33. doi:10.1056/NEJMoa1103849
- 181. Grupp SA, Kalos M, Barrett D, Aplenc R, Porter DL, Rheingold SR, et al. Chimeric antigen receptor-modified T cells for acute lymphoid leukemia. *N Engl J Med* (2013) 368(16):1509–18. doi:10.1056/NEJMoa1215134
- 182. Legras S, Gunthert U, Stauder R, Curt F, Oliferenko S, Kluin-Nelemans HC, et al. A strong expression of CD44-6v correlates with shorter survival of patients with acute myeloid leukemia. *Blood* (1998) **91**(9):3401–13.
- 183. Neu S, Geiselhart A, Sproll M, Hahn D, Kuci S, Niethammer D, et al. Expression of CD44 isoforms by highly enriched CD34-positive cells in cord blood, bone marrow and leukaphereses. *Bone Marrow Transplant* (1997) 20(7):593–8. doi:10.1038/sj.bmt.1700940
- 184. Casucci M, Nicolis di Robilant B, Falcone L, Camisa B, Norelli M, Genovese P, et al. CD44v6-targeted T cells mediate potent antitumor effects against acute myeloid leukemia and multiple myeloma. *Blood* (2013) **122**(20):3461–72. doi:10.1182/blood-2013-04-493361
- 185. van de Loosdrecht AA, van den Ancker W, Houtenbos I, Ossenkoppele GJ, Westers TM. Dendritic cell-based immunotherapy in myeloid leukaemia: translating fundamental mechanisms into clinical applications. *Handb Exp Pharmacol* (2009) 188:319–48. doi:10.1007/978-3-540-71029-5_15
- 186. Dietz AB, Padley DJ, Butler GW, Maas ML, Greiner CW, Gastineau DA, et al. Clinical-grade manufacturing of DC from CD14+ precursors: experience from phase I clinical trials in CML and malignant melanoma. *Cytotherapy* (2004) 6(6):563–70. doi:10.1080/14653240410005357-1
- 187. Bol KF, Tel J, de Vries IJ, Figdor CG. Naturally circulating dendritic cells to vaccinate cancer patients. Oncoimmunology (2013) 2(3):e23431. doi:10.4161/ onci.23431
- 188. Zhang J, Raper A, Sugita N, Hingorani R, Salio M, Palmowski MJ, et al. Characterization of Siglec-H as a novel endocytic receptor expressed on murine plasmacytoid dendritic cell precursors. *Blood* (2006) 107(9):3600–8. doi:10.1182/blood-2005-09-3842
- 189. Houtenbos I, Westers TM, Hess CJ, Waisfisz Q, Ossenkoppele GJ, van de Loosdrecht AA. Flt-3 internal tandem duplication hampers differentiation of AML blasts towards leukemic dendritic cells. *Leukemia* (2006) 20(10):1892–5. doi:10.1038/sj.leu.2404348
- 190. Houtenbos I, Westers TM, Ossenkoppele GJ, van de Loosdrecht AA. Leukemiaderived dendritic cells: towards clinical vaccination protocols in acute myeloid leukemia. *Haematologica* (2006) **91**(3):348–55.
- 191. Anguille S, Willemen Y, Lion E, Smits EL, Berneman ZN. Dendritic cell vaccination in acute myeloid leukemia. *Cytotherapy* (2012) 14(6):647–56. doi:10.3109/14653249.2012.693744

- 192. Houtenbos I, Westers TM, Ossenkoppele GJ, van de Loosdrecht AA. Leukaemic dendritic cell vaccination for patients with acute myeloid leukaemia. *Br J Haematol* (2006) **134**(4):445–6. doi:10.1111/j.1365-2141.2006.06196.x
- 193. Kremser A, Dressig J, Grabrucker C, Liepert A, Kroell T, Scholl N, et al. Dendritic cells (DCs) can be successfully generated from leukemic blasts in individual patients with AML or MDS: an evaluation of different methods. *J Immunother* (2010) 33(2):185–99. doi:10.1097/CJI.0b013e3181b8f4ce
- 194. Grabrucker C, Liepert A, Dreyig J, Kremser A, Kroell T, Freudenreich M, et al. The quality and quantity of leukemia-derived dendritic cells from patients with acute myeloid leukemia and myelodysplastic syndrome are a predictive factor for the lytic potential of dendritic cells-primed leukemia-specific T cells. *J Immunother* (2010) 33(5):523–37. doi:10.1097/CJI.0b013e3181d87ffd
- 195. Liepert A, Grabrucker C, Kremser A, Dreyssig J, Ansprenger C, Freudenreich M, et al. Quality of T-cells after stimulation with leukemia-derived dendritic cells (DC) from patients with acute myeloid leukemia (AML) or myeloid dysplastic syndrome (MDS) is predictive for their leukemia cytotoxic potential. *Cell Immunol* (2010) **265**(1):23–30. doi:10.1016/j.cellimm.2010.06.009
- 196. Klammer M, Waterfall M, Samuel K, Turner ML, Roddie PH. Fusion hybrids of dendritic cells and autologous myeloid blasts as a potential cellular vaccine for acute myeloid leukaemia. Br J Haematol (2005) 129(3):340–9. doi:10.1111/j.1365-2141.2005.05477.x
- 197. Herr W, Ranieri E, Olson W, Zarour H, Gesualdo L, Storkus WJ. Mature dendritic cells pulsed with freeze-thaw cell lysates define an effective in vitro vaccine designed to elicit EBV-specific CD4(+) and CD8(+) T lymphocyte responses. *Blood* (2000) **96**(5):1857–64.
- 198. Schreiber RD, Old LJ, Smyth MJ. Cancer immunoediting: integrating immunity's roles in cancer suppression and promotion. *Science* (2011) **331**(6024): 1565–70. doi:10.1126/science.1203486
- 199. Ponsaerts P, Van Tendeloo VF, Berneman ZN. Cancer immunotherapy using RNA-loaded dendritic cells. *Clin Exp Immunol* (2003) **134**(3):378–84.
- 200. Decker WK, Xing D, Li S, Robinson SN, Yang H, Yao X, et al. Double loading of dendritic cell MHC class I and MHC class II with an AML antigen repertoire enhances correlates of T-cell immunity in vitro via amplification of T-cell help. *Vaccine* (2006) 24(16):3203–16. doi:10.1016/j.vaccine.2006. 01.029
- 201. Tel J, Aarntzen EH, Baba T, Schreibelt G, Schulte BM, Benitez-Ribas D, et al. Natural human plasmacytoid dendritic cells induce antigen-specific T-cell responses in melanoma patients. *Cancer Res* (2013) **73**(3):1063–75. doi:10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-12-2583
- 202. Anguille S, Lion E, Smits E, Berneman ZN, van Tendeloo VF. Dendritic cell vaccine therapy for acute myeloid leukemia: questions and answers. *Hum Vaccin* (2011) 7(5):579–84. doi:10.4161/hv.7.5.14652
- 203. Choudhury A, Gajewski JL, Liang JC, Popat U, Claxton DF, Kliche KO, et al. Use of leukemic dendritic cells for the generation of antileukemic cellular cytotoxicity against Philadelphia chromosome-positive chronic myelogenous leukemia. *Blood* (1997) **89**(4):1133–42.
- 204. Charbonnier A, Gaugler B, Sainty D, Lafage-Pochitaloff M, Olive D. Human acute myeloblastic leukemia cells differentiate in vitro into mature dendritic cells and induce the differentiation of cytotoxic T cells against autologous leukemias. *Eur J Immunol* (1999) **29**(8):2567–78. doi:10.1002/(SICI)1521-4141(199908)29:08<2567::AID-IMMU2567>3.0.CO;2-S
- 205. Brouwer RE, van der Hoorn M, Kluin-Nelemans HC, van Zelderen-Bhola S, Willemze R, Falkenburg JH. The generation of dendritic-like cells with increased allostimulatory function from acute myeloid leukemia cells of various FAB subclasses. *Hum Immunol* (2000) **61**(6):565–74. doi:10.1016/S0198-8859(00)00111-7
- 206. Cignetti A, Vallario A, Roato I, Circosta P, Allione B, Casorzo L, et al. Leukemiaderived immature dendritic cells differentiate into functionally competent mature dendritic cells that efficiently stimulate T cell responses. *J Immunol* (2004) **173**(4):2855–65.
- 207. Houtenbos I, Westers TM, de Gruijl TD, Scheper RJ, Ossenkoppele GJ, van de Loosdrecht AA. TNF-alpha receptor 1 expression on acute myeloid leukemic blasts predicts differentiation into leukemic dendritic cells. *Leukemia* (2004) 18(6):1149–53. doi:10.1038/sj.leu.2403359

- Houtenbos I, Westers TM, Ossenkoppele GJ, van de Loosdrecht AA. Employing the immunological synapse in AML: development of leukemic dendritic cells for active specific immunization. *Immunobiology* (2005) 210(2–4):249–57. doi:10.1016/j.imbio.2005.05.019
- 209. Westers TM, Houtenbos I, van de Loosdrecht AA, Ossenkoppele GJ. Divergent autologous T cell responses to leukaemic dendritic cells during remission in acute promyelocytic leukaemia. *Cell Oncol* (2005) **27**(4):261–6.
- 210. Westers TM, Houtenbos I, Snoijs NC, van de Loosdrecht AA, Ossenkoppele GJ. Leukemia-derived dendritic cells in acute myeloid leukemia exhibit potent migratory capacity. *Leukemia* (2005) 19(7):1270–2. doi:10.1038/sj.leu.2403794
- 211. Dubsky P, Saito H, Leogier M, Dantin C, Connolly JE, Banchereau J, et al. IL-15-induced human DC efficiently prime melanoma-specific naive CD8+ T cells to differentiate into CTL. *Eur J Immunol* (2007) **37**(6):1678–90. doi:10.1002/eji.200636329
- 212. Anguille S, Smits EL, Cools N, Goossens H, Berneman ZN, Van Tendeloo VF. Short-term cultured, interleukin-15 differentiated dendritic cells have potent immunostimulatory properties. *J Transl Med* (2009) 7:109. doi:10.1186/1479-5876-7-109
- 213. Zobywalski A, Javorovic M, Frankenberger B, Pohla H, Kremmer E, Bigalke I, et al. Generation of clinical grade dendritic cells with capacity to produce biologically active IL-12p70. *J Transl Med* (2007) 5:18. doi:10.1186/1479-5876-5-18
- 214. Boullart AC, Aarntzen EH, Verdijk P, Jacobs JF, Schuurhuis DH, Benitez-Ribas D, et al. Maturation of monocyte-derived dendritic cells with Toll-like receptor 3 and 7/8 ligands combined with prostaglandin E2 results in high interleukin-12 production and cell migration. *Cancer Immunol Immunother* (2008) 57(11):1589–97. doi:10.1007/s00262-008-0489-2
- 215. de Vries IJ, Lesterhuis WJ, Barentsz JO, Verdijk P, van Krieken JH, Boerman OC, et al. Magnetic resonance tracking of dendritic cells in melanoma patients for monitoring of cellular therapy. *Nat Biotechnol* (2005) 23(11):1407–13. doi:10.1038/nbt1154
- Reizis B, Colonna M, Trinchieri G, Barrat F, Gilliet M. Plasmacytoid dendritic cells: one-trick ponies or workhorses of the immune system? *Nat Rev Immunol* (2011) 11(8):558–65. doi:10.1038/nri3027
- Villadangos JA, Young L. Antigen-presentation properties of plasmacytoid dendritic cells. *Immunity* (2008) 29(3):352–61. doi:10.1016/j.immuni.2008.09.002
- 218. Le Bon A, Etchart N, Rossmann C, Ashton M, Hou S, Gewert D, et al. Crosspriming of CD8+ T cells stimulated by virus-induced type I interferon. *Nat Immunol* (2003) 4(10):1009–15. doi:10.1038/ni978
- Senti G, Johansen P, Kundig TM. Intralymphatic immunotherapy. Curr Opin Allergy Clin Immunol (2009) 9(6):537–43. doi:10.1097/ACI.0b013e3283310ff7
- 220. Van Driessche A, Van de Velde AL, Nijs G, Braeckman T, Stein B, De Vries JM, et al. Clinical-grade manufacturing of autologous mature mRNA-electroporated dendritic cells and safety testing in acute myeloid leukemia patients in a phase I dose-escalation clinical trial. *Cytotherapy* (2009) 11(5):653–68. doi:10.1080/14653240902960411

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Received: 31 October 2013; accepted: 17 December 2013; published online: 31 December 2013.

Citation: Schürch CM, Riether C and Ochsenbein AF (2013) Dendritic cellbased immunotherapy for myeloid leukemias. Front. Immunol. **4**:496. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2013.00496

This article was submitted to Tumor Immunity, a section of the journal Frontiers in Immunology.

Copyright © 2013 Schürch, Riether and Ochsenbein. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) or licensor are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.



Dendritic cell vaccination, immune regulation, and clinical outcomes in ovarian cancer

Hannah E. Goyne¹ and Martin J. Cannon^{2,3}*

¹ Department of Pathology, University of Arkansas for Medical Sciences, Little Rock, AR, USA

² Department of Microbiology and Immunology, University of Arkansas for Medical Sciences, Little Rock, AR, USA

³ Department of Obstetrics and Gynecology, University of Arkansas for Medical Sciences, Little Rock, AR, USA

Edited by:

Kristian Michael Hargadon, Hampden-Sydney College, USA

Reviewed by:

Amedeo Amedei, University of Florence, Italy Pedro Berraondo, Centro para la Investigación Médica Aplicada, Spain

*Correspondence:

Martin J. Cannon, Department of Microbiology and Immunology, University of Arkansas for Medical Sciences, 4301 West Markham, Little Rock, AR 72205, USA e-mail: mjcannon@uams.edu Clinical optimism for dendritic cell vaccination against ovarian cancer has been tempered by the knowledge that tumors avail themselves of multiple mechanisms of immune evasion, thus blunting the efficacy of therapeutic vaccination. Mechanisms of immune suppression include infiltration by regulatory T cells (Treg) and myeloid suppressor cell populations, expression of co-inhibitory receptors, and expression of indoleamine 2,3-dioxygenase (IDO). Expression of both B7-H1 and IDO are associated with differentiation and recruitment of Treg, and clinical studies have shown that each of these mechanisms correlates independently with increased morbidity and mortality in ovarian cancer patients. In sharp contrast, recent studies have indicated that Th17 cell infiltration in ovarian cancer correlates with improved patient outcomes and prolonged overall survival. Given that IDO plays a pivotal role in the balance between Treg and Th17 immunity, elucidation of the mechanisms that regulate IDO activity and immune suppression may lead to novel adjuvants to boost the clinical efficacy of dendritic cell vaccination against ovarian cancer and other malignancies.

Keywords: ovarian cancer, regulatory T cells, Th17 T cells, dendritic cells, indoleamine 2,3-dioxygenase

THE CLINICAL PROBLEM

Clinical studies have shown that the immune system plays an active and possible critical role in the pathogenesis of ovarian cancer, disease progression, and overall survival. Of the positive parameters, CD3 T cell infiltration has been associated with prolonged survival (1). A notable point from this investigation was that patients with significant T cell infiltration in their tumors were more likely to be optimally debulked during surgery provided an indication that T cells may limit regional spread of the disease. In contrast with these positive findings, the majority of studies have highlighted multiple mechanisms of immune suppression that correlate with poor patient outcomes in ovarian cancer.

Regulatory T cells (Treg) infiltration has been widely noted as a negative correlate of clinical outcomes for many malignancies, and ovarian cancer is no exception. Curiel and colleagues showed that Treg infiltration in ovarian cancer correlates with a poor prognosis and increased mortality (2). Other investigators have shown that high expression of Foxp3 (a transcription factor associated with a Treg phenotype) is an independent prognostic indicator for reduced survival (3), and that a high CD8/Treg ratio is associated with more favorable outcomes (4). Further mechanisms that contribute to the immunosuppressed state include expression of PD-L1 (B7-H1), which can promote T cell anergy and apoptosis through engagement of PD-1 expressed by effector T cells (5, 6) and expression of indoleamine 2,3-dioxygenase (IDO). Expression of both B7-H1 and IDO are associated with differentiation and recruitment of Treg (7-9), and clinical studies have shown that each of these mechanisms correlates independently with increased morbidity and mortality in ovarian cancer patients (10–12). Immune suppression in the tumor micro-environment is also likely to present a formidable barrier to the clinical efficacy of therapeutic tumor vaccination, including dendritic cell (DC) vaccination.

In sharp contrast with the evidence that Treg infiltration is associated with poor outcomes in ovarian cancer, Th17 T cell infiltration correlates with more favorable clinical outcomes (13). Furthermore, tumor-infiltrating Th17 cells were negatively associated with Treg infiltration, suggesting a reciprocal relationship between these subsets. These observations have led to the question of whether therapeutic benefit would accrue from induction or expansion of Th17 cells, either through DC vaccination, other types of tumor vaccines or adoptive immunotherapy (14, 15).

CAN DENDRITIC CELLS STIMULATE TH17 RESPONSES AGAINST OVARIAN CANCER?

The tumor micro-environment can modify DC function through multiple mechanisms, usually resulting in inhibition of DC activation and maturation, and the induction of immunosuppressive DC and related myeloid cell populations (16). Tumor inhibition of DC function can also have an impact on therapeutic DC vaccines, indicating the need for DC vaccines with the capability to redirect T cell immunity from immune suppression to pro-inflammatory anti-tumor responses. Several lines of evidence have pointed to a crucial role for MAPK signaling pathways in regulation of proinflammatory versus tolerogenic or immunosuppressive DC function. Notably, Jackson and colleagues demonstrated that blockade of MEK 1/2 and ERK MAPK signaling restores tumor-mediated inhibition of DC function and promotes IL-12 production and Th1 T cell responses, whereas inhibition of p38 MAPK increases signal transduction through ERK 1/2 and blocks IL-12 production (17). In similar vein, p38 MAPK signaling in DC up-regulates IL-10 expression and induces tolerance in a mouse model of melanoma, resulting in suppression of anti-tumor T cell response, whereas inhibition of p38 signaling restored the ability of DC to stimulate T cell responses (18). The observation that p38 inhibition or MEK/ERK activation restores DC function in myeloma patients provides further evidence that p38 blockade may be of therapeutic benefit (19).

With respect to the balance between Treg versus Th17 immunity, studies in mice have shown that p38 inhibition attenuates Treg induction by DC and enhances the efficacy of DC vaccination and anti-tumor immunity (20), whereas blockade of the ERK pathway suppresses DC-driven Th17 responses (21). Collectively, these results suggest that preferential signaling though the ERK pathway may favor a switch from DC induction of Treg responses to Th17 differentiation and expansion.

In humans, treatment of ovarian tumor antigen-loaded, cytokine-matured DC with a combination of IL-15 and a p38 MAPK inhibitor offers potent synergy in antagonism of Treg induction and redirection toward Th17 responses that correlate with strong CD8⁺ CTL activation (22). Tumor antigen-specific CD4⁺ T cells secreted high levels of IL-17 and showed reduced expression of CTLA-4, PD-1, and Foxp3 following activation with IL-15/p38 inhibitor-treated DC. It was further shown that modulation of p38 MAPK signaling was associated with reduced expression of PD-L1 (B7-H1), loss of IDO activity, and increased phosphorylation of ERK1/2 MAPK. These observations afford an opportunity to develop innovative DC vaccination strategies to boost Th17 immunity in ovarian cancer patients.

IDO AND THE BALANCE OF POWER BETWEEN TREG AND TH17 IMMUNITY

Several lines of investigation have pointed to a pivotal role for IDO in directing Treg or Th17 responses in tumor immunity. In humans, IDO-expressing mature DC induce proliferation of CD4⁺CD25⁺Foxp3⁺ Treg (9) and parallel studies in mice have shown that IDO activates Treg and inhibits their conversion to Th17-like T cells (8, 23). The pathways involved in control of Treg/Th17 differentiation by IDO have hitherto been obscure, but recent studies have revealed a relationship between IDO function and the aryl hydrocarbon receptor (AhR) on DC and T cells. Binding of the AhR promotes the generation of Treg (24–26) and AhR ligand-specific interactions may control the balance between Treg and Th17 differentiation (27, 28). Remarkably, the tryptophan catabolite kynurenine produced by IDO is a natural ligand for AhR (29, 30), thus creating a mechanism by which IDO promotes generation of Treg.

The AhR is also expressed by DC, and is required for induction of IDO expression, thus creating a feedback loop via kynurenine that maintains DC regulatory function (31). DC from $AhR^{-/-}$ mice lacked IDO and inhibited Treg development and promoted Th17 generation from naïve T cells. Addition of exogenous kynurenine restored the generation of Foxp3⁺ Treg and diminished Th17



FIGURE 1 | SCF levels in primary ovarian tumor ascites fluids. Samples from 14 patients with a confirmed diagnosis of epithelial ovarian cancer were tested by ELISA.

differentiation, reinforcing the hypothesis that IDO, kynurenine, and AhR regulate the balance between Treg and Th17 immunity.

The mechanisms by which IDO expression is regulated in ovarian tumors and tumor-associated myeloid cells are largely unknown. One potential mechanism is that IDO activity may be driven by c-KIT signaling following binding of stem cell factor (SCF), which is secreted by ovarian tumors (32–34). This proposal is based in part on recent studies showing that IDO expression can be blocked by inhibitors of c-KIT or mTOR (downstream of the c-KIT-PI3K-AKT pathway), with resultant potentiation of antitumor T cell responses (35). Furthermore, siRNA knockdown of SCF or blockade of c-KIT can inhibit myeloid-derived suppressor cell expansion, Treg development and tumor angiogenesis, producing a synergistic therapeutic effect in combination with immunotherapy (36). Given that SCF is abundantly present in ovarian tumor ascites (Figure 1), these findings raise the possibility that similar mechanisms of immune regulation may prevail in ovarian cancer.

Collectively, these observations allow formulation of an innovative model in which SCF binds c-KIT expressed by ovarian tumor cells or infiltrating myeloid cells, resulting in IDO expression. Kynurenine produced by IDO activity binds AhR on T cells and induces Treg differentiation (**Figure 2**). Drugs that block c-KIT signaling or IDO function may inhibit Treg recruitment and alleviate immune suppression by shifting the balance in favor of Th17 T cell differentiation and expansion.

INNOVATIVE STRATEGIES FOR ALLEVIATION OF IDO-MEDIATED IMMUNE SUPPRESSION

Although the ability to manipulate the functional plasticity of DC to stimulate Th17 responses against ovarian tumor antigens represents a therapeutic opportunity, DC vaccination may not be clinically effective in the face of substantial barriers imposed by immune suppression in the tumor micro-environment. Direct depletion of tumor-associated Treg has often been the favored means of alleviating immune suppression in support of DC vaccination or other tumor vaccine strategies. Depletion of Treg activity may be achieved by treatment with low dose cyclophosphamide or denileukin diffitox (ONTAK) (37, 38). The ability of cyclophosphamide to inhibit Treg and boost anti-tumor immunity has been known for decades (39), and this drug is now widely used as an



adjuvant to tumor vaccination in clinical trials. Recent studies have shown that cyclophosphamide promotes Th17 responses in cancer patients (40), lending further credence to its use as an adjuvant for DC vaccination against ovarian cancer.

A more favorable and durable approach may be to alleviate tumor-associated immune suppression through modulation of myeloid cell function and/or inhibition of IDO. If we accept the proposed model for regulation of IDO expression and Treg generation as a working hypothesis, we can infer that agents with the ability to inhibit c-KIT/PI3K/AKT/mTOR signaling or otherwise modify myeloid cell function may reduce IDO activity and inhibit recruitment of Treg in the ovarian tumor micro-environment. Our focus will be on drugs that are FDA-approved for other indications and have shown the ability to alleviate immune suppression and/or boost the efficacy of tumor vaccines or immune therapy in animal models. Promising candidates include imatinib mesylate, sunitinib, temsirolimus, and zoledronate, all of which have significant potential as adjuvants for DC vaccination against ovarian cancer.

Imatinib mesylate (Gleevec) binds BCR-ABL and c-KIT, and is an effective treatment for BCR-ABL⁺ chronic myeloid leukemia. More recent studies have shown that the therapeutic effect of imatinib could also be attributed to immune response, overcoming tumor-associated T cell tolerance and boosting vaccine efficacy (41). Imatinib also decreased Treg frequencies and enhanced antitumor immune responses to DC vaccination against imatinibresistant BCR-ABL-negative lymphoma (42), and was subsequently shown to activate CD8⁺ T cells and induce Treg apoptosis in a gastrointestinal tumor model through c-KIT inhibition and diminished IDO expression (35).

With respect to ovarian cancer, KIT ligand (SCF) is antiapoptotic and increases cisplatin resistance, whereas imatinib induces apoptosis (43). Although imatinib has shown minimal clinical benefit as a single agent in ovarian cancer (44, 45), it is well tolerated, and its ability to inhibit c-KIT and block IDO expression (35) suggests imatinib has potential to alleviate immune suppression as an adjuvant treatment for DC vaccination.

Sunitinib is an inhibitor of VEGFR, PDGFR, c-KIT, and Flt-3, and is FDA-approved for metastatic renal cell cancer. Sunitinib is currently being tested in over 300 clinical trials for cancer treatment (46), including ovarian cancer (47, 48). Numerous studies have shown that sunitinib can reduce myeloid suppressor cell accumulation and decrease Treg frequencies in animal models (49, 50) and in renal cell carcinoma patients (51, 52). This activity may at least in part be mediated through c-KIT and/or STAT3 signaling (49, 50). Sunitinib has been tested in combination with DC loaded with autologous total tumor RNA in a recently completed phase II clinical trial (NCT00678119), and a new phase III trial of DC vaccination for renal cell carcinoma following first-line treatment with sunitinib has recently been initiated (NCT01582672). No results have been reported to date for either trial.

Axitinib, a related tyrosine kinase inhibitor that blocks multiple targets, including c-KIT, may also have potential as adjuvant therapy for DC vaccination. Axitinib was approved by the FDA in 2012, as a second line treatment for advanced renal cell carcinoma.

Rapamycin (an mTOR inhibitor) is well known for its ability to suppress T cell responses, but it also has potential as an anticancer agent through inhibition of HIF-1, HIF-2, and VEGF. mTOR is a downstream component of the KIT-PI3K-AKT pathway, and rapamycin can reproduce imatinib-mediated reduction of IDO (35). Temsirolimus (a rapamycin analog) was FDA-approved for the treatment of renal cancer in 2007, and is first-line treatment for patients with metastatic disease. Remarkably, temsirolimus can enhance the efficacy of tumor vaccines (53), suggesting that it does not share the immunosuppressive properties of rapamycin, and may have value as an adjuvant for DC vaccination.

Although they don't act as inhibitors of c-KIT or downstream signaling, amino-bisphosphonates may also have potential as adjuvant treatments, by virtue of their ability to modify myeloid cell function. Zoledronic acid is a matrix metalloprotease inhibitor that blocks myeloid-derived suppressor cell expansion (54) and induces a pro-inflammatory shift in macrophage function, favoring M1 polarization over the pro-tumor M2 phenotype. Zoledronate can reduce expression of VEGF and IL-10 and increase production of type-1 cytokines such as IFN γ (55, 56). It is not known whether amino-bisphosphonates have any influence on IDO expression.

DIRECT INHIBITION OF IDO

While it would appear reasonable to block IDO function directly, rather than use signal transduction inhibitors that might lead to off-target effects and toxicity, agents that inhibit IDO activity are few and far between. 1-Methyl tryptophan has seen extensive experimental use as a competitive blocker of IDO function (57, 58), but its clinical use has been limited. There are currently two trials of DC vaccination combined with 1-methyl

tryptophan listed by ClinicalTrials.gov: a phase I/II trial of adenovirus p53-transduced DC vaccine with 1-methyl tryptophan for treatment of recurrent/stage IV breast cancer (NCT01042535, sponsored by the National Cancer Institute), and a phase II trial of Sipuleucel-T (Provenge®, Dendreon Corp.) with 1-methyl tryptophan for treatment of metastatic castration-resistant prostate cancer (NCT01560923, sponsored by the Masonic Cancer Center, University of Minnesota).

A second agent, INCB24360, developed by Incyte Corporation, is being tested in a phase II trial versus tamoxifen for patients with ovarian, primary peritoneal, or fallopian tube cancer and suffering biochemical recurrence, i.e., with CA125 at least twice the upper limit of normal (NCT01685255). INCB24360 is also being tested in a randomized phase II trial of ipilimumab plus INCB24360 or placebo for metastatic melanoma (NCT01604889). Should INCB24360 demonstrate efficacy in inhibition of IDO activity in the clinical setting, it may have considerable value as an adjuvant treatment for DC vaccination against ovarian cancer and other malignancies.

CONCLUSION

Elucidation of the multiple facets of immune regulation in the ovarian tumor micro-environment has sharpened the appreciation that there are formidable barriers to therapeutic DC vaccination, but has also raised the prospect for mechanism-based interventions. The observations that Treg infiltration or Th17 infiltration respectively correlate with either diminished or improved overall survival strongly indicate that blockade of Treg activity or stimulation of Th17 responses could similarly result in improved clinical outcomes. DC vaccine strategies that bias tumor-specific T cell responses toward a Th17 phenotype should be tested in clinical trials, preferably in advanced stage ovarian cancer patients that have completed surgery and chemotherapy and have minimal disease at the time of DC vaccination. The goal should be to prevent disease recurrence or progression, rather than to use DC vaccination as a salvage therapy in patients with significant tumor burden.

Although DC vaccination designed to boost Th17 immunity represents a step forward, adjuvant treatments that alleviate tumor-associated immune suppression are probably essential for any prospect of clinical success. IDO expression by ovarian tumor cells or infiltrating myeloid cells arguably forms one of the cornerstones of immune regulation in ovarian cancer, and it is no surprise that high IDO expression is associated with diminished overall survival. Drugs that block IDO expression or activity may tip the Treg/Th17 balance in favor of anti-tumor immunity, and several intriguing possibilities that are either FDA-approved for other indications or are currently in clinical trials have been considered. Targeting of the IDO/kynurenine/AhR regulatory pathway may also be an innovative approach, e.g., through the use of AhR antagonists such as resveratrol.

Other treatments that can have an impact on immune regulation in ovarian cancer should also be considered, either as stand-alone therapy or in combination with DC vaccination. Ipilimumab targets the T cell inhibitory molecule CTLA-4, which is highly expressed by Treg, and is FDA-approved for treatment of metastatic melanoma. There are many clinical trials in progress for ipilimumab in treatment of other malignancies, including ovarian cancer, but results have been variable and often discouraging. The prospects might be better for anti-PD-1 antibodies or anti-PD-L1 antibodies, for which promising results have been reported from clinical trials. Given that PD-L1 (B7-H1) expression is associated with decreased overall survival in ovarian cancer, blockade of PD-L1, or PD-1 may be an attractive option. Collectively, though, it is our opinion that the weight of evidence points to IDO as the focal target for immunological intervention in support of DC vaccination against ovarian cancer.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

Hannah E. Goyne and Martin J. Cannon contributed equally to the preparation and writing of this manuscript.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

The authors were supported by funding from the Mary Kay Foundation (009-11).

REFERENCES

- Zhang L, Conejo-Garcia JR, Katsaros D, Gimotty PA, Massobrio M, Regnani G, et al. Intratumoral T cells, recurrence, and survival in epithelial ovarian cancer. *N Engl J Med* (2003) 348:203–13. doi:10.1056/NEJMoa020177
- Curiel TJ, Coukos G, Zou L, Alvarez X, Cheng P, Mottram P, et al. Specific recruitment of regulatory T cells in ovarian carcinoma fosters immune privilege and predicts reduced survival. *Nat Med* (2004) 10:942–9. doi:10.1038/nm1093
- Wolf D, Wolf AM, Rumpold H, Fiegl H, Zeimet AG, Muller-Holzner E, et al. The expression of the regulatory T cell-specific forkhead box transcription factor FoxP3 is associated with poor prognosis in ovarian cancer. *Clin Cancer Res* (2005) 11:8326–31. doi:10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-05-1244
- 4. Sato E, Olson SH, Ahn J, Bundy B, Nishikawa H, Qian F, et al. Intraepithelial CD8+ tumor-infiltrating lymphocytes and a high CD8+/regulatory T cell ratio are associated with favorable prognosis in ovarian cancer. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U* S A (2005) 102:18538–43. doi:10.1073/pnas.0509182102
- Dong H, Strome SE, Salomao DR, Tamura H, Hirano F, Flies DB, et al. Tumorassociated B7-H1 promotes T-cell apoptosis: a potential mechanism of immune evasion. *Nat Med* (2002) 8:793–800. doi:10.1038/nm730
- Curiel TJ, Wei S, Dong H, Alvarez X, Cheng P, Mottram P, et al. Blockade of B7-H1 improves myeloid dendritic cell-mediated antitumor immunity. *Nat Med* (2003) 9:562–7. doi:10.1038/nm863
- Wang L, Pino-Lagos K, de Vries VC, Guleria I, Sayegh MH, Noelle RJ. Programmed death 1 ligand signaling regulates the generation of adaptive Foxp3+CD4+ regulatory T cells. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (2008) 105:9331–6. doi:10.1073/pnas.0710441105
- Sharma MD, Hou DY, Liu Y, Koni PA, Metz R, Chandler P, et al. Indoleamine 2,3dioxygenase controls conversion of Foxp3+ Tregs to TH17-like cells in tumordraining lymph nodes. *Blood* (2009) 113:6102–11. doi:10.1182/blood-2008-12-195354
- Chung DJ, Rossi M, Romano E, Ghith J, Yuan J, Munn DH, et al. Indoleamine 2,3-dioxygenase-expressing mature human monocyte-derived dendritic cells expand potent autologous regulatory T cells. *Blood* (2009) 114:555–63. doi:10. 1182/blood-2008-11-191197
- Hamanishi J, Mandai M, Iwasaki M, Okazaki T, Tanaka Y, Yamaguchi K, et al. Programmed cell death 1 ligand 1 and tumor-infiltrating CD8+ T lymphocytes are prognostic factors of human ovarian cancer. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (2007) 104:3360–5. doi:10.1073/pnas.0611533104
- Okamoto A, Nikaido T, Ochiai K, Takakura S, Saito M, Aoki Y, et al. Indoleamine 2,3-dioxygenase serves as a marker of poor prognosis in gene expression profiles of serous ovarian cancer cells. *Clin Cancer Res* (2005) 11:6030–9. doi:10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-04-2671
- Inaba T, Ino K, Kajiyama H, Yamamoto E, Shibata K, Nawa A, et al. Role of the immunosuppressive enzyme indoleamine 2,3-dioxygenase in the progression of ovarian carcinoma. *Gynecol Oncol* (2009) 115:185–92. doi:10.1016/j.ygyno. 2009.07.015

- Kryczek I, Banerjee M, Cheng P, Vatan L, Szeliga W, Wei S, et al. Phenotype, distribution, generation, and functional and clinical relevance of Th17 cells in the human tumor environments. *Blood* (2009) 114:1141–9. doi:10.1182/blood-2009-03-208249
- 14. Munn DH. Th17 cells in ovarian cancer. *Blood* (2009) **114**:1134–5. doi:10.1182/ blood-2009-06-224246
- Cannon MJ, Goyne H, Stone PJB, Chiriva-Internati M. Dendritic cell vaccination against ovarian cancer – tipping the Treg/Th17 balance to therapeutic advantage? *Expert Opin Biol Ther* (2011) 11:1–5. doi:10.1517/14712598.2011.554812
- Hargadon KM. Tumor-altered dendritic cell function: implications for antitumor immunity. Front Immunol (2013) 4:192. doi:10.3389/fimmu.2013.00192
- Jackson AM, Mulcahy LA, Zhu XW, O'Donnell D, Patel PM. Tumour-mediated disruption of dendritic cell function: inhibiting the MEK1/2-p44/42 axis restores IL-12 production and Th1-generation. *Int J Cancer* (2008) **123**:623–32. doi:10.1002/ijc.23530
- Zhao F, Falk C, Osen W, Kato M, Schadendorf D, Umansky V. Activation of p38 mitogen-activated protein kinase drives dendritic cells to become tolerogenic in ret transgenic mice spontaneously developing melanoma. *Clin Cancer Res* (2009) 15:4382–90. doi:10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-09-0399
- Wang S, Hong S, Yang J, Qian J, Zhang X, Shpall E, et al. Optimizing immunotherapy in multiple myeloma: restoring the function of patients' monocyte-derived dendritic cells by inhibiting p38 or activating MEK/ERK MAPK and neutralizing interleukin-6 in progenitor cells. *Blood* (2006) 108:4071–7. doi:10.1182/ blood-2006-04-016980
- 20. Jarnicki AG, Conroy H, Brereton C, Donnelly G, Toomey D, Walsh K, et al. Attenuating regulatory T cell induction by TLR agonists through inhibition of p38 MAPK signaling in dendritic cells enhances their efficacy as vaccine adjuvants and cancer immunotherapeutics. *J Immunol* (2008) **180**:3797–806.
- Brereton CF, Sutton CE, Lalor SJ, Lavelle EC, Mills KH. Inhibition of ERK MAPK suppresses IL-23- and IL-1-driven IL-17 production and attenuates autoimmune disease. *J Immunol* (2009) 183:1715–23. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.0803851
- Cannon MJ, Goyne H, Stone PJB, MacDonald LJ, James LE, Cobos E, et al. Modulation of p38 MAPK signaling enhances dendritic cell activation of human CD4⁺ Th17 responses to ovarian tumor antigen. *Cancer Immunol Immunother* (2013) 62:839–49. doi:10.1007/s00262-013-1391-0
- Baban B, Chandler PR, Sharma MD, Pikhala J, Koni PA, Munn DH, et al. IDO activates regulatory T cells and blocks their conversion into Th17-like T cells. *J Immunol* (2009) 183:2475–83. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.0900986
- Funatake CJ, Marshall NB, Steppan LB, Mourich DV, Kerkvliet N. Cutting edge: activation of the aryl hydrocarbon receptor by 2,3,7,8-tetrachlorodibenzo-pdioxin generates a population of CD4⁺CD25⁺ cells with characteristics of regulatory T cells. *J Immunol* (2005) 175:4184–8.
- 25. Gandhi R, Kumar D, Burns EJ, Nadeau M, Dake B, Laroni A, et al. Activation of the aryl hydrocarbon receptor induces human type 1 regulatory T cell-like and Foxp3⁺ regulatory T cells. *Nat Immunol* (2010) 11:846–53. doi:10.1038/ni.1915
- 26. Marshall NB, Kerkvliet NI. Dioxin and immune regulation: emerging role of aryl hydrocarbon receptor in the generation of regulatory T cells. *Ann NY Acad Sci* (2010) **1183**:25–37. doi:10.1111/j.1749-6632.2009.05125.x
- Veldhoen M, Hirota K, Westendorf AM, Buer J, Dumoutier L, Renauld J-C, et al. The aryl hydrocarbon receptor links T_H17-cell-mediated autoimmunity to environmental toxins. *Nature* (2008) 453:106–9. doi:10.1038/nature06881
- Quintana FJ, Basso AS, Iglesias AH, Korn T, Farex MF, Bettelli E, et al. Control of T(reg) and T(H)17 cell differentiation by the aryl hydrocarbon receptor. *Nature* (2008) 453:65–71. doi:10.1038/nature06880
- Mezrich JD, Fechner JH, Zhang X, Johnson BP, Burlingham WJ, Bradfield CA. An interaction between kynurenine and the aryl hydrocarbon receptor can generate regulatory T cells. *J Immunol* (2010) 185:3190–8. doi:10.4049/jimmunol. 0903670
- Opitz CA, Litzenburger UM, Sahm F, Ott M, Tritschler I, Trump S, et al. An endogenous tumour-promoting ligand of the human aryl hydrocarbon receptor. *Nature* (2011) 478:197–203. doi:10.1038/nature10491
- 31. Nguyen NT, Kimura A, Nakahama T, Chinen I, Masuda K, Nohara K, et al. Aryl hydrocarbon receptor negatively regulates dendritic cell immunogenicity via a kynurenine-dependent mechanism. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (2010) 107:19961–6. doi:10.1073/pnas.1014465107
- Inoue M, Kyo S, Fujita M, Enomoto T, Kondoh G. Coexpression of the c-kit receptor and the stem cell factor in gynecological tumors. *Cancer Res* (1994) 54:3049–53.

- 33. Parrott JA, Kim G, Skinner MK. Expression and action of kit ligand/stem cell factor in normal human and bovine ovarian surface epithelium and ovarian cancer. *Biol Reprod* (2000) 62:1600–9. doi:10.1095/biolreprod62.6.1600
- 34. Wilczynski SP, Chen Y-Y, Chen W, Howell SB, Shively JE, Alberts DS. Expression and mutational analysis of tyrosine kinase receptors c-kit, PDGFRα, and PDGFRβ in ovarian cancers. *Hum Pathol* (2005) 36:242–9. doi:10.1016/j.humpath.2004.11.009
- Balachandran VP, Cavnar MJ, Zeng S, Bamboat ZM, Ocuin LM, Obaid H, et al. Imatinib potentiates antitumor T cell responses in gastrointestinal stromal tumor through the inhibition of Ido. *Nat Med* (2011) 17:1094–100. doi:10.1038/nm.2438
- 36. Pan P-Y, Wang GX, Yin B, Ozao J, Ku T, Divino CM, et al. Reversion of immune tolerance in advanced malignancy: modulation of myeloid-derived suppressor cell development by blockade of stem-cell factor function. *Blood* (2008) 111:219–28. doi:10.1182/blood-2007-04-086835
- 37. Kandalaft LE, Singh N, Liao JB, Facciabene A, Berek JS, Powell DJ Jr, et al. The emergence of immunomodulation: combinatorial immunotherapy opportunities for the next decade. *Gynecol Oncol* (2010) 116:222–33. doi:10.1016/j.ygyno. 2009.11.001
- Goyne H, Stone PJ, Cannon MJ. Combinatorial strategies for alleviation of tumor-associated immune suppression and therapeutic vaccination against ovarian cancer. *Immunotherapy* (2011) 3:805–7. doi:10.2217/imt.11.71
- North RJ. Cyclophosphamide-facilitated adoptive immunotherapy of an established tumor depends on elimination of tumor-induced suppressor T cells. J Exp Med (1982) 155:1063–74. doi:10.1084/jem.155.4.1063
- Viaud S, Flament C, Zoubir M, Pautier P, LeCesne A, Ribrag V, et al. Cyclophosphamide induces differentiation of Th17 cells in cancer patients. *Cancer Res* (2011) 71:661–5. doi:10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-10-1259
- Wang H, Cheng F, Cuenca A, Horna P, Zheng Z, Bhalla K, et al. Imatinib mesylate (STI-571) enhances antigen-presenting cell function and overcomes tumorinduced CD4⁺ T-cell tolerance. *Blood* (2005) 105:1135–43. doi:10.1182/blood-2004-01-0027
- Larmonier N, Janikashvili N, LaCasse CJ, Larmonier CB, Cantrell J, Situ E, et al. Imatinib mesylate inhibits CD4⁺CD25⁺ regulatory T cell activity and enhances active immunotherapy against BCR-ABL- tumors. *J Immunol* (2008) 181:6955–63.
- Shaw T, Vanderhyden BC. AKT mediates the pro-survival effects of KIT in ovarian cancer cells and is a determinant of sensitivity to imatinib mesylate. *Gynecol Oncol* (2007) 105:122–31. doi:10.1016/j.ygyno.2006.10.052
- 44. Coleman RL, Broaddus RR, Bodurka DC, Wolf JK, Burke TW, Kavanagh JJ, et al. Phase II trial of imatinib mesylate in patients with recurrent platinumand taxane-resistant epithelial ovarian and primary peritoneal cancers. *Gynecol Oncol* (2006) **101**:126–31. doi:10.1016/j.ygyno.2005.09.041
- 45. Schilder RJ, Sill MW, Lee RB, Shaw TJ, Senterman MK, Klein-Szanto AJ, et al. Phase II evaluation of imatinib mesylate in the treatment of recurrent or persistent epithelial ovarian or primary peritoneal carcinoma: a Gynecologic Oncology Group Study. J Clin Oncol (2008) 26:3418–25. doi:10.1200/JCO.2007.14. 3420
- Ott PA, Adams S. Small-molecule protein kinase inhibitors and their effects on the immune system: implications for cancer treatment. *Immunotherapy* (2011) 3:213–27. doi:10.2217/imt.10.99
- Anglesio MS, George J, Kulbe H, Friedlander M, Rischin D, Lemech C, et al. IL6-STAT3-HIF signaling and therapeutic response to the angiogenesis inhibitor sunitinib in ovarian clear cell cancer. *Clin Cancer Res* (2011) 17:2538–48. doi:10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-10-3314
- Biagi JJ, Oza AM, Chachal HI, Grimshaw R, Ellard SL, Lee U, et al. A phase II study of sunitinib in patients with recurrent epithelial ovarian and primary peritoneal carcinoma: an NCIC Clinical Trials Group Study. *Ann Oncol* (2011) 22:335–40. doi:10.1093/annonc/mdq357
- Xin H, Zhang C, Herrmann A, Du Y, Figlin R, Yu H. Sunitinib inhibition of Stat3 induces renal cell carcinoma tumor cell apoptosis and reduces immunosuppressive cells. *Cancer Res* (2009) 69:2506–13. doi:10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-08-4323
- Ozao-Choy J, Ma G, Kao J, Wang GX, Meseck M, Sung M, et al. The novel role of tyrosine kinase inhibitor in the reversal of immune suppression and modulation of tumor microenvironment for immune-based cancer therapies. *Cancer Res* (2009) 69:2514–22. doi:10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-08-4709
- 51. Finke JH, Rini B, Ireland J, Rayman P, Richmond A, Golshayan A, et al. Sunitinib reverses type-1 immune suppression and decreases T-regulatory

cells in renal cell carcinoma patients. Clin Cancer Res (2008) 14:6674–82. doi:10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-07-5212

- Ko JS, Zea AH, Rini BR, Ireland JI, Elson P, Cohen P, et al. Sunitinib mediates reversal of myeloid-derived suppressor cells accumulation in renal cell carcinoma patients. *Clin Cancer Res* (2009) 15:2148–57. doi:10.1158/1078-0432. CCR-08-1332
- Wang Y, Wang X-Y, Subjeck JR, Shikant P, Kim HL. Temsirolimus, and mTOR inhibitor, enhances anti-tumour effects of heat shock protein cancer vaccines. *Br J Cancer* (2011) 104:643–52. doi:10.1038/bjc.2011.15
- Melani C, Sangaletti S, Barazzetta FM, Werb Z, Colombo MP. Aminobiphosphonate-mediated MMP-9 inhibition breaks the tumor-bone marrow axis responsible for myeloid-derived suppressor cell expansion and macrophage infiltration in tumor stroma. *Cancer Res* (2007) 67:11438–46. doi:10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-07-1882
- Tsagozis P, Eriksson F, Pisa P. Zoledronic acid modulates antitumoral responses of prostate cancer-tumor associated macrophages. *Cancer Immunol Immunother* (2008) 57:1451–9. doi:10.1007/s00262-008-0482-9
- Coscia M, Quaglino E, Iezzi M, Curcio C, Pantaleoni F, Riganti C, et al. Zoledronic acid repolarizes tumour-associated macrophages and inhibits mammary carcinogenesis by targeting the mevalonate pathway. *J Cell Mol Med* (2010) 14:2803–15. doi:10.1111/j.1582-4934.2009.00926.x
- Hou D-Y, Muller AJ, Sharma MD, DuHadaway J, Banerjee T, Jihnson M, et al. Inhibition of indoleamine 2,3-dioxygenase in dendritic cells by stereoisomers of 1-methyl-tryptophan correlates with antitumor responses. *Cancer Res* (2007) 67:792–801. doi:10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-06-2925

58. Qian F, Villella J, Wallace PK, Mhawech-Fauceglia P, Tario JD Jr, Andrews C, et al. Efficacy of levo-1-methyl tryptophan and dextro-1-methyl tryptophan in reversing indoleamine-2,3-dioxygenase-mediated arrest of T cell proliferation in human epithelial ovarian cancer. *Cancer Res* (2009) 69:5498–504. doi:10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-08-2106

Conflict of Interest Statement: Martin J. Cannon is a founder of DCV Technologies, Inc., a biotechnology company dedicated to the clinical development of dendritic cell vaccines for the treatment of cancer. The authors declare no other conflicts of interest.

Received: 30 September 2013; accepted: 04 November 2013; published online: 18 November 2013.

Citation: Goyne HE and Cannon MJ (2013) Dendritic cell vaccination, immune regulation, and clinical outcomes in ovarian cancer. Front. Immunol. 4:382. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2013.00382

This article was submitted to Tumor Immunity, a section of the journal Frontiers in Immunology.

Copyright © 2013 Goyne and Cannon. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) or licensor are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.



Dendritic cell plasticity in tumor-conditioned skin: CD14⁺ cells at the cross-roads of immune activation and suppression

Rieneke van de Ven^{1,2}, Jelle J. Lindenberg¹, Dinja Oosterhoff¹ and Tanja D. de Gruijl¹*

¹ Department of Medical Oncology, VU University Medical Center, Cancer Center Amsterdam, Amsterdam, Netherlands

² Laboratory of Molecular and Tumor Immunology, Robert W. Franz Cancer Research Center at the Earle A. Chiles Research Institute, Providence Cancer Center, Portland, OR, USA

Edited by:

Timothy Bullock, University of Virginia, USA

Reviewed by:

Muller Fabbri, Keck School of Medicine University of Southern California, USA Veronique Angeli, National University of Singapore, Singapore

*Correspondence:

Tanja D. de Gruijl, Department of Medical Oncology, VU University Medical Center, Room CCA2.44, De Boelelaan 1117, Amsterdam 1081 HV, Netherlands e-mail: td.degruijl@vumc.nl Tumors abuse myeloid plasticity to re-direct dendritic cell (DC) differentiation from T cell stimulatory subsets to immune-suppressive subsets that can interfere with anti-tumor immunity. Lined by a dense network of easily accessible DC the skin is a preferred site for the delivery of DC-targeted vaccines. Various groups have recently been focusing on functional aspects of DC subsets in the skin and how these may be affected by tumorderived suppressive factors. IL-6, Prostaglandin-E2, and IL-10 were identified as factors in cultures of primary human tumors responsible for the inhibited development and activation of skin DC as well as monocyte-derived DC. IL-10 was found to be uniquely able to convert fully developed DC to immature macrophage-like cells with functional M2 characteristics in a physiologically highly relevant skin explant model in which the phenotypic and functional traits of "crawl-out" DC were studied. Mostly from mouse studies, the JAK2/STAT3 signaling pathway has emerged as a "master switch" of tumor-induced immune suppression. Our lab has additionally identified p38-MAPK as an important signaling element in human DC suppression, and recently validated it as such in ex vivo cultures of single-cell suspensions from melanoma metastases. Through the identification of molecular mechanisms and signaling events that drive myeloid immune suppression in human tumors, more effective DC-targeted cancer vaccines may be designed.

Keywords: dendritic cells, human DC subsets, skin, macrophages, cancer, immune suppression

DENDRITIC CELL SUBSETS AND THEIR PLASTICITY IN HUMAN SKIN: IMPACT ON CANCER VACCINATION

Skin is the largest human organ and its direct contact with the outside environment requires tightly regulated surveillance mechanisms to keep potentially harmful intruders at bay. For this purpose, human skin is densely populated with patrolling myeloid cells, such as Langerhans cells (LC) in the epidermal outer layer and various dermal dendritic cell (DDC) subsets and macrophages in the dermal layer (1, 2). It has been elegantly shown that different profiles of pattern recognition receptors present on the various myeloid subsets lining the skin makes them exquisitely specific in the recognition, uptake and either direct elimination of pathogenic microbes, or in presentation of pathogen-associated antigens for subsequent activation of the adaptive immune system (3-5). Interaction of a pathogen with pathogen-recognition receptors on dendritic cell (DC) induces activation of down-stream signaling pathways that result in their enhanced ability to process and present pathogenic antigens and in their migration to the draining lymph nodes, accompanied by phenotypic and morphological maturation, and priming of antigen-specific T or B lymphocytes (6). Whereas initially studies concerning DC subsets in human skin mostly involved the most predominant subsets, i.e., CD1a^{hi}Langerin⁺ LC, CD1a⁺ DDC, and CD14⁺CD1a⁻DDC (7–9), the characterization of new surface

markers and deeper phenotypic and functional analyses now show that further distinctions can be made (10–13).

From our own work and that of others, it has become clear that beside epidermal LC and dermal macrophages at least five migratory DDC subsets can be distinguished (13, 14), i.e., CD1a⁺CD14⁻ DDC, CD1a⁺CD14⁺ DDC, CD1a⁻CD14⁺ DDC, and two doublenegative subsets. An important issue that as yet remains unresolved is whether all these DC populations represent genuine subsets, or whether they are part of the same DC subset in various states of activation or differentiation. A growing number of studies now point to the existence of an inter-related population of cutaneous DC and macrophages in flux, trans-differentiating into each other as directed by environmental cues (8, 15, 16). This has direct consequences for the type of immune responses that will ensue, as different migratory DC sub-populations have now been directly linked to the induction of different types of immunity (13, 14) and have different capacities to cross-present antigens for the activation of cytotoxic CD8 T cells, a process crucial for the induction of anti-tumor immunity. Roughly, CD1a⁺ mature LC and DDC subsets have been linked to type-1 T cell mediated immunity, whereas CD14⁺ immature DDC subsets have been linked to the induction of humoral immunity and expansion of regulatory T cells (Treg) (11, 12); see Figure 1 for a schematic overview. Recent evidence suggests that tumors like melanoma abuse the balance between



these subsets to effectively escape immune recognition (13, 17). In order for DC-targeted vaccines delivered through the skin to be effective, tumor-induced immune suppression should be overcome and T cell-stimulatory DC subsets selectively targeted. Here, we discuss mechanisms of tumor-imposed DC suppression in the skin microenvironment and how these may be counter-acted in aid of DC-based immunotherapy.

LC AND CD1a⁺ DDC: T CELL ACTIVATION

Klechevsky et al. first described a functional dichotomy between human LC and CD14⁺ DDC with the former preferentially activating CD8⁺ T cells and the latter B cells (9). In recent publications primary human LC have been shown to be superior inducers of Th22 cells (including conventional variant $\alpha\beta$ -T cells restricted through CD1a) (18, 19). IL-22 has an important barrier function in homeostasis and safeguards the integrity of epithelial layers, but is also involved in pathological skin conditions like psoriasis. Furio et al. reported a superior ability of migratory LC over DDC to induce either Th1 or Th2 responses (20). Of note, DDC in this report consisted of CD1a⁻CD14⁻ double-negative DDC with a potentially lower capacity for T cell activation than CD1a⁺ DDC. Mathers and co-workers showed that while LC were superior Th17 inducers, human CD14⁻ DDC had the ability to skew Th cells to either a Th1, Th2, or Th17 profile, depending on their environmental conditioning, number, and activation state (21). To further delineate T cell-stimulatory properties of freshly isolated human LC vs. CD1a⁺ DDC, we undertook a genome-wide transcriptional profiling analysis which revealed CD1a⁺ DDC to express a far wider range of adhesion and co-stimulatory molecules, chemokines, and cytokines (and at higher levels), pointing to a putatively superior migratory and T cell stimulatory ability over LC in steady state conditions (22). Using a human cell line model of LC and CD1a⁺ DDC differentiation, we confirmed these data and showed DDC to be superior activators of cytotoxic CD8⁺ T cells. Importantly, this was validated in the same study by a comparative assessment of the ex vivo ability of human skin-emigrated LC vs. DDC subsets to prime HLA-A2-matched CD8⁺ T cells against an epitope derived from the MART-1 melanoma antigen (23). While LC and CD1a⁺ DDC were equally effective in priming allogeneic Th cells, DDC primed significantly higher rates of MART-1 recognizing CD8⁺ T cells at a higher functional avidity. Of note, Banchereau et al. have recently linked the superior effector CD8⁺ T cell priming capacity of LC and CD1a⁺ DDC to their release of IL-15 into the immunological synapse (12).

CD14+ DDC: T CELL TOLERIZATION

CD14⁺ migratory DDC are discernable from dermis-resident CD14⁺ dermal macrophages through their surface expression of CD1b and CD1c (24). In a comparative analysis with CD14⁻ DDC, CD14⁺ DDC were shown to be poor inducers of allogeneic T cells and to require high DC:T cell ratios for Th1 induction (25). This relative inability of CD14⁺ DDC to induce Th1 cells was related to their release of IL-10 and TGF β 1. We and others have found CD14⁺ DC to carry low levels of co-stimulatory molecules, to display a poor T cell priming capacity, and to be characterized by the expression of CD141/BDCA3 (Thrombomodulin), a marker that

has been linked to a human DC subset with cross-priming ability (11, 13, 26). These CD14⁺BDCA3⁺ migratory DDC in a report by Chu et al. were shown to constitutively release IL-10 and to induce T cell hyporesponsiveness and Tregs (11). Moreover, they were able to cross-present self-antigens and inhibit skin inflammation in an *in vivo* transplantation model. These data point to an important role for this subset in T cell homeostasis. Banchereau et al. have pin-pointed the inability of CD14⁺ DDC to prime effector CD8⁺ T cells to their release of IL-10 and TGF β (12) and the expression of Ig-like transcript 4 (ILT4) and ILT2 (27).

TUMORS ABUSE DC PLASTICITY TO UNDERMINE IMMUNITY: A CENTRAL ROLE FOR CD14⁺ DC

A large number of studies attest to the remarkable plasticity of the myeloid lineage; tumors abuse this phenotypic plasticity to re-direct myeloid differentiation toward the development of immune-suppressive subsets that effectively interfere with antitumor immunity (28). Consequently, tumors are often characterized by an infiltrate of immature macrophage-like cells and a lack of infiltrating DCs, which is generally a poor prognostic sign (28). We and others have shown that DC differentiation from monocytes can be blocked by tumor-derived soluble factors (most notably IL-10, IL-6, or PGE2) resulting in the development of CD14⁺ macrophage-like cells with poor T cell stimulatory abilities (so-called M2-type macrophages) and with T cell suppressive activity (Figure 2) (29-32). Beside monocytes, fully differentiated DC can be recruited to the tumor microenvironment, where they may lose their characteristic CD1a expression through the suppressive action of IL-10, as shown for melanoma metastases

(33). A growing number of studies indicates the unique ability of tumor-associated IL-10 to convert even fully differentiated DC to CD14⁺ suppressive macrophage-like cells (8, 15, 16, 34, 35). IL-10 is generally expressed at high levels in the microenvironment of metastatic melanoma and can either be directly derived from tumor cells or from infiltrating immune cells. Among a panel of tumor-associated suppressive factors, we found IL-10 uniquely able to convert DCs to immature macrophage-like cells in two human model systems: (1) a physiologically highly relevant skin explant model in which we studied the phenotypic and functional traits of "crawl-out" myeloid cells (13) and (2) an in vitro model of tumor-conditioned DC maturation in which we functionally assessed CD14⁻ and CD14⁺ DC that had developed from monocyte-derived DC (MoDC) during IL-10exposed maturation (17). In all above mentioned cases the tumorinduced M2-like cells shared some striking traits: an immature CD14⁺BDCA3⁺DC-SIGN⁺CD16⁺ phenotype and macrophagelike morphology (Figure 2), a disturbed balance in the release of immunosuppressive IL-10 (high) vs. immunostimulatory IL-12p70 (low), high expression levels of the T cell-inhibitory molecule B7-H1/PDL-1, and lower priming efficiency of allogeneic Th cells and of CD8⁺ (killer) T cells, the latter specifically recognizing the melanoma antigen MART-1, but binding epitope/MHC complexes with low avidity (13, 17, 32, 35).

In studies assessing CD1a and CD14 expression on DC from human skin explants, we showed the intracutaneous cytokine balance to be important for the subset composition of migrated DC (8, 13). Indeed, we have found compelling evidence that LC and CD1a⁺ DDC can actually trans-differentiate during and after



migration from human skin explants to a CD14⁺ macrophagelike state in an IL-10-dependent fashion. Dermal conditioning by IL-10 or by topical application of irritants resulted in a shift among migrated DC from a mature CD83⁺CD1a⁺ state to an immature CD83⁻CD14⁺ macrophage-like state, passing through a CD1a⁺CD14⁺ intermediate stage (8, 15). Based on the fact that these CD14⁺ cells also expressed CD1c they were classified as DC rather than macrophages. Moreover, topical application of irritants to epidermal sheets showed that trans-differentiation from LC to macrophage-like DC depended on the presence of dermal fibroblasts and could be blocked by IL-10 neutralizing antibodies (15). A similar observation has been described in mice, where the presence of a subcutaneous tumor resulted in a DC-to-macrophage shift, with macrophage-like cells producing immune-suppressive factors such as IL-10, iNOS, and Arginase (16). Importantly, this trans-differentiation among DC that had migrated from human skin was preventable by co-injection of the DC-activating cytokines GM-CSF and/or IL-4 prior to skin explant culture (8).

Consistent with their expression of the M2-macrophage marker CD163, IL-10-converted CD14⁺ cells induced IL-10 and FoxP3 mRNA expression in allogeneic Th cells as well as a Th2like cytokine profile and Treg expansion (13). Consistent with these tolerogenic qualities, IL-10-induced CD14⁺ macrophagelike MoDCs expressed high levels of immune suppression-related transcripts such as Indoleamine 2,3-dioxygenase (IDO), IL-4Ra, IL-6R, TGF β 1, HIF1 α , and VEGFA (17). Activation of a HIF1 α transcriptional signature has been reported in tumor-associated macrophages, even under normoxic conditions (36). This is in line with the transcriptional and cytokine release profiles we observed for CD14⁺ IL-10-conditioned DC, which revealed coordinated expression of HIF1α, TGFβ, VEGFA, MMP3, MMP9, IL-8, and TNF α , all of which can contribute to such tumor-promoting processes as endothelial cell migration and proliferation and tumor growth and invasion (28). In conclusion, tumor-related suppressive factors can divert DC during differentiation and even during and after maturation toward a macrophage-like state with immune-suppressive and pro-angiogenic and pro-tumor invasive properties (Figure 2).

Interestingly, in DC migrating from human skin, BDCA3 and DC-SIGN expression levels showed a very significant inverse correlation with CD83 maturation marker expression, indicating the utility of these markers for the identification of immature DC. Indeed, they marked CD14⁺ skin-emigrated DC as the least mature population with poor co-stimulatory properties (13). In keeping with these observations, DC that had migrated from skin explants taken from breast cancer mastectomy specimens, predominantly consisted of the CD14⁺DC subset with a macrophage-like morphology (13). Normalized distribution (i.e., more mature and less immature DC subsets) was observed for explants taken from patients that had received neoadjuvant chemotherapy: a clear indication that prevailing migration of the immature CD14⁺ subset was tumor-related.

From our observations we conclude that combined expression of CD14, BDCA3, DC-SIGN, CD16, and CD163 provides a phenotypic profile useful for the identification of M2-macrophagelike subsets with immune-suppressive and tumor-promoting characteristics that arise during tumor-conditioned differentiation or maturation of human DCs. We and others have found evidence of phenotypically similar subsets in breast, colon, head and neck, renal cell, and melanoma tumors (17, 37-39). Indeed, in singlecell suspensions derived from a panel of six metastatic melanoma tumors, we observed by multicolor flow cytometry analysis, that CD14⁺ cells, co-expressing both DC-SIGN and BDCA3 and detectable in a range of 1–38%, significantly outnumbered CD1a⁺ DC, which were virtually absent (ranging from 0.05 to 0.1%) (17). BDCA3 expression has recently been reported on skin-derived CD14⁺ DC that induced inflammation-attenuating Tregs (11). Combined with its association with cross-presenting DC subsets (10), this is highly suggestive of cross-tolerizing ability for BDCA3⁺DC. As yet, the functional significance of BDCA3/CD141 in either cross-presentation or immune suppression remains largely unclear, but some clues are emerging. Its Lectin-like domain can down-regulate NF-kB and mitogen-activated protein kinase (MAPK) pathways and might thus interfere with DC maturation and drive IL-10 release and Th2 skewing (40, 41). In keeping with this notion, BDCA3⁺ blood DC promote Th2 skewing (42) and in vitro generated or skin-derived CD14⁺BDCA3⁺ DC release elevated levels of IL-10 (11, 34). In addition, DC-SIGN can negatively impact DC activation resulting in prolonged and increased IL-10 transcription (43). Both DC-SIGN and BDCA3 may thus contribute to the immune-suppressive activity of tumor-modulated $CD14^+$ cells.

Recently, the role of non-coding RNAs or microRNAs (miR-NAs) in myeloid cell plasticity and functionality has also been studied. In mice, tumor-associated miRNAs were found to modulate the survival and longevity of DC (44), miR-223 was described to negatively regulate and miR-150 to positively regulate the crosspresenting abilities of LC (45, 46), the TGF- β associated miR-27a was reported to inhibit DC-mediated differentiation of Th1 and Th17 cells (47) and in an allergy setting miR-23b was shown to induce tolerogenic DC through inhibition of the Notch1/NF- κ B pathway (48). In man, this field of research remains largely unexplored, though miR-155 was shown to regulate the M1/M2macrophage balance by targeting the IL13-Receptor α 1, thereby reducing M2 polarization (49).

SIGNAL TRANSDUCTION PATHWAYS ACTING AS MASTER SWITCHES OF TUMOR-INDUCED DC SUPPRESSION: TARGETS FOR THERAPEUTIC INTERVENTION

Tumor-derived suppressive factors bind various receptors on myeloid cells but down-stream signals may converge in shared pathways. Mostly from mouse studies, the JAK2/STAT3 signaling pathway has emerged as a "master switch" of tumor-induced immune suppression (50). We have additionally identified p38-MAPK as an important signaling pathway in human DC suppression, and validated it as such in *in vitro* DC cultures and in *ex vivo* cultures of single-cell suspensions from melanoma metastases (32). From a panel of tumor-associated suppressive factors (including PGE2), we found only IL-6 and IL-10 to induce STAT3 phosphorylation during human MoDC development. As we had previously identified prostaglandins as the main culprit of suppressed DC differentiation by supernatants from singlecell suspensions of metastatic melanoma tumors (29) it was not

surprising that STAT3 inhibition alone could not prevent this suppression; for this, combined JAK2/STAT3 and p38-MAPK inhibition was required. Importantly, combined interference in the STAT3 and p38 pathways completely prevented inhibition of DC differentiation by all tested tumor supernatants (n = 18, derived from both primary tumors and tumor cell lines, together encompassing eight different histological origins) and led to superior DC functionality, evidenced by increased allogeneic T cell reactivity with elevated IL-12p70/IL-10 ratios and Th1 skewing (32). Most importantly, combined STAT3 and p38 inhibition supported a shift from CD14⁺ monocyte-like cells to CD1a⁺ DC in metastatic melanoma single-cell suspensions, indicating a potential for improved DC differentiation in the tumor microenvironment (32). Of note, siRNA-mediated knockdown of STAT3 only, did effectively prevent the generation of CD14⁺ cells during IL-10-modulated MoDC maturation induction (17).

Altogether, these data point to different tumor-associated factors (i.e., IL-10, IL-6, PGE2) exerting their suppressive effects at various stages of myeloid DC development through converging and communicating signaling elements encompassing the JAK2/STAT3 and p38-MAPK pathways (**Figure 2**). To specifically address melanoma-induced myeloid suppression it is important to further dissect the JAK2/STAT3 and p38-MAPK pathways and possible cross-talk between them in melanoma-associated myeloid subsets in order to identify specifically acting and clinically relevant therapeutic targets. The advent of small-molecule kinase inhibitors and RNAi-based therapeutics now enables targeting not only of tumors, but also of their stroma, and should facilitate re-programing of tumor-associated myeloid cells, as well as tumor-modulated DC subsets in the skin, in support of anti-tumor immunity.

THERAPEUTIC ACTIVATION AND TARGETING OF DC IN THE SKIN AND ITS LYMPH CATCHMENT AREA

Beyond the local suppressive environment at the site of the tumor, the immune-suppressive effects of the tumor stretch to draining lymph nodes where anti-tumor T cell responses should be primed. Sentinel lymph nodes (SLN) are the first-line tumor-draining lymph nodes and as such bear the brunt of melanoma-induced immune suppression (51). We have identified and characterized four conventional DC subsets in melanoma SLN, two of which were positively identified as skin-derived CD1a⁺LC and DDC, and the remaining two (CD1a⁻CD14⁻ and CD1a⁻CD14⁺) as LN-resident subsets with varying levels of BDCA3 and DC-SIGN expression (52). Deeper invasion of the primary melanoma in SLN tumor negative patients was related to a reduced activation state of skin-derived DC subsets in the SLN (53, 54). Also, lower frequencies of the skin-derived subsets were found in tumor positive SLN as well as a reduced activation state of LN-resident DC subsets (our own unpublished data). These findings indicate a local suppressive effect of the primary tumor on the activation state of skin-derived DC which then migrate to the SLN and lymph node metastasis-related suppression of SLN-resident DC subsets, and are in keeping with tumor-induced conditioning of the microenvironment (skin or SLN, respectively). Moreover, they suggest that primary melanoma-mediated suppression of activation and migration of skin DC enables local metastasis.

In two Phase II clinical trials we have demonstrated that localized intradermal administration of DC-stimulatory agents such as GM-CSF and CpG oligodeoxynucleotides (ODN), i.e., TLR9 ligands, led to increased activation of DC subsets in SLN of melanoma patients and tipped the local cytokine balance in favor of cytotoxic T cell mediated anti-tumor immunity (55-58). Although in man CpG ODN don't directly bind to conventional DC, we nevertheless observed maturation induction of conventional DC subsets, most likely through CpG-induced cytokine release by plasmacytoid DC (57). In our human skin explant model we have similarly tested the effects of intradermal delivery of a panel of TLR-ligands on migratory DC and found a unique ability of the TLR2 and 3 agonists peptidoglycan (PGN) and polyriboinosinic-polyribocytidylic acid (Poly I:C) to enhance the T cell-priming ability of skin-emigrated DC, which, in the case of PGN, was accompanied by Th1 polarization (59). Surprisingly only small effects of the tested TLR-ligands on phenotypic DC activation were observed. This may have been due to induced IL-10 release, which might have been counter-acted by simultaneous signaling modulation (60, 61). Indeed, evidence for the therapeutic efficacy of combined STAT3 inhibition and CpG ODN was previously provided by Kortylewski and colleagues, showing superior immune stimulatory effects of CpG by eliminating collateral STAT3-mediated suppressive effects (62, 63).

In conclusion, JAK2/STAT3 and/or p38-MAPK signaling interference, combined with local immune potentiation, may counterbalance tumor-imposed suppression of skin DC subsets, minimizing the induction and trans-differentiation of migratory CD14⁺ M2-like DC with T cell suppressive characteristics, and thus set the stage for effective tumor vaccination through DC-targeted approaches.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

Rieneke van de Ven and Tanja D. de Gruijl conceptualized and wrote the manuscript, Jelle J. Lindenberg and Dinja Oosterhoff co-wrote the manuscript.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

This work was supported by the Netherlands Organization for Scientific Research, NWO VIDI grant 917–956–321 to Tanja D. de Gruijl, and Stichting Cancer Center Amsterdam (CCA); Rieneke van de Ven is a fellow of the Dutch Cancer Society (KWF BUIT-4643).

REFERENCES

- Nestle FO, Di Meglio P, Qin J-Z, Nickoloff BJ. Skin immune sentinels in health and disease. Nat Rev Immunol (2009) 9:679–91. doi:10.1038/nri2622
- Oosterhoff D, Sluijter BJR, Hangalapura BN, de Gruijl TD. The dermis as a portal for dendritic cell-targeted immunotherapy of cutaneous melanoma. *Curr Top Microbiol Immunol* (2012) 351:181–220. doi:10.1007/82_2011_136
- van der Aar AMG, Sylva-Steenland RMR, Bos JD, Kapsenberg ML, de Jong EC, Teunissen MBM. Loss of TLR2, TLR4, and TLR5 on Langerhans cells abolishes bacterial recognition. *J Immunol* (2007) 178:1986–90.
- de Witte L, de Jong MAWP, den Dunnen J, van Kooyk Y, Geijtenbeek TBH. Identification of pathogen receptors on dendritic cells to understand their function and to identify new drug targets. *Methods Mol Biol* (2009) 531:267–85. doi:10.1007/978-1-59745-396-7_17
- Unger WW, van Kooyk Y. "Dressed for success" C-type lectin receptors for the delivery of glyco-vaccines to dendritic cells. *Curr Opin Immunol* (2011) 23:131–7. doi:10.1016/j.coi.2010.11.011

- Geijtenbeek TBH, Gringhuis SI. Signalling through C-type lectin receptors: shaping immune responses. Nat Rev Immunol (2009) 9:465–79. doi:10.1038/ nri2569
- de Gruijl TD, Luykx-de Bakker SA, Tillman BW, van den Eertwegh AJM, Buter J, Lougheed SM, et al. Prolonged maturation and enhanced transduction of dendritic cells migrated from human skin explants after in situ delivery of CD40targeted adenoviral vectors. J Immunol (2002) 169:5322–31.
- 8. de Gruijl TD, Sombroek CC, Lougheed SM, Oosterhoff D, Buter J, van den Eertwegh AJM, et al. A postmigrational switch among skin-derived dendritic cells to a macrophage-like phenotype is predetermined by the intracutaneous cytokine balance. *J Immunol* (2006) **176**:7232–42.
- Klechevsky E, Morita R, Liu M, Cao Y, Coquery S, Thompson-Snipes L, et al. Functional specializations of human epidermal Langerhans cells and CD14+ dermal dendritic cells. *Immunity* (2008) 29:497–510. doi:10.1016/j.immuni. 2008.07.013
- Haniffa M, Shin A, Bigley V, McGovern N, Teo P, See P, et al. Human tissues contain CD141hi cross-presenting dendritic cells with functional homology to mouse CD103+ nonlymphoid dendritic cells. *Immunity* (2012) 37:60–73. doi:10.1016/j.immuni.2012.04.012
- Chu C-C, Ali N, Karagiannis P, Di Meglio P, Skowera A, Napolitano L, et al. Resident CD141 (BDCA3)+ dendritic cells in human skin produce IL-10 and induce regulatory T cells that suppress skin inflammation. *J Exp Med* (2012) 209:935–45. doi:10.1084/jem.20112583
- Banchereau J, Thompson-Snipes L, Zurawski S, Blanck J-P, Cao Y, Clayton S, et al. The differential production of cytokines by human Langerhans cells and dermal CD14(+) DCs controls CTL priming. *Blood* (2012) 119:5742–9. doi:10.1182/blood-2011-08-371245
- Lindenberg JJ, Oosterhoff D, Sombroek CC, Lougheed SM, Hooijberg E, Stam AGM, et al. IL-10 conditioning of human skin affects the distribution of migratory dendritic cell subsets and functional T cell differentiation. *PLoS One* (2013) 8:e70237. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0070237
- Klechevsky E, Banchereau J. Human dendritic cells subsets as targets and vectors for therapy. Ann N Y Acad Sci (2013) 1284:24–30. doi:10.1111/nyas.12113
- Ouwehand K, Oosterhoff D, Breetveld M, Scheper RJ, de Gruijl TD, Gibbs S. Irritant-induced migration of Langerhans cells coincides with an IL-10dependent switch to a macrophage-like phenotype. *J Invest Dermatol* (2011) 131:418–25. doi:10.1038/jid.2010.336
- Diao J, Mikhailova A, Tang M, Gu H, Zhao J, Cattral MS. Immunostimulatory conventional dendritic cells evolve into regulatory macrophage-like cells. *Blood* (2012) 119:4919–27. doi:10.1182/blood-2011-11-392894
- Lindenberg JJ, van de Ven R, Lougheed SM, Zomer A, Santegoets SJAM, Griffioen AW, et al. Functional characterization of a STAT3-dependent dendritic cell-derived CD14(+) cell population arising upon IL-10-driven maturation. *Oncoimmunology* (2013) 2:e23837. doi:10.4161/onci.23837
- Fujita H, Nograles KE, Kikuchi T, Gonzalez J, Carucci JA, Krueger JG. Human Langerhans cells induce distinct IL-22-producing CD4+ T cells lacking IL-17 production. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (2009) 106:21795–800. doi:10.1073/pnas. 0911472106
- de Jong A, Peña-Cruz V, Cheng T-Y, Clark RA, Van Rhijn I, Moody DB. CD1aautoreactive T cells are a normal component of the human αβ T cell repertoire. *Nat Immunol* (2010) 11:1102–9. doi:10.1038/ni.1956
- Furio L, Briotet I, Journeaux A, Billard H, Péguet-Navarro J. Human Langerhans cells are more efficient than CD14(-)CD1c(+) dermal dendritic cells at priming naive CD4(+) T cells. J Invest Dermatol (2010) 130:1345–54. doi:10.1038/jid.2009.424
- 21. Mathers AR, Janelsins BM, Rubin JP, Tkacheva OA, Shufesky WJ, Watkins SC, et al. Differential capability of human cutaneous dendritic cell subsets to initiate Th17 responses. *J Immunol* (2009) **182**:921–33.
- 22. Santegoets SJAM, Gibbs S, Kroeze K, van de Ven R, Scheper RJ, Borrebaeck CA, et al. Transcriptional profiling of human skin-resident Langerhans cells and CD1a+ dermal dendritic cells: differential activation states suggest distinct functions. J Leukoc Biol (2008) 84:143–51. doi:10.1189/jlb.1107750
- 23. Santegoets SJAM, Bontkes HJ, Stam AGM, Bhoelan F, Ruizendaal JJ, van den Eertwegh AJM, et al. Inducing antitumor T cell immunity: comparative functional analysis of interstitial versus Langerhans dendritic cells in a human cell line model. *J Immunol* (2008) 180:4540–9.
- 24. Zaba LC, Fuentes-Duculan J, Steinman RM, Krueger JG, Lowes MA. Normal human dermis contains distinct populations of CD11c+BDCA-1+ dendritic

cells and CD163+FXIIIA+ macrophages. J Clin Invest (2007) 117:2517–25. doi:10.1172/JCI32282

- Morelli AE, Rubin JP, Erdos G, Tkacheva OA, Mathers AR, Zahorchak AF, et al. CD4+ T cell responses elicited by different subsets of human skin migratory dendritic cells. *J Immunol* (2005) 175:7905–15.
- 26. Jongbloed SL, Kassianos AJ, McDonald KJ, Clark GJ, Ju X, Angel CE, et al. Human CD141+ (BDCA-3)+ dendritic cells (DCs) represent a unique myeloid DC subset that cross-presents necrotic cell antigens. J Exp Med (2010) 207:1247–60. doi:10.1084/jem.20092140
- 27. Banchereau J, Zurawski S, Thompson-Snipes L, Blanck J-P, Clayton S, Munk A, et al. Immunoglobulin-like transcript receptors on human dermal CD14+ dendritic cells act as a CD8-antagonist to control cytotoxic T cell priming. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (2012) **109**:18885–90. doi:10.1073/pnas.1205785109
- Gabrilovich DI, Ostrand-Rosenberg S, Bronte V. Coordinated regulation of myeloid cells by tumours. *Nat Rev Immunol* (2012) 12:253–68. doi:10.1038/ nri3175
- Sombroek CC, Stam AGM, Masterson AJ, Lougheed SM, Schakel MJAG, Meijer CJLM, et al. Prostanoids play a major role in the primary tumorinduced inhibition of dendritic cell differentiation. *J Immunol* (2002) 168: 4333–43.
- 30. Heusinkveld M, de Vos van Steenwijk PJ, Goedemans R, Ramwadhdoebe TH, Gorter A, Welters MJP, et al. M2 macrophages induced by prostaglandin E2 and IL-6 from cervical carcinoma are switched to activated M1 macrophages by CD4+ Th1 cells. J Immunol (2011) 187:1157–65. doi:10.4049/jimmunol. 1100889
- Obermajer N, Muthuswamy R, Lesnock J, Edwards RP, Kalinski P. Positive feedback between PGE2 and COX2 redirects the differentiation of human dendritic cells toward stable myeloid-derived suppressor cells. *Blood* (2011) 118:5498–505. doi:10.1182/blood-2011-07-365825
- 32. Oosterhoff D, Lougheed S, van de Ven R, Lindenberg J, van Cruijsen H, Hiddingh L, et al. Tumor-mediated inhibition of human dendritic cell differentiation and function is consistently counteracted by combined p38 MAPK and STAT3 inhibition. *Oncoimmunology* (2012) 1:649–58. doi:10.4161/ onci.20365
- 33. Gerlini G, Tun-Kyi A, Dudli C, Burg G, Pimpinelli N, Nestle FO. Metastatic melanoma secreted IL-10 down-regulates CD1 molecules on dendritic cells in metastatic tumor lesions. *Am J Pathol* (2004) 165:1853–63. doi:10.1016/S0002-9440(10)63238-5
- 34. Velten FW, Duperrier K, Bohlender J, Metharom P, Goerdt S. A gene signature of inhibitory MHC receptors identifies a BDCA3(+) subset of IL-10-induced dendritic cells with reduced allostimulatory capacity in vitro. *Eur J Immunol* (2004) 34:2800–11. doi:10.1002/eji.200324732
- Chen F, Hou M, Ye F, Lv W, Xie X. Ovarian cancer cells induce peripheral mature dendritic cells to differentiate into macrophagelike cells in vitro. *Int J Gynecol Cancer* (2009) 19:1487–93. doi:10.1111/IGC.0b013e3181bb70c6
- 36. Herr B, Zhou J, Werno C, Menrad H, Namgaladze D, Weigert A, et al. The supernatant of apoptotic cells causes transcriptional activation of hypoxia-inducible factor-lalpha in macrophages via sphingosine-1-phosphate and transforming growth factor-beta. *Blood* (2009) **114**:2140–8. doi:10.1182/blood-2009-01-201889
- 37. Domínguez-Soto A, Sierra-Filardi E, Puig-Kröger A, Pérez-Maceda B, Gómez-Aguado F, Corcuera MT, et al. Dendritic cell-specific ICAM-3-grabbing nonintegrin expression on M2-polarized and tumor-associated macrophages is macrophage-CSF dependent and enhanced by tumor-derived IL-6 and IL-10. J Immunol (2011) 186:2192–200. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.1000475
- Figel A-M, Brech D, Prinz PU, Lettenmeyer UK, Eckl J, Turqueti-Neves A, et al. Human renal cell carcinoma induces a dendritic cell subset that uses T-cell crosstalk for tumor-permissive milieu alterations. *Am J Pathol* (2011) 179:436–51. doi:10.1016/j.ajpath.2011.03.011
- Ramanathapuram LV, Hopkin D, Kurago ZB. Dendritic cells (DC) facilitate detachment of squamous carcinoma cells (SCC), while SCC promote an immature CD16(+) DC phenotype and control DC migration. *Cancer Microenviron* (2013) 6:41–55. doi:10.1007/s12307-011-0077-4
- Conway EM, Pollefeyt S, Collen D, Steiner-Mosonyi M. The amino terminal lectin-like domain of thrombomodulin is required for constitutive endocytosis. *Blood* (1997) 89:652–61.
- 41. Bansal K, Sinha AY, Ghorpade DS, Togarsimalemath SK, Patil SA, Kaveri SV, et al. Src homology 3-interacting domain of Rv1917c of Mycobacterium

tuberculosis induces selective maturation of human dendritic cells by regulating PI3K-MAPK-NF-kappaB signaling and drives Th2 immune responses. *J Biol Chem* (2010) **285**:36511–22. doi:10.1074/jbc.M110.158055

- 42. Yerkovich ST, Roponen M, Smith ME, McKenna K, Bosco A, Subrata LS, et al. Allergen-enhanced thrombomodulin (blood dendritic cell antigen 3, CD141) expression on dendritic cells is associated with a TH2-skewed immune response. *J Allergy Clin Immunol* (2009) **123**:209.e–16.e. doi:10.1016/j.jaci.2008.09.009
- Gringhuis SI, den Dunnen J, Litjens M, van Het Hof B, van Kooyk Y, Geijtenbeek TBH. C-type lectin DC-SIGN modulates Toll-like receptor signaling via Raf-1 kinase-dependent acetylation of transcription factor NF-kappaB. *Immunity* (2007) 26:605–16. doi:10.1016/j.immuni.2007.03.012
- 44. Min S, Liang X, Zhang M, Zhang Y, Mei S, Liu J, et al. Multiple tumor-associated microRNAs modulate the survival and longevity of dendritic cells by targeting YWHAZ and Bcl2 signaling pathways. *J Immunol* (2013) 190:2437–46. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.1202282
- Mi Q-S, Xu Y-P, Wang H, Qi R-Q, Dong Z, Zhou L. Deletion of microRNA miR-223 increases Langerhans cell cross-presentation. *Int J Biochem Cell Biol* (2013) 45:395–400. doi:10.1016/j.biocel.2012.11.004
- Mi Q-S, Xu Y-P, Qi R-Q, Shi Y-L, Zhou L. Lack of microRNA miR-150 reduces the capacity of epidermal Langerhans cell cross-presentation. *Exp Dermatol* (2012) 21:876–7. doi:10.1111/exd.12008
- 47. Min S, Li L, Zhang M, Zhang Y, Liang X, Xie Y, et al. TGF-β-associated miR-27a inhibits dendritic cell-mediated differentiation of Th1 and Th17 cells by TAB3, p38 MAPK, MAP2K4 and MAP2K7. *Genes Immun* (2012) 13:621–31. doi:10.1038/gene.2012.45
- Zheng J, Jiang H-Y, Li J, Tang H-C, Zhang X-M, Wang X-R, et al. MicroRNA-23b promotes tolerogenic properties of dendritic cells in vitro through inhibiting Notch1/NF-κBsignalling pathways. *Allergy* (2012) 67:362–70. doi:10.1111/ j.1398-9995.2011.02776.x
- Martinez-Nunez RT, Louafi F, Sanchez-Elsner T. The interleukin 13 (IL-13) pathway in human macrophages is modulated by microRNA-155 via direct targeting of interleukin 13 receptor 1 (IL13R 1). J Biol Chem (2011) 286:1786–94. doi:10.1074/jbc.M110.169367
- 50. Yu H, Pardoll D, Jove R. STATs in cancer inflammation and immunity: a leading role for STAT3. *Nat Rev Cancer* (2009) **9**:798–809. doi:10.1038/nrc2734
- Cochran AJ, Huang R-R, Lee J, Itakura E, Leong SPL, Essner R. Tumourinduced immune modulation of sentinel lymph nodes. *Nat Rev Immunol* (2006) 6:659–70. doi:10.1038/nri1919
- 52. van de Ven R, van den Hout MFCM, Lindenberg JJ, Sluijter BJR, van Leeuwen PAM, Lougheed SM, et al. Characterization of four conventional dendritic cell subsets in human skin-draining lymph nodes in relation to T-cell activation. *Blood* (2011) **118**:2502–10. doi:10.1182/blood-2011-03-344838
- Gerlini G, Di Gennaro P, Mariotti G, Urso C, Chiarugi A, Caporale R, et al. Human Langerhans cells are immature in melanoma sentinel lymph nodes. *Blood* (2012) 119:4807–8. doi:10.1182/blood-2011-12-401067 author reply 4809–10,
- 54. van den Hout MFCM, Koster BD, Sluijter BJR, van Leeuwen PA, Meijer S, van den Tol MP, et al. Response: breslow thickness and excision interval affect the activation state of Langerhans cells in melanoma sentinel lymph nodes. *Blood* (2012) 119:4809–10. doi:10.1182/blood-2012-03-413294
- 55. Vuylsteke RJCLM, Molenkamp BG, Gietema HA, van Leeuwen PAM, Wijnands PGJTB, Vos W, et al. Local administration of granulocyte/macrophage colonystimulating factor increases the number and activation state of dendritic cells

in the sentinel lymph node of early-stage melanoma. *Cancer Res* (2004) **64**:8456-60. doi:10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-03-3251

- 56. Vuylsteke RJCLM, Molenkamp BG, van Leeuwen PAM, Meijer S, Wijnands PGJTB, Haanen JBAG, et al. Tumor-specific CD8+ T cell reactivity in the sentinel lymph node of GM-CSF-treated stage I melanoma patients is associated with high myeloid dendritic cell content. *Clin Cancer Res* (2006) 12:2826–33. doi:10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-05-2431
- Molenkamp BG, van Leeuwen PAM, Meijer S, Sluijter BJR, Wijnands PGJTB, Baars A, et al. Intradermal CpG-B activates both plasmacytoid and myeloid dendritic cells in the sentinel lymph node of melanoma patients. *Clin Cancer Res* (2007) 13:2961–9. doi:10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-07-0050
- Molenkamp BG, Sluijter BJR, van Leeuwen PAM, Santegoets SJAM, Meijer S, Wijnands PGJTB, et al. Local administration of PF-3512676 CpG-B instigates tumor-specific CD8+ T-cell reactivity in melanoma patients. *Clin Cancer Res* (2008) 14:4532–42. doi:10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-07-4711
- Oosterhoff D, Heusinkveld M, Lougheed SM, Kosten I, Lindstedt M, Bruijns SCM, et al. Intradermal delivery of TLR agonists in a human explant skin model: preferential activation of migratory dendritic cells by polyribosinicpolyribocytidylic acid and peptidoglycans. *J Immunol* (2013) 190:3338–45. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.1200598
- Melillo JA, Song L, Bhagat G, Blazquez AB, Plumlee CR, Lee C, et al. Dendritic cell (DC)-specific targeting reveals Stat3 as a negative regulator of DC function. *J Immunol* (2010) 184:2638–45. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.0902960
- Oliveira CJF, Carvalho WA, Garcia GR, Gutierrez FRS, de Miranda Santos IKF, Silva JS, et al. Tick saliva induces regulatory dendritic cells: MAP-kinases and Toll-like receptor-2 expression as potential targets. *Vet Parasitol* (2010) 167:288–97. doi:10.1016/j.vetpar.2009.09.031
- Kortylewski M, Kujawski M, Herrmann A, Yang C, Wang L, Liu Y, et al. Tolllike receptor 9 activation of signal transducer and activator of transcription 3 constrains its agonist-based immunotherapy. *Cancer Res* (2009) 69:2497–505. doi:10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-08-3031
- Kortylewski M, Swiderski P, Herrmann A, Wang L, Kowolik C, Kujawski M, et al. In vivo delivery of siRNA to immune cells by conjugation to a TLR9 agonist enhances antitumor immune responses. *Nat Biotechnol* (2009) 27:925–32. doi:10.1038/nbt.1564

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Received: 26 September 2013; accepted: 08 November 2013; published online: 25 November 2013.

Citation: van de Ven R, Lindenberg JJ, Oosterhoff D and de Gruijl TD (2013) Dendritic cell plasticity in tumor-conditioned skin: CD14⁺ cells at the cross-roads of immune activation and suppression. Front. Immunol. **4**:403. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2013.00403 This article was submitted to Tumor Immunity, a section of the journal Frontiers in Immunology.

Copyright © 2013 van de Ven, Lindenberg, Oosterhoff and de Gruijl. This is an openaccess article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) or licensor are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

REVIEW ARTICLE published: 21 February 2014 doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2014.00066



The role of dendritic cells in graft-versus-tumor effect

Tomomi Toubai, Nathan Mathewson and Pavan Reddy *

Blood and Marrow Transplantation Program, Division of Hematology and Oncology, Department of Internal Medicine, University of Michigan Comprehensive Cancer Center, Ann Arbor, MI, USA

Edited by:

Kristian Michael Hargadon, Hampden-Sydney College, USA

Reviewed by:

Kamil R. Kranc, University of Edinburgh, UK Motoko Koyama, QIMR Berghofer Medical Research Institute, Australia

*Correspondence:

Pavan Reddy, Blood and Marrow Transplantation Program, Division of Hematology and Oncology, Department of Internal Medicine, University of Michigan Comprehensive Cancer Center, 3312 CCGC, 1500 East Medical Center Drive, Ann Arbor, MI 48105-1942, USA e-mail: reddypr@med.umich.edu Dendritic cells (DCs) are the most potent antigen presenting cells. DCs play a pivotal role in determining the character and magnitude of immune responses to tumors. Host and donor hematopoietic-derived DCs play a critical role in the development of graft-versus-host disease (GVHD) following allogeneic hematopoietic cell transplantation. GVHD is tightly linked with the graft-versus-tumor (GVT) effect. Although both host and donor DCs are important regulators of GVHD, the role of DCs in GVT is poorly understood. GVT is caused by donor T cells that attack recipient tumor cells. The donor T cells recognize alloantigens, and tumor specific antigens (TSAs) are mediating GVHD. The process of presentation of these antigens, especially TSAs remains unknown. Recent data suggested that DC may be essential role for inducing GVT. The mechanisms that DCs possess may include direct presentation, cross-presentation, cross-dressing. The role they play in GVT will be reviewed.

Keywords: allogeneic hematopoietic stem cell transplantation, graft-versus-tumor effect, dendritic cells

INTRODUCTION

Allogeneic hematopoietic cell transplantation (allo-HCT) has become widely used as a curative therapy for a variety of life-threatening hematologic, immunologic, and genetic diseases. However, serious complications endure, presenting as obstacles to successful treatment. One complication is graft-versus-host disease (GVHD) and another is primary disease relapse. The current understanding of the science suggests that the dysregulation and/or dysfunction of the immune system and corresponding immunocompetent cells of recipients after allo-HCT are responsible for these obstacles (1). Current prophylaxis and treatment regimens using immunosuppressants mainly target T cells for the mitigation of GVHD. Excessive immunosuppression for the treatment of GVHD often results in serious infections (Cytomegalovirus, Herpes zoster virus, fungus, and bacterias), decreases graft-versustumor (GVT) responses (which are the most beneficial effects of allo-HCT), and finally is known to cause relapse of primary disease (1, 2). Thus, it is imperative that we develop new strategies of GVHD prophylaxis and treatment while maintaining sufficient GVT effect.

Dendritic cells (DCs), the most potent of the antigen presenting cells (APCs) of both the innate and adaptive immune responses, are critical for the pathophysiology of both GVHD and GVL (1–3). Host and donor hematopoietic-derived APCs (particularly DCs) are critical in the development of GVHD (4–6). In addition, host hematopoietic-derived DCs also play a significant role in GVL (7, 8). In this review, we focus on the role of DCs in GVT and consider strategies for effective utilization in enhancing GVT.

SUBSETS AND FUNCTION OF DENDRITIC CELLS

Dendritic cells have bilateral characteristics, as DCs are critical for priming T cell responses in an inflammatory milieu, but are also required for the induction of tolerance at steady state.

Dendritic cells are phenotypically classified under many subtypes. This heterogeneity suggests that better understanding of these distinct subsets may lead to the ability to modify and manipulate DC functions. Lymphoid and non-lymphoid tissues, as well as the blood, contain a variety of DC subsets with a wide range of functions. DCs arise from bone marrow (BM)derived macrophage/DC precursors (MDPs) (9). MDPs differentiate into monocytes, yielding macrophages; common DC precursors (CDPs), which generate classic DC (cDC)-restricted precursors (pre-cDCs); or plasmacytoid DCs (pDCs) (9). However, human equivalents of mouse MDPs and CDPs remain elusive (10). Pre-cDCs migrate from the BM and enter blood circulation destined for lymphoid organs and/or peripheral tissues. Upon arrival, pre-DCs differentiate into lymphoid/non-lymphoid tissue DCs (9). DCs express both the hematopoietic marker CD45 and integrin CD11c. Further, DCs can be divided into two major categories in lymphoid tissues, based upon the intensity of CD11c expression. The first is conventional DCs (cDCs–CD11c^{high}) and second is pDCs (pDCs-CD11c^{low/int}). cDCs are further categorized into lymphoid organ resident DCs and migratory tissue DCs. Both categories of cDCs are also divided into CD8a⁺DCs (lymphoidderived DCs) and CD8⁺ α ⁻DCs (myeloid-derived DCs) and they show low co-stimulatory molecules in steady state (11-13). In non-lymphoid tissue, there are three types of DCs [tissue-resident steady state DCs, pDCs, and monocyte-derived DCs (moDCs)] in mouse; humans express at least two types of DCs, pDCs, and myeloid-derived DCs that are divided into three different categories: CD16⁺DCs, BDCA1⁺, and BDCA3⁺ DCs. Although DCs expressing certain phenotypes are known to contribute to development of GVHD, but not obligatory (14-16), the function of the remaining phenotypes is less understood. The various subsets are discussed very briefly below and summarized in Table 1, in light of several recent excellent reviews on these subsets (13, 17–19).

Table 1 | Dendritic cell subsets.

DC subsets	Surface markers	Transcription factors	Function
Mouse: CD8α ⁺ DCs	Mouse: CD8α ⁺ (11)	FMS-related tyrosine kinase 3 (Flt3) (171, 172) Interferon regulatory factor 8 (IRF8) (24, 30)	Engulf and process exogenous antigens and subsequently present these antigens to CD4 ⁺ T cells via MHC class II (13) Strong cross-presentation capacity (37)
Human: BDCA3 ⁺ DCs	Human: BDCA3 ⁺ (CD141) ⁺ (48) Mouse/human: MHC class II ⁺ , CD24 ⁺ (12), CD36 ⁺ (24), DEC205 (CD205) ⁺ (12), Clec9A (DNGR-1) ⁺ (22), TLR3 ⁺ (23), XCR ⁺ (25, 46, 47)	Inhibitor of DNA binding protein 2 (Id2) (31, 36) Basic leucine zipper transcription factor ATF-like 3 (Batf3) (32) Nuclear factor interleukin-3 regulated (Nfil3) (33) PU.1 (34) Zinc finger transcription factor (Zbtb46) (35)	Enhancement of CTL responses (38, 39) Secrete large amounts of IL-12 (38, 39) Secretion of type I IFN with TLR3, TLR9, and plasmodium stimulation (173, 174) Immune modulatory function (13) Decrease allogeneic T cell proliferation (28, 40, 175) Induce FoxP3 ⁺ Treg and IL-10 secreting T cells (40, 41) Induction of peripheral self-tolerance (176)
CD8α-DCs	Mouse: CD8α ⁻ (17), CD11b ⁺ (17), CD209 (DC-SIGN) ⁺ (51), CD172a (Sirpα) ⁺ (52), DC inhibitory receptor 2 (DCIR2) ⁺ (53), dectin-1 (Clec-7a) ⁺ (54)	FMS-related tyrosine kinase 3 (Flt3) (17), lymphotoxin β receptor (LTβR) (17), notch RPB-J (55), notch receptor 2 (57), reticuloendotheliosis homolog B (RelB) (177), TNF-associated factor 6 (TRAF6) (178)	Enhancement of Th2 responses in primary stimulation (58) IL-12 production under certain conditions (59) CD4 ⁺ T cell activation (53) Cross-presentation of particular antigens under certain conditions (54, 179, 180)
Plasmacytoid DCs (pDCs)	Mouse: CD11c ^{int} (18), B220 (CD45RA) ^{hi} (18), sialic acid-binding immunoglobulin-like lectins-H (Siglec-H) ^{hi} (18), CD317 (mPDCA-1) ^{hi} (18) Human: BDCA-2 ⁺ (60), BDCA-4 ⁺ (60), DCIR ⁺ (61), Ly6C ⁺ (62), DC-SIGN ⁺ (63), CD123 ⁺ (64)	Ikaros (68), STAT-3 (68, 181), STAT-5 (181) (182)	Secretion of type I IFNs (18, 62) Immunomodulation (18) Increased cross-presentation capacity (183)
Monocyte- derived DCs Inflammatory DCs (infDCs)	Mouse (19): MHC class II ⁺ , CD11b ⁺ , CD11c ⁺ , F4/80 ⁺ , Ly6C ⁺ , CD64 ⁺ , M-CSFR ⁺ , ZBTB46 ⁺ Human (184): HLADR ⁺ , CD11c ⁺ , BDCA1 ⁺ , CD1a ⁺ , FcεRI ⁺ , CD206 ⁺ , CD14 ⁺ , M-CSFR ⁺ , ZBTB46 ⁺	Unknown	Migration into the site of inflammation from BM in a CCR2-dependent manner (77) Activation and proliferation of T cells (185–188) Production of various cytokines (185–188)
Human: BDCA1DC (CD1c ⁺ DCs)	BDCA1 ⁺ (60), CD11c ⁺ (79), HLADR ⁺ (79), CD86 ⁺ (83), CCR5 ⁺ (83), FcγR ⁺ (161)	Unknown	Secretion of high levels of IL-12, following TLR4 and TLR7 stimulation (83, 161) Stimulation of allogeneic T cells (79) Increased cross-presentation capacity (46–48, 83–85)

$CD8\alpha^+DCs$ (MOUSE) AND BDCA3+DCs (HUMAN)

CD8 α^+ DCs are approximately 20–40% of total mouse splenic DCs and around 70% of murine thymic DCs (11, 12). In steady state, they express low levels of co-stimulatory molecules, such as CD80, CD86, and CD40 but high levels of MHC class II (20, 21) and highly express CD24, CD36, DEC205 (CD205), Clec9A (DNGR-1), TLR3, and XCR, but show little or no expression of CD172a (Sirp α), CD11b, and DCIR2 (33D1) (12, 22–26). The administration of Flt-3L to WT mice dramatically expands CD8 α^+ DCs that are phenotypically and functionally matured (27) and have a reduced capacity for allogeneic T cell stimulation (28).

Certain transcription factors play an important role in the development of $CD8\alpha^+DCs$ (29–36). Interferon regulatory factor 8 (IRF8) (29, 30), inhibitor of DNA binding protein 2 (Id2) (31, 36), the basic leucine zipper transcription factor ATF-like 3 (Batf3) (32), nuclear factor interleukin-3 regulated (Nfil3) (33), PU.1 (34), and zinc finger transcription factor zbtb46 (35) are critical for the development of $CD8\alpha^+DCs$. Mice lacking these transcription factors exhibit dramatically reduced numbers of $CD8\alpha^+DCs$ while absence of zbtb46, which results in increased $CD8\alpha^+DCs$.

 $CD8\alpha^+DCs$ are unique in which they can present exogenous antigens on their MHC class I molecules, a process known as cross-presentation (37). In addition, $CD8\alpha^+DCs$ are critical for
cytotoxic T cell (CTL) responses as they are the predominant producers of IL-12 (38, 39). On the other hand host-derived CD8 α^+ DCs, expanded by the administration of Flt-3L, decrease allogeneic T cell responses *in vivo* (28). We have also found that immunization of donors with host-derived CD8 α^+ DCs, reduced acute GVHD by increased secretion of IL-10 from donor-derived T cells (40). CD8 α^+ DCs can also induce Foxp3⁺ regulatory T cells (Tregs) in a TGF- β -dependent manner *in vitro* and *in vivo* (41). Moreover, CD8 α^+ DCs are responsible for induction of peripheral self-tolerance by their ability to capture and cross-present tissue-associated antigens to naïve CTLs (42–44) or by CD8 α^+ DCs derived TNF-mediated killing (45).

Although CD8 α^+ DCs present only in mice, recent studies have identified human equivalents. BDCA3⁺ (CD141⁺) DCs, which express Clec9A and XCR-1 were identified as human homologs of mouse CD8 α^+ DCs (46–49). BDCA3⁺ DCs have the ability to cross-present soluble or cell-associate antigen to CD8⁺ T cells (47, 48). Aside from the capacity for cross-presentation, BDCA3⁺DCs produce IFN- α after TLR3 stimulation, similar to CD8 α^+ DCs homologs in mouse (50).

$CD8\alpha^{-}DCs$ (CD11b⁺DCs)

CD8 α^- DCs (CD11b⁺DCs) lack expression of the marker CD8 α but express CD11b, which represent a large percentage of splenic or lymphoid resident DCs (17). CD8 α^- DCs predominately express CD209 (DC-SIGN) (51), CD172a (Sirp α) (52), DC inhibitory receptor 2 (DCIR2) (53), and dectin-1 (Clec-7a) (54). Notch RBP-J, is important for development and homeostasis of CD8 α^- DCs (55). Recent reports also suggest that Notch 2 signaling is required for the development of a subset of splenic CD11b⁺ DCs (CD11b⁺ESAM⁺DCs) and intestinal CD103⁺CD11b⁺DCs (56), as well as terminal differentiation of CD8 α^+ DCs and CD11b⁺DCs (57). CD8 α^- DCs are required to enhance Th2 responses in primary stimulation (58) and also they produce IL-12 under certain conditions (59). CD8 α^- DCs exist in the marginal zone of the splenic lymphoid follicles and take up, process, and present exogenous antigen to CD4⁺ T cells via MHC class II (17, 53).

PLASMACYTOID DCs

Plasmacytoid DCs are distinguished in mice by the expression of CD11c^{int}, B220 (CD45RA)^{hi}, sialic acid-binding immunoglobulin-like lectins-H (Siglec-H)^{hi}, and CD317 (mPDCA-1)^{hi} (18). In human, pDCs express BDCA-2 (60), BDCA-4 (60), DCIR (61), Ly6C (62), DC-SIGN (63), or CD123 (64). Flt3-L is a critical cytokine for the expansion of pDCs (65, 66), whereas HIF-1 α is a negative regulator of pDC development *in vitro* and *in vivo* (67). Ikaros and STAT-3 play a role in the development of pDCs (68). The main function of pDCs is to produce type I interferons (IFN), such as IFN- α and IFN- β , in response to viral, fungal, and bacterial antigens (18). The role of pDCs in mediating acute GVHD is distinct depending on whether they are derived from the host or donor (69, 70).

MONOCYTE-DERIVED DCs

According to recent reports, monocytes exist in the blood as terminally differentiated cells derived from MDP [whose progenitor is common myeloid precursors (CMPs) in the BM]. In an inflammatory environment, monocytes differentiate into MoDCs, or inflammatory DCs (infDCs) and subsequently migrate into the site of inflammation (71, 72). Monocytes also contribute to the development of CD103⁻CD11b⁺DCs in a Csf-1-dependent manner (73, 74). Mouse BM-derived DCs generated *in vitro* with GM-CSF alone or in combination with IL-4 are recognized as equivalent to infDCs because of similar morphology, phenotype, and characteristics (75, 76). CCR2 controls the exit of monocytes from the BM and the migration to the site of inflammation and critical for infDCs. Further, MyD88 and TLRs are known to be required for the maturation and migration of infDCs (77, 78).

HUMAN BDCA1 (CD1c)⁺ DCs

Dendritic cells isolated from human are identified as Lin^- (CD3, CD19, CD14, CD20, CD15, glycophorin A) CD11c⁺HLADR⁺ cells (79) and are classified into three groups based on their expression of BDCA1, BDCA3, and CD16 (60). BDCA1⁺ (CD1c⁺) DCs are one of the blood DC subsets found, in addition to lymphoid tissue-resident DCs and those observed in the skin of humans (79–81). BACA-1⁺DCs are likely the human counterpart of murine CD11b⁺DCs (82). BDCA1⁺DCs have a strong capacity for allostimulation (79) and can cross-present exogenous antigen to CD8⁺ T cells but less efficiently than BDCA3⁺DCs (46–48, 83–85).

DC CHIMERISM AFTER HUMAN ALLOGENEIC HCT

Although the replenishment of recipient DCs depends on donor hematopoietic stem cells (HSCs) and associated precursors, the exact half-life of host APCs in especially inflamed tissues is not well-understood. So far, kinetics of DC engraftment and turnover (DC chimerism) utilizing myeloid specific or directly staining DCs in peripheral blood mononuclear cells (PBMCs) after allo-HCT, have been reported in humans (86-99). Most of these reports demonstrated that the reconstitution of human DCs (myeloid CD11c⁺DCs and plasmacytoid CD123⁺DCs) in the early phase of allo-HCT show that nearly complete donor-derived chimerism (CDC) develops and maintains in the late phase. However, a small population of recipient-derived DCs may exist long-term (86, 90, 93, 94). Interestingly, patients with acute GVHD showed significantly lower donor chimerism of DCs as well as low numbers of circulating DCs (93, 94, 96). Further, 6-sulfo lac NAc DCs (slan DCs), potent producers of inflammatory cytokines following LPS stimulation (100) are a major subpopulation of human blood DCs and are also reduced in the patients with severe acute GVHD (92). Although it is helpful to examine the kinetics and chimerism of the peripheral circulating DCs, the kinetics and activation of tissue-resident DC subsets in recipient (especially GVHD-associated organs and/or lymph nodes) might play a role in the development of GVHD.

Host-derived Langerhans cells (LCs) are rapidly depleted by myeloablative regimens and are quickly replaced by donor type in the absence of GVHD. The recovery of donor LC chimerism and numbers, however, are delayed in the presence of acute GVHD (98, 99). In the skin, host-derived myeloid DCs (such as CD1a⁺ and CD14⁺DCs) are quickly replaced by donor cells, where hostderived macrophages still exist during GVHD (97). Similar to the relationship between GVHD and DC kinetics, a decrease in number of DCs is observed (96) and mixed chimerism in DCs has the capacity for a potent GVT effect in donor lymphocyte infusion (DLI) (101). This suggests a positive impact of host-derived DCs on GVT effect.

DCs AFTER EXPERIMENTAL ALLOGENEIC HCT

The results from experimental allo-HCT suggest a complicate role for DCs in GVHD. For instance, cDCs and pDCs are activated by TBI (102) and inflammatory cytokines (103, 104) (IL-1 and TNF- α), which are released by damaged tissues. These activation signals up-regulate the expression of antigen presenting and co-stimulatory molecules and could modulate GVHD (102). Moreover, when all other hematopoietic APCs are absent, DCs alone may induce GVHD (5, 105). However, recent reports indicate that host-derived hematopoietic APCs are dispensable for inducing GVHD, specifically CD11 c^+ DCs and/or pDCs depletion in the presence of other APCs (106, 107) does not attenuate GVHD, it might even increase lethal GVHD (15, 107). These data clearly demonstrate that host DCs are therefore not crucial for the induction of GVHD and could even play a regulatory role. On the other hand, donor-derived APCs, especially cDCs too are not required for induction of GVHD, but may play a role in maintenance or aggravation of GVHD in presence of other hematopoietic APCs (6, 106).

DCs AND GVT

To maximize GVT responses, two important factors must be considered: antigen presentation and donor T cells. Although both host and donor APCs have been shown to play an important role in GVHD, their role in GVT is only beginning to be understood. Donor T cells have to attack recipient tumor cells in GVT. To that end, they must recognize both alloantigens and tumor specific antigens (TSAs) that presented either directly by the tumor or indirectly by the professional APCs (Figure 1). There is a large amount of evidence that tumor themselves are generally poor presenters and activators of T cell effector responses. In the context of allo-HCT, professional APCs are required for GVT. Their requirement, however, when certain leukemia or tumors may efficiently present antigens to donor T cells have not been obviously analyzed. Nonetheless, GVT responses are optimal when both alloantigens and TSAs responses are induced (7). While alloantigen responses are also elicited by many APCs including both hematopoieticderived and non-hematopoietic-derived APCs cause GVHD, TSAs are exclusively directed to tumors and thus considered to GVT without concomitantly causing GVHD. In cases where tumors are poor APCs of TSAs to donor T cells, the TSAs likely have to be efficiently taken up and cross-presented on professional APCs. In this regard, DCs may be most relevant and could employ three possible mechanisms they possess better than other hematopoietic APCs, capability for better cross-presentation and cross-dressing.

Clinically, most patients with allo-HCT receive HSCs and T cells from human leukocyte antigen (HLA) matched, but multiple minor histocompatibility antigens (MiHAs) mismatched donors. This difference in MiHAs between host and donor are targets for donor T cells to mediate GVH responses. Alloantigen is expressed by all host APC subsets as endogenous antigen, which they directly present to donor CD8⁺T cells, even if the interaction is brief (4). In addition to MiHAs, donor T cells respond to TSAs that are virally

encoded and/or mutated tumor antigens representing additional important targets for GVT responses. Activated and proliferated allogeneic T cells, stimulated by APCs, are "double edged swords" in that they not only attack host residual tumors but also damage normal host tissues. Augmenting GVT responses through identification of relevant TSAs and determining T cells that specifically respond to them is clinically challenging because GVHD is an allo-reactive disease enhancing TSA-specific T cell responses, which are dependent on allogeneic reactions (108, 109). As one approach to distinguish this clinical dilemma, recently, MHC class I-associated tumor-specific phosphopeptides presented on hematological tumors were shown to be critical for induction of their specific memory-like CD8⁺T cells against leukemia and that the response against leukemic patients can be restored after allo-HCT (110). These suggest that DCs must simultaneously present both alloantigens, derived primarily from the endogenously polymorphic peptides in the host target tissues, and TSA to donor CD8⁺ and CD4⁺ T cells via MHC class I and class II molecules, respectively. In the clinic, the importance of host APCs in GVL has been suggested in patients with mixed chimerism after DLI in non-myeloablative BMT (111).

We and others have experimentally explored the role of APCs in GVL. Host type APCs are required to maximize GVT responses after allo-HCT (7) and after DLI because they prime donor CTL in an effective manner (112-115). Host MHC class II+ APCs and CD4⁺ T cells have an indispensable role in CTL responses in mixed chimera models (112). In addition, donor T cells primed by leukemia lysate-pulsed host APCs before DLI, enhance GVT responses in either leukemia-bearing full chimera or mixed chimera models (113). These data suggest that the host environment is critical for mediating GVT responses. Host type sialoadhesin⁺ macrophages, which increase inducible nitric oxide (iNOS) production by CD40-40L interaction in the liver, stimulate CTL and prevent liver metastasis (116, 117). Based on the fact that host leukemia cells or tumors express alloantigens, in addition to TSA, may possess co-stimulatory molecules, they could be "APCs." Although they express APC like features, they have likely undergone a process of "immune-modulating," making them poor direct stimulators of an effective T cell response using a variety of immune-suppressive mechanisms. We have shown that certain lymphoma cells lines, despite some APC features, are not capable of driving an efficient GVT response in the absence of hematopoietic-derived APCs (7).

We have explored, more recently, the APC subsets that are required for optimal GVT without GVHD. We recently found that host-derived CD8 α^+ DCs are required for the induction of optimal GVT responses utilizing Batf3 deficient mice as recipients in experimental allo-HCT (8). We also found that TLR3 stimulation via poly I:C in host CD8 α^+ DCs, enhanced GVL responses without exacerbating GVHD (8). As we described previously, CD8 α^+ DCs are critical for cross-presentation of tumor and viral antigens (32, 118, 119) because of their well-specialized crosspresentation capacity and their superior ability to prime antitumor CTL responses (32, 119–121) without enhancing GVHD (8, 122). As noted above, recently human BDCA3⁺, XCR-1⁺, DNGR-1⁺DCs found in spleen, blood, and non-lymphoid tissues are recognized as the equivalent of murine CD8 α^+ DCs by multiple



investigators (26, 46-48, 123). Therefore, our investigations underscore the principle of enhancing antigen presentation using a subset of host APCs as a strategy for effective enhancement of GVT responses following allo-HCT. However, cellular processes of regulating GVT responses in host APCs still remain unclear. Specifically whether low numbers of CD8a⁺DCs reduce TSA responses or decrease GVT responses remain unknown. We also explored the molecular mechanism in hematopoietic-derived APCs for enhancing GVHD. The absence of Ikaros in host hematopoietic APCs exacerbates GVHD, but without concomitantly enhancing GVT responses in multiple models (unpublished data). This uncoupling is an interesting phenomenon as GVT responses are usually tightly linked with GVHD severity. Furthermore, genetic alteration of Ikaros family zinc finger protein 1 (IKZF1) in acute lymphoblastic leukemia (ALL) is associated with poor outcome and high relapse after chemotherapy (124, 125). Therefore, we are pursuing whether Ikaros in leukemic cells alone or both leukemic and non-leukemic host hematopoietic cells play a role in mediating GVT resistance.

Understanding the host microenvironment, especially that of the tumor is essential for GVT studies. Tumor-infiltrating DCs in tumor microenvironments in hosts are suggested to regulate CTL responses, however, their role in the context of allogeneic HCT remain obscure.

The role of donor-derived DCs in mediating GVT is also being explored. Initial reports regarding this association demonstrated that donor APCs are not required for GVT responses, but play an indispensable role in GVHD in MHC matched, MiHA mismatched BMT model (6). In order to present host TSAs via donor APCs to donor CD8⁺T cells, donor APCs must have the capacity for crosspresentation as they do not express both endogenous alloantigens and TSAs. Furthermore, additional studies are needed to determine which specific subsets of donor APCs play a critical role in enhancing GVT responses. Reports suggest that donor CD11b⁻ APCs within the BM grafts consist mostly of pDC progenitors (pre-pDCs) and enhance GVT activity of donor T cells by promoting differentiation into Th1/type 1 CTLs. These effects have further been shown to be mediated by IL-12 in murine allo-HCT models (126, 127). Pre-pDCs also regulate GVH and GVT responses altering the balance between donor Tregs and inflammatory T cells by inducing indoleamine 2,3-dioxygenase (IDO) synthesis (128). In humans, however, there are no data of the exact mechanisms of specific subsets of donor APCs in GVT. Therefore, studies examining and elucidating the kinetics of these subsets of DCs would contribute to likely better understanding the mechanism of GVT in humans.

Recent reports suggest a paradoxical association between CMV reactivation after allo-HCT and reduced disease relapse (129–131). The mechanisms that CMV reactivation induces potent GVT are still unclear. However, donor APCs and NK cells might play an important role in this interesting phenomenon (132). Interaction between cDCs and NK cells is critical to the activation of effective antiviral or antitumor response (133, 134). It is possible that donor DC–NK cell interactions might play a role in enhancing GVT mediated by NK cells in this context.

CROSS-PRESENTATION AND GVT

Dendritic cells are well-known to take up exogenous antigens via endocytosis or phagocytosis. Antigen is then processed in the endoplasmic reticulum (ER) and presented via Class I molecules. These processes are known as cross-presentation. Although the molecular mechanism of cross-presentation is still under investigation, two major intracellular pathways of cross-presentation are speculated. One is cytosolic and the other one is a vacuolar pathway (135). The cytosolic pathway depends on the proteasome, which degrades internalized proteins in the cytosol. The degraded peptides are then transported into the ER in a transporter associated with antigen processing 1 (TAP1) and TAP2-dependent manner. Peptide is then either loaded onto MHC class I molecules (ER loading) or re-imported into the phagosome to be loaded onto MHC class I molecules (phagosomal reloading) (135). A novel molecular mechanism utilizing the small GTPases Rac1 (CD8a⁻DCs) and Rac 2 (CD8 α^+ DCs), regulate phagosomal oxidation, which is critical for the cross-presentation capacity (136). In addition, soluble N-ethylmaleimide-sensitive factor attachment protein receptor (SNARE) Sec22b plays an important role in phagosomal function through the recruitment of ER proteins into the phagosome (137) and heat shock protein 90 (HSP90) contributes to cytosolic translocation of extracellular antigen, enhancing crosspresentation (138). Conversely, the vacuolar pathway is known to be a TAP and proteasome independent pathway (139–141) where exogenous antigens are degraded in the phagosome and subsequently loaded on MHC class I. This pathway is sensitive to cathepsin S inhibitors (140). Some DCs, such as those that express CD8 α^+ (32, 37, 142, 143), CD103⁺ (144–147) in mice, and BDCA3⁺DCs (functional homology to mice $CD8\alpha^+DCs$) (46, 123, 148–150) in human are known to have the capacity for cross-presentation. However, some recent reports suggested that nearly all DCs have the capacity for cross-presentation depending on the source of antigen, cytokine milieu, and expression of immunoreceptors specialized to take up exogenous antigens (76, 83, 149, 151). The role of cross-presentation in GVT responses is still unknown. Our data indicates a role for CD8 α^+ DCs and also suggested that TLR3 agonist, polyI:C, can increase GVT without enhancing

GVHD in host DC-dependent manner (8). Therefore, we presume that specialized DCs could be associated with optimizing GVT responses because mouse $CD8\alpha^+DCs$ and human BDCA3⁺DCs possess the most potent cross-presentation capacity of TSAs. However, direct *in vivo* demonstration enhancing cross-presentation by $CD8\alpha^+DCs$ or TLR3 agonist in increasing GVT has not been shown. While these are being explored, at the minimum our data suggested a novel concept that it is feasible to modulate host DCs to improve GVT without increasing toxicity. It remains to be tested, however, whether this concept holds true for all leukemia or tumors. In any event, it does suggest a window of opportunity for careful design of clinical trials in high-risk leukemia.

CROSS-DRESSING AND GVL

Recently, another means of antigen presentation, called "crossdressing" was forward by Ostrand-Rosenberg's group in 2006 (152, 153). It is postulated that cross-dressing transfers cellular materials (such as peptide MHC to DCs) triggering DC activation and enhanced tumor-specific CD4⁺ T cells in cancer vaccine (153). In 2011, as a breakthrough mechanism of elicited CTL responses by DCs, preformed peptide MHC class I complex is expressed on infected cells and can be transferred to uninfected DCs without requiring other antigen processing. This process mediates the activation of memory CD8⁺ T cells after viral infection (154). CD8 α ⁺CD103⁺DCs are thought to play an important role in not only cross-presentation but also cross-dressing to prime CTLs following vaccination (155). Its role suggested in GVHD but GVT responses is still unknown.

THE STRATEGY OF AUGMENTING GVT RESPONSES UTILIZING DCs

Graft-versus-tumor is tightly linked with GVHD and is very difficult to uncouple the two. However, recent advances and understanding of DC biology make treatment regimens previously not considered, namely modulating antigen presentation, to now be practical options. Nonetheless much remains to be understood. Specifically, comprehensive understanding of DC subsets will enable us to maximize GVT responses. For instance, either by enhancement of cross-presentation, increased NK cell activation, or induction of type I IFN etc.

We and others have shown that administration of poly I:C stimulates TLR3 on CD8 α ⁺DCs enhancing cross-presentation and direct presentation to CTLs against tumors and virus infection (8, 118). In addition, poly I:C administration also activates NK cells through the enhancement of myeloid DC–NK interaction mediated through an IRF-3-toll/interleukin 1 receptor homology domain-containing adaptor molecule (TICAM-1)-IRF-3dependent NK-activating molecule (INAM) axis-dependent manner (134). Moreover, CD8 α ⁺DCs treated by poly I:C can activate NK cells in the IFN-promoter stimulator-1 (IPS-1) and Toll/IL-1R domain-containing adaptor inducing IFN- β (TRIF)-dependent manner (156). Therefore, poly I:C treatment after allo-HCT could be extended to increase GVT, however, poly I:C in this context must be carefully studied as it may enhance GVHD.

Careful utilization of exogenous type I IFN (IFN- α/β) administration may also be a valuable method of enhancing GVT responses because they play an important role

in cross-presentation of tumor antigens on DCs, especially CD8 α^+ DCs, and enhance CTL responses (119, 120, 157). In murine allo-HCT models, exogenous type I IFN administration augments CTL responses through the increased sensitivity of host target tissues and leukemia to respond to cell mediated cytotoxicity in CD8-dependent GVHD/GVT model regardless of decreasing GVHD response in CD4-dependent model (158).

Other strategies to enhance antitumor responses through the augmentation of the cross-presentation capacity of TSA and activation of CTLs may also be feasible. Alpha-alumina nanoparticles (159), poly (y-glutamic acid)-based nanoparticles (y-PGA NPs) (160), Fcgamma-receptor (FcyR) antigen targeting (161), TLR7 stimulation by polyuridylic acid (polyU), which is a synthetic ssRNA analog (162), vitamin E analog- α -tocopheryl oxyacetic acid (α -TEA) (163) may be useful, but have not been studied in GVT models. Modulation of host type DCs with anti-CD3 pre-conditioning is also an efficient strategy for separating GVT and GVHD (164). Furthermore, recent modulation of DCs by reagent-based inducible or constitutive methods suggested that deep deletion of host cDCs, pDCs, and B cells are dispensable for decreased GVH responses (107). This indicated that very low numbers of DCs, or all host cells including non-hematopoietic APCs, can directly present alloantigen. Alloantigen expression on host non-hematopoietic cells decreases GVT responses in a PD-1/PD-L1-dependent manner in murine experimental BMT (165). Given this, enhancement of function in only certain DCs specialized for TSA presentation may also increase GVT responses without exacerbating GVHD. Moreover, experimental data suggested that modulation of DC function with HDAC inhibitor can result in immunomodulation to reduce GVHD (166).

Aside from enhancement of the presentation capacity in DCs, disruption of negative regulatory interactions is also important for GVT responses. PD-1/PD-L1 interactions and CD47–SIRP-α interactions are thought to be critical immunosuppressive function in the tumor environment. For instance, because the expression of PD-1 on T cells and PD-L1 on APCs facilitated increased Tregs and decreased CTL functions, PD-1/PD-L1 blockade with anti-PD-L1 monoclonal antibody decreased the infiltrating number of Tregs and increased the number and function of tumor reacting CTLs in an AML mouse model (167). Furthermore, knock down of PD-L1 and PD-L2 on MoDCs by utilizing siRNA demonstrated augmented expansion and function of MiHA-specific memory and effector CD8⁺ T cells from leukemia patients in vitro (168). These data suggested that anti-PD-L1 and PD-L2 blockade might be a potential strategy for the enhancement of GVT responses. Tumors may also escape from tumor surveillance utilizing the interaction between monocytic CD47 and SIRP-a, which is an inhibitory receptor of phagocytosis (169). Recent report showed engineered high affinity SIRP-α variants can disrupt this interaction and increase phagocytosis of cancer cells and enhance antitumor response (170). Although we do not know how these pathways affect GVHD, such strategy may also be considered as potential option to treat patients with high risk leukemias.

CLOSING REMARKS

Dendritic cells play important roles in both GVHD and GVT. Because DCs are heterogeneous, the role of specific DCs in GVHD and GVT in the presence or absence of other hematopoieticderived APCs will need further examination. Identification of a specialized subtype of DC that may increase GVT without enhancing GVHD, such as $CD8\alpha^+DCs$ in mice, may be possible. Functional studies have identified direct antigen presentation capacity, cross-presentation, and cross-priming of CTLs as critical mechanisms in allo-HCT. To enhance GVT response, both alloantigen and TSA must be presented to CTLs. However, tumor cells themselves have a poor antigen presentation capacity, therefore TSA are cross-presented by APCs. Enhancement of the cross-presentation capacity has the potential to increase GVT response and be a presumably new strategy in allo-HCT. Through the utilization of DCs, the goal of increasing GVT and diminishing GVHD might be realized.

REFERENCES

- Blazar BR, Murphy WJ, Abedi M. Advances in graft-versus-host disease biology and therapy. Nat Rev Immunol (2012) 12:443–58. doi:10.1038/nri3212
- Ferrara JL, Levine JE, Reddy P, Holler E. Graft-versus-host disease. Lancet (2009) 373:1550–61. doi:10.1016/S0140-6736(09)60237-3
- Shlomchik WD. Graft-versus-host disease. Nat Rev Immunol (2007) 7:340–52. doi:10.1038/nri2000
- Shlomchik WD, Couzens MS, Tang CB, McNiff J, Robert ME, Liu J, et al. Prevention of graft versus host disease by inactivation of host antigen-presenting cells. *Science* (1999) 285:412–5. doi:10.1126/science.285.5426.412
- Teshima T, Ordemann R, Reddy P, Gagin S, Liu C, Cooke KR, et al. Acute graftversus-host disease does not require alloantigen expression on host epithelium. *Nat Med* (2002) 8:575–81. doi:10.1038/nm0602-575
- Matte CC, Liu J, Cormier J, Anderson BE, Athanasiadis I, Jain D, et al. Donor APCs are required for maximal GVHD but not for GVL. *Nat Med* (2004) 10:987–92. doi:10.1038/nm1089
- Reddy P, Maeda Y, Liu C, Krijanovski OI, Korngold R, Ferrara JL. A crucial role for antigen-presenting cells and alloantigen expression in graft-versusleukemia responses. *Nat Med* (2005) 11:1244–9. doi:10.1038/nm1309
- Toubai T, Sun Y, Luker G, Liu J, Luker KE, Tawara I, et al. Host-derived CD8+ dendritic cells are required for induction of optimal graft-versus-tumor responses after experimental allogeneic bone marrow transplantation. *Blood* (2013) 121:4231–41. doi:10.1182/blood-2012-05-432872
- Helft J, Ginhoux F, Bogunovic M, Merad M. Origin and functional heterogeneity of non-lymphoid tissue dendritic cells in mice. *Immunol Rev* (2010) 234:55–75. doi:10.1111/j.0105-2896.2009.00885.x
- Haniffa M, Collin M, Ginhoux F. Ontogeny and functional specialization of dendritic cells in human and mouse. *Adv Immunol* (2013) 120:1–49. doi:10.1016/B978-0-12-417028-5.00001-6
- Vremec D, Zorbas M, Scollay R, Saunders DJ, Ardavin CF, Wu L, et al. The surface phenotype of dendritic cells purified from mouse thymus and spleen: investigation of the CD8 expression by a subpopulation of dendritic cells. *J Exp Med* (1992) 176:47–58. doi:10.1084/jem.176.1.47
- Vremec D, Pooley J, Hochrein H, Wu L, Shortman K. CD4 and CD8 expression by dendritic cell subtypes in mouse thymus and spleen. *J Immunol* (2000) 164:2978–86.
- Shortman K, Heath WR. The CD8+ dendritic cell subset. *Immunol Rev* (2010) 234:18–31. doi:10.1111/j.0105-2896.2009.00870.x
- 14. Toubai T, Tawara I, Sun Y, Liu C, Nieves E, Evers R, et al. Induction of acute GVHD by sex-mismatched H-Y antigens in the absence of functional radiosensitive host hematopoietic-derived antigen-presenting cells. *Blood* (2012) 119:3844–53. doi:10.1182/blood-2011-10-384057
- Koyama M, Kuns RD, Olver SD, Raffelt NC, Wilson YA, Don AL, et al. Recipient nonhematopoietic antigen-presenting cells are sufficient to induce lethal acute graft-versus-host disease. *Nat Med* (2012) 18:135–42. doi:10.1038/nm.2597
- Wang X, Li H, Matte-Martone C, Cui W, Li N, Tan HS, et al. Mechanisms of antigen presentation to T cells in murine graft-versus-host disease: cross-presentation and the appearance of cross-presentation. *Blood* (2011) 118:6426–37. doi:10.1182/blood-2011-06-358747
- 17. Merad M, Sathe P, Helft J, Miller J, Mortha A. The dendritic cell lineage: ontogeny and function of dendritic cells and their subsets in the steady state

and the inflamed setting. Annu Rev Immunol (2013) **31**:563–604. doi:10.1146/ annurev-immunol-020711-074950

- Reizis B, Bunin A, Ghosh HS, Lewis KL, Sisirak V. Plasmacytoid dendritic cells: recent progress and open questions. *Annu Rev Immunol* (2011) 29:163–83. doi:10.1146/annurev-immunol-031210-101345
- Dominguez PM, Ardavin C. Differentiation and function of mouse monocytederived dendritic cells in steady state and inflammation. *Immunol Rev* (2010) 234:90–104. doi:10.1111/j.0105-2896.2009.00876.x
- Wilson NS, El-Sukkari D, Belz GT, Smith CM, Steptoe RJ, Heath WR, et al. Most lymphoid organ dendritic cell types are phenotypically and functionally immature. *Blood* (2003) 102:2187–94. doi:10.1182/blood-2003-02-0513
- Toubai T, Sun Y, Tawara I, Friedman A, Liu C, Evers R, et al. Ikaros-Notch axis in host hematopoietic cells regulates experimental graft-versus-host disease. *Blood* (2011) 118:192–204. doi:10.1182/blood-2010-12-324616
- Sancho D, Mourão-Sá D, Joffre OP, Schulz O, Rogers NC, Pennington DJ, et al. Tumor therapy in mice via antigen targeting to a novel, DC-restricted C-type lectin. J Clin Invest (2008) 118:2098–110. doi:10.1172/JCI34584
- Edwards AD, Diebold SS, Slack EM, Tomizawa H, Hemmi H, Kaisho T, et al. Toll-like receptor expression in murine DC subsets: lack of TLR7 expression by CD8 alpha+ DC correlates with unresponsiveness to imidazoquinolines. *Eur J Immunol* (2003) 33(4):827–33. doi:10.1002/eji.200323797
- Albert ML, Pearce SF, Francisco LM, Sauter B, Roy P, Silverstein RL, et al. Immature dendritic cells phagocytose apoptotic cells via alphavbeta5 and CD36, and cross-present antigens to cytotoxic T lymphocytes. *J Exp Med* (1998) 188:1359–68. doi:10.1084/jem.188.7.1359
- Dorner BG, Dorner MB, Zhou X, Opitz C, Mora A, Güttler S, et al. Selective expression of the chemokine receptor XCR1 on cross-presenting dendritic cells determines cooperation with CD8+ T cells. *Immunity* (2009) **31**:823–33. doi:10.1016/j.immuni.2009.08.027
- Poulin LF, Reyal Y, Uronen-Hansson H, Schraml BU, Sancho D, Murphy KM, et al. DNGR-1 is a specific and universal marker of mouse and human Batf3dependent dendritic cells in lymphoid and nonlymphoid tissues. *Blood* (2012) 119:6052–62. doi:10.1182/blood-2012-01-406967
- Maraskovsky E, Brasel K, Teepe M, Roux ER, Lyman SD, Shortman K, et al. Dramatic increase in the numbers of functionally mature dendritic cells in Flt3 ligand-treated mice: multiple dendritic cell subpopulations identified. *J Exp Med* (1996) 184:1953–62. doi:10.1084/jem.184.5.1953
- 28. Teshima T, Reddy P, Lowler KP, KuKuruga MA, Liu C, Cooke KR, et al. Flt3 ligand therapy for recipients of allogeneic bone marrow transplants expands host CD8 alpha(+) dendritic cells and reduces experimental acute graft-versus-host disease. *Blood* (2002) **99**:1825–32. doi:10.1182/blood. V99.5.1825
- Aliberti J, Schulz O, Pennington DJ, Tsujimura H, Reis e Sousa C, Ozato K, et al. Essential role for ICSBP in the in vivo development of murine CD8alpha + dendritic cells. *Blood* (2003) 101:305–10. doi:10.1182/blood-2002-04-1088
- 30. Schiavoni G, Mattei F, Sestili P, Borghi P, Venditti M, Morse HC III, et al. ICSBP is essential for the development of mouse type I interferon-producing cells and for the generation and activation of CD8alpha(+) dendritic cells. *J Exp Med* (2002) **196**:1415–25. doi:10.1084/jem.20021263
- Hacker C, Kirsch RD, Ju XS, Hieronymus T, Gust TC, Kuhl C, et al. Transcriptional profiling identifies Id2 function in dendritic cell development. *Nat Immunol* (2003) 4:380–6. doi:10.1038/ni903
- 32. Hildner K, Edelson BT, Purtha WE, Diamond M, Matsushita H, Kohyama M, et al. Batf3 deficiency reveals a critical role for CD8alpha+ dendritic cells in cytotoxic T cell immunity. *Science* (2008) **322**:1097–100. doi:10.1126/science. 1164206
- 33. Kashiwada M, Pham NL, Pewe LL, Harty JT, Rothman PB. NFIL3/E4BP4 is a key transcription factor for CD8alpha(+) dendritic cell development. *Blood* (2011) 117:6193–7. doi:10.1182/blood-2010-07-295873
- Guerriero A, Langmuir PB, Spain LM, Scott EW. PU.1 is required for myeloid-derived but not lymphoid-derived dendritic cells. *Blood* (2000) 95: 879–85.
- 35. Meredith MM, Liu K, Kamphorst AO, Idoyaga J, Yamane A, Guermonprez P, et al. Zinc finger transcription factor zDC is a negative regulator required to prevent activation of classical dendritic cells in the steady state. J Exp Med (2012) 209:1583–93. doi:10.1084/jem.20121003

- 36. Jackson JT, Hu Y, Liu R, Masson F, D'Amico A, Carotta S, et al. Id2 expression delineates differential checkpoints in the genetic program of CD8alpha+ and CD103+ dendritic cell lineages. *EMBO J* (2011) **30**:2690–704. doi:10.1038/ emboj.2011.163
- den Haan JM, Lehar SM, Bevan MJ. CD8(+) but not CD8(-) dendritic cells cross-prime cytotoxic T cells in vivo. J Exp Med (2000) 192:1685–96. doi:10.1084/jem.192.12.1685
- Reis e Sousa C, Hieny S, Scharton-Kersten T, Jankovic D, Charest H, Germain RN, et al. In vivo microbial stimulation induces rapid CD40 ligand-independent production of interleukin 12 by dendritic cells and their redistribution to T cell areas. *J Exp Med* (1997) 186:1819–29. doi:10.1084/jem.186.11. 1819
- 39. Maldonado-López R, De Smedt T, Michel P, Godfroid J, Pajak B, Heirman C, et al. CD8alpha+ and CD8alpha– subclasses of dendritic cells direct the development of distinct T helper cells in vivo. J Exp Med (1999) 189:587–92. doi:10.1084/jem.189.3.587
- 40. Toubai T, Malter C, Tawara I, Liu C, Nieves E, Lowler KP, et al. Immunization with host-type CD8{alpha}+ dendritic cells reduces experimental acute GVHD in an IL-10-dependent manner. *Blood* (2010) 115:724–35. doi:10.1182/blood-2009-06-229708
- Yamazaki S, Dudziak D, Heidkamp GF, Fiorese C, Bonito AJ, Inaba K, et al. CD8+ CD205+ splenic dendritic cells are specialized to induce Foxp3+ regulatory T cells. *J Immunol* (2008) 181:6923–33.
- Belz GT, Behrens GM, Smith CM, Miller JF, Jones C, Lejon K, et al. The CD8alpha(+) dendritic cell is responsible for inducing peripheral self-tolerance to tissue-associated antigens. J Exp Med (2002) 196:1099–104. doi:10.1084/ jem.20020861
- 43. Bonifaz L, Bonnyay D, Mahnke K, Rivera M, Nussenzweig MC, Steinman RM. Efficient targeting of protein antigen to the dendritic cell receptor DEC-205 in the steady state leads to antigen presentation on major histocompatibility complex class I products and peripheral CD8+ T cell tolerance. *J Exp Med* (2002) **196**:1627–38. doi:10.1084/jem.20021598
- 44. Kretschmer K, Apostolou I, Hawiger D, Khazaie K, Nussenzweig MC, von Boehmer H. Inducing and expanding regulatory T cell populations by foreign antigen. *Nat Immunol* (2005) 6:1219–27. doi:10.1038/ni1265
- Luckey U, Maurer M, Schmidt T, Lorenz N, Seebach B, Metz M, et al. T cell killing by tolerogenic dendritic cells protects mice from allergy. J Clin Invest (2011) 121:3860–71. doi:10.1172/JCI45963
- 46. Bachem A, Güttler S, Hartung E, Ebstein F, Schaefer M, Tannert A, et al. Superior antigen cross-presentation and XCR1 expression define human CD11c+CD141+ cells as homologues of mouse CD8+ dendritic cells. J Exp Med (2010) 207:1273–81. doi:10.1084/jem.20100348
- Crozat K, Guiton R, Contreras V, Feuillet V, Dutertre CA, Ventre E, et al. The XC chemokine receptor 1 is a conserved selective marker of mammalian cells homologous to mouse CD8alpha+ dendritic cells. *J Exp Med* (2010) 207:1283–92. doi:10.1084/jem.20100223
- Jongbloed SL, Kassianos AJ, McDonald KJ, Clark GJ, Ju X, Angel CE, et al. Human CD141+ (BDCA-3)+ dendritic cells (DCs) represent a unique myeloid DC subset that cross-presents necrotic cell antigens. J Exp Med (2010) 207:1247–60. doi:10.1084/jem.20092140
- Huysamen C, Willment JA, Dennehy KM, Brown GD. CLEC9A is a novel activation C-type lectin-like receptor expressed on BDCA3+ dendritic cells and a subset of monocytes. *J Biol Chem* (2008) 283:16693–701. doi:10.1074/jbc. M709923200
- Meixlsperger S, Leung CS, Rämer PC, Pack M, Vanoaica LD, Breton G, et al. CD141+ dendritic cells produce prominent amounts of IFN-alpha after dsRNA recognition and can be targeted via DEC-205 in humanized mice. *Blood* (2013) 121:5034–44. doi:10.1182/blood-2012-12-473413
- Caminschi I, Lucas KM, O'Keeffe MA, Hochrein H, Laâbi Y, Brodnicki TC, et al. Molecular cloning of a C-type lectin superfamily protein differentially expressed by CD8alpha(-) splenic dendritic cells. *Mol Immunol* (2001) 38:365–73. doi:10.1016/S0161-5890(01)00067-0
- Lahoud MH, Proietto AI, Gartlan KH, Kitsoulis S, Curtis J, Wettenhall J, et al. Signal regulatory protein molecules are differentially expressed by CD8– dendritic cells. *J Immunol* (2006) 177:372–82.
- Dudziak D, Kamphorst AO, Heidkamp GF, Buchholz VR, Trumpfheller C, Yamazaki S, et al. Differential antigen processing by dendritic cell subsets in vivo. *Science* (2007) 315:107–11. doi:10.1126/science.1136080

- Backer R, van Leeuwen F, Kraal G, den Haan JM. CD8– dendritic cells preferentially cross-present *Saccharomyces cerevisiae* antigens. *Eur J Immunol* (2008) 38:370–80. doi:10.1002/eji.200737647
- Caton ML, Smith-Raska MR, Reizis B. Notch-RBP-J signaling controls the homeostasis of CD8– dendritic cells in the spleen. J Exp Med (2007) 204:1653–64. doi:10.1084/jem.20062648
- 56. Lewis KL, Caton ML, Bogunovic M, Greter M, Grajkowska LT, Ng D, et al. Notch2 receptor signaling controls functional differentiation of dendritic cells in the spleen and intestine. *Immunity* (2011) 35:780–91. doi:10.1016/j.immuni. 2011.08.013
- Satpathy AT, Briseño CG, Lee JS, Ng D, Manieri NA, Kc W, et al. Notch2dependent classical dendritic cells orchestrate intestinal immunity to attachingand-effacing bacterial pathogens. *Nat Immunol* (2013) 14:937–48. doi:10.1038/ ni.2679
- MacDonald AS, Straw AD, Bauman B, Pearce EJ. CD8- dendritic cell activation status plays an integral role in influencing Th2 response development. *J Immunol* (2001) 167:1982–8.
- Huang LY, Reis e Sousa C, Itoh Y, Inman J, Scott DE. IL-12 induction by a TH1-inducing adjuvant in vivo: dendritic cell subsets and regulation by IL-10. *J Immunol* (2001) 167:1423–30.
- Dzionek A, Fuchs A, Schmidt P, Cremer S, Zysk M, Miltenyi S, et al. BDCA-2, BDCA-3, and BDCA-4: three markers for distinct subsets of dendritic cells in human peripheral blood. *J Immunol* (2000) 165:6037–46.
- Meyer-Wentrup F, Benitez-Ribas D, Tacken PJ, Punt CJ, Figdor CG, de Vries IJ, et al. Targeting DCIR on human plasmacytoid dendritic cells results in antigen presentation and inhibits IFN-alpha production. *Blood* (2008) 111:4245–53. doi:10.1182/blood-2007-03-081398
- 62. Asselin-Paturel C, Boonstra A, Dalod M, Durand I, Yessaad N, Dezutter-Dambuyant C, et al. Mouse type I IFN-producing cells are immature APCs with plasmacytoid morphology. *Nat Immunol* (2001) 2:1144–50. doi:10.1038/ni736
- 63. O'Keeffe M, Hochrein H, Vremec D, Caminschi I, Miller JL, Anders EM, et al. Mouse plasmacytoid cells: long-lived cells, heterogeneous in surface phenotype and function, that differentiate into CD8(+) dendritic cells only after microbial stimulus. J Exp Med (2002) 196:1307–19. doi:10.1084/jem.20021031
- 64. Olweus J, BitMansour A, Warnke R, Thompson PA, Carballido J, Picker LJ, et al. Dendritic cell ontogeny: a human dendritic cell lineage of myeloid origin. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (1997) **94**:12551–6. doi:10.1073/pnas.94.23.12551
- Manfra DJ, Chen SC, Jensen KK, Fine JS, Wiekowski MT, Lira SA. Conditional expression of murine Flt3 ligand leads to expansion of multiple dendritic cell subsets in peripheral blood and tissues of transgenic mice. *J Immunol* (2003) 170:2843–52.
- Laouar Y, Welte T, Fu XY, Flavell RA. STAT3 is required for Flt3L-dependent dendritic cell differentiation. *Immunity* (2003) 19:903–12. doi:10.1016/S1074-7613(03)00332-7
- Weigert A, Weichand B, Sekar D, Sha W, Hahn C, Mora J, et al. HIF-1alpha is a negative regulator of plasmacytoid DC development in vitro and in vivo. *Blood* (2012) 120:3001–6. doi:10.1182/blood-2012-03-417022
- Allman D, Dalod M, Asselin-Paturel C, Delale T, Robbins SH, Trinchieri G, et al. Ikaros is required for plasmacytoid dendritic cell differentiation. *Blood* (2006) 108:4025–34. doi:10.1182/blood-2006-03-007757
- Koyama M, Hashimoto D, Aoyama K, Matsuoka K, Karube K, Niiro H, et al. Plasmacytoid dendritic cells prime alloreactive T cells to mediate graftversus-host disease as antigen-presenting cells. *Blood* (2009) 113:2088–95. doi:10.1182/blood-2008-07-168609
- Banovic T, Markey KA, Kuns RD, Olver SD, Raffelt NC, Don AL, et al. Graftversus-host disease prevents the maturation of plasmacytoid dendritic cells. *J Immunol* (2009) 182:912–20. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.0990010
- Segura E, Albiston AL, Wicks IP, Chai SY, Villadangos JA. Different crosspresentation pathways in steady-state and inflammatory dendritic cells. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (2009) 106:20377–81. doi:10.1073/pnas.0910295106
- Segura E, Amigorena S. Inflammatory dendritic cells in mice and humans. *Trends Immunol* (2013) 34:440–5. doi:10.1016/j.it.2013.06.001
- Bogunovic M, Ginhoux F, Helft J, Shang L, Hashimoto D, Greter M, et al. Origin of the lamina propria dendritic cell network. *Immunity* (2009) 31:513–25. doi:10.1016/j.immuni.2009.08.010
- 74. Varol C, Vallon-Eberhard A, Elinav E, Aychek T, Shapira Y, Luche H, et al. Intestinal lamina propria dendritic cell subsets have different origin and functions. *Immunity* (2009) **31**:502–12. doi:10.1016/j.immuni.2009.06.025

- 75. Schreurs MW, Eggert AA, de Boer AJ, Figdor CG, Adema GJ. Generation and functional characterization of mouse monocyte-derived dendritic cells. *Eur J Immunol* (1999) 29:2835–41. doi:10.1002/(SICI)1521-4141(199909)29: 09<2835::AID-IMMU2835>3.3.CO;2-H
- Nierkens S, Tel J, Janssen E, Adema GJ. Antigen cross-presentation by dendritic cell subsets: one general or all sergeants? *Trends Immunol* (2013) 34:361–70. doi:10.1016/j.it.2013.02.007
- Serbina NV, Pamer EG. Monocyte emigration from bone marrow during bacterial infection requires signals mediated by chemokine receptor CCR2. *Nat Immunol* (2006) 7:311–7. doi:10.1038/ni1309
- Serbina NV, Kuziel W, Flavell R, Akira S, Rollins B, Pamer EG. Sequential MyD88-independent and -dependent activation of innate immune responses to intracellular bacterial infection. *Immunity* (2003) 19:891–901. doi:10.1016/ S1074-7613(03)00330-3
- MacDonald KP, Munster DJ, Clark GJ, Dzionek A, Schmitz J, Hart DN. Characterization of human blood dendritic cell subsets. *Blood* (2002) 100:4512–20. doi:10.1182/blood-2001-11-0097
- Zaba LC, Fuentes-Duculan J, Steinman RM, Krueger JG, Lowes MA. Normal human dermis contains distinct populations of CD11c+BDCA-1+ dendritic cells and CD163+FXIIIA+ macrophages. J Clin Invest (2007) 117:2517–25. doi:10.1172/JCI32282
- McIlroy D, Troadec C, Grassi F, Samri A, Barrou B, Autran B, et al. Investigation of human spleen dendritic cell phenotype and distribution reveals evidence of in vivo activation in a subset of organ donors. *Blood* (2001) 97:3470–7. doi:10.1182/blood.V97.11.3470
- Crozat K, Guiton R, Guilliams M, Henri S, Baranek T, Schwartz-Cornil I, et al. Comparative genomics as a tool to reveal functional equivalences between human and mouse dendritic cell subsets. *Immunol Rev* (2010) 234:177–98. doi:10.1111/j.0105-2896.2009.00868.x
- Nizzoli G, Krietsch J, Weick A, Steinfelder S, Facciotti F, Gruarin P, et al. Human CD1c+ dendritic cells secrete high levels of IL-12 and potently prime cytotoxic T-cell responses. *Blood* (2013) 122:932–42. doi:10.1182/blood-2013-04-495424
- Segura E, Valladeau-Guilemond J, Donnadieu MH, Sastre-Garau X, Soumelis V, Amigorena S. Characterization of resident and migratory dendritic cells in human lymph nodes. *J Exp Med* (2012) 209:653–60. doi:10.1084/jem.20111457
- Mittag D, Proietto AI, Loudovaris T, Mannering SI, Vremec D, Shortman K, et al. Human dendritic cell subsets from spleen and blood are similar in phenotype and function but modified by donor health status. *J Immunol* (2011) 186:6207–17. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.1002632
- Auffermann-Gretzinger S, Lossos IS, Vayntrub TA, Leong W, Grumet FC, Blume KG, et al. Rapid establishment of dendritic cell chimerism in allogeneic hematopoietic cell transplant recipients. *Blood* (2002) **99**:1442–8. doi:10.1182/blood.V99.4.1442
- Niiya H, Kanda Y, Saito T, Ohnishi T, Kanai S, Kawano Y, et al. Early full donor myeloid chimerism after reduced-intensity stem cell transplantation using a combination of fludarabine and busulfan. *Haematologica* (2001) 86:1071–4.
- Miura Y, Tanaka J, Toubai T, Tsutsumi Y, Kato N, Hirate D, et al. Analysis of donor-type chimerism in lineage-specific cell populations after allogeneic myeloablative and non-myeloablative stem cell transplantation. *Bone Marrow Transplant* (2006) 37:837–43. doi:10.1038/sj.bmt.1705352
- Watanabe N, Takahashi S, Ishige M, Ishii Y, Ooi J, Tomonari A, et al. Recipientderived cells after cord blood transplantation: dynamics elucidated by multicolor FACS, reflecting graft failure and relapse. *Biol Blood Marrow Transplant* (2008) 14:693–701. doi:10.1016/j.bbmt.2008.04.001
- Boeck S, Hamann M, Pihusch V, Heller T, Diem H, Rolf B, et al. Kinetics of dendritic cell chimerism and T cell chimerism in allogeneic hematopoietic stem cell recipients. *Bone Marrow Transplant* (2006) 37:57–64. doi:10.1038/sj.bmt. 1705217
- Moratto D, Giliani S, Bonfim C, Mazzolari E, Fischer A, Ochs HD, et al. Longterm outcome and lineage-specific chimerism in 194 patients with Wiskott-Aldrich syndrome treated by hematopoietic cell transplantation in the period 1980-2009: an international collaborative study. *Blood* (2011) 118:1675–84. doi:10.1182/blood-2010-11-319376
- Mager K, Wehner R, Bahr F, Oelschlägel U, Platzbecker U, Wermke M, et al. Reconstitution of 6-sulfo LacNAc dendritic cells after allogeneic stem-cell transplantation. *Transplantation* (2012) **93**:1270–5. doi:10.1097/TP. 0b013e31824fd8b4

- 93. Horváth R, Budinský V, Kayserová J, Kalina T, Formánková R, Starý J, et al. Kinetics of dendritic cells reconstitution and costimulatory molecules expression after myeloablative allogeneic haematopoietic stem cell transplantation: implications for the development of acute graft-versus host disease. *Clin Immunol* (2009) 131:60–9. doi:10.1016/j.clim.2008.10.009
- 94. Arpinati M, Chirumbolo G, Urbini B, Bonifazi F, Bandini G, Saunthararajah Y, et al. Acute graft-versus-host disease and steroid treatment impair CD11c+ and CD123+ dendritic cell reconstitution after allogeneic peripheral blood stem cell transplantation. *Biol Blood Marrow Transplant* (2004) 10:106–15. doi:10.1016/j.bbmt.2003.09.005
- 95. Rajasekar R, Mathews V, Lakshmi KM, Sellathamby S, George B, Viswabandya A, et al. Plasmacytoid dendritic cell count on day 28 in HLA-matched related allogeneic peripheral blood stem cell transplant predicts the incidence of acute and chronic GVHD. *Biol Blood Marrow Transplant* (2008) 14:344–50. doi:10.1016/j.bbmt.2007.12.494
- 96. Porta MD, Rigolin GM, Alessandrino EP, Maiocchi M, Malcovati L, Vanelli L, et al. Dendritic cell recovery after allogeneic stem-cell transplantation in acute leukemia: correlations with clinical and transplant characteristics. *Eur J Haematol* (2004) **72**:18–25. doi:10.1046/j.0902-4441. 2004.00172.x
- Haniffa M, Ginhoux F, Wang XN, Bigley V, Abel M, Dimmick I, et al. Differential rates of replacement of human dermal dendritic cells and macrophages during hematopoietic stem cell transplantation. *J Exp Med* (2009) 206:371–85. doi:10.1084/jem.20081633
- 98. Auffermann-Gretzinger S, Eger L, Bornhäuser M, Schäkel K, Oelschlaegel U, Schaich M, et al. Fast appearance of donor dendritic cells in human skin: dynamics of skin and blood dendritic cells after allogeneic hematopoietic cell transplantation. *Transplantation* (2006) 81:866–73. doi:10.1097/01.tp. 0000203318.16224.57
- Collin MP, Hart DN, Jackson GH, Cook G, Cavet J, MacKinnon S, et al. The fate of human Langerhans cells in hematopoietic stem cell transplantation. J Exp Med (2006) 203:27–33. doi:10.1084/jem.20051787
- 100. Schäkel K, Kannagi R, Kniep B, Goto Y, Mitsuoka C, Zwirner J, et al. 6-Sulfo LacNAc, a novel carbohydrate modification of PSGL-1, defines an inflammatory type of human dendritic cells. *Immunity* (2002) 17:289–301. doi:10.1016/S1074-7613(02)00393-X
- 101. Levenga H, Woestenenk R, Schattenberg AV, Maas F, Jansen JH, Raymakers R, et al. Dynamics in chimerism of T cells and dendritic cells in relapsed CML patients and the influence on the induction of alloreactivity following donor lymphocyte infusion. *Bone Marrow Transplant* (2007) 40:585–92. doi:10.1038/sj.bmt.1705777
- 102. Zhang Y, Louboutin JP, Zhu J, Rivera AJ, Emerson SG. Preterminal host dendritic cells in irradiated mice prime CD8+ T cell-mediated acute graft-versushost disease. J Clin Invest (2002) 109:1335–44. doi:10.1172/JCI200214989
- 103. Hill GR, Crawford JM, Cooke KR, Brinson YS, Pan L, Ferrara JL. Total body irradiation and acute graft-versus-host disease: the role of gastrointestinal damage and inflammatory cytokines. *Blood* (1997) **90**:3204–13. doi:10.1016/j.bbmt. 2003.09.005
- 104. Hill GR, Teshima T, Gerbitz A, Pan L, Cooke KR, Brinson YS, et al. Differential roles of IL-1 and TNF-alpha on graft-versus-host disease and graft versus leukemia. J Clin Invest (1999) 104:459–67. doi:10.1172/JCI6896
- 105. Duffner UA, Maeda Y, Cooke KR, Reddy P, Ordemann R, Liu C, et al. Host dendritic cells alone are sufficient to initiate acute graft-versus-host disease. *J Immunol* (2004) 172:7393–8.
- 106. Markey KA, Banovic T, Kuns RD, Olver SD, Don AL, Raffelt NC, et al. Conventional dendritic cells are the critical donor APC presenting alloantigen after experimental bone marrow transplantation. *Blood* (2009) 113:5644–9. doi:10.1182/blood-2008-12-191833
- 107. Li H, Demetris AJ, McNiff J, Matte-Martone C, Tan HS, Rothstein DM, et al. Profound depletion of host conventional dendritic cells, plasmacytoid dendritic cells, and B cells does not prevent graft-versus-host disease induction. *J Immunol* (2012) 188:3804–11. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.1102795
- 108. Wu CJ, Yang XF, McLaughlin S, Neuberg D, Canning C, Stein B, et al. Detection of a potent humoral response associated with immune-induced remission of chronic myelogenous leukemia. *J Clin Invest* (2000) 106:705–14. doi:10.1172/JCI10196
- 109. Nishida T, Hudecek M, Kostic A, Bleakley M, Warren EH, Maloney D, et al. Development of tumor-reactive T cells after nonmyeloablative allogeneic

hematopoietic stem cell transplant for chronic lymphocytic leukemia. *Clin Cancer Res* (2009) **15**:4759–68. doi:10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-09-0199

- 110. Cobbold M, De La Peña H, Norris A, Polefrone JM, Qian J, English AM, et al. MHC class I-associated phosphopeptides are the targets of memory-like immunity in leukemia. *Sci Transl Med* (2013) 5:203ra125. doi:10.1126/scitranslmed. 3006061
- 111. Sykes M, Preffer F, McAfee S, Saidman SL, Weymouth D, Andrews DM, et al. Mixed lymphohemopoietic chimerism and graft-versus-lymphoma effects after non-myeloablative therapy and HLA-mismatched bone-marrow transplantation. *Lancet* (1999) 353:1755–9. doi:10.1016/S0140-6736(98)11135-2
- 112. Chakraverty R, Eom HS, Sachs J, Buchli J, Cotter P, Hsu R, et al. Host MHC class II+ antigen-presenting cells and CD4 cells are required for CD8-mediated graft-versus-leukemia responses following delayed donor leukocyte infusions. *Blood* (2006) 108:2106–13. doi:10.1182/blood-2006-03-007427
- 113. Ghosh A, Koestner W, Hapke M, Schlaphoff V, Länger F, Baumann R, et al. Donor T cells primed on leukemia lysate-pulsed recipient APCs mediate strong graft-versus-leukemia effects across MHC barriers in full chimeras. *Blood* (2009) **113**:4440–8. doi:10.1182/blood-2008-09-181677
- 114. Xia G, Truitt RL, Johnson BD. Graft-versus-leukemia and graft-versus-host reactions after donor lymphocyte infusion are initiated by host-type antigenpresenting cells and regulated by regulatory T cells in early and long-term chimeras. *Biol Blood Marrow Transplant* (2006) 12:397–407. doi:10.1016/j. bbmt.2005.11.519
- 115. Mapara MY, Kim YM, Wang SP, Bronson R, Sachs DH, Sykes M. Donor lymphocyte infusions mediate superior graft-versus-leukemia effects in mixed compared to fully allogeneic chimeras: a critical role for host antigen-presenting cells. *Blood* (2002) **100**:1903–9. doi:10.1182/blood-2002-01-0023
- 116. Rocha M, Umansky V, Lee KH, Hacker HJ, Benner A, Schirrmacher V. Differences between graft-versus-leukemia and graft-versus-host reactivity. I. Interaction of donor immune T cells with tumor and/or host cells. *Blood* (1997) 89:2189–202.
- 117. Muerkoster S, Laman JD, Rocha M, Umansky V, Schirrmacher V. Functional and in situ evidence for nitric oxide production driven by CD40-CD40L interactions in graft-versus-leukemia reactivity. *Clin Cancer Res* (2000) 6: 1988–96.
- 118. Schulz O, Diebold SS, Chen M, Näslund TI, Nolte MA, Alexopoulou L, et al. Toll-like receptor 3 promotes cross-priming to virus-infected cells. *Nature* (2005) 433:887–92. doi:10.1038/nature03326
- 119. Fuertes MB, Kacha AK, Kline J, Woo SR, Kranz DM, Murphy KM, et al. Host type I IFN signals are required for antitumor CD8+ T cell responses through CD8{alpha}+ dendritic cells. *J Exp Med* (2011) **208**:2005–16. doi:10.1084/jem. 20101159
- 120. Diamond MS, Kinder M, Matsushita H, Mashayekhi M, Dunn GP, Archambault JM, et al. Type I interferon is selectively required by dendritic cells for immune rejection of tumors. *J Exp Med* (2011) **208**:1989–2003. doi:10.1084/ jem.20101158
- 121. Edelson BT, KC W, Juang R, Kohyama M, Benoit LA, Klekotka PA, et al. Peripheral CD103+ dendritic cells form a unified subset developmentally related to CD8alpha+ conventional dendritic cells. J Exp Med (2010) 207:823–36. doi:10.1084/jem.20091627
- 122. Seillet C, Jackson JT, Markey KA, Brady HJ, Hill GR, Macdonald KP, et al. CD8alpha+ DCs can be induced in the absence of transcription factors Id2, Nfil3, and Batf3. *Blood* (2013) **121**:1574–83. doi:10.1182/blood-2012-07-445650
- 123. Poulin LF, Salio M, Griessinger E, Anjos-Afonso F, Craciun L, Chen JL, et al. Characterization of human DNGR-1+ BDCA3+ leukocytes as putative equivalents of mouse CD8alpha+ dendritic cells. J Exp Med (2010) 207:1261–71. doi:10.1084/jem.20092618
- Mullighan CG, Su X, Zhang J, Radtke I, Phillips LA, Miller CB, et al. Deletion of IKZF1 and prognosis in acute lymphoblastic leukemia. *N Engl J Med* (2009) 360:470–80. doi:10.1056/NEJMoa0808253
- 125. Martinelli G, Iacobucci I, Storlazzi CT, Vignetti M, Paoloni F, Cilloni D, et al. IKZF1 (Ikaros) deletions in BCR-ABL1-positive acute lymphoblastic leukemia are associated with short disease-free survival and high rate of cumulative incidence of relapse: a GIMEMA AL WP report. J Clin Oncol (2009) 27:5202–7. doi:10.1200/JCO.2008.21.6408
- 126. Li JM, Southerland LT, Lu Y, Darlak KA, Giver CR, McMillin DW, et al. Activation, immune polarization, and graft-versus-leukemia activity of donor T cells

are regulated by specific subsets of donor bone marrow antigen-presenting cells in allogeneic hemopoietic stem cell transplantation. *J Immunol* (2009) **183**:7799–809. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.0900155

- 127. Darlak KA, Wang Y, Li JM, Harris WA, Owens LM, Waller EK. Enrichment of IL-12-producing plasmacytoid dendritic cells in donor bone marrow grafts enhances graft-versus-leukemia activity in allogeneic hematopoietic stem cell transplantation. *Biol Blood Marrow Transplant* (2013) 19:1331–9. doi:10.1016/j.bbmt.2013.06.016
- 128. Lu Y, Giver CR, Sharma A, Li JM, Darlak KA, Owens LM, et al. IFN-gamma and indoleamine 2,3-dioxygenase signaling between donor dendritic cells and T cells regulates graft versus host and graft versus leukemia activity. *Blood* (2012) **119**:1075–85. doi:10.1182/blood-2010-12-322891
- 129. Elmaagacli AH, Steckel NK, Koldehoff M, Hegerfeldt Y, Trenschel R, Ditschkowski M, et al. Early human cytomegalovirus replication after transplantation is associated with a decreased relapse risk: evidence for a putative virus-versus-leukemia effect in acute myeloid leukemia patients. *Blood* (2011) 118:1402–12. doi:10.1182/blood-2010-08-304121
- 130. Green ML, Leisenring WM, Xie H, Walter RB, Mielcarek M, Sandmaier BM, et al. CMV reactivation after allogeneic HCT and relapse risk: evidence for early protection in acute myeloid leukemia. *Blood* (2013) 122:1316–24. doi:10.1182/blood-2013-02-487074
- 131. Manjappa S, Bhamidipati PK, Stokerl-Goldstein KE, Dipersio JF, Uy GL, Westervelt P, et al. Protective effect of cytomegalovirus reactivation on relapse after allogeneic hematopoietic cell transplantation in acute myeloid leukemia patients is influenced by conditioning regimen. *Biol Blood Marrow Transplant* (2013) **20**(1):46–52. doi:10.1016/j.bbmt.2013.10.003
- 132. Foley B, Cooley S, Verneris MR, Pitt M, Curtsinger J, Luo X, et al. Cytomegalovirus reactivation after allogeneic transplantation promotes a lasting increase in educated NKG2C+ natural killer cells with potent function. *Blood* (2012) 119:2665–74. doi:10.1182/blood-2011-10-386995
- 133. Andoniou CE, van Dommelen SL, Voigt V, Andrews DM, Brizard G, Asselin-Paturel C, et al. Interaction between conventional dendritic cells and natural killer cells is integral to the activation of effective antiviral immunity. *Nat Immunol* (2005) 6:1011–9. doi:10.1038/ni1244
- 134. Ebihara T, Azuma M, Oshiumi H, Kasamatsu J, Iwabuchi K, Matsumoto K, et al. Identification of a polyI:C-inducible membrane protein that participates in dendritic cell-mediated natural killer cell activation. *J Exp Med* (2010) 207:2675–87. doi:10.1084/jem.20091573
- 135. Joffre OP, Segura E, Savina A, Amigorena S. Cross-presentation by dendritic cells. Nat Rev Immunol (2012) 12:557–69. doi:10.1038/nri3254
- 136. Savina A, Peres A, Cebrian I, Carmo N, Moita C, Hacohen N, et al. The small GTPase Rac2 controls phagosomal alkalinization and antigen crosspresentation selectively in CD8(+) dendritic cells. *Immunity* (2009) **30**:544–55. doi:10.1016/j.immuni.2009.01.013
- 137. Cebrian I, Visentin G, Blanchard N, Jouve M, Bobard A, Moita C, et al. Sec22b regulates phagosomal maturation and antigen crosspresentation by dendritic cells. *Cell* (2011) 147:1355–68. doi:10.1016/j.cell.2011.11.021
- 138. Imai T, Kato Y, Kajiwara C, Mizukami S, Ishige I, Ichiyanagi T, et al. Heat shock protein 90 (HSP90) contributes to cytosolic translocation of extracellular antigen for cross-presentation by dendritic cells. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (2011) 108:16363–8. doi:10.1073/pnas.1108372108
- 139. Ackerman AL, Kyritsis C, Tampe R, Cresswell P. Access of soluble antigens to the endoplasmic reticulum can explain cross-presentation by dendritic cells. *Nat Immunol* (2005) 6:107–13. doi:10.1038/ni1147
- 140. Shen L, Sigal LJ, Boes M, Rock KL. Important role of cathepsin S in generating peptides for TAP-independent MHC class I crosspresentation in vivo. *Immunity* (2004) 21:155–65. doi:10.1016/j.immuni.2004.07.004
- 141. Di Pucchio T, Chatterjee B, Smed-Sörensen A, Clayton S, Palazzo A, Montes M, et al. Direct proteasome-independent cross-presentation of viral antigen by plasmacytoid dendritic cells on major histocompatibility complex class I. *Nat Immunol* (2008) **9**:551–7. doi:10.1038/ni.1602
- 142. Mashayekhi M, Sandau MM, Dunay IR, Frickel EM, Khan A, Goldszmid RS, et al. CD8alpha(+) dendritic cells are the critical source of interleukin-12 that controls acute infection by *Toxoplasma gondii* tachyzoites. *Immunity* (2011) 35:249–59. doi:10.1016/j.immuni.2011.08.008
- 143. Edelson BT, Bradstreet TR, Hildner K, Carrero JA, Frederick KE, KC W, et al. CD8alpha(+) dendritic cells are an obligate cellular entry point for productive infection by *Listeria monocytogenes. Immunity* (2011) 35:236–48. doi:10.1016/j.immuni.2011.06.012

- 144. del Rio ML, Rodriguez-Barbosa JI, Kremmer E, Forster R. CD103– and CD103+ bronchial lymph node dendritic cells are specialized in presenting and cross-presenting innocuous antigen to CD4+ and CD8+ T cells. *J Immunol* (2007) **178**:6861–6.
- 145. Bedoui S, Whitney PG, Waithman J, Eidsmo L, Wakim L, Caminschi I, et al. Cross-presentation of viral and self antigens by skin-derived CD103+ dendritic cells. *Nat Immunol* (2009) 10:488–95. doi:10.1038/ni.1724
- 146. Henri S, Poulin LF, Tamoutounour S, Ardouin L, Guilliams M, de Bovis B, et al. CD207+ CD103+ dermal dendritic cells cross-present keratinocyte-derived antigens irrespective of the presence of Langerhans cells. J Exp Med (2010) 207:189–206. doi:10.1084/jem.20091964
- 147. Helft J, Manicassamy B, Guermonprez P, Hashimoto D, Silvin A, Agudo J, et al. Cross-presenting CD103+ dendritic cells are protected from influenza virus infection. J Clin Invest (2012) 122:4037–47. doi:10.1172/JCI60659
- 148. Schreibelt G, Klinkenberg LJ, Cruz LJ, Tacken PJ, Tel J, Kreutz M, et al. The Ctype lectin receptor CLEC9A mediates antigen uptake and (cross-)presentation by human blood BDCA3+ myeloid dendritic cells. *Blood* (2012) **119**:2284–92. doi:10.1182/blood-2011-08-373944
- 149. Cohn L, Chatterjee B, Esselborn F, Smed-Sörensen A, Nakamura N, Chalouni C, et al. Antigen delivery to early endosomes eliminates the superiority of human blood BDCA3+ dendritic cells at cross presentation. *J Exp Med* (2013) 210:1049–63. doi:10.1084/jem.20121251
- 150. Haniffa M, Shin A, Bigley V, McGovern N, Teo P, See P, et al. Human tissues contain CD141hi cross-presenting dendritic cells with functional homology to mouse CD103+ nonlymphoid dendritic cells. *Immunity* (2012) 37:60–73. doi:10.1016/j.immuni.2012.04.012
- 151. Segura E, Durand M, Amigorena S. Similar antigen cross-presentation capacity and phagocytic functions in all freshly isolated human lymphoid organresident dendritic cells. J Exp Med (2013) 210:1035–47. doi:10.1084/jem. 20121103
- Dolan BP, Gibbs KD Jr, Ostrand-Rosenberg S. Dendritic cells cross-dressed with peptide MHC class I complexes prime CD8+ T cells. J Immunol (2006) 177:6018–24.
- 153. Dolan BP, Gibbs KD Jr, Ostrand-Rosenberg S. Tumor-specific CD4+ T cells are activated by "cross-dressed" dendritic cells presenting peptide-MHC class II complexes acquired from cell-based cancer vaccines. *J Immunol* (2006) 176:1447–55.
- Wakim LM, Bevan MJ. Cross-dressed dendritic cells drive memory CD8+ Tcell activation after viral infection. *Nature* (2011) 471:629–32. doi:10.1038/ nature09863
- 155. Li L, Kim S, Herndon JM, Goedegebuure P, Belt BA, Satpathy AT, et al. Crossdressed CD8alpha+/CD103+ dendritic cells prime CD8+ T cells following vaccination. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (2012) **109**:12716–21. doi:10.1073/pnas. 1203468109
- 156. Miyake T, Kumagai Y, Kato H, Guo Z, Matsushita K, Satoh T, et al. Poly I:Cinduced activation of NK cells by CD8 alpha+ dendritic cells via the IPS-1 and TRIF-dependent pathways. J Immunol (2009) 183:2522–8. doi:10.4049/ jimmunol.0901500
- 157. Longhi MP, Trumpfheller C, Idoyaga J, Caskey M, Matos I, Kluger C, et al. Dendritic cells require a systemic type I interferon response to mature and induce CD4+ Th1 immunity with poly IC as adjuvant. J Exp Med (2009) 206:1589–602. doi:10.1084/jem.20090247
- Robb RJ, Kreijveld E, Kuns RD, Wilson YA, Olver SD, Don AL, et al. Type I-IFNs control GVHD and GVL responses after transplantation. *Blood* (2011) 118:3399–409. doi:10.1182/blood-2010-12-325746
- 159. Li H, Li Y, Jiao J, Hu HM. Alpha-alumina nanoparticles induce efficient autophagy-dependent cross-presentation and potent antitumour response. *Nat Nanotechnol* (2011) 6:645–50. doi:10.1038/nnano.2011.153
- 160. Mukai Y, Yoshinaga T, Yoshikawa M, Matsuo K, Yoshikawa T, Matsuo K, et al. Induction of endoplasmic reticulum-endosome fusion for antigen crosspresentation induced by poly (gamma-glutamic acid) nanoparticles. *J Immunol* (2011) 187:6249–55. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.1001093
- 161. Flinsenberg TW, Compeer EB, Koning D, Klein M, Amelung FJ, van Baarle D, et al. Fcgamma receptor antigen targeting potentiates cross-presentation by human blood and lymphoid tissue BDCA-3+ dendritic cells. *Blood* (2012) 120:5163–72. doi:10.1182/blood-2012-06-434498
- 162. Crespo MI, Zacca ER, Núñez NG, Ranocchia RP, Maccioni M, Maletto BA, et al. TLR7 triggering with polyuridylic acid promotes cross-presentation in CD8alpha+ conventional dendritic cells by enhancing antigen preservation

and MHC class I antigen permanence on the dendritic cell surface. *J Immunol* (2013) **190**:948–60. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.1102725

- 163. Li Y, Hahn T, Garrison K, Cui ZH, Thorburn A, Thorburn J, et al. The vitamin E analogue alpha-TEA stimulates tumor autophagy and enhances antigen crosspresentation. *Cancer Res* (2012) **72**:3535–45. doi:10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-11-3103
- 164. Li N, Chen Y, He W, Yi T, Zhao D, Zhang C, et al. Anti-CD3 preconditioning separates GVL from GVHD via modulating host dendritic cell and donor Tcell migration in recipients conditioned with TBI. *Blood* (2009) 113:953–62. doi:10.1182/blood-2008-06-165522
- 165. Asakura S, Hashimoto D, Takashima S, Sugiyama H, Maeda Y, Akashi K, et al. Alloantigen expression on non-hematopoietic cells reduces graft-versus-leukemia effects in mice. J Clin Invest (2010) 120:2370–8. doi: 10.1172/JCI39165
- 166. Reddy P, Sun Y, Toubai T, Duran-Struuck R, Clouthier SG, Weisiger E, et al. Histone deacetylase inhibition modulates indoleamine 2,3-dioxygenasedependent DC functions and regulates experimental graft-versus-host disease in mice. J Clin Invest (2008) 118:2562–73. doi:10.1172/JCI34712
- 167. Zhou Q, Munger ME, Highfill SL, Tolar J, Weigel BJ, Riddle M, et al. Program death-1 signaling and regulatory T cells collaborate to resist the function of adoptively transferred cytotoxic T lymphocytes in advanced acute myeloid leukemia. *Blood* (2010) **116**:2484–93. doi:10.1182/blood-2010-03-275446
- 168. Hobo W, Maas F, Adisty N, de Witte T, Schaap N, van der Voort R, et al. siRNA silencing of PD-L1 and PD-L2 on dendritic cells augments expansion and function of minor histocompatibility antigen-specific CD8+ T cells. *Blood* (2010) 116:4501–11. doi:10.1182/blood-2010-04-278739
- 169. Willingham SB, Volkmer JP, Gentles AJ, Sahoo D, Dalerba P, Mitra SS, et al. The CD47-signal regulatory protein alpha (SIRPa) interaction is a therapeutic target for human solid tumors. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (2012) 109:6662–7. doi:10.1073/pnas.1121623109
- 170. Weiskopf K, Ring AM, Ho CC, Volkmer JP, Levin AM, Volkmer AK, et al. Engineered SIRPalpha variants as immunotherapeutic adjuvants to anticancer antibodies. *Science* (2013) 341:88–91. doi:10.1126/science.1238856
- 171. McKenna HJ, Stocking KL, Miller RE, Brasel K, De Smedt T, Maraskovsky E, et al. Mice lacking flt3 ligand have deficient hematopoiesis affecting hematopoietic progenitor cells, dendritic cells, and natural killer cells. *Blood* (2000) **95**:3489–97.
- 172. Waskow C, Liu K, Darrasse-Jèze G, Guermonprez P, Ginhoux F, Merad M, et al. The receptor tyrosine kinase Flt3 is required for dendritic cell development in peripheral lymphoid tissues. *Nat Immunol* (2008) 9:676–83. doi:10.1038/ni.1615
- 173. Hochrein H, Shortman K, Vremec D, Scott B, Hertzog P, O'Keeffe M. Differential production of IL-12, IFN-alpha, and IFN-gamma by mouse dendritic cell subsets. *J Immunol* (2001) 166:5448–55.
- 174. Guermonprez P, Helft J, Claser C, Deroubaix S, Karanje H, Gazumyan A, et al. Inflammatory Flt3L is essential to mobilize dendritic cells and for T cell responses during *Plasmodium* infection. *Nat Med* (2013) 19:730–8. doi:10.1038/nm.3197
- 175. Suss G, Shortman K. A subclass of dendritic cells kills CD4 T cells via Fas/Fasligand-induced apoptosis. J Exp Med (1996) 183:1789–96. doi:10.1084/jem. 183.4.1789
- 176. Chu CC, Ali N, Karagiannis P, Di Meglio P, Skowera A, Napolitano L, et al. Resident CD141 (BDCA3)+ dendritic cells in human skin produce IL-10 and induce regulatory T cells that suppress skin inflammation. *J Exp Med* (2012) 209:935–45. doi:10.1084/jem.20112583
- 177. Wu L, D'Amico A, Winkel KD, Suter M, Lo D, Shortman K. RelB is essential for the development of myeloid-related CD8alpha- dendritic cells but not

of lymphoid-related CD8alpha+ dendritic cells. *Immunity* (1998) **9**:839–47. doi:10.1016/S1074-7613(00)80649-4

- 178. Kobayashi T, Walsh PT, Walsh MC, Speirs KM, Chiffoleau E, King CG, et al. TRAF6 is a critical factor for dendritic cell maturation and development. *Immunity* (2003) 19:353–63. doi:10.1016/S1074-7613(03)00230-9
- 179. Yrlid U, Wick MJ. Antigen presentation capacity and cytokine production by murine splenic dendritic cell subsets upon *Salmonella* encounter. *J Immunol* (2002) 169:108–16.
- 180. McDonnell AM, Prosser AC, van Bruggen I, Robinson BW, Currie AJ. CD8alpha+ DC are not the sole subset cross-presenting cell-associated tumor antigens from a solid tumor. *Eur J Immunol* (2010) **40**:1617–27. doi:10.1002/ eji.200940153
- 181. Li HS, Yang CY, Nallaparaju KC, Zhang H, Liu YJ, Goldrath AW, et al. The signal transducers STAT5 and STAT3 control expression of Id2 and E2-2 during dendritic cell development. *Blood* (2012) **120**:4363–73. doi:10.1182/blood-2012-07-441311
- 182. Esashi E, Wang YH, Perng O, Qin XF, Liu YJ, Watowich SS. The signal transducer STAT5 inhibits plasmacytoid dendritic cell development by suppressing transcription factor IRF8. *Immunity* (2008) 28:509–20. doi:10.1016/j.immuni. 2008.02.013
- 183. Mouriès J, Moron G, Schlecht G, Escriou N, Dadaglio G, Leclerc C. Plasmacytoid dendritic cells efficiently cross-prime naive T cells in vivo after TLR activation. *Blood* (2008) 112:3713–22. doi:10.1182/blood-2008-03-146290
- 184. Segura E, Touzot M, Bohineust A, Cappuccio A, Chiocchia G, Hosmalin A, et al. Human inflammatory dendritic cells induce Th17 cell differentiation. *Immunity* (2013) 38:336–48. doi:10.1016/j.immuni.2012.10.018
- 185. Plantinga M, Guilliams M, Vanheerswynghels M, Deswarte K, Branco-Madeira F, Toussaint W, et al. Conventional and monocyte-derived CD11b(+) dendritic cells initiate and maintain T helper 2 cell-mediated immunity to house dust mite allergen. *Immunity* (2013) 38:322–35. doi:10.1016/j.immuni.2012.10.016
- 186. Leon B, Lopez-Bravo M, Ardavin C. Monocyte-derived dendritic cells formed at the infection site control the induction of protective T helper 1 responses against Leishmania. *Immunity* (2007) 26:519–31. doi:10.1016/j.immuni.2007. 01.017
- 187. Hohl TM, Rivera A, Lipuma L, Gallegos A, Shi C, Mack M, et al. Inflammatory monocytes facilitate adaptive CD4 T cell responses during respiratory fungal infection. *Cell Host Microbe* (2009) 6:470–81. doi:10.1016/j.chom.2009.10.007
- 188. Nakano H, Lin KL, Yanagita M, Charbonneau C, Cook DN, Kakiuchi T, et al. Blood-derived inflammatory dendritic cells in lymph nodes stimulate acute T helper type 1 immune responses. *Nat Immunol* (2009) 10:394–402. doi:10.1038/ni.1707

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Received: 05 November 2013; accepted: 05 February 2014; published online: 21 February 2014.

Citation: Toubai T, Mathewson N and Reddy P (2014) The role of dendritic cells in graft-versus-tumor effect. Front. Immunol. 5:66. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2014.00066

This article was submitted to Tumor Immunity, a section of the journal Frontiers in Immunology.

Copyright © 2014 Toubai, Mathewson and Reddy. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) or licensor are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

REVIEW ARTICLE published: 11 November 2013 doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2013.00371



Antigen-specificT-cell activation independently of the MHC: chimeric antigen receptor-redirected T cells

Markus Chmielewski¹, Andreas A. Hombach¹ and Hinrich Abken^{1,2}*

¹ Center for Molecular Medicine Cologne, University of Cologne, Cologne, Germany

² Department I Internal Medicine, University Hospital Cologne, Cologne, Germany

Edited by:

Kristian Michael Hargadon, Hampden-Sydney College, USA

Reviewed by:

John Stephen Bridgeman, Cardiff University, UK Amorette Barber, Longwood University, USA

*Correspondence:

Hinrich Abken, Center for Molecular Medicine Cologne, University of Cologne, Robert-Koch-Street 21, Cologne, North Rhine-Westphalia D-50931, Germany e-mail: hinrich.abken@uk-koeln.de Adoptive T-cell therapy has recently shown promise in initiating a lasting anti-tumor response with spectacular therapeutic success in some cases. Specific T-cell therapy, however, is limited since a number of cancer cells are not recognized by T cells due to various mechanisms including the limited availability of tumor-specific T cells and deficiencies in antigen processing or major histocompatibility complex (MHC) expression of cancer cells. To make adoptive cell therapy applicable for the broad variety of cancer entities, patient's T cells are engineered ex vivo with pre-defined specificity by a recombinant chimeric antigen receptor (CAR) which consists in the extracellular part of an antibody-derived domain for binding with a "tumor-associated antigen" and in the intracellular part of a T-cell receptor (TCR)-derived signaling moiety for T-cell activation. The specificity of CAR-mediated T-cell recognition is defined by the antibody domain, is independent of MHC presentation and can be extended to any target for which an antibody is available. We discuss the advantages and limitations of MHC-independent T-cell targeting by an engineered CAR in comparison to TCR modified T cells and the impact of the CAR activation threshold on redirected T-cell activation. Finally we review most significant progress recently made in early stage clinical trials to treat cancer.

Keywords: chimeric antigen receptor, T-cell receptor, adoptive cell therapy, antibody, antigen-presenting cell

TUMOR-SPECIFIC T CELLS FOR ADOPTIVE CELL THERAPY

Experimental and clinical evidences indicate that the immune system is capable of identifying and destroying cancer cells in a specific fashion; tumor-infiltrating lymphocytes (TILs), expanded *ex vivo* and re-administered to the patient, exhibit a powerful anti-tumor response and induce an acute inflammatory reaction which attracts a second, antigen-independent wave of immune cell invasion into the same lesion. Adoptive TIL therapy has shown some success in the treatment of chemotherapy resistant melanoma, even in advanced stages of the disease (1). The procedure, however, is technically challenging since it involves the isolation of T cells from melanoma biopsies and their amplification *ex vivo* to therapeutic numbers; not every melanoma biopsy provides TILs and allows sufficient expansion. Moreover, the range of TIL bearing malignant lesions, apart from melanoma, is small limiting the application of the strategy to a broad variety of cancer entities.

The implementation of redirected T cells in cancer therapy is based on engineering T cells with pre-defined specificity to target virtually every cancer cell and on the production of engineered T cells in therapeutic numbers. To provide specificity peripheral blood T lymphocytes were *ex vivo* engineered with a recombinant T-cell receptor (TCR) of known specificity which recognizes cognate peptide-loaded major histocompatibility complexes (pMHC) of a so-called tumor-associated antigen (TAA). Such TCR engineered T cells showed promise in clinical trials (1, 2). Some conceptual deficits, however, limit the broad application of TCR engineered T cells including the HLA restriction, the dependency on adequate major histocompatibility complex (MHC) expression by tumor cells, the limited number of peptide-MHC complexes identified so far which can be used for screening and the potential mispairing with the endogenous TCR producing novel, unforeseen specificities which might induce severe auto-immunity after adoptive transfer (3).

Whereas the T-cell therapy using *ex vivo* expanded patients' TILs leads to significant clinical effect in patients with metastatic melanoma (1), difficulties are arising when engineering T cells with a recombinant TCR, in particular when non-immunogenic tumor-associated self-antigens are targeted (4). In a pre-clinical tumor model the treatment with TCR engineered T cells alone was without effect while the combination of vaccination with TCR modified T-cell transfer was synergistic.

In this situation, Zelig Eshhar, Weizmann Institute, proposed to redirect T cells by a recombinant receptor molecule, a chimeric antigen receptor (CAR), which in the extracellular part consists of an antibody with pre-defined binding specificity to a broad variety of targets and in the intracellular part of a T-cell activation domain (5). Such CAR modified T cells became generally known as "T-bodies" (5). In contrast to the TCR, the archetypical CAR is composed of one polypeptide chain (**Figure 1**). The binding domain is mostly a recombinant antibody in the single chain format consisting of the variable domain of the heavy and light chain linked by a short synthetic peptide (scFv). The extracellular part of a receptor molecule, for instance the NK cell-derived NKG2D ligands (6) and the surface NKp-30 (7) receptor, were also successfully integrated into the conventional CAR structure instead of the classical antibody-derived binding domain. The CAR intracellular



signaling domain is preferentially derived from the CD3 ζ -chain of the TCR/CD3 complex or, alternatively, from the γ -chain of the high affinity IgE Fc receptor-I (FccRI). Binding with cognate antigen on the tumor cell surface results in CAR clustering on the engineered T-cell with the consequence that the immunoreceptor tyrosine-based activation motifs (ITAMs) of the signaling moiety become phosphorylated and initiate a downstream signaling cascade which finally induces T-cell amplification, cytokine secretion, and cytolytic activity of the CAR T-cell toward the cognate tumor cell.

CAR T cells overcome some limitations of the TCR-based strategy by targeting cells in an MHC- and dendritic cell (DC)independent fashion. The properties of a CAR and TCR differ substantially in respect to target binding and subsequent T-cell activation. For instance these are in particular the TCR avidity for a given pMHC, the number of MHC molecules, the availability of co-receptors and the moderate TCR affinity for the cognate MHC peptide complex compared to the high affinity of the antibody in a CAR. On the one hand the use of antibody-based CAR T cells enables the targeting of antigens of different composition and structure such as peptides, carbohydrates, or inorganic compounds, and on the other hand, the TCR recognizes peptide antigens exclusively in the context of the particular MHC and thereby faces a limited variability. TCRs are moreover inherently cross-reactive toward endogenous antigens (8). The potential CAR targets thereby far outnumber their MHC presented counterparts which can be recognized by TCR modified T cells. In this report we review some advantages and limitations of MHC-independent

target recognition by CAR T cells and review most significant progress recently made in early stage clinical trials to treat cancer.

THE CAR STRATEGY: ANTIBODY-MEDIATED, MHC-INDEPENDENT ANTIGEN RECOGNITION BY ENGINEERED T CELLS

The design of the antibody-derived CAR differs in several major features from the TCR which physiologically mediates target recognition by T cells (**Figure 1**). By using an antibody for binding, T cells gain antibody-defined specificity: (i) T cells without CAR or equipped with a CAR of different specificity are not activated by the target cells; (ii) the cognate antigen needs to be on the cell surface to trigger CAR T-cell activation, intracellular antigens are not recognized by the CAR; and (iii) CAR-mediated T-cell activation can be specifically blocked by an antibody directed toward the CAR binding domain (9).

As a consequence of using an antibody for binding, CARs can redirect T cells toward targets of any chemical composition or conformation as far as an antibody is available. Indeed, CARs were engineered which target T cells toward carbohydrate antigens like CA19-9 (10–12). The TCR, in contrast, is restricted to the recognition of specific peptides presented by the particular MHC. Antibody-mediated target recognition by CARs, however, does not exclude targeting MHC presented antigens. Using an antibody which recognizes NY-Eso-1 peptide (157–165) in the context of HLA-A*0201, Stewart-Jones et al. engineered a CAR recognizing the MHC presented peptide analog SLLMWITQV (13). The antibody domain used for CAR targeting was optimized by modification of the individual amino acids which interact between the antibody and the peptide providing an antibody with 20-fold improved affinity, exceeding the affinity of the respective TCR by about 1000-fold. The high affinity antibody when engineered as recombinant CAR on T cells conferred specific killing of HLA- $A*0201/NY-ESO-1_{157-165}$ target cells as do T cells modified with the corresponding TCR.

BOTH CD8⁺ AND CD4⁺ T CELLS CAN BE REDIRECTED IN A MHC-INDEPENDENT FASHION

By bypassing MHC class I and class II restriction by an antibodyderived binding domain, CAR engineered T cells of both CD8⁺ and CD4⁺ subsets can be recruited for redirected target cell recognition (9, 14, 15). Equipped with a CAR, CD4⁺ T cells showed as cytolytic as do CD8⁺ T cells toward CAR-defined target cells. While human CD8⁺ T cells predominantly use two pathways in executing cytolysis, i.e., perforin and granzyme exocytosis and to some extend death receptor signaling via Fas/Fas-ligand (Fas-L) or TNF/TNF-receptor (TNF-R) (16), the mechanism of CARmediated lysis by redirected CD4⁺ T cells was a matter of debate for some time. Investigations utilizing mutant and knock-out mice suggest that MHC class II restricted cytolysis by murine CD4⁺ T cells is predominantly mediated by the death receptor system (17, 18) which is in contrast to MHC class I restricted cytolysis by CD8⁺ CTLs relying mainly on perforin and granzymes. Accordingly, murine CD8⁺ T cells engineered with a CAR lyse Fas resistant target cells whereas CD4⁺ T lymphocytes do not (19). In contrast to murine cells, CAR redirected human T cells mediate cytolysis predominantly by granzyme/perforin which can be executed independently of Fas or TNF- α signaling (14). The extent in redirected cytolysis correlates with the amount of cytolytic effector molecules; CAR CD4⁺ T cells which harbor about half amounts of perforin and granzyme B required about twice the number of effector cells to achieve the same cytolytic efficacy compared to CAR redirected CD8⁺ T cells. CAR CD4⁺ T cells rapidly lyse their targets in a short term in vitro cytotoxicity assay as do engineered CD8⁺ T cells which is in accordance to a perforin mediated process whereas death receptor signaling induces cytolysis of the delayed type. CAR engineered CD4⁺ T cells lyse both Fas- and TNF-resistant target cells. The observation is in accordance to a report that non-modified human CD4⁺ T cells execute cytolysis predominantly by granule exocytosis and not by the Fas/Fas-L system (20). In contrast to CAR modified cells, CD4⁺ cells engineered with a MHC class I restricted TCR were reported to lyse exclusively those target cells that are susceptible for death receptor signaling (21). Both studies, however, differ in several issues including the use of a MHC class I-dependent TCR vs. a MHCindependent CAR for redirecting T cells. As a consequence for adoptive cell therapy, CAR engineered patient's CD4⁺ T cells can efficiently provide help upon CAR-mediated activation and can eliminate tumor cells in a direct fashion and independently from MHC class II restriction.

"AFFINITY CEILING" OF ANTIBODY-MEDIATED CAR T-CELL ACTIVATION

CAR-mediated T-cell activation is thought to depend on and to increase with the binding affinity to cognate antigen; however,

the interaction is likely of higher affinity than binding of the physiological TCR to peptide loaded MHC. Two studies addressed in detail the situation (22, 23). The Chmielewski study (22) made use of a panel of CARs of the same backbone and same epitope specificity but with different binding affinities. The affinities were in the broad range of 10^{-7} – 10^{-11} M and were obtained upon mutation of the parental antibody while preserving the binding specificity. CAR T-cell activation correlated with the affinity of the antibody binding domain when the target antigen is present in an immobilized fashion coated onto surfaces. In contrast, when the cognate antigen is present on the surface of the target cell, the CAR-mediated cytotoxic effect on target cells and the release of IFN- γ and IL-2 did not increase with the binding affinity above threshold, which was in that example about $K_{\rm D} = 10^{-8}$ M. While the conditions that define the activation threshold, however, are so far not understood on the molecular level, the study makes clear that furthermore increase in affinity above threshold does not improve the redirected T-cell attack toward target cells but may result in antigen-independent T-cell activation.

The Hudecek study (23) evaluated scFv's of different affinities and CARs with different backbones with respect to their efficacy in redirecting T cells. The CAR with higher binding affinity conferred maximum T-cell activation with respect to cytokine release and proliferation compared to the CAR with lower affinity. The redirected cytolytic activity, however, was nearly the same. Although the study confirms previous observations that increase in affinity does not necessarily improve all T-cell effector functions, the comparison of the CARs is alleviated in that two binding domains targeting different epitopes, although in the same domain of the targeted ROR1 molecule, were used.

A recent study explored the situation for TCR modified T cells to determine the affinity threshold with respect to the optimal balance between anti-tumor efficacy and auto-immunity (24). Similar as for CAR modified T cells, TCR redirected anti-tumor activity shows a plateau at a defined TCR affinity, likely due to diminished contribution of TCR affinity to avidity above the threshold. Additional differences probably lie in the ability of different affinity interactions eliciting different effector functions at different antigen concentrations. The observations are in accordance to the CAR situation and strongly suggest that a relatively low affinity threshold is mandatory to avoid self-damage, that high affinity TCRs do not necessarily improve efficacy given the close relationship between anti-tumor activity and auto-immunity.

THE POSITION OF THE TARGETED EPITOPE MATTERS: MEMBRANE PROXIMAL VS. DISTAL EPITOPES AS TARGETS FOR CAR ENGINEERED T CELLS

By using an antibody for targeting, CAR engineered T cells can be redirected toward a variety of epitopes of the same antigen as far as the epitope is accessible to the respective antibody. The various epitopes of a given membrane-bound molecule, however, are not equally good targets for efficient T-cell activation. This was shown when membrane distal and proximal epitopes of the same membrane-bound molecule were targeted by CARs. For instance, when targeting carcinoembryonic antigen (CEA) expressed on gastrointestinal carcinoma cells, a higher degree of T-cell activation was obtained when epitopes closer to the cell membrane were targeted (25). The epitope itself is not the cause of the phenomenon since the isolated, solid phase bound CEA induces T-cell activation independently of the epitope position but dependent of the antibody binding affinity. The distal epitope when expressed in a more membrane proximal position activated CAR T cells with higher efficiency than in the distal position indicating that the position effect of the targeted epitope has, at least in this example, prominent impact on T-cell activation. The accessibility of the epitope for binding additionally impacts the efficiency in CARmediated T-cell activation; in the case of CEA targeting, however, the epitope accessibility seems not to be limiting because the distal epitope, which is thought to be more accessible than the more proximal epitope, is superior in binding but less capable in mediating CAR activation. This is in accordance with another report which analyzed the impact of the position of the target epitope on the structural requirements of the CAR (26). Basically the same observation was made when targeting B-cell lymphoma associated CD22 by CAR T cells (27, 28). To explain the observation, a kinetic-segregation model, initially proposed by Davis and van der Merwe (29) and hypothesized also to occur in CAR engineered T cells, is currently favored. The model suggests that targeting membrane distal epitopes increases the size of the CAR-ligand clusters, which in turn permits large phosphatase molecules such as CD45 to enter the synapse and to repress TCR signaling which is less the case when targeting the membrane proximal epitope. The model, however, does not exclude that accessibility and flexibility of the targeted epitope itself may also contribute to some extent.

The best suitable target epitope and binding affinity for optimal CAR T-cell activation remains so far to be empirically evaluated in each case. This is of major relevance given the broad variety of potential targets for a CAR in contrast to the TCR, the specificity of which is restricted to MHC presented peptides.

CD28 COSTIMULATION PROVIDED BY SECOND GENERATION CARs: MAJOR DIFFERENCES TO STIMULATION THROUGH APCs

First generation CARs provide exclusively only one signaling domain such as CD3 ζ -, ε -, or Fc ε RI γ -chain to initiate redirected activation of pre-stimulated T cells upon CAR binding with antigen. To prevent engineered T cells undergoing activation-induced cell death and anergy, CD28 costimulation simultaneously to CD35 signaling is required. CD28 is the prototype of a family of costimulatory molecules that is physiologically engaged on T cells by binding to the respective ligands on antigen-presenting cells (APCs). The agonistic CD28 ligands B7.1 (CD80) and B7.2 (CD86), physiologically expressed on APCs, are missing on most cancer cells with the consequence that the CD3 CAR upon binding to cancer cells does not provide the costimulation required for full activation. The limitation was overcome by linking the intracellular signaling domain of CD28 to CD35 in one polypeptide chain of the same CAR (30-33). In this so-called "second generation" CAR the artificial fusion of the CD28 and CD3 signaling domains facilitates Lck-mediated CD28 phosphorylation that binds and activates phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase for downstream signaling, resulting in full T-cell activation and IL-2 release. Other costimulatory molecules of the TNF-receptor family including 4-1BB (CD137) and OX40 (CD134) can also be integrated

into the same CD3ζ CAR molecule or combined with CD28 in a "third generation" CAR. This type of CAR has the advantage that T-cell costimulation occurs in an APC-independent fashion and is accompanied by suppressing inhibitory and/or strengthening stimulatory signals, each costimulatory signal modulating the T-cell effector function in a specific fashion (34). CD28 costimulation is integrated into most currently used CARs because CD28 sustains survival and prolongs polyclonal expansion of engineered T cells without the need of B7-CD28 engagement (35). CD28 co-signaling induces IL-2 that is used in an autocrine fashion by redirected T cells to increase their amplification (36). CD28-CD35 CAR signaling moreover counteracts transforming growth factorβ1 (TGF-β1)-mediated repression in T-cell amplification (37). Both prevention from AICD and increased amplification produce prolonged T-cell persistence and an improved anti-tumor attack. Other beneficial properties and some draw backs were recently discussed in more detail (38). Taking advantage of CD28 of other costimulatory moieties like 4-1BB, second generation CARs are currently being explored in early phase clinical trials.

The impact of CAR provided CD28 costimulation on the threshold of antigen-dependent, APC-independent T-cell activation was addressed by using a panel of CARs targeting T cells in the absence of agonistic CD28 ligands (39). CAR provided CD28 costimulation increases cytokine secretion but does not impact the activation threshold or "affinity ceiling," above which an increase in affinity does not increase T-cell activation. CD28 did not increase sensitivity toward target cells with intermediate or low densities of the respective target antigen. Additional CD28–B7 engagement did not further alter CD28-CD3 ζ CAR-mediated T-cell activation. In the presence of a CD3 ζ CAR, however, B7 engagement increased IFN- γ secretion indicating that the physiological CD28 costimulation through APCs cooperates with CAR-driven T-cell activation.

Another aspect concerns the fact that most target antigens for adoptive immunotherapy are not exclusively expressed on tumor cells but broadly present on a variety of healthy tissues, although frequently at lower levels. Since CAR provided CD28 costimulation in the absence of APCs does not alter the activation threshold, costimulation does not impact the selectivity of a redirected Tcell attack in peripheral tissues, does not lower the affinity ceiling and antigen-dependent threshold of CAR redirected T cells and thereby protects healthy cells with physiological levels of antigen from a T-cell attack.

With respect to costimulation, there are some fundamental differences in the physiologic vs. CAR-mediated T-cell activation. To induce full T-cell activation, the peptide loaded MHC has to interact with the TCR in a form that allows the appropriate synapse formation on the T-cell and to recruit costimulatory molecules which increase stability during early stages in this process. CD28 recruitment by B7 engagement on APCs sustains formation of the immunological synapse which is accompanied by lower amounts of antigen required for T-cell activation. During T-cell–APC interactions, in particular during early activation events, CD28–B7 binding potentiates synapse formation by increasing the density of the synapse components through approximation of the interacting membranes (40); increased clustering integrates the TCR with costimulatory signaling which can compensate for weak TCR

signals (41). The TCR binding threshold exhibits a sharp cutoff between full T-cell activity and no activity; the activation efficiency correlates with the TCR binding to the cognate peptide-MHC on APCs (42). Optimal CD28 costimulation occurs upon high-avidity engagement of dimeric B7.1, followed by dimer dissociation, CD28 down-regulation, and B7.1 internalization (43). CD28-B7 interactions with APCs sustain synapse formation which facilitates T-cell signaling upon low affinity target engagement depending on the extend of supra-molecular clustering (44). This mechanism is in contrast to CD28 CAR-mediated T-cell activation, in particular, the avidity of CAR binding is generally higher than of physiological TCR-MHC interactions. Whether the CAR synapse is formed in the same way as the TCR recruits additional components is so far not resolved. There are, however, some cooperative interactions between the CAR and downstream signaling molecules since additional B7.1-CD28 costimulation improves cytokine secretion initiated by CAR signaling.

CAR BASED ADOPTIVE CELL THERAPY GAINED SUBSTANTIAL SUCCESS IN RECENT EARLY PHASE TRIALS

Adoptive cell therapy with CAR engineered T cells is currently being evaluated in a number of early phase trials, some of them are listed in **Table 1**. Patient's T cells are modified *ex vivo* by retroor lenti-viral gene transfer with the respective CAR, amplified to therapeutically relevant numbers and given back to the patient by transfusion. Some of these trials produced encouraging evidence of clinical efficacy. CD19-specific CAR T cells induced complete and lasting remission of refractory CD19⁺ B-cell chronic lymphocytic leukemia (CLL) in all of the first three reported patients (44, 45). When successfully engrafted, CAR T cells expanded in vivo more than 1000-fold compared to the initial level, persisted in the peripheral blood and bone marrow for at least 6 months, and continued to express the CAR. T cells were effective in an anti-tumor response even at low dosage levels of about 1.5×10^5 cells/kg (45). The prolonged persistence of CD28-4-1BB-CD3ζ CAR modified T cells is probably due to two effects, the cooperation of costimulation in sustaining T-cell survival in the long-term and the repetitive re-stimulation by CD19⁺ healthy B cells and their progenitors which are also targets for the anti-CD19 CAR T cells. Apart from grade-3 tumor lysis syndrome and a cytokine storm, T-cell infusions had no other acute toxic effects in that trial. Interestingly, there was a delayed increase in the pro-inflammatory cytokines IFN-y and IL-6, which paralleled the clinical symptoms and coincided with the elimination of leukemia cells from the bone marrow. The clinical application of an IL-6 neutralizing antibody, noteworthy, reduced clinical manifestation of the cytokine storm. The same CAR is currently being evaluated in the treatment of pediatric CD19⁺ acute leukemia with spectacular success, however, relapse of CD19⁻ leukemia during therapy was also observed in one case (46). In previous trials, CAR T cells expanded less and objective tumor responses were modest although clearly documented in two out of three patients (47-50).

Despite recent success, two fatal serious adverse events occurred after infusion of CAR T cells, one of which is at least in part contributed to the CAR targeting specificity. "On-target off-organ" activation of the CAR T cells occurred in the NIH trial based on the fact that the targeted Her2/neu (ErbB2) is ubiquitously expressed on healthy tissues (50). The other adverse event after treatment of a

Table 1 | Recent adoptive cell therapy trials using CAR engineered T cells.

Target antigen	Disease	CAR signaling domain	ClinicalTrial.gov identifier	Clinical center
CD19	B-CLL	CD28-CD3ç	NCT00466531	MSKCC
CD19	B-ALL	CD28-CD35	NCT01044069	MSKCC
CD19	Leukemia	CD28-CD3ç	NCT01416974	MSKCC
CD19	Leukemia/lymphoma	CD28-CD35	NCT00924326	NCI
CD19	Leukemia/lymphoma	CD28-CD3ç	NCT01087294	NCI
CD19	Leukemia/lymphoma	CD28-CD3ζ vs. CD3ζ	NCT00586391	BCM
CD19	B-NHL/CLL	CD28-CD3ζ vs. CD3ζ	NCT00608270	BCM
CD19	Advanced B-NHL/CLL	CD28-CD3ζ vs. CD3ζ	NCT00709033	BCM
CD19	ALL post-HSCT	CD28-CD35	NCT00840853	BCM
CD19	Leukemia/lymphoma	CD137-CD3ζ	NCT01029366	UP
CD19	B-lymphoid malignancies	CD28-CD35	NCT00968760	MDACC
CD19	B-lineage malignancies	CD28-CD3ç	NCT01362452	MDACC
CD20	Mantle cell lymphoma/indolent B-NHL	CD28-CD137-CD3ς	NCT00621452	FHCRC
PMSA	Prostate cancer	CD28-CD35	NCT01140373	MSKCC
CEA	Breast cancer	CD28-CD35	NCT00673829	RWMC
CEA	Colorectal cancer	CD28-CD35	NCT00673322	RWMC
Her2/neu	Lung cancer	CD28-CD35	NCT00889954	BCM
Her2/neu	Osteosarcoma	CD28-CD3ç	NCT00902044	BCM
Her2/neu	Glioblastoma	CD28-CD3ç	NCT01109095	BCM
Kappa light chain	B-NHL and B-CLL	CD28-CD3ç vs. CD3ç	NCT00881920	BCM

MSKCC, Memorial Sloan-Kettering Cancer Center; NCI, National Cancer Institute; BCM, Baylor College of Medicine; RWMC, Roger Williams Medical Center; UP, University of Pennsylvania; MDACC, M.D. Anderson Cancer Center; FHCRC, Fred Hutchinson Cancer Research Center.

CD19⁺ CLL patient with CD28-CD35 CAR T cells was attributed to an extravasation of a latent bacterial infection subsequent to lymphodepletion (51). Despite the observed severe adverse events, MHC-independent targeting of cancer cells by CAR modified T cells showed promise in controlling CD19⁺ leukemia in the longterm; currently initiated and future trials will address whether solid cancer lesions will also successfully be targeted and controlled by CAR T cells.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

Work in the author's laboratory was supported by the Else Kröner-Fresenius Stiftung, Wilhelm Sander-Stiftung, the Deutsche Krebshilfe, the European Union (European Regional Development Fund – Investing in your future), the German federal state North Rhine-Westphalia (NRW), and the Fortune program of the Medical Faculty of the University of Cologne. The authors have no other relevant affiliations or financial involvement with any organization or entity with a financial interest in or financial conflict with the subject matter or materials discussed in the manuscript apart from those disclosed. No writing assistance was utilized in the production of this manuscript.

REFERENCES

- Morgan RA, Dudley ME, Wunderlich JR, Hughes MS, Yang JC, Sherry RM, et al. Cancer regression in patients after transfer of genetically engineered lymphocytes. *Science* (2006) **314**:126–9. doi:10.1126/science.1129003
- Marr LA, Gilham DE, Campbell JD, Fraser AR. Immunology in the clinic review series; focus on cancer: double trouble for tumours: bi-functional and redirected T cells as effective cancer immunotherapies. *Clin Exp Immunol* (2012) 167:216–25. doi:10.1111/j.1365-2249.2011.04517.x
- Jorritsma A, Gomez-Eerland R, Dokter M, van de Kasteele W, Zoet YM, Doxiadis II, et al. Selecting highly affine and well-expressed TCRs for gene therapy of melanoma. *Blood* (2007) 110:3564–72. doi:10.1182/blood-2007-02-075010
- 4. de Witte MA, Bendle GM, van den Boom MD, Coccoris M, Schell TD, Tevethia SS, et al. TCR gene therapy of spontaneous prostate carcinoma requires in vivo T cell activation. *J Immunol* (2008) **181**:2563–71.
- Gross G, Gorochov G, Waks T, Eshhar Z. Generation of effector T cells expressing chimeric T cell receptor with antibody type-specificity. *Transplant Proc* (1989) 2:127–30.
- Zhang T, Sentman CL. Mouse tumor vasculature expresses NKG2D ligands and can be targeted by chimeric NKG2D-modified T cells. *J Immunol* (2013) 190:2455–63. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.1201314
- Zhang T, Wu MR, Sentman CL. An NKp30-based chimeric antigen receptor promotes T cell effector functions and antitumor efficacy in vivo. *J Immunol* (2012) 189:2290–9. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.1103495
- Wooldridge L, Ekeruche-Makinde J, van den Berg HA, Skowera A, Miles JJ, Tan MP, et al. A single autoimmune T cell receptor recognizes more than a million different peptides. *J Biol Chem* (2012) 287:1168–77. doi:10.1074/jbc.M111. 289488
- Hombach A, Köhler H, Rappl G, Abken H. Human CD4+ T cells lyse target cells via granzyme/perforin upon circumvention of MHC class II restriction by an antibody-like immunoreceptor. J Immunol (2006) 177:5668–75.
- Mezzanzanica D, Canevari S, Mazzoni A, Figini M, Colnaghi MI, Waks T, et al. Transfer of chimeric receptor gene made of variable regions of tumor-specific antibody confers anticarbohydrate specificity on T cells. *Cancer Gene Ther* (1998) 5:401–7.
- Hombach A, Heuser C, Sircar R, Tillmann T, Diehl V, Kruis W, et al. T cell targeting of TAG72+ tumor cells by a chimeric receptor with antibody-like specificity for a carbohydrate epitope. *Gastroenterology* (1997) 113:1163–70. doi:10.1053/gast.1997.v113.pm9322511
- Westwood JA, Smyth MJ, Teng MW, Moeller M, Trapani JA, Scott AM, et al. Adoptive transfer of T cells modified with a humanized chimeric receptor gene inhibits growth of Lewis-Y-expressing tumors in mice. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (2005) 102:19051–6. doi:10.1073/pnas.0504312102

- Stewart-Jones G, Wadle A, Hombach A, Shenderov E, Held G, Fischer E, et al. Rational development of high-affinity T-cell receptor-like antibodies. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (2009) 106:5784–8. doi:10.1073/pnas.0901425106
- Hombach A, Heuser C, Marquardt T, Wieczarkowiecz A, Groneck V, Pohl C, et al. CD4+ T cells engrafted with a recombinant immunoreceptor efficiently lyse target cells in a MHC antigen- and Fas-independent fashion. *J Immunol* (2001) 167:1090–6.
- Moeller M, Kershaw MH, Cameron R, Westwood JA, Trapani JA, Smyth MJ, et al. Sustained antigen-specific antitumor recall response mediated by genemodified CD4+ T helper-1 and CD8+ T cells. *Cancer Res* (2007) 67:11428–37. doi:10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-07-1141
- Kreuwel HT, Morgan DJ, Krahl T, Ko A, Sarvetnick N, Sherman LA. Comparing the relative role of perforin/granzyme versus Fas/Fas ligand cytotoxic pathways in CD8+ T cell-mediated insulin-dependent diabetes mellitus. *J Immunol* (1999) 163:4335–41.
- Shresta S, Pham CT, Thomas DA, Graubert TA, Ley TL. How do cytotoxic lymphocytes kill their targets? *Curr Opin Immunol* (1998) 10:581–7. doi:10.1016/S0952-7915(98)80227-6
- Graubert TA, Di Persio JF, Russell JH, Ley TJ. Perforin/granzyme-dependent and independent mechanisms are both important for the development of graftversus-host disease after murine bone marrow transplantation. J Clin Invest (1997) 100:904–11. doi:10.1172/JCI119606
- Darcy PK, Haynes NM, Snook MB, Trapani JA, Cerruti L, Jane SM, et al. Redirected perforin-dependent lysis of colon carcinoma by ex vivo genetically engineered CTL. J Immunol (2000) 164:3705–12.
- 20. Yasukawa M, Ohminami H, Arai J, Kasahara Y, Ishida Y, Fujita S. Granule exocytosis, and not the Fas/Fas ligand system, is the main pathway of cytotoxicity mediated by alloantigen-specific CD4(+) as well as CD8(+) cytotoxic T lymphocytes in humans. *Blood* (2000) **95**:2352–5.
- 21. Kuball J, Schmitz FW, Voss RH, Ferreira EA, Engel R, Guillaume P, et al. Cooperation of human tumor-reactive CD4+ and CD8+ T cells after redirection of their specificity by a high-affinity p53A2.1-specific TCR. *Immunity* (2005) **22**:117–29. doi:10.1016/j.immuni.2004.12.005
- 22. Chmielewski M, Hombach A, Heuser C, Adams GP, Abken H. T cell activation by antibody-like immunoreceptors: increase in affinity of the scFv domain above threshold does not increase T cell activation against antigen-positive target cells but decreases selectivity. *J Immunol* (2004) **173**:7647–53.
- Hudecek M, Lupo-Stanghellini MT, Kosasih PL, Sommermeyer D, Jensen MC, Rader C, et al. Receptor affinity and extracellular domain modifications affect tumor recognition by ROR1-specific chimeric antigen receptor T cells. *Clin Cancer Res* (2013) 19:3153–64. doi:10.1158/1078-0432. CCR-13-0330
- 24. Zhong S, Malecek K, Johnson LA, Yu Z, Vega-Saenz de Miera E, Darvishian F, et al. T-cell receptor affinity and avidity defines antitumor response and autoimmunity in T-cell immunotherapy. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (2013) **110**:6973–8. doi:10.1073/pnas.1221609110
- Hombach AA, Schildgen V, Heuser C, Finnern R, Gilham DE, Abken H. T cell activation by antibody-like immunoreceptors: the position of the binding epitope within the target molecule determines the efficiency of activation of redirected T cells. *J Immunol* (2007) 178:4650–7.
- Guest RD, Hawkins RE, Kirillova N, Cheadle EJ, Arnold J, O'Neill A, et al. The role of extracellular spacer regions in the optimal design of chimeric immune receptors: evaluation of four different scFvs and antigens. *J Immunother* (2005) 28:203–11. doi:10.1097/01.cji.0000161397.96582.59
- James SE, Greenberg PD, Jensen MC, Lin Y, Wang J, Till BG, et al. Antigen sensitivity of CD22-specific chimeric TCR is modulated by target epitope distance from the cell membrane. *J Immunol* (2008) 180:7028–38.
- Till BG, Jensen MC, Wang J, Qian X, Gopal AK, Maloney DG, et al. CD20specific adoptive immunotherapy for lymphoma using a chimeric antigen receptor with both CD28 and 4-1BB domains: pilot clinical trial results. *Blood* (2012) 119:3940–50. doi:10.1182/blood-2011-10-387969
- Davis SJ, van der Merwe PA. The kinetic-segregation model: TCR triggering and beyond. Nat Immunol (2006) 7:803–9. doi:10.1038/ni1369
- 30. Hombach A, Wieczarkowiecz A, Marquardt T, Heuser C, Usai L, Pohl C, et al. Tumor specific T cell activation by recombinant immunoreceptors: CD3zeta signaling and CD28 costimulation are simultaneously required for efficient IL-2 secretion and can be integrated into one combined CD28/CD3zeta signaling receptor molecule. *J Immunol* (2001) **167**:6123–31.

- Thislethwaite F, Mansoor W, Gilham DE, Hawkins RE. Engineering T-cells with antibody based chimeric receptors for effective cancer therapy. *Curr Opin Mol Ther* (2005) 7:48–55.
- Finney HM, Lawson AD, Bebbington CR, Weir AN. Chimeric receptors providing both primary and costimulatory signaling in T cells from a single gene product. *J Immunol* (1998) 161:2791–7.
- Hombach A, Abken H. Costimulation tunes tumor-specific activation of redirected T cells in adoptive immunotherapy. *Cancer Immunol Immunther* (2007) 56:731–7. doi:10.1007/s00262-006-0249-0
- 34. Hombach AA, Abken H. Of chimeric antigen receptors and antibodies: OX40 and 41BB costimulation sharpen up T cell-based immunotherapy of cancer. *Immunotherapy* (2013) 5:677–81. doi:10.2217/imt.13.54
- Beecham EJ, Ma Q, Ripley R, Junghans RP. Coupling CD28 co-stimulation to immunoglobulin T-cell receptor molecules: the dynamics of T-cell proliferation and death. *J Immunother* (2000) 23:631–42. doi:10.1097/00002371-200011000-00004
- 36. Hombach A, Sent D, Schneider C, Heuser C, Koch D, Pohl C, et al. T cell activation by recombinant receptors: CD28 costimulation is required for IL-2 secretion and receptor mediated T cell proliferation but does not affect receptor mediated target cell lysis. *Cancer Res* (2001) 61:1976–82.
- Koehler H, Kofler D, Hombach A, Abken H. CD28 costimulation overcomes transforming growth factor-beta-mediated repression of proliferation of redirected human CD4+ and CD8+ T cells in an antitumor cell attack. *Cancer Res* (2007) 67:2265–73. doi:10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-06-2098
- Hombach AA, Holzinger A, Abken H. The weal and woe of costimulation in the adoptive therapy of cancer with chimeric antigen receptor (CAR)-redirected T cells. *Curr Mol Med* (2013) 13:1079–88. doi:10.2174/1566524011313070003
- Chmielewski M, Hombach AA, Abken H. CD28 cosignalling does not affect the activation threshold in a chimeric antigen receptor redirected T cell attack. *Gene Ther* (2011) 18:62–72. doi:10.1038/gt.2010.127
- Wülfing C, Sumen C, Sjaastad MD, Wu LC, Dustin ML, Davis MM. Costimulation and endogenous MHC ligands contribute to T cell recognition. *Nat Immunol* (2002) 3:42–7. doi:10.1038/ni741
- Purtic B, Pitcher LA, van Oers NSC, Wülfing C. T cell receptor (TCR) clustering in the immunological synapse integrates TCR and costimulatory signalling in selected T cells. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (2005) 102:2904–9. doi:10.1073/pnas.0406867102
- Holler PD, Kranz DM. Quantitative analysis of the contribution of TCR/pepMHC affinity and CD8 to T cell activation. *Immunity* (2003) 18:255–64. doi:10.1016/S1074-7613(03)00019-0
- Bhatia S, Sun K, Almo SC, Nathenson SG, Hodes RJ. Dynamic equilibrium of B7-1 dimers and monomers differentially affects immunological synapse formation and T cell activation in response to TCR/CD28 stimulation. *J Immunol* (2010) 184:1821–8. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.0902869
- 44. Kalos M, Levine BL, Porter DL, Katz S, Grupp SA, Bagg A, et al. T cells with chimeric antigen receptors have potent antitumor effects and can establish

memory in patients with advanced leukemia. *Sci Transl Med* (2011) **3**:95ra73. doi:10.1126/scitranslmed.3002842

- Porter DL, Levine BL, Kalos M, Bagg A, June CH. Chimeric antigen receptormodified T cells in chronic lymphoid leukemia. *N Engl J Med* (2011) 365:725–33. doi:10.1056/NEJMoa1103849
- Grupp SA, Kalos M, Barrett D, Aplenc R, Porter DL, Rheingold SR, et al. Chimeric antigen receptor-modified T cells for acute lymphoid leukemia. N Engl J Med (2013) 368:1509–18. doi:10.1056/NEJMoa1215134
- 47. Pule MA, Savoldo B, Myers GD, Rossig C, Russell HV, Dotti G, et al. Virus-specific T cells engineered to coexpress tumor-specific receptors: persistence and antitumor activity in individuals with neuroblastoma. *Nat Med* (2008) 14:1264–70. doi:10.1038/nm.1882
- Till BG, Jensen MC, Wang J, Chen EY, Wood BL, Greisman HA, et al. Adoptive immunotherapy for indolent non-Hodgkin lymphoma and mantle cell lymphoma using genetically modified autologous CD20-specific T cells. *Blood* (2008) 112:2261–71. doi:10.1182/blood-2007-12-128843
- 49. Kershaw MH, Westwood JA, Parker LL, Wang G, Eshhar Z, Mavroukakis SA, et al. A phase I study on adoptive immunotherapy using gene-modified T cells for ovarian cancer. *Clin Cancer Res* (2006) 12:6106–15. doi:10.1158/1078-0432. CCR-06-1183
- Morgan RA, Yang JC, Kitano M, Dudley ME, Laurencot CM, Rosenberg SA. Case report of a serious adverse event following the administration of T cells transduced with a chimeric antigen receptor recognizing ERBB2. *Mol Ther* (2010) 18:843–51. doi:10.1038/mt.2010.24
- Brentjens R, Yeh R, Bernal Y, Riviere I, Sadelain M. Treatment of chronic lymphocytic leukemia with genetically targeted autologous T cells: case report of an unforeseen adverse event in a phase I clinical trial. *Mol Ther* (2010) 18:666–8. doi:10.1038/mt.2010.31

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Received: 17 September 2013; accepted: 29 October 2013; published online: 11 November 2013.

Citation: Chmielewski M, Hombach AA and Abken H (2013) Antigen-specific T-cell activation independently of the MHC: chimeric antigen receptor-redirected T cells. Front. Immunol. 4:371. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2013.00371

This article was submitted to Tumor Immunity, a section of the journal Frontiers in Immunology.

Copyright © 2013 Chmielewski, Hombach and Abken. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) or licensor are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.